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FOREWORD I am most often asked with regard to my
grandfather: did you know him? I respond
CONNIE MACK 111 thatIwasfifteen when he died in February

1956. When he visited us in Fort Myers,
Florida, after he had retired, it was my job to go into his room at six o’clock
each morning and sit there until he would awake. Then I would help him

as he showered and shaved and got ready for the day. So, yes, I knew him.
But now, having read this book, I can truly say I knew him.

He was born in 1862, just thirty-six years after the deaths of John Adams
and Thomas Jefferson on July 4, 1826. It made me realize what an incredibly
young nation we are. He was born during the Civil War. His life spanned the
Civil War, Lincoln’s assassination, the assassination of President McKinley,
World War I, the Great Depression, World War I, and the Korean War. Dwight
D. Eisenhower was president when he died. My grandfather was quoted as
saying, “I was here before the telephone, before electric lights, the talking
machine, the typewriter, the automobile, motion pictures, the airplane, and
long before the radio. I came when railroads and the telegraph were new.”

In his career as a catcher, he was among the earliest to move up right
behind the plate for every pitch, when most catchers were still catching the
ball on the bounce. While most pitchers in the early years pitched entire
games, he was a pioneer in the use of relief pitchers. On one occasion,
he used three pitchers in one game. Eventually, all three were elected to
the Hall of Fame. He learned early on the value of spring training and
the early conditioning of his players. He put together teams with players
who thought for themselves. He valued educated players and ones who
had baseball smarts. However, when he really needed to fill a position, he
was willing to forgo those requirements. There is no better example of this
than his signing of Rube Waddell. The stories about Rube Waddell and his
catcher, Osee Schrecongost, are hilarious. Waddell, while being one of the
funniest and most entertaining characters ever to play the game, was one
of the greatest left-handed pitchers in the history of major league baseball.



The 20-inning duel between Rube and Cy Young exemplifies the power and
stamina of these early players.

I was intrigued by the process my grandfather developed in putting cham-
pionship teams together. The network of people who would tip him off about
a young player, the extent he would go to sign a player, the ability to spot tal-
ent, the willingness to give up good talent when he believed that the person
wasn’t the right fit for the team—all helped him to develop great teams and
led to the great teams of 1928 through 1931. My grandfather said, during a
1941 radio interview, that the best team he managed was that of 1910-1914.
Others say the 1929 A’s were the best team in the history of the game.

The most fascinating history for me personally was the formation of the
American League and my grandfather’s role in it. In this context, this book
is much more than a biography of my grandfather. It is a history of the
beginning of modern baseball. At the age of thirty-eight, my grandfather,
along with Ban Johnson and Charles Somers, established the American
League. According to Mr. Macht, “These men were most responsible for the
early success of the American League: Ban Johnson, with his vision, energy,
management, and organizational skills; Charles Somers, with his unlimited
faith and financial support; and Connie Mack, with his baseball acumen
and willingness to work for the welfare of other clubs as well as his own.”

I am in awe of the man and what he accomplished in his illustrious
career. As a result of reading this book, I now have a much greater appre-
ciation of why his name is so respected and remembered 50 years after his
death—144 years after his birth. But I am just as impressed by and proud of
the character of my grandfather. His determination, perseverance, persis-
tence, and competitiveness, which jump from page after page, did not keep
him from being the most caring, compassionate, and generous person. In
fact, it is the sum of all of these qualities that made him the leader that he
was, admired and revered by millions of people. One measure of a man
can be made by observing how he treats others depending on their station
in life. In the case of my grandfather, no matter how famous he became,
he always treated every human being with respect and dignity. This book
amply demonstrates that Connie Mack, my grandfather, was not only a
great baseball man but also an authentically good human being.

I am so thankful for the time and effort, the detailed research, and the
storytelling skill of Norman Macht. Not only does my family owe him a
great deal of gratitude, but all of us who treasure our national pastime and
its rich history must applaud this work.

x Foreword



PREF A CE [metConnie Mack once, on the afternoon of April 13,
1948. He was eighty-five. I was eighteen, working for
Ernie Harwell, then the broadcaster for the Atlanta Crackers of the Southern
Association. My job included getting the lineups for him, so I had access to
the field at Ponce de Leon Park. Atlanta was a regular stop for major league

clubs barnstorming north from spring training. The Philadelphia Athletics
were in town for two games.

Connie Mack was sitting on a park bench that had been carried out to left
field for him, basking in the warm Georgia sun while his Athletics—Fain,
Suder, Joost, Majeski, Chapman, McCosky, Valo—took batting practice. As
I look back, it seems incongruous for a manager to be sitting on a bench in
the outfield during Bp. There must have been one or two players standing
nearby in case a ball was hit that way. I don’t remember. But that was where
I went when I decided I'd like to meet this man I had read about in the
baseball books that fed my youthful love affair with the game.

I introduced myself and shook hands—I remember bony but not
gnarled fingers—and sat down beside him. I asked him something about
some team that was in the news—it might have been a clubhouse fight or
something of that nature. He answered politely, patiently, assuring me that
whatever it was wouldn’t affect the team’s performance on the field. I asked
him about this and that—an eighteen-year-old’s questions, devoid of any
great insight or import. After a few minutes I thanked him for the oppor-
tunity to talk with him and took my leave.

Over the years since then, I'd seen a steadily growing parade of books
on John McGraw, Ty Cobb, Babe Ruth, Joe DiMaggio, Lou Gehrig, and
Mickey Mantle, along with carloads of biographies and “as-told-tos” of
lesser baseball figures. Nothing on Connie Mack. Here was a man who
was born before professional baseball existed, whose life was the history
of baseball. Nobody enjoyed a longer, more significant career, with more

xi



dramatic ups and downs. A grammar-school dropout, he created and built
a business and ran it for fifty years, swimming his own race in his own way,
pioneering management and human relations principles long before they
were taught in business schools and “how-to” books.

Yet all that most people knew about him was an image of this tall, thin,
saintly looking old man—as if he was born that way—and the conven-
tional myth that Connie Mack was a tight-fisted skinflint who wrecked his
teams to line his pockets.

Practically nothing was known about his early years and how he came
to be the man he was. How much of what had been written and recycled as
fact was really true? I decided to find out. That was twenty-two years ago.

Getting knowledge is the easy part. Getting understanding, the biog-
rapher’s function, is harder. Understanding is, to a large extent, informed
speculation. Nobody can truly know another person’s inner life. Character
is ultimately unfathomable. Ambiguity and inconsistency are part of
human nature. Not everything can be explained.

In bringing Connie Mack’s early years to life, we are visiting a time to
which none of us was a witness. People think their thoughts and take their
decisions in the light of their specific circumstances. Just as Connie Mack
implored young reporters not to quote him as saying things he never said,
I hear him whispering to me, “Please, heed my moment and the setting of
my thoughts.”

The attempt to understand someone in the context of his time and place
asks that we temporarily suspend judgment. Understanding a man born
in 1862 obliges the reader to make an effort, at least, to not judge him by
the standards or mores or business practices of the twenty-first century,
which themselves are far from universal. Some values are relative to time,
not eternal.

While you research a man’s life and the history he helped to create, the
more you learn, the less you know, for what you learn puts into question
what you thought you already knew.

All history is anecdotal. Much history is fiction, often beginning with
a pinch of fact, seasoned with a handful of imagination, which produces
a legend. Subsequent writers go along with what Stephen Jay Gould has
called the “canonical legends.” Handed down like family recipes from one
generation to another, these legends become accepted as truth. That’s
why I have relied less on books and more on contemporary reports, game
accounts, interviews—the unfiltered raw material of history.

xii Preface



My Quixotic quest has been for 100 percent accuracy. Experience pre-
pares me for falling short. The researcher’s path is fraught with booby traps
and land mines and disappointments. I traced the files of the Philadelphia
Athletics to Kansas City, then Oakland, where they were believed last seen
collecting dust in filing cabinets in a disused closet before it was cleaned
out and all the business records, correspondence, and other papers were
thrown away.

Uncertainty rides with every baseball biographer or historian and never
loosens its grip. There are no wholly reliable sources of statistics, especially
for the early years of baseball. There are only varying degrees of unreli-
ability. I use statistics sparingly. Those I use come from a variety of sources,
including independent research.

Quotes are not put forth as verbatim accounts of what was said in con-
versations or interviews. They are used as related by participants or the
press. Writers embellish, misquote, paraphrase, and invent. Players being
interviewed or writing their own stories do the same. Where I quote dia-
logue, it comes from articles under Mack’s or players’ bylines; personal
interviews—even if misrepresented by the interviewee—and reports of
interviews or speeches or press conferences with Mr. Mack.

Memory is like skin. Age wrinkles it, causing it to stretch or sag. When
a former player pens his recollections, by his own hand or that of a ghost,
or spins yarns in his later years, the tale is told and retold with variations
as time passes. Details change from one telling to the next, uncomfort-
able bits are deleted, personal roles exaggerated. As time ticks away and
the years pass, memory becomes less an archive of facts and more an act
of imagination. The longer we live, the more clearly we remember things
that never happened.

Faced with different versions of the same incident, often from the same
source, I have generally relied on the one that was told the closest in time
to the events. Thus, if Eddie Collins or Connie Mack wrote or spoke about
something within a year of its happening and touched or retouched on the
same story years later, [ usually went with the earlier version.

Memory is also absorbent. A player with no firsthand knowledge may
have heard or read about someone’s character or a particular incident so
many times that he comes to believe it and relate it as fact. Rather than rou-
tinely repeating oft-told tales, I have tried to verify every anecdote or game
account I came upon. Many good stories didn’t make it into print because
I couldn’t find any evidence that they actually occurred.

Preface xiii



John E. Kennedy once said, “The great enemy of the truth is very often
not the lie, but the myth.”

The myths you have heard about Connie Mack are the enemies of the
truth. It has been said that all the biographer can hope for, if he is lucky, is
to catch a fleeting glimpse of his subject. I hope this fleeting glimpse will
illuminate some truth about Mr. Mack for you.

xiv  Preface
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‘| INTRODUCTION H

A little after four on the bone-chilling, damp afternoon of Friday, February
10, 1956, a small crowd began to gather outside Oliver H. Bair’s funeral
home at 1820 Chestnut Street in Philadelphia. Connie Mack had slipped
peacefully into eternity on Wednesday afternoon. A public viewing was
scheduled between seven and eight on Friday evening. The gray skies dark-
ened quickly with winter’s cruel impatience. To spare the early arrivals fur-
ther discomfort, Bair’s opened its doors at five.

Inside it resembled the Philadelphia flower show. There were flowers
everywhere, lining the stairways and filling the huge rooms: roses, lilies,
gladioli, orchids, carnations—120 floral pieces in all. Visitors carried still
more sprays and bouquets; three young girls placed a cascade on the casket
as they passed.

By seven Bair’s was as crowded as dugouts in September, when late-
season call-ups swell team rosters. Those who had come were Mr. Mack’s
kind of people: players from the greatest of his nine pennant winners, club
owners and executives, scouts, umpires, politicians, priests and nuns, sta-
dium workers, and youngsters, many wearing their team uniform shirts.

Although self-effacing, Connie Mack always enjoyed being the center of
attention, feigning surprise whenever the spotlight found him after he had
maneuvered to invite it. That was just one of the many seeming contradic-
tions in his character. He had all the saintly virtues ascribed to him in his
most saccharine profiles, but he could also be obstinate, profane, devious,
and tough as a new catcher’s mitt.

That morning many of the mourners had read the following description
of him in the Philadelphia Inquirer by sports columnist Red Smith:

“Many people loved Mack, some feared him, everybody respected him,
as far as I know nobody ever disliked him. Nobody ever won warmer or
wider esteem and nobody ever relished it more. There may never have



been a more truly successful man. He was not the saint so often painted,
no sanctimonious puritan. He was tough, human, clever, warmly wonder-
ful, kind and stubborn and courtly and unreasonable, proud, humorous,
demanding, unpredictable.”

Born in Massachusetts, Mack could have been a model for Benjamin A.
Botkin, whose Treasury of New England Folklore described the Yankee char-
acter as “sensible, self-dependent, God-fearing, freedom-loving, conser-
vative, stubborn, practical, thrifty, industrious, inventive and acquisitive.”
Connie Mack was all of those except the last, unless you count twenty-
game-winning pitchers and .300 hitters.

Ordinarily Mr. Mack would rather have been standing amid such a
gathering as this, patiently signing autographs and posing for photographs
with unfailing graciousness. But at ninety-three, frail in body and mind,
with the team that he had created, owned, and managed for fifty years now
gone from the family and moved a thousand miles away, he was ready to
rest in peace.

As the early callers left to go home to their suppers, others arrived in a
steady stream. At the scheduled closing time of eight, those waiting outside
outnumbered those inside. And still they came.

Some of them stayed to visit, express their thoughts and feelings to the
family, and swap favorite stories—tall tales and true—as baseball people
love to do. Rube Walberg, Bing Miller, Jimmy Dykes, and Mule Haas, on
crutches from aleginjury, had played on Mack’s 1929—1931 pennant winners.
They talked of the toughness, the gentleness, the sharpness and humor, the
shrewdness and generosity of the “Old Man.” But none of them, not even
his children, the youngest of whom was born when Mack was fifty-seven,
knew the entire man. Not that anyone can ever really know all the demons
and delights that play at tug-of-war inside another person.

They laughed about their frustrating struggles to extract a raise from
Mr. Mack, not understanding until years later that he resisted their pleas
only because he didn’t have it to give them and still remain in business. A
surprising number of his “boys” came back to coach or scout for him, some
for years, even decades. If they did it for love, not money, what did that say
about the man most of them called Mr. Mack, even after he was gone?

Bing Miller was one who had returned as a coach. Recalling Mack’s raw-
hide side, Miller spoke about getting into an argument one day with some
teammates in the clubhouse. Connie Mack was then in his sixties.
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“He had enough and said, ‘Bing, shut up, or I'll whip you myself’ I took
one look at Mr. Mack and said, ‘Okay, Mr. Mack. I think you can.”

Hans Lobert said he asked Mack for advice after being named manager
of the Phillies in 1942. Mack told him, “You don’t need any advice. Just
learn players” ways and you’ll be all right. But if you ever need any help,
come around and see me.”

Jimmy Dykes, another who came back to coach and eventually succeed
Mack as the Athletics’ manager in 1951, confirmed that Mack did indeed
know his players’ ways.

“One day Al Simmons and I were arguing on the bench in Chicago. It
kept up until Mr. Mack couldn’t stand it any longer. He jumped up off the
bench and hit his head on the concrete roof. It must have hurt, but he didn’t
let on. All he said was, ‘Dykes, keep your blankety-blank mouth shut.

“When the inning was over, Simmons and I ran out on the field together,
and Al said to me, ‘Boy, you really stirred him up. Back on the bench Mr.
Mack turned to one of the other players and said, ‘Look at those two.
They’re out there telling each other how mad they had me.”

Frank “Home Run” Baker, the hero of the 1911 World Series, had had his
differences with Mack in 1915 and never played for the A’s again. But he
drove up from his home in Trappe, Maryland, and called Mack “the finest
man I ever knew.”

Bobby Shantz and Joe Coleman, pitchers a generation later on Mack’s
last team, were there. Coleman had come down from Boston with his wife.
“It’s the least I could do,” he said. “He did more for me than anyone will
ever know.”

Scoreboard operators, ticket sellers, and former batboys mingled with
players, umpires, congressmen, priests, and nuns who had taught Mack’s
children and grandchildren at Melrose Academy. Nine-year-old Johnny
McGinley was there with his mother, who recalled how Mr. Mack made
“an awful fuss” over little Johnny when his late dad was a ticket seller at
Shibe Park and brought Johnny to the ballpark with him.

Bernie Guest, a batboy when Eddie Collins of the $100,000 infield
returned as a coach, described Mack’s fun-loving side. “Collins was super-
stitious about the first step of the dugout. He would have that step shining,
it was so clean. Every time he went out to the coaching box and turned
around, one of the players would mess it up with dirt, water, or paper.
Collins would come back and rave and threaten. Mr. Mack would put his
scorecard up to his face to hide a chuckle.”
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The clock at Bair’s passed nine, closed in on ten, but the knots of story-
tellers remained. Longtime scout Harry O’Donnell countered the image
of the miserly Connie Mack that had been created by some members of
the press and sustained by the repetition that transforms myth into reality,
fiction into fact.

One time Mr. Mack asked me to scout a team way out in the bushes
and report back on its best player. When I saw him later I said, “That
outfit ain’t got anybody you could use, just nobody.”

Mr. Mack said, “That’s not what I sent you to do. Go back and get
me a report on the best player they have.”

So I went back. The guy was strictly Class C but I reported on him.

“Fine,” said Mr. Mack, and paid the club owner, a widow who, I
learned later, had to have the money to keep going, $5,000 for a useless
prospect. He took that way to give her enough to keep the club.

Out in Chicago that morning, syndicated columnist Bob Considine had
come upon Mickey Cochrane, Mack’s greatest catcher, reading of Mack’s
death while sitting in the United Airlines waiting room at snow-flecked
Midway Airport. Considine reported:

“The thing that will stick in my mind about Connie Mack is his dis-
position,” Mike recalled gently as he watched the snow outside. “I've
never seen one like it. In his time he had to deal with just about every
type of ballplayer there was. He had some real characters to handle,
but they all ate out of his hand. . ..

“He was really something in a salary argument. Remember that old
office he had high up in Shibe Park? You had to cross a walk to reach
it. We used to call it the Bridge of Sighs. We’d go in like lions and come
out like lambs.

“It was crazy and really sad in the old man’s last days in action,” he
said. “We wouldn’t know who we were working for from day to day.
Lots of times Mr. Mack wasn’t speaking to his oldest sons and vice
versa. Mr. Mack stretched it a bit thin as manager, too. But when he
had it they didn’t come any smarter or shrewder.”

The rosary was said. The crowd at Bair’s began to thin. It was after ten
thirty when the doors were closed. More than 3,400 people had come to
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pay their respects, more than sometimes showed up to watch the A’s play in
their last years in the city.

The next morning a cold, steady rain poured down as the funeral pro-
cession left Bair’s and moved slowly toward St. Bridget’s Church at 3869
Midvale Avenue. A policeman directing traffic murmured, “A century just
went by”

Baseball people see the world through diamond-shaped glasses. One
executive shook his head sadly and observed, “A rainout, and on his last
day, too.”

But it was a “sellout.” More than 1,200 people filled the church, where a
requiem High Mass was scheduled for eleven o’clock. There was a wedding
in the church that morning, and it went overtime. The Mack family, the
players and fans, league and club officials stood waiting in the rain. When
the young newlyweds emerged, surrounded by smiling faces, they beheld a
sea of wet and shivering mourners waiting to take their place.

The glow from six candles was reflected in the dark polished casket as
Rev. John A. Cartin said, “It is not the custom in our church at requiem
Mass to preach a sermon. Those who knew the greatness of this man can
pay tribute to his greatness far better than I. His memory is held sacred
in the lives of our people in general, whose inspiration he was. He will be
missed by our American people, generations young and old.”

After the service, as the crowd dispersed, an old man leaning on a cane
stood beside a motorcycle policeman and said, “I don’t know where Mr.
Mack’s going, but if they’ve got any baseball teams there, somebody’s going
to get the greatest manager who ever lived.”
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GROWING UP IN
EAST BROOKFIELD

The Irish had a bad year in 1846, finishing last in the international league.
For the third straight year, the potato crop had failed like a staff of sore-
armed pitchers. Without potatoes, there was nothing to eat: no meat, no
bread, no vegetables. They had no seeds or tools to grow anything else.
There was no work, no money. It was human existence at its lowest level.
Thousands died of fever and starvation-induced diseases. Over the next
decade, a million members of the Ireland team declared themselves free
agents and jumped to the new world. In one year alone, more than 37,000
of them arrived in Boston, swelling that city’s population by one-third.
They found no welcome mat. Boston considered itself the Hub of the
Universe—The Hub became a widely used sportswriters’ jargon for the
city—the Athens of America. The Brahmins who ruled it deplored the
influx of Irish immigrants. They hired a marshal to maintain civil order
and protect property.

A study of the immigration records gives the impression that half of the
new arrivals were McGillicuddys or MacGillycuddys or some other variation
of the name. And of those, every other man appears to have been a Cornelius,
with Dennis and Michael distant seconds. Among the women, there is an
abundance of Marys, Margarets, and Ellens. For the researcher, this presents
a thicket to hack through in the hope of finding the subjects of the search.

It is little wonder that during Connie Mack’s long years of fame, many
people with a McGillicuddy hanging from some branch of their family tree
claimed to be related to him. One Boston McGillicuddy named Dennis
told the newspapers he was Mack’s long-lost brother. Mack complained to
his real cousin, May Dempsey, “This fellow claims to be related to me. He
picks me up in his car and takes up a lot of my time, but I don’t know how
he’s related.”



He wasn’t. But Connie Mack never confronted a claimant to kinship
with demands of proof before agreeing to leave a pair of Annie Oakleys at
the pass gate.

Despite the knots of Old Country roots, a journey through the live leads
and dead ends of town and church and military and census records, from
Whitefield Parish in County Kerry to Massachusetts and Missouri, pro-
duces a substantial vine, if not a complete tree, of the family of Connie
Mack. Its breadth suggests that there were and remain today legitimate
cousins by the dozens, of first-, second-, and third-degree status. There
could have been more; Connie Mack’s uncle Thomas and his wife, Julia,
had seven children, but five died before reaching the age of eight.

The McGillicuddys who crossed the ocean left behind a glorious past,
filled with centuries of heroic military victories by their ancestral chiefs of
the area around the McGillicuddy Reeks, Ireland’s highest peaks, in south-
west County Kerry. There is some evidence that they were a branch of the
O’Sullivan More family, which might explain the family motto: “No hand
is stronger in generosity than the hand of O’Sullivan.”

Unfortunately for their descendants, the McGillicuddys forfeited most
of their castles and vast landholdings as a result of being on the losing side
in the playoffs against King James I, who seized land from Irish Catholics
and gave it to English and Irish Protestants in the seventeenth century. Still,
it might have been worse. Connie Mack’s ancestors could have been among
the thousands of Irish captives shipped off to the West Indies and sold into
slavery by Oliver Cromwell during the Civil War that began in 1642. Mack
might have wound up managing Fidel Castro and the Cuban All-Stars.

At any rate, there were enough McGillicuddys left for hundreds of them
to pour into Boston and New York in the mid-nineteenth century. They
came mostly as laborers or servant girls, on ships with names like Moses
Wheeler, Siberia, Cephalonia, Cambria, and Chariot of Fame. Passage cost
the equivalent of about twenty-three “New York dollars,” a month’s wages
for many workers. The voyage took from six weeks to three months. More
than four hundred steerage passengers were packed into overcrowded holds,
subsisting on weekly rations of seven pounds of food per person, chronic
shortages of potable water, and stifling air reeking from dysentery. Few of
these “coffin ships” made the crossing without some passengers dying. But
nothing they endured was worse than what they left behind, despite their
immediate sense of loss and homesickness and the fear of the unknown
that lay ahead. They had, at least, expectations, and that was a step up on
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the ladder of hope. For many of the women, unable to read or write, the
future meant bearing children and heartaches with equal frequency.

So it was that the present was bleak and the future invisible in Ireland
when, sometime in 1846, Cornelius and Ellen Joy McGillicuddy held their
American Wake, as the mournful farewell gatherings were called, and said
good-bye to at least six of their children they never expected to see again.
Like millions of others of all ages, the children disappeared on ships bound
for America. (Two of their cousins went to Argentina; a descendant of one
of them, Eduardo McGillicuddy, became the Uruguayan ambassador to the
United States.)

There is a gap in the passenger lists for ships arriving in Boston and New
York around that time, so it is uncertain where the McGillicuddy children
landed or whether they all arrived together. Davis Buckley, a Washington
architect whose great-grandmother was one of them, believes that three of
them arrived in New York on the same ship.

Those who can be identified with some degree of certainty include
Thomas, age twenty or twenty-one; Patrick, nineteen; Michael, nine or ten;
Cornelius, seven; and Mary Agnes, six. (Ages are best-efforts calculations;
census, marriage, military, pension, and death records are like a shack built
with no plumb walls—they seldom squared. A person could age nine years
or twelve in the decade between census counts.) They made their way to
the Worcester-Brookfield area in central Massachusetts. Mary Agnes met
a man named David Roach in Connecticut, married him, and moved to
Jersey County, Illinois, where they began a family of nine children. One of
them, Cornelius, became a prominent politician and newspaper publisher
in Missouri and a close friend of Connie Mack. Cornelius sired fourteen
little Roaches, spreading the Midwestern branch of the family tree.

The rest remained in the Worcester area. The earliest record of Michael’s
residence in East Brookfield, fifteen miles west of Worcester, appears in
1853, when he was seventeen.

During these troubled 1840s, the children of Michael McKillop (or
McKillup) were making plans to emigrate from the Catholic section
of Belfast. Originally from Scotland, they traced their roots back to the
McDonnell clan (of the red and black tartan and red lion), who were
driven out of the highlands when their land was confiscated during the
Reformation in the sixteenth century. They had fled to Ireland. Now they
were fleeing poverty.
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The McKillops included at least one boy, John, and three girls, Nancy,
Sarah, and Mary. John and Nancy came first; family lore has it that Nancy
became homesick as soon as she lost sight of land and prayed that the boat
would turn back. A few years later, in early 1856, Nancy went to the docks in
Boston expecting to greet her sister Sarah and was surprised when fifteen-
year-old Mary got off the boat instead. (Sarah went to Australia.)

The sisters lived in Worcester, where Mary met Michael McGillicuddy.
Michael stood about five-foot-seven; Mary barely reached five feet. Neither
could read or write. Eventually Michael learned to write his name, sign-
ing it in a variety of spellings— Michel, Meichael, Michall—and sometimes
simply making an X. Mary was about sixty before she could read or sign
her name.

They were married on October 21, 1856, by Fr. J. Boyce in a Catholic
church in Worcester. Michael gave his occupation as day laborer and his
age as twenty-one; he was probably born September 27, 1836 or ’37, and
was no more than twenty. Mary said she was eighteen, but she was at most
sixteen, probably born in June 1840.

The young couple rented a small frame house on the corner of Main and
Maple Streetsin East Brookfield, one block from the center of the village. Their
landlords, Joseph and Mary McCarty, befriended the newlyweds and treated
them as family. Main Street, designated by Postmaster General Benjamin
Franklin as a Post Road in 1753, was a busy thoroughfare. Stagecoaches trav-
eling through town churned up clouds of dust on the unpaved road. Every
mile was marked by a milestone. One such stone, a reddish rock about four
feet high and a foot wide, with “Miles from Boston 62” chiseled into it, stood
by the road in front of the house. It stands there today.

East Brookfield, with a population of about three hundred, and three
other villages—Brookfield, North Brookfield, and West Brookfield—made
up the township of Brookfield. They were busy centers of potteries, boot
and shoe factories, wool and cotton mills, and wagon manufacturers.

Mary was a city girl. She didn’t like the isolation, the dust and mud, the
swampland and algae-covered ponds that surrounded the village. She was
seven months pregnant when she escaped for a day to attend her sister
Nancy’s wedding to Cornelius Sullivan in Worcester on June 6,1857. (Nancy
had three daughters, one of whom married a man named Dempsey. The
Dempseys had ten children, whose undeniable status as Connie Mack’s
second cousins made them a close part of his widely extended family. He
and the Dempseys visited often in each other’s homes.)
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When her time drew near, Mary dreaded the prospect of giving birth to
her first child among strangers. She traveled to her brother John’s home in
Belchertown, twenty miles away, where his wife and daughters were eager
to care for her. There Michael Jr. was born on August 23, 1857. Family tra-
dition decreed that there must always be a Cornelius in the lineage, but a
Junior could take precedence. Three years later a daughter, Ellen, whom
they called Nellie, was born in the house in East Brookfield. Nellie was
baptized on August 19; her sponsors were Joseph McCarty and her uncle
Patrick’s wife, Fllen.

Eight months after the Civil War began, Patrick was the first of the fam-
ily to sign up, enlisting for three years on December 13, 1861. Listing his
occupation as polisher, which could have been at one of the potteries or
boot factories, he was mustered into the Twenty-second Massachusetts on
January 26, 1862, and discharged three years later in New Orleans.

Michael was now a wheelwright, earning $2 a day. Mary was in her
fifth month, carrying her third child, when the Fifty-first Massachusetts
Volunteer Infantry came through the Brookfields, recruiting to fill its share
of the state’s quota of nine-month enlistees. The bounty of $150 must have
looked as enticing as the opportunity to take off on a nine-month adven-
ture; on August 30, 1862, Michael became a “Bounty,” as the nine-month
enlistees were called. Thirty days later he reported to Company B at nearby
Camp Wool. After three weeks of rudimentary training, the company took
a train to Boston, then boarded the transport ship Merrimac, bound for
North Carolina.

Two other McGillicuddys, Daniel and James, had enlisted in September
in Medford, Massachusetts. Daniel was in sick bay at the New Bern, North
Carolina, barracks when Michael arrived on November 30 after a rough
voyage. More men died from disease than in battle during the war, and
Daniel was one of them. He died on December 1 from a hemorrhage of the
lungs. The records show that his belongings were given to a cousin, who
may have been Michael.

Company B was assigned to guard a wagon train during the battle of
Goldsboro. Michael had just returned to the barracks on the Trent River,
near New Bern, when Mary went into labor in the house on Main Street
on the evening of Monday, December 22. Mary McCarty was with her.
Between the mother’s pain-filled screams and the newborn boy’s crying,
they did not notice when the town clock struck midnight. But five-year-old
Michael Junior, shooed out of the house, had no doubts.
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“It was definitely before twelve when I went around telling people I had
a brother,” he recalled.

The town clerk, Washington Tufts, entered the date as December 22
in the town records and on the birth certificate, which spells the name
“McGillycuddy.” But until he was past eighty, Connie Mack celebrated his
birthday on December 23. When a relative sent him a copy of the records,
Mack chuckled, “Well, it made me feel younger to believe it was the
twenty-third.”

On January 4, 1863, Mary, accompanied by Mary McCarty and Patrick
McDonald as sponsors, brought her infant son to Our Lady of the Rosary
Church in Spencer, three miles away, where he was baptized by Fr. Thomas
Sheerin as “Cornelius son of Michael McGillichoddy & Mary McGillup his
wife, born 22d Dec., 1862

Contrary to every baseball reference book and numerous articles, pro-
files, and books in which he is mentioned, Connie Mack was not named
Cornelius Alexander. His baptismal and marriage records contain no men-
tion of “Alexander” or any other middle name or initial. It may have been a
name he took at confirmation, but no confirmation record could be found.
There are no legal documents, including his will, or certificates of incor-
poration, on which everyone else who is listed uses a middle initial, where
Cornelius McGillicuddy ever used one.

Three of his daughters were certain there was a middle initial A, though
they never saw it. One thought it stood for Alexander. Another was sure it
was Andrew and named her son Cornelius Andrew for that reason. The
third remembered giggling with her teenage girl friends because she had
heard it was Aloysius and that sounded like such a funny name to them.
(A son, Connie Jr., had no middle name when he was baptized. He took
the name Alexander at his confirmation but never used it. That may be the
reason historians retroactively grafted it onto his father’s name.)

In January 1863 Michael McGillicuddy went on the sick list in New Bern.
Suffering from what soldiers called “the southern malaria,” chronic diar-
rhea, dyspepsia, rheumatism, and kidney and liver problems, he spent
most of the rest of his enlistment in the hospital. About the only ailment
he seemed to have escaped was the meningitis that devastated more than
one regiment that winter.

The Fifty-first arrived back in Massachusetts on July 21, 1863. After a six-
day furlough, it was reassembled and mustered out on July 27. Michael had
last been paid on February 2; he had been advanced $43.59, in kind or cash,

12 Growing up in East Brookfield



for clothing and had no money coming to him. When he reached home, he
was expelling water from his lungs and suffering from “smothering spells”
and stomach trouble. Dr. Fiske was called in to see him the next day and
continued to treat him for years thereafter. Michael was twenty-six, broke
and broken, and would never again be the man he had been when he had
signed on as a Bounty nine months earlier.

When Connie was about four, the family moved a mile away into a tiny
one-floor cottage they rented from John and Julia Stone for $6 a month.
Located just above the bend where the road to North Brookfield curved
off Main Street, the quarter-acre lot backed up to Mud Pond. A nearby
Franklin milestone, still standing, reads “Boston 63 miles.” Across the road
was an open field, E. H. Stoddard’s vegetable farm and stand, and the Forbes
general store. In that cottage Dennis McGillicuddy was born in April 1867.

Almost from the day of his discharge, Michael began to draw a monthly
disability pension that rose to $8 after twenty-three years. In 1879 the state
created a pension for disabled soldiers, but there is no record of his col-
lecting it until 1885. When his health permitted, Michael worked first at a
cotton mill, then at the Forbes wheel and wagon shop.

Connie started school at the age of five in September 1868. He walked
with Michael Jr. and Nellie to the large brick one-room schoolhouse. The
first grade curriculum concentrated on reading, writing, spelling, and
counting to one hundred. Michael was in the sixth grade, tackling arith-
metic, U.S. geography, penmanship, and “object lessons,” in addition to
reading and spelling. In third grade, Nellie was doing a little primary arith-
metic and sharing the daily ten-minute lesson from Hooker’s Child’s Book
of Nature that the teacher read aloud to all the students.

There were three terms of ten weeks each, separated by long vacations.
A high school had recently been built; it would be eight years before a class
of one graduated from it.

Just off the schoolroom was a small, windowless closet, dark as moonless
midnight— the dreaded punishment room. Connie once served a ten-min-
ute sentence in the hole that “gave me the biggest scare that I had ever had,
up to that time, in my life. I took good care I didn’t go back a second time.”

But others did. Despite the small enrollment—one year attendance var-
ied between six and sixteen—it wasn’t easy to keep order or do much teach-
ing. The range in ages was formidable, from five to at least fifteen. When
Connie was ten, they wore out three teachers, none lasting more than one
term. Perhaps it was difficult to attract committed schoolmarms for $88 a
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term, $105.60 for the winter term. When enrollment went up unexpectedly
one year, the teacher received an additional fifty cents a week for hazard-
ous duty.

The school board’s cautions against corporal punishment may have
contributed to the discipline problems. “If resorted to by the teacher,” it
warned, “it should be for gross sins only. The system of pinching, hipping,
slapping, pulling hair, springing whalebone on the lips, jerking, boxing,
and a long catalog of brutal ways of punishment are condemned.”

Other regulations posted in the classroom suggest that little learning was
being accomplished:

“All standing, walking or running or playing on the seats or desks, or
wrestling or scuffling in the schoolroom is positively forbidden. No person,
while chewing tobacco, shall spit on the floor of said house or on the seats,
desks or ceiling of the room.”

(Nothing has changed in education: the school board’s annual report
noted, “Specialty has been made of reading, spelling and writing, studies
heretofore too much neglected.”)

Two houses away from Connie’s home on the North Brookfield Road
lived the Drake family. Young Connie sat by the hour, listening with fasci-
nation to the stories Eddie Drake told about his Civil War adventures. In
June 1862, fourteen-year-old Eddie said he was seventeen and enlisted as
a drummer boy. Wounded at Lynchburg, Virginia, he was taken prisoner
in June 1864. In December, during a swap of one hundred Union prison-
ers for an equal number of Confederate captives, Eddie burrowed into the
group unseen and was freed at Charleston, South Carolina. He came out
of the war suffering from chemical dropsy and an enlarged spleen and was
discharged on May 2,1863. The older boy was a constant source of wonders
for Connie, who was seven when he watched Eddie making a new product
called soda pop in the Drakes’ cellar, which had been turned into the home
of the Aerated Works Company.

Another of Connie’s earliest memories was of the large open field across
the road, which served as the ball grounds for the kids in the area. An elderly
Connie Mack said he could still hear the voice of one of his friends— Swats
Mulligan or Will or Jack Hogan—calling, “Hey, Slats, come on over and
play four-o-cat” Connie’s tall-for-his-age and skinny build had quickly
earned him that nickname. Whoever was calling, Connie always responded
eagerly.

“We made two rings thirty feet apart, with a batter in each ring. A pitcher
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stood outside of the ring and lobbed the ball weakly in to the batter. He
wasn’t trying to make the batter miss it. That would spoil the fun. After hit-
ting it, the batter would spring madly for the opposite ring. He was out if he
was tagged with the ball between the circles. He could be put out by being
hit with a thrown ball, or if the ball was caught on the fly he was out.”

Nobody wore a glove. They used a flat bat and a ball made of cotton
or rags covered with cloth or leather. “Later on when I grew a little older
and taller, we began to play a game much nearer the game of baseball and
less like cricket. We had a home plate and three bases and a big bat and a
leather-covered ball.”

Connie was nine when he began working summers in the Brookfield
Manufacturing Company cotton mill. He operated a creaky old freight
elevator, ran errands, and carried material from one part of the factory to
another. He had an affable, polite disposition and was quick and bright.
Everybody liked him. At the end of his first day of work, he was handed a
small green pay slip for twenty-five cents. He never cashed it and carried
it in his wallet for many years. His wages came to $6 a month. He turned
the money over to his mother, proud to be contributing the rent money.
“He always brought mother his pay envelope,” Michael Jr. recalled. “He was
always ready to give or share what he had.”

Connie also earned ten cents a week picking vegetables for Mr. Stoddard.
He spent that on himself.

At the cotton mill the workday lasted from 6:30 a.m. to 6:30 p.m., with
an hour for lunch. Connie spent most of that hour playing ball after dash-
ing home for a quick meal. Mornings and evenings there were chores to do.
Connie chopped the wood for the kitchen stove. (His mother had a well-
earned reputation as a baker of pies, cakes, cookies, and doughnuts. Like
most women of the time, she tested the temperature of the oven by sticking
her elbow into it.) When it snowed, Connie pushed the snow shovel. They
had two cows and seven horses, the bulk of their household possessions,
which were valued at $550 in the 1870 census. Michael Jr. milked the cows
and fed the horses every morning before breakfast. Having quit school, he
was learning to be a butcher. After breakfast he went to the slaughterhouse,
picked up some cuts of meat, and sold them door to door.

Mary was expecting her fifth child in the spring of 1873, when twelve-
year-old Nellie died of scarlet fever. In July another boy, Thomas, was born.
Despite the ten-year difference in their ages, Connie and Tom became the
closest of all the siblings. Another daughter, Mary, was born on Christmas
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Day 1875 but died in infancy. Mary’s fifth and last son, Eugene, was born
on March 4,1878.

On October 13, 1875, the Macks bought the cottage from John and Julia
Stone for $625. They were helped by a $400 mortgage from George A. Sibley,
one of the principal backers of the town baseball team, at 7 percent inter-
est, paid semi-annually. The house was assessed at $500, the land at $100.
Taxes for the first year were $11.75. Significantly, and unusual for the times,
the deed was made out in the name of Mary J. McGillicuddy only. By this
time Michael’s health had deteriorated to the point where he could rarely
do a day’s work. But Michael Jr. was working as a butcher in Worcester and
living at home, and Connie gave his mother whatever he earned. Between
them, they paid off the mortgage in six months.

(In 1893 the deed to the house was transferred to Connie Mack, who
paid the annual taxes on it. When his mother moved to Philadelphia in
1902, Mack turned it over to his brother Tom. On Tom’s death it was sold to
Emerson H. Stoddard for $750. The house burned down in the 1920s; the
house that stands there today is built on the original foundation but is not
the house the Macks lived in.)

The Boston and Albany Railroad stopped in East Brookfield on its route.
Some of the land behind the cottage had been sold to a company build-
ing a branch line to North Brookfield, so the property line now ended at
the railroad’s right-of-way. Grading for the line had begun in July, and the
tracks from the depot had reached the fork in the road when Mary Mack
took ownership of the house. The trains began running on January 1, 1876;
there were seven a day in each direction, and they shook the house as they
went by between seven a.m. and seven p.m.

Connie Mack quit school in 1877 after the eighth grade. He had put on
a spurt of growth that reached six feet and was still growing. He was now
the tallest boy in the village and towered over the teacher. His knees were
scraping the undersides of the little knife-scarred schoolroom desks. He
never sat for the high school entrance exam, an ordeal held every June that
most applicants failed. Connie Mack was always at ease yarning with visi-
tors or writers in hotel lobbies or in one-on-one interviews. But no matter
how many speeches he gave on the rubber chicken circuit, he always felt
inadequate to give the kind of talk he wanted to make and regretted he had
not had more education.

Watching his grandchildren playing one Sunday afternoon years later, he
told his daughter Ruth, “I'm going to see to it that your boys go to college.”
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There were others, family and nonfamily, whose educations he paid for;
how many cannot be counted.

But at the time he quit school, he had no qualms. He was ready to work
full time. He did not quit because his father had died, “leaving the busi-
ness of feeding a sizable and hollow-legged Irish family squarely on my
hatrack shoulder blades,” as some fanciful versions of his life, including a
few under his own ghosted byline, have melodramatically told it. Michael
McGillicuddy lived another fifteen years.

Perhaps in Connie Mack’s mind his father had died as a major factor
in his life by that time. His memory edited out the unpleasantness of his
father’s declining years, as he watched his mother put up with her hus-
band’s drinking, nurse him as his various ailments debilitated him, and
raise five children while losing two others, all without complaining or los-
ing her spirit. Whenever he talked to his children about his youth, Mack
spoke fondly of his mother and her influence on him. He rarely mentioned
his father, except to acknowledge that there was “a drinking problem.”

Michael’s working had become infrequent, but his visits to Stevens’
Tavern were regular. Whenever his co-worker at the wheel shop, Simon
Daley, half-carried him home, it was hard to tell if it was because of
Michael’s lameness or lack of sobriety. The tavern was only three hundred
yards from the house, and as Dennis’s wife, Annie, often said, “Michael
McGillicuddy would go through six feet of snow to get to the pub.” When
his money ran out, Stevens put him on the tab.

Michael had plenty of convivial company. Temperance groups were
active but, except for a brief period, largely ineffective. Those who didn’t
imbibe didn’t need them, and those who did didn’t heed them.

Mary’s sister Nancy observed that Dennis and Eugene walked in their
father’s path; Connie, Michael, and Tom took after their mother.

No doubt about it: Connie Mack’s optimism, patience, gentility, sto-
icism, dignity, faith, and antipathy to alcohol came from Mary McKillop.
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H 2 THE YOUNG CATCHER

When the fourteen-year-old Connie Mack became a working man in 1877,
East Brookfield and its neighboring villages were recovering from the panic
of 1873. The post—Civil War boom in railroad construction had climaxed
in a speculative bubble in railroad stocks and bonds that was fueled by
ordinary people who had never thought of taking financial risks. When
the bubble burst in September, eighty-nine railroads were bankrupt; over-
extended banks and brokerage firms called in uncollectible loans and were
forced to close their doors. National unemployment had reached 14 per-
cent by 1876. Even congressmen took a pay cut from $7,500 to $5,000.

East Brookfield had the resources to bounce back. Abundant water
power drove the mills. Plentiful supplies of clay kept the brick and pot-
tery kilns busy. There were boot and shoe factories, wagon manufacturers,
a foundry, and three general stores, one of which housed the post office.
Soon a grain and feed store; hardware, furniture, and funeral accessories
dealers; a sawmill; carpenter and machine shops; two blacksmiths; and an
American Express office opened on Main Street or Depot Square.

The most prominent businessmen in town were members of the Forbes
family and W. J. Vizard. The Forbeses were probably the wealthiest, but
there were no ostentatious houses in East Brookfield. Most of the mill
owners, who built fancier homes, lived in Spencer or North Brookfield.
To some of the locals, George E. Forbes was the Mr. Potter—the villain
in It’s a Wonderful Life—of East Brookfield. Forbes owned a wagon fac-
tory, pottery, hotel, woolen mills, land along Seven Mile River that con-
nected with Forbes Pond, and houses clear out to Podunk, a few miles out
of town. Local lore accused Forbes of being mean to the widow Stevens
and her daughter, who was “not right” according to a newspaper account,
when he locked them out of the house they were renting from him. But the
Macks had no animosity toward him. Forbes kept Michael on at the wheel
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shop despite his frequent absences. They traded at Eli Forbes’s general store
across the road from their home.

W. J. Vizard, born in England, arrived in town after completing a three-
year enlistment in the Union Army. In 1870 he opened an oyster and
refreshment room, then branched out into a pharmacy, boot shop, opera
hall, summer resort and trotting track, and bowling alley/shooting gallery,
where Connie Mack worked one winter. Vizard installed electric lights in
the opera house in 1894, but the fire insurance company made him take
them out.

The year Connie quit school he saw his first telephone in the Drake
home. The streets were still unpaved in town and there were no sidewalks.
Kerosene lamps lit Main Street except when the moon was full. The lamp-
lighter earned about forty-two cents a night. Connie was not interested in
that job.

In addition to the railroad, with its soot-spewing, tall-stacked engines,
horse-drawn stagecoaches brought visitors and traveling salesmen to town
and took them from the depot to the other villages or the East Brookfield
Hotel on Main Street. In winter the coaches traveled on sleighs. Ox teams
were also a familiar sight. A small steamer carried bricks across Quaboag
Pond to a railroad siding.

The hottest political issue of the time involved secession. As part of the
Town of Brookfield, the East Village residents didn’t take kindly to paying
taxes to help pay for projects over in Brookfield, three miles away. Their
efforts to form a separate township were constantly thwarted by the leg-
islature and the farmers in Podunk, who didn’t want to be annexed into
East Brookfield. It would take East Brookfield until 1920 to finally gain its
independence, making it the youngest town in the state. (For its fiftieth
anniversary in 1970, the town struck a medal showing a Franklin milestone
on one side and a profile of Connie Mack on the other.)

This was the setting in April 1877, when Connie Mack applied for a full-
time job across the road at Stoddard’s farm and market, adjacent to the ball
grounds. In a 1929 interview Stoddard said, “For three years he was in my
employ, following out the principles of efficiency, integrity, and honesty,
drilled into his mind as a youth. . . . He was tall for his age and witty and
quick as a cat. He did his work well, honest and straightforward.”

Some of those three years involved only summer work. There was more
money and promotion opportunity in the shoe factories. When Connie was
fifteen or sixteen, he went to work for Green and Twichell in Brookfield,
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cutting soles and heel lifts. From there he moved on to the George H. Burt
Shoe Company, where he reached a salary of $10 a week, enough of a wage
for many a man to support a large family at the time.

Life was not all work in the Brookfields, which were known as Showtown
because so many traveling shows and locally produced entertainments
appeared there. Connie Mack enjoyed them all: fairs, dances, parades,
strawberry and oyster suppers, minstrel shows, circuses, acting troupes,
concerts, political rallies and speeches, and historical commemorations.
He began a lifelong love of the theater.

The most prominent local show business celebrities were the Cohans.
George M. Cohan’s grandmother and other relatives lived in North
Brookfield, and the popular vaudevillians spent their summers there,
before and after the fourth Cohan, George M., was born on July 3, 1878.
Their presence stirred great excitement—and a little consternation when
Georgie was old enough to terrorize the residents by riding his bike up and
down muddy Main Street, causing havoc among the horses and pedestri-
ans. Georgie hung out with the players on the town baseball team at Char
Coughlin’s soda and tobacco store. He and his pals, some of whom were
considerably older than the brash youngster, formed their own team, called
Coughlin’s Disturbers. Never much of an athlete, George became an avid
and studious fan of the game. His shows always fielded a team; sometimes
the ability to pitch or play the infield had as much to do with an actor’s
being hired as did his acting ability. The theatrical highlight of every sum-
mer was a show put on at the town hall by the Cohans to raise the getaway
money for their return to the vaudeville circuit in the fall.

Connie was five when the first Memorial Day was observed on May 30,
1868. That November they watched local Republicans fire a one-hundred-
gun salute to mark the election of U. S. Grant as president. The Fourth
of July was a time for Halloween-type pranks, picnics, speeches, and ball
games. Every November husking parties ended with huge suppers and
dancing that ended “I dare not tell at what hour in the morning,” as the
Spencer Sun said of an 1880 event in Podunk.

Fire-fighting competitions against companies from other towns always
included a parade and banquet. The biggest social events of the year were
the firemen’s ball and a New Year’s ball followed by an oyster supper. The
social calendar was filled all year. The Macks were not high society, but
Connie Mack was present at many of these occasions.

Not all the excitement was planned. About 6 p.m. on July 10, 1867, a
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seventy-five-foot passenger balloon, the Hyperion, floated over the village
on its way to Worcester, bringing everyone out of their homes to gaze at
the airship. On Saturday, May 11, 1872, the railroad depot burned to the
ground. Connie probably watched the firemen manning the horse-drawn,
hand-pumped engine in their futile efforts to stop the blaze. In November
of that year the village was shocked when a fatal accident occurred. Two
horses pulling wagons collided, killing both animals but leaving the drivers
unharmed.

Sporting events included horse races, which coursed through the dusty
town streets in summer and over the ice when Lake Lashaway froze. There
was plenty of spirited wagering. The netting and trapping of passenger
pigeons provided good sport and many a meal. At one time the migrat-
ing birds created as much traffic in the sky over Brookfield as today’s
Thanksgiving Day drivers on the Mass Turnpike. But by 1914 the birds
would be extinct.

And, of course, there was baseball. Every village had at least one team.
Rivalries were as fierce and games as hotly contested as they would ever be
between any major league teams. Boot factories fielded department teams:
clippers, sole cutters, bottomers, quicks, packers, finishers, treers. They
played for pride and bragging rights and, as amateurs, truly for the love of
the game, though they sometimes passed the hat and divvied up whatever
they collected. Betting was lively among players and spectators.

Professional baseball was a shaky proposition that attracted little fol-
lowing in the Brookfields, even after the National League (NL) was created
in 1876. It was so tarred with corruption and rowdyism that the New York
Times in 1881 urged the nation to return to cricket as the national game:

“There is really reason to believe that baseball is gradually dying out in this
country. . . . Probably the time is now ripe for the revival of cricket. . .. Our
experience with the national game of baseball has been sufficiently thor-
ough to convince us that it was in the beginning a sport unworthy of men
and it is now, in its fully developed state, unworthy of gentlemen.”

The Times’s disenchantment with baseball was not entirely ground-
less. Police in some cities posted signs at the entrance to ball grounds: “No
game played between these two teams is to be trusted.” The selling of bet-
ting pools and the “prearranged outcomes” of games had become so wide-
spread that Henry Chadwick wrote in 1875, “If professional baseball died its
tombstone would read, Died of Pool Selling.”

Even the National League’s staunchest supporters feared for its future.
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In January 1881 Albert G. Spalding was quoted in the Cincinnati Enquirer:
“Salaries must come down or the interest of the public must be increased
in some way. If one or the other does not happen, bankruptcy stares every
team in the face”

But nobody in the Brookfields cared about editorials in New York papers.
Baseball was all the rage. The Brookfield Times gave the local teams front
page coverage, at the same time cautioning managers to see that their men
remained sober both before and after the games if they wanted to retain the
financial backing of their sponsors. Another paper was “happy to note at
Saturday’s game the presence of some of the best families in town, among
them three members of the clergy.”

As four-o-cat evolved into baseball at Stoddard’s grounds, Connie Mack
showed an early aptitude for the game. He was full of ginger, took the game
more seriously than the other boys, and began to take charge on the field.
His abilities as a field general suited him for the catcher’s position. In the
summer of 1879 he made the East Brookfield town team. At sixteen, he was
three or four years younger than most of his teammates, many of whom
were volunteer firemen. Connie pitched occasionally but was the team’s
primary catcher from the start of the season. Despite his lanky build —fast
approaching his ultimate height of six feet two and one-half inches—he
was agile and had quick feet and a strong arm.

That summer he wore a glove for the first time. “It was made of buckskin
and had no fingers,” he recalled. “We chipped in and bought [it] for two
dollars. It was used in turn by one player after another since it was com-
mon property.” He still had no mask or chest protector.

The pitcher fired the ball sidearm or underhand from forty-five feet
away (fifty feet beginning in 1881); the catcher stood ten or twelve feet
behind home plate and took it on a bounce. It was a hazardous position
for the hands and fingers. Rudimentary catcher’s equipment and special
baseball shoes were beginning to appear at Woodis’s general store in North
Brookfield.

One day Connie and a local pitcher named John Arthur Williams went
to the home of National League pitcher Candy Cummings in the nearby
town of Ware and paid him $10 to show them how to throw a curve (which
Cummings is widely credited with inventing).

The stories that either Connie or the newspapers shortened his
name to fit into box scores and lineups are fiction. As was true of many
McGillicuddys, the family was commonly known as Mack, except in legal
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documents—deeds, military records, church records, and the like. Even in
such cases, the names were used interchangeably. Voting records show both
names, as well as variations like McGilacurdy, for the family between 1877
and 1899. Connie’s name appeared in stories in the Spencer Sun as “Mack,
catcher for the local amateur nine.” Connie Mack later told the story that
when he was managing the Pittsburgh Pirates, O. P. Caylor of the New
York Herald learned that Mack’s real name was McGillicuddy. Players and
fans in every city razzed Mack about it for the rest of the season. Writers
delighted in referring to the team as “McGillicuddy’s Pirates.” (Between
1892 and 1911 Pittsburgh was commonly spelled “Pittsburg,” but for con-
sistency I use “Pittsburgh” at all times.) Many of the children of the next
generation who had nothing to do with baseball were unaware that the
family name had ever been anything other than Mack. But the name was
never legally changed.

Connie Mack bought the Worcester and Boston newspapers and DeWitt’s
and Spalding’s annual baseball guides at the newsrooms on Main Street,
but he was more interested in playing than following the major leagues.
Worcester had a team in the National League for the years 1880—-1882, but
Mack never talked about going to their games.

His first action against major league players occurred on Tuesday,
April 11,1882, when the Worcester Ruby Legs came to East Brookfield for an
exhibition game against the locals. A large crowd gathered at the grounds
across the road from Connie’s home. The Ruby Legs were a terrible team.
Despite the presence of Harry Stovey and Arthur Irwin, who went on to
long careers as players and managers, they won only 18 games and lost 66
that year. But they proved too much for the village team, winning 23—9.
Connie had 3 hits off Frank Mountain, who was 2-16 for Worcester that
year and later pitched a no-hitter.

Encouraged by the turnout for the Worcester game, Charles Sibley, the
East Brookfield manager, aimed his sights higher. He wrote to Cap Anson,
leader of the Chicago White Stockings, the greatest team in the nation,
with two straight pennants behind them and a third on the way. Sibley
asked Anson if he would stop in East Brookfield for a game in August on
the way between Boston and New York. Anson replied that it would take a
$100 guarantee to make it worth his while. Sibley said okay.

The prospect of playing against stars like Anson, the mighty Michael
“King” Kelly, George Gore, and Silver Flint kept Connie and his mates
buzzing with anticipation for weeks. Anson earned the unimaginable sum
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of $2,500 for playing baseball. King Kelly was rapidly becoming the most
popular player in the land, the Babe Ruth of his time. The chance to bat
against two of the National League’s top pitchers, Larry Corcoran and Fred
Goldsmith, excited more than daunted them. For days prior to the Saturday,
August 26, game, Connie and his teammates worked to clear and rake their
grassless grounds next to Stoddard’s farm. They picked up the cans, tobacco
tags, shoe scraps, and other “Irish confetti,” as Mack dubbed it.

The crowd that turned out was bigger than the one for the Worcester
game. Everybody was disappointed that King Kelly was not with the
team—an umpire, John Kelly, was recruited to do the catching—but
Anson played first base, and Corcoran and Goldsmith did the pitching.
Chicago won 20-s3, but that didn’t matter. Everybody had a good time. At
one point, Chicago right fielder Hugh Nicol crept up behind Anson at first
base and crawled between his legs, Anson feigning great surprise. When
the time came to pass the hat, they raised more than enough to cover the
guarantee.

Connie’s tall, thin physique caught Anson’s eye. Every catcher in the
National League or American Association (Aa) was considerably shorter or
heavier—or both. The first time Cap came up to bat, he turned to Connie
and said, “I’'ve looked at a lot of catchers and I don’t think I ever saw one
built as high as you.”

Anson was also impressed by Connie’s aggressive and spirited play
behind the plate. Connie’s brother Michael recalled, “Anson kept his eyes
glued on Cornelius, and after the game was over remarked, ‘“There is one
man who will make a ball player, and singled out my brother, better known
then as just plain Slats.”

As a teenager, Connie was self-conscious about his unusual construc-
tion. Few men of that era reached six feet in height. His slimness accentu-
ated his altitude. He towered fourteen inches over his mother. All of his
brothers were shorter and stockier than he was. When his team rode in
wagons to other towns, he was the primary target of the jeers and taunts of
their rivals’ followers.

Connie became very particular about the way he dressed. Throughout his
adult life he was rarely seen in anything but a three-piece suit, high collar,
and tie. When a St. Louis company that made his collars stopped produc-
ing them in 1908, he persuaded it to continue supplying him. Sometimes
in hot weather he would take off the jacket and vest. That was as close to
casual as he came. Even at home or when he was relaxing at his brother’s
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lakeside vacation home, the shirt and tie were always there. When he played
golf, the jacket might be replaced by a sweater, the tie by an ascot. Shorts or
swimming trunks? Never. He had long, narrow feet, probably wore size 14
or 15 AA shoes. Later he would have all his suits and shoes custom made.

By the time he was nineteen Connie was wearing a low-crown derby
in winter and a straw hat in summer. One day he was in a store in East
Brookfield when a traveling salesman came in. Connie’s eyes popped as
he gazed at the drummer’s getup: loud checked suit, high linen collar,
and bright red tie. He stared with envy at the stranger’s derby, which had
a higher crown than any he had ever seen. It made the low-crown jobs
worn by the local blades look like dumplings on a dish. If he wore one of
those high crowns, Connie mused, he would be the fashion king of the
Brookfields.

Connie had never been to Boston. He decided that was the only place he
was likely to find such a hat, so he rode the train to the city. Gazing up at
the tall buildings as he pushed through the crowded streets, he kept glanc-
ing down at the shops until he found one with a grand display of high-
crown derbies in the window. In he went and asked to try one on. The
hatter returned with an armful, picked one that looked the right size, placed
it on Connie’s head, and invited him to regard himself in the mirror.

“There I stood,” Mack recalled, “a gangling of 6 feet 2 inches, all the taller
because of the high crown. My trousers ended about six inches above the
shoes, and I certainly looked like some character in a rube drama.

“Reason overcame style. I began to reflect that my appearance in front of
the East Brookfield post office, with such a daring derby that accentuated
my height, would draw the banter of the town wits.

“I don’t believe that suits, I averred with all the dignity I could muster,
‘and I wish you would show me something in a low crown.”

The 1883 East Brookfield nine promised to be the best the town had ever
fielded. Most of the players had been together for four years. Twenty-
year-old Connie Mack was elected captain. He was the sharpest strategist
and analyst of the game they’d ever seen. Coolly standing and peering at
the scene before him, he would study the base runners’ leads and move-
ments, position his fielders, then give the sign to his pitcher, Will Hogan.
Connie had caught all of Will’s starts for five years; they knew each other
like brothers.

The team was almost entirely Irish: two Hogans, Mack, Lynch, Murphy,
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Manley, Fitzgerald, and Fitzpatrick, along with Clough, Lawrence, and
Ensworth. In a team photo, five of the nine pictured and manager H. E.
Langway sport full mustaches. Connie, sitting cross-legged with arms
crossed in the front row center, is clean shaven. There is no evidence
that he ever grew any upper lip adornment. Sitting between the broad-
shouldered, hefty Hogan brothers, the boyishly slender Connie appears
younger than twenty. His black hair parted over his left eye, he sported two
roaches—swirls of hair dipping down over his forehead, a style worn also
by Will Hogan and H. Ensworth.

During the winter the club held several dances at Fay’s Hall to raise
money for uniforms and equipment. The uniforms, featuring large block
letters EB in the center of the shirt, black bow ties at the neck, and knick-
ers to just below the knees, arrived in July. Connie’s catcher’s mask cost $3;
wide-heeled shoes were $4.

The Central Massachusetts Amateur Base Ball Association put up a rose-
wood bat with an engraved silver plate as the championship trophy for the
seven-team league. The season opened on May 19. Playing on Saturdays or
Sundays, usually on Stoddard Field, East Brookfield went into July with a
5-0 record. It had defeated its closest rivals, North Brookfield, 10-5, and
faced them in a return game on July 4. About one thousand spectators gath-
ered at the North Brookfield commons for the holiday game. The home
team batted first and took a quick 5-o lead, but Mack’s men fought back
and tied the score in the eighth on 4 hits and an error. North Brookfield
scored a run in the tenth to win 6-5.

That was the onlyloss of the season for East Brookfield, who had given the
North nine their only defeat. The teams tied for first place, forcing a playoft
for the championship. The big game was set for Wednesday, September 19,
and never did any battle for a world championship cause more excitement
or animated wagering among any two teams’ supporters. The teams agreed
on a neutral grounds at Oakland Gardens in Brookfield and imported a
professional umpire, Otis Tilden, from a town outside Boston. North
Brookfield bettors were confident their man, Pat Doyle, could outpitch
Will Hogan and their Hibernian lineup would whip the East Village Irish.
They generously offered 2-to-1 odds and found plenty of takers.

Long before Mr. Tilden called for the first pitch at 3:10 p.m., there was
no room for another pair of feet to squeeze onto the grounds around the
playing field. Youngsters slipped out of school to be there in time to secure
a spot where they could see the action. The Hogans’ sixteen-year-old sister
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Margaret, Connie Mack’s most ardent admirer, would not have missed it
for anything.

East Brookfield won the toss and chose to bat last. The North took a 1—o
lead in the first, aided by a passed ball by Mack. In the third, it loaded the
bases with nobody out. Things looked grim for the East boys.

“Here’s where Hogan and Mack showed their metal,” reported the
Brookfield Times. “Daniels flew out to first base. Mack captured Gaul and
Burke, one on strikes and the other on a perpendicular fly. The cheering
was immense. Such a task would be performed scarcely once in a score of
times before a score could have been made.”

In the bottom of the fourth Fitzpatrick was safe on an error. After
Clough forced him at second and Will Hogan grounded out, Mack, batting
cleanup, shot a single to left that brought home Clough with the tying run.
Mack stole second and raced home when Jack Hogan doubled.

Will Hogan nursed the 2—11ead into the ninth. The East Brookfield root-
ers grew quiet and tense as the North put men on second and third with
one out. Standing in front of the plate, Mack shouted encouragement to
his pitcher. When the next batter struck out, the East followers roared.
There were now two outs. One to go. The next batter struck out too, but
Mack dropped the ball. The crowd held its breath while he picked it up and
threw the batter out at first to end the game. Mack and his mates raced to
embrace Hogan and swarmed all over each other with the boundless joy
that surrounds the closing scene of every World Series. Their boisterous
celebration was matched by the East Villagers, especially those whose pock-
ets were now more prosperously lined.

The game had been a nail-biter to the last out. Doyle gave up 4 hits and
Hogan 5. Mack had 11 putouts and 6 assists behind the plate. “I had some
sizzling pitches to handle when he fanned the two final hitters,” Mack remi-
nisced, “but managed to hold onto them and they stuck in my glove like
burrs.”

Connie Mack always maintained that he felt “as much of a thrill recalling
the details of this game as I ever did out of any World Series game.” Reliving
that triumphal day with writer Fred Lieb in his Shibe Park office sixty years
later, he said, “I have enjoyed many victories—games which meant much
to me and my Athletic club. But I don’t think any other brought me greater
joy than when East Brookfield won. At the time, it seemed to be the most
important baseball game that ever was played.”

The village went all out to celebrate. A nine-man committee of promi-
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nent citizens arranged a gala for Thursday, September 27, at Fay’s Hall. Fans
were invited to be present “with ladies” for the presentation of the prize
bat. The souvenir invitations, printed on cream-colored satin mounted on
gilt, beveled-edged cards and fastened with red silk bows, listed the offi-
cers and member teams of the Central Massachusetts Amateur Base Ball
Association, the lineup of the championship team, and the score of each of
its 11 wins and lone loss. The evening began with a brass band concert from
seven to eight at Vizard’s Park, “before a large and appreciative audience,”
reported the Spencer Sun. Then Prouty and Belcher’s orchestra performed
at Fay’s Hall for an hour, the hall packed to capacity. After a galop, “Halloo,
Halloo,” closed the concert, and league president W. E. Parsons presented
the prize bat to Charles A. Sibley, “The home nine had every reason to be
satisfied by the generous ovation given them by the townspeople,” the Sun
noted. Then “an abundant collation was spread in the Baptist Vestry,” and
the dance lasted into the early morning hours.

The bat, with the results of the championship game engraved on its silver
plate, hung in the Bay State Engine Company firehouse in East Brookfield
until 1970, when it was moved to the museum in the East Brookfield
library.

A few months after East Brookfield’s victory, on Sunday, November 10,
1883, the country’s time zones were standardized at the behest of the rail-
roads. The residents of East Brookfield gained sixteen minutes. But they
soon lost something more prized by them than a little extra time. Their
star catcher and captain, Connie Mack, had played his last game for the
home team.

After the championship game, the umpire had congratulated Mack on
his game and asked if he intended to become a professional ballplayer. “If
you do,” Tilden said, “T will be pleased to recommend you.”

“His kindly suggestion,” Mack recalled, “caused me for the first time to
want to go out and play professional ball. I decided right then and there
that I would”
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“ 3 A ROOKIE IN MERIDEN

In the spring of 1884 Connie Mack read in a Boston paper about six towns
forming a Connecticut State League. He wrote to the managers of several
of the teams, asking for a tryout, but received no replies. When the Burt
shoe factory shut down for a few weeks in March, he decided to invest
some shoe leather and make the rounds in person.

His first stop was Willimantic, a mill town about forty miles south of
East Brookfield. “I told [the manager] I had my mitt with me and was pre-
pared to show him what I could do in the loft of some big building. He
laughed at my youthful enthusiasm but said it wasn’t necessary and that he
would consider my application and let me know by mail whether he could
take me.”

Mack went on to Hartford and New Britain with similar results.
According to Fred Lieb, one of the managers said, “You ain’t got enough
flesh on your bones. They’d be knockin’ you down.”

To which Mack replied, “They haven’t knocked me down so far, and if
they do, I'll lose no time picking myself up.”

The entire journey covered 150 miles, and he was soon back home. He
wrote to Frank Selee, the manager of a club in Waltham, Massachusetts.
Selee was only three years older than the twenty-one-year-old Mack, at the
beginning of a long managing career that led to the Hall of Fame. He didn’t
answer Mack’s letter either.

Discouraged, Connie went back to work when the boot factory reopened.
Contrary to some versions of his life story, the factory did not go out of
business and Mack was never unemployed.

Meanwhile, his best friend and battery mate, Will Hogan, received an offer
from the Meriden club in the new Connecticut league. Connie said good-bye
to him with a heavy heart. For the first time, he didn’t look forward to catch-
ing for the East Brookfield nine in the fast-approaching new season.
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While Connie sorted leather and cut inner soles, down in Meriden Will
Hogan was having problems with his catcher, Bob Pettit. Pitchers were now
allowed to use an overhand delivery. Even standing fifteen feet back of the
plate, Pettit couldn’t handle Hogan’s speed. After practice on Thursday,
April 17, Hogan went to Albert Boardman, the shoe merchant who man-
aged the team. Hogan told Boardman he could pitch better if he had his
hometown catcher, Connie Mack, behind the plate. Boardman agreed to
give Mack a tryout.

Michael Jr. recalled, “Well do I remember the night [Connie] came
home from the boot shop and mother handed him a letter from the
Meriden team.”

What Michael remembered was a telegram, not a letter, the first the fam-
ily had ever seen. Nervously, Connie tore open the yellow envelope and
read, “Come on at once. Boardman, Meriden B.B. Club.”

“Cornelius opened it,” Michael Jr. said, “read it and then passed it to his
mother and father. ‘That’s what I want to do, he said, ‘play ball.

“Father replied, ‘Well, son, if that is what you want, do it.”

It’s doubtful that there was any more family discussion about it, and
maybe not even that much. His father could not have talked him into or
out of anything even if he tried, and Connie’s future did not depend on his
father’s approval. Besides, snapped Connie’s cousin May Dempsey a hun-
dred years later, “Irish men didn’t count for much in those days.”

His mother was aware of the sordid reputation of baseball and its players.
But she didn’t have to extract any promises from her son to avoid evil ways
and hard liquor. He was already the man he would be, and she was content
with what she saw. She knew he was ready to leave home. His dreams and
ambitions lay beyond the Brookfields. He knew what he wanted to do with
his life, and he set out with confidence.

The family could manage without his factory earnings, at least for as long
as it might take him to find out if he could earn a living playing baseball.
His brother Michael worked as a butcher. Dennis, seventeen, was employed
at a pottery. Tom, ten, and Eugene, six, were in school. Their father had
gone for a physical in March that soon resulted in an increase in his pen-
sion to $4 a month. In January 1885 he would begin receiving $2 a month
from the state. The family’s needs were small. The house was paid for; taxes
were $16.20 a year.

Friday morning Connie walked into the office of the foreman, George
Burt, at the boot factory. “I'm giving my notice,” he said. “I'm quitting
Saturday night. 'm going to be a baseball player.”
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“Youre making regular money here,” Burt said. “There’s no future in
baseball.”

Mack shook his head.

“Why not wait until next Saturday night?” Burt said. “I'd like you to stay
on another week.”

The season didn’t open until May 3, but Mack said, “No, this Saturday is
my last day. After that I'll never spend another day in the boot shop.”

Sometimes, when retelling the story, Mack was apologetic. “Maybe I was
too rude to him. I should have worked the extra week.”

On Monday morning Mack stuck his buckskin glove in his pocket and
walked to the depot, where he boarded a train to Meriden, eighty miles to
the southwest. A prosperous, rapidly growing town of twenty thousand
midway between Hartford and New Haven, Meriden was the center of the
silverplate industry. Two days later Mack auditioned in a game against the
Yale freshmen. That morning he received two telegrams, forwarded to him
from East Brookfield. One came from Frank Selee, offering him $12 a week
and board. The other was from New Britain with an offer of $60 a month.
Mack said nothing about the wires. He put on a gray uniform with light
blue trim and warmed up his pitcher, Will Hogan.

Mack batted third in the lineup and had 2 hits, but it was his work “at
the points” that drew the most notice. Hogan struck out 17, allowed 1 hit,
and walked 6, which accounted for half the Meridens’ 12 errors (walks were
charged to the pitcher as errors). The game, won by Meriden, 8—4, was called
after 7 innings because the Yale catcher was too “broken up” to continue.

The next day’s Meriden Republican enthused, “Hogan and Mack proved
themselves to be first class men, and it was said by many that they were the
best battery ever seen on the grounds. Mack and the Yale catcher received
painful injuries, but pluckily kept on playing. If East Brookfield has any
more players like Mack and Hogan, let’s have ’em.”

Albert Boardman wasted no time in sending for Will’s brother Jack to
play third base.

Will Hogan had worked up a sweat during the game. The chill evening
air brought on a cold. For all his strong appearance, Will had inherited a
disposition to lung disease that made him susceptible to colds that were
difficult to shake off.

Emboldened by his performance and the two offers in his pocket,
Connie Mack asked Boardman for $90 a month. Most players earned half
that amount and held other jobs during the season; they played only twice
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a week. Will Hogan, at $100 and expenses, topped the team payroll. A sur-
prised Mack got what he asked for without an argument.

Mack, the Hogans, Pettit, pitcher John Campana, and a first baseman
from Brooklyn named Hyland (who didn’t stick around long enough for
his first name to be reported) shared rooms in a boarding house near the
practice grounds in South Meriden. A bed and three meals a day cost Mack
little enough to allow him to open a savings account at the City Savings
Bank. Some months he was able to deposit his entire paycheck.

The 50-game season began with six teams: Meriden, Hartford, Waterbury,
Rockville, Willimantic, and New Britain. Connie Mack would experience
sixty-six more opening days as a player or manager, but none would com-
pare with the excitement of his first. They opened at Hartford. Despite a
chilly forty-eight degrees, after breakfast on that Saturday morning the six
roommates went to the practice field and played “knock-up” —probably a
game of fungo hitting—and catch. They ate lunch at the boarding house,
then, to save the twenty-five-cent stage fare, walked the two and a quarter
miles to the railroad station.

The station was a madhouse. The railroad rolled out new cars in honor
of the season’s inaugural and offered one hundred special round trip tick-
ets at forty cents. By noon they were gone. Another 150 paid the full fare
for the twenty-five mile journey. The mob included the ninety-four stock-
holders of the club, most of whom were well armed with cash to bet.

When the train pulled into Meriden at 1:48, the crowd parted to allow
Boardman and his nine players to climb aboard first. Eager hands lifted the
team’s equipment up to the players before the boisterous rooters clambered
aboard. Forty minutes later they arrived in Hartford, where Boardman
hired carriages to transport the players to the grounds in style. More than
1,500 cranks (the term for baseball aficionados that was gradually being
replaced by “fans”) swarmed into the park. Since the uncovered grand-
stand behind home plate seated only 400, most of them stood along the
foul lines. The ten-cent seats behind a wire fence in left field were filled.
Youngsters perched in trees beyond the outfield fence, which was deco-
rated with freshly painted advertisements, and the center field scoreboard,
which posted out-of-town scores.

At three o’clock a fifteen-piece band began a one-hour concert—“a novel
feature on the ball ground but becoming popular,”said the Republican —while
odds were agreed upon and wagers entered into widely but quietly, out of
respect for the league rules banning betting in the stands.

The Meridens took the field in new gray breeches and caps trimmed
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with blue, short-sleeved white jersey shirts with an “M” on the front, blue
stockings, and belts. Umpire Patrick Dutton called the game to start at
four. Mack, chosen by Boardman to represent the visitors, won the coin
toss and chose to bat last.

Two Hartford newspapers and the Meriden Republican covered the
opener extensively, but their game accounts differ. None of the three box
scores agree; none could be called accurate. Longtime Meriden resident
Roger W. King, a member of the Society for American Baseball Research
(saBR), reconciled them to provide the following account of Connie Mack’s
professional debut.

In the bottom of the first, both Jack Hogan and Connie Mack singled in
their first at bats. Hogan scored on a passed ball; Mack was left at third.

In the third inning, Hogan had the second of his 4 hits. Mack walked and
they pulled a double steal but failed to score.

It was not a good day for Will Hogan. Pitching in a gusty wind and sub-
sixty-degree temperature, Hogan gave up 3 runs in the sixth, then switched
positions with John Campana, going to right field, where he dropped a
fly ball that let in Hartford’s final run in its 4-1 win. There were numer-
ous foul balls hit over the grandstand, but each time a boy recovered the
ball and traded it for free admission, enabling the teams to play the entire
game using one ball. The band played “Golden Chimes Scout” as the crowd
filed out, the Meriden backers lighter of pocket as they headed for the 7:40
express that would take them home.

It was the practice for players to take turns in the coaching boxes when
they weren’t batting. Mack’s work behind the plate and on the coaching
lines quickly won over the Republican’s young baseball writer, Thomas
Reilly, a future congressman, who wrote, “Connie Mack is nothing if not a
hard worker. He coached the men excellently and it isn’t his fault that they
didn’t run bases better.”

When Hogan didn’t pitch, Pettit caught and Mack played the outfield
or first or third base. John Campana pitched the home opener against
Willimantic at the field known as the trotting park. Mack started in left
field, but after Pettit let three pitches get by him, Mack moved behind the
plate. He had 2 hits and scored 2 runs in Meriden’s 11—7 victory. (A granite
marker at the site, put up by the American Legion Post 45 Club, commem-
orates Connie Mack’s Meriden debut on May 10, 1884.)

At that time the manager’s job was the equivalent of a general manager’s
today. The captain ran the team on the field. The Republican commented
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that “Mack is by long odds the best man for captain of the nine.” After a
few games Boardman agreed and gave the reins to the rookie catcher. Mack
grasped them eagerly. He introduced a signal for a pick-off play involving
the pitcher and shortstop. He showed the second baseman and shortstop
how to move into position to take a sudden throw to second to catch a
wayward runner by surprise. Mack and Hogan worked out a quick pitch
scheme. Making a gesture as if to pick up his mask, Mack would spring into
his catching position without it as Hogan threw to the unprepared batter.

Mack was also a chatterbox, distracting batters with a high-pitched
needling or an innocent “How’re you doing?” kind of patter. Nothing
vicious or mean, but if he learned a hitter’s weakness or vulnerability on
some subject, he chirped away at it.

Moving close to the plate when they were within one strike of fanning a
batter, Mack developed the art of bat-tipping, touching the bat just enough
to throw off a hitter’s swing. He then apologized with such sincerity that
the batter was often fooled into believing it had been an accident. These
tactics also amused the customers, who were close enough to the action to
hear it all. Mack’s hustle, lively banter, and willingness to play any position
without complaint made him a favorite among Meriden cranks. One wrote
to the Republican asking how much Connie Mack weighed. Tom Reilly
replied, “With his hair combed, Mack weighs about 140 pounds.”

Connie Mack observed and filed away everything that happened around
him, as if creating the recipe for his own future as a manager. He studied
strategy and the handling of men, as well as the economics of the game.
And what an education his freshman year proved to be.

It was no secret which players were “sports.” He saw the effects of whis-
key and late hours on their performance on the field. Drinking, gam-
bling, brawling, and whoring were ballplayers’ primary evening activi-
ties. Throughout the major and minor leagues, alcoholism threatened to
destroy the game. Club owners, players, and umpires traveled in a fog of
whiskey. Hardly a day passed without an arrest or fight or shooting. In
1883 the Pittsburgh club of the American Association had been nicknamed
Lusher’s Rest.

The Cincinnati Enquirer once offered shaky players this advice:

“Whenever a ball looks like this: O

(0]

O take a chance on the middle one.”
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Mack also learned why hotels turned away the baseball trade. Pillow
fights were a common diversion. They started with two players in a room
and quickly spread into the hall, where others joined in until a blizzard of
feathers filled the air. One night the Waterbury team stayed overnight in
Rockville instead of returning home after a game. The players tore up the
place, causing the innkeeper to demand double payment for the damage.

Mack disliked the manager, Albert Boardman, whom he remembered as
“an outspoken, decidedly coarse fellow. The way he used to talk to us was
fierce.” He winced at the language Boardman used in tearing into players
in front of the entire team. It wasn’t the profanity that bothered Mack—his
“goodness gracious” image was never realistic—but the unvarying vehe-
mence with which Boardman attacked his players. It didn’t matter if he was
lashing them for carousing all night and sleeping all morning or dropping
fly balls in the outfield—or the connection between the two. Mack might
have accepted the methods and the language if they worked, but he saw
that none of it had any effect on the guilty parties.

“I decided right then, there were matters relating to a player’s habits
which should be talked about between manager and player alone,” Mack
concluded.

Toward the end of May, Will Hogan, who had never regained his full
health since the Yale game, went home to recuperate. The Meridens climbed
to .500 in June, Mack enjoying his biggest day at bat on June 7. Playing left
field, he was 5 for 5 and scored 3 runs in a 10—7 loss at Willimantic.

As the team continued to hover around .500 in third place, players
came and went. Some simply quit; others were released to make room for
new ones. And there were plenty to choose from, as many a player found
himself far from home, broke, and out of a job when his team or league
blew up. The Eastern League began with eight clubs and was down to five.
The Northwestern opened with twelve and sputtered out of existence by
August. The Union Association was too chaotic for anyone to calculate
the final standings. Closer to home, the Massachusetts State Association
disbanded in June.

The Meriden club was losing money. Attendance was falling; the five-
cent scorecards weren’t selling. At a stockholders’ meeting on June 17,
Boardman was forced out as manager, and George H. Lynn replaced him.
The new management, hoping to turn the team into a pennant winner
overnight, scurried after the “drops” like scavengers in an apple orchard
after an autumn gale. They picked up two from Worcester—pitcher Frank
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Nash and first baseman Matt Barry—and replaced Mack as captain with
the more experienced Barry, paying him and a “change catcher,” William
Corrigan, $125 a month each. The club didn’t get its money’s worth.
Corrigan played in 6 games; Barry hit .21 in 13 games.

Will Hogan returned but his strength didn’t, so Meriden signed Jumping
Jack Jones, a former Yale star locally renowned as a whistler in the Eli Glee
Club. Jones had a year in the major leagues under his belt, winning 11
and losing 7 for Detroit in the National League and Philadelphia in the
American Association in ’83, but he was of little help to the Meridens and
never pitched in the big leagues again.

By the end of the season, twenty-five players would appear in a Meriden
uniform in at least three games and perhaps a dozen more in one or two. Of
the opening day lineup, only Mack, Pettit, and Campana finished the season.

Facing high salaries and low income, the club called a general meet-
ing, at which 150 people pledged to raise one-third of the $300 a month
needed to supplement gate receipts and keep the team afloat. They urged
the omnibus company to cut the one-way fare from fifteen to ten cents and
pleaded for the public to stop watching games from the hillside outside
the park, where stagecoach drivers parked, providing a vantage point for
their passengers. The club suffered a financial blow when exhibition games
against the New York Gothams were rained out three times. It did get one
in against Harry Wright’s Philadelphia nine on July 25.

A game against Waterbury at home on August 16 drew over three thou-
sand, who saw Frank Nash shut out the league leaders, 2—o0. But attendance
averaged about five hundred. To spruce up the team, the manager ordered
new uniforms: gray pants with blue jerseys, caps, belts, and stockings and
an overshirt of gray with blue trim. It didn’t help.

The Connecticut State League was crumbling. When Meriden played
at Willimantic on August 30, the total receipts came to $20.70. The
Meridens left town with $19.20, short of the $30 guarantee. The league gave
Willimantic an ultimatum: come up with the rest of the guarantee or face
expulsion. Willimantic said it didn’t have the $10.80 and dropped out, leav-
ing five teams to complete the schedule.

Mack earned the title “Old Reliable” for his clutch hitting and steady play
behind the plate. But his hands were sore from the battering of the pitchers’
fastballs. It was apparent that with the new shoulder-high delivery, catch-
ers’ gloves required more padding. He needed a rest and got it by playing
all three outfield positions.
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On September 15 Mack hit the only home run seen at the Meriden
grounds that year, in a game against Hartford that ended in a forfeit. With
Meriden leading 5-3 in the ninth, a foul ball was hit into a marshy area
behind the backstop. Both teams searched in vain for the sunken sphere.
League rules required the umpire to call for a new ball if five minutes of
searching failed to turn up the old one. When Hartford called for a new
ball, manager George Lynn took one from his pocket. The Hartford cap-
tain refused to use it, claiming it was illegal because it was not in a box
sealed by the league secretary. The umpire said that was a National League
rule not recognized in Connecticut. Hartford said nothing doing, and the
ump forfeited the game to Meriden.

Will Hogan never regained his preseason form or health. At the end of
July he went home again. In late August Mack received word that Will was
seriously ill, his lungs hemorrhaging. He went to East Brookfield to see him
and returned on Friday, September 19, to play in a benefit game for Will,
who was failing fast. After the game he visited with his old friend for the
last time, then returned to Meriden. Three days later Will Hogan died of
consumption. He was twenty-three. Mack went home for the funeral.

More than two thousand turned out to see Mack catch Michael Walsh’s
11—2 win over Waterbury on Saturday, September 20. Mack’s 2 hits included
his fourth triple of the year. That evening special buses ran from the
Meriden House Hotel to Hemlock Grove, where a picnic to raise money for
the club included music, square dancing, and a good deal of spending of
Waterbury money won by local bettors. The highlight of the evening was
a popularity contest. Paying ten cents a ballot, the voters elected Connie
Mack most popular player and presented him a silver watch.

The season ended on October 8 at Waterbury, where Walsh, who had
pitched almost every game for the last month, won, 8—2. Meriden collected
$42 as its share of the gate. Waterbury won the league’s silver bat in lieu of
a pennant with a 34-13 record. Meriden finished second at 25-22. Official
scorer Charles D. Goodwin showed Mack playing in 44 games, the most on
the team, with 32 runs scored, 49 hits for a .277 average, and 26 of the team’s
334 errors. (The rules still permitted the batter to call for a high or low pitch;
anything not in the requested zone was a ball. Mack favored them high.
On the banquet circuit in later years he admitted, “When the rules permit-
ted the hitter to call for a high or low ball I was a pretty good hitter. Then
they changed the rules [in 1887] and the pitchers could throw whatever they
wanted to. If they kept the ball low on me I couldn’t hit for sour apples.”)
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The Meriden club finished the season owing about $500, including play-
ers’ salaries. The stockholders put on a three-day baseball fair at the Town
Hall to raise the money. The fair began with a Thursday night dance. On
Friday night Bob Pettit and John Campana fought to a draw in a boxing
match. On Saturday Meriden and Waterbury played an exhibition game.
In the first inning Mack hit a rattling three-bagger. A single brought him
home. At that point the game was stopped. Out strode Judge Levi L. Coe,
who delivered a ringing speech in which he compared the national game to
ancient Roman sports, commended honest ballplaying, and cited Connie
Mack as the embodiment of honesty in the game.

“His effective work and faithfulness to the club under all circumstances
led his friends to make him this present,” said the judge, who then handed
the catcher a $75 gold Waltham watch with chain and charm.

Mack said a few words of thanks, then the crowd stood and delivered
three cheers for “Faithful Connie Mack.” The watch was engraved, “To
Connie Mack from the Fans of Meriden.” Mack carried it with him until it
was stolen from the Pittsburgh clubhouse about ten years later.

The fair culminated in a gathering in the park that evening that almost
turned into a donnybrook, as supporters of presidential candidates Grover
Cleveland and James G. Blaine waged spirited debates among the torch-
lights and banners. The three-day event turned a profit but not enough to
cover the club’s deficit. On Monday the players were paid, thanks to man-
ager George Lynn, who withdrew $350 from his personal bank account.

Connie Mack already knew he wasn’t going to be back in a Meriden
uniform in 1885. The league had no reserve clause in its contracts, and he
had received offers from other teams during the last week of the season.
Weighing them, he considered Hartford to be the most financially secure,
and he signed for $125 a month.

Before boarding the train for East Brookfield, he deposited another $10
in his savings account, decided he didn’t need two watches, and gave the
silver one to Michael Walsh.

In his first professional season, Connie Mack watched players pour their
careers down the hatch in saloons, teams and leagues go out of business,
his own team pay salaries it could not afford in a vain effort to field a win-
ner and make it back at the ticket window, and a club manager dig into his
own pocket to make up the deficit and pay the bills.

None of this was lost on him.
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4 THE BONES BATTERY

For the first time since he was nine years old, Connie Mack did not work,
nor was he in school, in the fall of 1884. “I decided to indulge myself in the
luxury of a workless winter,” he said in a 1930 newspaper series on his life. “I
had full use of my money, and as my father had prospered in his small way,
there was no necessity for me to send anything regularly home.”

Here again his memory airbrushed out reality when it came to his father.
Michael McGillicuddy was not prospering. It was now more than ten years
since he had been able to work even half-time. He walked with a cane or
crutches and was down to 130 pounds. He was still applying for an increase
in his $4 monthly pension but without success.

But Connie’s brothers, Michael and Dennis, were working, and if the fam-
ily needed anything, Connie provided it. With the country in a recession,
many of the shoe factories were shut down. In November a national reform
movement resulted in the election of a Democrat, Grover Cleveland, to the
presidency for the first time in twenty-eight years. Connie and Michael
paid the $2 poll tax; voting for the first time, Connie cast his ballot for
Cleveland. That didn’t mean he was a Democrat; disenchanted Republicans
who turned away from James G. Blaine carried Cleveland to a narrow vic-
tory. On the following Saturday evening Connie was one of the torch-
bearers who marched behind the East Brookfield band in celebration.
“A bonfire and three cannons kept things lively all evening,” reported the
Brookfield Times.

Throughout his life Connie Mack would be politically interested, some-
times active, always bipartisan. He could endorse a Democrat for election
without affecting his longtime friendship with his Philadelphia neighbor,
Republican Judge Harry S. McDevitt. He had friends of both parties in the
Republican-dominated state capital in Harrisburg, although it would take
him thirty-three years to get a law passed permitting Sunday baseball.
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Mack made a few trips to Boston that winter, skated on frozen Lake
Lashaway, played whist, and escorted Margaret Hogan to dances and
shows. He went with his little brother Eugene to pay the $2 license fee for
their black setter, Prince. He spent time with Eddie Drake, who had set up
a brewery in his basement and delivered the beer by wagon. He bought the
latest Spalding Guide for ten cents and perused the ads for new, improved
catchers’ masks, gloves, and chest protectors. That made him restless. He
couldn’t wait for spring. When he read in a Boston paper that the Trinity
College team had begun indoor workouts in Hartford, Connie packed his
clothes, shoes, bat, and glove and took off.

Mixing with college students was a new experience for Connie Mack.
Most of his friends had dropped out of school at an early age. He was
acutely aware of his lack of education, but the student athletes’ cordial wel-
come eased his discomfort. He was, after all, a professional ballplayer, and
that carried more prestige among the college crowd than a high school
diploma.

The students’ conduct, intelligence, willingness to learn, and analyti-
cal approach to the game impressed him. “That was one reason,” he said,
“when I started to manage, I always gave a well-recommended collegian
a chance, and most of all was patient and sympathetic with him after he
reported.”

Mack worked with Trinity’s ace pitcher, Joseph Shannon, beginning
a friendship that, like so many in Mack’s life, lasted a lifetime. Shannon
became a Philadelphia lawyer.

Some infielders began using a padded glove to handle hot line drives in
1883, but most continued to disdain such equipment. Reinforced full-fin-
gered catchers’ gloves were gaining favor, but a slab of round steak, though
expensive, was still a handy piece of insulation. Mack began slipping a rub-
ber pad inside his glove. A few catchers rejected all that “sissy stuff,” but
he realized that without more substantial protection, overhand pitching
would chew up a catcher’s hands and leave him with mangled fingers.

The Connecticut State League, renamed the Southern New England
League,nowincluded Hartford, Meriden, Bridgeport, Springfield, Waterbury,
and New Britain. Hartford’s manager and captain, Jack Remsen, had been
an outfielder in the National League for six years. Bob Pettit from the ’84
Meriden club had signed with Hartford, along with two collegians, pitcher
Fred Tenney from Brown and first baseman Samuel Childs of Yale.

Hartford opened at Meriden, where Mack received a warm reception
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despite sporting the visitors’ uniform. After wet grounds postponed their
own home opener, the Hartfords made their debut at the Ward Street
Grounds on a cold, raw May 5 before five hundred shivering fans scattered
throughout the grandstand, side stands, and carriage enclosure, where
ladies in bright dresses and picturesque hats livened the scene.

When he wasn’t catching, Mack played right field, drawing good reviews
at both positions. Hartford’s pitching was poor. Tenney was released after
one week. Jack Remsen was looking for new pitchers when Mack received a
letter from a friend telling him of the exploits of Frank Gilmore, a pitcher
for one of the Brookfield teams. Mack passed along the tip to Remsen, who
dispatched him to Brookfield to bring Gilmore back for a trial.

The day after they returned Mack caught Gilmore in a 6-3 win over
Meriden. A twenty-one-year-old right-hander, Frank Gilmore was as tall
and thin as Connie Mack. He used a windup that distracted batters and
delighted the fans. Gyrating his long arms and legs into pretzelian contor-
tions, he looked as if he would never get them untangled. Out of this maze
of limbs shot a fierce fastball or baffling curve. Mack earned as much praise
for handling these pitches as Gilmore did for throwing them.

The sight of this pair of animated beanpoles walking side by side on the
field drew good-natured hoots and exuberant ribbing as the patrons vied
to tag them with the swiftest witticisms and nicknames. By June 1 Gilmore
had won 5 and lost 1 for the first-place Hartfords, and the label “Bones
Battery” had been pinned and stuck to them.

“But both have plenty of sinew in their work,” observed the Hartford
Courant.

Located midway between Boston and New York, Hartford was a con-
venient stop for big league teams to pick up some traveling money. In a
game against Boston, Mack singled, stole second, and scored Hartford’s
only run in a 7—1loss. On June 20 the Bones Battery defeated the New York
Metropolitans of the American Association, 5—4, in 11 innings. Each time
he did well against major league competition, it bolstered Connie Mack’s
belief that he had a future in the game.

When he wasn’t catching or in the outfield, Mack played a few games at
second base, covering the position “satisfactorily.” But his catching, espe-
cially with Gilmore pitching, was invariably rated “first class.” He had the
ability to get inside a hitter’s head and a feel for what a pitcher should
throw in a given situation. Instincts, “baseball smarts,” are not a matter of
intelligence or schooling. They cannot be taught. A player has them or he
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doesn’t. The great catchers, measured by their leadership on the field, their
handling of pitchers, and their calling of a game, have them. Connie Mack
had them.

The minor leagues were a haphazard business. Most clubs didn’t own
their own grandstands or playing fields. The quality and reliability of the
umpires was erratic. “A lot of people like to hark back to the good old days,”
Connie Mack ruminated more than fifty years later. “But if baseball fans
of today had a chance to see an old-fashioned game they’d give it a grand
laugh. Clubs didn’t own their own fields and many a time before we could
play we had to get mowers and cut the grass ourselves. There were no regu-
lar umpires and those who acted as such were almost afraid to open their
mouths. Gosh, how often have I seen the umpire chased off the field and in
some cases beaten up.”

Despite efforts to curb it, gambling was still rampant. When the man-
agement of the New Britain grounds decided to refuse admission to all
reputed gamblers, attendance fell sharply and never recovered. Meriden
didn’t go that far. It just prohibited open betting in the grandstand. The
gambling continued unabated but with restraint.

By the end of July the Southern New England League joined the list of
baseball’s faltering circuits. Bridgeport won 9 games in a row and climbed
to second place, then kept on climbing clear out of the league and into the
higher-class Eastern League, replacing one of its defunct franchises. A week
later Springfield threw in the towel, which was practically its sole remain-
ing asset.

The remaining four teams, calling themselves the Connecticut League,
threw out all the records for the year and launched a new 24-game cham-
pionship season. That didn’t last long. Within ten days the New Britain
club, rumored to be the victim of demon rum, could field only eight able-
bodied players and disbanded. Meriden followed it out the door. When
Norfolk dropped out of the Eastern League, Waterbury jumped in and
took its place. That was the end of the Connecticut League, and Connie
Mack witnessed another lesson in the fragility of professional baseball as a
business and a career.

The Bones Battery’s biggest game of the year was an exhibition at home
against the New York Metropolitans two days after the short-lived “second
season” ended. Gilmore pitched a 3-hitter and struck out 13 in a 6—0 win.
Mack had 2 hits.
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Their league having disappeared, Mack and Gilmore were free to accept
an offer to work a September 17 Eastern League game for Newark against
Waterbury. MacK’s 2 hits put him in the 1885 record books with batting
stats in three leagues: .188 in the Southern New England, .125 in four games
in the Connecticut, and .500 in one Eastern League contest.

Pickup teams as well as major leaguers barnstormed until the snow fell.
Based on their Newark performance, Gilmore and Mack were invited to
join an independent team in Poughkeepsie, New York, for two games. “On
Monday Gilmore struck out 17 Jersey Blues, and on Wednesday he fanned
14 of the Newburghs,” reported the Courant. “Mack, as fine a catcher as
there is in the country, played in fine form behind the bat as usual.”

The New York Mets were also playing in the area. When one of their
catchers was hurt, manager Jim Gifford remembered Mack. He sent him
a telegram, and Mack took the next train for New York City. It was only
exhibition games, but it was the big leagues.

On October 19 Mack had his first look at a future Hall of Fame battery:
pitcher Tim Keefe and catcher Buck Ewing of the Giants. Mack was hit-
less against Keefe in that game and was blanked again when Keefe beat the
Mets, 6-5, four days later. But the New York Times devoted half its seven-
line story to a favorable review of “Conley and Mack, the Mets’ new battery,
[whol] filled their positions to good advantage.”

The Mets rode the steam-powered elevated railway to the various
grounds in the New York area. Fred Lieb described how one of the play-
ers plunked down the fare for all of them every time they rode the train.
Mack felt embarrassed at being carried on the cuff. One day after a game he
squared accounts by going into a saloon with the boys and laying a dollar
on the bar. “This round is on me,” he said. At a nickel a schooner, the buck
did a thorough job of wetting down their dusty tonsils and soothing the
rookie’s conscience.

Mack’s handling of Mets pitchers Jack Lynch and lefty Ed Cushman led
one newspaper to comment, “The Mets’ new catcher Mack showed up bril-
liantly, catching Cushman well and throwing to bases accurately.” The New
York pitchers agreed and asked Gifford to sign Mack. But Connie had to
say no; before leaving Hartford, he had signed an 1886 contract for $165 a
month. The Hartford management didn’t know what league they’d be in,
but they assured him they would field a team somewhere on opening day.
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FROM HARTFORD
TO WASHINGTON

5

Connie Mack went home buoyed by an offer from a major league team,
more confident than ever that he had made the right decision in depart-
ing the boot shop for baseball. His brief experience with the New York
Mets made him a celebrity in the Brookfields. The first local native to play
with a big league team, he was asked to speak at club meetings and socials.
His friends at the news store and pharmacy peppered him with questions
about the famous players he had seen in action. He found that he enjoyed
being the center of attention.

Margaret Hogan was now a grown-up 19. Barely five feet tall, she was
a dark-haired, bright-eyed colleen, a bubbly, outgoing magnet for a wide
circle of friends. She and Connie were seen together at social events, and
it was generally understood that a wedding was in their future. But there
were two obstacles. The frequency with which baseball teams and leagues
went out of business made Connie uneasy about depending on the game
to support a family. And some friends advised him against marrying Miss
Hogan because of the uncertain state of her health. Her vulnerability to the
same disease that had carried off her brother Will at an early age seemed
written in her pale face and frail body.

Responsible for providing his own equipment, Connie studied the
Spalding ads displaying the new, improved gear. One featuring the latest in
masks warned that “a broken-wire one will not stand the force of the ball
without caving in and is liable to disfigure a player for life. ... Our masks are
made of the very best hard wire plated to prevent rusting, well-trimmed,
well-padded with goat hair and padding faced with the best imported doe
skin which is impervious to perspiration and retains its pliability and soft-
ness.” It was priced at $3.50, as were an open-backed, full left-hand glove
of Indian tanned buck and a fingerless right glove. Horsehide shoes cost
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$6 (spikes fifty cents a pair extra); bats made from sun-dried ash, seventy-
five cents. Spalding’s $1.50 baseballs were warranted to “last a game of nine
innings.” As a proportion of his $825 annual salary, the cost of the gear
Mack needed was about the same as that for a minor league player earning
$12,000 today.

Despite his confidence in his ability, Connie Mack had good reason to be
concerned about baseball as a business. For the 1886 season, his Hartford
club had joined the Eastern League, now including Newark, Jersey City,
Providence, Meriden, Waterbury, Bridgeport, and Long Island. Two weeks
after the May 1 opening of the season, the Long Island club dropped out,
followed shortly by Providence. The remaining clubs voted to wipe out
all games played to that point and start over. With a nervous eye on other
shaky franchises, they agreed to look no further than one month ahead in
making a new schedule.

Hoping to avoid “vexatious delays” caused by searching for lost foul
balls, league president George M. Ballard ordered that two balls be on hand
for use in every game. Club owners grumbled; at $15 a dozen, balls were too
expensive to use more than one a game, no matter how “punky” the ball
became. The fiscal ice was so thin that when five balls were used in a game
at Waterbury on June 14, club treasurers throughout the league trembled.

None of this deterred the Hartford backers from ordering new uniforms
at a cost of $25 for an outfit of blue and white checked caps, pants and
blouses, and blue stockings. Mack played first base on the day the new uni-
forms were introduced. In July he played a game at shortstop, the Courant
noting, “Mack played a perfect game at short for the home club, showing
himself a valuable man at anything he undertakes.”

During the season Mack played every position except pitcher and bat-
ted anywhere from leadoff to seventh. His hustle and willingness to do
whatever was asked of him kept him atop the fans’ popularity rankings
and earned him a midseason raise to $200 a month. Frank Gilmore was
the team’s most consistent pitcher, and the Bones Battery entertained audi-
ences all around the circuit. On August 11, after a 12—1 win, an anonymous
admirer sent Mack a large, silver-headed cane with a note: “To that most
necessary appendage of the Hartford Base Ball club, plucky, energetic, reli-
able Mr. Mack.”

But Mack’s popularity and the spiffy new uniforms were not enough
to draw sufficient customers to pay the bills. The club directors offered a
season pass to anyone who bought a share of stock in the club for $6. They
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asked the cranks to pay double the usual admission to attend a benefit
game and went so far as to ask all stockholders to leave their free passes at
home and pay their way in. The fund-raising game was rained out. When
it was finally played, only 600 paid their way in.

An emergency meeting raised pledges of $120 on the condition that a
new, more competent manager be named. That savior turned out to be
Charles F. Daniels, an umpire who had been an original member of the
National League staff but was temporarily out of the game.

Meanwhile, other calamities besieged the league. Sometimes two
umpires showed up for one game and none at another. When there was
none, the visiting club had the right to choose a player to officiate. One day
at Waterbury, when no umpire showed up, the opponents from Newark
walked off the field and left town. The league fined Newark $200, which
it refused to pay. The bickering threatened to blow up the entire league.
But it was about to implode anyhow. Following the July 4 doubleheaders,
Meriden quit. Results of all its games were eliminated from the standings.
Calculating the records became so complicated that no final standings
were ever compiled.

The confusion extended to the individual records. The Spalding Guide
shows Mack fifteenth in batting with a .289 average in 46 games. The
Baseball Register shows him batting .248 in 69 games. Mack probably got off
to a slow start, then hit .289 in the 46 games after Providence and Meriden
dropped out and the league started over. His fielding average for 46 games
was a league-leading .942 for catchers. He caught one stretch of 10 consecu-
tive games without a passed ball, a noteworthy feat for the time.

No won-lost or strikeout records were found for Frank Gilmore, but his
opponents’ batting average was reported as .200, fifth best in the league.
Gilmore was an inept hitter by any standards, batting .100.

“He was a pitcher of the highest order,” Mack said of Gilmore, “but there
his value ended. He could not field his position and I think he was the
most impossible hitter that ever lived, even among pitchers. He was actu-
ally applauded when he hit a foul.”

Connie Mack saw black players for the first time that season. Meriden
had a black pitcher named Grand, who faced Hartford once. On July 1
Hartford played an exhibition game against a black team from Trenton, the
Cuban Giants. Mack umpired the game.

The remnants of the league soldiered on to the season’s end. In August
Connie Mack went on a hitting tear. On August 16 he had 3 hits and stole a
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base in a 12—2 win over Newark. Three days later he doubled and tripled in
a 13—3 victory, then had a double and single the next day. On September 7
he had 2 hits as Gilmore shut out Jersey City, 2—o. The next day Mack had 2
more hits and Gilmore pitched another shutout, blanking Newark, 4—o.

Their hot streaks could not have come at a better time. Charles Daniels
was determined to see Hartford play out the season, but the club was
deeply in debt. There was no money to meet the payroll. Then Walter E.
Hewett, son of a Washington grain merchant who owned the Washington
club, came to town.

Washington had been briefly represented in the Union and American
Associations, but the Nationals (or Statesmen, depending on what newspa-
per you read), owned by Robert C. Hewett, were now in their first year in the
fast company of the ten-year-old National League. The team was unable to
compete with the well-financed large market clubs. By August 11 it had won
only 12 games and lost 60. Crowds at Capitol Park were rapidly shrinking
into what might be more accurately called gatherings or groups.

Hewett was intent on revitalizing his team and boosting attendance by
introducing some highly touted rookies, giving the fans reason to hope for
better things next year. He had heard about Gilmore, who was said to have
rung up 300 strikeouts already. He sent his son to Hartford to buy him and
anyone else who looked promising.

After watching several Hartford games, Walter Hewett approached
Daniels and made an offer for several players, including Gilmore. When
word got out about the deal, Gilmore balked at going anywhere without his
catcher, Connie Mack. According to Fred Lieb’s 1945 biography of Mack, the
Bones Battery had made a pact: if one was sold to the majors, he wouldn’t
go without the other. Gilmore went to Hewett’s hotel room and announced
that he wouldn’t go anywhere without Mack. Hewett protested that Mack
couldn’t hit National League pitching.

Gilmore insisted that “we go together or I don’t go to Washington.”

Impressed with this show of loyalty, Walter Hewett studied the fidgety
Gilmore, thought about his father’s instructions, and decided that Gilmore
probably wouldn’t be much good without MacK’s steadying presence. He
went back to Daniels and added Mack to the package. The total price came
to $3,500.

That’s the way Fred Lieb told the story. Morris Bealle in The Washington
Senators told it the same way. Connie Mack never told any version of it in
the serialized stories of his life that appeared in newspapers from time to
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time. But in a 1948 interview with Ed Fitzgerald in Sport magazine, Mack
said the story that Gilmore had refused to go to Washington without Mack
was “absolutely wrong. It was the catcher they wanted. I've seen it so many
times I wish you would correct it. If Frank Gilmore were alive he’d tell you
he wouldn’t even have been an ordinary pitcher without me.”

Mack’s assessment of Gilmore could explain why the pitcher might have
been reluctant to leave Hartford without him. And if Fitzgerald quoted
Mack accurately (which is by no means certain), Mack might have made
his point clearer by saying, “It was me they wanted, not Gilmore,” instead
of “It was the catcher they wanted.” It’s also significant that the Hartford
Courant first reported that three players—outfielder George Shoch, a .300
hitter who could play the infield as well; Bill Krieg, a .315-hitting catcher;
and Gilmore—had been sold to Washington and the next day reported
that “now five players” were involved, adding left-hander John Henry and
Mack. This is consistent with Lieb’s version of the events. Equally tell-
ing, when they all got to Washington, Connie Mack caught all 9 of Frank
Gilmore’s starts and only one game when another pitcher worked.

In any event, Hartford’s best and most popular players had been sold
before the season ended, provoking loud complaints from the club’s fol-
lowers. But, the Courant explained, “the baseball park company was in
financial straits. What was done had to be done speedily. Fans can thank
manager Daniels and Director Hall for doing the wisest thing possible
under the circumstances.”

The fans didn’t thank the manager — fans will never thank a manager —for
doing anything for financial rather than baseball reasons, no matter how
“wise” or whatever the “circumstances.”

Connie Mack had seen enough in his three years in professional baseball
to understand this financial fact of life: if a club spent more than it took in,
selling players was sometimes the only way to stay in business.

Prior to the start of Mack’s farewell game on September 9, the umpire
presented each Hartford player with a buttonhole bouquet from “a friend.”
The fans gave Mack a diamond stickpin and Gilmore a gold watch. Hewett
wound up with slightly damaged goods as a result of the game. With Henry
pitching and Krieg catching, both went for a pop fly and collided. Henry
suffered a cut over one eye. Krieg had cuts on his lip and nose, a few loos-
ened teeth, and a scraped shin. Gilmore, playing left field, came in to pitch.
Mack was playing second base, so a new catcher went behind the plate.

Nobody on the train to Washington that evening could mistake the occu-
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pation of the five young men who climbed aboard in Hartford. Connie Mack
used a long bat, which he tied to the outside of his trunk when he traveled.

The Washington manager, Honest John Gaffney, was no stranger to Mack,
who had seen Gaffney umpire in New England. Mack called him “a perfect
umpire. He would follow a ball all the way from the pitcher, and when he
made his decision he would say, ‘That was one-eighth of an inch outside’
or ‘That was one-eighth of an inch too low’ and he was right.” One of sev-
eral umpires who billed themselves as “King of the Umpires,” Gaffney was
taking time off from umpiring in the National League to try his hand at
managing. He had replaced Mike Scanlon on August 19 after the team had
lost 12 in a row. When the rookies from Hartford arrived, the team’s record
was 15-78.

On a clear, eighty-degree Saturday, September 11, Gaffney threw four of
his new players into action. Gilmore and Mack were at the points. Krieg
played first base and Shoch right field. Under Mack’s guidance and encour-
agement, Gilmore struck out 10 Phillies, walked 4, and gave up 7 hits. The
Statesmen trailed, 3—1, in the bottom of the eighth when Mack, batting
eighth, lined a one-out single over second base. Gilmore made contact with
a slow curve and sent a shot right at shortstop Arthur Irwin, who couldn’t
handle it. Paul Hines then hit a triple that scored Mack and Gilmore. Hines
scored when Cliff Carroll hit a bounder over first for a 4—3 lead.

In the ninth 2 hits put Phillies on second and third, but Gilmore got out
of the jam as the crowd of 1,500 gave the home team a rousing hurrah.

The exuberant boys from Hartford were whooping it up in the tiny
dressing room when a scowling Gaffney stuck his head in the doorway.
“Here you new fellers,” he hollered, “don’t get swell-headed because you
happened to win.”

“That remark of his always stayed with me,” Mack recalled. “He didn’t
know any of our personal habits and I always imagined he believed that we
might all go out and paint the town red over this initial success.”

Instead, Mack and Gilmore went back to the room and bed they shared
in a nearby boarding house. The following Wednesday they began a road
trip to New York, Boston—where they won 3 in a row for the first time all
season—and Philadelphia. Mack cottoned to big league pitching, at least
for 10 games, hitting .361 with 2 doubles and a triple and 5 runs batted in.
With his lengthy strike zone, he drew few walks throughout his career, but
he seldom struck out.
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MacKk’s ginger and hustle made him an immediate favorite with the fans
and sparked life into the spiritless Statesmen. The Sporting Life correspon-
dent reported of the rookie catcher: “And what an impression he has made
here. . . . He jumped into popular favor at once and people never seem
to tire of singing the praises. . . . He and Gilmore have been dubbed the
Shadow Battery and their work is beyond criticism.”

With Mack’s patient handling, Frank Gilmore pitched well. He started and
completed 9 games, striking out 75 in 75 innings, for a 4-4 record with 1 tie.
Erratic defense was responsible for most of the losses. On September 28 he
struck out 16 St. Louis Maroons, tying the league’s season high, in a 5—2 loss.

Near the end of the season Connie Mack learned firsthand that the
major leagues were no more immune from the poison of corruption than
the minors.

The Nationals were due to close the season at home against the seventh-
place Kansas City Cowboys, beginning with a doubleheader on Thursday,
October 7. On Wednesday night John Gaffney was roused from his sleep by
a stranger who demanded to know “for a certainty” what battery Gaffney
intended to use in the Saturday game. The suspicious manager fed him the
names of two players he had no intention of using and went back to sleep.
The next day the Cowboys failed to show up for the morning game and the
Nationals claimed a forfeit. In the afternoon Connie Mack coaxed a 12—3
win out of Gilmore.

The Friday game ended in a 2—2 tie.

On Saturday morning Gaffney received three telegrams, all from St.
Louis gamblers, all with the same warning:

CHANGE YOUR PITCHER AND CATCHER FOR TODAY'S GAMES. THERE IS
SOMETHING CROOKED. A. G. Merwin.

USE CAUTION IN SELECTING PITCHER TODAY'S GAME. STRANGERS IN
TOWN OFFERING ODDS ALTOGETHER OUT OF PROPORTION ON KANSAS
crry. C. D. Comfort.

LOOK OUT FOR SOMETHING CROOKED IN TODAY’S GAME. KANSAS CITY PEO-
PLE HERE BACKING THEIR CLUB AT RIDICULOUS 0DDs. George Ehrlich.

Gaftney smelled something fishy. He had intended to use Gilmore and
Mack that afternoon and had no doubts about the honesty of his two rook-
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ies. Neither, he reckoned, did the senders of the telegrams, who were trying
to dupe him into benching them in favor of the battery the pool sellers had
managed to reach with bribes. Gaffney ignored the wires and went with
Gilmore and Mack.

The Shadow Battery turned in its best game of the year. Gilmore pitched
a one-hitter and struck out 12. Mack’s fourth-inning single drove in the
first run in the home team’s 3—o victory.

After the game Gaffney said he was informed that he had accurately
doped out the scheme, and the inquisitive stranger of Wednesday night was
one of the St. Louis plungers on the Cowboys. “Never as long as I am man-
ager of the National club,” he said, “will I allow the nine to be used as tools
of the pool sellers and these gentlemen will have to devise some less trans-
parent scheme than the one set forth in the telegrams from St. Louis.”

Only a half game separated Kansas City and Washington at the bottom
of the standings. They agreed to play off the tie game on Monday. John
Henry pitched; Mack did not play. The Cowboys won 7—5 and claimed
seventh place.

Washington finished in the sub-basement, winning 28 and losing 92.
But Hewett’s new players had accomplished everything he wanted. The
Washington Evening Star commented, “The increased attendance at Capitol
Park since the Statesmen recently recovered from their lethargy and played
with a little spirit shows how ready the Washington public is to support a
team that will do its best.”

During the next ten days the Nationals played exhibition games against
the American Association Baltimores. Connie Mack managed a hit in
two games off a twenty-year-old rookie left-hander, Matt Kilroy, from
Philadelphia. Kilroy had pitched 583 innings, which didn’t lead the league,
striking out 513, which did. He still had enough stamina left to defeat the
Washington club twice.

In gratitude for his work, Hewett gave Connie Mack $8oo for his few
weeks’ work and an 1887 contract for $2,250. Despite its woeful record, the
club actually showed a small profit.

For the first time, Connie Mack went home for the winter without
worrying if his team or the league would disappear before spring. The
National League was solid. It was the league of managers like Cap Anson,
Harry Wright, and Jim Mutrie and his New York Giants. Club owners like
Spalding in Chicago and Alfred J. Reach in Philadelphia had deep pockets
and big stakes in the game’s future success.
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6 LIFE IN THE BIG LEAGUES

Life in the big leagues in 1887 was far from luxurious. On the road play-
ers rolled up their uniforms, for which they were charged $30, and carried
them with their shoes, bats, and other belongings. If they didn’t have a
suitcase, they wrapped their clothes in brown paper. Catchers lugged their
masks and chest protectors. They changed at the third-rate hotels where
they slept, two to a bed, and walked or rode in a horse-drawn omnibus
to the ballpark. For these amenities they were charged fifty cents a day by
their employer.

Farmers who lived near the railroad tracks could tell when a ball club
was on the train by the sight of sweaty uniforms hung out the windows to
dry. The uniforms might not match; there was no uniformity of apparel
among the nine men on the field.

John Montgomery “Monte” Ward, star shortstop of the New York Giants,
cited the questionable drinking water as one of the hazards of traveling:

“We would be in St. Louis drinking Missouri water one week—water
so thick with mud that there would be thick settlings in the glass when
you let it stand—and then we’d be drinking water out of Lake Michigan
at Chicago. From there we would go to Cincinnati and drink Ohio River
water, and then to Pittsburgh and sample the water of the Monongahela.
We knew them all by color and taste.”

The crude little dressing room at Capitol Park in Washington offered more
facilities than most, such as they were. Connie Mack once described them:

“The locker room in the Washington ball park had no showers or bath-
ing facilities other than a sort of barrel-like pool sunk in the ground filled
with water. The water would stay there for a week without being changed.
After a while they outgrew the barrel and put in little individual tin pans.
On the other side of the locker room a sink was put in with three or four
spigots from which we could fill our pans. I anticipated the shower bath by
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anumber of years by filling my pan up at the sink and pouring its contents
over my head and shoulders.”

Every player was his own trainer, carrying his personal kit of iodine
and arnica. Players debated the relative healing powers of whiskey versus
tobacco juice for spike wounds and split fingers. Mack and Gilmore tended
each other’s aches and pains.

“Frank developed a sore arm, and I had a charley horse,” Mack recalled.
“Wintergreen was the only remedy for our aches, so we would spend half
the night rubbing each other with wintergreen. I worked on his arm and he
on my legs. Gosh, you could smell our room a block away.”

When the wind was brisk and blowing from the north, the smell may
have invaded the halls of Congress, a few blocks to the south. Set near a
neighborhood of fine homes in a section called Swampoodle, Capitol Park
was located at North Capitol Street between F and G Streets, where Union
Station and the National Postal Museum now stand. The outfielders had a
fine view of the Capitol dome. Beyond the left field fence, Baltimore and
Ohio (B&o0) railroad cars were shunted about on side tracks. A block away
on the opposite side stood the Government Printing Office, whose upper
floors afforded an unobstructed view of the action on the field.

The infield was well sodded, but grass was sparse in the outfield and
foul areas. Outfield fences were decorated with advertisements for beer,
tobacco, sporting goods, and public baths. The small, primitive grand-
stand, little more than bleacher boards, seated about 1,800; the bleachers,
twice that number. The cranks were boisterous, sometimes riotous. When
they took exception to a call by the lone umpire, the police often had to fire
their revolvers in the air to restore order.

With a population approaching two hundred thousand, Washington
was among the smaller cities in the league. It was also the hottest city Mack
had ever known. In the heat of July and August, he recalled, “after a game
I would get home utterly fogged out and I hardly ate any supper. All night
I would lie in the vestibule trying to get cool. The next day would be the
same thing over again.”

Politicians and government employees formed the bulk of the team’s
following. One of them was John Heydler, a future president of the league,
who went to work in the printing office in 1888. Heydler told Fred Lieb:

Everybody around the printing office knew and loved Connie Mack.
He was one of our favorite players. There was a small butcher shop
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opposite the park on G Street, where Mack used to have a daily small
steak cut to put in his left finger glove. Then we younger fellows would
also buy steaks to put into our gloves. The butcher didn’t know his
baseball too well and expressed wonder that we should eat up all his
steaks. Also he could never understand why Connie’s daily steak didn’t
put more flesh on his bones.

In those days, which were prior to the big-glove period, it was no
fun for the catcher to come up behind the bat, and the small steak that
Connie stuck into his glove felt very good. Catchers, especially in one-
sided games, then kept as far back as the stand would permit.

Another Statesmen fan was the young leader of the U. S. Marine Band,
John Philip Sousa, whose passion for baseball was second only to his music.

Washington was fast becoming electrified in public areas; street lights
brightened many sections of town. Horse-drawn streetcars were giving way
to electric trolleys. A few hundred “electric speaking telephones” linked the
White House and other government offices.

But there was nothing electrifying about the Statesmen’s play in 188;.
The April 28 opener was a harbinger. Led by the National Rifles Band,
the Statesmen and Boston Beaneaters paraded in open carriages from the
Willard Hotel to Capitol Park, where a downpour sent the 1,800 faithful
scattering for cover and washed out the game. The next day the field was
muddy, the skies threatening. But 1,500 returned to see the match between
Grasshopper Jim Whitney and Old Hoss Radbourn, who at thirty-two
would work only 425 innings that year, his lowest total in six seasons.

When Bill Krieg hit a home run in the third inning, “hats, umbrellas and
canes were thrown into the air and the multitude shouted forth their joy in
hilarious manner,” was the Morning Republican’s understated report. That
was practically the high point of the season. The home team trailed, 9—4,
when the rains came in the sixth inning.

Washington’s 46-76 record for the year kept it out of the cellar only
because a more inept Indianapolis team lost 89 games. Of the Hartford
five, John Henry never started a game. Bill Krieg played in 23 games before
losing the first base job to Billy O’Brien. George Shoch hit a disappointing
.239. Frank Gilmore was erratic and wild all year, losing 20 of his 27 starts.

And Connie Mack? The praise he had earned during his brief year-
end debut gave him no guarantee of making the team in the spring.
Washington had two other veteran major league catchers, Pat Dealey and
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Barney Gilligan. The five-foot-six Gilligan was small for a catcher and a
lightweight at the plate, but he had been the team’s regular catcher in ’86.

So Mack had to prove himself. He knew that rookies who pushed them-
selves out front to be noticed usually got more opportunities than the ones
who didn’t. But, as he later told a writer, “Dern it, it’s something I could
never do.”

He knew he wouldn’t win the job with his bat. For the first time bat-
ters could no longer call for the pitch location. To help them adjust to the
change, the rules makers decreed that it now took four strikes for a batter
to be out, and walks would count as hits. (Both those rules were in effect
for just one year.) They didn’t help Mack, who batted .220 (subtract his 8
walks and it was .201). He had 26 stolen bases, not among the leaders, but
evidence that he could run the bases.

In the end Mack’s handling of pitchers and his defensive skills made his
case for him. Base running and stealing were the crowd-pleasing offensive
weapons of the time. The home run was considered, at least by the editor of
the Spalding Guide, “a selfish display of brute strength that any soft-brained
heavyweight could do.” The double steal and squeeze play took brains and
timing and teamwork. A strong, accurate arm, holding men on base, keep-
ing pitchers focused, taking charge on the field, and calling pitches were
what counted in a catcher. It didn’t take long for Mack to demonstrate that
these were his strong points.

Washington’s ace pitchers were Jim Whitney and Hank O’Day. Whitney,
described by a Boston writer as having “a head about the size of a wart,
with a forehead slanting at an angle of 45 degrees,” was called Grasshopper
because of the way he walked. The twenty-nine-year-old, six-foot-two
right-hander needed plenty of handling while winning 24 of the team’s 46
victories. He never stopped griping at the umpire, whether he was pitching
or at bat. Mack was so effective at calming him down that Whitney refused
to pitch unless Mack caught him. Between them, they devised a sign for a
pitchout, accounting for many of Mack’s 119 assists that season.

Hank O’Day, one of a handful of players who became both umpires and
managers, was that rarity among pitchers—a crafty right-hander. O’Day
had a good fastball, but he relied on a variety of baffling change-ups that,
for all their slowness, hit the catcher’s glove like a cannonball.

“He threw the heaviest and hardest ball I ever caught,” said Deacon
McGuire, who had caught him in Toledo. “It was like lead.”

Purchased from Savannah in the fall of 1886, O’Day was a hard-luck
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pitcher, whose 8-20 and 16-29 records in 1887-1888 belied his skill. He and
Mack formed a brainy battery, but O’Day’s personality was the antithesis of
Mack’s. He was a taciturn loner, possessed of a surliness that a perfect day
in June might lighten only as far as grouchiness. He made W. C. Fields look
like Shirley Temple. Once, when he was an umpire, he was sitting in a hotel
lobby concealed behind a newspaper when a stranger sat down beside him
and said, “Good umpiring job in the game today, Mr. O’Day.”

The ump frowned as if he had just been handed a summons, then stood
up, folded his newspaper, muttered, “What does one need to do to get any
privacy in this hotel?” and walked away.

Connie Mack, on the other hand, welcomed all who approached him as
if they were carrying a tip on a 20-game winner.

Yet Mack and O’Day remained friends until O’Day died in 1935, forty
years after he became the only umpire ever to throw Connie Mack out of
a game.

Catchers still stood as far back from the plate as they could and caught
pitches on a bounce. They moved up only when there were men on base or
the batter was within one strike of fanning. The conventional thinking was
that with the catcher standing back from the plate, the pitcher could cut
loose with his mightiest fastball. If the catcher moved up close, he couldn’t
handle the speed, and the pitcher would have to let up. Despite Gaffney’s
objections, Mack was among the earliest catchers to move up behind the
plate at other times too. That enabled him to perform his newest trick: fak-
ing the sound of a foul tip. Under the rules, the batter was out if the catcher
caught a foul tip, regardless of the count. If he saw a batter was going to
swing, Mack would click his tongue or slap his glove or snap a piece of elas-
tic webbing sewn to his mitt as the bat came around. If the batter missed
the ball, the umpire, reacting to what he heard, called the puzzled, angry
batter out. It must have been effective. John Heydler recalled “three men
going out in one inning on foul tips to the long angular Mack.”

(In 1891 the rule was changed; with fewer than two strikes, a batter was
no longer out if a foul tip was caught. Mack may well have caused the rule
change.)

For all his defensive skill, Connie Mack possessed one peculiar flaw: he
could rifle the ball to second on the money, but he couldn’t throw accu-
rately to third. It’s amazing that catchers were able to throw anybody out at
any base in those days, considering that they were throwing a mushy ball
that had been pounded out of shape after a few innings. Throws to second
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are made overhand from the shoulder, with the arm drawn slightly back.
Throwing to third calls for more of a sidearm snap. Perhaps Mack’s long
arms were better suited to the overhand throw.

Modern catchers asked to explain this anomaly couldn’t think of any
catchers they had ever seen who could throw well to second but not to
third. Some thought it might have been a mental quirk. Perhaps Mack had
made a few bad throws to third, and that nagged at him. Charles Johnson,
the best at throwing out base stealers in the National League a century later,
said, “He could have had trouble with a right-handed batter at the plate,
because then the catcher often has to step laterally instead of forward and
throw more sidearm than overhand. Connie Mack’s height and slim build
might have made that a more awkward mechanics for him and that, com-
bined with the shorter distance, may have caused him to be more erratic
than throwing to second base.”

Veteran Dodgers catcher Mike Scioscia said, “If a three-quarters arm
angle was his natural throwing move, he could have had trouble with his
accuracy to third as he would have to step back to throw and that might
cause the throw to veer away from the base. Or he had to go overhand to
throw over a right-hand batter, contrary to his natural arm angle.”

Whatever the reason, Mack had no coaches to help him. He and
Buck Ewing and Wilbert Robinson were inventing the modern catcher’s
position.

The problem worried Mack. He knew that at least two players, John M.
Ward, captain of the Giants, and Boston star King Kelly, were on to his
weakness and would steal third on him every chance they got. But “in those
days,” he said, “players didn’t share what they learned, and nobody else
caught on, sparing me from being run out of the league.”

Baseball, like life, is a series of adjustments. To compensate for his weak-
ness, Connie Mack came up with a play that, at the time, was a novel gam-
bit. On a double steal attempt with men on first and second, he would go
for the trailing runner. The first time he tried it was in Worcester on August
17. A Washington game in Boston had been rained out, and grounds in
that city were not available to make it up. John Gaffney arranged for it to
be played in Worcester, his home town. The return of major league base-
ball, if only for a day, five years after Worcester had lost its National League
franchise to Philadelphia, was a gala event. Attracted by the presence of the
great Kelly, more than four thousand fans paid fifty cents, and hundreds
more climbed over the fence at the old Ruby Legs grounds.
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The Shadow Battery of Gilmore and Mack started for Washington. Mack
described what happened in the bottom of the third inning.

King Kelly, of “Slide, Kelly, Slide” fame, who in skill and audacity as a
base runner never had a superior, was on second base. John Morrill,
the Boston manager, who was very slow, perched on first base.

This was the copyrighted situation for the double steal, as base run-
ning was a big part of the attack in those days. Kelly pranced back and
forth and got his usual jump on the pitcher and was almost within
sliding distance of third base when the ball nested in my glove. In a
flash it occurred to me that I could never get Kelly. So instead I pulled
my arm back and hurled an accurate throw to the second baseman,
who tagged the amazed Morrill standing up. Veteran Boston writers
said it was never made before. During the remainder of the season I
made the play frequently and many catchers since have adopted it.

Mack remained as noisy on the field as he had been in the minor leagues.
When his team was at bat, Mack often coached third base and made plenty
of noise there too. One day in May Chicago rookie left fielder Marty Sullivan
hit 3 triples. The next day Mack, coaching at third base, made Sullivan his
special target, riding him without letup. Sullivan made 5 errors.

Mack especially enjoyed matching wits with Cap Anson. On July 13
Grasshopper Whitney took a 3—o lead over Chicago into the ninth inning.
With one out, Anson hit a home run over the left field fence, but he stopped
at third base.

“By remaining on the base,” the Washington Post surmised, “Anson hoped
to induce Mack to move up close behind the bat so Whitney could not speed
the ball. .. . With the weakened delivery they might make enough hits to tie
the game. Mack refused to play under the bat until Pfeffer had been thrown
out at first for the second out. Whitney then struck out Williamson, and
Anson was left on third. As a piece of strategy it was a dismal failure. As an
exhibition of self-sacrifice it was a glorious success.”

But perhaps Connie Mack’s most valuable trait had nothing to do with
how he played the game. Surrounded as he was by teammates who prac-
ticed little and drank much, he was devoted to analyzing and improving
his game and was sober at all times. That was no small consideration when
newspapers regularly carried reports like that of nine Boston players being
fined at one time for “dissipation and carousing.”
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A vprofile in the Washington Evening Star said of Mack, “[He] is a
Washington favorite. He is always willing to play and plays hard to win.
The public would rather see any other man on the ball field make an error
than catcher Mack. His success in his difficult position is due largely to the
fact that he always keeps in good condition. His manager doesn’t have to
keep an eye on him for fear he will sneak off and get drunk. Whatever else
may happen, he knows that Mack will play the same game week in and
week out.”

Connie Mack made his first appearance on a baseball card when
Old Judge cigarettes issued a set of cards depicting all the Washington
players. On the card Mack is standing erect, arm cocked ready to throw.
Mack never smoked or chewed and tried to discourage his players and chil-
dren from smoking, but he would appear on tobacco-sponsored cards in
future years.

At the end of the 1887 season, Washington fans bought Connie Mack a
silver tea service. National League president Nick Young, a resident of the
city, made the presentation. With a full major league season behind him, a
silver tea service, and a contract for $2,500 for 1888, Connie Mack was ready
for marriage.
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7 MR. AND MRS. CONNIE MACK

Under “Social Notes,” the Spencer Sun of Friday, October 28,1887, reported,
“Corney Mack, Catcher with the Washington ball club, arrived home
Monday in good health and spirits. He has had a rather hard season’s work,
having caught some of the most erratic pitchers of the league, and during
the last of the season caught every game the club played.”

Mack found East Brookfield abuzz with activity. New sidewalks and
lights lined both sides of Main Street and down to the railroad depot. The
Women’s Christian Temperance Union had succeeded in persuading the
town to withdraw all liquor licenses; the amount of “medicine” sold at the
pharmacies shot up dramatically.

“Sixty distressed people daily [on] average visit one drugstore-saloon for
the medicine,” wryly noted the Brookfield Times. “The proprietor is kind
enough to keep open late at night to accommodate the working man.”

When the short-lived ban was lifted, a dozen applicants sought licenses
to sell liquor. Mack’s first employer, E. H. Stoddard, was the Prohibition
candidate for the state senate. Mack was no teetotaler—he later opposed
national prohibition—but he might have voted for his old boss anyhow.
Loyalty was more important to him than politics.

While the working man was getting lit up, the new street lights were not.
“The lamplighter should use more oil,” the Times complained. “The con-
tract calls for lights to be lit until 12 midnight, but many are out by 10:30.”

Connie Mack never talked on the record about when or how he pro-
posed to Margaret Hogan. It might have been by letter or telegram during
the season. He had played in a postseason series against Baltimore until
October 19, and banns (a notice of their proposed marriage) had been
posted on October 16. Anyone objecting to the marriage had two weeks to
do so. Nobody did.

Margaret and her family were living in Spencer, three miles east of
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East Brookfield. Spencer was 75 percent Catholic, evenly divided between
Irish and French-Canadian. Hostility had grown between the two camps.
The Irish wanted the church services to be held in Latin and English; the
Canadians wanted French spoken. A priest who spoke both French and
English was not an acceptable compromise. They finally resolved the prob-
lem by splitting the parish. The Irish built a second church across the street
from the first, in which Connie Mack had been baptized.

The wedding of Connie Mack and Margaret Hogan on Wednesday,
November 2, was the first in the new Irish Church of Our Lady of the
Rosary, Fr. Thomas Beaven officiating. Mack was twenty-four, his bride
twenty. Mack’s brother Dennis and Margaret’s friend Margaret Duff were
the witnesses.

Where they went on their honeymoon was not reported. The Spencer
Sun, sounding as if Mack had abandoned his bride, noted on November
11, “Connie Mack has arrived home from his wedding trip and will take up
residence at his father’s house.”

Michael Jr. was now working in a hotel in Stafford Springs, Connecticut,
where he met and married Ella Stebbins. But their father’s condition—the
house reeked from his chronic dysentery—and the presence of Connie’s
three brothers in the little cottage must have made it uncomfortable for the
newlyweds. Connie had a winter job in East Brookfield managing Vizard’s
bowling alley and shooting gallery in the basement of the boot shop, and
they put up with it for three months.

In February 1888 Mr. and Mrs. Mack left for Washington to set up house-
keeping on their own for the first time. The club owner, Robert Hewett, was
seriously ill, and the club had no manager. John Gaffney had had enough
of trying to keep his players’ minds on baseball and off their night life.
He returned to the relatively peaceful life of an umpire. Hewett persuaded
Ted Sullivan, who was slated to manage the Troy club in the International
Association, to handle spring training chores for the team.

Sullivan, an impresario, promoter, innovator, scout, and acclaimed sto-
ryteller in a variety of dialects, remains one of baseball’s most colorful and
least known pioneers. Born in County Clare, Ireland, he had been active
in organizing early minor leagues. He put together St. Louis’s perennial
American Association pennant winners, signing Charles Comiskey as cap-
tain, and later scouted for the Cubs and White Stockings.

In the spring of 1886 Cap Anson had taken his Chicago club to Hot
Springs, Arkansas, while the Phillies had gone to Charleston, South Carolina.
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The following spring Detroit went to Macon, Georgia, then barnstormed
through the South and Midwest. Sullivan decided it was time to try training
in Florida. The expedition provided Connie Mack with one of his favorite
subjects for interviews and after-dinner speeches over the years.

On Thursday morning, March 1, the players gathered at the Washington
railroad station to board the fast mail train to Jacksonville.

“Con Mack has not grown a pound heavier since he became a Benedict,”
reported the Washington Post. “Mrs. Mack’s cheeks were a delicate flush of
pride as she accompanied her husband into the station and observed the
hearty greeting he received from his companions. Mrs. Schoch was also on
hand to bid adieu to her husband and the two ladies said they had formed
a compact to chaperone each other while their better halves are away.”

The three-months pregnant Margaret Mack and her new friend were
forced to rely on each other for help sooner than they expected. Eleven
days later the great blizzard of "88 smothered Washington and the rest of
the Northeast.

“There were fourteen members of the squad,” Mack recalled of his first
spring training jaunt, “four of them reasonably sober.” They rode all day
in coaches. At night they switched to Pullman cars—two to a berth—until
daylight, when they were roused and ordered to move back into the lower-
fare coaches, which ballplayers thereafter referred to as “Sullivan Sleepers.”

In Jacksonville, Sullivan led them to a tract of woods out of town where
a woman who owned two shacks put them up and provided three meals a
day for a dollar per man per day.

The accommodations were “vile,” Mack said, and the players quickly
found a convenient source of booze among the nearby natives. “It was ter-
rible—fights every night in front of those shacks. There was always at least
one black eye in the crowd, and usually more.”

They practiced in the sandy soil among the pine trees every morning
and played against a handful of rookies that New York Giants manager Jim
Mutrie had taken south. In a letter to the Post, Sullivan ballyhooed with
the usual unfounded springtime optimism, “The men arrived here in good
shape and surprised me by their excellent work in Sunday’s game. Gilmore
pitched in rattling form and Mack supported him in great style, his throw-
ing to bases being particularly clever.”

One of the rookies in camp was center fielder Ellsworth “Dummy” Hoy.
Hoy was deaf and almost dumb or mute; he could make high-pitched
squawking sounds. He was no dummy, despite the nickname that was
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attached to him. Between lip reading, sign language, and his squeaky
sounds, Hoy and the players had no problems communicating.

Post columnist Shirley Povich later wrote that Hoy put up this statement
on the first day in Jacksonville:

Being totally deaf, as you know, and some of my clubmates being
unacquainted with my play, I think it is timely to bring about an
understanding between myself, the left fielder, the shortstop, and the
second baseman and right fielder.

The main point is to avoid possible collisions with any of these four
who surround me when in the field going for a fly ball. Now when-
ever I take a fly ball I always yell, “I'll take it” —the same as I have been
doing for many seasons and, of course, the other fielders will let me
take it. Whenever you don’t hear me yell, it is understood I am not
after the ball and they govern themselves accordingly.

If a player hears the patter of my feet, pay no attention as I am only
backing up. I watch both player and the ball, and never have I had a
collision.

Traveling by coach all the way, the team went to New Orleans for two
games, winning both, while enjoying the city’s other pleasures. Mack
avoided the night spots, but he accompanied the boys to the race track,
where he enjoyed betting moderately on the bangtails.

They went to Birmingham and helped the local team open its new
grounds, then on to Charleston, where they were refused entry to a few
hotels before setting down in a decrepit joint where they were not allowed
to eat in the dining room with the other guests. Shunted into a dirty side
room, they ate at a long table, the food spread out family style.

Mack chuckled each time he described Ted Sullivan’s tactic for seeing
that his players were well fed. Sullivan took out a silver dollar, ostentatiously
placed it on the table, and, with a wink to the waiters, implored them to
“feed the boys well.” Then, after a feast of double portions, he slipped the
cartwheel back in his pocket and hurriedly made his exit, followed by the
players, who never tipped in those days.

“This old pioneer of baseball died at a very advanced age [seventy-eight]
during the season of 1929,” the sixty-eight-year-old Mack said in 1930, “but
for many years when we visited Washington he always came to our hotel
to chat with me, and did so just a few weeks before he passed away. I never
failed to ask him if he still possessed his unspendable silver dollar.”
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Despite his acknowledged skill as a catcher, Mack’s light bat drew annual
contenders for his job. There were two that spring: rookie Jeremiah Murray
and Pat Deasley, a thirty-one-year-old veteran of three years with the Giants.
When neither hit his weight, Mack’s job was secure for another year.

Spring training did little to improve the Nationals’ abilities on the field or
intemperate ways off it. Sullivan left for Troy, and they opened the season
with the owner’s son, Walter Hewett, as the manager.

Before an opening day crowd of three thousand, Hank O’Day held New
York to 7 hits, but errors gave the Giants a 6—0 win. For O’Day, nothing that
year aided his dyspeptic disposition. The Nationals seemed to save their
worst fielding for his starts and their scoring for other days. In his first 10
games, they scored a total of 9 runs. On April 23 he pitched a 12-inning 11 tie.
The next day they scored 15 runs but still lost, 19—15. The day after that, with
O’Day pitching again, they managed only 5 hits and lost 1—o0 in 11 innings. For
the year O’Day lost 29 and won 16.

Some newspapers began calling the team the Senators, while others used
the Nationals. Both names gradually replaced the Statesmen. But a loser by
any name is still a loser. They were even worse than the year before. The
newspapers kept the headline “The Usual Defeat” set in hot type for frequent
use. After just 2 victories in their first 14 games, the Post correspondent com-
mented, “A pitcher and catcher and Mr. Hoy now constitute Washington’s
baseball club. The other six men who accompany them are put on the field
for the purpose of making errors.”

Fed up with his team’s showing, Walter Hewett issued a public “No play—
no pay” edict. Rejecting all “flimsy excuses,” he decreed that players not in
condition to play for whatever reason would not be paid. Fines of up to $100
would be imposed for drinking, and an eleven o’clock curfew on the road
would be enforced. The Senators were not unique in this respect. Spalding’s
1889 Guide editorialized:

The two great obstacles in the way of success of the majority of profes-
sional ball players are wine and women. The saloon and the brothel
are the evils of the baseball world at the present day; and we see it
practically exemplified in the failure of noted players to play up to the
standard they are capable of were they to avoid these gross evils. One
day it is a noted pitcher who fails to serve his club at a critical period
of the campaign. Anon, it is the disgraceful escapade of an equally
noted umpire. And so it goes one season to another, at the cost of the
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loss of thousands of dollars to clubs who blindly shut their eyes to the
costly nature of intemperance and dissipation in their ranks.

Connie Mack didn’t have to read it to know it; he saw it on the field in front
of him almost every day. Hewett’s threats didn’t help. Only the equally fee-
ble Indianapolis Hoosiers kept them from clinching last place by mid-June.
Still, Washington fans kept hoping. Given a glimmer of encouragement, they
turned out at Capitol Park. When the team returned from a successful trip
in May, “Immense crowds welcomed the Statesmen home,” trumpeted the
Morning Republican, “where they took two games on Decoration Day from
Anson’s great Chicago White Sox, 8—1 and 5-3. Fourteen hundred attended
the morning game and 3,200 the afternoon affair.”

None of them got to enjoy the sight of Connie Mack in the patriotic red,
white, and blue uniform of the day; he sat out both games. The next day real-
ity returned. Chicago handed O’Day a 101 pasting and attendance quickly
sank back to the 350 level.

As for the other half of the Shadow Battery, Frank Gilmore twisted his
long right arm once too often, and no amount of snake oil or wintergreen
could cure the soreness. Gilmore won 1 and lost 9 before he was released to
Indianapolis on July 17. He and Mack would never again be teammates, but
the Shadow Battery remained close friends.

The Senators had won 10 and lost 29 when Hewett induced Ted Sullivan to
leave Troy and take over the reins. Sullivan brought with him a new shortstop
and pitcher, but it was too late.

It rained all day on Monday, August 27, wiping out the day’s game against
the Phillies and enabling Connie Mack to be with Margaret when she gave
birth to their first child, a boy they named Roy.

On Monday, October 1, a small group braved a dark, overcast sky to watch
the Nationals and Indianapolis Hoosiers battle to see who would escape
last place. Washington led, 2—1, in the top of the ninth. The Hoosiers scored
twice to take the lead. As the clouds grew blacker and heavier by the min-
ute, Connie Mack bent over in apparent pain behind the plate, ostensibly
ministering to an injured finger, while another Hoosier base runner ambled
across home plate without a play. Mack nursed his finger long enough for the
umpire to have no choice but to call the game for darkness. Under the rules,
the score reverted back to the last complete inning, and Washington escaped
with a 2—1 win and a slippery grip on seventh place. The reprieve was tem-
porary; in the end the Statesmen/Senators/Nationals finished a game and a
half beneath Indianapolis.
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Connie Mack caught 79 games, played the outfield in 4, and played first
base and shortstop once each. He hit a meager .187 but muscled out 3 home
runs, only 13 behind the league leader. One of them came off Chicago right-
hander John K. Tener, a future National League president, Pennsylvania gov-
ernor, and congressman, providing a source of good-natured banter between
them whenever they shared a banquet speakers’ table. Mack remained among
the top fielding catchers, his 152 assists leading the league.

Connie Mack and his family didn’t go home to Massachusetts that winter.
Weakened by her pregnancy and childbirth, Margaret was not up to the cold
blustery New England weather. They were not present on October 22 when
Mack’s brother Dennis married Annie Monahan, a tough, strong-willed
woman whose father was a champion wrestler in western Massachusetts.
Together with Grasshopper Jim Whitney and second baseman Al Myers,
they were on their way to California, where Margaret rested in the sun while
the players hooked up with barnstorming teams, jumping from one club
to another on a pay-per-game basis. They ran into Albert Spalding’s troupe
playing exhibitions before embarking on a round-the-world expedition.
Whitney and Mack were invited to join the voyagers but declined.

Whitney, Myers, and Mack earned enough to pay their expenses and
return east with something in their pockets, a rare financial status for players
heading to spring training. Margaret Mack returned to Washington in good
health; soon after the 1889 season opened, she was expecting again.
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JUMPING WITH THE
BROTHERHOOD

8

The first cry of alarm that high salaries were threatening baseball’s survival
had come just three years after the National League was born. At a meeting
in September 1879, the club owners recognized that the high salaries were
attributable to competition among clubs for certain players. They vowed
that at a certain level there would be no more “exorbitant” salary offers
made to any players. The next day they came up with the reserve clause,
which in effect gave the club an option on a player for the season after the
one specified in his contract, at any salary the owner wished to offer. The
player would have no option to sell his services to any other team. At first
the reserve clause was limited to each team’s designated five top players.

A year later, at a meeting in Pierce’s Palace Hotel in Buffalo on September
20, league president William A. Hulbert declared, “It is ridiculous to pay
ball players $2,000 a year, especially when $800 boys often do just as well.”

At every meeting thereafter, the magnates complained about their high
payrolls as routinely as they lit their expensive cigars. Finally, on October
17, 1885, they did something about it, setting a salary limit of $2,000 and
a minimum of $1,000. The limits were essentially meaningless, as salaries
were not stated in the contracts, and the cap was widely ignored. What hurt
the players more was a ban on advances. Many players, unable to find jobs
during the winter, relied on advances until the next season’s first payday in
April or May.

These actions by the owners prompted New York Giants shortstop John
Montgomery Ward, who was also a lawyer, and several of his teammates to
form the Brotherhood of Professional Base Ball Players. They elected Ward
president. By uniting, Ward believed the players would have the clout to
combat salary restrictions and the sale of players without their consent or a
share of the selling price. The players didn’t like the reserve clause and were
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convinced it was illegal. But in the absence of a practical alternative for
preventing chaos and recognizing the owners’ interest in protecting their
investments, the players went along with it. They also pledged to raise the
level of the game by discouraging players from drinking and gambling.

The ballplayers’ restiveness was consistent with the national labor tur-
moil that had culminated in the 1886 Haymarket Square riots in Chicago
between police and unionists. The players resented being treated as chattel
in the same sense—but by no means under the same income or working
conditions—as the rebellious meatpackers and steelworkers.

At first the Brotherhood was taken lightly by the National League. In
November 1887 Ward asked that full salaries be written into contracts to
eliminate the subterfuge of side deals. The league studied the proposal
until the 1888 contracts had been signed, then turned it down. The own-
ers’ arrogance blinded them to the growing dissatisfaction among their
employees.

The imposition of arbitrary fines chipped away at players’ incomes and
stoked the fires of discontent. Fines were levied for too much drinking and
too little hustling, which the Brotherhood didn’t disagree with, although the
amounts were often considered excessive. Fines for losing equipment—or
games—or for reasons never spelled out raised the Brotherhood’s ire.

Connie Mack saw these pickpocket policies firsthand. Once in 1886
Washington outfielder Cliff Carroll, who took a pet monkey with him on
the road, found his pay envelope $100 lighter for something either he or the
monkey had done—he wasn’t told which. He refused to sign his 1887 con-
tract until the fine was returned. Hewett agreed to remit the fine and wrote
out a check. Carroll signed; the check bounced. The Brotherhood took his
case to the league and collected for him.

In 1887 Mack’s Shadow Battery mate, Frank Gilmore, had picked a day
he was not scheduled to pitch to be married. It proved to be an expensive
wedding. John Gaffney, a bachelor, considered this insufficient reason to be
absent and fined him $100.

Not content with their iron-fisted control over the players’ professional
lives, the owners on November 22,1888, adopted a classification plan under
which league president Nick Young would grade all players from A to E,
based on their character and conduct off the field, as well as their perfor-
mance on the field. Corresponding salaries would range from $2,500 down
to $1,500. The new plan had no real effect on salaries, as side agreements
were as plentiful as ever. In Sporting Life of April 5,1890, Henry Chadwick
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estimated the 1889 salaries of some of the leading Brotherhood “Ingrates.”
Fred Dunlap and Buck Ewing topped the list at $5,000. Ward earned a
reported $4,250. Connie Mack was down for $2,750 and Hank O’Day for
$2,000, a ranking that must have rankled the terrible tempered O’Day.

The Brotherhood was incensed over the whole idea, which carried the
threat of being blacklisted at the whim of an owner if players didn’t behave
or perform to his satisfaction. There was talk of a strike, but many players,
including Mack, had already signed 1889 contracts and were reluctant to go
back on them, fearing a public backlash.

In Washington, Walter Hewett was willing to spend to improve his team.
In November 1888, he tried to buy Ward from the Giants for a reported
$12,000 but was turned down.

Hewett had discerned no benefits from Ted Sullivan’s jaunt to Florida
in the spring of ’88, so the Senators stayed in Washington to get ready for
the 1889 season. They won a string of exhibition games, including one over
a young pitcher for Yale, Amos Alonzo Stagg, who struck out 9 of the big
leaguers and would have won if his catcher had been able to hold on to his
fastball. Connie Mack did not play in that game.

Determined to find experienced leadership, Hewett searched until April
before signing John Morrill for $600 a month. Morrill had led his home-
town Boston Beaneaters for the past seven seasons. A lead-footed first
baseman with a cold, dispassionate demeanor on and off the field, Morrill
played as well as he led, producing a .185 batting average and a .250 winning
percentage before Hewett fired him on July 6.

Perhaps it was living in a political climate that enabled Washington base-
ball fanatics to slough off each year’s losing team as routinely as a crab’s
monthly molting and greet the new season, like each new Congress, with
hope and enthusiasm. When the players paraded through the city streets
and arrived at Capitol Park, they were greeted by the largest opening day
mob in the city’s history. More than 3,800 paid their way in; the crowd in
the bleaching boards (as the bleachers were then called) overflowed into
the right fielder’s territory. The visiting Phillies took the field first for a
light fifteen-minute warmup, then the bell was rung to signal the start of
play. The home team filed out of the clubhouse and across the field in new
gray uniforms amid a hail of cheers.

Contrary to their usual custom, the Washingtons chose to bat last. It
didn’t help; they lost anyhow, 8—4.
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Once again Connie Mack faced challengers for his job. The first was a
twenty-nine-year-old rookie, Hi Ebright, who made 3 errors in the open-
ing day loss and was advised to seek another line of work. In May another
rookie, rifle-armed Spider Clark, arrived. He wound up playing more
games at four other positions. Tom Daly, twenty-three, possessor of a more
potent bat than Mack but so-so as a receiver, caught almost half the games.
Daly went on to a sixteen-year career, mostly at second base.

Mack split his playing time catching and playing the outfield and first
base. Now twenty-six, he had acquired something the other catchers lacked,
and if nobody else appreciated it, the pitchers did. During his two years in
the National League, he had studied hitters’ strengths and weaknesses and
compiled a mental book on them. It proved especially valuable for a rookie
right-hander, twenty-two-year-old Alex Ferson from Philadelphia. Before
each of his starts, Mack went over the lineup with Ferson, pointing out how
to pitch to each batter. Mack coaxed 4 wins out of Ferson’s first 5 starts. A
lack of run support and periodic lapses in control resulted in a 17-17 record
for the year. Except for one win in 1890, Ferson’s lack of control prevented
him from winning another major league game.

Hank O’Day was not so appreciative of Mack’s efforts. Eager to play on
a winner—and soon—O’Day yearned to play for the defending champion
New York Giants. Hoping to impress their manager, Jim Mutrie, O’Day
started against the Giants on April 29 in a game played on Staten Island.
With Mack behind the plate, he lost, 4—2. He blamed Mack’s 4 errors for the
loss while ignoring the pair of ninth-inning home runs hit off him. O’Day
finally got his wish in July. Hewett sold him to New York, where he was 9-1,
helping the Giants finish first again by a 1-game margin over Boston.

Mack took part in his first triple play on June 20 at Indianapolis. In the
days before the infield fly rule, infielders often dropped pop flies or line
drives to try to turn them into multiple outs. In the eighth inning with the
bases loaded, Paul Hines hit a pop-up to shortstop Arthur Irwin, who let
it hit the ground, then picked it up and threw to Sweeney at third for the
force out. Sweeney threw to Mack, who tagged the runner coming from
third. Hines was legging it for second; Mack’s throw to Al Myers beat him
to the bag.

Despite playing a variety of positions, Mack had his best year at the plate.
He batted .293—106 points over his 1888 average—with 42 runs batted in
and 26 stolen bases. It was an aberration he could never explain, beyond
observing that sometimes the balls fall safe and sometimes they don’t. A
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more likely explanation is that he rose with the tide. After experimenting
with a variety of ball and strike counts, the league finally settled on four
balls for a walk instead of five; three strikes had been a strikeout since 1888.
The league batting average soared 25 points, walks rose 8o percent, and
strikeouts dropped as pitchers struggled to adjust to the more restrictive
standard for bases on balls. The number of shutouts fell by half.

Shortstop Arthur Irwin, bought from the Phillies in June for $3,000, was
the fifth field leader Mack played under in three years in Washington. This
time the Nationals ran away with last place, finishing 13 games behind their
nearest neighbor, the seventh-place Hoosiers.

The unrest among the players haunted the entire season. Every club
held secret meetings, choosing two or three representatives to meet with
other teams’ reps as they traveled the circuit. Connie Mack was elected a
Nationals representative. In June, Ward petitioned the league to repeal the
detested classification system and ban the sale of players without their con-
sent. His requests for meetings to air the players’ grievances were ignored.

Strike talk revived. Some owners dared the players to walk out, vow-
ing to use replacement players. The more militant players wanted to chal-
lenge the reserve clause in court, but Ward persuaded them to wait. He had
something else in mind.

During the season Ward and a few trusted allies quietly sounded
out potential financial backers among prominent businessmen. Ned
Hanlon, player-manager of the Pittsburgh Alleghenys and a committed
Brotherhood activist, found one in Cleveland streetcar magnate Albert L.
Johnson. Johnson agreed to finance a team in Cleveland and became an
avid recruiter of other investors, especially street railway operators looking
for attractions adjacent to their trolley lines.

Confident of their backing, the Brotherhood met on November 4, 1889,
at the Fifth Avenue Hotel in New York, and confirmed the rumors that had
whirled for months. They announced the creation of their own league, the
Players’ National League of Base Ball Clubs.

In later years Connie Mack was ambivalent about his role in the upris-
ing. Riding high after a world championship in 1929 and about to win
another in 1930, he said of the 1890 revolt, “It has always been my belief that
the majority of players were well satisfied with conditions under which
they were working and that they would have preferred to stick to the safe
and stable National League. Many, however, were won over by the unceas-
ing importunities and threats of the malcontents. They left the National
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League principally not to make enemies in their own profession. I will say
for the Brotherhood leaders that I never doubted their sincerity or motive.
After long consideration, I decided to throw my lot in with the players.”

In fact, Connie Mack was not as reluctant to throw in his lot with the
“malcontents” as this implies. He may have come to rue his radical days
and rarely talked about them, but at eighty he admitted to Fred Lieb that
being a longtime club owner naturally altered one’s viewpoint.

The Connie Mack of 1889 was “an enthusiastic Brotherhood Players’
League man,” he confessed to Lieb. “I was younger then and things looked
different to me. It seemed to me then that we had a good cause, and the
Brotherhood intended to correct some of the inequalities and abuses which
then existed in baseball. No doubt today, having some idea of the difficul-
ties of operating a major league club, I would take a different view of such
a movement.”

This admission is borne out by Mack’s actions in the fall and winter
of 1889. He and just about the entire Washington team jumped to the
Buffalo club in the Players’ League, leaving the Statesmen so weakened
that they were dropped by the National League, replaced by Cincinnati. On
November 20, while his brother Dennis’s first child, Hazel, was being born
in East Brookfield, Mack took the train from Spencer to Hartford to meet
Pittsburgh shortstop Jack Rowe, who, with his teammate Deacon White,
had been an incorporator of the Buffalo club. Mack signed a three-year
contract for $2,750 (all Players’ League contracts were for three years with
no reserve clauses). In December Mack seized the opportunity offered to
all players to invest in their clubs. He took his entire savings of $500 out of
the bank and purchased five of the club’s two hundred shares. What Mrs.
Mack, eight months pregnant with their second child, had to say about
it—if anything—is not known.
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) THE PLAYERS’ LEAGUE

Connie Mack was a gambler at heart. Committing his life to a business
whose foundation was still as wobbly as a newborn colt was an enormous
gamble in itself. At twenty-seven, he had neither considered nor prepared
for anything else. It was baseball or back to the boot shop at $15 a week.

As the owner of 22 percent of the Buffalo club, Mack considered himself
in honorable, savvy company, and with good reason. The five incorpora-
tors, including Deacon White and Jack Rowe, who had switched their hold-
ings from the International franchise to the Brotherhood club and put up
$1,000 each, were Moses Shire, a respected lawyer and real estate developer;
former sheriff Frank Gilbert; and businessman Charles R. Fitzgerald.

Mack was undaunted by the hazards expressed in a New York Sun edi-
torial: “The Brotherhood of Ball Players have one great difficulty to con-
tend with: the trust or combination against them which they are seeking to
overthrow is composed of eight or ten members. The one they would like
to form is composed of nearly 150 members. That is much more difficult
to handle than the other. They will need not only loyalty but enthusiasm
all along the line.”

Modern baseball fans’ charming picture of the good old days is mostly
myth. Since the first play-for-pay contract, baseball has been a busi-
ness—show business. Fans and self-anointed experts of the twenty-first
century who denounce the modern players’ greed and yearn for the time
when “they would play for nothing, just the love of the game,” know not of
what they speak. It was never that way.

Players never trusted owners, nor believed them when they “opened the
books” to prove their losses. When five National League teams claimed to
have lost money in 1889, Fred Pfeffer, Cap Anson’s veteran second baseman
in Chicago, asked the unanswerable question: “If National League owners
are making such puny profits, why are they making such desperate efforts
to continue in the game?”
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The Players’ League was a unique experiment in American labor rela-
tions. The players/employees shared in the administration and govern-
ing of the league. They were to share in any profits after expenses and
fair returns on the owners’ investments. Twenty thousand dollars in prize
money, ranging from $6,250 to $400, was to be disbursed among the first
seven teams in the standings.

The Brotherhood and the barons of baseball waged a war of words
throughout the winter of 1889—1890. A National League committee of
Spalding, Phillies owner Col. John I. Rogers, and the Giants’ John Day
launched a baseball tradition of issuing blustering statements and carrying
unwinnable lawsuits into court. They warned that anyone jumping to the
Players’ League would never be allowed back on any club in “Organized
Baseball” (those major and minor leagues and clubs subscribing to the
National Agreement of 1883 to respect each other’s contracts, reserve lists,
and territories); at the same time they scrambled to acquire minor leaguers
to fill their lineups. As in many divorces, the lawyers prospered the most
amid the blizzard of charges, countercharges, and futile motions for injunc-
tions. In the end, the players ignored the reserve clause with impunity; the
National League failed to find a judge anywhere who would uphold it.

The dozens of newspapers in NL cities provided plenty of forums for
both sides. Some ridiculed the Brotherhood’s fur-coated, silk-hatted, dia-
mond-studded delegates who met in New York for portraying themselves
as “poor, miserable, overworked, underpaid, haggard, starving slaves of the
League tyrants.”

Henry Chadwick, an editor of the Spalding Guide, not surprisingly con-
demned the rebellion of the “ingrates.” Others, like the New York World,
gave their all-out backing to the players. The Sporting News and, after a
change of heart, Sporting Life, did the same.

To most observers, the war was viewed as not so much between lords
and peons as rival capitalists. As a lawyer, Monte Ward respected the sanc-
tity of a contract. He was certainly no Bolshevik. Neither were player-
owners White and Rowe, Ned Hanlon, or Washington captain Arthur
Irwin, a prosperous manufacturer of fielders’ gloves.

The players were not 100 percent united. Some who pledged allegiance
to the Brotherhood changed their minds and returned to the safer hearth
of the “seasoned” senior circuit. Others signed contracts with both leagues
in case the rebels never saw an opening day. Later the Players’ chief backer,
Albert Johnson, admitted that there was a time “when we lost heart.
Desertion seemed to follow desertion. I was considerably discouraged.”
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The Buffalo Express reported rumors that Connie Mack was about to
break his Buffalo contract, then discounted the story, pointing out, “He
owns $500 in stock.”

The turning point came when King Kelly, the most popular player in the
land, walked away from the bait of a large National League offer, allegedly
saying, “I cannot turn my back on the boys,” and signed as player-manager
of the Boston Reds on November 24, 1889, vowing to “not touch a drop of
liquor for a year.”

The Players’ League field captains now included Charlie Comiskey in
Chicago, Ned Hanlon in Pittsburgh, Monte Ward in Brooklyn, King Kelly
in Boston, and Buck Ewing in New York.

Commented the St. Louis Republic, “The National League has all the
money and the Players’ League has all the players.”

The well-heeled National League was not the players’ only enemy. The
American Association had been a major league since 1882. All three leagues
had teams in Brooklyn and Philadelphia. The Brotherhood would be going
head to head with the National in Boston, Chicago, New York, Pittsburgh,
and Cleveland. Only Buffalo faced no direct major league competition
(an International Association club lasted only 24 games before moving to
Grand Rapids).But the city had been a weak baseball town. In 1885 the
Bisons had drawn so poorly in their last year in the National League that
the entire team was sold to the Detroit Wolverines for $7,000. White and
Rowe had lost $2,000 operating the International Association club there
in 1889.

Baseball everywhere faced new competition from vaudeville for the
entertainment dollar. Every city had at least one theater, which opened
at noon and ran until midnight. A seat in the gallery cost ten cents; in
most cities the best seat in the house went for fifty cents. To combat that,
the Buffalo directors lobbied for twenty-five-cent admissions, but the
Brotherhood insisted on a fifty-cent fare.

A split developed almost immediately when the new league abandoned
its original plan to pool all income and divide it equally among the clubs.
Instead, gate receipts would be split between the teams in each game, with
the home team keeping its concessions revenue.

“The killing of the pooling of receipts idea means that teams in towns
like Pittsburgh, Cleveland and Buffalo will get the skim milk, while the New
Yorks and Bostons will take all the cream there is,” foretold the Cincinnati
Times-Star. As it turned out, that’s what happened.
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Not wishing to put a nickel into the pockets of Spalding and A. J. Reach,
who made the baseballs used by the NL, the Players’ League adopted a ball
supplied by Ward’s brother-in-law, ace hurler Tim Keefe. In a far-sighted
move, it voted to use two umpires in each game. But it declined to adopt
a new invention, a base made of rubber with an electrical attachment that
rang a bell in the grandstand when a fielder or runner touched it.

The Buffalo Bisons were going nowhere for spring training, so Connie
Mack rounded up some of his Brookfield buddies and worked out on his
own. On Saturday, February 1, 1890, his second son was born in Spencer.
Earle Thaddeus was baptized by Fr. Dolan on the sixteenth in the presence
of his godparents, Margaret’s brother John and her friend Margaret Duff.

At the end of March Mack wrote a letter to the Buffalo secretary, Charles
Fitzgerald: “I hope to give a good account of myself this coming season
behind the bat. I've been practicing for the last month and am in good
condition.”

Mack waited until his wife was hale enough to travel before taking the
family to Buffalo in early April. They rented rooms in a house near a play-
ground on Porter Avenue, a street that ended at a bathing beach where the
Niagara River flows into Lake Erie. From there he could take a horse-drawn
trolley or walk the mile to Olympic Park. The 1890 city directory listed him
as “McGillicuddy, Cornelius, laborer.” Domestically it was a pleasant sum-
mer for Connie Mack and his family. In a 1929 letter to the widow of Sam
Wise, one of his Buffalo teammates, he wrote, “Have never forgotten [Sam]
as so many things came up while we were together in Buffalo that always
kept him in my mind” and “Well do I remember going to the market on
Saturday night for our Sunday dinner.”

Considering the Washington Nationals’ poor showing in 1889, the fact
that most of the Buffalo team consisted of Washington deserters made
optimism a stretch. The Cincinnati Enquirer commented, “The Buffalo
Players’ League club is said to be incorporated under the title, ‘Home for
Respectable Old Men.” About one month after the season starts, the word
‘respectable’ will be changed to indigent.”

In the annals of preseason predictions, it proved uncommonly accurate.

Two exceptions to the “old men” tag were Dummy Hoy, the popular cen-
ter fielder, and the stringbean catcher Connie Mack, often the only right-
handed batter in the lineup. Both were twenty-seven.

The weather was miserable, cold and wet, for the two weeks preceding
the April 19 opener, so Mack worked out with other players at the Buffalo
Armory. They managed to play only two practice games.
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On opening day at Olympic Park the home team lined up in new white
uniforms with brown trim and stockings. The newspapers listed Mack as
six feet tall and 160 pounds, Dummy Hoy at five-foot-six and 155. (Over the
years, Mack was variously described as anywhere from six feet to six-foot-
four; he was actually just over six-foot-two. Hoy was probably shorter and
lighter than his 1890 description.)

Olympic Park had been expanded to hold 5,000, including 2,000
bleaching boards seats at fifty cents. Grandstand seats cost fifteen cents
extra; twenty-five cents bought an “opera chair.” The Bisons stunned and
delighted an opening day turnout of 3,500 by walloping Cleveland, 23-2,
collecting 17 hits and 16 walks off lefty Henry Gruber, who went all the way.
To prove it was no fluke, the next day the Bisons stampeded again, 15-8,
and the day after that, 19—7. They did it again in the fourth game, 18-15,
making a convincing case that the balls provided by Tim Keefe were, as
charged, more tightly wound than those used by the National League and
as hopped-up as a scalded cat.

According to Joe Overfield, the premier chronicler of Buffalo base-
ball history, “The only sour note to mar the general ecstasy in the Queen
City emanated from the gentlemen of the press [who worked at field level
behind home plate] who complained that while the field was being show-
ered with base hits, they were being showered with cigar butts and tobacco
juice by the excited fans in the stands above.”

The euphoria quickly went as flat as yesterday’s sarsaparilla, as Buffalo
pitchers continued to surrender runs in more abundance than their team-
mates’ bats could produce. Within two weeks the Bisons fell from the top to
the bottom. The promising young George Washington Keefe, a southpaw
who had been 8-18 for his hometown Washington Nationals in 89, publicly
swore he had not touched a drop of whiskey since January 1 and would not
do so all season. He probably should have. He won 6 and lost 16.

Charles “Lady” Baldwin, who had won 42 and lost 13—all complete
games—for Detroit in 1886, absorbed all the punishment in a 30-12 loss to
Philadelphia, giving up 28 hits, and decided to retire at the age of thirty-one.

The Bisons were in Brooklyn on July 12, when a local boy, whose last
name was Lewis but whose first name remains mercifully unknown, said
he was a pitcher and asked for a tryout. With little to lose, Jack Rowe started
him. He worked 3 innings, giving up 20 runs on 13 hits and 7 walks, then
switched with right fielder Ed Beecher. The Bisons tried to get him off the
hook but fell short, losing 28—16. For both Lewis and Beecher, it was the
only big league game they ever pitched.
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George Haddock was smoked for 26 losses. Haddock won 34 in the
American Association the next year, further evidence that the Brotherhood
hitters were the true pioneers of the lively ball. The league batting aver-
age was 20 points higher and run production 20 percent greater than in
the National League. “A hard hit ball in a Players’ League game striking a
fielder’s hands feels like a ton of coal alongside of the Spalding ball,” Mack
observed.

Connie Mack continued to demonstrate that he was one step ahead of
everybody else on the field, including the umpires. In a game against the
Chicago Pirates at home, with Buffalo at bat and 2 outs, George Keefe was
hit by a pitch. Before the ball was returned to the pitcher, Keefe picked up
his speed as he reached first base and dashed for second. The catcher threw
him out at second. As the Pirates raced off the field, Mack argued that Keefe
could not be called out as the ball was not yet back in play after it hit the bat-
ter. The ump agreed and sent the Chicago players back onto the field.

On July 23 Jack Rowe was replaced as captain by first baseman Jay Faatz,
who possessed an unlikely combination of traits: he was a volatile vegetar-
ian. It was said that he could down fourteen varieties of vegetables at a
meal, but an uncontrollable temper dwelt within him. Maybe if the Bisons
were called the Turnips, he might have led them better.

By the end of August, Buffalo rested firmly in last place with a 29-73
record. The enthusiasm of the press wilted, as it reported on September 5:
“The Buffalos made their first appearance at Olympic Park yesterday after-
noon following a recent disastrous eastern trip. They were greeted by a
small crowd of spectators [836] and received their usual drubbing at the
hands of the Clevelands. . . . Connie Mack caught as well as ever and had
one of the 5 hits.”

The Bisons’ slide took attendance with it. Late-season gatherings at
Olympic Park hovered around seven hundred, occasionally topping
a thousand when the league leaders came to town. Figures for all three
leagues are suspect for that year. Newspapers routinely padded the num-
bers for the teams they favored and deflated those of the rival league. But
the announced crowd of eighty at a game in Brooklyn was probably an
actual head count. And in Pittsburgh one day the last-place NL Alleghenys
played before seventeen spectators. According to business manager Al
Pratt, only six of them— “traveling men” —actually bought tickets; the rest
were locals who had passes.

When the Bisons demoted Jay Faatz on September 14, they appointed
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Connie Mack captain for the rest of the season. At the time of his appoint-
ment, Mack was quoted as blaming the lack of pitching for the team’s poor
showing. Ever the optimist, he said that a speedy outfielder and reliable
pitcher were all the team needed to improve, adding that he liked Buffalo
and wanted to stay. The record books credit Jack Rowe with piloting the
Bisons in their last 19 games, in which they were 5-14. But as the field cap-
tain, Connie Mack directed the team on the field and made the decisions
during the game. This was Mack’s major league managing debut.

Mack was surely aware of the dire financial condition, not only of the
Bisons, but the entire league—indeed all three major leagues. Everybody
was hurting. Both clubs in Cleveland were losing money. On July 15, Giants
owner John Day told the other NL owners he needed $80,000 to finish the
season or else he would sell out to the Players’ League New York backers.
Spalding and Anson led a rescue squad to prevent the loss of the New York
franchise, which would have been a crushing defeat for the older circuit.
The mortally wounded American Association struggled through one more
season before giving up the big league ghost.

In September Moses Shire and Frank Gilbert, claiming they had lost all
the money they had invested and didn’t care to go in any deeper, threw in
the sponge in Buffalo. The league took over the club and sent its secretary,
Frank Brunell, to worry through the rest of the season. He relied on prom-
ises instead of paychecks to keep the team together.

Dummy Hoy, in a letter written to Joe Overfield in 1955, when Hoy was
ninety-three, remembered the three principal owners as good people. He
blamed the poor playing of the team for the poor attendance and described
a last-gasp effort to raise more capital by passing the hat among the unpaid
players:

“One day the leading members of the team, such as White, Rowe, Mack
and others, called a meeting of the team. It was suggested that as the club
was in financial difficulties, each player should be assessed a certain sum
and share in the profits, if any. The majority, including myself, after our
deliberation, decided to let the ship ‘sink’ and go home rather than throw
good money after the bad.”

Connie Mack knew what a hard sell it was to peddle a share of potential
profits in a sinking ship. “There was such a feeling of unrest in the waning
days of the season that many players openly expressed themselves as being
anxious for the league to dissolve so they could go back to an organization
operated on business principles.”
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It was obvious to even the greenest rookie that there would be no league
profits to share. The players waived all claims to any prize money. Most of
them were more concerned with just seeing their salaries. Deacon White
said, “Rowe and I did not get a cent after the first of August, though the
other players got a little something.”

The Bisons finished with a 38-96 record, 20 games behind seventh-place
Cleveland. Nobody worked harder in the vain campaign than Connie
Mack. He caught 112 games, then the major league record, batted .266, and,
aided by the rocket ball, hit a career-high 12 triples.

Final attendance estimates show the Brotherhood outdrawing the
National League by about 100,000. According to the New York Herald, a
booster of the Players’ League, Buffalo’s 60,138 was the lowest in the league,
but it was more than the Giants, Alleghenys, or either Cleveland club drew.
The Herald estimated the Bisons’ expenses at $55,000, lowest in the league,
with a loss of $14,285, also the lowest, which was no consolation to Mack
and the other investors whose money it was. The New York, Boston, and
Chicago Brotherhood clubs probably showed a profit.

The National League, which had been forced to use minor leaguers to
replace its departed stars, reckoned its total costs of the war at $1.5 million.

At least a month’s salary was owed to every member of the Bisons when
the season ended. When ten of them, including Mack, were offered $100
each to go to Cincinnati to play a pair of exhibition games against the
National Leaguers they didn’t understand why, but they jumped at the
offer. Later it came out that a group of Players’ League backers had agreed
to buy out the Cincinnati club for $40,000, a deal that required extraordi-
nary efforts to scrape together the money. The news set the Brotherhood
to howling. Ward considered the players’ unpaid salaries a higher priority
than investing in a weak NL franchise.

Connie Mack, sore over the loss of his savings and his delinquent salary,
took a waspish swing at everybody involved:

The trip to Cincinnati was unprofitable, as the Cincinnati club was
not in it with the Players’ League. We were tailenders but we had
no trouble beating them. And that National League ball they use is
fifty percent deader than ours. Beecher made a hit that would have
been a homer easy here but got only two bases on it. . . . No won-
der the National League scores were close. The ball must have been
deadened since last year and the pitchers had a soft snap. I'm all the
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more convinced our league made a mistake in paying $40,000 for the
Cincinnati club. If the league has any money to spend they couldn’t
use it to better advantage than making Buffalo a fixture. Mark my
word, that Cincinnati club won’t be in it unless they’re wonderfully
strengthened. I don’t think any more money is going to be spent on
them.

Mack was right; the Reds fell from fourth to seventh in 1891. But he was
whistling in the wind about Buffalo’s future.

Back in Buffalo, most of the players, lacking the train fare home, hung
around hoping to badger some cash out of the embattled Frank Brunell.
On October 13 they cornered him in the Iroquois Hotel but extracted no
money or promises from him.

“Buffalo players will whistle for their salaries now that the pBL is doomed,”
wrote the Courier. “The league might make up the salaries if they can figure
out what shape the books are in.”

A week later the league came to the rescue at a meeting in New York. Led
by Frank Talcott, who was the first to come up with his personal check, the
owners raised enough to pay the back salaries owed the Bisons.

The league was doomed, the victim of three mistakes, according to
Brunell: raising only $20,000 instead of $50,000 per club to start; the lack
of nonplaying business managers; and the lack of effort to reclaim National
players who had joined them and then jumped back.

But the Brotherhood refused to go lightly. Ward and his allies tried to
hold it together at the same time most of their backers were conducting
peace talks with Spalding and his colleagues. On October 9, Spalding and
John Day began two days of sessions with Brotherhood backers Johnson,
Talcott, and W. Goodwin of Brooklyn in room 439 of the Fifth Avenue
Hotel. All of them were dealing from weakness, trying to make the best deal
they could. But Spalding was the shrewdest negotiator. Bluffing, he called
for total surrender.

There were so many rumors of mergers and buyouts and assorted
“understandings,” all denied by Ward, Buffalo reporter C. E. Holcomb
concluded, “I doubt if ever before so many contradictory statements were
actually made by baseball leaders as during the present year. A person has
become so fearful of placing trust in what he reads that the most safe way
for him to cast his belief is to form his own opinion of matters and stick
to it. If he is any way posted in the game he is liable to come out far more
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clearheaded and free from mental exhaustion than if he lets his ideas run
on every passing rumor.”

Ward, Hanlon, and Irwin sought a place at the table with the conferees,
but Spalding, eager to split the players and their backers, persuaded the
American Association to side with the National in shutting them out. The
irate Brotherhood leaders denounced their “cowardly club owners” who
panicked at the sight of red ink and were selling them out.

Eventually the New York, Brooklyn, and Pittsburgh clubs combined with
their National League foes. Spalding bought out the Chicago Brotherhood
club for $18,000, part of the money going to pay salaries and reimburse six
players for half the money they had invested in the club.

Buffalo was out. The Courier traced its demise to “apathy and unbusi-
nesslike methods among the stockholders. Had they come to the front and
paid dollar for dollar and asserted their rights in the Players’ organization,
Buffalo would not have been dropped.”

Even before the season ended, Pittsburgh Burghers manager Ned Hanlon
was playing two hands. Still a leader of the Brotherhood, he sat in on secret
meetings with the NL Alleghenys aimed at consolidating the two clubs.
While league officials met in fancy boardrooms of Pittsburgh hotels, the
Alleghenys’ treasurer, William W. Kerr, toiled away in his tiny office beneath
the warehouse of his Arbuckle’s Coffee Company, calculating the liquida-
tion value of the Burghers. Hanlon won assurance that he could return as
the manager and a member of the board of directors of the Alleghenys. A
few investors objected to the return of the manager who had deserted them
for the Players’ League, but they were outvoted.

Then, still in these dual roles, Hanlon prowled the halls of the New York
hotel where confabs were taking place. He knew the rebel players were
unfettered by reserve clauses, although their three-year contracts bound
them to any team that stayed in business. He also knew that an agreement
was in the works to return players to their 1889 teams, based on reserve lists
submitted by National League and American Association teams. In the case
of most of the Bisons, however, their former club, Washington, no longer
existed in either league. Hanlon reckoned that they might be up for grabs.
He wanted the rights to four of them: outfielders Ed Beecher and Dummy
Hoy, infielder Sam Wise, and Connie Mack. He asked the Players’ League
directors for the right to negotiate with them.

“Since Pittsburgh put up none of the cash involved in the Cincinnati
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purchase,” Sporting Life opined, “they may be deprived of these strong
players. If Pittsburgh does get them it will be simply in recognition of Ned
Hanlon’s personal services and sacrifices for the Players’ League and not for
anything his club has done.”

The Players’ League’s position was that it had gained control of the play-
ers when the league took over the club in August. But once the club dis-
banded, the league no longer had any right to the players’ services. The
Bisons were free agents. Hanlon went to Buffalo and met with the four
players. Hoy turned him down and followed Charles Comiskey to St.
Louis in the American Association. The other three expressed interest, but
nobody was signing any contracts until things were finally settled.

That’s the way it was left when Connie Mack and his family returned to
his mother-in-law’s house in Spencer for the winter. Mack was poorer but
wiser about the business of baseball. You could lose a lot of ball games in a
season; that he already knew. As a part owner of a club, you could lose a lot
of money too. That was a new experience for him.
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UNCERTAINTIES OF LIFE
AND BASEBALL
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The last Brotherhood backer to give up was George A. Prince in Boston. As
late as December 1890 he was still hopeful of reorganizing the league with
six clubs. But in case that didn’t happen, he also applied for a franchise in the
American Association. Sometime just before or after Christmas, he asked
Connie Mack to meet him in Boston. At that meeting, Mack signed what
was described as a “personal services” contract with Prince. It may have
been an agreement to play for Prince in Boston if he succeeded in reviving
the Players’ League or receiving an American Association franchise.

During the following three weeks, Ned Hanlon, now officially manager
of the Alleghenys, visited Mack, who signed a Pittsburgh contract for $2,400
and accepted an advance to bind it. Mack never talked about the exact terms
of the contract with Prince, nor why he so readily walked away from it.

On January 14, 1891, Boston, Washington, and Philadelphia were admit-
ted to the American Association. Prince blew up when he heard Mack had
signed with Hanlon and informed Mack that he would hold him to their
contract. American Association president Allen W. Thurman backed him.
A deal was a deal.

Thus Mack, who has been erroneously described as “assigned to
Pittsburgh” under the peace terms when the Players’ League folded, became
one of four cases of disputed claims to players to be decided by a newly cre-
ated National Board of Control. Pittsburgh was also a party to the case of
second baseman Lou Bierbauer. In an apparent oversight, the Philadelphia
Athletics of the American Association had failed to list Bierbauer and
outfielder Harry Stovey on their 1889 reserve lists. Considering them free
agents, the Boston Beaneaters had signed Stovey, and Ned Hanlon had
signed Bierbauer. In the fourth case, third baseman Denny Lyons was
claimed by both the Chicago Colts and St. Louis of the aa.

84



The Board of Control, consisting of Allen Thurman, Phillies co-owner
John I. Rogers, and L. C. Krauthoff of the Western Association, met at the
Auditorium Hotel in Chicago on Friday, February 13. The Pittsburgh Press
implored the board to be kind to the Alleghenys, who had won only 23 and
lost 113 in 1890: “Some concessions should be made by the magnates of the
stronger to the long-suffering cranks in Pittsburgh. Though they have been
disappointed so often many of the patrons of the game are still willing to
believe against their better judgment in the possibility of a club in this city
that in a single season will win more games than it loses.”

Pittsburgh president J. Palmer O’Neill made the case for his club’s right
to Bierbauer and Mack. Three aa spokesmen argued their side of the dis-
pute. With a few short breaks, the board met long into the night, while
two dozen baseball men, including O’Neill and Hanlon, dozed in the soft
leather chairs in the lobby.

At three o’clock in the morning the board chairman, Thurman, appeared
and invited the magnates into the smoke-filled room, where he read the ver-
dicts. Philadelphia’s claim to Bierbauer and Stovey was denied; Bierbauer
was awarded to Pittsburgh and Stovey to Boston. The Colts’ claim to Denny
Lyons was denied; Lyons remained with St. Louis. In the case of Connie
Mack, the board found that his agreement to sign with Prince’s Boston
club had been executed three weeks before the club had been admitted to
the American Association. Therefore, it was not valid, since technically the
club did not exist at the time it was signed. The Pittsburgh contract signed
by Mack was an official league contract.

Thurman and Rogers had voted in favor of the Pittsburgh claims;
Krauthoff dissented. O’Neill and Hanlon let out a whoop of delight. An
angry Prince denounced Thurman for voting against his own league. The
American Association, losers all around, mad at the board, the National
League, and the world in general, sputtered through one more season and
went out of business.

The Chicago Tribune took a swipe at the National League for knifing
the Aa on technicalities: “It was a trick to which a powerful body like the
League should not have stooped.”

Inaddition to a catcher and second baseman, Pittsburgh picked up a nick-
name that outlasted both players when the angry Athletics called its actions
“piratical.” The Alleghenys, also known as the Stogies or Troubadours, as
well as other cognomens, proudly adopted the Jolly Roger as their emblem
and have been the Pirates ever since.
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(The next day the board created the first classifications of minor leagues
as A, B, C, and D, based on salary levels, strength and numbers of teams,
and populations of franchise cities. It also established the rules whereby
higher leagues could draft players from lower leagues.)

Hanlon somehow snatched two more Players’ League stars from their
former American Association teams: slugger Pete Browning from Louisville
and Silver King, a twenty-three-year-old sidearm pitcher who had won 45
games pitching 585 innings for the St. Louis Browns in 1888 and 32 games
for Chicago in 1890. He also signed Louisville pitcher Scott Stratton, who
had not deserted the aa club.

The merger of the two Pittsburgh clubs produced a fractious group of
stockholders. Some of them tried to oust O’'Neill as president. They
opposed the return of the rebel Hanlon as manager, had doubts about
O’Neill’s knowledge of baseball, and objected to his free spending of their
capital. They had some grounds for their concerns. The 1890 season had
been a disaster. The Players’ League Burghers’ attendance had averaged
1,830, the Alleghenys’ 411. Playing only 39 home dates, the Alleghenys’ total
attendance was 16,064, down from 117,338 the year before. There was obvi-
ously no padding of their figures.

O’Neill, who smoked nothing cheaper than a twenty-five-cent cigar,
believed the appearance of prosperity would lead to the real thing. “Some
people claim I am extravagant,” he said. “The old management spent
$64,000 buying players in the past four years. I haven’t spent one-fifteenth
as much and I have such players as Bierbauer and Mack.”

The Sporting Life correspondent commented, “Five years ago J. Palmer
O’Neill knew nothing about baseball. Al Pratt and Col. Beringer took him
to his first game and when an outfielder dropped a fly ball, O’Neill yelled,
‘Why didn’t that fellow catch that ball?””

Perhaps at Hanlon’s request, somebody saw to it that the merger agree-
ment limited the president’s duties to prohibit him from interfering with
the manager.

Over some investors’ objections, O’Neill and Hanlon decided to go south
for spring training, even if they couldn’t afford it. Round-trip train fare
for fourteen players—if they splurged on Pullman berths for the two-day
journey—and fifty-cent meals would cost over $400. “There hasn’t been
a team that won in the last five years that didn’t go south,” O’Neill said.
“I don’t expect the club to make money on the trip. We might lose $1,200
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to $1,500, but that is a mere bagatelle. I want my men to come here and
open the season in good shape. To do that they must have some practice.
The Chicago people went to Denver because they were guaranteed several
thousand dollars. Manager Hanlon and I are in charge of the club and we
will be responsible for its success or failure. . .. Manager Hanlon and I had
a talk about the southern trip and we agreed it was the proper caper.”

Mack appreciated this open-handed attitude toward spring training
compared to Ted Sullivan’s silver dollar yo-yo operation three years earlier.
On March 20 the B&o Railroad took them to St. Augustine, Florida, where
Hanlon had rented grounds owned by Cap Anson for $700.

Hanlon had a hard time keeping his players in line from the day they
arrived. The team quickly divided into four cliques: the Brotherhood radi-
cals— Connie Mack, first baseman Jake Beckley, and outfielder Fred Carroll;
the loyalists (led by Doggie Miller), who had stayed with the Alleghenys and
were out to scuttle Hanlon; the American Association transplants—XKing,
Bierbauer, Browning, Stratton, and pitcher Mark Baldwin; and the defiant
boozers of no particular ideology or agenda other than a good time.

Hanlon knew from experience he could not count on owners’” backing
when it came to disciplining dissolute stars. He tried gentle persuasion
instead. They were not long in St. Augustine when six players ordered a keg
of beer delivered to a pier for a sailing excursion. Hanlon spotted them and
urged them to rethink their plans. They left the keg and put out to sea, but
when Hanlon was out of sight they came back for it.

On April 3 the Pirates and Cleveland Spiders played the first spring
training game in Florida between two major league teams. The Spiders,
who won 6-3, trained at Jacksonville, and the two teams traveled north
together a week later.

Full of optimism, the club secretary ordered fifty thousand scorecards
printed, to be sold at a nickel each by a concessions partnership of Harry
M. Stevens and Ed Barrow. For Mack, it was the start of a lifelong friend-
ship with Stevens.

The Pirates leased Exposition Park, which had been used by the Players’
League Burghers. Located on an island in—and sometimes under—the
Allegheny River, its spring floods forced the occupants to open most sea-
sons on the road. But only a brief pregame downpour marred the opening
day parade from the Hotel Anderson through the city to the ball grounds,
where the Pirates lost the opener, 7—6 in 10 innings to Chicago. After a
month they were in second place with a 14-11 record. Then they went into
a tailspin, losing 20 of the next 26.
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The Pirates were a mutinous crew from the start. Pete Browning reported
in good shape, but once the season began, he rode the waves of celebrity.
He possessed too much social grace to refuse a drink when it was bought
by an admiring fan, and there were many. Browning, who absolutely had
to touch third base on his way from the outfield to the bench, had other
quirks as well. They were overlooked when he was hitting, but he got off to
a slow start and played a lackadaisical outfield. Hanlon had little patience
for his peccadilloes. Browning swore he wasn’t drinking and denied
reports that “my lamps weren’t true” as a result of too much whiskey. He
blamed his problems on his sore feet and took the spikes off his shoes, for
which Hanlon fined him $50. After 50 games Hanlon had had enough of
Browning and released him. Pete signed with Cincinnati, where he gave the
anti-Hanlon forces plenty of ammunition by hitting .343.

When Hanlon fined pitcher Mark Baldwin $50 for missing a game,
Baldwin demanded his release. He didn’t get it. Instead he was handed a
heavier workload: 50 starts, 437 innings, and a 22-28 record.

Connie Mack got off to a slow start at the plate, which the Press cor-
respondent blamed on the lack of meat on his bones. “Connie Mack was
too light at the start of the season and lacked strength for some time. His
trouble is not losing superfluous flesh in the spring; it’s losing too much
rather than too little which has a weakening tendency.”

Mack stayed away from the factions and controversies and went about his
business with his usual reliability. His long, lanky build continued to draw
guying from the cranks. The Press commented on his intense demeanor
and ability to keep his feelings under wraps, comparing him to Brooklyn’s
six-foot-two, 160-pound first baseman Dave Foutz.

“Dave Foutz and Con Mack when seen in the same game appeal to the
humorous side of a person’s disposition. Both take life very seriously and
are fairly sensitive to the guying remarks of ribald cranks, but they do not
show it to anyone.”

Ban Johnson, then sports editor of the Cincinnati Enquirer, described
his first impression of Mack: “In uniform he was the personification of
thinness. When he walked you were afraid he might snap in two but he was
hard as nails. Mack was one of the best catchers when a good backstop was
rated for his brains in receiving and throwing rather than hitting.”

The split among the players reached beyond them to the club’s directors,
who quarreled over Hanlon. Led by O’Neill, the anti-Hanlon faction pre-
vailed. Hanlon was fired on July 30 but remained as center fielder. O’Neill
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hired Bill McGunnigle from the Providence Grays to replace him. At thirty-
six, McGunnigle had already won three major and minor league pennants.
A former catcher who also pitched, he was a teacher and strategist.

Of all the Pirates, Connie Mack was Hanlon’s most avid student. Hanlon
was already inventing many of the plays that John McGraw, Hughie Jennings,
and Willie Keeler would become famous for in Baltimore, Hanlon’s next
managerial stop. He took credit for giving Mack “the groundwork that made
him one of the greatest managers. . . . I took particular interest in drilling
him in the finer points of the game. He assimilated and added to it.”

Mack also learned from McGunnigle, the first manager Mack saw who
moved his fielders by blowing a tin whistle and gesturing with a bat.
McGunnigle slid from one end of the bench to the other to make it harder
for the opposition to intercept his signals. But McGunnigle’s semaphores
couldn’t lift the Bucs; they were last when he arrived and last when he
departed at the end of the season. In five years in the major leagues, Mack
had climbed out of the cellar only once, a seventh-place finish in 188;.

Connie Mack’s 1891 uniform, given by him to Harry Howe of East
Brookfield, is now in the town’s Connie Mack museum. Made of wool,
the white, short-sleeved shirt has button-on additions to convert it to long
sleeves. There is quilted padding on the knees of the knickers and a red
belt with leather trim. There are no letters or logos on the uniform. A label
sewn into the shirt has a hand-printed “C. Mack.”

The perennial springtime optimism had vanished rapidly. The war of 1890
left the customers indifferent to the fates of the survivors. Most teams lost
money. When the American Association folded, four of its teams were taken
into the National League, thus guaranteeing eleven also-rans instead of seven.
To give the trailing teams a chance to start over, the league voted to split the
1892 season, with a playoff at the end if different teams won the halves.

The Pirates reorganized for 1892. O’Neill was ousted and William C.
Temple was named president. But the treasurer, W. W. Kerr, who preferred
to be addressed as “Captain,” assumed greater power. Among the club’s
directors, it was Captain Kerr, the Coffee King, who was said to “know
baseball.” The club president might be prohibited from interfering with
the manager, but not the treasurer.

The directors’ first move was to hire Al Buckenberger as manager. Buck
was a rarity for the time: a manager who had never played in the major
leagues. A light-hitting infielder, he had been managing in the minors since
1884, before leading Columbus in the American Association for two years.
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Before and during the season Temple and Kerr made deals that turned
over the entire outfield and most of the infield and pitching staff. They
put together one of the best outfields in the league: Patsy Donovan, Jake
Stenzel, and Elmer Smith. The heavy-hitting Smith, a speedy base stealer,
swung a 54-ounce bat. A native of Allegheny, he became Mack’s closest
friend on the team. They added pitchers William “Adonis” Terry and Red
Ehret and acquired veteran Chicago third baseman Tommy Burns. They
also let a good one get away, sending rookie Joe Kelley to Baltimore.

The demise of half the teams in the American Association produced
a surplus of unemployed players. The Pirates received letters from many
“who were used to hit you high and now were glad to take less,” said
Buckenberger. Some offered to sign for as little as $1,000 for the season.

Connie Mack was not willing to play for $1,000. He had not signed a
new contract in the fall and saw no reason to take a pay cut. He spent
little time in Spencer; his wife’s health was not robust, so he took her to
Florida. Buckenberger wrote to him several times but received no reply.
Then, in April, he heard from a friend of Mack’s in Spencer, advising him
that Buck’s latest letter had been forwarded to Mack in East Lake, Florida.
In answer to a reporter’s question about Mack’s status, Buckenberger said,
“Connie Mack has not been released. We are willing to sign him if he gives
us reasonable terms. We won’t pay him a big salary.”

Later, when he became a club owner, Mack acknowledged that his view
toward holdouts changed. But as a player he was as stubborn about what he
thought he was worth as he would be in holding the salary line as an owner.
He succeeded in signing for the same $2,400.

Margaret Mack was pregnant again. Before reporting to the Pirates,
Mack took her and their two babies to Spencer, where she would stay in
her mother’s two-story frame house atop a steep hill on Brown Street.

Al Buckenberger was an easygoing fellow who didn’t like carousers but
didn’t or couldn’t do much about them. It wasn’t his style to fine play-
ers. He preferred to look the other way. He made his strongest pitch for
discipline in a preseason meeting, emphasizing heavier penalties for play-
ers deserting their posts “on the gate” than for less important matters like
drunkenness. (On the road, a player, usually a pitcher who had worked the
day before, was assigned to count the cash customers coming in to be sure
the visiting club was given an honest tally. Since the 1890 war, turnstiles
were suspected of having a certain flexibility.)

The rules Buckenberger laid down reflect both a timelessness and a
uniqueness to their era:
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When at home report to the grounds every day at 10:00 a.m. and 2:00
p.m. except Sundays. When abroad you will be called at 8:00 a.m. Be
at your hotel at 2:00 p.m. every day of a game, unless you are on duty
on the gate.

When doing duty at the gate you are expected to look after your
club’s interests. For leaving the gate without permission, a heavy fine
will be assessed.

Retire no later than 11:30. Be a gentleman at all times. Look as neat
as possible and do not let everybody in the hotel dining room know
that you are a ball player. It is hardly a place for talking baseball.

Drinking of intoxicating liquors will not be tolerated at any time.
Practical jokes will not be allowed. This kind of play leads to discord.
Be careful as to whom you associate with. Avoid disreputable charac-
ters. If you have any grievance go to the manager. For failure to com-
ply with these rules or obey instructions a fine of from $5 to $25 will
be assessed for the first offense.

Though they played decent ball and were in the middle of the elongated
standings, the Bucs were no match for Frank Selee’s Boston Beaneaters,
the Cleveland Spiders, or Brooklyn’s Bridegrooms. Kerr was nettled by
Buckenberger’s light handling of the reins and lack of enforcement of his
own rules. By June, Kerr persuaded Temple to move Buck into the front
office and put Tommy Burns in charge. Burns had a reputation as a prank-
ster and was no doubt one of Buckenberger’s targets in his comments
about practical jokes.

The Pirates were in sixth place when Burns took over and still sixth
when Kerr released him and reinstated Buckenberger. One reason for fir-
ing Burns was to dump his $4,500 salary. But Burns had a three-year con-
tract. He took Kerr to court and salvaged a $1,500 settlement. The league
was struggling financially. Some clubs cut salaries; players who objected
were released. In mid-June the magnates met and decided to cut rosters to
thirteen, which reduced expenses and gave the weaker teams a chance to
pick up some new players.

The Pirates fared better in the second half, finishing fourth. Looking
back over the season, Connie Mack considered that his handling of the
pitchers, his league-leading 143 assists, and a .243 batting average—only
four Pirates outhit him—warranted a raise. His growing family was an
added incentive to press his case.
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He never had the chance. The day after the last game he and eleven other
players were summoned to Kerr’s office. “Boys,” Kerr began, “you know
what we have been up against for two years. You fellows did your part to
wreck us during the Brotherhood fight, and most of the clubs are still in
debt. Merging with the American Association hasn’t ended our troubles.
We haven’t a dollar in the treasury and will have to go into our pockets
to start the next season off. I have contracts here for all of you calling for
$2,400 for 1893. Any player who does not sign for $2,400 before leaving for
home will get one for $2,100 in the spring.”

Mack said, “We twelve players realized that the statement did not depart
from the truth, and accordingly made a dive to a desk for pens. I think a
couple were knocked down in this football rush.”

As it was, the Pirates’ players fared better than most. All but three clubs
released their players rather than pay them through the November 1 end
of their contracts. But nobody considered them truly free; no other clubs
attempted to sign them. The players soon learned that all twelve clubs had
adopted the same salary cap. The National League now enjoyed a monopoly
on big league baseball. There was a surplus of players. While $2,400 was not
bad money—the average family lived well on one-fourth as much—they
had less freedom to choose where they would work or to demand higher
pay than Andrew Carnegie’s steelworkers. Carnegie could tell his workers
to take a pay cut or quit. Captain Kerr could do the same. But at least the
steelworker could seek a job at another mill.

It irked Mack that the .400 hitter could earn no more than the .240 hit-
ter, the best catcher no more than the rest. He considered this new clamp
on salaries a step backward for the game and himself. He would soon be
thirty years old, almost half a man’s expected lifetime, and he was earn-
ing less than he had in Washington in 1889. Having survived the stormy
seas of the minor leagues, with their frequent midseason shipwrecks, Mack
had felt some sense of security on reaching the majors. Now it looked as if
the game was a money-losing proposition at any level. The whole business
could collapse at any time. When another player wrote him a letter saying
he was thinking of quitting the game because of the cut in salary, Mack
replied, “My only fear is that the game will quit us.”

The bottom was about to drop out of Connie Mack’s personal life too.
Michael McGillicuddy had been unable to work for three years. He was
getting thinner and weaker. By July 1 he had taken to his bed permanently.
In a petition for a widow’s pension, Mary McGillicuddy described her
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husband’s last days. “[He] just wasted away and finally died, just dropped
away. He was conscious until the time he died. His feet and legs welled
badly during his last illness. His chronic diarrhea was something awful.”
Connie Mack was in Brooklyn with the Pirates on the morning of Saturday;,
September 10, when his brothers summoned him to come home. He left
immediately, arriving in East Brookfield that night. His father died the next
day. Michael was probably fifty-five.

Dr. David Hodgkins, using the common label applied to any of several
forms of tuberculosis at the time, recorded the cause of death as consump-
tion. All five sons were present when Fr. Dailey served solemn High Mass
at the East Brookfield mission of St. John’s Church. Interment followed at
St. John’s Cemetery in Worcester, where Michael had bought a four-space
plot in 1873.

Connie Mack remained in Spencer with his wife and children for a week
before rejoining the team in Pittsburgh.

Ten days after her husband’s death, Mary went with her sons Dennis
and Michael to Worcester and put her X mark on an application to have
Michael’s monthly $12 pension transferred to a widow’s pension. She was
awarded $8 a month. It would take her several lawyers, numerous deposi-
tions from friends and neighbors attesting to Michael’s ailments, and eight
years of petitioning the pension bureau in Washington to gain a full $12
pension. It was finally approved in 1900, retroactive to September 11, 1892,
with an additional two dollars a month for Eugene until he reached the age
of sixteen on March 3, 1894.

On Sunday, November 27, Margaret Mack gave birth to a daughter,
Marguerite Veronica. Weakened by the birth, she remained poorly for two
weeks, then began to strengthen. A little color returned to her cheeks on
Monday, December 12, then quickly faded. She failed rapidly and breathed
her last at 3:00 p.m. on Thursday, December 15.

Commented the Spencer Leader, “She was of a particularly sunny and
vivacious disposition, and much loved by her circle of friends. She left
three children: 4 years, 2 years, and 3 weeks.”

The next day Connie Mack went back to St. John’s Cemetery and bought
a six-space plot.

In all subsequent accounts of Mack’s life, there is scant reference to this
tragedy. The biography by Fred Lieb says merely, “Mrs. McGillicuddy lived
only five years after her marriage.”

In “My Fifty Years in Baseball,” a series that ran in the Philadelphia
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Inquirer in 1930, Mack, after mentioning his marriage, said only, “Five years
later Mrs. Mack died.”

There’s an old saying: “Pity the Irish, for they cannot show their emo-
tions.” Whatever its validity, it fit Connie Mack. He kept his feelings and
emotions about his private life inside under lock and key. The memories,
joys, or heartaches he sheltered were not for display—not to family and
certainly not to the public. His children by a later marriage knew him as
kind, generous, caring, and loving but not demonstrative. He never talked
about Margaret Mack to them.

Only in My 66 Years in the Big Leagues, ghostwritten and possibly not
even read by the eighty-eight-year-old Mack, do we get a brief glimpse
behind the stoic veneer.

“We had five wonderful years together. Three children came to bless
our union, and then Margaret died at the age of twenty-six. The loss was
almost overwhelming. I was now a lone young father with three motherless
babies, Marguerite, Roy, Earle.”

The words were probably not his, but the feelings they expressed were
true.
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In the space of less than four months, Mary McGillicuddy, at fifty-two,
went from being a full-time nurse for her bedridden husband to a widow
with a fourteen-year-old son and then to a surrogate mother for three baby
grandchildren.

On December 27, 1892, two neighbors, Frederick Bollard and John M.
Howe, swore in affidavits in support of her pension petition that Mary “is a
poor woman possessed of no property and is dependent on the daily labor
of her hands for her support.”

This wasn’t true. She had plenty of help. Her aunt and sister and cous-
ins all lent a hand. Connie hired a nursemaid for the newborn Marguerite.
Tom, nineteen, worked as a bookkeeper while going to business school in
Worcester and lived at home. Despite his complaints about the league’s sal-
ary limit, Mack’s income was more than ample for his own and his family’s
needs. For as long as he worked, Connie Mack would be a financial well from
which immediate and extended family, friends, down-and-out ex-players,
and needy strangers would draw generously, often without asking. He never
denied his family anything, nor skimped on their support in any way.

Before Mack left for spring training in March 1893, the title to the little
cottage was transferred to his name. The value of the house and half-acre
lot was listed at $525. He paid the taxes—$9.03 in 1893 —which would aver-
age about $14 a year, for the next twenty-five years.

Meanwhile, the custodians of baseball were wrestling with the rules again.
Now that catchers wore pillow-size mitts, pitchers like Amos “Cannonball”
Rusie were throwing fastballs that reached the plate in one-third of a sec-
ond. To a batter, said Mack, “they looked like peas as they sailed by me. All T
saw of them was what I heard when they went into the catcher’s mitt.”

Applications of mud, licorice, and tobacco juice made the ball so dark
that the Baltimore Orioles painted their center-field wall white so they
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could pick up the ball in its flight toward the plate. It was time to do some-
thing to turn up the offense.

“Baseball has been too long in one rut,” wrote a San Francisco pundit.
Others who wanted the game left as it was were derided as reactionaries
and “purists.”

The most popular suggestion was to move the pitcher back from the line
on which both feet were supposed to be when he started his delivery; it was
now fifty-five feet, six inches from the plate. But how far back: fifty-eight
feet, sixty-three feet, somewhere in between? Philadelphia baseball writer
Francis C. Richter claimed he was the first to advocate in print a five-foot
move, at the suggestion of William R. Lester, an editorial writer on the
Record. It took until March for the National League to settle on moving the
pitcher back five feet and replacing the line with a rubber plate four inches
wide and twelve inches long.

The results: the league batting average jumped from .245 to .280; sixty-
five players batted over .300, up from twelve.

The rules makers also banned flat bats, which had enhanced the bun-
ting or “baby hit” game. Continuing their cost-cutting efforts, the owners
adopted a 132-game schedule and pledged to work together to further
reduce the high salaries.

Officially, betting on games was discouraged, but in reality it was so
accepted and recognized by the league that President Nick Young felt com-
fortable in issuing this statement on betting guidelines, as reported in the
Pittsburgh Post:

For years in case of doubleheaders the second game was consid-
ered the regularly scheduled one and all bets had to be decided by
its results. Game one was considered the makeup. This was based on
regular games starting between 3:00 and 4:00 in all cities. When two
games are played the first generally starts at 2:00 and the second at
4:00, the regularly scheduled hour. Pittsburgh sports fully understood
this and for years made their bets accordingly. Now matters are differ-
ent. The first game hereafter must be regarded as the regularly sched-
uled one and all bets must go with it.

To beef up the Pirates’ pitching, Kerr and Buckenberger picked up 22-
game winner Ad Gumbert from Chicago and lefty Frank Killen, who had
won 29 for Washington. They also added rookie catcher Joe Sugden and
veteran infielder Denny Lyons.
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The Pirates didn’t look much improved when they returned from spring
training and lost their first three games around two rainouts. The mutter-
ing of “same old losers” began to rumble from the grandstand. Then they
woke up and tore through the league, rarely losing in May and roaring into
first place.

During that hot stretch a play took place that epitomizes Connie Mack
the catcher and future manager. Before the infield fly rule entered the book
in 1894, it was common for infielders to deliberately drop pop flies with
a man on first to try to turn a double play. No triple play had ever been
started by a catcher using this ploy.

On May 24 the St. Louis Browns played the last of a four-game series at
Exposition Park. The next day the Post headline read:

CONNIE MACK’S GREAT HEAD
He Engineers a Triple Play and Saves the Day
Spectators Astounded and then Cheer with a Will
Win Four Straight from St. Louis

The account of the play, written in the days when newspapers provided prai-
rie-sized spaces to fill, is worth reproducing, both as a portrait of Connie
Mack the player and an example of the baseball writing of the time:

The fourth inning wound up with a climax that is still bothering the
heads of 2,000 of the 2,430 spectators, causing them to ask for expla-
nation as to how it was done.

In the inning Brodie reached first on one of those aggravating hits
that slowly drop between the in and out field and always cause a post
mortem to be held by two or three players. Peitz followed with just such
another hit and Breitenstein got his base on balls. Here were the bases
full with nobody out. The score was 3—2 in favor of the Pittsburghs. A
hit meant two, three or possibly four runs for the pesky Browns, who
are holy terrors once they get a lead.

There were faint cries of “take him out” though the majority
of spectators were too much wrought up to even whisper. Captain
Donovan came in from left field and had a few anxious words with
[pitcher] Gastright. The short consultation seemed satisfactory to
both. Nobody was paying particular attention to Connie Mack and
nobody dreamt that he would pull his team out of the hole it was
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in. But Connie had his wits about him. Griffin came to the bat with
determination to do or die in every movement. He boldly swung at
the ball and sent it 160 feet straight up over his head. It went so high
that Denny Lyons had plenty of time to run from third base to cover
home plate, leaving his own corner uncovered. Mack got under the
ball and to the horror of the spectators let it pass through his hands,
giving it a good squeeze on its way down. Sly Connie knew what he
was doing, and be it said he was the only player on the ground who
was on to the trick. The moment the ball touched the ground there
was commotion among the St. Louis baserunners. [Having held the
ball long enough for umpire Tom Lynch to call the batter out before
he let it drop, Mack was aware that the force was off and the base run-
ners had to be tagged if they ran. Another game account said, “The
three men on base were foolish enough to run on Mack’s drop of a fly
ball.”] Brodie started on the dead run for home. Connie threw the ball
to Lyons at the plate and shouted frantically, “Touch him. Touch him,”
as Lyons, after planting his foot on the plate, motioned to throw, the
Lord knows where. It was easy to touch Brodie as he came thunder-
ing down the stretch, as he thought running away from danger, when
in reality he was foolishly running right into the jaws of death. Then
Connie swung his long arms toward [shortstop] Shugart, pointed to
third base, and again shouted, “Touch him. Touch him.” Peitz was
running toward third base as he probably never ran before, scared
almost to death. Shugart got there before him and neatly caught the
ball thrown there by Lyons.

Mack stood in the middle of the diamond with his arms still
stretched out like a general in a battle, until Shugart had dug the ball
into the ribs of Peitz completing a triple play. Then he quickly turned
and with a look of triumph stalked toward the bench. . ..

It took the other players and a great majority of the spectators two
or three seconds before they realized the situation, and there was a
spontaneous uprising of the multitude. A great shout went up, hats
were waved enthusiastically. Cheers rang out that made the grand-
stand quiver, and frenzy reigned even after Connie had tipped his cap
several times.

Mack capped the day by driving in the winning run in the eighth inning
of the 8—7 victory.
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These were the kinds of feats that earned Mack the reputation described
by Hugh Fullerton Sr.: “Contrary to stats Connie Mack was a better hitter
than credited and dangerous in the pinch. He was a perfect backstop: cool,
unhurried, deadly in throwing. Experts of his day rated him the equal of
Buck Ewing.”

Ned Hanlon’s Baltimore Orioles of the 1890s are generally rated the most
notorious benders and twisters of the rules. They were not alone. It was a
time when words like “shrewd,” “smart,” “wily,” and “tricky” were applied to
those teams and individuals who excelled at doing whatever it took—and
whatever they could get away with—to win ball games. Those admirable
traits were often attributed to Connie Mack. He also drew accusations of
trying to inflict crippling injuries on players with his “blocking off trick” at
the plate. Skinny as he was, Mack never backed away from a collision, but
his blocking the plate was condemned as “dirty ball” by some out-of-town
writers.

Since his minor league days, Connie Mack had continued to work on
perfecting the arts of distracting chatter, quick pitches, and bat tipping.
Baltimore catcher Wilbert Robinson said, “Don’t let anyone kid you that
Connie was a little tin god behind the plate. Mack never was mean like
some of the catchers of the day. But he kept up a string of chatter behind
the plate, and if you had any soft spot, Connie would find it. He could do
and say things that got more under your skin than the cuss words used by
other catchers.”

Mack might coo, “Say, that was a beaut you hit last time. If you have any
weakness, I don’t know it.”

He might soft soap an older player with, “You've had a great day. How
can a man your age still hit so well? You hit that pitch so far, and when I
called for it, I thought it would strike you out.”

Sometimes his patter helped to set up his quick pitch. If the batter started
to turn a little to reply, Mack signaled the pitcher to fire away, invariably
catching the batter off balance.

One day Cap Anson came to bat with two outs and the bases loaded.
Mack knew that Anson’s style was to take two strikes before swinging. The
pitcher threw two quick strikes. Anson took them. Mack then threw the
ball back to the pitcher, put his glove on the ground, took off his mask
and started removing his chest protector. Anson stared at him, confused.
“What’s the matter, Connie?” he asked. As Anson spoke, Mack gave a sign
to the pitcher and jumped back behind the plate as the hurler threw a fast-
ball by Anson.
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“Strike three,” yelled the umpire.

“We had a lot of success that way,” Mack said. “Whenever the pitcher
sneaked over a strike, I would invariably protest to the angry batter. “That
fellow, I would say, ‘has to stop that stuff or somebody is going to get hurt.
[ wasn’t set for that pitch myself.”

Mack was full of gosh-all-hemlock apologies whenever he tipped a bat
to throw off a swing, feigning such sincere remorse over the “accident” that
mollified batters just walked away.

Connie Mack never denied nor apologized for his use of these and other
tricks. Sometimes he’d bring up the subject himself. In his later years, when he
hosted his own annual birthday party for writers and friends, Mack enjoyed
sprinkling a little vinegar on what had become his tooth-achingly sweet pub-
lic image. One year he talked about a player who got even with him:

Farmer Weaver was a catcher-outfielder for Louisville. I tipped his bat
several times when he had two strikes on him one year, and each time
the umpire called him out. He got even, though. One time there were
two strikes on him and he swung as the pitch was coming in. But he
didn’t swing at the ball. He swung right at my wrists. Sometimes I
think I can still feel the pain. I'll tell you I didn’t tip his bat again. No,
sir, not until the last game of the season and Weaver was at bat for the
last time. After he had two strikes, I tipped his bat again and got away
with it.

To the delight of fans everywhere except New England, the traditional
tailenders from Pittsburgh fought Frank Selee’s defending champion
Boston Beaneaters fiercely for the pennant.

Unaccustomed to such high altitude in the standings, Pirates rooters
turned violent following a late September loss to Boston at home. Kid
Nichols, who pitched the 7—2 win for the Beaneaters, later described the
scene:

We were stoned as we left the grounds. Boston and Pittsburgh were
fighting for the league lead and hometown fans were infuriated that
we won the game. As we left the park they followed us carrying sticks
and stones. Tom Tucker, our first baseman, and Hugh Dufty, out-
fielder, and I were in the last of the coupes in which we were driving
away. The crowd let go at us with their missiles as we started down
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the street. I was hit on the head fully a dozen times and several of the
sticks and stones hit Duffy and Tucker. I got out of the coupe and
chased some of the rowdies and asked a policeman to arrest them.
He didn’t make a move so I climbed back into the carriage. The bom-
bardment was renewed and we were called every vile name you can
imagine. It was only by whipping the horses into a fast getaway that
we escaped the mob.

But the Beaneaters pulled away, too far in front for the Pirates’ season-
ending 8-game winning streak to catch them. The Bucs finished second, 5
games back.

Despite his early season heroics, Connie Mack played only a minor
part in the Pirates’ great season. On June 13 in a game against Boston, the
Beaneaters had men on first and third. The double steal was on. The man
on first broke for second. When Mack threw to Bierbauer, Herman Long
on third headed for home; Bierbauer’s throw back to Mack was high and
on the third base side. Mack reached for it as Long slid into him. Spikes
ripped open MacK’s left leg and cracked his ankle. Some writers, critical of
his plate blocking, took a “serves-him-right” attitude toward Mack’s injury.
He was out for almost two months.

“I was never the same player after that,” he told Fred Lieb. “I was slower
on the bases and couldn’t stoop as well behind the plate. It would catch me
in the calf, where I had been spiked. Buckenberger and some of the players
were kind enough to say that my injury cost the team the pennant.”

In the 37 games he caught, Mack batted .286. For the first time he had been
part of a team that had a chance to win. But he left for home disappointed
that his injury had prevented him from making more of a difference and
fearful that, at thirty-one, his playing days may have been cut short.

For all their complaints about pay cuts and salary limits, the players were
lucky to have jobs. A Wall Street crash in May, a run on the banks to
redeem paper money for gold, and a large railroad bankruptcy in August
had touched off the worst financial crisis the nation had ever seen. More
than 150 railroads, 15,000 companies, and 500 banks failed. Unemployment
hit 18 percent, almost twice that in Detroit. Until the economy began to
recover in 1896, the players had no leverage and no support from the public
if they complained about their lot.

Buoyed by their strong second-place finish, the Pirates and their fans
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launched the ’94 season with an early attack of pennant fever. But they
stumbled out of the gate, limping along in seventh place until May, when
they began to close in on the leaders.

Baseball on and off the field reached its peak of rowdyism in 1894. The
Baltimore Orioles and Cleveland Spiders led the league in mayhem. “The
Orioles,” Mack said, “played the game like gladiators in ancient Roman are-
nas.” They were clearly “not gentlemen.”

The Spiders, led by manager Pat Tebeau, never let up on players or
umpires, maintaining a steady barrage of invective. They kicked and quar-
reled through every game.

Club owners decried but did nothing to stem the rowdyism. Editorial
writers warned that hooliganism and ripe language emanating from the
playing field would drive away respectable customers. But John McGraw
was probably closer to the truth when he said the fans preferred to see
“aggressive players in action.” Rather than repelling the customers, the
reviled Orioles and Spiders drew large crowds of hostile fans on the road.
They were the targets of insults and more tangible evidence of antago-
nism, hurled at them as they traveled between hotels and ballparks in open
tally-hos.

The fans demonstrated that they could be as full of ginger and as rowdy
as the players. Pittsburgh’s fiercest rivals were the Cleveland Spiders. A
series in the city by Lake Erie always drew train excursions of several hun-
dred Pittsburgh fans armed with rattles, cowbells, wooden instruments,
and other noisemakers. A three-game series that began on Thursday, May
24, ended in an eruption that led to a near riot and a forfeit.

The Friday 5—2 loss to the Spiders was one of Mack’s worst days as a
player. The Spiders stole at least 10 bases off him and left-hander Frank
Killen. In the seventh, McAleer on third and Childs on first put on a double
steal. Mack threw to second; Bierbauer threw back to the plate as McAleer
barreled down the line. The throw was low. Mack bent to catch it. McAleer
jumped toward the plate. His spikes caught Mack above the knee, slicing
him open. To the Pittsburgh rooters, it looked like a deliberate maiming.
They let McAleer know it with every bell and whistle they carried.

The Saturday game drew a record crowd, estimated at 8,000-9,000, to
the four-year-old League Park. The fans spilled onto the field behind the
foul lines. As the game progressed, those behind first base edged closer to
the bag, heaping abuse on the visiting team relentlessly. In the fifth inning
Pirates first baseman Jake Beckley went back for a pop fly. Someone in the
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crowd sicced a dog on him. Beckley caught the ball while shaking off the
canine attacker. Two policemen stood nearby and watched as the dog dis-
appeared into the mob.

In the ninth the Pirates led, 123, and the horns and rattles were loud
enough to drown out a sawmill. As some fans on the field left, others leaped
out of the bleachers and took their places. With Cleveland at bat and 1 out,
Burkett reached base on an error. McKean forced him at second. Burkett
playfully jabbed the pitcher, Red Ehret, in the ribs as he passed him to go to
the bench. Ehret threw the ball at him and missed, the ball rolling into the
crowd. When Ehret yelled for the ball, somebody threw a cushion at him.
That touched off a salvo of cushions sailing out of the stands. The fans on
the field picked them up and threw them back. The Pirates fans rang their
bells and cracked their rattles as the Spiders beat a hasty retreat. Umpire
Bob Emslie ordered the crowd to disperse and took a cushion in the face in
reply. After fifteen minutes he declared the game forfeited, an announce-
ment that inspired a new barrage.

That night a happy band of Pirates rooters went home rattling all the
way.

On May 29 the Pirates defeated the Orioles, 3—2, and took over first place.
It didn’t last. Mack had a lame arm, which he doused with large doses of
snake oil. He tried bowling to stretch the muscles. (Modern trainers, asked
about the therapeutic value of bowling for sore arms, say, “It didn’t hurt
and probably helped.”) His game left leg cut down his agility and speed.

The topers on the club stepped up their carousing, unchecked and
undisciplined. Club owners generally preferred to go along with proven
older players, who coasted on their reputations but still attracted the cus-
tomers, rather than replacing them with young unknowns. A manager who
benched too many of the regulars for being out of condition could expect
no backing from the front office.

Within two weeks of reaching the top, the Pirates slid to fifth. Along the
way they put on an offensive display that typified the season as pitchers
continued to adjust to the lengthened pitching distance. On June 6 they
defeated Boston, 27—11; the teams combined for 65 total bases and 8 home
runs, 7 by the Pirates, whose 4 in the fifth inning set a record unbroken for
exactly forty-five years. One of them was Mack’s only homer of the year. A
week earlier Boston and Cincinnati had run up 67 total bases. (The league
batting average soared from .280 to .309, topped by four .400 hitters and
one at .399.)
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Games like these prompted league directors to consider restoring the
fifty-foot pitching distance to end such “long drawn out and uninteresting
contests.” The 27-11 game had lasted two hours and twenty-four minutes.

In the midst of the Pirates’ June fade, Captain Kerr, who had officially
assumed the presidency in January, sent for Connie Mack. The conversa-
tion went something like this:

“You want to see me, Mr. Kerr?”

“Yes, Con. I want to ask you an important question. How would you
like to manage the Pirates?”

“What’s the matter with Buck?”

“What’s the matter with him? He was second last year, and with a
better club this year he’s in the second division.”

“But it’s not his fault. Several of the players aren’t in shape. I’'m one of
them. I think I’ve gone stale. Some of the other players have too. But
we’re coming around now.”

“Don’t you want the job?”

“Mr. Kerr, Buck and I are friends. He’s a good manager. I don’t know
where you could get a better one. He had some hard luck. Why not
wait a while and give him a chance?”

“All right, Lll wait, but not long if the club doesn’t show some
improvement.”

The Pirates did improve, won some games, climbed a few rungs, then
slid back into the second division. On July 26 Frank Killen, who had won
34 games in ’93, was hit by a line drive that broke his pitching arm. He was
finished for the year, with 14 wins. They were 2 games under .500, but that
was only good enough for seventh place in the twelve-team league.

The other catchers, Bill Merritt and Joe Sugden, were better hitters than
Mack, but the pitchers wanted him behind the plate calling the game, pull-
ing them through the tight spots. Any pitcher would appreciate the quali-
ties Mack displayed in a game in Baltimore on August 20. Jock Menefee was
pitching. They had been kicking all day about the calls of the umpire, Mr.
Betts, and several of them had been fined by the umpire as a result.

The Orioles loaded the bases after two batters walked on calls that so
enraged the Pirates that first baseman Jake Beckley was ejected. Joe Kelley
was the right-handed batter. Menefee threw two pitches over the heart of
the plate. Betts called them wide. The count went to 3-0. Mack walked out
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to the box. “Use the curve ball,” he told the rattled Menefee. “Start it in
close. Kelley might bite.”

Menefee threw a curve. Kelley, ignoring orders to take, swung and
missed. Mack called time again and went out to Menefee. They could hear
Ned Hanlon and the Orioles on the bench yelling at Kelley to take a pitch.
“Try it again,” Mack said.

Again Kelley swung at the slow bender and missed.

Another conference. “T have an idea,” said Mack. “Send in a straight one
and I'll tip his bat.”

Menefee threw a fastball. Kelley swung just as Mack lightly tipped his
bat, just enough to cause Kelley to pull it foul down the third base line.

The crowd noise was so loud by now that Mack and his pitcher had to
stand close to hear each other. Menefee said, “What do we do now?”

Mack said, “Try the bender again. We may get him to swing at it and
fan.”

Menefee served up a roundhouse. Kelley swung and missed. The crowd
noise gave way to groans and curses. The Pirates hung on to win, 7—s5.

“Connie was one of those catchers managers nowadays would give dol-
lars to get,” Menefee recalled in relating the story thirteen years later.

On Saturday, September 1, more than three thousand turned out to see
the Pirates and Washington split a doubleheader. Mack started the second
game but had to leave when a foul tip hit him above the right eye. The
following Monday morning the eye was still swollen almost shut. He was
summoned to Kerr’s office. This time he knew what was coming. On the
way he rehearsed what he wanted to say, afraid he wouldn’t have the nerve
to say it.

Mack was confident he had the ability and experience to do the job.
At thirty-one, he would be the second-youngest manager in the league,
although seven others were in their thirties.

Kerr was not alone in his office. With him were former club president W.
C. Temple and a director, Phil L. Auten.

“Con,” said Kerr, “we fired Buckenberger. I told him he’s through. Now
we’re offering you the job as manager. If you don’t take it, we’ll have
to give it to someone else. Do you want it?”

“Yes, I want it,” Mack said without hesitating, then added nervously,

“if I can really be the manager and not have to do what someone else
thinks.”
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Kerr exchanged glances with his partners. “What do you mean by
that?” he asked.

“Well, I want to run the club, handle the players my way, make the
rules, and make all the trades.”

“I promise you’ll be the manager,” Kerr said, “in fact as well as in name.
You can make the trades. I won’t interfere.”

Connie Mack was either naive to believe that was how it would be, or
he chose to ignore the evidence around him. His ambition may have over-
ruled his sense of the way things really were. He was aware that other man-
agers had little control over their players or the trading of them. It wouldn’t
surprise him when the Spalding Guide commented after the season:

There is a class of club officials in the league who, for the life of them,
cannot keep from interfering with the club’s legitimate manager in his
running of the team. Some of them have the cool effrontery of stating
that “the manager of our team is never interfered with in any way.”
One costly result of this club official interference is that needed disci-
pline of the players is out of the question, and in its absence cliqueism
in the ranks of the team sets in—one set of players siding with the
manager, and another with the “real boss of the team,” with the costly
penalty of discord in the ranks. It is all nonsense for a club to place a
manager in the position with a merely nominal control of the players
and then to hold him responsible for the non-success of the team in
winning games.

Mack had to know that Captain Kerr was the very model of a modern
major meddler. The baseball writer for the Post commented on the firing,
“Buckenberger has this season been only manager in name. Players have
been signed and released without his knowledge, even against his wishes.
He cannot be blamed for the poor standing of the team at present. His
hands were tied, and he is heartily glad to get away, although he feels his
release keenly coming as it does just before the close of the season.”

There was no public indication that Mack was to be anything but an
interim manager. In announcing the change, Kerr said, “Connie Mack will
have charge of the team until the close of the season and if the players do
not do better some of them will be sent to the bench.” Mack needed no
more than the last part of that statement to realize that Kerr had no inten-
tion of letting him decide who would play and who would not.
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The Post assumed that Mack was merely finishing out the season. “Who
his successor will be, for Mack’s appointment is but temporary, is not
known and club officials refused to say a word on the subject. Indications
point to the appointment of W. H. Watkins, present manager of Sioux City,
who managed Detroit during their last years in the league.”

But Mack had been signed through 1895.

Popular as he was as a player, Mack’s promotion was greeted with indif-
ference, even some resentment at his replacing the popular Buckenberger.
“The club has made mistakes this season but its greatest is the release of
Buckenberger,” said the Post.

On the afternoon of Mack’s appointment six hundred spectators showed
up and watched the Pirates wallop Washington, 22—1. Then the team went
to New York and lost, 14—13, after rallying with 4 in the top of the ninth to
take the lead before giving it back when New York scored 3.

On September 25 Mack did something for the first time that he would
do often over the years: he gave a local amateur pitcher a tryout by start-
ing him in a big league game. Twenty-one-year-old Harry Jordan pitched
a 10—7 win over Brooklyn at Exposition Park. He signed no contract and
went back to the sandlots.

Another baseball war loomed in the fall of 1894. A group calling itself first
the National Association, then the American Association, began offering
National League players inflated salaries to jump. Al Buckenberger was seen
at the Monongahela House recruiting visiting players for a new Pittsburgh
team. The Pirates responded by giving raises of $200-$600 to several play-
ers. Other clubs handed the players a notice with their last paychecks, telling
them their contracts had been renewed for next season “in accordance with
the nineteenth paragraph of your contract”—the reserve clause—at the
same salary. But the would-be rival major league promoters disappeared as
quickly as they had appeared. The war clouds passed like a brief summer
shower. As playing manager, Mack’s contract remained at $2,400.

During the season, Connie Mack had seen the first of a new kind of base-
ball stadium. Following a fire, the Phillies replaced their wooden grand-
stand with a futuristic concrete and steel cantilever construction. They
installed 1,500 “steel opera chairs” in place of the usual plain hard planks.
It was too far ahead of its time for other magnates to see it as anything but
economic madness and “delusions of grandeur.”
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THE TERRIBLE-TEMPERED
MR. MACK

12

Relying on the authority Captain Kerr had promised him, Connie Mack
had enough confidence in his judgment to put it on the line. He named
Monte Cross his shortstop in place of the aging Jack Glasscock. Mack had
acquired him from Syracuse in September. In 13 games Cross had shown
the kind of range that would rack up a lot of putouts, assists, and errors. He
chose twenty-five-year-old rookie Billy Clingman over a couple of proven
.300 hitters, Denny Lyons and Fred Hartman, to play third. He was satisfied
with the rest of his infield and the outfield.

Mack believed that managing pitchers was his strongest point. He
counted on a healthy Frank Killen as his ace; retained Tom Colcolough, an
8-game winner in ’94; brought back the veteran Bill Hart from the minors;
and added a nineteen-year-old Baltimore lefty, Brownie Foreman. He sent
pitcher Red Ehret and cash to St. Louis for Emerson “Pink” Hawley, a ner-
vous right-hander with rabbit ears and a rubber arm. Hawley had lost a
league-leading 26 games while winning 19 in 1894. He was young— twenty-
two in December—and durable, having worked almost 400 innings start-
ing and relieving.

At seven thirty on the morning of Sunday, March 17, 1895, the Pirates
boarded a train for Savannah and Mack’s first spring training as a man-
ager. The team stayed at the Haven Hotel, room and board $1.25 a day.
They were in Savannah only a week before riding the rails to Charleston,
Columbia, and Charlotte. Mack had played almost every position at one
time or another, but he had never pitched. In Columbia, he started a game
at first base with Frank Killen in the pitcher’s box.

“[Killen] was not in good condition,” Mack said, “and I transferred him
to the first bag and went in to pitch myself. I started out in good shape and
the first two men never felt the ball, and in fact could not see it until it was
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landed in the backstop’s mitt. The third man then came to bat. I gave him a
twister. The twister was punished with a hot line hit. . . . An incessant can-
nonade ensued and the last I can remember was that the ball went over the
center field fence. Well, I didn’t pitch another inning.”

Mack played every day as they wended their way to Danville, Virginia,
where they found only three players on the local team. Mack loaned them
six players, and it became an intrasquad game, which was all right with
him. He preferred to see his full squad practice every day. They worked out
in Knoxville, then headed for Chattanooga for three days en route to open-
ing day at Louisville on April 18.

As a reward for his boys’ good play and flush with the gate receipts of the
exhibition tour, Mack decided to treat them to better rooms in Chattanooga.
He wrote to the proprietor of the Ship House, who responded with suspi-
cious warmth and promptness, considering the reputation baseball teams
carried. The proprietor even offered to provide a single bed for each man,
an unheard of luxury.

Mack reminisced:

We arrived at Chattanooga at midnight, and the owner of the Ship
House met us at the front door. He asked us all into the bar immedi-
ately. I was beginning to see then why he was willing to take in a bunch
of social outcasts. . . . He was hoping to get all our money across the
mahogany. When I told him my boys weren’t allowed to drink, his
whole manner changed. He stopped washing his hands in invisible
water and suddenly discovered that he had such a crowd of guests he
couldn’t put us up.

My dander was up, and I marched the boys down the street to a
hotel that I had thought was too rich for our blood. The night clerk
was on the job, a callow youth whom no one had told that baseball
players were unclean. I struck a bargain with him at the rate of $2
a day a man for food and lodging. He put me up in the bridal suite.
When the owner showed up in the morning his horror was a sight
to behold. But we were settled then and I don’t think he could have
moved us without calling in the militia. I had a happy crowd on that
trip. The boys sat out in front on the porch, morning and evening,
reared back in their canebottom chairs chewing tobacco and looking
down from Olympian heights at the local citizenry.
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They opened at Louisville before a sellout crowd of over eight thousand.
Sporting new uniforms, they lined the field while the mayor walked to the
pitcher’s box and threw the first pitch. Mack should have given him a uni-
form and let him pitch. Frank Killen took an 11—2 pasting.

“Tknow the boys can play better ball than they put up here,”a disappointed
Mack said. “If I thought they could not do better . . . I would lie awake at
night making plans to strengthen the team. One thing I am convinced of is
the ability of Killen, Hawley, and Colcolough to pitch good ball.”

MacKk’s optimism was confirmed when they won their next 7 games and
took a 7-2 record back to Pittsburgh for the May 1 home opener.

The team’s strong start stoked civic pride in the city, which was now
approaching a population of three hundred thousand, swelled by an influx
of workers from southern and central Europe attracted by jobs in the rap-
idly growing steel and emerging aluminum industries. Immigrants eager
to be accepted in their new world quickly realized that baseball was a sure-
fire way to fit in. If you could talk baseball with other workers or the guys
in the corner saloon, you were made to feel that you belonged.

Books of fifty grandstand tickets for $30, good for any game, sold briskly
at Pratt’s downtown store. Opening day tickets were in great demand
at William A. McClurg, tobacconist, corner of Fifth Avenue and Wood
Street.

Connie Mack took lodgings at 171 Federal Street, a short walk from
Exposition Park in the city of Allegheny, now the north side of Pittsburgh.
A prosperous center of business and industry, Allegheny was home to
Andrew Carnegie’s first public library, built in 1890. H. J. Heinz had a pack-
ing plant there among tanneries and slaughterhouses. Federal Street was
lined with taverns and restaurants. Foods of all kinds were vended at the
large brick Allegheny Market House. At Boggs and Buhl, an elegant depart-
ment store, Mack could buy Arrow high stiff collars two for a quarter and
low crown derbies for a dollar.

One section two blocks long in Allegheny West housed more millionaires
than any other two blocks in the country. A short distance away, Mack’s pal
Elmer Smith lived amid a yard full of dogs, chickens, and ducks.

This was Connie Mack’s Pittsburgh home for the rest of his time with
the Pirates. It isn’t there anymore. The new Pittsburgh ballpark now sits
where he once resided.

Opening day festivities began with a parade from the Monongahela
House Hotel at one thirty. Hundreds of newsboys led the procession to
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the park, followed by the Pirates and Cincinnati Reds, riding in open car-
riages. Every seat was filled at the park, and those who couldn’t find a place
to sit stood against the right-field fence. Ladies in brightly colored hats and
dresses offset the low black clouds that hovered over the field but spilled no
rain to spoil the occasion.

Baseball and theatrical stars were already a twosome. The first ball was
thrown from the box seats by Rose Coghlan, a well-known but fading star
of forty-four who was appearing on the vaudeville bill at the Alvin Theater.
Captain Jake Beckley caught the ball, but instead of handing it back to the
actress, he turned it over to umpire Bob Emslie. It was, after all, the game
ball.

Bill Hart’s curves were at their sharp-shooting best against the Reds. The
home team, batting first, scored a 4-1 win. But the game was played in an
odd shroud of stillness. The greatest racket came from the twenty-five-cent
seats, where groups of restless newsboys rose from time to time and raced
across the field to join those standing by the fence. Not a single kick or razz-
ing was heard from the usually vocal Mack coaching third base. The players
went about their business as if they were playing in a hospital ward. The
reason: a new rule against “boisterous coaching,” which made the game,
as the Post writer put it, “too solemn and funereal.” Fortunately, like other
reform efforts that make things worse, the rule was soon forgotten.

Having turned over the regular catching job to Joe Sugden, Mack trans-
ferred his wiles to other tactics. He stored some baseballs in an icebox in
the office. Before a game he gave some of them to a boy who patrolled the
grandstand roof, retrieving foul balls that landed there. Mack kept some of
the deadened balls with him on the bench. When visitors were at bat, the
boy returned a frozen ball onto the field in place of the live one that had
been hit his way. Mack slipped one into the game whenever he saw a favor-
able opportunity to do so. (In 1896 a new rule required the home team to
give the umpire a dozen new balls before each game, nullifying the icebox
strategy.)

Mack was certainly not alone in using such tactics, and he never talked
as much about this one as his bat tipping or foul tip ploys. When Fred
Lieb asked him fifty years later if the story was true, Lieb wrote that Mack
smiled and said, “We had to use a lot of tricks to win games, and maybe
that was one of them.”

Connie Mack never believed in strict rules to govern the off-field behav-
ior of his boys. He recalled the litany of regulations read by Al Buckenberger
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in 1892 and their lack of results. He was always reluctant to fine players,
knowing that a wife and family were often dependent on that money to pay
the rent and put food on the table. But sometimes that was the only effec-
tive threat or punishment.

Mack was not a teetotaler. He drank an occasional beer, never cared for
whiskey, and later took a glass of wine now and then. He had seen alcohol’s
effects on players and found it difficult to understand why an athlete, espe-
cially one with a family, would jeopardize his career and impair his ability
to succeed by excessive drinking and night-crawling.

But jeopardize they did. The principle of enlightened self-interest didn’t
sink in. “My notion was that ballplayers fit for the major leagues, the cer-
tainty of employment and real money assured them, would keep them-
selves in good physical condition as a matter of course,” he said. “But I
found they wouldn’t, and I couldn’t induce them to. Not those players.”

Their escapades didn’t escape the notice of the press. Mack’s critics
accused him of being too easygoing and lacking the firm disciplinary hand
it took to control his team. There were frequent allusions to the “players’
condition.” More telling than the critical comments were the pointed refer-
ences to their “never behaving better” or “tending to business” when they
were winning.

MacK’s pitching staff quickly turned erratic. Killen was batting over .300,
but he was getting hit just as hard. The grandstand “cracks,” as the experts
were called, hollered to get rid of him. Mack stayed with him. Despite a
sore thumb, he began catching Killen to try to steady him. Tom Colcolough
was sidelined with arm problems after just one winning effort. Hawley and
Hart were willing to work every day, but their arms were not.

Scrounging for pitching, Mack demonstrated traits that remained char-
acteristic of him throughout his career. He seemed to know what was hap-
pening on ball fields all over the country. He wrote letters and gave ama-
teurs a chance to show what they could do. At home or on the road, during
spring training or winter vacations, even on the morning of an opening
day, he always made time to sit and pen longhand letters to family, friends,
fans, former players, scouts, job seekers—in vast numbers of each category.
Everybody he knew became an informal scout for him or was pressed into
service by him.

On May 27 he sat in his office and wrote on club stationery to Bill “Doc”
Thompson, a resident of nearby Sharon, Pennsylvania, who had pitched 3
innings for the Pirates in 1892.
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Dear Doc:

As you, Doc, no doubt are a little interested in the Pittsburghs, would
like to ask a favor of you. Have heard such good reports of Gussie
Gannon, the Sharon pitcher, that I would like to give him a trial. And
if you will kindly speak to him in our favor, will be very thankful to
you. Would like to hear from you on what you think of him.

“Address me at Willard Hotel, Washington. See you are having
pretty good games. Remember me to Harry, and I hope you will meet
with good success.

Sincerely, /s/ Connie Mack

Doc Thompson sent Gannon, a twenty-one-year-old left-hander, to
Mack. He pitched in one game, giving up 1 run on 7 hits and 2 walks in 5
innings, then was farmed out to Syracuse. He never made it back. Gannon
died at ninety-two with that one pitching line to immortalize him in the
record books, thanks to Mack’s letter. Gannon’s son and nephew became
Catholic priests, early members of an eventual army of ordained bird dogs
for Connie Mack.

In the middle of a heat wave that caused twelve deaths, the Pirates
went to Brooklyn on June 1 in first place, 2 games ahead of the Reds. At
Eastern Park that afternoon Colcolough was pounded, but Mack demon-
strated that he knew the rules better than the umpire and saved them from
a loss. After Patsy Donovan doubled in the third inning, a brief shower
delayed the game. When play resumed after fifteen minutes, Donovan
left the bench and ran out to second base. As Brooklyn pitcher Brickyard
Kennedy prepared to pitch to the next batter, center fielder Mike Griffin
ran to the pitcher’s box, took the ball from Kennedy, ran to second base
and tagged Donovan. He claimed the runner was out for failing to retouch
first base before returning to second. Umpire Jeremiah Murray agreed and
called Donovan out. This precipitated a “lively tilt” around home plate.
Mack argued in vain that the decision was contrary to the rules. He then
announced that he was playing the game under protest. The league upheld
the protest, Murray admitted his mistake, and the game was replayed.

But that didn’t save Colcolough. He was shipped off to Syracuse, never
to return to Pittsburgh.

Connie Mack was an aggressive player. He never avoided a confronta-
tion at home plate and applied a firm tag in a collision. He encouraged his
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players to play the game the same way. They did, earning such notoriety for
it that when they went a few weeks without sparking a single hot exchange,
the Post found it appropriate to comment on June 3, “It is a noteworthy
fact that not a cry of ‘dirty ball’ was used against the Pittsburghs on the
eastern trip.”

That soon changed. On Saturday, June 8, in New York, an incident
resulted in what Mack later called the death knell of his season. Killen was
pitching when the Giants loaded the bases in the fifth inning. Shorty Fuller
popped up behind second base. Bierbauer dropped the ball.

New York Herald writer O. P. Caylor, who seemed to delight in look-
ing for—or creating—openings to take a shot at Connie Mack, wrote this
account:

“Farrell scored and Wilson reached the plate as the throw came in.
[Catcher] Sugden muffed it. Killen, the pitcher, putting into practice
Pittsburgh’s ‘dirty’ system of play, ran up to the plate and threw himself at
Wilson trying to block him until Sugden got the ball. Wilson slid feet first
and Killen was spiked in the ankles. Killen turned and kicked Wilson as he
lay upon the ground. As Wilson got to his feet the bully struck at him. The
police came onto the field and stopped it.”

In other descriptions of the play, the throw from Bierbauer was wild
and rolled to the grandstand. When Sugden chased after it, Killen ran in
to cover the plate. “Wilson could have walked in but slid instead,” read one
report. “In doing so he spiked Killen and pushed him aside.”

Killen had to leave the game. He made one more start, on June 12 in
Baltimore, winning 5—1. Then his wounds became infected. The dye in his
socks got into his blood, causing blood poisoning, a common hazard in
the days before white sanitary socks. He went into a hospital that night for
what became a seven-week stay.

Strapped again for pitching, Mack was also dissatisfied with his catch-
ers. Seeking a better hitter, he traded pitcher Ad Gumbert to Brooklyn for
Tom Kinslow, a .300 hitter who batted 1.000 in the elbow-bending league.
Mack knew what he was getting but hoped to bring about the catcher’s
reformation. It didn’t work. When Kinslow missed a game and showed up
the next day with a first-class hangover, Mack fined him $50. In late May
Kinslow, whose home was in Washington, asked for a day off when the
Pirates were in the capital. When he didn’t show up the next day, Mack
suspended him.

Connie Mack would try to effect a wayward player’s reform for just
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so long. If it didn’t happen, he’d give up. After he reinstated Kinslow, the
Pirates were at home for a game against Louisville on Saturday, June 22. At
game time Mack looked for Kinslow in the dressing room. There he found
a messenger boy carrying a note from Kinslow for one of the players, asking
that his uniform be packed and sent to him. Mack took the note and wrote
on the back that Kinslow needn’t worry about his uniform as the club did
not intend to take him with it to Chicago that night. Kinslow showed up
at the railroad station, contrite and promising to reform. Mack sent him
packing, fined him $100, and suspended him again. (Kinslow drank him-
self out of the league and died at thirty-five.)

Mack paid the Reds $500 for Billy Merritt, a catcher who had been with
the Pirates briefly in 1894. The five-foot-seven fireplug joined the Pirates
in Chicago. “I now have a catcher,” said Mack, “but where am I to get a
pitcher?” With Killen out, Mack no longer went behind the plate. Sugden
and Merritt split the duties the rest of the year.

Once again scouring the sandlots, Mack came up with a twenty-year-old
law student, Jim Gardner, who agreed to pitch but refused to travel. Using
him only at home, Mack wrung 8 wins out of his 10 starts.

His pitching staff still “shot to pieces,” Mack turned again to Harry
Jordan, the semipro pitcher he had used once at the end of the 1894 sea-
son. The Pittsburghs were about to depart on July 1 for a three-game series
in Cleveland. Jordan became the main character in one of Connie Mack’s
favorite stories.

Going over on the train I began to realize what was in store for Jordan.
I knew that Tebeau, O’Connor, and the others would ride him so
unmercifully, in two innings he would be a wreck. I hit on a scheme. I
called Jordan over to my seat in the car and told him that he must act
as if he were deaf and dumb.

“When you get on the field, don’t say a word to anybody, and don’t
pay any attention to anybody who talks to you. Be a deaf mute.”

Then I informed my players of the plan and they agreed to cooper-
ate. Tebeau knew I was short of pitchers and when Jordan started to
warm up [on July 3], Tebeau came over to me and asked who he was.
I quickly told him he was a semipro named Jordan who unfortunately
was deaf and dumb, and that sad affliction would probably prevent
him from ever making good in the majors. Pat swallowed my words
and went back to the Cleveland bench and told his players that I was
pitching a dummy that day.
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One of the players did not hear Pat. In the first inning he started to
yell at Jordan. Jack O’Connor was coaching and yelled to the razzer,
“Don’t waste your breath. That guy is deaf and dumb.” After that not
one word was hurled at Jordan for the rest of the game. I would like to
say that Jordan won his game but he did not, but he gave a good per-
formance. [Three errors cost him a 5—4 loss.] There was no rout and
our prestige did not suffer. Had they known he could hear they would
have razzed him out of the game in three innings.

Jordan lost his only other start, 10—7, before returning to the semipro
ranks, where Connie Mack left him undisturbed thereafter.

Throughout June and July the Pirates commanded front page space in
the Pittsburgh newspapers as they battled Boston and Baltimore for first
place. The team’s success didn’t keep Captain Kerr from sticking in his two
cents’ worth of advice. Mack yearned for a team of clear-headed, quick-
thinking, fleet-footed, innovative players who could take advantage of an
opponent’s mistakes and sometimes force them. He favored the use of
deftly placed bunts, the hit and run, double steals, and squeeze plays. But
he didn’t have the horses.

One day Captain Kerr asked him why his team couldn’t play like the
Baltimore Orioles, the exemplars of Mack’s kind of baseball. Mack replied,
“We don’t have the kind of players to do such things. We have only two fast
men on our team and not many of them can bunt.”

Kerr wasn’t satisfied with that explanation, so Mack said, “All right, I will
try it this afternoon.”

Mack told his boys they were going to play that afternoon the way
McGraw, Keeler, Jennings, and company played—lots of bunting and hit-
and-run plays.

“They all laughed at me,” he recalled, “and I couldn’t help smiling myself.
In the first inning we put on the hit and run. The batsman didn’t get the
sign from the man on first and the latter was caught ten feet at second. We
kept on this way but never got anywhere. Some of our men couldn’t bunt
and popped up or were so slow that they were easily thrown out when they
bunted correctly.

“President Kerr never made any suggestions about the Baltimore style of
play after that wretched afternoon.”

Pitching the arm off Pink Hawley, who worked 444 innings in 50 starts
while batting .308, Mack kept his Pirates in or near first place. Every time
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they slipped to second or third, the knockers’ voices rose with cries of “same
old Pirates.” They had seen so many failures, they knew that no matter how
well the team was going, the good times would fade before the autumn
leaves began to fall.

The Pirates awoke in first place for the last time on August 9. By the end
of the month they had fallen to sixth, and on September 3 a 10-5 loss at
Philadelphia bumped them into the second division.

It’s difficult to reconcile the later image of Connie Mack that remains
engraved in the public mind—the dignified, kind, soft-spoken, Grand Old
Man of baseball, all of which he surely became—with the sharp-tongued,
hot-headed young manager of the 1890s, which he just as surely was.

Despite revisionists’ efforts to paint them otherwise, Mack’s teams were
never milquetoasts. He might urge them not to “get personal,” but other-
wise he tolerated far rougher language than he used himself. Over the years
he employed some of the most celebrated and vocal bench jockeys in the
business. Nor were his own volleys and fits of temper confined to the “gosh
and golly” school of expression. His family finds it hard to believe, because
he never swore in their presence, but he could rival any mule skinner or
dockworker when his fuse was lit. Blowing off steam when the pressure
built probably helped him stay healthy and aided his longevity in a job that
could churn holes in a man’s innards.

This seemingly dichotomous personality is common among athletes,
coaches, and managers. Away from the field they might be the sweetest gen-
tlemen, while on the field or diamond they could become raving maniacs.

From the coaching box or bench, Mack applied the needle as implacably
as John McGraw. In a game on May 21, Mack rode Washington third base-
man Bill Joyce and shortstop Danny Coogan so hard that Joyce booted all
three balls hit to him and Coogan made three errors in Pittsburgh’s 10—7
win. Only 4 of the 17 runs were scored as earned. To rattle a pitcher, Mack
danced up and down the third base line, yelling, “He can’t get ’em over. He
can’t get ’em over.”

One day in a game against Washington, Mack was coaching at third base.
The Senators’ battery was McJames pitching and McCauley catching. Pat
Donovan hit a high pop-up over McJames’s head. As the pitcher waited
for it to come down, Mack hollered, “McCauley’s ball. McCauley’s ball.”
McJames backed away, and the ball fell on the ground as Donovan crossed
first base.

Mack was never an umpire baiter in the McGraw or Earl Weaver style,
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but he could explode when he thought a call was really bad. (The quality of
umpiring in those days was uneven at best. Jeremiah Murray needed more
postgame police escorts than a president and didn’t return the next year,
although he later worked in the league again. Another ump, William Betts,
resigned in June after every club except the Pirates complained about him.
He also returned.)

In September 1895, his team rapidly collapsing in the standings and frus-
trated by the poor umpiring, Connie Mack blew his cork high enough to
be thrown out of a game for the only time in his long managing career. In
later years he was not reluctant to talk about it. Each time he was asked if
he was ever ejected from a game, he’d reply, “Yes, once”; admit that he had
“raised an awful holler”; describe the incident; then add proudly, “And they
had to call the cops to put me out.”

It happened on Friday, September 6, at the Polo Grounds, where he often
had troublesome encounters. The Pirates were winding up a disastrous
road trip, in which they had fallen to eighth place. Disappointed over the
shambles the season had become, Mack was tired, overworked, and sorely
vexed. The umpire was Hank O’Day, Mack’s erstwhile ill-tempered battery
mate in Washington, who was once characterized by Tim Murnane of the
Boston Globe as “honest but loses his head too easily.”

The score was 3—3 in the last of the fifth. The Giants’ George Davis led off
with a drive to right field that Patsy Donovan ran down as Davis headed
for second. Donovan had a strong arm and quick release. He fired the ball
right to the bag where O’Day, the lone umpire, had hustled to make the
call. O’Day signaled Davis safe.

The New York Times reported, “The ball and the runner both reached the
bag within an infinitesimal fraction of a second of each other.”

But the way Mack saw it, Davis was out by ten feet.

The writers, sitting at tables directly behind home plate in the first row,
could see and hear everything that followed. The small crowd on hand
didn’t make enough noise to muffle Mack’s high-pitched New England
twang. O. P. Caylor of the Herald described it as he saw and heard it:

From the stands it looked as if [Davis] was out, but O’Day was right
at the base when the play was made and he declared Davis safe. This
decision aroused the wrath of manager Connie Mack. . . . And he
began to hurl all sorts of epithets at O’Day, calling the latter a dirty
robber and names not quite so mild. This he kept up for some time,
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until at last, as O’Day asserts, Mack applied a name to him which is
unprintable. It must have been something unusually provoking, for
O’Day turned a gray white in the face and walking toward the bench,
said, “That will cost you a hundred, and it goes, too.” Mack immedi-
ately got back in a vigorous manner. Then O’Day said, “Now you get
off the field.” Mack refused to go, whereupon O’Day summoned an
officer and ordered Mack removed. The officer could do nothing with
Mack and he refused to move. Two other patrolmen came up and the
Pittsburgh manager was led by them as far as the diamond, where he
agreed to go without further force. He did not go, however, until he
walked up to O’Day and lashed him with language which could not be
repeated in polite society.

“Mack retired from the field amid the jeers of the spectators,” reported
the Times.

When the game resumed, two singles, an error, and a passed ball pro-
duced 3 runs for a 6—3 New York lead. The Pirates tied it in the eighth, but
another double by Davis drove in the winning run in the ninth.

The Pittsburghs finished seventh, just 2 games out of fourth and 17
behind the champion Orioles, with a respectable 71-61 record. “Had I won
that pennant,” Mack mused years later, “it would have made me a real big
shot in Pittsburgh, for, with the exception of 1893, Pirate fans had known
nothing but second-division baseball.”

In the end it was the hitting, not the pitching, that hurt them. Their
pitching was the third best, behind Baltimore and Cleveland, but their
runs scored were the third lowest in the league. For Captain Kerr and his
partners, the disappointment over the late-season slide was soothed by the
harvest of the most profitable season in franchise history. Even the $5,000
annual rental they paid for Exposition Park was partially covered by rent-
ing it out to college football teams in the fall.

All of that put nothing in Connie Mack’s heart or pocket. His reward
was a hearty handshake. On October 8, before leaving for home, he signed
another contract for $2,400, payable in monthly installments on the last
day of each month beginning April 1, 1896, with the usual ten days’ notice
of release clause.
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Connie Mack couldn’t wait to begin planning for the 1896 season. Baseball
was now his entire life. He was one of those people blessed by knowing
exactly what he wanted to do with his life and being able to do it. He loved
the cycle of the seasons: fall and winter meetings and scouting and dealing
for players who might help him build a winner; spring training and the
evaluation of his boys; the strategy involved in the playing of the games;
even the season-long travel. He racked up more miles in Pullman compart-
ments than anyone in the game and never tired of it.

His work was in Pittsburgh now. He spent two months in East Brookfield
with his children, his brothers, and his mother and returned to the city
shortly after Christmas, prompting the Sporting Life correspondent to
comment, “I don’t know how the young ladies in New England, especially
one, will take the veteran’s ruthless departure.”

This ofthand reference to a special romantic interest may have been a
fanciful stab at gossip by the writer. If such a “special one” existed, the name
never surfaced, and nothing came of it. Some current East Brookfield resi-
dents talk of hearingstories of ancestral females having “dated Connie Mack,”
but no evidence could be found to confirm any serious involvement.

Once, more than fifty years later, Connie Mack alluded to his love life—or
lack of same—during those years. The Philadelphia Athletics were staying
at the Del Prado Hotel in Chicago. Two young pitchers discovered that
the way the hotel was built, they could look into other rooms from their
own. One night these two Romeos saw a silhouette of a woman undressing
behind a drawn curtain. They checked out the room number, picked up
the phone, and invited the woman for “a party.”

When they told her they were ballplayers with the Athletics, she said, “If
my husband were alive he would come over there and shoot you both. But
Mr. Mack will hear about this.”
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The woman, who was in her seventies, was true to her word. The next
morning the team was summoned to a meeting in a mezzanine conference
room. Mack, sputtering and fuming, his false teeth clacking, said, “There was
a time when I was unmarried for eighteen years. In that whole time I never
had anything to do with a woman. But you fellows—you fellows—the train
isn’t even out of the depot and you guys are off looking for something.”

“And he was right,” added Ferris Fain, MacKk’s first baseman at the time,
as he related this story. “He knew what he was talking about.”

Connie Mack was never a womanizer, but he was certainly no monk. He
had been a dutiful and fertile husband and would be again. But during his
thirties and early forties he was completely and happily immersed in being
a baseball manager, which, for him, included the duties of a modern gen-
eral manager, traveling secretary, and scouting director.

Though he gave a warm welcome to everyone who approached him, he
was basically shy and reserved. His manner was dignified but not aloof.
He was no back slapper or hugger, not demonstrative, but a gentleman at
all times. He never saw himself as a matinee idol or magnet for women,
even though ballplayers attracted as many female admirers then as they
do today. Mack was sensitive about his long, skinny build and large feet. A
Milwaukee Journal item in 1897 said, “Manager Mack states that the gentler
sex have no attraction whatever for him. Furthermore, he often says, ‘What
if they did? It would do no good, for when ladies see me in a baseball suit
it is all over with me.”

But off the field Connie Mack made a handsome appearance, his thin
frame erect; his face a little fuller, with a deep crease down his cheeks when
he smiled; heavy, dark, straight eyebrows over his pale blue eyes; curly
black hair neatly combed. An immaculate dresser, he was seldom seen in
anything but a stiff-collared white shirt, tie, and three-piece suit, straw hat
with dark band in summer, and derby after Labor Day.

Despite his disclaimers, Mack was by no means oblivious to women. He
enjoyed the theater and vaudeville and always had an eye for a good looker.
One day when he was close to ninety, he was riding in a car with his son-in-
law, Jim Nolen. They stopped at a red light. Both men stared at a pretty girl
standing on the corner. When Jim glanced at him, Mack smiled and said,
“When you stop looking, you're dead.” Near the end of his life a showgirl
or chorus line would hold his attention as he peered at the small television
screens of the 1950s. His favorite actress was Sheree North, a blonde bomb-
shell on some early Tv shows.
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Mack was blessed with a natural metabolism that allowed him to eat
whatever he wanted without gaining weight. He indulged his sweet tooth
with candy, ice cream, blueberry pie. His eating habits were simple. He
usually ate a big breakfast. A few crackers and a glass of milk would suffice
for lunch. On the road he might enjoy a hearty dinner or settle for a bowl
of corn flakes. As much or as little as he ate, he rarely varied from the 160
he weighed when he was thirty-three.

Back in Pittsburgh in January with nothing but baseball on his mind,
Mack shored up his infield. His pitching had ranked third in the league in
’95, but the team had been tenth in runs scored. The offense needed beef-
ing up. Dealing with the St. Louis Browns’ Teutonic trio of von der Ahe,
Diddlebock, and Muckenfuss—owner, manager, and secretary—he sent
them Monte Cross and pitcher Billy Hart for his former third baseman,
Denny Lyons, a boozer he tried in vain to reform, and shortstop Bones Ely,
who was almost as tall and thin—and as old—as Mack.

He wrote a letter to each of his twenty players, urging them to report in
good condition at Hot Springs in March. Most of them did. Frank Killen,
completely recovered from his 1895 injury, and four others went to the spa
on their own in February.

While most first-class hotels still turned away baseball teams, a few
were beginning to pursue the business. Mack received bids from several
Hot Springs hostelries, which were accustomed to housing gamblers and
criminal types taking the mineral waters, enjoying the racetrack and other
games of chance, or just lying low. To the innkeepers, ballplayers were no
lower on the social ladder. The completion of the Diamond Joe Railroad
line to St. Louis had led to a construction boom, and there were plenty of
rooms to be filled. But Mack was dismayed to learn that he would have to
share the local park with the Cleveland Spiders.

On Wednesday evening, March 9, a crowd of enthusiastic Pirates’ rooters
gathered at the depot to bid farewell to Mack and nine players. The man-
ager made a few remarks of an optimistic nature, as familiar and welcome
a sign of spring as the robin’s song, and they boarded the 8:50 train for
St. Louis. There they were to be joined by pitchers Pink Hawley and Jim
Hughey, an acquisition from the Western League. Only Hawley showed up.
Hughey asked for a salary that Mack considered so unreasonable, he wired
the hurler “an emphatic declination.”

They arrived in Hot Springs on March 11 and planned to play their first
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practice game against the Spiders the next morning. But when they woke
up, it was snowing. The ground was as white as the city they had left a few
days earlier. Some of the players spent the day simmering in the baths.
Others played whist.

They spent only a few days in Hot Springs before embarking on a two-
week barnstorming trek in hopes of covering expenses. This was Captain
Kerr’s idea. Mack would have preferred to stay put and let all his men see
some action every day. He sent no glowing reports to Kerr, considering it a
worthless, premature exercise. Nor would he make any predictions for the
coming season. “It will be settled on the diamond in due course,” was his
unsatisfying reply to reporters’ prodding.

The Pirates’ itinerary followed that of the Baltimore Orioles by a few
days. Just before they were scheduled to play at Danville, Virginia, on April
6, Mack learned that the Orioles had drawn a large crowd but reaped small
receipts. The bulk of the spectators watched from nearby housetops, sheds,
trees, and wide gaps in the outfield fence. Mack was unperturbed, taking a
view now long out of fashion that “people are not to be blamed for refusing
to pay to see a league team practice.”

They drew enough paying customers on the tour to show a spring train-
ing profit, the only time, Mack said later, that he could recall doing so.
They enjoyed fine weather and good reviews, reporters commenting that
the Pittsburgh players “are the most gentlemanly seen in the south this
spring”

On paper, the 1896 Pirates were the strongest team ever seen in Pittsburgh.
Cleveland manager Patsy Tebeau told writers that when he saw Mack’s
pitchers in Hot Springs, he was convinced they were all first-rank stars. But
they started the season as though they were still working the winter kinks
out of their systems. It didn’t take long for the cranks to begin growling,
especially the gamblers who expected them to perform up to their pre-
season billing. The hitting and fielding were strong, but the pitching was
sour, either inspiring or strengthening Mack’s often cited contention that
pitching was 70 percent of the game.

With Killen his only effective pitcher, Mack either persuaded Jim Hughey
to come down in his demands or rescinded his “emphatic declination”
of Hughey’s terms. The big right-hander from Michigan arrived, but his
debut was an unimpressive 8—o drubbing by the Orioles.

Pink Hawley was especially inconsistent, except in the late innings, when
he was consistently hit hard. On May 9 at home against Washington, he

Fired 123



blew up under a blistering roasting from third base coach Scrappy Bill
Joyce. “I knew I could twist Hawley,” Joyce said. “I simply told him he was
too pretty to pitch. His red silk sweater would match a pair of bloomers
better than a pitcher’s box. Hawley is a good fellow, but you can get his
wheels working by joshing him.”

Hawley hit 5 batters that afternoon, 2 of them in Washington’s 11-run
seventh inning. (The Senators’ Win Mercer hit 3, including Hawley once.)
Connie Mack had Frank Killen warming up and ready, but when Mack
ordered Hawley to depart, Pink threw down the ball and refused to leave.
“Come out of that box, Hawley,” Mack yelled again as he ran out and led
the steaming pitcher away.

The Pirates were in sixth place with an 18 14 record on the morning of
June 1 when the Post reported the following:

As far as manager Mack is concerned, he is just as popular now as he
ever was, possesses the confidence of the patrons as well as the officials
of the club. He said last night that he will continue to manage the club
according to plans laid out by him at the beginning of the season. The
unexpected weakening of the pitchers he had not bargained for, but
is certain they will round to in a short time. The only worry he feels
on account of the poor record of the team is because it has a tendency
to keep the attendance down and cause the team to take in less at the
gate than if the team was winning right along. As for the outcome of
the race for the pennant he has no fears. The team is as strong as any
in the league and is bound to be off in the leaders at the finish.

Connie Mack’s players were not as rowdy a gang of umpire abusers as
the Orioles, but they were close. And Mack was right there with them.

On June 3 at Baltimore the Pirates were riding home plate umpire
George Weidman all afternoon. Frank Killen was pitching. He didn’t agree
with any of the ump’s calls. Once Elmer Smith caught a fly ball in left field
and threw it into the bleachers in protest of the ump’s calls. These were the
days when one ball often made it through an entire game. Players didn’t
nonchalantly throw them to the fans. When a new ball was put into play,
Killen angrily ground it into the dirt.

“Weidman seemed unable to control the Pittsburgs at all,” wrote the
Baltimore Sun reporter.

In the fourth inning, when Weidman called ball four on the Baltimore
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batter, pitcher Bill Hoffer, the Pirates’ infield stormed toward the plate.
Third baseman Denny Lyons grabbed the umpire and shook him while
Connie Mack and the other players berated him.

It was customary for the home plate umpire to use the mask of the
catcher whose team was at bat. When the inning ended, Mack’s catcher, Joe
Sugden, started to hand his mask to Weidman. Mack ran out and snatched
it out of the umpire’s hands and carried it back to the bench while the
crowd booed and hissed him. Baltimore catcher Wilbert Robinson pro-
vided the ump with a mask so the game could continue.

“This childish act was not characteristic of Connie Mack,” the Sun com-
mented. But it was. His temperament had not cooled completely. When it
came to base-tossing and cap-kicking tantrums, once in a while he could
still throw one with the best of them.

After a 5-7 eastern trip, the Pirates were only 4%, games out of first place
but had slipped to seventh in the tight race. “Connie brought back with him
that cunning smile and a carpetbag full of confidence and good cheer,” the
Pittsburgh Press noted. “He had no kick to make other than that the club
had been up against some hard luck. He was honest enough to admit that
on one or two occasions bad playing had something to do with the losses.”

But the patrons were no longer laying off the manager. “The Pittsburgh
team is at present in very bad odor among certain people in Pittsburgh,”
wrote J. H. Gruber in the Post, “especially among the gamblers. The ‘knock-
ers, a term applied to those who blindly and ignorantly strike at the team,
have their innings good and hard at present, but they are in the dark and
blaze away without consideration. In seeking for a scapegoat they turn
upon manager Mack. Of course where a team is successful a manager
comes in for a large share of credit. Quite naturally, when a team loses, the
manager is bound to take his share of the blame. How Mack can be blamed
for losing six games last week is not very clear.”

Mack was doing all he could, on and off the field, to help the team with
his glove, bat, and head. He filled in at first base adeptly and caught occa-
sionally. On July 3 his quick thinking led to a run. In the top of the eighth
inning, the Reds had a man on first and Dummy Hoy at bat. As the run-
ner headed for second, Hoy, thinking he would be thrown out, jumped
in front of the catcher. He was called out for interference, but the runner
was allowed to remain at second. (The rules did not require the runner to
return to first.)

In the last of the eighth, the Pirates had Beckley on first. Mack was up.
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Trying to sacrifice him to second, Mack fouled off two bunts. He then
flashed Beckley the steal sign, jumped in front of the Reds’ catcher, and
walked off the field. He was out for interference, but it was as good as a sac-
rifice. Beckley was on second and scored the sixth run in the 6—3 win.

Oft the field Mack looked for a second baseman to replace the injured
Lou Bierbauer. More than a gloveman, he wanted somebody who could
spark the team. He brought back some players he had farmed out, but they
all proved to be wet flints. He scrambled to make deals wherever he could.
One of those deals lit a fire, but not the kind Mack had in mind.

First he picked up second baseman Harry Truby from Chicago. Truby
was a dud with the glove and the bat. On July 15 he made a deal with Al
Buckenberger, now managing Toronto, trading Truby for twenty-five-year-
old Dick Padden, who was hitting .275 but had never played in the majors.
Mack knew Padden’s reputation as a smart, quick, take-charge infielder
with solid baseball instincts. From his first day on the scene other manag-
ers noticed how Padden picked up the entire infield. They congratulated
Mack on his acquisition.

But Captain Kerr, who had not been consulted, was not impressed.
Padden started out 4 for 18, then went o for the remaining 4 games of
a home stand. When his horse collar grew to o for 21 in Chicago, Mack
received a telegram from Kerr: “Do you consider the player you got as good
as the one you gave up?”

Mack was infuriated. He considered the questioning of his trades as out-
right interference. It rankled him to have his baseball judgment second-
guessed by a coffee roaster. He walked to the telegraph office and fired off a
terse wire: “I told you so.” Kerr would know what he meant.

When he cooled off, he realized he had made a mistake. The club presi-
dent had every right to ask questions. But it was too late. Relations between
the manager and president became frosty.

It’s unknown if Mack said anything to Padden, but the second baseman
immediately got hot, making 7 hits in his next 12 at bats.

Meanwhile Jake Beckley was in a slump. The twenty-nine-year-old first
baseman, the team’s most popular player, was batting only .253, fifty points
below normal for him. Mack benched him for a while in July, playing first
base himself. He assured Beckley that it was only temporary. At the same
time, the upstairs experts were at work. One of the writers who had Kerr’s
ear persuaded the club president to get rid of Beckley before his hitting
fell off so much that the club would get little in return for him. Without
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informing Mack, Kerr traded Beckley to the Giants for first baseman—out-
fielder Harry Davis. New York sources said the Giants sweetened the deal
with $1,000 cash, which seems likely, considering that Beckley was a career
.300 hitter for nine years with the Pirates and Davis was a rookie.

The Giants were at Exposition Park for a doubleheader on Saturday,
July 25. The first game was in the third inning when Mack was notified of
the trade. When the inning ended, the six thousand spectators watched
in confusion as Mack ran out on the field and met Davis coming in from
left field. The two spoke briefly. Mack informed him of the trade, then
returned to the bench, where he informed Beckley. The angry first base-
man stormed into the dressing room, tore off his uniform, and changed
into street clothes. Mack picked up a glove and went out to play first base.

The trade was then announced to the crowd. When Davis next came to
bat for the Giants, he received a round of applause from the fans. (Davis has
been credited, incorrectly, with being the first player to be traded during a
doubleheader and play for both teams on the same day. Davis played both
games for New York that day, then left for Chicago with his new team.)

Mack told reporters he had nothing to do with making the trade. He
remained silent when people yelled at him from their windows, “Why did you
trade Jake Beckley?” as he walked home from Exposition Park. Beckley, who
played his way into the Hall of Fame during the next ten years in Cincinnati
and St. Louis, made no bones about his displeasure at being uprooted from
his home in Pittsburgh. He was no angrier over the deal than Connie Mack,
who felt betrayed but should not have been surprised. He had seen Al
Buckenberger and other managers treated the same way. Kerr may have been
peeved at Mack for vetoing an earlier trade that would have brought second
baseman John O’Brien from Louisville. He may have considered Mack’s tele-
gram impertinent and wanted to show him who was boss.

The bright side of the whole episode was that it introduced Mack to
Harry Davis, one of the smartest players he would ever know. Davis became
an immediate favorite with Pirates fans for his spectacular catches in the
outfield and nimble handling of ground balls and wild throws when he
played first base, though he batted only .190 in 44 games.

Connie Mack’s disposition frayed as the season went along. On September
5 in New York, the express man bringing the bats was arrested for blocking
a street. Mack learned about it two hours before game time. It was too late
to hunt up the lost bag of bats, so Mack went out and bought a dozen new
ones. Then the game was rained out.
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Feeling peckish, he began refusing to name his next day’s pitcher after
each game, even though Killen, Hawley, and Charlie Hastings were the only
ones starting regularly. Between injuries and poor play, by mid-August only
three regulars except for pitchers remained in the lineup from the opening
day roster: Patsy Donovan, Bones Ely, and Denny Lyons.

The newspapers generally continued to support Mack, but Kerr and
some of his directors no longer shared their enthusiasm. Had they not held
such great expectations in the spring, the looming sixth-place finish might
not have been so disappointing. A more chilling factor was the prospect of
a financial loss for the season.

Leaks from discontented directors reached the papers, prompting the
Press to write a lengthy defense of the manager on September 17:

The complaint has been made that manager Mack has been too
lenient with his players. But this generally comes from those with little
knowledge of the inside affairs of others’ clubs, and who see visiting
players only upon the diamond. Others in position to know can testify
to the fact that Mack’s men had a wholesome respect for his orders
and the instances in which they were violated were remarkably scarce
in comparison to other clubs. Another argument is that the best man-
agers are those disliked by their players. This theory has been knocked
out repeatedly. . . . Manager Mack understands the finer points of the
game and more of these have been worked than ever before. When
Mack took hold of the team, Donovan and Smith were supposed to be
the only men who could bunt. Now every member of the club is likely
to tap the ball gently. The club would never have reached the first divi-
sion but for this teamwork.

Connie Mack was not surprised when Kerr called him into the office on
Monday, September 21, and told him the club had decided to change man-
agers. He turned down an offer to remain as a player-coach.

There are conflicting versions, some by Mack himself over the years, of
whether he jumped or was pushed. It may be that he had anticipated a push
and prepared a net to jump into. More than forty years later he confided to
Philadelphia Daily News columnist Bob Paul that being fired “sort of jolted
me. . .. It took a long time to forget how I felt when notified I was through.”

Yet Mack had been negotiating for some time with a minor league club,
Milwaukee of the Western League. The Pirates’ official announcement of
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the change said that Mack had resigned to accept the management of the
Milwaukee club. Mack admitted, “Several weeks ago the Milwaukee club
wrote me to ask my terms to manage that team next season. I forwarded
the terms and received word they would no doubt be accepted as soon as
the president of the club returned from Europe. I received a telegram yes-
terday that my terms were satisfactory, so I accepted the offer”

It’s likely that Ban Johnson, the ambitious, autocratic president of the
Western League, was aware of Mack’s problems in Pittsburgh and insti-
gated Milwaukee’s overtures. Mack had conferred with Johnson in the lat-
ter’s office in Chicago when the Pirates were there right after the Beckley
trade. Johnson told him the Milwaukee club was interested in him and
assured him that the owners would give him a free hand to run the team as
he saw fit. Mack said he wanted an ownership interest in the team. Johnson
saw that as no obstacle.

Patsy Donovan replaced Mack, who laid no blame for his departure
on the players and urged them to give Donovan their full support. While
the team headed for St. Louis to close the season, Mack went to Chicago,
where he met Henry Killilea at the Great Northern Hotel on the morn-
ing of September 23. A fellow Irishman, Killilea stood five-foot-ten and
was a stocky, soft-spoken man with a full brush mustache. He and his
brother and law partner, Matthew, controlled the Milwaukee club. The two
men took an immediate liking to each other. Discussing the Milwaukee
players, Mack suggested that some of them might do better in different
positions from where they were playing, which surprised Killilea. “He
knew each man’s capabilities far better than I did,” Killilea told reporters
on his return home.

Mack assured Killilea that he was in good shape to share the catching
chores. They agreed on a $3,000 salary and 25 percent ownership in the
club. Killilea went back to Milwaukee, and Mack went to St. Louis to watch
the final game of the season and wish his old team well. The players’ respect
for Mack was expressed when a group of them went to a jewelry store and
bought a watch charm, which they presented to him at an exhibition game
scheduled the day after the season ended.

Connie Mack was highly regarded around the National League and could
have had another major league managing job. Half the clubs in the league
would hire new managers for the 1897 season. A year later he was visiting in
Pittsburgh and called in at the Pirates’ office. Kerr greeted him warmly and
admitted that he had made a mistake in letting Mack get away.
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But Connie Mack considered himself a failure as a manager. He had been
unable to control his men or his temper to his own satisfaction. As a player,
he might shake his head in disgust or bewilderment at the self-destructive
nocturnal habits of his teammates, but they had not been his responsi-
bility. Now they were, and his attempts to change them had not worked,
despite what friendly reporters said about his “gentlemanly” players. Tact
and diplomacy did not come easily to him. His knockers among the club’s
directors drove him to a snappishness that those who later portrayed him
as the saintly icon of baseball would have called “uncharacteristic.” On the
contrary, this was a basic part of his character that, tempered and less fre-
quently displayed as the years passed, could still erupt in the form of scath-
ing sarcasm or fury.

He was like fine wine: sharp in youth, mellowing with age, never losing
piquancy.

At thirty-three, Connie Mack had reached half the life expectancy of
white males his age. He was no longer young for baseball or any other
occupation. But he didn’t consider going to the minor leagues as a step
backward in his career. He always took a long-range view and believed he
needed the experience.

“I went to the minors on my own volition,” he told writer Henry Beach
Needham fifteen years later. “I wanted to learn how to handle men.”
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‘ 14 | MILWAUKEE

When Henry Killilea hired Connie Mack to manage the Milwaukee Brewers,
he said, “You're in charge. Handle the club as if it belonged to you. Engage
the players you think will strengthen the team without consulting me or
any directors of the club.”

After his experience in Pittsburgh, Mack would have been justified in
feeling skeptical about these soothing words. This time they proved to be
true.

When the 1896 National League season ended, Mack took a group of
major leaguers, including some of the Pirates, barnstorming through Ohio.
In Cambridge a semipro pitcher named Jack Taylor held them to three
hits. Mack offered him a contract. According to a Pittsburgh writer, Taylor,
twenty-two, was unaware that Mack was no longer the Pirates’ manager.
He signed what he thought was a Pittsburgh contract. When they parted,
Mack said, “I'll look for you in Milwaukee about April 20.”

“Milwaukee?” said the surprised Taylor.

Mack explained the situation to Taylor’s satisfaction.

Back in East Brookfield he wrote letters to minor league free agents and
National League teams who might have some surplus players. He followed
up on every tip he received and every item he read in Sporting Life or New
England newspapers citing some outstanding amateur prospect.

His sons, Roy and Earle, now nine and six, went to the same grammar
school he had attended. Mack was there to celebrate Marguerite’s fourth
birthday in November and Earle’s on February 1. These were big events.
Mary Mack baked fancy cakes and invited their friends to the parties. Mack
left the disciplining of his children to his mother, who ruled with a firm but
kind hand and tried to keep them out of trouble.

“She never judged a person wrong in her life,” Lieb quoted her grandson
Earle. “When I was a kid I used to like to bring some of the gang home for
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dinner, maybe five or six of them. It always was all right with Grandmom.
She used to sit and talk with us, but maybe two or three days later she
would say, ‘Earle, I wouldn’t waste too much time on that one, or, ‘Earle,
so-and-so is a mighty nice boy; he’ll make a wonderful friend” And every
time she had them exactly right.”

Mack’s brother Dennis lived on the other side of town. He, more than any
of them, had inherited their father’s thirst. For the rest of his life he invested
most of his income in liquid assets. When his wife Annie bemoaned her lot
to her family, the Monahans told her simply, “You made your bed, now lie
in it” And she did, with a capacity to endure misery that was rooted in a
thousand years of Irish tears.

To help her financially, Mary Mack paid Annie to do her family’s laundry.
Annie, a solid five-foot-two and 160 pounds, scrubbed and ironed while
raising her three children, who would soon number four and eventually six.
Her eight-year-old daughter Hazel and Hazel’s little brother Harold had
the chore of carrying the wash basket up and down Main Street between
the two houses, past the inquisitive eyes and wagging tongues of the whole
town. The humiliation seared Hazel with a lifelong hatred of the place.

Roy and Earle played with their cousin Harold, swimming in the lakes
and ponds that were rapidly becoming polluted by the surrounding facto-
ries and mills.

Connie Mack left for Milwaukee in early February and took up residence
at the Republican House Hotel on the corner of North Third and West
Cedar (now Kilbourn Street), two blocks from the Milwaukee River. Built
in 1886 by Charles Kletzsch, who managed the bustling enterprise with his
wife and four children, the four-story hotel featured ornate towers, balco-
nies, fire escapes, and the extravagant gingerbread ornamentation of the
Victorian era. One of the sons designed and installed the latest in-house
electric lighting plant.

The ground floor public rooms included a plush, elegant ladies’ parlor
and a dining room and bar finished in dark wood paneling. Mrs. Kletzsch’s
German cooking drew many of the city’s most prosperous burghers to
the premises for her fifty-cent multicourse lunches and more elaborate
dinners.

During his four years in Milwaukee, Connie Mack occupied room 183,
which a visitor once described as containing “baseball lore and correspon-
dence to a sufficient extent to fill a city library.”

From the benches in front of the Republican House, where Mack often
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sat on a summer’s evening, he could see Usinger’s sausage factory up the
block on Third Street and the City Hall with its greened copper bell tower
roof. The bell that rang every hour is still in use today, though it no longer
peals hourly. Whenever he appeared on a bench or in the hotel lobby, Mack
attracted writers, fans, and players. As if holding court, he told stories, dis-
cussed inside baseball, and answered questions with unfailing courtesy and
patience. But he refused all invitations to accompany his audience to the
bar, partly because he agreed with Ban Johnson’s belief that baseball was
vulnerable to fans” perceptions. Be seen in a saloon one night, make an
error on the field the next day, and you were pegged as a drunkard. There
were more than enough players and managers who merited that label with-
out anyone else innocently acquiring it.

One evening Mack was asked, “Are games ever thrown or sold? The
home clubs seem to win most of the games. Is there an agreement to let the
home club win?”

Mack said, “I know people have been inclined to believe such a theory
this year, and in fact I believe that such a thing could have been done in
years past, for financial reasons. But of course it is ridiculous to think that
such a plan could be carried out. Supposing that the managers of two teams
should stipulate that a game was to go to a certain one of the teams. The
managers cannot win nor lose a game. That lies entirely with the players.
Should we try to force the players into such a trickery, we would soon lose
their respect and our authority over them as a manager, and baseball parks
would become more degraded than a gambling dive.”

“Don’t you think that Baltimore threw games last year?” he was asked.

“No. Baltimore won every game it was possible to win. No professional
ball team in any of the major leagues has ever sold a game. It would not be
to their advantage to do so for the reason I have given.”

Mack’s baseball travels had never taken him to Milwaukee. The city had
spent only one year, 1878, in the National League. It had hosted a nomadic
club for two weeks in the short-lived Union Association in 1884 and pinch
hit as a late-season replacement for the defunct Cincinnati club in the mor-
tally ill American Association in 1891. Otherwise it had been represented in
various minor leagues that operated beyond Mack’s circles.

In Milwaukee he found a city not only strange to him but to the rest of
the United States as well. Mack’s Yankee youth had taken place in an envi-
ronment predominantly Irish and French Canadian. Labeled the most for-
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eign city in the country, Milwaukee’s population, growing rapidly toward
three hundred thousand, was almost 75 percent German. The rest were
primarily Polish and Irish. There were fewer than one thousand black resi-
dents. At one time the city printed more German newspapers than English.
The German newspapers had problems translating some of the game’s
idioms. Home plate was “Schlagger’s stand,” and the battery consisted of
“Schleuderer und Fanger.” The ethnic makeup of the city was reflected in
its signs and advertisements: Meiselbach, Streisgutt, Zimmerman, Pabst,
Schlitz.

Milwaukee’s nickname of Cream City, by some accounts, came not from
the abundant foam on the heads in the beer steins but from the cream-
colored bricks made and used extensively in the city. It was a quiet city of
artisans and home owners who, one booster boasted, “can find more com-
fort and enjoyment than in most major cities.” By the mid-1890s breweries
had surpassed meatpacking and tanning as the city’s leading industry. In
1891 Pabst opened a pipeline from its cellar to its bottling operation, a proj-
ect that required congressional approval. Pabst now exported one million
barrels a year. The working man’s social life and much of the city’s busi-
ness was conducted around the many beer taps. Beer money underwrote
many of the city’s cultural attractions, from beer gardens and theaters
to public parks and the zoo. When the Stadt Theater dared to introduce
English plays into its repertory, Fred Pabst built his own grandiose show-
place, featuring electric chandeliers and a rooftop air-conditioning system,
exclusively for German-language productions. Pabst also built a lakefront
resort in Whitefish Bay, about eight miles north of downtown, which could
be reached by bicycle, horse and buggy, or the Bloomer Girl, an excursion
steamer on Lake Michigan. In 1888 the baseball team had been called the
Schnits—short beers.

Mack had his choice of two trolley lines, which would take him for five
cents to the ball grounds at Sixteenth and Lloyd Streets, or he could walk
the mile and a half, an easy outing for his fast-paced long strides.

Located in a residential neighborhood, the Lloyd Street grounds had been
built by the Killilea brothers in 1894. The pavilion was a handsome one-tier
structure with rooftop press facilities. The long team benches, resembling
park benches with slatted backs, sat about halfway between the grand-
stands and the foul lines in a vast expanse of foul territory. The bleach-
ers were Balkanized. The Irish congregated back of first base and cheered
enthusiastically whenever a fellow Hibernian came to bat. They reveled in
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having one of their own as the team’s new manager. The Germans, wear-
ing stovepipe hats and carrying large canes and umbrellas, sat behind third
base and cheered for their landsmen. When the five-cent scorecards, which
were printed in German and English, misspelled the name of the St. Paul
manager, whose father was a County Cavan man, as Comiski, he drew
cheers from the Poles in the bleachers while the Irish remained silent.

Connie Mack liked the city and the men with whom he was associated.
Like Mack, Henry Killilea and his brother Matthew were sons of Irish
immigrants. They were highly regarded corporate and criminal lawyers,
leaders in the local Democratic Party. Henry was married; Matthew was
single. A third major stockholder, meatpacker Fred C. Gross, was equally
amicable.

Mack quickly discovered that when Henry Killilea assured him that he
would be in charge of “everything,” he meant everything. Mack was the
field manager, business manager, general manager, scout, traveling sec-
retary, public relations director, and purchasing agent. He negotiated all
salaries and signed all contracts. He made the hotel and railroad arrange-
ments, booked exhibition games before and during the season, collected
the visitors’ share of the gate on the road, and paid it out at home. He did
all the buying and paid all the bills. He even had to choose the design for
the new uniforms, spending almost as much time examining swatches of
cloth from light green to black as anything else. It took him two months
to decide on light gray road uniforms with black caps, belts, and stockings,
and whites with blue trim for home use. He ordered fourteen of each. He
drew the line at selling the scorecards and beer. Having met Harry Stevens
in Pittsburgh, Mack asked him to come to Milwaukee and handle the con-
cessions. Stevens sent his sixteen-year-old son Frank instead. He told Frank,
“If you need any advice about anything, go to Connie Mack.”

“I did,” Frank said, “and never went wrong following the sound counsel
Connie gave me.”

Although he sometimes complained about the workload, Mack was
learning every phase of operating a baseball team. It was a priceless educa-
tion. “Countless problems arose and I taught myself how to meet them,”
he said. “It was a training that stood me in good stead when I organized
the Athletics in Philadelphia a few years later. I have always figured that my
decision to go to Milwaukee following my release in Pittsburgh was one of
the best moves I ever made.”

The Cream City club needed some positive public relations. The 1896
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season had ended in chaos. On September 3 the Grand Rapids Gold Bugs
failed to show up for a game at Milwaukee. When the gong sounded at 3:45
for the first batsman to take his place at the plate, nobody stood in. The
pitcher threw three strikes, the umpire forfeited the game, and the dis-
gusted customers went home.

The two teams were scheduled to play the next afternoon too. In the
morning the large white flag with a patch of red in the center, signifying
that a game was to be played that afternoon, flew from a staff atop the
dome of the Pabst Building. But the Gold Bugs still hadn’t arrived. About
a hundred people had gathered at the Lloyd Street grounds by three-thirty.
They found the gates padlocked. No players or club officials were in sight.
The dispirited fans wandered away muttering and griping. Among them
was a sportswriter for the Milwaukee Sentinel. Deprived of a few restful
hours at the ball game, he returned to his office and wrote, “Experience of
the past two days indicated a lack of system and a screw loose in the official
makeup of the Brewers which cannot be remedied too soon, if the manage-
ment expects to continue business at the old stand at a profit.”

The club reported a loss of $2,500 for the year, in which they finished
sixth, 16 games under .500. A bitter and unsuccessful strike in May by tran-
sit workers seeking a one-cent raise (to twenty cents an hour) was given
as one cause of the red ink. Competition from foot races was cited as
another factor. “But,” concluded the Milwaukee Journal, “the truth is the
fans became disgusted early in the season and remained that way most of
the time since.”

The Killilea brothers were counting on Connie Mack to restore the team’s
fortunes on the field and the good will of the baseball-crazy burghers.

Shortly after he arrived in Milwaukee, Mack was asked whether he had
made any arrangements to take advantage of his Pittsburgh connections
to obtain players on loan from the Pirates. The Western League consti-
tution prohibited any team from accepting players farmed out from the
National League unless the team kept the player for the entire season. The
disruptive major league practice of recalling star players in midseason at
its own discretion had long been a source of complaints by minor league
operators. John T. Brush, who owned both the Cincinnati Reds and the
Indianapolis club in the Western League, was notorious for shuffling play-
ers back and forth between his clubs, inspiring Sporting Life to call his
teams “Cincinnapolis.”

Mack, described as “a bitter opponent of the farming system,” answered,
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“President Kerr is in favor of such a plan, but I propose to have an honest
team. Farming practice may be a good thing for some minor league clubs,
but the National League manager usually gets the best of the minor pilot.”

In the mornings after breakfast Mack wrote letters to prospects and vet-
erans. He contacted National League teams, hoping for a first crack at their
castoffs. Mack retained impressions of everybody he had played with or
against during his thirteen years in professional baseball. He had formed
definite opinions of players who might help him win and indefinite ideas
of how he might reform those who partook too freely of the flowing
bowl. Every day’s mail brought requests for tryouts from sandlot players
throughout Wisconsin. He rounded up more players than he could possi-
bly use, intending to sort them out in the spring. He also heard from some
of the 1896 Brewers, assuring him of their diligent conditioning activities.
He seemed to be dickering for or actually signing enough men to field two
or three clubs.

One player he enticed to leave his Kansas farm was Farmer Weaver, the
man whose bat he had tipped once too often and earned a retaliatory crack
on the wrist for it.

His correspondence done, he worked on creating new plays. “He has
struck upon an excellent method of figuring out plays which is compara-
tively new;” the Journal reported. “It consists of the use of cards. . .. Mack
has been able to invent a number of deceiving tricks with which to fool the
Brewers” opponents during the coming season.”

How the cards entered into it was not explained. One of the new plays
was a pick-off move with runners on second and third. The catcher would
whip the ball to third; the third baseman would pay no attention to the
runner there but quickly relay the ball to second, hoping to catch the run-
ner off guard and too far off the bag.

In the evenings Mack enjoyed a full social life. He had his choice of
entertainment in the lively theater district a block away at Third and Wells,
from two-a-day vaudeville at the Alhambra to King Lear at the Davidson.
The Academy of Music and Gaiety also presented plays in English. Mack
bowled with a group calling itself the Quills. An ardent boxing fan, he was
keenly interested in the upcoming championship bout between Gentleman
Jim Corbett and Bob Fitzsimmons in Carson City, Nevada.

“If the fight lasts over 20 rounds,” Mack predicted, “Corbett will be a
sure winner. Corbett’s tactics are to wear the man out gradually and if Fitz
does anything, he will have to get in his work during the early stages of the
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game. However, I do not think that Fitzsimmons will be able to get a better
decision than a draw under any circumstances. Jim knows what he is doing
and would not enter a fight to lose.”

Mack’s ability to size up ballplayers was a little sharper; Fitzsimmons
knocked out Corbett in the fourteenth round. We don’t know if Mack put
any money where his mouth was.

Given the battling factions in the National League—a “big five” of
Boston, Brooklyn, Chicago, New York, and Philadelphia and a “little seven”
of the rest—and the erratic administration of the league, disputes over the
status of players were inevitable.

Mack hadn’t been in Milwaukee two weeks when he created a sensation
by announcing that he had paid about $1,000 for the contract of Duke
Esper, a twenty-eight-year-old southpaw who had been 14-5 for the cham-
pion Baltimore Orioles.

“Even Connie Mack himself says he cannot understand how he man-
aged to get Esper from Baltimore,” reported the Journal. But the mystery
of why Ned Hanlon would let Esper go or why the other National League
clubs would waive any claim to him, as Hanlon assured Mack was the case,
was of little interest to Cream City cranks. As far as they were concerned,
Connie Mack was “big league,” willing to spend what it took to give them
a winning team.

Duke Esper never pitched for the Brewers. St. Louis declared it had
claimed Esper on waivers. Mack discounted the announcement, displaying
for writers a telegram he had received from Hanlon on February 16: “Have
notified [NL president] Nick Young Esper released to Milwaukee.”

However, two weeks later Young announced that Esper had signed with
St. Louis, causing the Pittsburgh Press to comment, “President Young will
have difficulty explaining why Esper belonged to Milwaukee on February
16 and St. Louis on February 28.”

Young had no difficulty explaining it; he didn’t bother. Hanlon returned
Mack’s check with a letter that offered no explanation.

“The loss of Esper,” said the Journal, “well illustrates the great advantage
the major league clubs have over the minor league teams.”

Mack had other nettlesome negotiations. He traded third baseman
Fred Hartman—the same Fred Hartman he'd had and didn’t like at
Pittsburgh—to the Browns for infielder Bert Myers. A clubhouse lawyer at
twenty-two, Myers first claimed the deal was irregular. He tried to interest
Washington in signing him, then held out for $1,500. Mack’s highest offer
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was $1,200. For weeks Mack sent Myers contracts and instructions to meet
the club in St. Louis in early April. Myers returned them unopened.

Refuting the romantic myth that the old time players played “for the love
of the game, even if they had to pay their way in,” Myers told the Journal,
“It’s a business with me, and I'm only asking what’s due me.”

Mack stopped wasting postage on Myers, who eventually accepted the
reality that his hide belonged to Milwaukee, even if his heart didn’t, and he
had to play there or nowhere. He signed on Mack’s terms. Disgruntled by
being stuck in the minors, on the field he appeared to be going through the
motions and “moves around like an alderman,” said the Journal. Myers hit
the bottle more than the ball. Mack tolerated it, fining and suspending him
whenever he needed drying out. Then the repentant third baseman played
well until he fell off the wagon again. Mack was still learning how long to
be patient and when to give up.

Another headache for Mack concerned last year’s center fielder, George
Nicol. The speedy Nicol was popular in Milwaukee. He had been drafted
after the 1896 season by Philadelphia, which immediately transferred him
outright to Detroit in the Western League. When pressed for an explana-
tion, Phillies president A. J. Reach admitted that he had drafted Nicol at the
request and for the benefit of the Detroit club. Detroit president Vanderbeck
denied the story, calling Reach “an old grandmother. He did me up to the
queen’s taster. It was at his suggestion that Nicol was drafted, not mine.”

Nick Young said it was a common practice and not against the rules but
conceded that it was not right to draft a player from one club and lend him
to another in the same league. An arbitration board agreed and returned
Nicol to Milwaukee.

One prospect who got away was Louis Sockalexis, a Penobscot Indian
from Maine, who was attending Holy Cross College in Worcester. One of
Mack’s friends persuaded Sockalexis to play for Milwaukee, but Cleveland
manager Pat Tebeau offered him a bonus and he signed with the Spiders.

At 7 a.m. on Wednesday, March 31, Mack arrived at Union Station. He
and three players boarded a train for St. Louis, where the other players
were to meet them. Hoping to play a practice game every day from April 2
to opening day, Mack had scheduled games against the Browns, Louisville,
the black Chicago Unions and Page Fence Giants, and college and minor
league teams. He worked out with the players, taking all the sprints, shag-
ging flies in the outfield, and playing first base. He exercised his voice and
practiced his razzing routines in the third base coaching box.
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His first financial crisis occurred when most of the players showed up
broke. Their salaries didn’t begin until April 15, and the first payday wasn’t
until a month after that. Mack had to advance them money for ten-cent
cigars and other necessities.

After a spell of rain, a warm, clear day greeted the season opener at
Minneapolis. Nearly four thousand Milwaukeeans enjoyed a train excursion
across the state, only to see the Brewers lose, 8—6. Two days later they lost their
home opener, 11—4, to Minneapolis before ten thousand fans. (All attendance
figures were based on estimates, there being no turnstile counts reported.)

To replace the lost Duke Esper, Mack signed Arthur “Dad” Clarkson.
The thirty-year-old right-hander had pitched for the Browns and Orioles
when Mack was in Pittsburgh. Dressed more like a banker than a ball-
player, Clarkson joined Mack for walks from the hotel to the ballpark. The
two men in conservative three-piece suits would never have been taken
for the baseball “tramps and loafers” denounced by blue-nosed preachers.
Unfortunately, beneath the businessman’s garb, Clarkson fit the preachers’
concept of ballplayers. He never got into playing shape and was inconsis-
tent except in his drinking. In a 52 loss to Indianapolis, the Journal said,
he “grew weary of trotting terra firma in the seventh inning and took a bal-
loon ascension of such an altitude that when he redescended four of the
Farmers had crossed home plate.”

Mack released him in mid-June.

Looking for pitching help, he took a train to Chicago and persuaded
Colts manager Cap Anson to declare William “Adonis” Terry surplus. It
cost him $1,000 and proved to be a bargain. Terry, the handsomest man in
baseball, had won 20 games as a nineteen-year-old rookie with Brooklyn
in the American Association in 1884. Mack had caught him for two years in
Pittsburgh. Terry was Mack’s last “drinking buddy,” to stretch that term as
far as possible: the last drop of beer Mack could recall downing was when
he had drained a glass with his good-looking battery mate one night in
Pittsburgh.

Terry became an instant winner and crowd favorite. Whenever the
ex—big leaguers Terry and Mack were announced as being “in the points”
for a game, the Cream City fans overflowed the stands and lined the out-
field. As he piled up the victories, other teams in the league, anticipating
that Chicago would recall him, issued a reminder that under the anti-farm-
ing rules, if Terry was recalled, all of his wins would be forfeited. Mack knew
the rules. He had made sure that Terry belonged outright to the Brewers.
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It’s difficult for latter-day fans and historians to envision Connie Mack
as anything but the tall, lean, eighty-something-year-old in the straw hat,
high collar, and blue suit sitting in the dugout waving a scorecard. But
in Milwaukee Mack was even more of a firebrand than he had been in
Pittsburgh. He found the Western League umpiring even worse than it was
in the National League, and he let them know it. The writers commended
his umpire-jousting, and the fans loved it. They cheered his loud, animated
coaching and were disappointed when he stayed on the bench, where, dur-
ing tense moments in the action, he perched motionless on the edge, bent
forward at a 45-degree angle.

Mack’s belligerence began on opening day. The umpire, Daniel Lally,
stopped the game several times to consult the rule book and reversed his
decisions after one side or the other called him down. The Journal com-
mented, “The feature of the contest was Mack’s determination to dispute
every point in regard to which there was the least doubt or unfairness.
Heretofore, Milwaukee’s managers have abided by unjust decisions by the
umpire, but with Mack at the helm there will be no danger of the umpire
overriding the Brewers.”

In a game in May, the umpire ordered Mack off the coaching line because
he had “crossed the line” in his comments. Mack refused to go. The ump
drew his watch and gave Mack formal warning to scram. Mack ambled,
smiling, to the bench.

One day, with Frank Graves umpiring, Mack was disgusted by the ball
and strike calls from the first pitch. “What’s the use of having a pitcher in
the game?” he hollered. Graves suggested he would put Mack in the grand-
stand if he didn’t shut up.

He was no calmer in exhibition games. He took the Brewers upstate to
Manitowoc to play a local team. The locals were leading, 4-3, in the eighth
inning, when Mack took such exception to the umpire’s calls that he took
his team off the field and went home.

He continued to be out in front of everybody else when it came to know-
ing the rules. On April 25 a Minneapolis base runner tried to steal second.
The catcher’s throw hit umpire Charles Reilly, who called the runner safe
at second. Mack argued that the rules required the runner to return to first.
When he lost his beef and the game, he protested. The league upheld his
protest and ordered the game replayed.

“It is very seldom that one can get ahead of the ex-Pittsburgh player on
baseball law,” the Journal commented.
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MacKk’s stubbornness also cost them an occasional game. When an
umpire threw Bert Myers out of a game for arguing a close call at first base,
Mack refused to let Myers leave the field. The ump forfeited the game.

Ban Johnson never stopped trying to improve his umpiring staff, just
as Mack never stopped trying to improve his lineup. Although Johnson
vowed to back his umpires, he wanted them to deserve his backing. By the
end of the season he would go through thirty of them, an astounding num-
ber considering that he needed no more than four on any day.

Meanwhile, Mack seemed to claim every player who became available,
coaxing some from National League clubs “on loan” for the rest of the sea-
son and farming out or releasing those who disappointed him. Sporting
Life observed, “Connie Mack has his eagle eyes open all the time. Not a
player is ever released by the National or Western clubs but that Milwaukee
claims him?”

One of his best pickups was Bill Reidy, a twenty-three-old right-hander
cut loose in mid-June by Grand Rapids. Reidy won 16 for him the rest of
the season.

Mack caught, played first base, and pinch hit. As a catcher, he was still
as tough as the boot leather he had cut as a teenager. In a game at Kansas
City, the home team, trailing 8-6, had 2 men on base in the top of the
ninth. The batter hit a fly ball to left that fell beyond Weaver’s reach. Weaver
picked it up and threw to the shortstop, who wheeled and relayed it home
to Mack. One run scored, but as the second base runner rounded third,
the Cowboys’ coach ran ahead of him and plowed into Mack, preventing
him from making the tag. (There was no rule prohibiting the coach from
running interference like a football blocker, as long as he stayed outside the
foul line.) The score was now 8-8.

In the bottom of the ninth Mack was coaching at third. With two out
and George Rettger on first, George Nicol doubled. Mack waved Rettger
home. The throw beat him, but Mack, running down the line ahead of
Rettger, collided with the catcher, Fred Lake, knocking the ball out of his
hand. Umpire Graves signaled safe. The game was over. The Kansas City
crowd, which had cheered the home team’s tactics, descended onto the
field in a howling mob to protest Mack’s identical action. The police sur-
rounded the umpire but not before Lake nailed him with a right to the jaw
that cost the catcher $100.

Playing first base on a Sunday in July, Mack came closest to hitting for
the cycle, rapping out a single, double, and triple in a 7—2 win. “The old
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boy’s limbs were as limp as the branch of a willow,” waxed a writer. “His
hand clutched the bat as a turtle clutches to a stick, and his eye met the
sphere with as much severity as a mother’s lamp focuses upon the lassie
who returns from church after 12 noon. It was a great treat to the crowd
to see Connie in the game, a treat that should not be withheld from the
enthusiasts for an extended time.”

Connie Mack was once described as “apollonian,” as in calm, poised,
disciplined, undemonstrative. When he wasn’t giving umpires a hard time,
that’s the way he was with the public and his players—most of the time.
So the day second baseman Tom Daly hit a three-run double in the ninth
inning to pull out a 7—6 victory, the sight of Mack embracing the rotund
five-foot-seven Daly on the field amazed the onlookers.

“Imagine the tall Connie hugging the aldermanic Tom,” the Journal
noted. “Must have been a pretty contrast. Mack has the reputation of being
bashful about such things, but there were no women present at the park.”

Connie Mack’s sense of humor often had a bite to it. That side of him was
better known to his closest companions than the public. Bill Reidy, having
tasted a big league demitasse with the Giants in 1896, made no secret of
his yearning to return to the majors. He believed he had earned it with the
Brewers and let everybody know it. His teammates guyed him with exces-
sive and insincere assurances that he would surely be the top choice of any
big league club.

Mack had already begun lining up exhibition games for the following
spring as they sat on the bench during a September game at Kansas City.
Suddenly a handful of telegrams was handed to him. Reidy, having heard
rumors that several teams were after him, stared expectantly at Mack as the
manager opened the envelopes.

“Yes, they’re after you,” Mack said to him. “Here are dispatches from
three National League clubs that want you badly.”

Reidy blushed and said, “Well, I won’t leave you this year, anyway.”

A messenger boy appeared and handed Mack two more dispatches. Mack
opened them and looked at Reidy. “They have got to give bigger money
than this,” he said, “or I will not let you go.”

Mack stood up and walked away, leaving the discarded telegrams on the
ground. Reidy eagerly picked them up and read, “Will play those games at
Milwaukee —Miller” and similar messages. (Except for a two-game trial with
Brooklyn in 1899, Reidy finally made it to the major leagues with Milwaukee’s
1901 club in the American League, winning 16 against 20 losses.)
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Wearing his promoter’s hat, Mack signed prizefighter Jim Corbett to
play first base on Monday, September 20, in the next to last game of the
year. The former heavyweight champ was earning a few hundred dollars a
game for his appearances. Wearing his own gray uniform and black-and-
gray checked cap, he had 2 hits and played an errorless first base. “Corbett
handles himself with the quick, jerky motions of a prizefighter, but he
plays a good game both at bat and in the field,” the Journal reported. As
an enthusiastic boxing fan, Mack must have enjoyed visiting with Corbett.

The Brewers hovered around the middle of the pack throughout the sea-
son, occasionally rising to second or falling to fifth. They won 85 games
and finished third, 13 games behind pennant-winning Indianapolis. Adonis
Terry won 21 and lost 5. Jack Taylor was 9-6 in his rookie year. Another
youngster, Bert Jones, was 11-3. Farmer Weaver gave Mack a solid year, bat-
ting .339 and doing outstanding work in the outfield. Playing in about 30
games, Mack batted .288, according to one of several disparate sources.

The season was a success in other ways. Leading by example, Mack had
given Milwaukee a team the Grand Rapids Democrat called “the most gen-
tlemanly lot of ballplayers seen here this season.”

Thanks to Sunday baseball and the sale of beer at the grounds, the
Brewers turned a profit of almost $20,000. Salaries and expenses ran just
under $20,000. Gate receipts at home topped $31,000, highest in the league,
and $7,000 on the road. Mack sold Bert Jones to Cleveland for $1,000. Of
the $6,000 guarantee the Brewers put up with the league, half of it was
returned. No more than two other clubs in the league made money. Grand
Rapids was the weakest. The league had to come up with the final pay-
checks for the Gold Bugs.

Without turnstile counts, reported attendance estimates of about
160,000 seem reasonable. Mack reckoned that half the total had shown up
at Sunday games. Beginning in midseason ladies’ days had become a regu-
lar feature. A gentleman could escort an unlimited number of women into
the park free. As many as 1,000 were sometimes seen among the colorful
crowds, cheering as loudly as the men. There was also a noticeable increase
in the number of clergymen attending the games, most of them priests in
the city that was more than 50 percent Catholic.

Connie Mack’s 25 percent share of the Brewers’ profits, added to his
$3,000 salary, gave him the highest income he had ever earned. The Sporting
News estimate that “he was $2,000 richer than he would have been if he
had remained in the big league last season” was probably low.
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Conceding that it takes good players to produce a winning team, the
Journal lauded Mack for turning the Brewers around. “All one has to do is
look at what the Brewers amounted to last season with poor management
and then see what they have done this year by the hard and honest efforts
of a man who devoted all his time and energy to building up a team that
is a winner.”

But Connie Mack wasn’t satisfied with his performance. He had been
unable to keep his temper in check, not just with umpires, but with his
own players. He had blown up over bonehead plays and mental errors in
the clubhouse after games.

“I then dressed with the players,” Mack told Fred Lieb, “and there were
the usual arguments after we lost a tough game. And in trying to fix the
blame, hot words often were spoken on both sides.

“Then one day something came up that made me real sore. I was so mad
I knew I couldn’t talk calmly. So I waited around until all the players had
dressed and gone home. Then I changed my clothes in the solitude of the
clubhouse and was alone with my thoughts. I still was hot as I went home,
but when I awoke the next morning it was just another ball game we had
lost. It was a bonehead play, yes, but the ballplayers are human, and it was
all part of baseball.”

It was a turning point for Mack. He realized that calling a player down
and arguing with him in front of the rest of the team bred ill will and
resentment. He knew he could not control his temper. So he vowed to
never again dress with the players. When a mistake was made, he would
wait until the next day and calmly discuss it with the player in private,
suggesting how the play should have been made. He learned to accept the
inevitability of losing 50 to 60 games in the best of seasons, some of them
tough losses, some caused by bonehead plays, careless base running, or
missed chances.

He would never again take losing so hard. Well, hardly ever.
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15 | WORKING THE SYSTEM

Baseball didn’t stop for Connie Mack when the 1897 season ended. Back in
East Brookfield he put together a team of local amateurs and major leagu-
ers and scheduled games in Worcester and Meriden, but they were rained
out. He went to games in Boston and Brooklyn, making the rounds like a
salesman developing a territory, asking those clubs to keep him in mind
when they had players to lend or sell.

His stop in Brooklyn led to the purchase of George Schoch, his old team-
mate from Hartford and Washington. Cream City cranks rejoiced over the
return of the thirty-nine-year-old second baseman, one of their favorites
from the American Association club of 1891.

On October 21 Mack attended the Western League meeting at the Great
Northern Hotel in Chicago. The league approved a salary cap of $200 a
month with a team limit of $2,000 a month. To enforce it, all player con-
tracts had to be approved by Ban Johnson.

Said Johnson, “The gentlemen who have their money invested . . . do
not intend to give all the profits to the ball players. We cannot afford to pay
fancy salaries. When a man can make $200 a month for five or six months
he is not doing poorly. When he develops and his services are worth more
than our limit, he is ready for the National League where bigger salaries
are paid.”

Johnson’s claim that $200 a month was good money to play minor league
baseball was not without merit. At the time, Texas streetcar workers were
striking for a raise to twenty cents an hour. Illinois quarrymen wanted an
eight-hour day and $1.25 for it. St. Louis bricklayers were debating whether
to demand fifty-five cents an hour. New York cabinetmakers marched to
enforce an hourly minimum wage of thirty-two cents, about $20 for a six-
day, sixty-hour work week. That would put them up there with painters,
printers, and carpenters from New York to California in the top income
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bracket of skilled workmen. Young women working as clerks in the office
of a New England dye manufacturer earned three cents an hour and didn’t
think about striking.

Throughout the winter Mack kept Matt Killilea and the Milwaukee
newspapers informed of his activities. Under the league rules, if a team
filed a claim on a player—like a claim on a gold mine—nobody else could
sign him. Mack reported that he had signed or claimed a catcher named
Alexander Langervine, who he had seen hit 3 home runs in an amateur
game; a teacher from northern Wisconsin who asked for a tryout; and a
catcher from Pittsburgh.

Mack realized that baseball’s financial backers preferred to rely on older,
experienced players with familiar names and reputations, even if those rep-
utations included a proficiency in elbow bending. With rosters limited to
fifteen or sixteen men, there was little inclination to carry young players
with an eye to the future. Investors grew nervous if it looked like the club
might lose money. Few such backers had deep pockets; they blanched at
the sight of red ink, like a schoolgirl’s first encounter with spilled blood.
Mack had witnessed the rapid collapse of the Players’ League when the
backers cut their losses and ran. It was still an unstable business. Franchise
transfers were frequent. Leagues seldom fielded the same teams from one
year to the next.

None of that stopped Mack from prospecting. It was the part of the busi-
ness he enjoyed the most. Like a forty-niner, he knew he might have to
sift through hundreds of green rookies to find one gold nugget. But there
were plenty of them: half the population was under twenty-three years
old, almost all of them on farms and in small towns in the Northeast and
Midwest. His seining activity was wryly noted by one newspaper: “Mack
must be getting ready to free Cuba or start another Fenian raid. He has
thirty men on the Milwaukee list.”

(An interesting knock on a player was supplied by the Milwaukee Journal
when Mack announced that he had claimed Walter Lyons, star third base-
man for Youngstown in the Interstate League: “[Lyons’s] only fault was his
inclination toward fast life, swell hotels, and opera music.” The fat lady
sang before Lyons ever made it to the Big Opera.)

Mack’s sweeps of the Wisconsin sandlots set up a howl from manag-
ers of state league teams. One complained, “Mack has listed nearly half a
hundred players for the Milwaukee team next year. He kept his eye on the
teams which played in the state last summer, and when he noted a man
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who looked like a comer, he listed him for next season. Every one of these
men is confident in his own mind that Mack will retain him and so will not
sign with any of the state teams. After Mack has given them a trial there will
be plenty of material let loose.”

According to a Journal story, Connie Mack’s reputation as the Pied Piper of
young ballplayers caused him to be the principal suspect when a Pittsburgh
mother’s ball-playing son disappeared. She appealed to Pirates manager Watty
Watkins, who immediately fingered Mack as the most likely kidnapper.

One day in February a Pittsburgh detective showed up at the Republican
House looking for Mack, who was not there. The sleuth went up Third
Street to Matt Killilea’s office. Killilea pleaded ignorance but pledged that
if Mack had indeed lured the boy away from home, the club would see that
the lad was returned to his mother.

Returning to the hotel, the cop staked out the lobby. Three hours later
Mack walked in. After introducing himself, the detective said, “You have
sixty players claimed for your club, and among them is a Pittsburgh lady’s
son whom you have enticed to come to Milwaukee. We demand the boy at
once.”

The astonished Mack replied, “If I have the woman’s son, I do not know
it. The fact is I won’t be able to tell you who I have until I have a roundup.
If you can wait until that time, maybe the boy will come out in the wash.”

The detective left town empty-handed. The story may be the product of
anewspaperman’s imagination, but it points up the start of Mack’s renown
as every young hopeful’s best chance to obtain a tryout.

From the beginning of his career as a manager, nothing annoyed Mack
as much as wrangling with holdouts. In Milwaukee he had a league-
imposed salary limit to obey. In later years his own sense of the need to
balance income and expenses often put him against the wall when it came
to making out a payroll. It infuriated him when players took their case to
the press. He believed the details of salary disputes didn’t belong in the
papers. But when he reached his boiling point with a player, he didn’t hesi-
tate to let the world know it.

In 1898 his most irksome case was Bert Myers, the shortstop who had
balked at signing the year before. When Myers squawked at being offered
less than $200 a month, Mack exploded. “I can’t understand this man at all.
Last year we retained him on the team at times when he was in no condi-
tion to play, paying him a big salary all year. Now Myers, who is receiving
more than many men who are his superiors on the team, comes back at
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us with a kick. All T can say is that I will not dabble with him at all. If he
does not care to sign for the amount that is offered him, he can remain [at
home] in Washington.”

As much as he enjoyed writing letters, Mack was irritated by the need to
spend day after day writing to holdouts. He was determined to see that it
didn’t become an annual ordeal. He sent his most stubborn cases an ulti-
matum: sign by April 1 or he would make up his lineup without them.

“I have decided to bring this useless writing of letters to an end,” he
announced with obvious annoyance. “If I keep up this incessant dicker-
ing with the men I will have the same troublesome experience to contend
with next year.” If his first baseman didn’t want to accept the salary offered,
Mack said he’d play first base himself. He counted on improving weather
to prod his holdouts into line. “A warm day gives a ball player the fever. The
thought, ‘T wouldn’t miss playing for a hundred’ runs through their minds
and then they pick up the pens and sign the contracts.”

The prosperous 97 season inspired the Brewers’ management to expand
the bleachers and enclose the rooftop press box, which had been open to
fans wandering in and out during games. They were encouraged by the
interest in the game that ran so high that amateur teams played indoor
games on winter nights. Another optimistic indicator was the bidding
for the scorecard concession. A local man, Theodore Engel, outbid Harry
Stevens, paying $2,000 for the rights and proposing to print photographs
of the players on the cards.

Despite all his scouting, Mack went into the 1898 season with the kind of
veteran club the owners welcomed. At the end of the ’97 season he had used
a common maneuver to protect players from the National League draft, a
persistent bone of contention between the minor and major leagues. With
the cooperation of Barney Dreyfuss, owner of the Louisville Colonels, he
had sold shortstop Ed Lewee and first baseman Bob Stafford to Louisville
before the drafting period began, then bought them back in the spring, “a
dangerous practice . . . and an evil,” wrote Sporting Life correspondent H.
H. Cohn. “What if Louisville doesn’t want to return a player, once the sale
is announced?” The ploy depended on a trustworthy co-conspirator. Mack
trusted Dreyfuss.

Farmer Weaver was back, as was Adonis Terry, who had a full-time job
as manager of Milwaukee’s Plankinton House Billiard Parlor and agreed to
pitch at home only.

On March 21 Mack and five players held their first practice at the Lloyd
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Street grounds. He was determined to have his men in top condition by
opening day. He believed the first few weeks of the season would decide the
Brewers’ pennant chances more than the last few weeks. His plans to play
practice games in Cincinnati were knocked for a loop when the Ohio River
flooded, leaving the Reds’ ballpark under water.

More than MacKk’s spring training plans had blown up. On February
15 the American battleship Maine blew up in Havana harbor. By open-
ing day the United States was rattling its swords. On April 25 it formally
declared war with Spain. For the next four months the war news overshad-
owed interest in baseball. On some days, when Mack passed the newspaper
offices on his way to the ball grounds, he saw more people reading the war
bulletins posted on the windows than he would see at the game.

The war dealt a setback to all of baseball. In May the Texas and Southern
Leagues folded. Despite Ban Johnson’s declaration that the Western was
as solid as ever, there was sentiment among some club owners to cut their
losses and shorten the season. The majority voted to play out the sched-
ule. After the season Ban Johnson said, “I firmly believe that had we quit
for the year, every league outside of the National would have quit. They
were all ready to suspend.” And the Chicago Tribune, calling it a “shaky,
scary season,” said, “At one time last season only the pluck and nerve of
two men held the league in the business.” It didn’t name them; there were
really three of them.

To keep the league intact, Mack and Comiskey, along with Tom Manning
in Kansas City, had each put up $400 to bail out the Omaha franchise,
which had replaced Grand Rapids, and move it to St. Joseph, Missouri,
where the league operated it from mid-July.

The Brewers didn’t fulfill Mack’s hopes for a fast start. They were, to
put it plainly, awful. Poor pitching, sloppy base running, and weak hitting
lowered them into the basement. They bounced back as high as fourth but
continued to play poorly.

Connie Mack’s smooth sailing with Milwaukee fans hit its first reef in
mid-July. Eighth-place Minneapolis came in trailing a 13-game losing streak
behind it and piled up a 12—0 lead after three innings. The fans booed Mack
for allowing pitcher George Rettger to come out for the third inning after
he’d given up 5 runs in the second. They grew angrier when Rettger was
hammered for 7 more in the third.

Of the 14-3 loss, H. H. Cohn wrote, “The Brewers quit like a lot of dung-
hills, and their playing was of a bright saffron hue. ... A careless, I-do-not-
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care sort of a game was put up, and some of them ought to be minus some
of the long green on next pay day.”

That roasting marked the low point of the season for the Brewers. They
began to win and climb in the standings. Their revival and a cooling of the
war news inspired a rise in attendance. With the signing of an armistice
on August 12, the fans flocked back to the games. Mack had learned not to
worry about fans’ reactions when his team was down. Patience, not panic,
was his long suit. When the Brewers went 23-8 in August and climbed to
within three percentage points of league-leading Kansas City, the Sentinel
reported, “No happier or more excited lot of fans or rooters can be found
anywhere . . . than in Milwaukee.”

But after shooting to the top of the standings, the Brewers dropped like
a stone, finishing third, 6 games out.

Jack Taylor had won 28 and lost 13. Mack wanted $2,500 cash for him. He
offered Taylor to Louisville. The Colonels’ secretary, Harry Pulliam, said
he didn’t have the money. (Louisville picked up Deacon Phillippe from
Minneapolis for $1,200 instead.) Jim Hart of the Chicago Orphans met
MacK’s price. Taylor won another 5 games for Chicago that year.

The troublesome Bert Myers finally made it to the National League;
Mack sold him for $1,000 to Washington. It took Mack longer to collect his
money than Myers lasted. Myers was released after 31 games; Mack had to
appeal to an arbitration board before receiving the sale money.

Connie Mack had no quarrel with H. H. Cohn’s mid-July assessment of
his nonchalant crew, despite the team’s late-season rally. He was becoming
more disenchanted with trying to build a winner out of recycled veterans
who had little incentive, knowing they would never again see the major
league scene, and were indifferent to staying in shape.

One day in early August he took his team to Waupun to play a semipro
team. It was a meaningless exhibition game, but it proved to be a meaning-
ful day for Mack. During an earlier visit to Waupun, he had been impressed
by a young catcher named Clarence Beaumont. When Mack saw Beaumont
run, he advised the twenty-one-year-old Beloit College student to switch
to the outfield. Called Ginger because of his red hair and spirited play,
Beaumont was now a left-handed-hitting outfielder. That day Beaumont
covered more ground than all of Mack’s outfielders combined. At the plate
he sprayed hits in all directions. Mack invited him to join the Brewers for
an exhibition series against the Chicago Unions, then signed him.

On August 23 Beaumont took an early train from Waupun and arrived
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in Milwaukee at ten o’clock. That afternoon he lined a single to center in
his first at bat. In the fifth he hit an inside-the-park home run that helped
defeat Kansas City, 5-3, and propel the Brewers into a first place tie with
the Cowboys.

Beaumont brought speed, a strong arm, and crowd-pleasing hustle to
the aging Brewers. He was the fastest in the league going from home to
first. In 24 games he batted .354 and stole 11 bases. More than nine thou-
sand cranks turned out to see the last home game of the season, a Monday
doubleheader against Detroit. They came to cheer Ginger Beaumont more
than the third-place Brewers.

Mack’s experience with Beaumont reinforced his desire to create a team
of young players. If they had the talent and the brains, he could teach them
how to play the game to win. He knew it would take time and patience
and the right kind of material. He couldn’t do it with a club whose owners
wanted a contender every year and familiar faces to attract the customers.
Mack likened the baseball business to that of a merchant or manufacturer.
To succeed, he had to plan three or four years ahead and develop his prod-
uct slowly, until it was ready to market. Unlike other businesses, he’d have
to do it out in the open, on the field, game after game, season after season,
until the product was perfected. Given the opportunity, that’s the way he
would operate his baseball business.

Baseball’s first exercise in nostalgia occurred with the retirement of Cap
Anson in 1898. Mack was among those who noted with sadness the end of
the line for the forty-five-year-old first baseman, who had played and man-
aged his last game for the Chicago Colts in 1897, then managed the Giants
briefly in ’98.

An innovative manager with strict training rules and the temper and
fists to enforce them, Anson was the first to emphasize teamwork. He
had gone on a round-the-world voyage to promote baseball in 1888—
1889. A hundred years later Anson would be pilloried by social histori-
ans imposing their moral standards retroactively on a society they never
knew for his refusal to play against any team with a black player. But to
his contemporaries, including Mack, he was hailed as an outstanding
pioneer of the game. “The Napoleon of the Diamond,” Mack called him,
fondly recalling the appearance of Anson and his mighty Colts in East
Brookfield in 1883.
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At their fall meeting, Western League directors spent much of the time
discussing the dissension in the National League and the likelihood of
an eventual breakup of the unwieldy twelve-team circuit. The National’s
internal squabbling, interlocking ownerships, and on-field rowdyism were
drawing increasing brickbats of ink, while the Western League was fre-
quently lauded for businesslike methods, its cooperative spirit in helping
its financially ailing franchises, and improving conduct on the field. While
they had suffered through a losing season—only Minneapolis and Kansas
City were reported to have shown a profit—the owners were happy with
the way Ban Johnson ran the league. The 10 percent of the gate receipts
remitted to the league was not all spent, and the surplus was returned to
the clubs. “The league is strong,” Johnson told the press. “We made money
and have money in the treasury. We are not the bankrupt organization
some of the jealous try to make out. We had a losing season, but not half so
disastrous a year as the National suffered.”

Theneed to replace the weakestlinks— Columbus and St. Joe—consumed
alot of discussion, but nothing was resolved. Tom Loftus was keen on mov-
ing his Columbus club to Denver, but it was too far away. Matt Killilea tried
to persuade each club to put up $500 to buy the Toronto franchise in the
Eastern League and give it to Loftus. That didn’t go over. If the National
League dropped Cleveland, Loftus was ready to move in. Alderman Franklin
in Buffalo wanted the St. Joe franchise and all the players free. Comiskey,
Mack, and Manning said okay if he would just reimburse them the $1,200
they had put up to save it. Franklin said no. Mack and the others said they’d
just sell some St. Joe players to recoup their investment and he could have
the rest. Franklin squawked and went home. After a few months of wran-
gling, they reached a compromise and Buffalo was admitted to the league.

The National League stayed with twelve teams for another year, and the
Western was stuck with Columbus (until it moved the franchise back to
Grand Rapids in the middle of the 1899 season).

It was no secret that Ban Johnson had been itching to put a team in
south Chicago for more than a year. But he was respectful of National ter-
ritory and was not ready to do any invading. He was even willing to give
the franchise to the NL Orphans’ owner, Jim Hart. But Hart said if he had
it, he would use it as a “feeder” team for his Orphans, and Johnson had had
enough of that with John T. Brush and his Indianapolis-Cincinnati player
shuttle. Johnson didn’t give up; he remained friendly with Hart, even mov-
ing his league office to a suite on the twelfth floor of the Fisher Building,
three floors from Hart’s office.
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The efficient operation of the Western League stood in sharp contrast
to the National, with its fractious magnates and weak president. Johnson’s
league also stood out among most private and public institutions of the
time, where corruption was rampant and paper trails impossible to follow.
Even where there was honesty, there was chaos. Corporate and municipal
bookkeeping was sketchy at best. The idea of operating under a budget was
still unknown in every city hall in the nation.

Johnson and his Western club owners realized that their customers con-
sidered baseball to be a form of show business—entertainment and noth-
ing more. Professional baseball had little history at that point, certainly
nothing that anyone could celebrate with pride. It had no stability, no tra-
ditions, and not enough of a loyal fan base to survive without broadening
its appeal to women, the social set, and those who just thought it a “lark”
to be at the ball grounds of an afternoon and would never think of keeping
score. They understood that these potential customers were turned off by
the brawls, physical attacks on umpires, and noisy gamblers in the stands.

The path to a favorable press, which Johnson considered vital to the
game’s success, was paved with pieces like the following year-end plaudits
in the Sentinel:

“When Matt Killilea stated that baseball should be conducted as honestly
as any other business without treating the public to buncombe, the eastern
press applauded the sentiment and remarked how much different things
would be in the National League if the same rule was followed there.”

That path had potholes. Connie Mack’s first personal encounter with base-
ball writers who have their own agenda and look for something— factual or
not—to substantiate it began with a September 23 headline in the Journal:

DID CONNIE THROW GAMES

The paper accused Mack of “jockeying” on the team’s last road trip to
enable Kansas City to win the pennant over Indianapolis. Citing the anon-
ymous “many” as accusing Mack of not caring to win, the Journal claimed
that “for some reason he threw up his hands and did not try to take it.”

Connie Mack didn’t bother to respond.

Winding up a scouting trip through Ohio, Mack returned to Chicago on
September 27 for a meeting with the Louisville club secretary, Harry Pulliam.
That night Mack sent a telegram to the Sentinel: “Louisville gets Waldron
and Beaumont.” Irv Waldron was a young outfielder who had hit .26o0.
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Mack never used the word “sold.” But the Milwaukee papers called it
a sale, though with none of the usual speculation about the selling price.
Louisville was in no position to be aggressively buying players anyhow. The
club was one of the weakest in the National League, expecting to be dropped
from the circuit. The transaction wasn’t considered important enough to
be mentioned in the Louisville Courier-Journal. The two players’ names
appeared only in a list of ten players “picked up” by the Colonels, only three
of whom reported, the rest “not being desired until next season.”

Perhaps angered by being scooped, the Journal scorched Mack for selling
Waldron and Beaumont. Subheads screamed:

MILWAUKEE PATRONS OF THE GAME SAY WORK WAS QUEER

THEY DEMAND EXPLANATION OF HIS ACTION IN
SELLING HIS BEST PLAYERS

The story went on:

It certainly does seem a little extraordinary for Mr. Mack to come out
with a statement one day that he will have a pennant-winning team in
1899 and the next day announce the sale to Louisville of his strongest
players.

What will be the Brewers’ finish next year? Each day seems to bring
the news that one of the star players of the Milwaukee team has been
sold to a National League club. Today comes the news that Beaumont
and Waldron have been sold to the Louisville team. At the present
outlook the Milwaukee team will be made up of such men as “Texas
pony” Burke and “$50-a-month” Rath, neither man having ability
enough as a ball player to be on a team such as Milwaukee deserves.
The fans are waiting with expectation to hear what Mack has to offer
for the coming season.

The Journal sent a reporter out on the street to find and interview several
carefully selected “well-informed patrons of the game” to back its conten-
tions of “a general feeling of disgust.”

Mack remained mum. He didn’t think it necessary to explain or defend
his actions. He knew what he was doing. So did the Sentinel, which pointed
out (correctly) that had not Beaumont and Waldron been sold, both would
have “undoubtedly been drafted next Saturday when the National Leaguers
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will be turned loose on minor league folds to seek whom they may devour.”
The National League had from October 1 until January 1 to draft minor
leaguers for $500. Beaumont was said to be on the draft list of at least four
National clubs.

It was a common practice for minor league owners to find a cooperative
National League club who would “buy” or draft a player with the under-
standing that the player would be returned in the spring. Mack had done
similar deals with the Colonels before. The Sentinel hinted that this might
be the case with these two players:

“The Milwaukee club undoubtedly has other outfielders selected to fill the
places left vacant by the sale of Waldron and Beaumont. But until the drafting
season ends January 1 no announcements will be made of Mack’s selections
to fill the outer garden. Manager Mack will return to Milwaukee Saturday or
Sunday after he makes another trip into Ohio and Kentucky. Perhaps he will
then say the players have not been sold but only loaned for the winter.”

The Sporting News did more than hint. Heading the story “PROBABLY
A ‘PHONY DEAL—Milwaukee Club Puts Two Players under Louisville
Protection,” the unnamed writer likened the deal to “the case of Stafford and
Lewee last season. The two players will probably be held by the Louisville
Club until the opening of next season, when they will be returned to the
local management. This notion on the part of Mack is a wise move, as at
least one of the players would be drafted by the major league teams.”

That was true of Waldron. Louisville returned him to the Brewers the
following spring. But not Beaumont. On December 2 Mack sent a telegram
to the Sentinel from East Brookfield: “Have made a deal with Pittsburgh
trading Beaumont for Gray and Hart. C. Mack”

Mack had merely “parked Beaumont” with the Colonels, the Sentinel
surmised, while he “secretly pursued a trade for him.” But did he? Maybe
Mack had intended to “buy back” Beaumont as well as Waldron.

According to the Pittsburgh Press, Pirates manager Watty Watkins had
gone to Milwaukee in the fall to confer with Kansas City manager Tom
Manning about the purchase of four kc players. While there, Watkins saw
Beaumont play and told his boss, W. W. Kerr, about him, and “negotiations
for his purchase started at once. Mack did not want to sell but was finally
forced into doing so. What induced him to do so was not made public.”

If this was true, what could have “forced” Mack into selling Beaumont? A
threat from Louisville to return the player to Milwaukee, where he’d be sub-
ject to the draft? Possibly. Dreyfuss was trying to sell the Louisville club and
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buy into the Pirates, both of which happened eventually. It could have been
that Pulliam told Mack the Colonels had decided to keep Beaumont and,
rather than double-cross Mack, they would give him a chance to get some
players in exchange by dealing with the Pirates now. But Beaumont was
ostensibly the property of Louisville; any trade would have to be between
Louisville and Pittsburgh (Dreyfuss did not yet control both clubs), not
Milwaukee and Pittsburgh.

However it was accomplished, the whole episode points up the hap-
hazard and disorganized state of the paperwork and administration of
“organized baseball.” Mack was apparently able to reclaim Beaumont from
Louisville—or Louisville simply returned him—and trade him while the
drafting period was still in effect. He presumably filed some kind of paper-
work to remove both players from the Milwaukee roster before October
1—or maybe not. Maybe all he needed was an eraser to take them off his
roster and a pen to put them back on. Or maybe he had simply “loaned”
Beaumont to Louisville. Lending players to other teams, even in your own
league, was done openly.

Was anybody breaking any rules? There didn’t seem to be any. In October
the Sporting News had acknowledged that it was a common practice and
suggested a rule providing that any National League team buying minor
league players merely to prevent their being drafted by other NL teams
should be required to offer those players to all other NL clubs for $500
before sending them back to the minors. But this was the way the baseball
world operated at that time, and Connie Mack went along with it. As irreg-
ular as it seems, nobody questioned it. None of the reported four teams
who had been eager to draft Beaumont raised any objections. Nobody took
it to the Board of Arbitration. Nobody could, with clean hands.

Eastern writers actually praised Connie Mack for pulling off a great
trade. One went so far as to call it the “best stroke of policy executed in the
history of the Western League.”

Bill Grey (not Gray), twenty-seven, had played every position but pitcher
for the Phils and Reds before becoming the Pirates’ regular third baseman
in 1898. Bill Hart had broken in with Sioux City, winning 25 games in 1891,
and pitched for the Dodgers, Cardinals, and Pirates. In the spring of 1898
he had been hit by a line drive that fractured his skull. He missed four
months of the season. Though he never had a winning record in the big
leagues, he was considered a steady, brainy pitcher who could give a team
300 innings.
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Mack’s moves to strengthen the Brewers were all the response he needed
to the Journal’s attacks on him. The reaction of the Killilea brothers
and their partners, aware that Mack had received offers to manage from
Brooklyn and the Phillies, was to sign their popular man-of-all-jobs for
another year.

Connie Mack was content in Milwaukee. Between his salary and share
of the profits when there were any, he was making more money than ever
in baseball. At the league meeting in October he told reporters, “I am glad
to keep out of the National League. The Western pays good profits and the
speed of the teams compares favorably with that exhibited by the big leagu-
ers. The Western League is a strong organization. The teams draw large
crowds and the emoluments of service are entirely satisfactory to me. What
more can any reasonable man ask?”
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LEARNING HOW TO
HANDLE MEN

16

Connie Mack started the 1899 season with another edition of the Brewers
that was old and rarely all sober at the same time. He was still searching
for the most effective way to change players’ behavior. Some he gave up on
sooner than others. When pitcher Danny Friend got drunk in Columbus
and was arrested for cutting a cab driver with a razor, Mack suspended him
and made him sign a new contract with a temperance clause. Friend didn’t
believe in a temperance clause any more than he did in Santa Claus. Mack
peddled him to Minneapolis for $400.

The league had no uniform dress code. Players often appeared on the
field in different combinations of attire from their teammates. Mack had
been trying to end that practice with the Brewers. “There will be no mix-
ing of the uniforms on the field,” he vowed, and ordered all new gray and
white sets with dark blue trimmings from the Alfred J. Reach Company of
Philadelphia.

Mack’s hopes of getting his team in condition for a strong start were again
set back, this time by a typical Wisconsin spring: snow and ice in the first
week of April. Bundled up in bulky sweaters, the players worked out under
the grandstand as best they could. Mack was struck by how big they looked,
buried under layers of heavy outerwear. That evening in the Republican
House lobby he jokingly suggested the team be called the Giants. “I like
the sound of Giants,” he said. “But not spelled and pronounced ‘Joints’ the
way Scrappy Bill Joyce pronounced it in New York several years ago.” The
Sentinel used the name a few times, but it didn’t stick.

Once the weather thawed, the Brewers played practice games against
university teams from Wisconsin, Michigan, and Chicago. Mack played
first base in intrasquad games but generally sat in the shade casting an
appraising eye on his men.

159



Ever the optimist—in his business, he had to be—on the eve of the home
opener against Minneapolis he said, “The team representing Milwaukee is
the best I've ever had.” Then he hedged, “I may not win the pennant, but I
predict the boys will be strictly in the race.”

In a replay of the Duke Esper fiasco of 1897, Mack purchased catcher Pat
Crisham from Brooklyn and, on opening day, received a telegram from
Brooklyn manager Ned Hanlon informing him that another National
League club had claimed Crisham on waivers. The team claiming Crisham
turned out to be the Baltimore Orioles, whose president happened to be
the same Ned Hanlon. (Hanlon was also part owner of both teams; such
was the state of the National League.)

At one o’clock on Thursday, April 27, the Brewers assembled at the
Republican House and walked to the St. Charles Hotel, where the visit-
ing Minneapolis Millers stayed. Climbing into carriages, they were led by
Clouder’s Military Band through the downtown streets and out to the ball-
park, where Ban Johnson threw out the first ball. Then a fourth—inning
downpour washed out the game. That evening both teams attended a pro-
duction of Trilby, a popular melodrama of the time. Guests of the manage-
ment, they watched from boxes decorated in baseball motifs.

In an early demonstration of how far ahead of the owners the fans were,
Brewers patrons successfully petitioned the club to post the scores of other
league games on bulletin boards on the grounds.

A social event of great moment occurred in Milwaukee on May 18, when
a man named George Odenbrett was seen driving the first automobile
in the city. Connie Mack was not impressed. He was never lured by the
romance of the auto and didn’t yearn to get behind the steering wheel and
invite admiring onlookers to “watch my dust.” He didn’t learn to drive until
he was in his sixties, tried it a few times, didn’t like it, and didn’t do it
anymore.

By the end of May, the Brewers were out in front with a 3-game lead over
St. Paul. But the race was so tight that when they slumped in mid-June,
they tumbled from first to sixth in a hurry. They were shut out seven times
in nineteen games, more than all the other teams combined. Attendance
fell by 30 percent. The faithful howled for Connie Mack’s scalp.

Looking for help, Mack combed four leagues and every college in the area
but collected more dandruff than talent. He bought British-born catcher
Harry Smith from Wilkes-Barre for $800 and signed a catcher from Purdue
and a pitcher from Beloit. One collegian who showed promise was pitcher

160 Learning How to Handle Men



Pete Husting, a law student at the University of Wisconsin, who joined the
team in June and won 9 and lost 8.

Injuries sank any lingering hopes of the Brewers’ finishing in the first
division. On their last western trip three pitchers were sidelined with sore
arms. Mack was also preoccupied by the illness of Matt Killilea and spent
many evenings by the bachelor’s bedside at the Republican House. Newly
elected to the state legislature, Killilea was ill most of the summer and spent
a month confined to his room.

The Milwaukee Journal continued to hammer away at Mack, giving him
his first taste of being labeled a cheapskate. They blamed the club’s poor
performance and financial losses on the use of cheap players. “Manager
Mack is a good judge of baseball players and a good manager,” it said on
September 14. “But good ballplayers cost money. Poor ballplayers come
cheap. Clearly false economy.”

Mack did not reply.

Connie Mack made his last appearance as a player in the seventh inning
of a Labor Day morning game on September 4 at Grand Rapids. When
right fielder Irv Waldron became ill and left the game, Mack moved first
baseman Bob Stafford to right, sent catcher Kid Speer to first, and put
on the mask and went behind the plate. Catching Charlie Chech, he was
charged with one passed ball and was o for 1 in the Brewers’ 14-6 loss. In
the afternoon game Mack put Chech in right field and Speer caught.

The dark cloud of another baseball war hung over the Western League
and all of baseball that year. Club owners who had been through the
Brotherhood uprising and the American Association competition wanted
no part of another battle. Whenever they fought, they saw the reserve
clause ignored with impunity, salaries soar, and public interest decline.
But they plunged ahead anyhow, like tribes bent on destroying each other
long after they’ve forgotten why. In its attempts to maintain a monopoly
on major league baseball, the twelve-team National League had swallowed
more than it could digest. Syndicate baseball, with magnates owning pieces
of several clubs and moving players among them to strengthen one at the
expense of another, added to the public’s disgust with the whole business.
Baltimore had been plundered by Brooklyn. Denied Sunday baseball, the
Cleveland owners had ransacked the Spiders to build up their St. Louis
club. Attendance plummeted.

Throughout the 1899 season Sporting Life’s standard heading over its
Western League roundup read: “Ban Johnson’s Fine League Is Flourishing.”
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But it wasn’t. At least five teams, including Milwaukee, lost money. The
Columbus franchise moved to Grand Rapids, where it had died once before.

In mid-September Ban Johnson issued a rare—for him— pessimistic
opinion that the game was losing its hold on the public. The outlook was
so gloomy that Detroit manager and part-owner George Stallings consid-
ered quitting the game and opening a Detroit office for a Chicago broker-
age firm.

There were rumors galore. Everybody was playing franchise chess, mov-
ing clubs about like pawns in speculative stories and fishing expeditions.
The Western League would break away from the National Agreement
and go head to head with the National. The American Association would
be revived, invading both National and Western territory, including
Milwaukee. Connie Mack downplayed their chances of success, pointing
out that the Cream City wouldn’t support two teams, and the proposed
ball grounds were so far out of town nobody would be able to find them.

With Chris von der Ahe and Al Spink in St. Louis and Baltimore manager
John McGraw in the vanguard, the American Association tried to persuade
first Ban Johnson, then Cap Anson, to head the proposed resurrection of
the league, which had expired in 1891. Both declined.

Stories of the Western League’s imminent invasion of National League
territories sprang up like mushrooms in a rain forest. Reports had Johnson
sending Charles Comiskey to St. Louis, Connie Mack to Pittsburgh in one
account and Washington in another, and Tom Loftus to Chicago. Jimmy
Manning was set to move the Kansas City Cowboys to Boston. Everything
that was said by somebody was denied by somebody else. Comiskey insisted
that he knew nothing about anything. Connie Mack didn’t bother issuing
any denials.

National League magnates viewed the rumblings out of the west with
amusement. President Nick Young declared that “nobody would dare chal-
lenge the National League.” Ban Johnson said the Western League had no
intention of fostering a rivalry with the National. Nobody believed him.
Johnson had his own agenda and everybody knew it.

Management gurus say that behind every outstanding accomplishment
you’'ll find a monomaniac with a mission. Ban Johnson was such a man.

A tall, well-upholstered, heavy-jowled, two-fisted drinker, he was the
twenty-seven-year-old sports editor of the Cincinnati Commercial-Gazette
in 1892 when Charles A. Comiskey was hired to manage the Reds. A man
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of strong opinions that he seldom kept to himself, Johnson had a favor-
ite descriptive word for those he disdained— “stupid”—and a favorite tar-
get, John T. Brush. The fact that Brush happened to be Comiskey’s boss
at the time—he was the owner of the Reds—didn’t deter Johnson from
befriending the new manager. Brush also owned the Indianapolis club in
the Western League. Johnson and Comiskey talked baseball and ideas and
ambitions over many a schooner and shot in the saloons of Rhineland.

Comiskey saw a fertile potential for a league of small Midwestern cit-
ies. Born from the remains of an earlier organization, the Western League
was formed in 1894. Johnson went to the first meeting as a reporter and,
with Comiskey pushing him, emerged as the league’s part-time president.
Comiskey bought the Sioux City franchise and moved it to St. Paul. Over
Brush’s opposition, Johnson was reelected to the presidency in 1895. Now
he presided over the most stable, respected circuit in the business. His
uncompromising backing of his umpires had greatly reduced—but not
eliminated —assaults on his staff. The league had gone until August before
the first serious incident. Detroit shortstop Kid Elberfeld pummeled an
umpire and was fined $100 and suspended for the rest of the year.

Ban Johnson’s headquarters in Chicago was the most closely watched
source of baseball news in the fall of 1899. There were no objective observ-
ers. The Sporting News supported its editor, Spink, in his efforts to revive the
American Association. Sporting Life, backed by Al Reach, praised Johnson
and his plans as long as they didn’t conflict with the interests of the Phillies,
of which Reach owned half. The paper’s editor, Francis C. Richter, doubted
that Philadelphians would back an Aa team: “Proposals for a new club at
this precarious time when teams in organized ball everywhere are strug-
gling for existence would be a rash venture.”

Ban Johnson showed up frequently in Milwaukee, conferring with Mack
and Henry Killilea, who soon became his personal attorney and coun-
sel to the league. Tom Andrews, a local boxing promoter, described one
such meeting he attended at Killilea’s home at 1616 Grand Avenue that fall.
Charles Comiskey, Matt Killilea, and Fred C. Gross were also present.

“Unlike most meetings among baseball men of that time, our gathering
had no refreshments,” Andrews told Sam Levy of the Milwaukee Journal.
“As Johnson said: ‘Boys, we are here for business. Let us proceed.

““The only way to make our work a success is to go ahead as we plan: take
the bull by the horns and don’t give up until we are an admitted success. We
have everything to gain, nothing to lose.
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Our idea of forming a new major league is to invade the larger eastern
cities. Don’t be discouraged if the National League tries to bluff us. Fight
them with fire, gentlemen.

1

“His middle name should have been Fighter!” Andrews said.

They discussed the likelihood of the National dropping four of its twelve
teams before the 1900 season. Johnson was determined to be in position
to catch them like an outfielder camped under a can of corn. Toward that
end, they decided their regional identity was no longer appropriate for the
expansion they had in mind. They should change the name to the American
League. That would also undermine any potential American Association
backers, denying them clear title to that patriotic-sounding emblem.

When the 1899 season ended, Connie Mack did some more business with
Louisville. Barney Dreyfuss, anticipating that the Louisville club might be
dropped by the National League, had sold his interests to a group led by
Harry Pulliam and was trying to buy part or all of the Pittsburgh club.
Mack prevailed upon Pulliam to draft infielder Wid Conroy from Utica of
the New York League for spring delivery to the Brewers.

Mack went back to Massachusetts, but he didn’t stay long. In October
he was reported to be in Chicago, Cleveland, Philadelphia, New York, and
California (he didn’t get there) in pursuit of players. Accompanied by Matt
Killilea and Fred Gross, he was in Chicago October 11 and 12 for the league
meeting at the Northwestern Hotel.

After awarding the Indianapolis club $100 to buy itself a pennant for
the 1899 championship, the directors distributed the remaining money in
the league’s sinking fund, from $900 for Minneapolis to $7.79 for St. Paul.
Then, in a unanimous vote, they dissolved the Western League and imme-
diately reorganized as the American League. In other business, they limited
the number of players claimed to ten at any time and a total of twenty-five
signed, claimed, or otherwise reserved prior to opening day. Johnson was
authorized to draw up a 140-game schedule, arrange all railroad transpor-
tation, and choose either Spalding or Reach as the official supplier of base-
balls. (The merger of the two companies in 1889 blunted the importance
of this choice.)

Johnson was also instructed to apply to the Board of Arbitration for a
change in the National Agreement, raising the draft price for American
League players from $500 to $1,000 and making them subject to drafting
after two years instead of one in the league. These changes were approved,
placing the American in a higher classification than other minor leagues.
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Johnson and Comiskey continued to negotiate with Chicago Orphans
owner Jim Hart. Hoping to kill off the American Association and keep it
out of his backyard, Hart had encouraged Johnson to usurp the “American”
label for his league. Now Johnson pressed his desire to put one of his “minor
league” teams in Chicago. Comiskey wanted the franchise.

Hart thought a minor league team in the city would further weaken the
threat of a major league rival. He agreed, providing they rented his west
side grounds to use when his team was on the road. Johnson nixed that
idea and said the American League would build its own park on the south
side of the city. Whereupon Hart denied that he had ever invited the nose
of Johnson’s camel into his Chicago tent.

It didn’t matter what Hart denied. Ban Johnson was moving in.

Sporting Life warned that going into Chicago would be ruinous for the
Western upstarts and doubted they had the capital to survive the impend-
ing war.

Mack was back in East Brookfield when Johnson and Comiskey went
to Milwaukee in the last week of December to complete their plans for
the 1900 season. From Henry Killilea’s home Johnson announced that
Comiskey would move the St. Paul club to Chicago “at any cost,” with or
without James Hart’s consent, even if it meant breaking away from the
National Agreement. What’s more, Johnson added, if the National League
dropped Cleveland, the Grand Rapids club would go there.

“We could eclipse the National League within three years,” Johnson
declared.

Connie Mack read these blustering statements with approval. He was
ready to follow Ban Johnson into battle, wherever it led.
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MARCHING BEHIND
BAN JOHNSON

17

Connie Mack was at home in East Brookfield in January 1900 when tragedy
struck the community. The Bergen brothers, Marty and Bill, both catchers,
had followed Mack to the major leagues. Marty was the only catcher Mack
had seen who could throw a man out at second from a squatting position
behind the plate. Mack had once put in a claim for Bill, who signed with
another club. On January 19 Marty Bergen went berserk, killing his wife
and two young children with an ax before cutting his throat with a razor.
Mack and Billy Hamilton, a Boston teammate of Bergen’s, were the only
baseball people with Bill Bergen at the funeral.

In March Mary Mack made her final appeal for an increase in her wid-
ow’s pension. She was summoned to a hearing in Worcester by the pension
bureau, but she pleaded that she was too ill to leave her home. A special
examiner, Charles F. Nichols, agreed to come to her house. He found a tiny,
white-haired woman of fifty-nine who appeared to be on her deathbed,
attended by her sons Dennis and Eugene.

“She has been very ill,” Nichols wrote in his report, “and is now in a very
weak condition, and I am sure from her looks and what the family told me
cannot live but a short time, unless she improves her present condition.
She could not sit up and I took her testimony while she lay on a couch.
The claimant is the mother of ‘Connie Mack, a ballplayer who is with the
Washington league team for some years.” (That’s what Nichols wrote; the
report didn’t say who told him, and he was probably not a baseball fan.)

Two neighbors, Eddie Drake and Simon Daley, testified that Mary had
been in feeble health for some time “and is liable to die most any time.”

Nichols concluded that early action should be taken on the claim. He
filed his eighteen-page report and depositions promptly. On March 26
Mary was awarded $12 a month retroactive to September 11, 1892. Her
“present condition” improved, and she lived another twelve years.
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Connie Mack didn’t share the concerns for his mother’s health. After
celebrating his son Earle’s tenth birthday with the family, he returned to
Milwaukee in mid-February. Sporting Life correspondent H. H. Cohn jok-
ingly described the thirty-seven-year-old, slender-as-ever Mack as “the
same good natured, smiling, fat Connie of old.” Mack lost a close friend
when Cohn died the following September.

With Western players now protected from the draft for two years, Mack
moved ahead with his plans to build an entirely new and, he hoped,
younger team. He also looked forward to the fallout of players when and if
the National League finally got around to lopping off four teams, a move
that was expected any day. Meanwhile, baseball writers conjured up all
sorts of imaginative scenarios for the 1900 season. There might even be
four major leagues, they speculated.

It had been twenty-four years since the birth of major league baseball,
but it was still acting like a teenager, hormones exploding with chaotic
results. The game’s physical growth was far ahead of its mental and emo-
tional development. There were meetings going on everywhere, plots and
counterplots, with more bones of contention than you'd find in a backyard
full of hounds. John McGraw was scavenging in several cities for backers
for a revived American Association. The Killilea brothers were reported
huddling with Ban Johnson in New York, Chicago, and Milwaukee. A fran-
tic week of train rides and confabs climaxed with a gathering in room 185 of
the Republican House on the night of March 5. With Mack and Comiskey
present, they put the last piece of the new American League in place,
secretly incorporating Comiskey’s Chicago White Stockings in Wisconsin
to avoid a confrontation with James Hart and the National League until the
National completed its club-cutting plans.

It took until March 8 for the National League to sever Cleveland,
Baltimore, Washington, and Louisville from its ranks. (It also voted to rede-
sign home plate from a square to the pentagon shape that is still used. This
was done to eliminate the trouble over strike calls, with pitchers wanting
the call when balls went over the corners. Now there would be no corners
to kick about. Or so they thought.) Ban Johnson then made it public that
the American League would field a team on a one-time cricket grounds
at Thirty-ninth and Wentworth Avenue on Chicago’s south side, with or
without James Hart’s approval.

After more bickering and barrages of statements and denials, the inva-
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sion of Chicago by the American League ended peacefully. James Hart
extracted the right to claim up to two players from any American League
team for $1,000 by August 15, and Ban Johnson agreed to keep his league in
the National Agreement until the end of the year. Hart had one other con-
dition: the “White Stockings” could not use Chicago as part of their name.
He was not concerned about the competition. It would be located on the
far south side of the city, downwind from the stockyards, an area lacking
any attraction for the residents of the more densely populated north and
west sides.

It was rumored that Ban Johnson had an interest in the new Chicago
club, which he denied. He did have an interest in its success; if it failed,
that would set back his plans immeasurably. Still, it seemed suspicious to
some club owners that whenever they put in a claim for a player, they were
informed that Chicago had made a prior claim.

While all this was going on, Mack showed up in Pittsburgh to complete
the purchase of Pete Dowling, an effective southpaw for Louisville “when
he avoids liquor.” Barney Dreyfuss had bought control of the Pirates and
was in the process of combining the Louisville and Pittsburgh rosters to
create a powerhouse. Mack expressed confidence that neither the Brewers
nor Pirates had anything to fear from John McGraw’s efforts to put rival
teams in their cities. “There isn’t a ghost of a show for the project to ever
get on its feet,” he accurately predicted.

From Pittsburgh he went to Richmond, Indiana, to arrange for three
weeks of spring practice beginning April 1. Then he was off to Cincinnati to
try to sign two former teammates, outfielder Jake Stenzel, who had played
for him in Pittsburgh, and Dummy Hoy, who was reported to have inher-
ited property in Ireland, didn’t need the money, and was not inclined to
play in a minor league after twelve years in the National. Hoy changed his
mind but signed with Comiskey’s new Chicago club.

While the National owners couldn’t stop feuding with each other, the
American League remained a close-knit family, ruled by the patriarchal
Ban Johnson. He had a hand in everything his family did, especially the
weaker siblings. Anticipating the National’s abandonment of Cleveland, he
went to that city on February 28 to prospect for local backers. He struck a
mother lode.

Charles W. Somers, a handsome man about town with a generous, adven-
turous spirit, had become wealthy with his father in the coal business. Jack
Kilfoyl owned a successful men’s furnishings store. Both were avid baseball
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cranks. Johnson left town with more than he had hoped for. Somers paid
Tom Loftus $2,500 for the Grand Rapids franchise and opened his bankroll
to fund Johnson’s plans for the rest of the family. Loftus became the man-
ager of Jim Hart’s Chicago Orphans.

Comiskey was busy in Chicago fighting city hall for approval to build a
wooden grandstand. So Johnson asked Connie Mack to go to Cleveland to
help Somers and Kilfoyle get started. Mack had his hands full preparing for
the new season in Milwaukee, but off he went.

Arriving around March 10, he found Somers and Kilfoyl with plenty of
enthusiasm and money but no experience, no players, no manager, and no
ballpark. “We want a first-class team and are willing to pay for it,” Somers
and his partner told Mack. The three of them went to Youngstown, where
they called on retired outfielder Jimmy McAleer and talked him into sign-
ing to manage the team. They took some Grand Rapids players and, with
Ban Johnson’s help, signed some of the National League players who had
been cut loose.

The National was asking $15,000 for the grounds it had abandoned in
Cleveland. Somers had already paid for a lease on other grounds. After
some negotiations with the National, Mack persuaded Somers to pay
$10,000 for the League Park grounds and equipment.

Before going on to Chicago for more meetings, Mack was asked how
he regarded Cleveland as a baseball city. “I visited the city in the National
League and never saw a poor crowd here. We always drew well while I was
with Pittsburgh, and even Washington brought out the crowds.”

Asked if Kilfoyl and Somers were worried about the kind of team they
would have, Mack said, “Well, a little, I guess. They told me that they
wanted a first-class team and would not take anything else. I assured them
that they can get it and they are the kind of men who know how to do it.
They know what they want and will pay for it. That is the way to get first-
class ball teams.”

While stocking the Cleveland Blues’ roster, Mack was also spending more
money than the Brewers had ever put out for players. From Brooklyn he
bought John Anderson, twenty-six, a six-foot-two switch-hitting first base-
man called “the Terrible Swede,” although he was born in Norway, and out-
fielder Dave Fultz, twenty-four. Heinie Reitz, the peppery second baseman
of the Orioles’ rowdy championship teams, and right-hander Tully Sparks
came from Pittsburgh. He retrieved shortstop Wid Conroy, who had been
stored in Louisville, and signed George Yeager, twenty-six, a light-hitting
catcher with big league experience.
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Clearly, Mack did not intend to rely wholly on green material. But he did
fulfill his promise of an all-new team. Only three holdovers remained: Irv
Waldron, Bill Reidy, and George Rettger.

Toward the end of March the following item appeared in a Milwaukee
paper: “Connie Mack has a younger brother who is said to be a comer.
Short of stature and stockily built, a third baseman, besides having a strong
arm, he is said to be a good batter. Eugene Mack has received an offer from
the Muncie team of the Indiana League.”

The Indiana League opened in May and closed in June without Eugene
showing up in any Muncie box scores, nor in the league records. There is
no evidence that Connie Mack ever gave his brother a tryout. Eugene vis-
ited him in Milwaukee in late April before going back to work in a shoe
factory in Spencer.

Mack arrived at the Arvinton Hotel in Richmond, Indiana, on March
31. Relaxing in the lobby, he read that Samuel Gompers of the American
Federation of Labor was attempting to organize the ballplayers into a branch
of the union. Gompers’s timing was off. He had missed the Brotherhood
boat and was too early for the next players’ union sailing.

The Brewers were scheduled to inaugurate the new Chicago grounds on
Thursday, April 19, but it rained all day. With no letup in sight, Comiskey
suggested moving the opener to Milwaukee. The Brewers left Richmond
and arrived in Chicago on Wednesday night, expecting to play the next
day. Informed that they would open at home instead, they climbed back
on the train and went to Milwaukee, only to learn that Comiskey had
changed his mind. The opener was back on for Chicago on Saturday. They
practiced at home on Friday, then took the morning train on a cold, over-
cast Saturday. Before a large, enthusiastic crowd Milwaukee won the first
American League game in Chicago, 5-4, in ten innings. (When a Western
Union operator tried to enter the grounds, Comiskey refused to let him in.
He was concerned that if men could sit in saloons and restaurants and pool
halls and read the play-by-play action, they wouldn’t go to the games. Ban
Johnson agreed and urged all his clubs to do the same.)

Despite the threatening weather and much to James Hart’s dismay, the
White Stockings were an immediate success. Comiskey claimed he took in
more money in the first two days than he had seen all year in St. Paul.

Chicago, clad in intimidating new black road uniforms, opened the
Brewers’ home season on April 27. Innovations at the Lloyd Street grounds
included a blackboard on which the lineups were written and a crier who
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walked about announcing changes in the lineup during the game. The
Brewers won, 6—2, before a quiet crowd of about 5,000, who didn’t know any
of the players except Irv Waldron. Otherwise, the opening day lineup pre-
sented all new faces, as Mack had promised. Two days later the first Sunday
game brought out a record crowd. The visiting Chicagos announced that
they were paid on the basis of 15,847, by far the largest crowd the renamed
league would entertain that season. Hundreds of brightly costumed ladies
festooned the grandstand and stood among the overflow in the outfield.

The Brewers started fast, winning 11 of their first 15. Their spirited play
and the unseasonably warm weather brought out big crowds. The National
Police Gazette noted, “Connie Mack has given Milwaukee the best team that
city has ever had”

Then things happened. Catcher Harry Smith was sidelined when he was
hit on the shin by a foul ball. First baseman Bill Clarke broke an ankle and
was out for the year. Heinie Reitz went to California, where his wife was ill,
and never came back. Catcher George Yeager, batting a torrid .38 after 19
games, tore some knee ligaments. That finished him for the year. In July,
Mack, fully expecting to be back in Milwaukee in 1901, offered to pay Yeager
his entire salary for 1900 if the catcher would sign a 1901 contract. Yeager
said no and wound up with Cleveland.

Wid Conroy had a bad ankle, then a split finger. Dave Fultz refused to
play on Sundays. Pete Dowling missed a month with shoulder problems.
Third baseman Jimmy Burke had arm problems. Mack put pitcher George
Rettger on second and catcher Mama Diggins on first while he scoured the
National League for infielders. He traded Charlie Chech to Cleveland for
Lou Bierbauer, then sold Bierbauer to Buffalo in July and tried a Chicago
City League shortstop named Schneider, who quickly disappeared. He
bought Tommy Dowd from Chicago to play left field, then released him
when Dowd wrenched his shoulder in some off-the-field adventure. Mack
offered Cincinnati $1,000 for Sam Crawford, a twenty-year-old rookie out-
fielder from Wahoo, Nebraska, but was turned down. All summer he had
players coming and going, aiding the railroad and telegraph companies
more than his team.

There were a few bright spots. John Anderson was a consistent hitter and
agile base stealer. Mack refused $1,000 from John T. Brush for him. Twice
in June the Brewers played games in which neither team made an error, a
rarity at a time when they could lead the league in fielding despite making
320 errors. Only four such games were played in the league all season.
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An unpleasant confrontation touched off Connie Mack’s first real tidal
wave of criticism from the press and public. When Pete Dowling hurt his
shoulder in June, Mack went hunting for pitching. Pete Husting, who had
won 9 games for him in 1899, was coaching the University of Wisconsin
team while finishing his term in law school. On June 15 Mack asked him to
return to the Brewers for $150 a month. Husting wanted $175. “You’ve had
no spring training,” Mack reportedly told him. “Show me what you can do
first.” Husting agreed.

Husting won his first start on June 17 against Buffalo, graduated from
law school three days later, then won again. After winning 4 of his first 5
decisions, Husting decided he had shown what he could do. He asked Mack
for the raise. Mack said no.

Unlike most players, Husting had an alternative. He quit the team and
went to work in his brother’s law office while pitching for a semipro team
in nearby Arcadia. Mack fined and suspended him, which didn’t faze the
pitcher. The fans took the player’s side, criticizing Mack for not coming up
with the additional $25 a month. They circulated a petition urging Mack to
take Husting back and give him the raise, which didn’t faze the manager.

A Sentinel editorial came down hard on Connie Mack and the entire
baseball establishment:

Husting joined the team a few weeks ago and pitched winning ball.
He says he had an arrangement whereby he received $150 a month
to begin with, and $175 if he did good work. He proved his value
by winning games and reminded the manager of the agreement to
raise his salary. He was informed he must continue to play at $150
a month or leave the club. He chose to leave, and was punished by
being suspended and fined. This disregard of the rights of players is
not uncommon in baseball. They are under the absolute control of
the capitalists who organize baseball leagues. If one of them asserts
the ordinary privileges exercised by citizens in other employments a
fine and often suspension preventing the player from obtaining an
engagement elsewhere is imposed. The real autocrats of the land seem
to be the baseball managers.

In a decade Connie Mack had gone from being one of those players with-
out rights to one of those “autocrats” he had rebelled against with the
Brotherhood.
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Later critics of Mack who have tagged him as stingy and miserly may see
this as proof of their charge. But not every human motivation can be satis-
factorily or conclusively explained. The truth often dodges and squirts like
a globule of mercury when you try to grasp it.

The difference of $75 for the rest of the season was not coming entirely
out of Mack’s pocket, nor would it make a discernible difference in the
club’s bottom line. Mack had demonstrated that he would go high for good
players in the open market. The Brewers’ payroll was the second high-
est in the league, topped only by Chicago. He had been willing to carry
the injured George Yeager on the payroll for the entire year just to secure
him for next season. Over the years to come, Mack would pay voluntary
bonuses and display many generous gestures toward players out of his own
pocket—more of them unsung than sung.

How then to reconcile this seemingly contradictory tightness and gener-
osity? It may not be necessary to reconcile them. Connie Mack was made of
ambiguities and contradictions like everybody else. He could be tight and
he could be generous, just as he could be kind and softhearted or sarcastic
and tough as a whip. When he had the money, his payroll would be the
highest in the league. When he didn’t have it, he wouldn’t pay even what he
knew a player might be worth. Either way, whether his team was on top or
on the bottom, he hated salary disputes.

There is another possible explanation.

As the Sentinel put it, “Husting says he had an arrangement.” Connie
Mack may not have taken the same understanding from their conversa-
tion that Husting did. He may have seen it as the pitcher asking for more
money than they had agreed on. When a player agreed to a salary and then
asked for a contract to be renegotiated, it wasn’t miserliness that made
Mack resist. It was an obstinacy that made him dig in and refuse to budge.
The more the player tugged or the press pushed, the more unyielding he
became.

More than anything, the incident illustrated one of Mack’s prominent
characteristics—a flint-hard Yankee stubbornness that manifested itself
often throughout his life. He could be both mule and mule skinner. The
case of Pete Husting would not be the last time this stubborn streak cost
him, in public esteem or a needed player’s services.

Still short of pitchers, Mack read that the Pittsburgh Pirates had sus-
pended George Edward “Rube” Waddell. The talented but erratic twenty-
three-year-old southpaw had been driving manager Fred Clarke nuts—in
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Louisville and now Pittsburgh—for four years. Clarke had twice sent him
down to the Western League, where Mack had seen him for the first time
on May 6, 1898. Waddell had spent most of the 99 season with Columbus,
which had moved to Grand Rapids in July. A favorite of the fans, he won 26
and lost 8, striking out 200. The Brewers dealt him four of his losses, hit-
ting him freely in two of them. Waddell was a clumsy fielder who could be
bunted on successfully. But Mack had seen enough to know that Waddell’s
raw ability more than matched these flaws and his outsized eccentricities.
He threw harder than any pitcher Mack would ever see, had an off-the-
table curve, and was completely devoid of nerves. He wasn’t bright enough
to be worried by anything.

With the Pirates to start the 1900 season, Waddell’s pitching was as
unpredictable as his behavior. When Rube was winning, the straitlaced,
firm disciplinarian Clarke could tolerate him. But Waddell was not win-
ning in June. Clarke suspended him for being “out of condition” and hav-
ing injured a finger while playing catch with some kids or pitching in a
sandlot game—nobody really knew.

Mack was aware that Waddell could—and did—jump a team when-
ever he took a notion, disappearing to Canada or a firehouse or a favorite
fishing hole. This time, Mack read, Waddell had landed in Punxsutawney,
a town about one hundred miles northeast of Pittsburgh, where he was
pitching and playing outfield for the town’s semipro team. His fun-loving,
generous nature had made him the most popular gent in town with all
the other kids, as well as the firehouse and saloon bunch. On the field he
gabbed with other players, turned cartwheels whenever he felt like it, and
threw lightning and jughandles, also when he felt like it.

But Waddell still belonged to the Pirates. Relying on his close relation-
ship with Barney Dreyfuss, Mack took a train to Pittsburgh. Given the
informality of the baseball business in those days, Mack simply asked
Dreyfuss for permission to borrow Waddell. There was no deal, no trade,
no money involved.

“Go ahead,” Dreyfuss told him. “If you can handle him, you’re welcome
to him.”

Hoping to go directly to Punxsutawney and bring Rube back with him,
Mack immediately tracked him down at the Hotel Whitney and put in a
call to him. He had never spoken to Waddell and doubted that Rube had
any idea who he was. When he heard a voice come on the line, he said,
“Hello, is that you, Rube?”
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“Who in hell is this?” was the reply.

Something in his tone suggested to Mack that Waddell, though he’d been
tagged “Rube” as far back as 1896, might be sensitive about his nickname,
especially coming from a stranger. Mack switched smoothly to, “Eddie, this
is Connie Mack of the Milwaukee club. I’d like you to do some pitching
for me.”

“Not interested,” Eddie said.

Mack told him how eager the Milwaukee fans were to see him, how the
Brewers could win the pennant with his help, how much money he could
earn. Eddie wasn’t buying any of it.

“I like it here,” he insisted. “There is no money on earth that could make
me leave Punxsutawney.”

Disappointed, Mack returned to Milwaukee alone. The positive side of
stubbornness is perseverance, and Connie Mack could exercise both sides.
For the next two weeks he sent Waddell daily telegrams and followed them
up with letters. How persuasive they were is unknown. It may just be that
Waddell’s cash, his credit, and his welcome in Punxsutawney had run out.
Whatever it was, Mack’s persistence was finally rewarded with a wire from
Eddie: “Come and get me.”

Baseball literature and legend are filled with stories of the deeds and
misdeeds of Rube Waddell, the little boy in the six-foot-two, 200-pound
body with a million-dollar arm and five-cent head. Some of the tales are
true; all are plausible. Some of them will be recounted in this account of
Connie MacKk’s life and times because the irrepressible southpaw became
Connie Mack’s first great pitcher, his most difficult challenge as a manager,
and—out of the thousands of men who played for him —his favorite char-
acter. Through the years that followed, Mack’s luncheon and banquet audi-
ences, his children and grandchildren would hear him tell more anecdotes
about the rounding up—but never taming—of George Edward “Rube”
Waddell than of any other player. Despite memory’s predilection for play-
ing with details, Mack’s version of his Punxsutawney expedition remained
remarkably consistent with each telling.

On Wednesday, July 25, the Brewers lost their fifth straight to Buffalo,
but Mack wasn’t there to see it. He had left after the previous day’s game to
collect his new pitcher. He took a train to Pittsburgh and had to wait until
three o’clock in the morning, he said, for a connection that stopped in
Punxsutawney. He arrived around eight, roused Rube at the Whitney and
bought him a breakfast of four eggs, pancakes, and appropriate side dishes.
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Then Waddell announced that he had some business matters to clear up
before leaving town. His business consisted of paying bills—or more pre-
cisely, of Connie Mack’s paying the bills. Mack’s hundred-dollar bankroll
was rapidly depleted as they stopped at a gents’ furnishings store, a saloon,
a suit-pressing establishment, and a sporting goods store. Mack nervously
peeled off the greenbacks, calculating as he went how much he would need
to get them both back to Milwaukee.

“Eddie, I can’t pay for much more,” Mack said.

“Just one more stop,” Rube said. They went to the Adams Express office,
which was holding a hunting dog Waddell had ordered cop. Mack paid the
$8 charge; what became of the dog never made it into any version of the
story, but they didn’t take it with them.

As they neared the hotel, Waddell added another “just one more stop,”
a pawn shop, where Mack shook as he shelled out $25 to rescue Rube’s
pocket watch.

Having covered all of Main Street during their settling-up spree, Mack
was certain that word of their activities had spread. He knew how popular
Waddell was in town. He was sure that someone must have recognized him
as the former Pittsburgh player and manager. He was prepared for the local
baseball fans to put up some resistance to his making off with their star
player. Had he read the local paper that morning, Mack would have been
even more nervous: the reason for his visit was no secret in the town.

They made it back to the Whitney about noon. Mack helped Waddell pack
his grip, tipped a bellboy to carry it to the depot, ordered some sandwiches
sent up, and kept out of sight until it was nearly time to catch the three
o’clock train for Pittsburgh. Mack figured it would take them fifteen min-
utes to walk to the station, buy the tickets, and bail out Eddie’s luggage.

Mack recalled:

We followed this plan to the letter, and everything was apparently
going along smoothly, although every minute seemed an hour. Never
did I inwardly root so hard for a train to appear as I did that afternoon
in Punxsutawney.

Finally, about five minutes before train time, a group of important-
appearing men approached us. My heart sank. As they neared me,
unsmiling and determined-looking, I sensed there was trouble in the
air. We had made some mistake and now the town knew what was up
and sought to keep me from taking their attraction away.
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Knowing Waddell’s capacity for irregularity, I realized it would be
comparatively easy for them to get out a fake warrant just to detain
him, so they could talk him out of the Milwaukee project. . . . I steeled
myself for the ordeal that was to follow.

One of the group stepped out and called me aside. He shook my
hands and said, “You are Connie Mack?”

I admitted it.

“Well, my friends and I came down here to the station,” he went on,
to my astonishment, “to tell you that you have done us a great favor
in taking Waddell out of this town.” Then he called over his friends
and introduced them to me. “Waddell is a wonderful pitcher,” contin-
ued the spokesman, “but on account of his eccentricities the fans and
ourselves believe that Punxsutawney would be better off without him.
Nobody can control him.”

In the meantime, the Rube had backed up against the curb of an
iron fence at the station. He leaned over with his head on his hands
like Rodin’s Thinker. He imagined that the members of the delega-
tion, whose glances he avoided, were giving me a battle to hold him. I
did not disillusion him until we had safely boarded the train.

After another night of travel they arrived in Milwaukee on Thursday
morning. Mack had advertised that Waddell would pitch for the Brewers
that afternoon. About five hundred fans turned out to see him strike out
8 and give up 5 hits, but 2 wild pitches and an error in the first inning cost
him a 3—2 loss. (In the Sentinel’s game account, the word “fans” appeared in
quotes for the first time in that paper.)

Two days later Pete Dowling pitched a no-hitter against Cleveland, and
on Sunday Rube threw a 2-hit shutout at the Blues, 4—o.

Waddell fulfilled all of Mack’s hopes in Milwaukee. “He was sensational,”
Mack said. “He had everything, ability and color.” He drew large, adoring
crowds whenever he pitched. Ever the showman, Mack put on a glove and
warmed him up. Standing in front of the grandstand, he sometimes stepped
aside and let a fastball zip past his glove and crash against the boards. It
never failed to get a rise from the crowd. “Kill ’em, Rube,” they shouted.

Waddell had more fun than anybody. He pranced, he grinned, he ban-
tered with the fans, he turned handsprings when he fanned the side or
won a close game. And he was happy. There were plenty of good fishing
spots—his favorite was Peewaukee Lake—and busy fire engines to ride.
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The fans soon caught on to Rube’s most visible superstition: before a game
or after a few innings, he would go out to the bleachers and ask a fan to cut
a sliver of material off the ends of his undershirt. It was, like many of his
idiosyncrasies, unique to the Rube.

Starting and relieving, Waddell worked in 9 games in three weeks. He
won 5 and lost 2 with 2 ties. On Sunday, August 19, at Chicago, a packed
house of about ten thousand showed up for a doubleheader against the
second-place Brewers, who were battling the White Stockings for the lead.
(On the west side of town, the Orphans were playing the Giants before the
smallest Sunday crowd—under three thousand—in their history.) Despite
working twelve innings twice in the past week, Waddell went 17 innings in
a 2—2 tie before he tripled and scored the winning run. According to the
Tribune, Rube was firing “Chinese interrogation points” at the Sox. After he
retired the last batter, he turned cartwheels of jubilation from the pitcher’s
box to the bench. The crowd’s disappointment over the loss was dispelled
by Rube’s joyful antics.

The game lasted an inordinate three hours and seven minutes. It was
now past six o’clock. Sox captain Dick Padden approached Mack and sug-
gested the second game be cut to 5 innings. An idea sparked in Mack’s
mind. Waddell had finished so strong, shutting out Chicago over the last
8 innings, that he looked as if he could keep pitching until it was dark.
Mack readily agreed to Padden’s suggestion, then turned to Rube and said,
“Eddie, if you will pitch this 5-inning second game, instead of going with
us to Kansas City, you can go back to Milwaukee tonight and spend the
next three days fishing at Peewaukee.”

Mack knew his man; Waddell grabbed the ball and threw another 5 shut-
out innings, winning a 1-o one-hitter.

Reports of the unusual iron-man performance appeared in newspapers
all over the country, to Mack’s ultimate dismay. Barney Dreyfuss read them
and was reminded of his problem pitcher. The Pirates were in a tight pen-
nant race with Brooklyn. If Waddell was pitching that well, they could cer-
tainly use him. Dreyfuss sent a telegram to Mack in Kansas City reclaiming
his valuable property.

Mack doubted that Waddell and Fred Clarke would get along any bet-
ter than they had before. He also realized that his own championship
hopes would dim considerably if he lost his ace. But Waddell belonged to
the Pirates. There was no getting around their right to him. Reluctantly,
Mack telegraphed Waddell to report to Pittsburgh. He was not surprised
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when Rube wired back that he would quit before going back to the Pirates.
Besides, he had become an overnight hero in Peewaukee and was in no
hurry to desert his new circle of admirers.

On his first night at the lake a thunderstorm had come up. Lightning
struck a dairy barn. The flames lit up the sky and Rube’s eyes. According to
the Sentinel, when Rube arrived at the scene, he found a group of farmers
standing around watching the barn burn. Rube stirred them into action,
shouting, “Why don’t you try to save something?” as he dashed into the
inferno. The others followed. They saved forty head of stock plus wagons,
buggies, and machinery. Rube suffered a burn on one hand.

“I'm a peach at a fire,” he told a local reporter. “There is nothing I like
better than to fight fires. I was a fireman for seven years at Pittsburgh. 'm
glad I was able to help the old farmer some.”

Ignoring Dreyfuss’s orders, Waddell rejoined the Brewers when they
returned home and pitched 3 complete-game wins in a week. But Connie
Mack didn’t want to jeopardize his good standing with Dreyfuss. It might
look like he was stalling Rube’s return or abetting Rube’s stubborn refusal
to leave. He wrote the Pirates’ owner a letter—no need for the speed of a
telegram here— explaining that Waddell would never respond to letters or
telegrams or threats of any kind. He advised Dreyfuss to send an emissary
to corral Rube and bring him back. It wouldn’t hurt that Rube might get in
a few more starts in the meantime.

The Brewers were in Indianapolis when Pirates catcher Chief Zimmer
showed up on Friday, August 31, with orders to escort Waddell to Boston
in time for a Labor Day doubleheader. Rube told Zimmer he wasn’t going,
then pitched a 3—2 loss, called after 5 innings because of darkness, over
Connie Mack’s angry protests.

The veteran Zimmer was used to dealing with quiet, disciplined pitchers
like Cy Young. Unable to cope with the adolescent Rube, he appealed to
Mack for help. Mack advised him to take Rube shopping for a new ward-
robe to win him over. The next morning Zimmer spent a few hours and
unknown amounts of Barney Dreyfuss’s money outfitting Rube with
everything from suits to shoes, throwing in a new leather grip to carry it all.
The happy Waddell was now willing to go anywhere with his new friend,
and off to Boston they went.

Mack watched his chances for the American League pennant disappear
down the converging railroad tracks. Without Rube they had to settle for
second place, 4 games behind Chicago. The reunion of Rube Waddell and
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Fred Clarke proved as rocky as Mack had predicted and did not bring the
Pirates the pennant. They, too, finished second.

Before Waddell left town, Mack had been putting together a team to
go barnstorming west to California and Mexico, starting in Chicago on
September 22. Mack didn’t intend to publicize it until everything was set,
but the secret got out in a hurry. When Mack invited Waddell to go along,
Rube immediately went shopping for appropriate arms for western-type
hunting and told every gun shop owner about the trip. Each player put up
a $100 deposit as a guarantee that he would stay until the end. It would be
refunded if the gate receipts were sufficient. They weren’t. The tour reached
Denver, where cold weather caused Mack to abandon the idea and send
everybody home. The venture cost him $400.

When Sporting Life reported Milwaukee’s attendance for the year at
88,000, Mack scoffed. “We played to more than that on our sixteen Sundays
at home,” he said, adding that 150,000 was a more accurate estimate. Mack
put the club’s profits at $10,000. In Chicago, Comiskey claimed his club
had drawn 250,000, more than Hart’s Orphans.

Connie Mack put away his straw hat with its silk trolley, which fastened
to his coat lapel to keep the hat from being blown away by Lake Michigan
breezes. He took out his winter derby and headed for the battlefields of the
conference room, where more significant actions had been taking place
than on any diamond that summer.

On a Sunday in June that found every National club idle in the East,
players from every club had met at the Sturtevant Hotel in New York.
Alienated by the owners’ actions and attitudes, they formed the Protective
Association of Professional Baseball Players and elected Chief Zimmer
president. A month later they met again, adopted a constitution, and hired
a Buffalo attorney, ex-player Harry Taylor. Their primary objectives were
to limit the reserve clause to five years and prohibit the farming out or sell-
ing of players without their consent and agreement to the terms.

Correctly reading the signs that the American League was intent
on becoming another big league market for their services, the Players’
Association wooed Ban Johnson, who welcomed their affections. Johnson
promised to add provisions in his league’s contracts limiting suspensions
to ten days and the reserve clause to three years, paying doctor bills for
game-related injuries, and allowing binding arbitration to settle disputes.
The association also demanded the abolition of the practice of farming out
players. Johnson was sympathetic but made no promises on that point. He
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had given them enough to earn the American League the public backing of
the Players’ Association.

American League expansion plans moved to the front burner as early as
August. Henry Killilea and Connie Mack were among league owners and
managers who met in Ban Johnson’s office on August 23. They worked on
the wording of the preamble to their declaration of independence from the
National Agreement, making them equal in every way to the National. In
order to gain the support of the minor leagues, they drew up a petition to
do away with the drafting of players, a perennial grievance of the minors.
Opver dinner, they discussed possible invasion targets in the East.

“There is room for two leagues operating under an amicable agree-
ment,” Johnson told reporters, adding—naively? coyly? baitingly? — “we do
not expect to find serious opposition to the request.”

If Connie Mack had any inkling that his future lay somewhere other
than Milwaukee, he gave no indication. On October 3 he told the press that
he expected to have the same team back in Milwaukee in 1901. Before head-
ing home for a brief visit, he had a long talk with Pete Husting and patched
up his differences with the young attorney. Husting agreed to return to the
Brewers in 1901.

Asked to comment on the rumors of changes in the works, Mack said
he favored the admission of Baltimore and Washington to the American
League. When speculation about Philadelphia popped up in various news-
papers, there were hints that Milwaukee might be bounced from the league.
Mack admitted that such a scheme was afoot, but Henry Killilea denied
that Philadelphia was being considered. Ban Johnson issued a statement
pledging to stay out of Philadelphia and St. Louis “unless the National
League starts a war.” But a few days later the league was reported to have
formed a committee to search out playing fields in Baltimore, Washington,
Philadelphia, and Buffalo.

Confusing? Contradictory? Smoke? It was all of these. In the midst of the
hullabaloo, the Sporting News printed a cautionary headline:

IMMINENT DANGER

PROFESSIONAL BASEBALL IN A BAD WAY
Henry Killilea and Connie Mack had their own agenda when they went
to Chicago for league meetings on October 29. They were determined to

prevent the vacating of Milwaukee for an eastern city. Ban Johnson’s first
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priority was to get rid of John T. Brush, who said he had sold his interest
in the Indianapolis club but had merely transferred his stock to his wife’s
name. Mack and Killilea succeeded in retaining Milwaukee’s place in the
new order. Indianapolis and Buffalo were the most likely to be dropped.

Somers, Comiskey, and Mack were named to the league’s circuit com-
mittee, but Ban Johnson was involved in everything. He went to Milwaukee
on November 7, conferred with Matt Killilea and Mack, and left town with
Mack. Two days later they showed up in Washington with Comiskey. They
considered possible playing grounds in Baltimore and Washington, then,
joined by Somers, moved on to Philadelphia. There Johnson issued a state-
ment: “We have all the backing we want in Philadelphia and an option on
the grounds.”

It was not necessarily so. Branch Rickey once described Ban Johnson as
“a tireless finder and maker of facts to preface every undertaking. . .. He
never intentionally deceived. However, it can be said that he might let an
adversary stumble along with less than all the facts.”

The facts were they had some backing, from Charles Somers, but nowhere
near all they wanted or needed. And they had no option on any grounds,
nor any idea where suitable grounds might be available. They did have two
local agents. Ban Johnson offered a 25 percent stake in the new franchise
to Frank L. Hough, sporting editor of the Inquirer, and Samuel H. Jones,
a sportswriter for the Associated Press (ap). Neither put up any money. It
wouldn’t hurt to have a few members of the press in on the ground floor
with no risk. Both were highly regarded among their peers. Hough had
been president of the Pennsylvania State League and Atlantic League. His
column, “The Old Sport’s Musings,” was widely read. He became president
of the Pen and Pencil Club and the sportswriters” association. Jones had
been with AP since 1872.

The writers’ names never appeared in the original shareholder records.
The original 500 shares, issued in three certificates, were all in the joint
names of Cornelius McGillicuddy and Charles W. Somers. They operated
on nothing but faith and a handshake until March 10, 1902, when their
agreement was first put in writing.

Nobody expressed any concern about conflicts of interest.

Hough and Jones took Mack on a walking tour of the city, wearing out
his long legs as they looked at every empty lot from the pig farms on the
south side to the north end. Unlike Boston, where the streets had evolved
from a maze of cow paths, Philadelphia resembled a crossword puzzle pat-
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tern. William Penn had laid out the city in 1685 in straight streets and cross
streets. The main north-south thoroughfare, Broad Street, was twelve miles
long, then the longest straight street in the world. They walked past miles
of brick row houses with white marble stoops that glowed from a daily
scrubbing, down streets and alleys, past slums and houses of gambling
and prostitution threading through the wealthier sections like long, thin
genetic strands. Mack saw a piece of land he liked on Porter Street in South
Philly. Jones and Hough preferred a location north of the city center at
Twenty-sixth and Jefferson Streets. Used by the Athletics of the American
Association in the 1880s, it was now a city-owned playground adjacent to
a high school.

Comiskey and Somers were satisfied with the site. They persuaded Mack
to go along with the local men, who knew the city better than they did. On
November 19 Frank Hough appeared before the city’s Common Council,
seeking to lease the grounds. The request was referred to a committee on
city properties.

Only six clubs—Cleveland, Baltimore, Washington, Milwaukee, Chicago,
and Detroit—were represented when the league met at the Grand Pacific in
Chicago on November 20. The league had dropped Kansas City and given
the Washington franchise to Cowboys owner Jimmy Manning. Johnson
had offered the Baltimore franchise to the two most popular members of
the 1890s Orioles, John McGraw and Wilbert Robinson. McGraw repre-
sented Baltimore at the meeting, although the Orioles’ franchise was not
yet official.

They ratified a ten-year agreement and elected Ban Johnson president,
secretary, and treasurer at a salary of $5,000. With an eye on Boston and
Philadelphia, the six clubs established the procedure for admitting addi-
tional franchises.

Out of these meetings came the first acknowledgment of Connie Mack’s
possible departure from Milwaukee. Henry Killilea told a Milwaukee
reporter, “I guess Connie Mack will be going to Philadelphia all right.”
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LAUNCHING THE NEW
AMERICAN LEAGUE

18

Three men were primarily responsible for the early success of the American
League: Ban Johnson, with his vision, energy, management, and organiza-
tional skills; Charles Somers, with his unfettered faith and financial sup-
port; and Connie Mack, with his baseball acumen and willingness to work
for the success of other clubs as well as his own.

In addition to putting up most of the money in Cleveland, Somers
helped Comiskey with the building of his grandstand in Chicago and
provided $7,500 startup money to go with Connie Mack’s $2,500 stake in
Philadelphia. When no local backers appeared in Washington or Boston,
Somers financed the launching of those franchises, operating the Boston
club himself. To avoid the appearance of syndicate baseball, he “parked” his
interest in the Cleveland club in the names of Kilfoyle and Jimmy McAleer
until he sold the Boston club to Henry Killilea in 1902.

Starting in December 1900, the pace was staggering for the next five
months. Connie Mack, Ban Johnson, and Charles Somers spent more time
with railroad porters and conductors than with their own families, slept
in more beds than itinerant fleas, and signed scores of players—and lost
dozens more—for American League teams. They were creating businesses:
hunting for playing fields; ordering tickets printed; building grandstands;
hiring managers, players, groundskeepers, office boys.

For Connie Mack, it began with a return to Milwaukee on December 2
“to clear up some pressing business matters,” the Journal reported. Asked
if he intended to return to Milwaukee for the 1901 season, Mack chose his
words elusively. He had been cautioned by Johnson to say nothing that
might annoy the prickly National owners and jeopardize any chance of a
peace conference when the National League met next week. Johnson had
publicly stated that the American League would not go into Philadelphia
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“unless the National League starts a war.” But he knew war was inevitable.
Mack said only that he “expected” to be back.

“He says he has not had any talk with any of the Philadelphia promoters,”
the reporter wrote, “in regard to assuming the management there. While
in Philadelphia he stopped off to talk with some of the baseball promoters
but he was never approached by anyone connected with the new team. . . .
He said he has a number of excellent men in mind for Milwaukee next year
but has not done anything to get them formally.”

MacK’s visits to Philadelphia were obviously for something more than
the scrapple and pepperpot soup. To say he was not approached by anyone
connected with the new team was literally true. Ban Johnson and Charles
Somers had been with him. Hough and Jones had not approached him;
it was the other way round. The newspapermen were the only baseball
promoters with whom he talked, and they didn’t talk about his assum-
ing the management there because he was already slated by Johnson to be
the management. His “T’ll be back [in Milwaukee]” responses were contra-
dicted by his actions. He sat in the Republican House while the Brewers’
annual meeting on December 3 dealt with buying out his stock. He left
town immediately after the meeting for a brief visit to East Brookfield
before heading to Philadelphia.

Meanwhile the peripatetic Mr. Johnson met with Jim Hart in Chicago
on December 4, skipped to Cleveland the next day, jumped back to
Chicago on the sixth, trained to New York for a day, and, with Somers,
“blew into Philadelphia with the snow” on Monday the tenth, the same
day the National League opened its three—day meeting in New York. Mack
met them, and the trio set up headquarters at the Lafayette Hotel on Arch
Street, a block from City Hall.

During that week it had been all quiet on the baseball front. There was
a break in the verbal volleys: no comments, no putdowns, no boasts, no
threats. Ban Johnson was lying low, awaiting the call to the conference
table. He and Somers were ready to board a train for the ninety—mile sprint
to New York at any time. But the National left them cooling their heels. The
invitation never came.

Rumors were more plentiful than roomers at the Fifth Avenue Hotel,
where the National gathered. Despite Johnson’s entreaties for peace and
parity, Spalding and his followers were not prepared to accept, much less
welcome, any challenge to their monopoly on major league baseball. They
didn’t want a fight, but they were not about to recognize the American
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League as an equal. They were still paying off the debts from the 1890
Players’ League settlement, but they believed they were financially stronger
than Johnson’s upstarts. They threatened to reclaim the four cities they
had cut, forcing the American into a choice between head-on competition
or quitting Baltimore, Washington, and Cleveland. They openly supported
the resurrection of the American Association and tried to induce some
cat’s-paws to finance association teams in the eastern cities the American
was invading.

The public was sick of the bickering. The feuds and fulminations of the
magnates turned off their best customers. The professional game was still
struggling to recover its popularity as a spectator sport. Attendance had
slipped again in 1900. But it was thriving as a participant sport. That winter
teams from regiments of the New York National Guard played a season of
indoor baseball that drew extensive press coverage. The fans loved the game
and hated the business, with its shams, deceptions, and manipulations, which
were no better than the tactics employed by the robber barons of the steel,
railroad, oil, and streetcar industries. The wealth and political influence of
big business had given rise to the Populist Party, which cast all monopolies as
enemies of the people. And the National League was a monopoly.

What Thomas W. Lofton wrote in The Krank and His Language in 1888
remained appropriate, as it does today:

“Kranks crawl into a shell and do not emerge until April. While in his
shell his only article of food is gray newspaper articles on deals. During
the krank’s season from April to November he subsists on air and likes it
strong. First characteristic is knowing it all and second is telling it all.”

The only deals cranks wanted to read about involved players, not fran-
chises and syndicates and arcane secret ownership arrangements. A. J.
Reach was right when he commented, “The people are only interested in
the contests on the diamond and the players who participate in them. The
petty quarrels and wordy wars between club owners are annoying to them.
I wonder why the newspapers sacrifice their space to record wars between
men who own ball clubs.”

But sacrifice they did, by the column inch and broadsheet. As a former
newspaperman, Ban Johnson knew the power of the press. He won its sup-
port by selling his American League as a righteous cause, the “American
Way,” the unshackling of the workers from their eternal bondage to the rich
National League monopolists, who were cast as no better than the mill and
mine owners unleashing Pinkerton guards on striking underpaid workers.
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The National said all the right things about sitting down with the Players’
Protective Association to discuss the players’ grievances and demands. But
it was in no mood to give in on anything. A rumor that the players’ lead-
ers had gone to Philadelphia to meet with Johnson—which proved to be
true—caused National League owners to “have something clearly resem-
bling a fit,” according to the New York Times. Johnson went further than he
had before, granting the players a limited reserve or option clause and a
ban on farming, trading, or selling players without their consent.

Clark Griffith was the Players’ Association vice-president. Charles
Comiskey had been Griffith’s first major league manager in St. Louis in
1891. Now Comiskey hoped to induce Griffith to jump from Jim Hart’s
Orphans to his south side White Stockings as player-manager. He and
Johnson counted on Griffith bringing other National League stars with
him. Sometime in November the three of them met. Johnson asked Griffith
what he thought their chances were of attracting National Leaguers who
had not yet signed 1901 contracts.

“That depends,” Griffith told them, “on what happens when [the players]
meet with the National League in December. If the league agrees to raise
the salary limit from $2,400 to $3,000, and a few other of our demands, it
may be difficult for you to get players.”

Although the salary limit was a grievance of the players, $2,400 contracts
were actually rare and went only to the top stars.

On December 12, while Johnson, Mack, and Somers waited in
Philadelphia, Griffith was the last person to enter the room for the play-
ers’ showdown with the National League. League president Nick Young did
not preside. Young, who had been secretary and then president since the
league’s beginning in 1876, was, in Griffith’s words, “a fine character, getting
old [Young was sixty], and too honest to sit in the chair.” Albert Spalding
was running things.

Sitting in the back of the room, Young tugged at Griffith’s coat as he
passed by and said, “They won’t let me in on anything important anymore,
but you won’t get anything out of that bunch.”

He was right. The National magnates rejected the players’ entire wish list.

“One of them said he didn’t give a damn about the ball players,” Griffith
said. “I told him he would be sorry for that remark.”

The Players’ Association released a statement to the newspapers urging
all players not to sign National League contracts. An angry Griffith gave his
own reaction to the press:
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The National League is on the run and looking for highboard fences.
They have not been doing the right thing with their players and by all
appearances the American will put them on the defensive. I do not
consider myself under contract to the Chicago National League club.
If my terms are accepted I will sign with Comiskey. The National con-
tracts are not worth the paper they are written on, now that there is a
viable body ready and anxious to sign such players desiring to ignore
those contracts.

The American League has a president who has complete author-
ity and enforces every rule, while the National has practically no
head and all rules are broken alike. In the American, the players have
their hearts in the success of their teams; in the National, the players
with few exceptions have never had their hearts in the success of the
employers, and aside from trying to win games, their work has been
heartless.

Griffith then sent a telegram to Comiskey and Johnson: “Go ahead, you
can get all the players you want.”

A week later a contentious session of the Philadelphia Common Council
committee on city property took up the matter of a three-year lease on the
Jefferson Street grounds at $1,000 a year. Frank Hough told the committee
his company proposed to spend $30,000 in fixtures for “athletic purposes,”
not just baseball.

The local school board opposed the leasing of the playground.
Councilman Edmonds said that when the grounds had been used by the
American Association club, property owners had complained of damage
to their property by frequenters of the games. Councilman Harris thought
the price was too low. The motion to approve the lease was tabled. When
the committee next met on January 3, they again put off a decision.

Commented the Boston Globe, “If the Philadelphia City Council makes
a children’s playground out of the grounds that Frank Hough and Samuel
Jones have been after . . . it will be impossible for the American League to
find satisfactory quarters for Connie Mack.”

Still without a place of business in Philadelphia, Ban Johnson dispatched
Mack to Boston to negotiate for a site there. If it couldn’t find a place to
play in Boston, the league was faced with retaining Buffalo as the eighth
club. Mack stayed in East Brookfield and each morning put on his derby
and overcoat, walked to the depot, and rode the train to Boston. Hugh
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Dufty, the star center fielder for the Boston Beaneaters, met him in Boston
every morning. A Rhode Island native, Dufty was four years younger than
Mack. He had agreed to replace Mack as the Milwaukee manager.

In Boston Mack was dealing with veteran player and manager Arthur
Irwin, who was also an astute businessman. Irwin had patented a field-
er’s glove that Reach was manufacturing. He held the rights to the Charles
River Park, formerly used by an American Association team. The American
League wanted to lease it. But the National League was still backing efforts
to revive the American Association. Irwin had been promised a piece of the
Boston club—if it happened.

On Wednesday morning, January 9, 1901, Mack arrived at Irwin’s home
to keep an appointment and was told to come back later. Irwin was in bed
with the grippe. While Mack did some shopping in the overcast, 31-degree
climate, Tim Murnane caught up with him. A former player and league
president, Murnane was now a writer for the Globe. He asked Mack about
his plans in Philadelphia. Mack bluffed. “I have several grounds picked out
when the proper time comes.” In his story, Murnane added that Mack said
there was no truth to the story that the city government had refused to let
the new club use the old Athletic grounds. Technically this was true. The
city hadn’t said yes, and it hadn’t said no.

When Mack returned to Irwin’s home, he found the sick man vague and
indecisive, reluctant to make a deal until he knew whether the American
Association might come back to life and want the field. He wanted no trou-
ble with the National League. But maybe if he was given a piece of the new
American League franchise, he might consider it. On the other hand, he
had lost money as an investor in the Boston Brotherhood club and was
leery of getting involved with another new venture. As Irwin rambled on
between hedges and doubts, Mack grew more impatient. When he left, he
relayed Irwin’s views to Charles Somers in a long-distance telephone call.
He returned to Irwin’s home that evening, hoping to conclude the busi-
ness. But Irwin remained undecided.

Exasperated and anxious to settle his own problems, Mack walked away
from Irwin and began to look elsewhere. Hugh Dufty came to his rescue.
He tipped him off to a piece of land on Huntington Avenue that had for-
merly been used by a carnival and circus. The land belonged to the Boston
Elevated Railway Company, which was looking for a tenant that would
promote traffic for the trains. “You'll find it better than the Charles River
Park,” Duffy assured Mack. “It'll need filling in, but it’s within easy access
of the business area.”
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One look at the site and Mack was ready to sign a lease. Acting for
Somers, who posted two $25,000 bonds, Mack went to the office of the rail-
way’s attorney, Michael J. Moore, at 27 School Street in downtown Boston,
on the afternoon of January 16 and signed a five-year lease.

“The American League people are pleased with the rent agreed,” the
Globe reported, “and are anxious to give Boston lively ball for 25 cents
admission.”

A relieved Mack dashed to the railroad station to catch the next train to
Philadelphia. He told a reporter puffing to keep up with him that he was
pleased to have Boston in the American League and suggested that the old
Orioles’ star Hugh Jennings might manage the team.

Boston Beaneaters president Arthur Soden was skeptical. “The day is
past,” he told Tim Murnane, “when good businessmen will put up money
to fight an older organization like the National League.”

Connie Mack still had to find a playing field for himself. Time was getting
short. On January 17 the city again refused to act on Frank Hough’s offer.
Looking elsewhere, Mack found another site he liked, a large city block at
Twenty-first and Lehigh. It was available for sale for $45,000 or for lease at
$2,500 a year. But Hough and Jones said they had a better idea.

While Mack was out of town, Phillies president John I. Rogers and
the National League may have inadvertently solved his problem for him.
Philadelphia was one of the cities where they planned to install an American
Association team to combat the American League. One of the backers was
Francis C. Richter, editor of Sporting Life and the new Reach Guide. Richter
had been in on the launching of both the original aa Athletics and the
Phillies. He and one of his partners, Nevada silver king Hezekiah Niles, had
taken an option on grounds at Columbia Avenue and Twenty-ninth Street,
a city block owned by the Luther Martin estate.

Rogers was suspicious. He believed that Richter was a front for Cincinnati
owner John T. Brush, and he didn’t trust Brush. He suspected that Brush
was trying to move into Philadelphia under the cover of an aA team, then
maneuver him out of the Phillies. Rogers told his National colleagues if
they wanted to put an association team in his city, they would have to rent
his ballpark when the Phillies were out of town. When it came to political
infighting, Rogers’s voice was stronger than Brush’s. Richter was told he’'d
have to use the Phillies grounds or it was no deal. So Richter and Niles
dropped their option on the Columbia grounds.
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Hough and Jones urged Mack and Somers to snap it up. Mack still
preferred the Lehigh Avenue site. The newspapermen argued that the
Columbia location was served by trolley lines from all sections of the city.
The Pennsylvania Railroad’s Engleside station was only two blocks away.

“Somers wanted me to follow Jones and Hough’s advice,” Mack said. “He
figured they knew Philadelphia better than we did and we had to have the
support of the newspapermen too, because we were a new club competing
against the Phillies.”

They didn’t have to placate the writers to keep their support. In fact, the
Philadelphia papers, even those that had no financial interest in the team,
were solidly behind the American League. They were as fed up as the fans
with Col. Rogers and his National cohorts’ monopoly on the game.

But Mack gave in reluctantly—he still favored the Lehigh Avenue
grounds— and on January 21 he signed a ten-year lease, an event that was
overshadowed by the death of England’s Queen Victoria, which captured
all the front page headlines and hundreds of inches of ink for the next
several days.

New York papers that echoed the National’s line blamed Rogers for giving
the invaders the break they needed. “He will get his when the war is over,”
predicted New York correspondent William E. H. Koelsch in Sporting Life.

Connie Mack had been working on the creation of the American League
for the past two months. He had apparently been too busy, or just forgot,
to notice that he had never formally applied for membership in the league
for the Philadelphia franchise. Two days before the league’s next meeting in
Chicago, he hurriedly typed the following letter:

Philadelphia, Jan. 26, 1901

B. B. Johnson, Pres.
American League of Professional B. B. Clubs
Chicago 1L

I herewith make application for the franchise for membership in your
League for the city of Phil. Pa. And agree to comply with all conditions
and requirements of the American League if granted such franchise.

/s/ C. McGillicuddy
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Two days later Mack and Frank Hough were at the Grand Pacific Hotel in
Chicago when the meeting convened at twelve-thirty. After the Baltimore
franchise was approved as the sixth member, Ban Johnson read Mack’s
letter. Matt Killilea moved that the application be voted on. Comiskey sec-
onded it, and the six voting members approved it unanimously. That’s all
there was to it. Philadelphia was now an official member of the American
League. With Mack now eligible to vote, the seven then awarded the eighth
franchise—Boston—to Charles Somers, who at that point also owned half
the Cleveland club and three-fourths of the Philadelphia franchise.

Things were less complicated in those days.

In other business, the league constitution was read and ratified. Each
club agreed to put up 51 percent of its stock and all ground leases to be
held in trust by Johnson to ensure that they fulfilled their obligations as
league members. This also gave Johnson effective control over the future
sale or relocation of all teams. The league appointed Mack, John McGraw,
and Charles Comiskey as a rules committee, approved a 140-game season,
and agreed to limit rosters to fourteen players after the first two weeks of
the season.

When the meeting reconvened at nine that evening, all members were
“full of enthusiasm,” said the Sporting Life correspondent.

To atone for the delayed ousting of Buffalo from the league, the eight
clubs pledged not to raid the Bisons for players without permission from
club president James Franklin. Ban Johnson was authorized to spend up to
$60 a month for suitable offices, arrange all transportation needs, adopt an
official ball, and negotiate terms with Western Union, whose presence at
games was now deemed to be an asset.

Mr. McGillicuddy made one motion authorizing Ban Johnson to use
his judgment in the issuing of season passes. This had been a controversial
issue in earlier meetings. Some clubs expressed concerns over the number
of passes being given out and questioned whether visiting clubs should
be allowed to issue passes. Mack’s motion to let Ban Johnson deal with
it passed unanimously. (Johnson issued about two hundred league passes
for 1901. One of them went to National League president Nick Young, who
lived in Washington. It was accompanied by a note inviting Young to “go
out and root for the new Senators.” Young replied that he was sorry he was
unable to reciprocate.)

Before adjourning, the league passed a resolution condemning “the evil
of the farming and selling of ball players, as being unjust and unfair to the
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ball player and against the best interests of the game of baseball.” It vowed
to eliminate these practices.

Well, not all vows can be kept.

One last letter seeking peace had gone to the National League. There
was no reply. None was expected. Dreams of peaceful coexistence vanished.
The free enterprise system, with all its perils and risks, prevailed.

For Connie Mack, all that remained to be done was raise some money,
build a ballpark, put together a team, and open for business. He had three
months.
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THE CITY OF
'[9 BROTHERLY LOVE AND
“UNCLE BEN” SHIBE

It’s likely that Ban Johnson awarded the Philadelphia franchise to Connie
Mack for his services in helping to launch the new American League and
because he believed that Mack, of all the Western League managers, was the
best suited by temperament, tenacity, toughness, ability, dependability, and
experience to succeed in the nation’s third largest city.

The motto on the Great Seal of the City is “Philadelphia Maneto.”
“Maneto” comes from the Latin for “to continue or remain,” appropriate
for Mr. Mack, who remained there for the rest of his life.

He was going from the nation’s most foreign city, Milwaukee, to its
most American. Forty-seven percent of Philadelphia’s population was
second-generation American. Only New York and Chicago had more than
its 1,293,697 residents, growing by 250,000 every decade. Philadelphia was
the largest city in area in the country. There were vast open fields between
some sections. Fairmount Park, a large forest preserve, stretched for twelve
miles near the city center. To the northwest, Willow Grove Park was the site
of fairs and band concerts.

The cold damp winters made it the national capital of catarrh and the
postnasal drip. Newspapers carried full-page ads peddling remedies for
the condition. Some of the wealthy residents fled the city during those
months; others escaped the hot, humid summers that made it a fertile
breeding ground for mosquitoes. In the early 1800s epidemics of yellow
fever had killed thousands and sent as many as forty thousand residents
fleeing the city.

In the eighteenth century Philadelphia had been the primary port of
entry for immigrants. The Quaker City’s Quakers were now outnumbered
by East European Jewish, English, German, Irish, Scotch, and Italian fami-
lies. The heavily Catholic city had seven hundred churches. Its streets and
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towns sang with Indian, Welsh, and English names: Wissahickon, Passyunk,
Merion, Narberth, Bryn Mawr, Conshohocken, Chester.

The city had the patina of a sense of its history—a lengthy, proud,
and honorable one. Some of its prestigious private clubs predated the
Revolutionary War. Cricket clubs and soccer leagues were still active. Its
reputation as a dull, priggish, nose-in-the-air place was promulgated by
the nobs who wished it to be seen that way, the early Quaker influence, and
such homegrown wits as W. C. Fields, who enjoyed castigating it with lines
like, “Anyone found smiling there after curfew was liable to get arrested.”

As is true of many jokes, there was a kernel of truth to Fields’s jest. One
disadvantage that Connie Mack faced was the statewide Blue Laws, forbid-
ding almost everything on Sundays except breathing—and that not too
heavily. There were many theaters, high- and low-brow—the city was the
birthplace of vaudeville—and one of the nation’s earliest movie houses, the
Cineograph. But the sporting and theater crowds called the city Slowtown
and deserted the place rather than be stuck there when everything was shut
down for the Sabbath. Newspapers carried accounts of the proprietor of a
sweets shop arrested for selling ice cream and soda water on Sunday. A Mr.
Collison of Honesdale spent six days in jail on bread and water for refusing
to pay the $4 fine for passing a Sunday working in his garden.

Beneath that haughty, austere crust, a lively bundle of neighborhoods—
Pigtown, Swampoodle, Brewerytown—fought and drank and scrabbled
to get ahead. For all its claims as a financial, cultural, and artistic center,
Philadelphia was basically a blue-collar city with plenty of jobs and wide-
spread middle-class prosperity. There was one home for every five inhab-
itants. It was surrounded by bountiful farmland, sliced by the Schuylkill
and Delaware Rivers, and served by a busy seaport and the nation’s larg-
est railroad, the Pennsylvania. Fueled by extensive anthracite coal and iron
mines to its immediate north and northwest, industrial plants produced
everything from locomotives and ships to clothing, parasols, buttons, and
the boxes that contained them.

During the Civil War Philadelphians’ sentiments had been divided. It
was now thoroughly Republican—and thoroughly corrupt. William Penn
had founded the city on the principle of tolerance. More than anything,
the citizens tolerated its corruption. There had not been a revolutionary
moment since the gang of 1776 met there. The occasional perfunctory
reform efforts had been bent to the political bosses’ advantage. Lincoln
Steffens, in The Shame of the Cities, found the muck the ripest for raking in
Pennsylvania and labeled the Quaker City “corrupt but contented.”
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Fields called it the “City of Brotherly Graft.”

Government was dominated by a ring whose power extended into the
state legislature and the U.S. Congress and down into the schools, where
teachers made cash payoffs to obtain jobs. New buildings and facilities were
built at inflated, graft-padded costs. Most of the citizens didn’t complain or
bother to vote. Elections were rigged, the ring employing serial voters using
names taken from tombstones, dead dogs, children, or people who had never
existed. Mayor Samuel Ashbridge ran the city like a business—his own.

The Common Council was in the hands of the ring. One council mem-
ber, William Vare, epitomized the political scene. He and his brothers held
many city positions. As pioneer recyclers, they held the garbage collection
franchise and fed the rich city slop to the pigs at their South Philly farm.
They owned a large contracting firm that did work for the city and state,
the Pennsylvania Railroad, Standard Oil, and the telephone company. The
Vares also gave generously to church and charities and were obedient sons,
very good to their mother. So nobody minded. They were local boys who
had made good.

(Elected to the U. S. Senate in 1926, William Vare was never allowed into
that chamber and was eventually barred by the Senate from taking his seat
on charges of corruption and election fraud.)

Monopolies were formed or forming in utilities, oil, coal, steel, and
street railways. John D. Rockefeller’s Standard Oil Company was said to
“do everything to the Pennsylvania legislature except refine it.” J. P. Morgan
was fighting Andrew Carnegie for control of the steel industry just as Ban
Johnson was challenging the National League’s monopoly on major league
baseball. (In 1901 Morgan bought out Carnegie for $480 million.) The
numerous trolley lines that crisscrossed the city were being consolidated
into the hands of two ring members, while rival bosses fought to take them
over for themselves.

Connie Mack would have to deal with these elements of local and state
government. The council’s decision on the use of the Jefferson Street
grounds had probably been held up because the politicians were waiting
for somebody to come up with what experienced businessmen called “the
current price of doing business” in the city. But Mack was not interested in
muckraking. He was not one of those described by Teddy Roosevelt as not
knowing “when to stop raking the muck and look upward.” Connie Mack
was looking upward and forward.

Despite the competition from the Phillies, the Philadelphia American
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League franchise was a plum. The city was five times the size of Milwaukee.
It had a rich baseball history, going back to the organizing of a team in 1833.
From 1871 to 1875 its baseball enthusiasts witnessed the rise and demise
of three teams in the National Association: the Athletics, the Centennials,
and the Whites. The Athletics lasted one year in the new National League
in 1876, then waited six years before rejoining the National and fielding an
entry in the new American Association.

Twice—in 1884 and 1890—the city’s cranks enjoyed three major league
teams scrambling for their support. But the peak of baseball frenzy occurred
in 1883, when they celebrated their only American Association champion-
ship, won by the original Athletics.

Since 1892 the Phillies had been the only game in town. Despite the
presence of baseball’s only .400-hitting outfield of Sam Thompson, Billy
Hamilton, and Ed Delahanty and such other stars as Elmer Flick, Napoleon
Lajoie, and Dan Brouthers, they had never won a pennant. Attendance
averaged just under 300,000, peaking at 475,000 in 1895.

Philadelphia—its name taken from the Greek word for City of Brotherly
Love—was never known for brotherly love among its baseball cranks.
Fed up with the National League’s feuds, they were already—and would
remain—among the loudest, most unforgiving, relentless hecklers and tor-
mentors of players, home team as well as visitors, in baseball.

During their many meetings in November and December 1900, Ban
Johnson had impressed on Connie Mack the need to find a prominent
local backer, someone who would give them instant credibility and pres-
tige as well as capital. Johnson had a suggestion: Benjamin F. Shibe. As far
as Mack’s future was concerned, it was the best advice Ban Johnson ever
gave him.

“Uncle Ben” Shibe, as he was affectionately known in Philadelphia,
was a short, stocky man of round face, thinning hair pomaded flat to his
pate, and a graying bristly mustache. At sixty-two, he was old enough to
be Connie Mack’s father. Born in Philadelphia, he loved baseball but had
never played the game. A childhood accident had left him with a gimpy leg.
His father was an early manufacturer of baseball and other athletic sup-
plies and equipment. As a young man, Ben made baseballs while working
for the streetcar company. The expansion of baseball after the Civil War
brought him enough customers to make it a full-time business.

In 1865 Philadelphia baseball enthusiasts hired London-born New Yorker
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Al Reach for $25 a week to manage and play for the National Association
Athletics. When his playing days were over, Reach started a company to
manufacture baseballs and other sports equipment. In 1881 he proposed
a partnership with Ben Shibe. From that union the A. J. Reach Company
grew into the largest sporting goods manufacturer in the country. Much of
its success was due to Shibe’s inventions, primarily a machine to cut out the
pieces of horsehide and punch holes for the stitches. A good cutter could
maneuver thirty-two pieces from each hide. The covers were stitched by
hand by women working as piece workers at home. Shibe’s innovations
made uniform quality possible. He also improved catchers’ masks, chest
protectors, shoes, and gloves.

In 1892 A. G. Spalding and Bros., a Chicago-based sporting goods manu-
facturer and retailer, merged with A. J. Reach, which then began produc-
ing the Spalding ball for the National League. The new company would
be making the American League ball, stamped with the Reach name. The
names and the color of the stitches were the only differences between the
balls used by the two leagues.

Both Reach and Ben Shibe had been active in the formation and financ-
ing of Philadelphia baseball teams. As early as 1877, Shibe had backed a
semipro team and was an investor in the American Association Athletics.
Reach was one of the founders of the Phillies.

Ben Shibe had deep pockets, but he also possessed a far more valuable asset:
a universal reputation for honesty, loyalty, and square dealing. His integrity
was beyond question. His unassuming, down-to-earth demeanor won him
legions of friends. Once he made them, he never lost them. You could walk
from City Hall to Pigtown and call on every newspaper office in the city and
find nobody who had a bad word to say about Uncle Ben Shibe.

Connie Mack and Ben Shibe met for the first time in early January at
the Lafayette Hotel. Shibe was sympathetic to the American League. He
believed that rival leagues were good for the game. But the meeting didn’t
go as Mack had hoped. There was no show of enthusiasm from Shibe, who
listened but gave no sign of interest in investing in the new team.

There were complications. Shibe’s wife of many years had recently died,
leaving him in no mood to entertain new business ventures. He had cut
down his involvement in the daily work of the business. He had all the
wealth he could want.

Shibe’s partner, Al Reach, was the president of the Phillies. Mack made
no bones about his intention to raid that club for its best players. Shibe was
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also aware that his partner reaped more aggravation than pleasure from
his association with the baseball business as it had evolved. John 1. Rogers
owned 51 percent of the Phillies. Reach’s minority position left him pow-
erless to do anything about the tactics Rogers employed that Reach found
objectionable.

Ben Shibe had been involved with Rogers, too, in the original Athletics. At
one time Rogers assessed the stockholders for more money. Shibe refused
to pay unless Rogers let him see the club’s books and list of stockholders.
Rogers refused and threatened to take legal action to force Shibe to pony
up. At this stage of his life, Ben Shibe didn’t need that kind of headache.

Shibe had never made a dime out of his baseball investments. But that
didn’t bother him. The unpleasant memories of his former connections
to the game, and Reach’s current troubles with Rogers, made him wary of
becoming involved again.

Mack left their meeting nervous and discouraged. He could go only so
far with Somers’s $7,500 and his own $2,500. He needed capital to prepare
the field, build a grandstand, and sign players. He spent long days rac-
ing around the city trying to find new money and put the pieces together.
Wherever he turned, he ran into pessimism and skeptics. The situation had
him “guessing and worrying,” he later told a Sporting Life correspondent.
“There were times in those days when I almost thought I had undertaken
an impossible task, for I met with many rebuffs from Philadelphians who
told me frankly that a second club would never prosper in Philadelphia
and even doubted if I could ever start the season.”

At that point Mack’s franchise existed only on paper in the minutes of
the American League meeting, and this, he realized, would be null and void
unless he could turn it into reality.

There were occasional rays of sunshine through the overcast outlook.
Mack found a friend and ally in Billy Sharsig. The forty-five-year-old
Sharsig had owned, managed, and operated teams in the area for twenty
years. He had managed the Athletics in the American Association on and
off for six seasons. But the Brotherhood war almost bankrupted him. He
lost his entire capital of $18,000 and was forced to sell the team in 1891.
Since then he had managed minor league teams in the state. Sharsig didn’t
have any money to invest, but he knew everybody in local baseball circles,
and Mack needed that too. He hired Sharsig as the club’s business manager.
They hired a man who called himself Charles Goodfellow (his real name
was Charles Erringer) to handle the duties of traveling secretary.
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In mid-February Mack and Sharsig received an encouraging letter signed
by forty employees of a large wholesale dry goods firm in the city:

Gentlemen:

We the undersigned by way of sending you words of encouragement
in reference to your connection with the new American League of
Base Ball Clubs, and representing the city of Philadelphia, look back
with just pride to the halcyon days of the old Athletic club, and tak-
ing into consideration the actions of such men as Freedman of New
York which is called “true sport,” it is to laugh. And then our own
celebrated Phillies, with their strong field glasses, buzzers, etc.[used
to steal catchers’ signs] how different the comparison. It is no won-
der that our sport loving people are eager to grasp at anything that
will give them good, clean baseball. . . . They tell us they do it for the
benefit of the game, to get up a sideshow like the Association merely
to keep someone else from managing similar organizations. But you
will bear in mind that while they are doing the talking, the public is
doing the thinking, and whenever the gong strikes for the season to
open, you will find that not only this small testimonial of approval
that represents 300 patrons of the game, but also that many mission-
aries to help the game along and to strike a blow at the Standard Oil
and train-wrecking methods adopted by such people. This may seem
strong language, but facts will not down. And all you have to do is play
clean as well as good ball and the public will support you.

Beyond the ranks of the cranks, other interests were rooting for the Philadelphia
franchise—and the entire American League —to succeed. The economic ben-
efits were eagerly anticipated by streetcar companies, food vendors, railroads,
hotels, printers, Western Union—down to the boys in the neighborhood who
would sweep the stands and sell the cushions and peanuts.

Unknown to Connie Mack, other influences were at work. Ben Shibe
had two sons, Tom and John, who worked for the Reach company. They
were excited about the new team. Another major league would be good for
business. They were impressed with the character, energy, and prudence
of Connie Mack and believed their father would not have the problems
with Mack that he’d had with Rogers. Most important, they had watched
their father become withdrawn from his former activities following their
mother’s death. They felt that his becoming active in baseball again would
be the best remedy to renew his zest for life.
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Perhaps the most potent ingredient in the mix was that Ben Shibe had
been a baseball fan from his youth. That virus may have been dormant, but
there was no cure for it. Shibe discussed the idea with his partner. Al Reach
didn’t try to dissuade him, even though he knew the new team intended to
sack the Phillies. But he cautioned Shibe to avoid being either a minority
or majority owner.

“Take a 50 percent interest,” Reach advised him, “no more and no less. That
way, when he wants to do something, he’ll have to convince you to go along
with it, and when you want to do something, you'll have to convince him.”

In a frequently told version of Ben Shibe’s buying into the new team,
he hesitates until opening day. When he stares wide-eyed at the crowd
storming the gates to get into the park, he rushes into Mack’s office crying,
“Count me in! Count me in!”

But that wasn’t Ben Shibe’s style. He wasn’t looking to get in on a “sure
thing.”

The story shows up in many accounts of Mack’s life—although, to his
credit, not in Fred Lieb’s—and of Ban Johnson’s as well. In a 1950 interview
with Ed Pollock of the Philadelphia Bulletin, Mack is quoted, “It wasn’t
until the morning of opening day in 1901 that Mr. Shibe declared himself
in. We were ready to go along without him.”

Maybe Pollock made up the quote. Maybe Connie Mack had read it
so often that after fifty years he had come to believe that must have been
the way it happened. As the past recedes, the elapsed time between events
shrinks, like the spaces between buildings as a train leaves a city in the dis-
tance, until it all blends together.

According to Frank L. Hough, writing in Baseball Magazine just ten
years after the events, Charles Somers deposited the collateral for the ten-
year lease on Columbia Park, which was signed on January 21. Hough
placed Somers, Johnson, Mack, and Ben Shibe at a meeting that night at
the Lafayette Hotel, where contractors Foster and Fry unrolled the ball-
park plans. It was Shibe, wrote Hough, who insisted that the projected
two-thousand-seat grandstand wouldn’t be big enough, and they agreed
to double the capacity.

There was no publicity about that meeting at the time. Shibe’s connec-
tion with the new club remained a secret. But whose money were they
spending? The seed money had been the $10,000, but the amount of fertil-
izer needed to make the plant grow was at least five times that much. The
grandstand construction and field preparation would cost $35,000. Mack
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needed cash for advances to players he signed. He was traveling thousands
of miles. There were uniforms to order, tickets to be printed, supplies to
buy, people to hire.

In February Mack was reported as claiming to have $100,000 behind him.
The money must have come from Ben Shibe, but Mack refused to identify
his backers. Why was it kept a secret? Could it have been at Ben Shibe’s
request? Certainly the sooner Shibe’s role was made public, the sooner the
club could capitalize on his reputation to enhance its public support.

As always, secrecy bred speculation: the mysterious backer was said to
be one of the Gimbel brothers of department store wealth; a prominent
National League figure “whose identity must remain undisclosed”; A. J.
Reach; “Pittsburgh money”; or National Leaguers out to ruin Col. Rogers.

Samuel Jones fanned the fires by assuring other writers that the new club
was not wanting for money and had no interest in seeking local backers.

Shibe’s official connection to the enterprise was finally made public on
February 20, when the newspapers reported that a meeting of the stock-
holders had taken place the night before at the Lafayette and unanimously
elected Benjamin E. Shibe president. Shibe reportedly accepted without the
slightest hesitation.

The Inquirer, which might be considered a house organ for the club
with Hough as its sports editor, was effusive but not alone in its praise of
Shibe:

“The very fact that Mr. Shibe has accepted the presidency of the local
club is a sufficient guarantee that it will be run on straightforward business
principles of unquestioned and unquestionable honesty, with a profound
contempt for anything and everything savoring of sharp practice. Under
his direction the integrity of the club is assured.

“This will not be without its effect when the time comes for the signing
of players. The older players know that Ben Shibe’s word is as good as his
bond and that when they enter into a contract with the American League,
the spirit as well as the letter of their contracts will be observed.”

In an obvious swipe at Col. Rogers and the Phillies, the Inquirer added,
“There will be no drawbacks or pullbacks in the contract, no vague para-
graphs susceptible to constructions by either of which the player may find
himself skinned at the end of the season. With Ben Shibe as the head of the
new club, everything will be clear and aboveboard.”

Shibe, Mack, and Somers went into business together with no for-
mal agreement. Shibe and Mack shared the power amicably without the
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need for multipage legal documentation. The American Base Ball Club of
Philadelphia wasn’t even incorporated until June 12, 1901, and then Charles
Somers was not named among the five subscribers to its capital stock.

The corporation was capitalized at $50,000, divided into five hundred
shares. The names of the subscribers, who were also the board of directors,
and the number of shares for each were as follows:

Benjamin F. Shibe, 165
Cornelius McGillicuddy, 125
George W. Jackson, 200
William Y. C. Anderson, 5
John G. Hoffmeister, 5

The numbers don’t mean anything. There may have been some legal
requirements for outside members of the board of directors, account-
ing for Jackson, Hoffmeister, and Anderson, who was an attorney for the
Athletics. The subscribers weren’t actually buying the shares. The original
five hundred shares were issued in the joint names of Mack and Somers.
They remained on the books that way until November 12, 1901, when
Ben Shibe’s half-interest was first recorded in the form of two hundred
thirty-five shares in his name and five each to Jackson, Hoffmeister, and
Anderson. At that point, Somers and Mack each held one hundred twenty-
five shares.

Nothing in the stock ledgers shows Ben Shibe buying out Charles
Somers’s interest at any time. Somers’s shares were not transferred out of
his name on the books until October 20, 1902, and then they were trans-
ferred to Connie Mack. It took another thirteen months for the two hun-
dred fifty then in Mack’s name to be transferred to the team attorney,
William Jay Turner, in trust, presumably half for Mack and half for the two
sportswriters, Hough and Jones. Meanwhile, Ben Shibe had signed over
sixty-two shares to his son Tom and five to his son John, and Anderson and
Jackson dropped out of the picture. (Hoffmeister eventually turned back
his five shares to Ben Shibe on November 2, 1907.)

If all this seems incomprehensible in today’s world of crossed t’s and
dotted 1’s, it was all in accordance with common practice at the time.
Regardless of what the stock ledgers show—and they are open, just opaque
to twenty-first century cpas—Ben Shibe and Connie Mack were equal
partners from the start, as harmonious as a barbershop quartet.
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COLUMBIA PARK AND
THE “ATHALETICS”

20

As he stood on the vacant field with Billy Sharsig on the windy, 30-degree
morning of Saturday, January 26, 1901, Connie Mack didn’t need any signs
to tell him that he was in Brewerytown. He could smell it. The air was redo-
lent with the aroma of fermenting mash and hops from the breweries a few
blocks to the west. A goat of unknown pedigree or ownership grazed on
the sparse vegetation that would soon be the outfield. They were pleased
that little grading would be needed to level the grounds.

The field covered a city block 400 by 450 feet, bordered by Columbia
Avenue on the north, Thirtieth Street to the west, Oxford and Twenty-ninth.
Those dimensions would make it the smallest field in the league. Amid the
swirling dust, the two men envisioned home plate at the corner of Thirtieth
and Oxford, making right field the sun field. Depending on the depth of the
grandstand and the space between the seats and home plate, the foul lines
would extend 280300 feet to right and 330-350 to left. In center field the
fence would form a right angle about 440 feet from home plate.

The prosperous German neighborhood, separated from the Irish sections
to the north and south by about five blocks, reminded Mack of Milwaukee.
In the new gray stone St. Ludwig’s Catholic Church three blocks away, the
sermons at ten thirty High Mass were delivered in German. Connie Mack
probably went at nine, when there was no sermon, and he could be on
hand for morning practice. Every block had a Teutonic social or fraternal
club. A community picnic in June was the biggest event of the year until the
arrival of the new baseball team.

The area had everything the residents needed: a newspaper (the
Brewerytown Chronicle), grocery stores, bakery, tailor shop, drugstore, tav-
erns, and jobs. Trolley lines ran on Columbia and Twenty-ninth: open cars
in summer with wood seats across the width of the cars and no center aisle
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and running boards for standing room. Eight cents would take you any-
where in the city. Most of the men worked in the breweries or the ice house
at Thirty-third and Columbia. Horse-drawn wagons filled with beer kegs or
ice clattered over the Thirtieth Street cobblestones. A movie house would
open within a few years. The ball grounds were described as being sur-
rounded by a fence, then by saloons. Youngsters often waited by the swing-
ing doors in hopes of being taken into the game by an emerging customer.
Every taproom had a backdoor ladies’ entrance into a room where there
were tables. You could dine like a lord for thirty-five cents. A free sandwich
and crackers came with a nickel beer, two with a ten-cent pitcher.

The biggest saloon, on the corner of Columbia and Hollywood, in back
of left-center field, belonged to Matt Kilroy. As a rookie in 1886, the five-
foot-nine left-hander had set a strikeout record of 513 and pitched a no-
hitter for Baltimore in the American Association. Connie Mack had faced
him in two postseason games that year. The next year he won 46 games,
working 589 innings in his 69 starts. The workload proved too much; two
years later he was down to 480 innings. Then his arm really fell off; he last
pitched for Chicago in 1898. Kilroy became a regular at morning practices
as an unofficial volunteer pitching coach and was always on hand at his
place of business after a game. Many of the players who roomed in the
neighborhood were frequent patrons of Kilroy’s saloon.

Row houses lined the streets. Some were low, porch-front houses; others
were brick with marble stoops instead of porches. Rooftops of the two- and
three-story houses along Twenty-ninth and Columbia offered clear views
of the entire playing field. Players could find room and board, including
three meals a day, for up to $4 a week. A small hotel at Thirty-third and
Ridge Avenue, run by Charles McDaniel, was also a popular residence for
the young, unmarried players.

Connie Mack rented rooms for himself at 2932 Oxford in a three-story
house with a porch eight steps up and a bay window on the second floor.
He could walk across the street to his office beneath the first base grand-
stand. Not that he was there much that winter.

Immediately after inspecting the grounds with Sharsig, he was off to
Chicago for league meetings. On Monday morning, January 28, Billy
Sharsig had the honor of turning the first spade of dirt before several hun-
dred people, who raised a cheer that hung in a small fog of breath in the
cold air. Billy then supervised the unloading of lumber, and the work of
building a ballpark began.
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There were no bureaucratic delays. The plans had been approved by
Shibe and Mack almost simultaneously with the signing of the lease.
Contractor James B. Foster, promising the job would be done by opening
day, took the plans immediately to Jephan Hill of the building inspector’s
office, who handed them to his chief engineer. Ben Shibe deposited $20,000
in the bank for Foster to draw on. With fifty men working every day until
dark, the fences went up in two weeks, and work on the grandstand began.
Sign painters decorated the outfield planks with ads for beer, whiskey, and
Cinco cigars. In center field a sign for the Financial Bulletin, a financial
newspaper, used black letters on a yellow background. A new ball became
as black as tobacco juice after a few turns around the infield and was diffi-
cult to see against the black letters. The sign was later painted over in green.
The scoreboard was in right field. A small sign in center field said, “$25 will
be paid to any player hitting this sign.” Bill Bernhard became the first to
collect the reward when he hit a triple off the sign on September 14.

In the midst of the construction, Ban Johnson sent Mack on another
assignment. The Washington club had not yet found a suitable location.
Johnson considered moving the franchise to Brooklyn. Despite two consec-
utive pennant-winning years, Brooklyn trailed most other National clubs
in attendance. Johnson chalked that up to its fifty-cent general admission.
He thought an American League team charging twenty-five cents would do
well there. He sent Mack and John McGraw to Brooklyn to check out pos-
sible playing sites, but the situation was resolved when grounds were leased
in Washington near a trolley line at Florida Avenue and H Street Northeast.
Looking ahead, Johnson also took an option on the vacant Sportsman’s
Park in St. Louis.

On his return from Brooklyn, Mack hired a groundskeeper, Thomas
Murphy, the artist who had doctored the field for the Baltimore Orioles
during their championship years in the 1890s. Murphy had gone with John
McGraw to St. Louis as groundskeeper in 1900.

During his stay in East Brookfield in January, Connie Mack decided to
bring his brother Dennis and his family to Philadelphia and give him a job.
He rented a house for them near Columbia Park and identified Dennis as
a scout. That was for appearance only. Dennis worked for Murphy on the
grounds crew and took tickets. The move to Philadelphia rescued his wife
Annie and their four children from a life of dead-end drudgery. Annie’s
life was still hard, and her husband’s thirst continued to soak up most of
his income except for the pennies she could hide in the sugar jar. But the
children’s lives were immeasurably improved.
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Foster estimated the single-tier grandstand, which extended from third
base around to first, would be completed by March 15. The grandstand
was not curved but cornered at a right angle behind home plate. Bleachers
extended out to the fences on each side. Instead of dugouts, the teams
occupied benches covered by an awning in front of the first row of the
grandstand behind first and third base.

A ten-foot screen on wooden framing ran along the roof to keep foul
balls in the park. A rooftop press box behind home plate was covered but
not enclosed. It contained two rows of tables and a water cooler painted a
“lovely heliotrope, embossed with silver leaf around the top and bottom,”
according to scribe Charles Dryden.

There were bleacher entrances behind first and third base, where portable
turnstiles were used. A permanent turnstile was installed at the grandstand
entrance behind home plate. During the season boys from St. Ludwig’s
School would gather around the bleacher entrances after school. One of
them was Emil Beck. “After the fifth inning,” he recalled, “if you were one
of the kids chosen to help carry in the turnstiles, you could stay and watch
the rest of the game.”

On March s, four thousand folding opera chairs arrived, and ten days
later Foster met his goal. The grandstand was ready to be painted. Hoping
to avoid labor problems, Mack hired union painters. An angry rival union,
denied the work, boycotted the games. Once, during the season, with the
team on the road, somebody hired a nonunion painter to adorn a sign with
a portrait of a whiskey bottle. Mack had to pacify irate union leaders when
he returned home.

Otherwise everything went smoothly. On April 1 the topsoil was spread
as spring practice began. The players dodged mounds of dirt scattered
about the outfield. Grass was sown but wouldn’t grow in until after the
season had begun. Infield grass was sparse. A dirt path went from the flat
pitcher’s box to home plate.

By some accounts, Connie Mack is credited with a canny public rela-
tions decision in reviving the old Athletics’ name for his new team. He did
it but without ever saying he was doing it. About eight years earlier, the
name had been ruled a trademark in a lawsuit. Hezekiah Niles owned the
American Association club’s charter and the rights to the name. If the asso-
ciation club came back to life, said the experts, they would have the right-
ful claim to it. In late January, possibly to avoid any legal entanglements,
Connie Mack distanced himself from the subject, expressing indifference.
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“We haven’t thought very much about a name for our club yet,” he said. “I
don’t care much about a name anyway. So long as our team performs to
suit the fans, I don’t care what name they use.”

Throughout February and into March the team was referred to as the
Philadelphia American League club, occasionally as “Connie Mack’s new
Phillies.” By February 28 the National League gave up trying to find suckers
to back American Association teams in the East. That plot fizzled out, tak-
ing with it any threat of the resurrection of the old Athletics.

Mack still made no comments about a name for the team. Nobody
polled the fans or sponsored a contest. Mack let it appear that, as was often
the case, the newspapers would anoint the team with a nickname and
through common usage it would stick. On March 28 the North American
put forth the suggestion, “Columbia Park sounds all right, but if Connie
Mack intends to call his team ‘Athletics, would it not be better to call the
new grounds Athletic Park?”

Elsewhere the paper indicated its interest was more self-serving than
sentimental. “It is to be hoped Connie Mack calls his club Athletics so as to
avoid the necessity of adding American League or National League to the
names of the local teams every time they are mentioned. That would save a
whole lot of confusion and incidentally considerable newspaper space.”

A week later the North American went ahead on its own and referred to
“Mack’s Athletics” in a headline. The field remained Columbia Park. Mack
remained mum. But he had silently tapped into the sentiments of the writ-
ers and fans. When his new uniforms arrived on April 2—home white flan-
nel with dark blue trim and striped pillbox caps, road gray with dark blue
trim and coats to match—there was a letter “A” on the left breast of the
shirts.

By opening day the team was, legally or illegally, officially or unoffi-
cially, universally and unequivocally the “Athaletics,” as Connie Mack pro-
nounced it.

Nobody sued.
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RAIDING THE NATIONAL
LEAGUE

21

Like Ben Franklin, another New Englander transplanted to Philadelphia,
Connie Mack was a man of peace. But when a war started, he became a
formidable front-line fighter for the cause. Mack, Ban Johnson, Jimmy
McAleer, Jimmy Collins, and Charles Somers were the American League’s
principal raiders of the National ranks, signing players for other clubs as
well as their own. They targeted only players who had not yet signed 1901
National contracts, ignoring the option or reserve clause.

Their objective was to capture the enemy’s best players, whatever the
cost. The strategy had two purposes: to weaken the National and stock the
American clubs with faces familiar to the fans. They succeeded in signing
fifty-seven National Leaguers that spring.

Every team was fair game except, it seemed, the Pittsburgh Pirates.
Johnson believed that Barney Dreyfuss had no love for his NL colleagues
after they dropped his Louisville club. He was confident that Dreyfuss
would switch the Pirates to the American by 1902. (Johnson’s hunch was
well-founded. In 1909 Dreyfuss admitted that Harry Pulliam had stopped
him from making the switch. “I had been humiliated by the board of direc-
tors of the National League,” he said, “and I knew I would be better off
financially as well in the American. But Mr. Pulliam said to me, ‘If you drop
out of the National it will mean the death of the old league. You have some
good friends in the National who would be ruined now, if you desert them.
That settled it; I stuck, and I am glad now that I did.”)

OnlyJohn McGrawignored Johnson’s hands-off policy, signing Pittsburgh
infielder Jimmy Williams for Baltimore. Dreyfuss claimed Williams had
already signed a Pirates contract and he would fight for him. He lost.

Ban Johnson was determined to direct his efforts toward strengthening
the three teams that faced direct competition from established clubs: Boston,
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Philadelphia, and Chicago. If his other club owners complained—and they
did—he didn’t care. Right or wrong, popular or pariah, Johnson was as
immovable as Gibraltar.

Boston, Brooklyn, and the Phillies were the hardest-hit targets. Most of
the Beaneaters’ outfield decamped. Hugh Duffy went to Milwaukee as man-
ager. Popular third baseman Jimmy Collins went across town to manage
the American League team and took Chick Stahl, slugger Buck Freeman,
and pitcher Nig Cuppy with him. Both of their catchers departed, Billy
Sullivan to Chicago and Boileryard Clarke to Washington. Collins also
snared baseball’s best pitcher, Cy Young, and his catcher, Lou Criger, from
the Cardinals. Facing disastrous losses, the Boston owners offered Charles
Somers $100,000 in cash and a promise of a National League franchise next
year if he would withdraw from the city and turn over the Huntington
grounds lease to them. Somers turned them down.

Brooklyn lost Hugh Jennings, Fielder Jones, Joe McGinnity, and pitcher
Handsome Harry Howell. Charles Ebbets was especially sore at Connie
Mack for luring Lafayette Napoleon “Lave” Cross to Philadelphia. A
man of all positions, the thirty-four-year-old Cross had played for three
Philadelphia teams: the old Athletics, the Players’ League club, and the
Phillies. Mack and Shibe knew his return would be good news to Cross’s
many fans in the city. Cross was a favorite partly because he looked so
unlike an athlete. The most bowlegged major leaguer in history, he made
Honus Wagner’s legs look as straight as clothes pins by comparison. At the
time, Cross was bedridden with an injury that threatened to end his play-
ing days, but Ben Shibe visited him and gave him a two-year contract.

In Chicago Comiskey signed Clark Griffith to manage his team. Griffith
brought pitcher Nixey Callahan and outfielder Sam Mertes with him. The
Orphans also lost pitcher Ned Garvin to Milwaukee and third baseman Bill
Bradley to Cleveland.

Connie Mack’s shopping list included just about everybody on the
Phillies roster. He and his agents were rumored to be holding secret negoti-
ations with so many of them at the same time that the beleaguered Phillies
manager Bill Shettsline issued a press release on February 18, 1901, express-
ing his “indignation at the methods of Mr. Mack and another American
League manager in inducing Phillies players to jump their contracts.” He
cited a case where, on the previous Saturday, Mack and Jimmy Manning of
the Washington club had offered one of his best players more money than
the National League limit. “They assured him that the renewal option had
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no legal effect and would guarantee him that no harm would come to him
by reason of that clause.” The player, Shettsline added, felt “morally bound”
to stay with the Phils.

Mack didn’t bother denying any of it. When a reporter asked him who
the player was, Mack, accompanied by Johnson, Somers, and Manning,
replied, “I really cannot say just which player Mr. Shettsline refers to. I have
talked with a number of his men.”

“All had a good laugh,” the Sporting Life correspondent noted.

The player was probably Roy Thomas, who had starred at Penn and
batted .325 as a rookie in 1899. Thomas turned down Mack’s offer of a two-
year contract at $3,250 and stayed with the Phillies.

Still, nobody was boasting about any conquests. Johnson wanted no
publicity about specific signings. The raiders cautioned players they cor-
ralled to say nothing. Thus, in early March, when the North American sent
telegrams to several of the top Phillies players, asking them where they
intended to play in 1901, every one replied that he was undecided. None
admitted to signing with the American League.

Johnson and his agents knew the National owners and managers were on
the road too, following up every rumored capture in hopes of persuading,
threatening, or intimidating the defectors into returning to the fold. All
winter and spring the Midwest resembled a jungle full of explorers look-
ing for King Solomon’s mines. Mack crossed paths with his fellow hunters
Duffy, McAleer, and Collins, as well as National League magnates trying to
lure their jumpers back and hold on to those who were wavering. In some
cases they succeeded, justifying Johnson’s ban on claims of conquests that
might prove embarrassingly premature. Once Mack found Hanlon and
Ebbets on the same train with him going to Philadelphia, where they tried
in vain to regain their wayward minions.

As far as the players were concerned, agreeing to terms was not the same
as signing, as the hunters soon learned. They were determined to cash in
on the collapse of the National’s monopoly after ten years of “take it or
leave it” since the demise of the Brotherhood. Playing one club or league
against another was a game the players knew well. Speculative headlines
proclaimed the signing of stars who later “unsigned” themselves or in fact
had never signed with anybody.

The most celebrated jumping frog was Jimmy Sheckard. The Brooklyn
outfielder signed with John McGraw in Baltimore in January for $2,250
and took a $200 advance. A month later he signed a similar contract with
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Ned Hanlon in Brooklyn. In March he went back to McGraw and in April
returned to Brooklyn, where he unpacked and spent the season.

Some magnates took a dim view of such players, considering any man
who signed two contracts to be a “slow thinker” and thus not much of a
player. As it turned out, though, that applied to some pretty good players.

Connie Mack didn’t land every Phillies player he went after, but he
bagged half of Shettsline’s pitching staff: right-handers Bill Bernhard and
Chick Fraser and lefty Wiley Piatt.

Fraser, thirty on March 17, had finished two years at Bryant-Stratton
College of Business in Chicago and worked as a telephone installer. He
broke in with Minneapolis in the Western League in 1894 and was durable
but wild until he reached the Phillies, where he was 21-13 in 1899 and 16-10
in a 138-game 1900 season. Mack signed him for $3,000.

Bernhard, a day older than Fraser, was 15-10 in 1900, his second season
with the Phillies.

Piatt, twenty-six, an Ohio State graduate, had won 47 in his first two
years with the Phillies. Arm problems cut his work in half and his record
to 9-10 in 1900.

By far the biggest prize snared by Connie Mack for the American League
was Napoleon “Larry” Lajoie. Idolized by Philly fanatics, who called him
“La-joy,” Lajoie rivaled Honus Wagner as the greatest star in the game. He
had averaged .345 since arriving in Philadelphia late in the 1896 season.
Lajoie had come up as a first baseman and was switched to second in 1898
by Phils manager George Stallings. Wearing a small flat glove, he was as
placid and nonchalant-looking in the field as at bat. He seemed careless
and indifferent while catching the ball without trying to get in front of
it. He had the instincts to read the ball off the bat—where it was headed
and where it would bounce—and get a jump on it. And he came up with
the balls, leading some experts to chalk up his effortless success to “lucky
bounces.” But Chicago writer Hugh Fullerton rated him the most graceful
player of all time, making miraculous stops without any apparent effort.

A right-handed batter, Lajoie was impossible to pitch to. The term “bad
ball hitter” could have been coined for him. He could break up a game hit-
ting a so-called waste pitch, even a pitchout. An intentional walk was not
always a safe option for a pitcher. Lajoie could hit brushback pitches off the
left field fence or fling the bat at a pitchout and line it over first base. His
eyes, judgment of distance, and reflexes worked together in perfect har-
mony. When he stepped into the batter’s box, he drew a line in the dirt
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beside the plate. He didn’t dig in but stood facing the pitcher, feet close
together, ready to take a step or two to make contact wherever the ball was
thrown. He gripped the bat loosely with a relaxed, almost inattentive atti-
tude. Then, with a short, sharp swing, he sprayed line drives in all direc-
tions and over the distant fences.

“If you pitched inside to him,” spitballer Ed Walsh said, “he’d tear a hand
off the third baseman, and if you pitched outside he’d knock down the
second baseman. . . . If he had a weakness it was a fastball right down the
middle. He murdered breaking stuff.”

The moody, untalkative Nap was as undisciplined off the field as he was
at bat. He missed six weeks of the 1900 season because of a fight over a bat
with teammate Elmer Flick in the clubhouse. Lajoie swung. Flick ducked.
Lajoie’s left fist smashed into the wall, breaking his thumb. Now labeled
a “troublesome player,” the truculent Frenchman from Rhode Island had
a long list of grievances against the Phils’ owners and was wide open to
Connie Mack’s siren song. Lajoie had signed a 1900 contract for $2,400, the
league limit, plus $200 on the side. Told that he was the highest paid player
on the team, he was peeved when he discovered that Ed Delahanty, the
captain, was promised $600 over the limit. What’s more, Lajoie claimed,
he never saw the $200. He also said he had been charged for shoes and a
uniform he never received and docked a day’s pay on a day he had actually
played.

On February 10 Mack denied that he was negotiating with Lajoie. That
was true but misleading. Mack was relying on Frank Hough to make con-
tact with some potential jumpers, who knew Hough as the Inquirer’s sports
editor. Lajoie was one of them. On the night of February 14 Mack, Hough,
and Lajoie met and worked out a two-year contract at $4,000 a year. King
Larry had as shrewd an eye for finance as for breaking balls. No matter how
the new club or the league might fare, he wasn’t going to lose a penny. Mack
agreed to his demand that a full year’s salary be deposited up front in the
Northwestern National Bank, in an account in the joint names of Lajoie’s
landlord, a Mr. Johnson, and Frank Hough. Every payday they would draw
out a check. Lajoie signed. Mack put the contract in his safe.

Lajoie promised to say nothing about his signing. In reply to the North
American’s March 10 survey, he wired the paper, “Have not decided on the
club I shall play with. Will let you know as soon as I do.”

After signing Lajoie, Mack headed to Cleveland and Cincinnati, where
his prey included Elmer Flick, the Phillies outfielder who had not only
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ducked Lajoie’s left hook but had outhit him by thirty points in 1900. In
their first meeting Flick agreed to sign for $3,000. Then he began adding
conditions: he was unsure of his legal status with the Phillies, whatever that
meant; he wanted a guarantee against being blacklisted by the National
League. When his hedgerow grew too high, Mack walked away from him.
Flick remained with the Phillies.

Sometimes the raiders found themselves competing for the same player.
Sam Crawford was wooed in Wahoo, Nebraska, by Mack and Jimmy Collins.
Crawford, nineteen, had batted .267 for Cincinnati. At first Crawford
accepted Mack’s terms, but he was playing Mack and Collins against each
other and both of them against Reds owner John T. Brush. He eventually
persuaded Brush to match the American’s best offer and signed with the
Reds. Mack was angry.

“I have not yet decided what to do about Crawford,” he said. “He had
accepted my terms by wire and a contract which he promised to sign and
return at once. . . . His acceptance of terms and agreement by wire to sign
with me is as good at law as a signed contract, and if I went to court no
doubt I could restrain him from playing with Cincinnati.”

But he didn’t. There were just so many players he could sign, so many
negotiations he could handle, so many directions he could go at the same
time, so many hours in the day and days in the week.

Returning to Philadelphia on March 6, Mack admitted that he had failed
to sign the stars he had gone after and refused to name anybody he did
sign. “I have an even dozen first-class players under contract now, but I
cannot make known their names at present until I sign my full fourteen,”
was as far as he would go.

And with good reason. Although they were all beginning to sound like
lawyers, nobody really knew what constituted a legally binding agreement.
Everybody had an opinion on the legality of the option or reserve clause
in the National League’s contracts, but nobody really knew how the vari-
ous judges in the various league cities might rule. Nobody could be sure
which players would become rubberlegs and who would actually show up
by opening day. Some of the dozen Mack thought he had under contract
turned into bullfrogs. Others who had taken the bait on his line had not
yet been reeled in.

With six weeks to go before opening day, poor bedeviled Bill Shettsline
had no idea who, if anybody, would be wearing a Phillies uniform. On
March 12 he wrote a plaintive appeal to Mack to call off the attack:
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Cornelius McGillicuddy

Manager

Philadelphia American League Base Ball Club
Dear Sir:

It has been so frequently stated in the newspapers that it has become
of public notoriety that you have been negotiating with certain play-
ers under contract with our club, that I thought it only proper to
notify you formally that said players signed a regular contract with us
for last year, including the well known nineteenth paragraph with its
renewal option clause, which we exercised by sending written notice
thereof prior to October 15, 1900. By said exercise of such option the
players covenant to perform similar services and be subject to all the
obligations, duties, and liabilities prescribed in said contract for the
six months beginning April 1, 1901.

We are advised by distinguished authority that all such players thus
duly notified are under contract with us as fully as if they had signed
renewed contracts.

You will, therefore, please take this as a notice to discontinue
further negotiations with said players and to annul any writings or
agreements you have made with any of them, in violation of our prior
contractual rights. I send this as a formal notice so that ignorance of
our rights in the premises may not be hereafter pleaded.

I will thank you very much for a reply, either confirming or denying
the statements as to such negotiations complained of.

I write this in no unfriendly spirit, but simply as a precautionary
measure.

Yours truly,
/s/ William ]. Shettsline

P.S. Will you also inform me whether your club has been incorpo-
rated, and if so, am I designating it by its proper name in this com-
munication? wJs

This “just-for-the-record” document, obviously worded by the Phillies’
lawyers, drew this public reply from Mack:

“T am going away in a few minutes to sign another star. So you see that
letter hasn’t frightened me a bit. Don’t you suppose [Beaneaters’ owner]
Soden in Boston made sure the option clause was invalid before he offered
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Collins $8,000 to stay with him? If they thought for a moment their con-
tract was valid in law, why would they worry and go around offering their
old players large increases in salary to re-sign with them this year?”

The war raged on throughout the spring, an economic battle waged
with dollars in amounts that may have been no more than J. P. Morgan’s
monthly grocery bill but were unimaginable to the average six-day-a-week
worker. According to a government report, ballplayers already earned more
than the annual income of 85 percent of all artisans; 70 percent of doctors,
lawyers, and newspaper writers; and 9o percent of theatrical performers.
As it had been just a decade earlier, money was again as much a part of
baseball reporting as runs, hits, and errors. Big numbers like $3,500 and
$4,000 were tossed about, smashing the $1,200-$2,400 range for which
most baseball “chattels” had been forced to work. Reports had as many as
forty players signing for as much or more than Lajoie’s $4,000. For the first
time, some players earned more than their managers. Ned Hanlon’s com-
plaint to a Pittsburgh writer ten years earlier still reflected the attitude of
owners, managers, and fans alike:

“There is nothing to my mind more demoralizing to the players than
[the publishing of players’ salaries]. It is misleading. Seldom are the figures
right, and there isn’t much use in trying to get them correctly, for one can’t.
Whose business is it how much salary a player gets? No man in any other
business cares to have his salary published and it is not done. If you had
any idea the trouble the practice caused you wouldn’t keep it up.”

Philadelphia writers speculated that Connie Mack’s expenses could reach
a staggering $31,000 in players’ salaries alone. The total for all eight clubs
in the American League could top a ruinous $200,000. Based on the 1900
season, Brooklyn president Ned Hanlon estimated the new eastern clubs’
total expenses would be $65,000-$80,000, and they’d have to average four
thousand customers a day at twenty-five cents to make it.

With everything else on his plate, Connie Mack was a member of the
league’s rules committee with Comiskey and McGraw. They immediately
confronted a controversy. In 1900 foul balls did not count as strikes except
for those tipped straight back at the catcher. Some players, notably McGraw,
Willie Keeler, and Phillies slugger Roy Thomas, were experts at wearing
down pitchers by deliberately fouling off pitch after pitch. Thomas claimed
the record, fouling off twenty-seven in one at-bat against Bill Phillips of
the Reds. Fans complained that the tactic slowed the action and prolonged
the games.
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Apparently Ned Hanlon, who hadn’t objected when he was manag-
ing McGraw and Keeler in Baltimore, took a different view of the art
now that he was in Brooklyn. The story goes that in a game in 1900, after
Roy Thomas fouled off a dozen pitches against a tiring Brooklyn pitcher,
Hanlon yelled at him, “Have your fun now, kid. We’re going to take care of
you next year.”

That winter the National rules committee of Hanlon, A. J. Reach, and
James Hart passed what was called the “foul strike rule,” which said that
“any foul ball not caught on the fly” was a strike until there were two strikes.
Since 1894, a bunt that went foul had been called a strike, until there were
two strikes.

Mack and McGraw were adamantly opposed to the new rule. “Calling
foul balls strikes is an awful doggy rule,” said Mack. They recommended
the American League not adopt the rule.

The National proposed that a batter hit by a pitch should not be awarded
first base; a ball should be called instead. Mack objected to that idea too:
“The National League in legalizing the pitcher to soak a batter in the head
any time will cause no end of trouble” The NL passed the rule but soon
rescinded it. It also passed a rule requiring catchers to move up within
ten feet of home plate for all pitches. No more wasting time putting on a
mask to move up when there were two strikes on the batter. The American
League did nothing in this regard until 1903.

There were reports that the American was thinking of eliminating or lim-
iting the use of the bunt. Without using direct quotes, Sporting Life claimed,
“Veterans like Connie Mack, Charles Comiskey and others say there will be
added interest [if the bunt is eliminated]. They believe the cut and dried
sacrifice hit cuts down stealing which is more interesting. . . . Baseball is for
the spectators, who are losing interest for lack of action. Scientific baseball
and inside tricks are often lost to the fans.”

Considering that Mack’s most successful teams would be built on “scien-
tific baseball and inside tricks,” the validity of attributing these sentiments
to him seems doubtful. The bunt stayed.

The American League rules committee’s report concluded:

“After careful consideration of the playing rules of 1900, we are of the
opinion that no changes at present would be conducive to the furthering
of the interest in the game, as the playing rules of 1900 as enforced by the
umpires in the American League give fast, clean ball, entirely satisfactory
to its patrons.”
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So the two major leagues began their antagonistic coexistence using dif-
ferent playing rules regarding catchers and foul strikes. Contrary to expec-
tations, the foul strike rule did not result in shorter games in the National
than the American. By midseason Athletics games were averaging one hour
and thirty minutes; Phillies contests, over two hours. The fastest game of
the year, a 4—3 Athletics win over Cleveland on June 19, took only seventy-
two minutes.

The foul strike rule was criticized by some writers and fans. The Inquirer’s
account of the Phillies’ opener included this comment:

“A lot of oldtimers and fans jeered at the new rule when Elmer Flick
planted a ball against the right field screen about ten feet foul. The umpire
called strike. The decision was greeted with alternate jeers and hisses. To call
such a hit a foul is the height of asininity. If the National Leaguers are wise
they will change the rule as they did regarding the base on being hit with a
pitched ball, in deference to the express wishes of the public. Even the most
obtuse magnate must have perceived that the sentiment of the spectators
yesterday was against the innovations made by the rules dickerers.”

But the new rule remained in the National’s book.

The American League met at the Lafayette Hotel in Philadelphia on
March 20. It approved a twenty-five-cent general admission, giving it an
edge in every city where it faced National competition, as the National
charged fifty cents—except in Philadelphia, where the Phillies charged
a quarter. The schedule produced ten conflicting dates with the Phillies,
including Mack’s home opener on April 24 against Washington. The start-
ing gong would sound at three thirty. There were practical reasons for
beginning at that hour. Vaudeville houses opened at noon and ran until
midnight, but the headliners did only two shows a day. Games could be
completed between their appearances on stage. Businessmen, actors, and
the stock market crowd could get to the ballpark and be home for supper
or get to the theater in plenty of time for the evening performance.

During a break in the meetings, Mack revealed for the first time the
names of some of the players he had signed—or believed he had signed.
When he confirmed that Napoleon Lajoie was to be his team captain, he
lit the fuse that led to the powder keg. Two days later, when Mack made
public the signing of Phillies pitcher Bill Bernhard, the flame reached the
powder.

“We’re going to court,” Col. Rogers declared.

“T am glad to hear it,” Mack responded. “The sooner the better to put a
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stop to all further discussion and agitation upon the question of the valid-
ity of National League contracts, which would hold a player for a lifetime
but deprive him of the right to hold a club longer than ten days. I repeat,
the sooner the better, as it is not doing baseball any good to talk about law-
suits and making threats daily in the newspapers, and I wish this proposed
lawsuit against Lajoie would come up tomorrow in the courts so as to have
it settled immediately. As to the result, why that is a foregone conclusion.
We will keep Lajoie and every other National League player signed by us.”

On March 27 Rogers filed bill in equity number 789 in Common Pleas
Court Number 5, seeking an injunction against Ben Shibe as president,
Connie Mack as treasurer and manager, and Frank Hough as agent, to
prevent them from employing Napoleon Lajoie, William Bernhard, and
Charles A. Fraser. The Phillies were not interested in holding on to the
sore-armed Wiley Piatt. The lengthy filing included a detailed history of
the Phillies and their ballpark, as well as exhaustive legal language about
the clauses in the standard NL contracts.

In their response, the Athletics listed eight reasons to deny the injunc-
tion. The first two claimed that the National contract in its entirety was
illegal because it conflicted with some law enacted on June 2, 1874. The next
two stated that there was no mutual obligation between the parties for the
season of 1901. The last four referred to the constitutional rights of players
as American freemen; club owners would deprive them of such rights if the
validity of the National League contract was upheld. The option or reserve
clause was inequitable and therefore illegal.

The hearing was set for April 20, four days before opening day.

In cities throughout both leagues, rumors of similar suits and counter-
suits sprang up like dandelions in the spring. Legions of lawyers contem-
plated a bonanza. But both sides realized that Lajoie et al. was a crucial
test case. Ban Johnson believed the American’s entire campaign against the
National monopoly depended on its outcome. It was so important that
when it was over, the league’s directors agreed to reimburse the Athletics
for half their $3,200 legal bills.
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‘22 THE BULLFROGS

With spring practice officially opening on April 1, 1901, Connie Mack
couldn’t wait three weeks until the Phillies’ suit for an injunction was
decided. If the court took Bernhard, Fraser, and Lajoie away from him,
he’d deal with that when it happened. Meanwhile, he had to put together
his team and plan his lineup on the assumption that the men he had to
work with now would still be in his charge come opening day. If they all
showed up, that is.

One of them, Minneapolis outfielder Al “Lefty” Davis, had accepted
a $75 advance. He was asleep when his train from Tennessee stopped in
Philadelphia, woke up in New York, and decided as long as he was there,
he might as well sign with the Brooklyn Superbas. His excuse was that he
was miffed because Connie Mack was paying bigger money to National
Leaguers than to any of last year’s American Leaguers.

“I'signed Davis at his own terms,” Mack said, “hence I fail to see where he
has any fault to find. What is more to the point, after I sent him $75 addi-
tional advance money ten days ago I wired Davis to the effect that I would
give him $100 as a present for expenses if he would report early this week
instead of making me wait until next week. So you see his excuse for jump-
ing a contract is a very lame one.”

It was enough to tempt a baseball manager to scan the help wanted ads
in search of another line of work. He never knew from day to day whose
“agreement to terms” would hold, who would show up for spring practice,
and who would not.

On the morning of April 1, the North American published the Athletics’
fifteen-man roster. In addition to the three ex-Phillies, it included two
pitchers: Mathewson and Willis.

Of all Connie Mack’s contentious cases that spring, none were more
indicative of the state of the game nor had a more significant impact on
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the future course of baseball history than those of Christy Mathewson and
Vic Willis.

In the fall of 1900 Mathewson was best known as a football star at
Bucknell: fullback, punter, drop kicker of field goals (worth five points).
In one game his dropkicks had beaten Army. In 1899 he had kicked two
against Penn, the first points Bucknell had ever scored against its powerful
state rival.

Mathewson had also been the star pitcher for the college. After winning
20 games for Norfolk in the Virginia League in 1900, he was bought con-
ditionally by the Giants and brought up in September. He lost three games
and the Giants turned him back to Norfolk rather than part with $1,500 for
his contract.

Matty went back to Bucknell for his junior—and last—year. Unknown
to him, Giants owner Andrew Freedman asked John T. Brush, who owned
a piece of the Giants as well as the Reds, to draft Mathewson for the Reds
for the $100 fee. Brush then “traded” Mathewson to New York for sore-
armed Amos Rusie, who hadn’t pitched in two years. (Rusie appeared in
three games for the Reds in 1901 and went home.) The trade, often cited
as the most one-sided in history, was a sham from the start. Mathewson
insisted that he was never notified of these transactions and assumed that
he was a free agent.

To the American League, any player who had not signed a 1901 contract
was fair and legal game. That included Matty. Connie Mack was aware of
Mathewson’s football and baseball records. While cognizant of the need to
put a good product on the field in his inaugural season, he also saw this new
beginning as an opportunity to fulfill his dream of taking young, intelligent
athletes and teaching them, molding them into a perfect baseball machine.
Christy Mathewson was the epitome of what Mack was looking for.

In January Mack wrote to Mathewson and offered him a contract for
$1,200. Matty replied that he would not report until the school term was
over in June. He would then play the balance of the season for $700. Mack
agreed. On January 19 Mathewson signed the contract, witnessed, accord-
ing to reports in the North American, by that paper’s Bucknell correspon-
dent, Lewis E. Theis, and C. J. Pearce, a resident of Lewisburg, where the
school is located. In mid-March Mathewson, in debt and in need of books,
asked Mack for a $50 advance. Mack promptly sent it to him.

When word got out sometime in March that Mathewson had signed a
Philadelphia contract, an incensed Andrew Freedman fired off a letter to
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him. In a 1914 Sporting Life article, later reprinted in Baseball Magazine,
Mathewson wrote:

I received a red-hot communication from Andrew Freedman. It
appeared I had committed some crime and must see him at once to
straighten out the kinks in my reputation. Inasmuch as he offered to
pay my expenses to New York and back, I thought I had better see
what he had on his mind.

I walked into his office unconscious of the weight of guilt I was car-
rying, but he speedily undeceived me. As soon as he saw me, he shut
the office door, pulled up his chair, shook his finger at me and said,
“See here, young man, what is this I hear about you and the American
League? Don’t you know that you belong to my club, and that you will
either play in New York or you won’t play at all?”

I was completely taken aback and said, “Why, Mr. Freedman, I am
already signed up with Connie Mack.”

“That don’t make any difference,” said Freedman, “the American
League won't last three months, and then where will you be? Every
player who goes with that league will be blacklisted. He won’t be able
to play anywhere else as long as he lives, and furthermore, you are the
property of this club, and if you refuse to live up to your agreement, I
will bring suit against you myself.”

This was a remarkable revelation to me. . . and taking full advan-
tage of my childish ignorance [Matty was twenty at the time], he so
wrought on my imagination that I didn’t know where I was at. I natu-
rally didn’t want to forego my future career as a ball player, if such
a career was a prospect, and I didn’t want to go with a league that
wouldn’t last three months. But at the same time I didn’t want to go
back on my word to Connie Mack, so I explained to Mr. Freedman
that I had already received $50 in advance money and asked him if he
would return this money to Mack. He said he would and we left the
matter in that way. I immediately wrote to Connie Mack, explained
the situation, told him I was threatened with a suit by Mr. Freedman,
and asked him if he would stand behind me in this suit. To this com-
munication I received no reply. . . . Mack knew nothing of my ability
as a player, except through hearsay, and no doubt thought if there was
going to be so much trouble in getting possession of me, the game
wasn’t worth the candle.
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In any case, I eventually returned to the fold of the National League,
and the beginning of the season found me pitching for Andrew
Freedman. Incidentally, he persistently forgot to return the $s50 to
Connie, so when I had received enough salary to enable me to do so,
refunded the money myself.

Written fourteen years after the events, this account illustrates the
threats and pressure wielded against every National League player seek-
ing to exercise his constitutional rights to freely sell his talents. It also dif-
fers somewhat from contemporary accounts. On March 25, 1901, the North
American reported that Mathewson was in Philadelphia, and quoted him,
“I have not yet signed with any club, and at present am undecided what
to do. I have offers from the Philadelphia American League and New York
National League clubs and will accept one or the other”

If he was there to discuss his dilemma with Mack, he received no relief.
When he made this statement, he was either undecided whether to honor
his contract with the Athletics or give in to Freedman’s threats. He was dis-
sembling about not having signed with anyone, but that may have been in
line with the evasive tactics encouraged by Ban Johnson to preserve secrecy
at the time he had signed.

Five days later, under the headline “Mathewson Belongs to Manager
Mack,” the North American said, “Reports to the contrary notwithstanding,
Mathewson has signed with the Philadelphia American League club. If he
has also signed with New York he has simply dishonored himself by sign-
ing two contracts.”

On April 1 Connie Mack expected Mathewson to show up at Columbia
Park, but that day Matty reported to the Giants. Three days later a different
version of the return of the $50 advance appeared:

“Matty . . . yesterday tried to escape the legal responsibility for his acts
by sending a check for $50 to the manager of the local club. But manager
Mack, upon the advice of his lawyers, refused to accept the same, return-
ing it uncashed with a letter ordering him to report here at once. If Matty
refuses he will likely be made the defendant in two suits, one for breach of
contract and the other for receiving money under false pretense.”

The North American was not the only paper to condemn these “men-
aces to honest sport.” Other Philadelphia papers, joined by the press in
other cities, advocated the banishment of such jumpers from the game. In
the end, Connie Mack took no action against Mathewson, who was lust-
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ily booed when he first appeared in the city against the Phillies. Almost
fifty years later Mack told columnist Red Smith, “Another $500 would have
kept him but I made no move because I just couldn’t believe a college man
would violate his word.”

It’s doubtful that another $500 would have been enough to counter
Andrew Freedman’s threats. And if such a demand was the reason for
Mathewson’s March 25 meeting with Mack, he was certainly rebuffed by
Mack, who had Matty’s signed contract in the office safe.

Mathewson was not the only bullfrogger who got away after Connie
Mack had his signature on a contract. In January Mack had traveled forty
miles south to Newark, Delaware, to see right-hander Vic Willis. After win-
ning 52 games in his first two years with the Boston Beaneaters, Willis had
reached the salary limit of $2,400 in 1900, when he slumped to a 10-17
record. Mack offered him $3,500 for 1901. That sounded good to Willis. To
bind the deal, Mack gave him a $450 advance. Willis signed a receipt read-
ing, “Paid on account of my salary for 1901.”

Mack expected Willis to report on April 1. A week earlier Willis noti-
fied him that he wouldn’t show up until Saturday, April 6. On April 2 the
treasurer of the Boston club, J. B. Billings, arrived in Newark and went to
Willis’s home, where he promised to match Mack’s offer. The next thing
Connie Mack knew, Vic Willis was in the Beaneaters’ spring training camp
in Norfolk.

On hearing the news, Mack was incredulous. “If the report is true,” he
said, “our lawyers will deal with him the way contract jumpers should be
dealt with. Of course, we can’t stand for any such business and to keep
baseball from falling into disrepute, we owe it to the public to make exam-
ples of these venal players and those disreputable club owners who are just
as bad if not worse in tempting men to break contracts.”

A few days later Mack received a check for $450 from Willis. He refused
to cash it. Still, he took no legal action. Ban Johnson’s club owners were
under orders to stay out of the courts without first clearing any legal actions
through the league’s attorneys.

Let’s pause for a moment to consider a “what if”: what if the two future
Hall of Famers, Christy Mathewson and Vic Willis, had honored their
contracts with Connie Mack and been part of a pitching staff that later
included Eddie Plank, Rube Waddell, Chief Bender, Jack Coombs, and Joe
Bush? It’s not inconceivable that they might have won every one of the
American League’s first fourteen pennants.
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National League history might have been different too. The Giants were a
sorry second division club. On some days the gatherings could be counted
by the dozens, even for a doubleheader. The entire National League was
in the fans’ doghouse. Christy Mathewson has been credited with becom-
ing an instant hero who singlehandedly saved the struggling league. As the
league’s biggest drawing card, at home and on the road, he would be the
difference between survival and crushing losses for several clubs that year.

When spring training officially opened on April 1, the Boston American
Leaguers went to Charlottesville, Virginia, but most teams stayed home.
This was not spring training as we know it today. A half dozen players
showed up that Monday morning at Columbia Park to do a little limbering
up. Groundskeeper Tom Murphy and his crew were still spreading topsoil
in the outfield. No grass would sprout until after the first home stand. The
resident goat foraged the field for what scrubby greenery he could find.

Nap Lajoie reported in midseason condition after a month of playing
handball. Catcher Harry Smith and pitcher Bill Milligan were ill with the
grippe. First baseman Pat Crisham had a sick child at home and didn’t
report. Chick Fraser was in Hot Springs and wouldn’t arrive for another
three weeks. Lave Cross, a bigwig in the Democratic Party in Ohio, had
been given leave to wait until after the election in Cleveland, in which his
man, Tom Robinson, was elected mayor. He showed up on the fourth.

It was April cold and wet during the first week. Little practice took place.
Connie Mack spent the mornings in his office, occupied with paperwork.
In the afternoons he inspected the work being done, checking every detail:
the chairs in the boxes and grandstand; the women’s “retiring room,” which
would be staffed with attendants; the installation of a public telephone;
the refreshment stands; the small open press box on the roof; the home
team’s dressing room, fitted with shower baths and “other conveniences”;
the placement of the turnstile at the grandstand entrance.

On Friday, April 5, about six hundred desperate cranks, suffering from
the diamond deprivations of winter, showed up to watch the now rou-
tinely tabbed “Athletics” work out. Except for the few players they recog-
nized from the Phillies, it was difficult to identify anyone. The players wore
an assortment of uniforms. One had a Milwaukee shirt, another a shirt
with an “I” in the middle of it, probably from Indianapolis.

Mack was pleasantly surprised when more than nine hundred people
paid their way in on a cold, wet Easter Monday to watch a practice game
against a local pickup team, Moss’s Professionals. Moss’s included two
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forty-year-old former players, Arlie Latham and Cub Stricker. The neigh-
borhood saloonkeeper, Matt Kilroy, did the pitching. The gates opened
early to allow the customers to look over the new facilities. Ladies wearing
furs admired the comforts and conveniences.

Latham was the first batter; Bill Bernhard threw the first pitch for the
new Athletics, and the fans cheered lustily at the called strike. It was all
very informal. Joe Sugden, a local resident who had played for Mack in
Pittsburgh and jumped to the White Sox, caught a few innings. Wiley
Piatt pitched the last three innings of the Athletics’ 8—1 win and “struck
out enough to keep fans from succumbing to coma preceding death from
frostbite,” quipped Charles Dryden of the North American. (Philadelphia
fans had the pleasure of reading the wittiest, most inventive baseball writ-
ing east of Ring Lardner for the few years before Dryden joined Lardner
in Chicago.)

The Yale University nine came to town on Thursday and attracted an
unprecedented three thousand fans to a practice game. The Elis extended
the rusty home team to 11 innings before losing, 4—3. The lively, enthusias-
tic crowd enjoyed every minute of the action and umpire Arlie Latham’s
clowning. The next day the A’s picked on a local school team, scoring 21
runs in the third inning of a 41-1 romp. Lajoie hit 2 home runs over the
left-field fence onto Oxford Street.

It was still cold and damp when the Phillies opened the National League
schedule on April 18. Even so, the 4,500 who showed up were less than half
what would normally be expected. Jimmy Sheckard, the renowned jump-
ing frog, hit 3 triples for Brooklyn in its 12—7 victory. The sorry turnout was
not due entirely to the weather or the fact that the Athletics were playing a
practice game on the same day. It was the first sign that the city’s baseball
backers were choosing sides for the coming season.

An optimistic Connie Mack was ready to play ball. But first, it was the
lawyers’ turn at bat.
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THE UNIQUENESS OF
NAPOLEON LAJOIE

23

Common Pleas courtroom Number 5 was packed on a cold Saturday
morning, April 20, 1901, when presiding Judge Martin, flanked by Judges
Stevenson and Ralston, convened the case of Phillies vs. Benjamin Shibe,
Cornelius McGillicuddy, and Frank L. Hough. The Phillies were seeking
a special injunction restraining Napoleon Lajoie, Chick Fraser, and Bill
Bernhard from playing for any other club, but it was apparent from the
start that Lajoie’s uniqueness as a player made him the crucial test upon
which the entire range of contract disputes would hinge. He was the star
of the legal game as he was on the diamond. Pending the outcome, both
leagues were keeping their hired guns in their holsters.

The basic issue was the presence in National League contracts of the
reserve or option clause and the ten-day notice clause. The American
League claimed it was inequitable to allow a club to release a player on ten
days’ notice, while the player could never give his notice unless he chose to
retire from baseball. The National countered that part of a player’s salary
was “consideration” for that option and that the players understood that
when signing a contract.

During the weeks leading to the hearing, lawyers for both sides and neu-
tral observers offered curbside opinions. The dean of the Penn law school
used the National contract in his classes. He declared the option clause
legal but the rest of the contract unequal. “No court will uphold it,” he
predicted.

Phillies lawyer John G. Johnson, who had been Ben Shibe’s attorney for
many years, gave his client, Col. Rogers, a limited, guarded opinion that the
option clause was probably legal.

Connie Mack reiterated his commonsense conclusion: “If they think the
option clause will stand in court, why is it the National League magnates
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are scurrying around the country after the players said to have been signed
by the American League?”

In the answers they had filed with the court, the three defendants denied
everything except that they were alive: they were not nor had they ever been
copartners in any business; no such thing as the Philadelphia American
League Base Ball Club existed, either as a corporation or partnership of any
kind; they had never persuaded Lajoie to sign a contract nor approached
any other Phillies players “in the interest of the so-called Philadelphia
American League Base Ball Club.”

These denials may have tap-danced around the truth, but they were
technically and legally correct. Perhaps as a result of some sagacious and
farsighted counselor’s advice, the Athletics did not yet exist as a legal entity
on that date. Everything done until then—agreements between Shibe and
Mack or between Ban Johnson and the two sportswriters, Hough and Jones,
and Shibe’s putting up the money to pay advances to players and build
a stadium—appears to have been conducted entirely on handshakes and
good faith. The club’s earliest known certificate of incorporation is dated
June 12, 1901; not until July would the articles of incorporation be filed
with the state. If all this was planned in anticipation of lawsuits such as the
one now at issue, some one or more of Ban Johnson’s or the Athletics’ legal
team deserve the credit. Whether it would be believed or help the defense
remained to be seen.

In a separate answer, Lajoie admitted that he had signed a 1900 Phillies
contract that he “believed was only for 1900 with no options for subse-
quent seasons.” Had he known it contained such a clause, he said, he would
not have signed it. He denied that he had been persuaded by anyone to sign
an Athletics contract but did not deny signing one.

The seats in the small courtroom were filled early by operators of other
teams in various sports, curious lawyers, reporters, and a few players. For
the fans who stood four deep around the seats, the main attraction was a
chance to see the great Lajoie up close in the witness chair.

Col. Rogers and John G. Johnson sat at one table facing the judges’ bench.
At another table sat the Athletics’ legal lineup: Richard Dale, William Y. C.
Anderson, William Jay Turner, and Charles Higley, a Cleveland attorney
representing the interests of Charles W. Somers. Both sides were fortified
with stacks of law tomes and papers they leafed through while the court
disposed of some routine matters involving the 8&o Railroad and other
parties of lesser importance than the main event.
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Accounts vary as to the order of the proceedings. It’s likely that Rogers
delivered the opening statement for the plaintiffs, a ninety-minute oration
that had the upright spectators shuffling restlessly from one foot to the
other, like fans waiting through a pitching change before the star slugger
steps into the batter’s box. Rogers narrated the history of the option clause,
which he had written as a substitute for the original reserve clause ten years
earlier, after losing a similar case involving a player who had jumped to the
Philadelphia Brotherhood club. In that case a Judge Thayer had ruled the
reserve clause invalid.

The revised option clause now read: “the [club] shall have the option or
right to renew this contract . .. for another period of six months beginning
April 15 . . . and for a similar period in successive years thereafter, and the
[player] agrees to perform similar services . . . for the period or periods of
such renewals, provided only that written notice of the exercise of such
option of renewal be served before the fifteenth of October.”

Rogers maintained that his club had bought those option rights by pay-
ing “fabulous salaries” to the players. “Baseball players today receive more
per hour of work than the learned judges on the bench,” he said, then
thundered a prophecy of doom if the game’s operating methods were not
upheld. “Every dollar of capital now invested in professional baseball will
be withdrawn.”

In defending the ten-day clause, Rogers shed revealing light on the atti-
tude of National club owners toward their players at the time. He was also
eerily presaging the arguments that would be voiced against guaranteed
long-term contracts a century later.

“Ten days notice is required,” he declared, “for the player to do his best.
If the player were not confronted with the ten-days notice clause, he would
play poor ball, perhaps becoming listless. The ten days notice is the club
which compels him to do his best.”

Nobody raised the implication of the other side of that coin: deliberately
playing poor or listless ball to draw the supposedly dreaded ten days’ notice
of release might be seen by the players as a way to gain their freedom.

The defendants, citing Judge Thayer’s decision, stated briefly that the
National contracts were illegal because they deprived the players of the
constitutional right to secure the best compensation possible for their ser-
vices and skills as professional ballplayers.

After a recess for a conference at the bench, the questioning began at
eleven thirty. John Johnson tried to elicit from Lajoie an admission that
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he was a rare and exceptional talent, a drawing card for the Phillies who
could not be replaced. He got nowhere. Lajoie, cap in hand, said in effect,
“Shucks, who, me? Why, 'm just a hack driver from Woonsocket.”

“Larry Lajoie, in low tones and with a modest mien that paralyzed the
fanatics, said that he had never heard of himself,” wrote Charles Dryden.

The testimony revealed some interesting aspects of the way the business
was conducted in those long-ago but far from innocent days. When Athletics
attorney Richard Dale showed Lajoie his Phillies contract, dated April 18,
1900, and asked him if he had received a copy of it, Lajoie said, “No.”

Phillies manager Billy Shettsline then testified that a player was not nor-
mally given a copy of his contract except “upon urgent request,” and then
not an executed copy, but an unsigned blank with the salary written in. No
player received a copy that was signed by both parties. Shettsline added
that Lajoie had signed his 1900 contract “at the grounds while in uniform
and wrote his name with a lead pencil.”

Asked by Johnson, “Was Lajoie a particular star at one position?”
Shettsline replied, “Yes, we've played him at second base, but you can’t
hook him up wrong anywhere.”

Johnson commented, “He can dodge foul balls as well as questions he
does not like.”

Richard Dale then cross-examined Shettsline.

DALE: “How much have you invested in the grounds?”

SHETTSLINE: “Two hundred thousand dollars.”

DALE: “You have spoken about the expert playing of the different
men. Can you mention any player on last year’s team who was more
expert than another?”

SHETTSLINE: “They were all experts. No, I mean, not so expert as
Lajoie. I might say that Petey Childs [a reserve infielder who never
played in a game with the Phillies] was not an expert.”

To which attorney William Jay Turner interjected, “He was an expert
with the buzzer, wasn’t he?”

Turner was referring to an incident during the 1900 season in which a
Cincinnati player coaching at third base uncovered a wire that ran to the
scoreboard, where a Phillies reserve player sat watching the catcher’s signs
and relaying them to the coach who stood on a concealed buzzer when the
Phils were at bat.
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The crowd laughed; Judge Ralston rapped for order.

DALE: “Isn’t Joseph Dolan, who is now playing second base for you,
an expert?”

SHETTSLINE: “He’s a good ballplayer, but not as good as five or six
other second basemen in the league.”

DALE: “Do you think Lajoie is?”

SHETTSLINE: “Yes, sir, I do. I think he’s the best thing that ever
happened.”

Johnson was back on his feet to establish that the Phillies had lost the
1900 pennant solely because Lajoie had been out of action for five weeks
following his fight with Elmer Flick on May 31. The Phillies were in first
place at that time with a 27-10 record; they were 12-19 while he was out.
Johnson asked Shettsline if that was not true.

SHETTSLINE: “Before Larry’s injury the team was in first place and
after that dropped off and never recovered its lost position.”

This brought Richard Dale to his feet. “Isn’t it a usual thing for the
Philadelphia club to do,” he asked Shettsline, “to lead for a while, then drop
behind whether Lajoie plays or not?”

Another round of chuckles rippled through the crowd.

“How long has it been since the Philadelphia club won the pennant?”
Dale asked the manager.

“Not once in nineteen years,” Shettsline admitted.

With that the judges adjourned the hearing until the following Saturday
morning. The consensus among the visiting attorneys in the room was that
the court would deny the injunction. In the meantime, Connie Mack would
be back on the bench managing in the big leagues again, all his prizes in the
lineup while they awaited the judges’ decision.
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WINNING THE BATTLE
OF PHILADELPHIA

24

An impressive lineup of managers led the American League in its 1901
inaugural major league season. Five of them made it to the Hall of Fame as
players, managers, or both. Jimmy Manning in Washington was the oldest
at thirty-nine; Mack was thirty-eight. John McGraw in Baltimore was the
youngest, twenty-eight.

Connie Mack was the most experienced of the group, with two years
at Pittsburgh and four in Milwaukee behind him. His reputation as a
tactician and judge of players was established. His kicking and needling
had diminished. He had learned to control—not conquer—his temper,
sarcasm largely replacing profanity.

Washington was the weakest link. Manning, a light-hitting journeyman
outfielder, had owned the Kansas City club in the Western League. In the
expansion meetings, Manning bitterly opposed Ban Johnson’s desire to
desert Kansas City for Washington, but he found no support among his
fellow magnates. Disagree with Ban Johnson, he learned, and you were
a marked man, an outsider, banished from the inner circle. But Johnson
had no local backers in the capital. And Manning deserved some consider-
ation for the loss of his franchise. Charles Somers reportedly advanced him
$15,000 to leave Kansas City and invest in the new club. Manning was essen-
tially fronting for the league. Ban Johnson was the de facto president.

In Boston, Jimmy Collins was a handsome, swaggering third baseman,
the best, Mack said in 1950, he ever saw. “He was one of the fastest men ever
to step on a baseball diamond. He could hit to all fields and threw the ball
like a jet-propelled rocket.”

Hugh Duffy in Milwaukee had been the captain on four of Frank Selee’s
pennant winners in Boston. An advocate of the concept of teamwork pio-
neered by Ned Hanlon, Duffy went on to manage off and on for more than
twenty years.
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Clark Griffith was a shrewd five-foot-six pitcher with no fastball. He
relied on guts and brains to win more than 20 games for six years with
the Chicago Orphans. A tough, canny fighter, he taunted batters to make
them overanxious, then threw soft stuff that had them tottering off bal-
ance. His eyes never lost the sparkle scouts look for in a prospect. He and
Comiskey formed a foxy combination. Griff would win 24 games for the
White Stockings in 1901.

In Cleveland, Jimmy McAleer, a stylish outfielder, came out of retire-
ment after eight years of playing for the flamboyant, hot-tempered Patsy
Tebeau and the Spiders.

George Stallings in Detroit was another hot-tempered, smart, fanati-
cally superstitious, profane scrapper, no favorite of Ban Johnson. Stallings
had been throwing tantrums and roughing up Johnson’s umpires in the
Western League.

And then there was John McGraw in Baltimore, no slouch when it came
to mixing cleverness with rowdyism and mayhem on officials. Johnson
was apprehensive about bringing McGraw and Stallings into his clean new
clan. He doubted that they could contain themselves within the straits of
prescribed conduct. He was right. In 1896 McGraw had announced that
it would be his last season in the game. Ban Johnson and several umpires
would be sorry McGraw hadn’t meant it.

Johnson was also aware that Stallings and McGraw were colorful, aggres-
sive personalities who drew customers at home and on the road. It didn’t
hurt to have a few managers that fans loved to hate. The crowds turned out
as eagerly to hiss a villain as worship a hero. And profits were the pool on
which Johnson’s new venture would have to float.

But Johnson was determined to clean up the game, which was filled with
characters who were not eager to be cleaned up. His crusade was akin to
turning street gangs into choir boys. The principles Johnson enunciated
were more than moralistic; he believed them essential to making ball-
parks safe and attractive places for women and families. The game had to
broaden its appeal to survive.

“I made a fight against drunkenness, rowdyism, and profanity,” he wrote
in 1930, “suspending players right and left and even threatening managers
with the loss of their franchises. Decent conduct was demanded not only
on the field, but off the field as well. . . . Ball players were public characters
and shamed the game when they shamed themselves. . . . The authority of
umpires on the field was made absolute, rowdyism, bulldozing and vile lan-
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guage drew instant and severe penalties, and managers were ordered to drill
it into their men that the game had passed beyond the beer-garden stage.”

The new enterprise had been launched on a high wave of national pros-
perity. The nation’s greatest economic expansion had begun in 1896 and
would last until the next panic in 1907. During that time unemployment
would average under 1 percent. Immigrants pouring into the country
found baseball a way to fit in as Americans. There was plenty of factory
work, and they worked plenty of hours—six days, ten hours a day, for $500
a year. The stock market was soaring, led by railroad stocks, some leaping
hundreds of points a day. The six-month-old boom caused the board of a
prominent Wall Street firm to declare, “The stock exchange is now only a
gambling house.”

Four days before opening day Connie Mack’s lineup was still as unsettled
as a seasick tourist’s stomach. He had no guarantees which of his prizes
captured from the National League would stick. National agents continued
to trail them, using threats or cash to recapture them. The fate of Lajoie,
Fraser, and Bernhard was in the hands of the judges.

First baseman Pat Crisham’s little girl had died, and Crisham was
abed with the same typhoid that had taken her. That left Mack with the
untested Charlie Carr at first base. He was satisfied with the rest of his
infielders— Dave Fultz, Lajoie, and Lave Cross—if he could keep them. He
had two experienced catchers in Harry Smith of his 1900 Brewers and Doc
Powers, a physician trained at Notre Dame who had impressed Mack with
his work at Indianapolis last year.

The pitching looked solid, but it was stacked with ex-Phillies who might
be swept away by the courts. They were all behind schedule in getting into
shape after two days of rain had made the field too soggy to use.

Mack’s outfield was full of question marks. Former Penn star Jack Hayden
was a rookie. Phil Geier had big league experience but a light bat. Ralph
“Socks” Seybold was a career minor leaguer, probably thirty, maybe older;
nobody knew. He had failed in a brief trial with Cincinnati in 1899, but
Mack had seen him in the Western League and liked what he saw: a smart
place hitter, expert at hitting behind a runner at first, and an outfielder who
studied his team’s pitchers and opposing batters and positioned himself
accordingly, making routine catches of line drives that seemed bound for
extra bases when they left the bat. Standing five-foot-eleven and weighing
something over 200, Seybold looked slow and cumbersome. He was decep-
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tively fast, picking up extra money winning bets on races against unsus-
pecting speedsters on his own and other teams.

“We never knew his age or how much he weighed,” Mack said. “Once his
father came to town and we thought, now we’ll get the goods on him for
fair. But the old fellow wouldn’t budge. . . . Once I went in the clubhouse
and [Socks] was lying on the rubbing slab. That stomach of his was sagging
way down to here. He saw me and grabbed it and pulled it up. I thought
I'd die.

“Socks was so big the fans never credited him with all the good points
that he showed to me in his daily work.”

With the opener scheduled for Wednesday, April 24, against Washington,
Mack fretted as the dampness rusted his men. Ban Johnson arrived in town
about noon on Wednesday, but more rain arrived with him and washed out
the new Athletics’ debut. Only one of the league’s inaugurals was played,
the White Stockings defeating Cleveland, 8—2, in Chicago.

It rained on Thursday too, and a cold wind blew out of the north. When
it stopped about noon, Mack and Billy Sharsig rounded up all the hands
they could find to work on the field. About one thousand baseball-hungry
fans showed up, but the grounds remained unplayable. (In Detroit, the
Tigers started with a bang. Trailing Milwaukee, 13—4, they scored 10 runs in
the ninth for a 14-13 win that remains the greatest opening day comeback
in history.)

Mack was concerned that the postponements might take the edge off his
grand opening. It was also considered bad luck to open on a Friday, but he
was happy to see the skies clear. A steady wind blew the field dry enough
to play.

The Phillies were hosting Boston a few miles away that afternoon, but
you had to look hard in the newspapers to find any notice of it. Scattered
throughout the sporting pages of the Inquirer was the enjoinder “roLLow
THE CROWD,” a reminder that Columbia Park was the place to be.

The Athletics sent out 4,000 invitations to local celebrities and politi-
cians. The Union Traction Company promised plenty of cars on the tracks.
They needed them.

When the gates opened at two o’clock, thousands of customers were
waiting, pushing to be the first ones in to claim the best seats. The First
Regiment Band was already seated. Bandleader Sam Kendle raised his
baton, and a popular air rang out as the crowd poured in. It wasn’t long
before the whoops and cheers and chatter of the multitude drowned out
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the musicians. The grandstand and bleachers were filled an hour before
the four o’clock game time. When the grandstand entrance was closed with
another thousand people clamoring to get in, they rushed around to the
bleacher entrances. Policemen frantically scurried about in search of stakes
and ropes and sledgehammers to create a corral in the outfield.

“Then the right field bleachers overflowed and spilled a stampeded mob
into the arena,” Charles Dryden wrote in the North American. “Seldom
have we seen such a popular demonstration.”

Hundreds more were hoisted over the fence behind the bleachers by
friends with ropes. One entrepreneur was reported doing brisk business
selling “hauling tickets” on the Thirtieth Street sidewalk behind the left-
field bleachers.

Some fans found their way to the roof and sat on the gravel surface.
Others “draped themselves along the fence like herrings hung up to dry,”
wrote Dryden. “All fear that the delay in opening would blunt the enthu-
siasm vanished an hour or more before playing time came. The fanatics
wanted something new, and they rallied nobly to the offering.”

The paid attendance was reported at 10,594, with at least another 5,000
in the premises. At 3:55 the gong rang, and the players took their positions
on the field. Umpire John Haskell appeared, dressed in a marine blue flan-
nel shirt and dark blue suit. He walked toward the box seats where Ben
Shibe and his party were seated. Shibe handed Mayor Samuel Ashbridge a
box containing a new ball. Ashbridge wound up and threw the ball—box
and all—to the umpire as the crowd cheered. Haskell dug the ball out of
the box and tossed it to the starting pitcher, Chick Fraser. Then he turned
to the rooftop press box and, introducing a new service, called out the
batteries: “Carrick and Clarke” for Washington, “Fraser and Powers” for
Philadelphia. Few could hear him; fewer still could understand him—the
start of another tradition. (The use of a megaphone began later that season
in Washington.)

Several of the Athletics were presented bouquets of flowers on their
first time at bat, topped by an enormous horseshoe of lilies and roses for
Captain Lajoie. Even the umpire was honored with a nosegay. The only
damper to the day was the outcome on the field. The rust showed. The
Athletics made 7 hits and 7 errors. Lajoie had 3 hits and scored the home
team’s only run in its 5-1 loss.

Across town, the Phillies entertained fewer than eight hundred as they
lost to Boston, 4—2.
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The next day was a busy one for the Athletics. In the morning their attor-
neys were in court for final arguments. That afternoon the A’s lost again;
Milligan was bombed by Washington, 11—5. They drew an encouraging sec-
ond-day overflow crowd of about ten thousand. Mack allowed his fence
advertisers rebates for two days because their signs had been blocked by the
crowds standing in front of them.

That evening Shibe, Mack, and Charles Somers conferred about ways
to strengthen the team. Mack put in a claim with the league for Hughie
Jennings, who refused to sign with anybody until he completed his law
school exams at Cornell on Saturday. Ban Johnson went to Ithaca to sign
him for the Athletics. His exams over, Jennings “came to an understanding”
with Johnson to play for Philadelphia for $3,500. He didn’t sign a contract,
but he notified Mack that he would join the team when it returned from its
first western trip on June 6.

Connie Mack was uneasy. He had heard too many promises that weren’t
kept. Even some who actually signed, like Willis and Mathewson, had
deserted him. He wouldn’t count on Jennings until he was actually in uni-
form. Charlie Carr, who glittered in morning practice, then tarnished in
front of a crowd, was released. Mack moved Socks Seybold to first base, sent
Dave Fultz to the outfield, and purchased shortstop Harry Lochhead from
Detroit. He started Fred Ketcham, who had played for him in Milwaukee,
in place of Jack Hayden in the outfield.

Chick Fraser had an attack of rheumatism. The other pitchers suffered
from a lack of work. But they won their first game on Monday, beating
Boston, 8-5, behind Bernhard’s pitching and Lajoie’s 4 hits, including 2
triples.

Despite their early defeats, the Athletics were winning the competition at
the gate against the Phillies. On May 1 they beat Boston, 14—1, before 2,023,
while the Phillies played the Giants before 756 customers, the lowest atten-
dance at a Philadelphia game in fifteen years.

Always hunting for pitchers, Mack found a local semipro star, Pete Loos,
who was mowing them down for the Roxborough nine. He started Loos
on May 2 against Boston. It was a disaster. Loos gave up 2 runs in the first,
lost his compass, and walked 4 in a row in the second. A cold Bernhard was
rushed in; Boston scored 9 in the second and 10 in the third. Final score:
23—12. Mack allowed Loos to rejoin the Roxboroughs.

The only bright spot in the first week’s action was the hitting of Larry
Lajoie. If the judges perused the box scores, all doubts about the captain’s
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uniqueness must have been erased from their minds. He had 22 hits in 30
at bats, a .733 average.

The Columbia Park accommodations drew more praise than the play-
ers’ performance. “Mack strives to please in an entirely new direction,” the
North American crooned, “and the innovation is one the public will cer-
tainly appreciate. Urbane and gentlemanly agents pass among the crowd
calling attention to their ‘clean’ ham sandwiches. Mack’s sandwiches do
look tidy and are not sliced with a safety razor.”

Vendors also sold peanuts, penny pretzels, and five-cent lemonade. The
grandstand and bleachers were swept clean of the resulting debris before
the next game.

Philadelphia’s reputation for producing the loudest and prickliest leather-
lunged fans began early. They were especially effective in the intimate ball-
parks of the time, where thunderous voices carried clear across the dia-
mond to the seats on the other side. When a writer commented on May 1,
“The very enthusiastic individual who made the afternoon hideous with his
bawlings should be suppressed,” he was probably describing the “Iceman,”
Michael Collins. Easy to spot in his pink striped shirt and straw hat, Collins
sat at the end of the bleachers abutting the first base grandstand behind the
visitors’ bench. From four in the morning until early afternoon he roamed
the neighborhoods hawking fish in the winter and strawberries in the sum-
mer. In the afternoon he was at a ball game, hollering constantly. Unlike
future Philly foghorns, who flayed friend and foe alike, Collins rooted faith-
fully for the home team and aimed his barbs solely at the enemy. His voice,
which overrode all other crowd noises, was described as “an asthmatic whis-
tle of an oceangoing tug stuck in a railway tunnel.”

The predominant ink and outsized praise heaped on the Athletics and
Connie Mack irritated Col. Rogers, who accused the writers of being on
the American League’s payroll. The fact that the sporting editor of the
Inquirer and the baseball writer for Associated Press were stockholders in
the Athletics gave the charge some credence. But nobody owned Charles
Dryden, who had made life miserable for Giants owner Andrew Freedman
in New York before moving to Philadelphia. There were ten daily news-
papers in the city, plus three German-language papers. Those that cov-
ered baseball agreed with the portrayal of Ban Johnson as the “liberator of
the American baseball slaves.” They had great respect for Ben Shibe, little
respect for Rogers and his Phillies operation, and liked what they saw of
Connie Mack. Despite his hectic schedule and the pressures of starting a
new business in a new league in a new city, Mack was genial, approachable,
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always good for a quote. He was one of the few managers who routinely
named his next day’s pitcher for the writers.

Mack was just as congenial with young people. Once school was out, boys
of ten or eleven manned the broom brigades, sweeping clean the bleach-
ers and grandstand in exchange for a free bleacher ticket. Neighborhood
youngsters vied for the job, showing up at seven thirty in the morning and
working until noon. One morning a chubby eleven-year-old was wielding
a broom when he spotted the rail-thin Mr. Mack walking toward him. Fifty
years later the boy, LeRoy Shronk, recalled, “I never thought he’d notice
me, but he stopped and put his hand on my shoulder. ‘Son, he smiled, ‘I
think you’re carrying a little too much weight” He was right, too. I was a
butterball. But since he’d noticed, I was awfully proud.”

Another youngster, who lived in the suburb of Germantown, was among
the kids who idolized Connie Mack. “T used to wait outside the ballpark just
to look at him when he walked out,” recalled future manager Joe McCarthy.
In McCarthy’s later years an autographed photo of Connie Mack hung in
the entranceway of his Buffalo home.

Philadelphia wasn’t the only city where Ban Johnson’s legions were thrash-
ing the competition. The Athletics opened Boston’s home season on May 8
before a crowd of twelve thousand, losing to Cy Young, 12—4. Jimmy Collins’s
Somersets were soon outdrawing the Beaneaters two to one when both were
at home, causing the National club to flood the city with free passes, called
“slows.” When they began to play before cozy groups of fewer than two hun-
dred, the Beaneaters cut their general admission to twenty-five cents.

While the Athletics were in Boston, the stock market suddenly crashed.
Standard Oil fell 171 points in minutes; Northern Pacific Railroad, which
had climbed from 170 to 1,000, lost half its value in one day. It was called
the worst crash in the history of speculation. The collapse added to the
National Leaguers’ nervousness. The Wall Street crowd was among their
best patrons.

Connie Mack was more concerned with his pitchers than with the stock
market. It must have riled him to read that Christy Mathewson was 6-0
with 3 shutouts for the Giants. (For years Philadelphia writers continued to
blacken Matty’s reputation for his perfidious bullfrogging.)

There are several versions of who tipped off Connie Mack to Eddie
Plank. They’re all eligible for credibility. None can be proven. Nor are they
contradictory.
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Eddie Plank wasa twenty-five-year-old left-handed pitcher for Gettysburg
College. A local farmer, he had been enrolled for several years in the col-
lege’s “Preparatory Department,” the equivalent of a private high school,
while pitching for the college team. He never attended the college, and the
Preps had a team of their own, but Plank was too mature and too good for
that level of competition. Varsity eligibility rules were lax to nonexistent.
Pitching for the school and various town teams in the area, the six-foot,
175-pound southpaw had an unusual cross-fire delivery, what Plank called
his “slant ball,” that made him nearly invincible against other school and
town teams. But the closest he had come to professional ball was an offer
from the Richmond team of the Virginia League in June 1900. Two days after
he arrived in Richmond the team folded, and he returned home without
throwing a pitch. He reportedly had an offer from Hamilton, Ontario, but
he didn’t go. Scouts probably ignored him because he was twenty-five and
still pitching against overmatched college students and local amateurs.

Maurice Musselman was a young pharmacist in Gettysburg who was
active in the college athletic association and managed the business matters
of the town team in 1900. He may have written to Mack about Plank, as
some tales suggest. (He may have also told him about another college/town
team pitcher, George Winter, who signed with the Boston Americans.)

Frank Foreman was a veteran major league pitcher. Connie Mack had
batted against him in the National League and managed his brother
Brownie at Pittsburgh. Foreman had coached the Gettysburg College
team in 1900 and helped Plank develop his devastating sidearm delivery.
Foreman also pitched for the town team that summer. The thirty-eight-
year-old right-hander had gone to spring training with the new Orioles
club but signed with the Boston Americans. His story is that while the A’s
were in Boston May 8 and 9, he called on Mack at his hotel and told him
about Eddie Plank. Or maybe Mack had heard from Musselman and asked
Foreman about Plank. The timing of their meeting in Boston is consistent
with what happened next.

Connie Mack was interested—Mack was always interested —enough to
send a telegram to Plank inviting him to join the Athletics for a trial at
their next stop, Baltimore. Plank told a hometown reporter his “heart was
almost leaping from behind [my] tongue” when he read the telegram. He
packed and took the train to Baltimore, arriving on Sunday, May 12.

Two weeks earlier, a twenty-two-year-old Cleveland pitcher, Charles
Baker, had been nicked for a record 23 singles in a 121 loss to Chicago.
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Undeterred by that outing, Connie Mack paid the Spiders cash for Baker.
Although Mack no longer wore a uniform during the games, he sometimes
put one on and warmed up his new pitchers to see what they had on the
ball. Monday morning he caught Baker, suffering a badly split finger for
his efforts. With Bernhard, Milligan, and Piatt out of condition, he decided
to start Baker that afternoon against the Orioles. Baker was wild, walking
6. So was his infield. Poor Socks Seybold, playing first, was digging throws
out of the dirt and reaching in all directions. Trailing, 114, in the seventh,
Mack sent Eddie Plank to the box to look him over. The final score was
14-5; Plank, said the North American, “although he could not entirely stop
the Orioles’ run-getting, made, on the whole, a good impression.”

The bruised Baker was on his way to St. Joe, Missouri, the next day.
Plank, apparently still unsigned but agreeable to Mack’s offer (teams had
ten days to sign a player who had agreed to terms and could play him in
the meantime), went home and pitched for Gettysburg against Dickinson
on Wednesday, winning, 4—2. On Friday, May 17, he rejoined the A’s in
Washington. The Compiler, a Gettysburg weekly, didn’t report his signing
until its May 21 issue.

Wiley Piatt started the Friday game in Washington. Mack was particu-
larly perturbed when the Senators scored 2 in the ninth to pull out an 8—7
win that left the Athletics in seventh place with a 6-12 record. The next day
he told his rookie left-hander, “Edward, you’re pitching today.”

When Eddie Plank made his first major league start, he immediately
established himself as the most time-consuming pitcher in the big leagues,
the fans’ least favorite pitcher to watch. Between pitches he stood looking
at the catcher, stooped to retie his shoelaces, tugged his cap, walked around,
fussed with his belt, swiped at an airborne bug. With a man on first, he
stared at him—not throwing over, just staring. Plank stood out there so
long without moving that some batters called time and stepped out of the
box—an uncommon practice at the time—to refocus their eyes.

The Washington fans began to get on him early, counting aloud until
he threw each pitch. That didn’t bother him. It made him worse. The
Washington Post reported, “When the crowd started to count for Plank,
he demonstrated his coolness by strolling around the pitcher’s box several
times before delivering the ball.”

Except for a rocky sixth inning, when a few bases on balls and a key error
by Cross helped the Senators to 4 runs, Eddie “kept his head in masterful
style and made the Senators look like the proverbial thirty cents,” said the
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Philadelphia Times of his 11-6 victory, which took one hour and fifty-three
minutes. “The way he twirled the ball, batted [he had 2 hits] and fielded
speaks volumes for his future.”

Five days later in Chicago, Plank’s performance spoke a different volume
for his future. The home team, choosing to bat first, teed off on him in a
hurry. He lasted 2 innings, walked 3, uncorked 2 wild pitches, and gave up
6 of Chicago’s 7 runs in the third. For Plank, this was a rarity; he would
complete almost 80 percent of his starts.

Something else happened in that game that is still unique in American
League history. Chicago lefty Ervin Harvey took an 11—5 lead into the last
of the ninth. Joe Dolan led off with a single. Chick Fraser, who had relieved
Plank, singled. Geier hit a fly ball that fell in for a hit. Harvey then walked
Fultz and Cross, forcing in 2 runs. The score was now 117, bases loaded,
nobody out, and Larry Lajoie at the plate.

Accounts of what happened next vary slightly. According to the
Philadelphia Public Ledger, Chicago manager Clark Griffith went in to pitch
and “purposely allowed the big Frenchman to walk,” forcing in Geier with
the eighth run. The Chicago Tribune reported that Harvey pitched one bad
ball to Lajoie before Griffith came in. “The manager shortly opined it was
better to have Lajoie on first . . . so he delivered three just outside the corner
of the plate although he evidently tried to sneak the third one over.”

W. A. Phelon of the Chicago Daily Journal has Griffith telling the catcher
to stand away from the plate, then tossing deliberate wide ones to him.
Phelon called it “the nerviest play ever turned on a local diamond and risky
enough to scare an elephant.” It worked; three ground balls ended the game
with the score 11—9.

Regardless of how it happened, it’s the only time an American League
batter has been given the “supreme compliment” of an intentional base on
balls with the bases loaded. (It has happened twice in the National, to Bill
Nicholson in 1944 and Barry Bonds in 1999.)

It was still a loss for the Athletics. At the end of the day the White Sox
were in first place at 18-8, the A’s in seventh with a 7-15 record.

Connie Mack began to rival W. C. Fields as a master juggler. He installed
a revolving door between second and third base and in the pitcher’s box.
Harry Lochhead was gone after 9 games. Mack moved Lajoie to short and
Seybold to center field, put catcher Doc Powers on first base, and picked up
a thirty-four-year-old Phillies castoff, Morg Murphy, to catch.
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Then he received some good news for a change. The three-judge panel
denied the Phillies’ bid for an injunction against Lajoie, Fraser, and
Bernhard. The judges were not fooled by Lajoie’s modesty and recognized
him as an “expert player.” But they upheld the claim that the National con-
tract was “lacking in mutuality.”

A relieved Mack told reporters, “While I naturally feel pleased over the
decision, it was only what I expected. The reserve rule, as interpreted by
the magnates of the National League, is repugnant to all idea of fair play. It
is essentially un-American and I never had an idea it would be upheld by
any court of law. The decision will in no way affect our attitude toward the
contract-jumping players.

“I shall make no move to secure Mathewson, Willis, and the others. If I
had my way I would never permit any one of them to play in the American
League. Let the National League magnates understand that and the jump-
ers will receive a punishment fitting their despicable crime.”

Meanwhile, Mack continued to flare telegrams all over the country, ask-
ing his contacts to secure this player or that “at any cost.”

“If Mack has signed half the players he dickered with, he would need an
excursion train to bring them all back,” quipped Dryden. Either it was all
a public relations ploy to make it appear as if money was no object, or “at
any cost” wasn’t high enough. None of the rumored names wound up in
an Athletics uniform.

Connie Mack’s most important acquisition at that time cost him noth-
ing, not even a telegram. Harry Davis was working as an accountant for
the Lehigh Valley Railroad in Philadelphia, the same Harry Davis who had
been traded to the Pirates for Jake Beckley in the middle of a game in 1896.
Davis impressed Mack then with his timely hitting, intelligence, and clean
living. Released by the Pirates in 1898 after a knee injury, Davis made brief
stops in Louisville and Washington and quit baseball after the 1900 season
in Providence.

Mack had tried to induce Davis to sign with the Athletics in the spring.
Davis turned him down. Desperate for a first baseman, Mack went to his
office and pleaded, “I need you.”

Davis gave in, quit his job, and headed west with the team on May 21.
Except for a year managing Cleveland, Davis would be associated with the
Athletics as a player, coach, and scout for twenty-seven years. He was the
first of Mack’s “boys” who came to play and stayed, it seemed, forever, with
a loyalty and devotion rarely found in professional sports.
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“It was one of my best moves,” Mack said, “and made possible my first
three pennants.”

The burghers of Milwaukee showed no resentment over Connie Mack’s
departure when Mack returned to Cream City for the first time on Sunday,
May 26. More than ten thousand, the Brewers’ biggest crowd of the entire
season, turned out to welcome him. “Before the game began yesterday,”
said the Sentinel, “there were calls for Connie Mack, and the former popu-
lar manager of the Brewers was compelled to doff his hat in response to the
applause of the spectators.”

Mack had probably worn street clothes from time to time while pilot-
ing the Brewers, but his appearance now in a navy blue suit and straw hat
was considered noteworthy enough for the reporter to comment, “Connie
Mack does not don a uniform now that he is with the Philadelphias, and
makes his appearance on the bench in the wearing apparel of the times.”
He was not the first to do so; Frank Selee and Ned Hanlon had begun man-
aging in street clothes in the 1890s. On July 12, 1896, Brooklyn at Cincinnati,
both managers, Dave Foutz and Buck Ewing, wore civvies.

After dropping the opener in Milwaukee, 6—s5, the Athletics won the
next 3. The modest winning streak climbed to 5 with a sweep of a morn-
ing-afternoon Decoration Day doubleheader in Cleveland. That day the
club also picked up some extra income back in Philadelphia, renting out
Columbia Park for the first auto races held in the country.

They went on to Detroit, where the winning streak reached 9, as Plank
won his third since his debut. They had six .300 hitters in the lineup, led by
Lajoie, who modestly predicted that his .500 batting average “will fall off.”
The streak ended with a 9—1 loss on June 4, but they had climbed to fifth
place.

Connie Mack had a more mundane problem than sore-armed pitchers and
scatter-armed infielders. Somebody was stealing baseballs from the club-
house at Columbia Park. Only two people had a key in addition to Mack:
head groundskeeper Tom Murphy and Dennis McGillicuddy. Before head-
ing west, Mack asked his brother to conceal himself in the clubhouse at
night from time to time to try to catch the thief.

On the night of Wednesday, June 5, Dennis was staked out in the dark
clubhouse. Sometime during the night he heard someone entering. He
turned on the light. It was Murphy. They began throwing punches and
wrestling. Murphy picked up a bat and bashed Dennis in the forehead
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above the right eye. Dennis sagged to the floor, his skull shattered. Murphy
left, locking the door behind him.

Versions of the incident vary widely. In the years to come, Dennis’s wife,
Annie, wove an imaginary tale for her children about how she awoke at two
in the morning, saw her husband was not home, and knew that something
had happened. Waking her ten-year-old son, Harold, she told him, “Find
your father. He’s been hurt.” Harold went to the ballpark and found his
father lying in a pool of blood. They took him to the hospital.

The first report printed by the Inquirer had Dennis staggering home
about six in the morning and collapsing, his wife then calling a doctor. The
next day the paper forgot that account and came up with a new one.

Probably the most accurate testimony was that of M. J. Smith, an assistant
groundskeeper, as reported in the North American. Smith said he arrived at
the ballpark at eight Thursday morning. A half hour later Murphy arrived
and went into the clubhouse. At nine Smith went under the grandstand
near the clubhouse to get a drink of water.

“The door was closed. As I approached it I heard groans coming from
the inner room. As soon as I opened the door I saw McGillicuddy lying
on three chairs in one corner. He seemed to be in great pain. His face was
covered with blood, and I noticed that he was able to move with difficulty.
Murphy was standing over the prostrate man, cursing and berating him.
He had a baseball bat in his hand.

“When he saw me Murphy ran at me in a threatening manner and told
me that if I did not leave the clubhouse at once he would beat my head in.
I was badly frightened.

“A moment later Murphy came outside and informed me that if I told
anyone what I had seen, he would give me a ‘licking.

“I did tell Nathan Stetson, who works on the grounds, and informed him
of Murphy’s threat. Stetson was as badly frightened as I was and for several
hours we went about our business without saying anything to anyone.

“During all this time Murphy was standing guard over the clubhouse. No
one attempted to enter. About noon he came out and locked the door and I
saw him go to the manager’s office at the southern end of the grounds.”

Business manager Billy Sharsig was in the office. Murphy told him he
was quitting and going to Baltimore to work. He asked for his pay, and
Sharsig gave it to him. On his way out, Murphy commented that he had
had some trouble with McGillicuddy.

About three in the afternoon Frank Hayes, a youngster who worked on
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the grounds crew, was walking by the clubhouse door when he heard groans
coming from inside. The door was locked. Murphy was gone. Nobody else
had a key. They found a policeman, who broke down the door. Finding the
unconscious Dennis, they called Dr. C. J. Carron, who took one look and
had Dennis removed to German Hospital.

Connie Mack heard the news when he arrived late that afternoon from
Detroit. The Athletics had the day off. Mack went immediately to the hos-
pital, where the doctors estimated that Dennis’s wounds had been inflicted
between midnight and three a.m.

“McGillicuddy’s recovery is doubtful,” the North American concluded.

In an unprecedented procedure, Dr. Deaver wired the broken skull
together with silver wire. A week later Dennis was still “in precarious con-
dition, with no hope for recovery.”

The players immediately offered to play an exhibition game for the ben-
efit of Dennis’s family, but Connie Mack said no. “I'll take care of my own
family,” he told them.

Rain washed out the first game of the home stand the day after Dennis
was attacked. That afternoon Tom Murphy called Connie Mack and made
an appointment to meet him at the grounds at eight that evening to explain
things. Mack agreed. Murphy didn’t show up. It was a dodge to throw the
police off his trail. Murphy was nabbed by a policeman at the 8&o depot
with a ticket to Cleveland in his pocket.

On Saturday another overflow crowd turned out to watch the rookie sensa-
tion, Eddie Plank, set down the Tigers with ease, 6-1. The Detroit players
considered him the best left-hander they had ever seen. When he followed
that five days later with a 2-hit shutout of Milwaukee, Eddie Plank was the
toast of the city.

He didn’t relish the spotlight. A long-jawed, solemn-faced loner with
narrow, puffy eyes, Plank was so quiet and humorless that off-the-field
anecdotes about him are scarce. He was not a lobby sitter, and he didn’t go
out with the boys for a beer. He had little to say except when conducting
tours of the Gettysburg battlefield near his home. Even though fans com-
plained that watching him pitch was like watching grass grow, they liked
the results. He had won 6 of 7 starts.

“[Plank] has proven himself an expert,” wrote the Record.

The Evening Telegraph waxed hyperbolic, while taking a poke at “rubber-
legs” Mathewson:
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There is no more use in smothering the truth than there is in trying
to drown a cat in a tin cup. That man Plank is the greatest thing that
ever happened and can shed a few rays of limelight on any of them,
not excepting the great and only Mathewson, who set New York base-
ball daffy and started the journalists of that village on the Hudson to
spouting hot air like Vesuvius shoots bricks. Mattie is all to the good
all right but just part your eyebrows and gaze in rapture on the sweet
boy that Connie Mack dug up from the battlefield at Gettysburg.

The secret of Plank’s pitching is no secret at all. It is a good strong
arm, a powerful constitution to back it, and neither drinks, smokes,
chews nor swears, nor eats canned pickles, corn starch pudding and
buttermilk in the same breath. Added to this, he used to work ten
hours a day in a pretzel factory and knows how to twist things. There
is no mayonnaise dressing on Plank and we’ll be plankety-planked if
he isn’t the warmest baby that ever came down the Ridge road in a
go-cart.

You get the idea.

The secret of Plank’s pitching was more than what he did or didn’t eat.
He preceded his sidearm delivery with a confusing windup, circling his
arm four times while shifting his feet and taking a step forward with each
turn of the windmill. Umpire John Sheridan later claimed, “Plank got away
with an illegal five-step windup for seventeen years.”

In the box he talked to himself, especially in the late innings, when he
would count down—“Nine to go .. . eight to go . . . ”’—in a distinctly nasal
voice.

Nobody liked to face him, not even his own teammates in batting prac-
tice. He wasn’t there to cater to the batters. To him, it was pp—pitching
practice—not BP. He used it to work on his pitches. As the hitters popped
up or swung and missed, the more they swore, the more he smiled. He was
also rough on catchers” hands. Jack Lapp, who caught him in his later years
with the A’s, said Plank’s pitches always dropped two inches lower at the
plate than the catcher anticipated.

What Plank called a “let-up” on his curve ball was probably a slider.
Some pitchers threw harder fastballs and sharper curves, but Plank had
control and pitching smarts. Babe Ruth said he “could knock a bead of per-
spiration off your brow.” Throughout his career he would average 2 walks
per 9 innings. Plank was known for his pickoff move, which was more of a
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nonmove. “There are only so many pitches in this old arm,” he said, “and I
don’t believe in wasting them throwing to first base.”

Instead, Plank stood and stared at the runner, kept on staring at him till
he leaned back toward the bag, then quickly threw a pitch. He was also a
strategic fiddler, choosing his spots to throw a hitter off balance. Sometimes
he would pitch without delay. Other times he wouldn’t throw a pitch until
the umpire warned him against further fiddling around.

Eddie Collins once described Plank’s method:

“Plank’s favorite situation was two men on and a slugger up. The better
the hitter the better Eddie liked it. For, if a man had a reputation to uphold,
the fans would egg him on, and he would be aching to hit. Plank would
fuss and fuddle with the ball, with his shoes, and then try to talk with the
umpire. . . . Then he’d dish up something the batter couldn’t reach with
two bats, would follow that with an equally wild pitch, inside. Probably
the next would be a twister the batter could reach, but could not straighten
out. A couple of fouls, and he would wink knowingly at me. Then he would
attempt to pick off the base runners. Then, suddenly, Plank would turn his
attention to the fretting batter again, who would, in all probability, pop up
in disgust.”

How Connie Mack kept his composure, much less his sanity, throughout
1901 is a tribute to his innate toughness. His native optimism went through
a forge that would temper the hardest steel. If it wasn’t one thing, it was two
others. There were problems with the trolley lines to Columbia Park. Cars
broke down mysteriously during the hours preceding the games, stranding
thousands of potential customers. The transit company cut the number
of cars, resulting in long waits. None of these things happened when the
Phillies were home.

Mack’s brother Dennis had barely moved from “no hope” to “some
hope” status when another player wrangle erupted, this one a brannigan
between two stubborn Irishmen, Connie Mack and John McGraw. Hughie
Jennings was two weeks overdue. He still had not signed a contract with
Mack or anyone else. At some point he may have promised his old Oriole
teammate, McGraw, that he would play for Baltimore if he played for any-
body. But Mack, not McGraw, had the American League rights to him.

Jennings finally showed up in Philadelphia on June 19. He ate breakfast
with the visiting Cleveland Blues at the Bingham Hotel and reportedly told
some of them he would be playing for the Athletics against them the next
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day. But first he was going down to Baltimore to “straighten out matters
with McGraw.”

That afternoon he went to the game at Baltimore, where he was rec-
ognized and cheered by the fans. He told McGraw he was going to play
for Connie Mack if McGraw didn’t object. McGraw objected. When Ban
Johnson was asked about it, he said Jennings couldn’t play for McGraw if
Mack objected. Mack objected. Neither one blinked or budged.

McGraw persuaded Jennings to accompany the Orioles to Milwaukee,
where the manager vowed to put Jennings in the Orioles’” lineup. That
spurred Ban Johnson to fire off telegrams to Jennings, Brewers president
Matt Killilea, and umpire John Sheridan: if Jennings is in an Oriole uni-
form, do not start the game. McGraw said he’d play Jennings anyhow.

Gleefully watching this internecine melodrama, Col. Rogers of the
Phillies swooped down and rescued Jennings from his dilemma, offering
him an extravagant $1,000 a month for the rest of the season. For Jennings,
now an aging first baseman with little future as a player, it was a bonanza.
For Rogers, it was a flaming sword of revenge. Jennings had enough life in
him to lead the Phillies, a .500 club in fifth place when he joined them, to
a second-place finish.

The fact that Jennings, who had played for Brooklyn in 1900 and was still
on its reserve list, could play for the Phillies in 1901 reflects the anger that
Ban Johnson’s raiders had ignited in National League bosoms. Brooklyn
president Charles Ebbets had it in for Connie Mack for stealing Dave Fultz
after Ebbets had drafted him from Milwaukee. He was also out the draft
money. Mack told him his argument over the money was with “Milwaukee,
not me.” Mack further raised Ebbets’s bile by signing away his third base-
man, Lave Cross. Now, when Rogers saw a chance to get back at Mack, he
found an eager ally in Ebbets. Once Jennings expressed a willingness to
sign with the Phillies, Ebbets sold him to Rogers for $3,000.

“We could have secured more money from two other clubs for Jennings,”
Ebbets said, “but we let him go to the Phillies to get even with Connie Mack
of the American League. Revenge is sweet. Mack did us several bad turns
during the year and we simply took advantage of the chance to get even.”

Ban Johnson blamed McGraw for the loss of Jennings to the enemy,
giving McGraw more cause to believe the league father was treating his
sons with unequal fairness. Despite their doubts about each other, Johnson
and McGraw had worked together effectively during the organizing of the
league. But the honeymoon cruise didn’t last long. The ship hit the shoals
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on May 31 in Detroit when McGraw and his entire team came down on
umpire John Sheridan over a call at home plate. When Mike Donlin threw
a bat at Sheridan from behind the ump’s back, Sheridan forfeited the game
to Detroit.

McGraw thought Johnson’s policies were aimed at him alone, and that’s
the way it seemed, because he ignored them more than anyone. Johnson’s
letters of reprimand and fines did nothing to change McGraw’s behavior.

But McGraw and his players were not alone, not by a long shot. In the
first week of the season, Clark Griffith touched off a near-riot in Chicago.
The visiting Detroit Tigers scored 5 in the ninth to take a 7—5 lead as the
twilight dimmed. Griffith stalled, hoping it would become too dark to con-
tinue. Failure to complete the inning would cause the score to revert back to
the eighth, when Chicago had a 5—2 lead. Umpire Tom Connolly prodded
Griffith’s men to hustle. He refused to call the game. Griffith engaged the
ump in a lengthy argument while the daylight disappeared. So Connolly
forfeited the game to Detroit. Things turned ugly when the crowd made
more than rhetorical noises about killing the umpire.

The more McGraw fretted, the more mayhem he visited on the umpires.
The frayed tapestry of unity unraveled altogether when Johnson aired his
suspicions that McGraw, encouraged by John T. Brush, was behind over-
tures to Jimmy Manning in Washington and George Stallings in Detroit to
decamp with their teams to the National League. Brush hoped to restore
the twelve-team league and destroy the American. McGraw denied every-
thing and called Johnson a “Caesar” and “Tsar.” Johnson called McGraw a
Benedict Arnold. Charlie Comiskey backed Johnson, stating, “The sooner
McGraw gets out of the league the better.”

When a leg injury forced McGraw’s limb to be encased in a plaster cast,
one wag commented, “They should put another one on his jaw.”

Tempers rose with the mercury, which turned the Northeast into a blast
furnace throughout July and August. “Hot weather makes players ugly and
spectators ugly,” said umpire Bob Emslie. “It takes the life out of the umpires
and they make miscues. The more the players quarrel the worse the umpires
get. . .. Whenever there is a summer as hot as this the umpire gets curses
from the first day to the last . . . because everybody is out of sorts.”

Some of the heat exuded from under Connie Mack’s high starched
collar. His Athletics, mired in sixth place, were just plain awful.

When a team is going bad—worse than expected—it can affect a man-
ager’s appetite and sleep. He skips meals because he doesn’t feel like eating.
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He wakes up during the night and stares at the ceiling, playing with permu-
tations of his lineup, thinking of what to say and who to say it to, trying to
conjure up a trick play that might spark some enthusiasm in his dragging
troops. In later years Connie Mack could sleep stretched out straight on his
back, arms at his sides, and wake up eight hours later in the same position,
regardless of how his team was doing. But in 1901 he was not yet immune
to the frustrations that have assailed managers since the first base on balls
was given up by a pitcher.

MacKk’s temper exploded midway through a 12-game losing streak, when
the A’s blew a 4—1 lead in the ninth, losing to Washington, 5—4, on June
26. “The Athletics left American Park this afternoon in a disturbed sort of
condition,” led the North American, “and manager Mack was belaboring
his band with all the words of abuse he was capable of conjuring to suit the
occasion. The A’s today gave a woeful exhibition in the ninth when, victory
almost a certainty, Lajoie and Hayden, by stupid and dumb plays, gave the
game to Washington.”

Everything sizzled in Washington on July 1, when the temperature hit a
record 102. Eddie Plank had a 13—5 lead after 7 innings. He wilted, giving
up 4 runs in the eighth. Then he melted, surrendering 4 more in the ninth.
Both teams were so exhausted the game was stopped, a 13—13 tie.

They were banging out the hits: 23 in a 15-13 loss on June 29, 19 in the
1313 tie. One day they set a record, racking up 41 total bases. But the pitch-
ing was poor and the defense even worse. Mack was booed by the home fans
throughout a 16—0 rout for leaving Bill Bernhard in the box for the entire
game. Plank was his only other pitcher able to work, and Mack couldn’t see
using him on a day they were doing nothing against Cy Young.

Slumps are never welcome, but this one came at a particularly inop-
portune time. The Phillies, sparked by Hugh Jennings, were winning. The
city’s attention turned toward them; their attendance rose as the A’s faded.

Never one to stand pat, Mack began to deal. He sold Wiley Piatt to
Chicago and released Milligan. He bought a thirty-two-year-old pitcher
from the Penn State League who lasted 4 innings and was gone. He traded
Phil Geier to Milwaukee for shortstop Tom Leahy, who didn’t help; released
the Penn phenom, Jack Hayden; and bought Matty McIntyre, a handsome,
matinee idol outfielder with a shock of wavy black hair, from Augusta.
Before he was finished, at least thirty-two players wore an A’s uniform that
year, more than any other in the league.

Then Mack caught two breaks from an unlikely source— Barney Dreyfuss.
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Loaded with pitching, the Pirates were waltzing through the National
League’s weakened ranks. Mack had been waiting since April for Dreyfuss
to decide which of his excess hurlers to peddle: Jesse Tannehill, Sam Leever,
Deacon Phillippe, Rube Waddell, or Jack Chesbro. Mack would have taken
any of them. One report had Waddell going to Boston, but it didn’t hap-
pen. In May, he had been sold to James Hart’s Chicago Orphans.

In July Dreyfuss decided that spot starter Snake Wiltse, a twenty-nine-
year-old rookie southpaw, was expendable. Wiltse was 1-4 in 7 games.
Dreyfuss considered it no particular aid to the enemy to relieve Connie
Mack of some cash in exchange for Wiltse’s services. Snake became a work-
horse for Mack, averaging more than 8 innings per game, including two
relief appearances, while winning 13 against 5 losses.

The second break came as a result of the American League’s apparent pros-
perity. National Leaguers who had been hesitant about jumping into uncer-
tain waters began to reconsider. Small groups of players were seen huddling
in clubhouse corners, hotel lobbies, and train club cars, mumbling among
themselves. Every clubhouse had its spies, agents, and double agents.

Dreyfuss knew what was going on. He started signing his best players to
generous 1902 contracts, throwing in five-day vacations in Atlantic City as
a bonus. But he didn’t want to keep any of the ringleaders who were try-
ing to lure his happy warriors into greener pastures. His suspicions cen-
tered on his shortstop, Bones Ely. At thirty-eight, batting only .208, Ely was
clearly near the end of the line. The Pirates didn’t need him. They had an
outfielder named Wagner who could play shortstop. Dreyfuss released Ely.

The six-foot-one, 155-pound Bones had played for Mack in Pittsburgh.
The A’s snapped him up. Old bones make the best glue, and that’s just what
Bones Ely did for Mack’s infield. From the day he joined the Athletics on
July 28, the infield of Davis, Lajoie, Ely, and Cross was the tightest in the
league. Ely didn’t hit, but they didn’t need his bat. They were already sec-
ond in the league in scoring runs. They needed that key playmaker in the
middle. The A’s won 11 of the next 13, had the best record in the league—22-
10—in August, and closed in on the fourth-place Tigers.

But it wasn’t easy. On the morning of Sunday, August 4, they were in fifth
place with a 36-43 record, 7 games behind Detroit and %2 game ahead of
Washington. During the next ten days they played seven doubleheaders, 15
games in all, and won 10 of them, including 8 out of 10 from Washington.
Fraser, Wiltse, and Plank pitched four games each, Bernhard three. One of
Wiltse’s starts went 13 innings. And nobody’s arm fell off.
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Catcher Harry Smith, who drew applause for hustling down the first
base line ahead of batters to back up plays, was sidelined with appendicitis.
Doc Powers did all the catching—every inning, every game, every double-
header—while Mack scrambled for another catcher. It looked as if Powers
might finally get a day off when a man named Morris “Farmer” Steelman
walked into Mack’s office on August 21 and said, “Mr. Mack, do you want
to sign another catcher?”

“I certainly do,” Mack replied.

Steelman had been playing for Hartford, sent there by the Brooklyn
Superbas. Charles Ebbets cried foul when he heard Mack had signed him.
Ban Johnson ruled that Steelman still belonged to Hartford. So Farmer
went back and bought his own release, then returned to Philadelphia.
Powers had to wait another week before being relieved of duty.

On August 23 the A’s climbed into a tie with Detroit by beating the
Tigers, 7—2, in a game featured by a Lajoie home run that cleared the fence
and bounced into Kilroy’s saloon. The team’s surge reversed the tide of the
fans. Crowds of five and six thousand returned. Connie Mack looked for-
ward to an overflow turnout for a Saturday doubleheader against Detroit
on August 24, but a steady downpour washed away the big gate.

The climb came with casualties. On August 14 George Winter, Plank’s
former teammate at Gettysburg, hit Plank in the head with a pitch in
Boston. Plank, 14-7 at the time, was out for almost three weeks, leaving the
other three pitchers to carry the load. Cross had a sprained ankle, Lajoie an
abscess on the knee that led to blood poisoning. Doc Powers was worn out.
Mack maneuvered, putting Fultz on second, Joe Dolan on third, and Bill
Bernhard in the outfield when he wasn’t pitching.

Connie Mack was shaken by more bad news when Billy Sharsig collapsed
in the office and was taken home. He never came back; cancer took his life
five months later. The popular business manager had been an invaluable
aid to Mack during the groundbreaking work of creating the Philadelphia
Athletics. Ben Shibe’s sons, John and Tom, took on the business respon-
sibilities. When the traveling secretary, Charles Erringer/Goodfellow, quit
after one season, John Shibe took on that shepherding role.

Elsewhere on the hospital front, there was better news. Dennis Mack,
who had hovered between life and death since June 5, went home from
German Hospital on July 20. Connie Mack wanted Dennis to recuperate
at their mother’s home, but Dennis was in no condition to travel alone. So
Mack sent for Eugene to come to Philadelphia and accompany Dennis to
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East Brookfield. They returned on September 1 to testify at the arraignment
of Thomas Murphy. Charged with assault with intent to kill, Murphy faced
a possible seven years if convicted. Free on $600 bail, Murphy failed to
show up at the hearing, jumped bail, and disappeared. A year later Connie
Mack was walking in St. Louis when he saw Murphy. Mack called the police
who arrested Murphy and sent him back to Philadelphia, where he was
tried and convicted and sentenced to two years and nine months.

In the middle of the 1901 pennant race, early skirmishes in the battle of
1902 broke out. Ban Johnson publicly vowed to wreck the National League,
while quietly seeking peace in meetings with Jim Hart in Chicago. Johnson
was also angling to move a franchise, either Cleveland or Detroit, into
Pittsburgh.

Players’ fears that twenty-five-cent ticket prices wouldn’t support the
league’s payrolls had dissipated. The wave of players now eager to cash in
on the bonanza resembled the Cherokee Strip Oklahoma Land Rush of
1893. Suddenly baseball was seen as the quick road to riches for young ath-
letes. Signed 1902 contracts were said to be piling up in the safe in Connie
MacK’s office. As usual, no captives were identified. Once again dollar signs
made headlines as big as game results.

Had the “big money” cooled players’ intensity and changed the game? At
least one observer thought so. “Players don’t play with as much interest as
before,” wrote a disenchanted John B. Foster, sports editor of the New York
Evening Telegram.

That couldn’t be said of Connie Mack’s Athletics. They were now bat-
tling Detroit and Baltimore for third place. On September 5 they took two
from the Tigers and trailed them by 4 percentage points. The next day they
fell back, losing, 8-3, in a game called by umpire Joe Cantillon in the mid-
dle of the sixth inning when news of the shooting of President William
McKinley reached the field.

The fates and weather combined to douse Mack’s chances to overtake the
Tigers. They played only one game of a five-game series at home against
Detroit, rain canceling three and McKinley’s funeral, which shut down the
league, costing the fourth. Two rained-out doubleheaders meant at least
twenty thousand ticket sales lost.

The A’s finished strong, winning 11 of their last 13, but they were unable
to improve on that .004 deficit and settled for fourth with a 74-62 record,
9 games out of first. Inconsistent pitching prevented them from keeping
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up with Chicago and Boston. There were too many times when Mack was
shorthanded and had to reach into the bushes for help. Socks Seybold bat-
ted .333, Lave Cross .331, and Harry Davis .306 to produce plenty of runs,
only 14 fewer than the pennant-winning White Stockings.

But it was Larry Lajoie’s year. Rarely if ever has a player in either league
had a bigger one. His batting average stayed above .400 from the first day
to the last. His final figures, all league leaders, are staggering: .422, still the
American League record; 229 hits (in only 131 games); .635 slugging aver-
age; 48 doubles, 14 home runs, 145 runs scored, and 125 batted in. Had there
been Gold Glove and Most Valuable Player awards, he would have won
them too.

For Connie Mack, it was his first opportunity to see Lajoie in daily action
over an entire season. When it was over, he summed up his impressions of
the King:

A mistake commonly made by people who follow the game of base-
ball is that when Lajoie makes an error, he is loafing on the ball. I have
heard the fans in the grandstand many times pass remarks when he
fumbled a ball, to the effect that if he had hustled after the ball he’d
have had it. Any such criticism of Lajoie is unjust. He is a player in one
respect like Bill Dahlen of the Brooklyn club. He plays ball so naturally
and so easily that it looks as though he was not making any effort to
make the plays. Lajoie is without doubt the greatest second baseman
in the business. His reach is so long and he is as fast as lightning, and
to throw to second is ideal. Any catcher who has played with him will
tell you that he is the easiest man to throw to playing ball. He is sure
of everything: high, low or wide of the bag, it’s all the same to him.
And his arm is as good as any of them. Combine all this with his bat-
ting power and there isn’t a ballplayer in the business that compares
with him.

Ban Johnson claimed that all of his clubs made money, but it’s doubtful
that this was true of Cleveland and Baltimore. Cleveland’s attendance was
the lowest in the league—131,380. Despite the presence of local favorites
John McGraw and Wilbert Robinson and an aggressive team, the Orioles
drew a disappointing 142,000, barely beating out the last-place Milwaukee
Brewers’ 139,000. For Ban Johnson, McGraw and the Orioles were becom-
ing a hybrid of an albatross and a white elephant.
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The American League won the battles in Boston and Chicago, almost dou-
bling its competitor’s figures in both cities. The Athletics, hurt by trolley-line
sabotage and the loss of July 4 and seven Saturday dates to rain, drew 206,329
to the second-place Phillies’ 234,937. On dates when both teams played at
home, the A’s outdrew their city rivals, sometimes two to one.

As early as July, Ban Johnson had made known his intention to move a
team to St. Louis. But which one? St. Louis interests had bid $30,000 for the
Milwaukee franchise, which Henry Killilea rejected. A weak club that won
48 games and languished in last place all season had subdued the burghers’
enthusiasm. The Killilea brothers pleaded in vain to give Milwaukee a
chance to prove itself. After their last home game, Johnson announced the
removal of the Brewers to St. Louis.

There was talk of shifting Cleveland, which did not have Sunday baseball,
to Cincinnati, which did; Detroit to Pittsburgh; somebody to New York.
Johnson suspected that George Stallings was trying to move the Detroit
club into the National League. But it was all empty speculation.

Ban Johnson’s campaign to curb attacks on umpires must be counted
a failure in its first year. McGraw, Griffith, and Stallings were not his only
thorns. Within a three-week span in August he had suspended two players
for taking punches at John Haskell, who didn’t return in 1902; Hugh Dufty
for landing a right to the jaw of Al Manassau, who also found other work;
and Joe McGinnity for spitting in Tom Connolly’s face. Connolly toweled
himself off and stayed another thirty years.

If he ever took a minute to relax, Connie Mack might have heaved a sigh
of relief, now that his first year in Philadelphia was behind him. He had
started a business from scratch, raised the needed capital, built a plant, put
together a team, and made it pay. He had survived a wave of trials, frustra-
tions, physical blows to his personal and baseball families, rotten weather,
and a hundred and one other distractions.

His achievements and grace under siege didn’t go unheralded. In sum-
ming up the season, Sporting Life editor Francis C. Richter wrote:

Misfortunes of the team, desertions of Mathewson and Lefty Davis,
half-season long weakness at short, first and left field, failure of Piatt
and sickness of Smith all knocked manager Mack’s plans sky high,
proved disastrous to the team, and also for a time seriously affected the
status of the club and the prestige of the American League. Fortunately,
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Mack and Shibe proved equal to the emergency and their unremitting
efforts to pull up the team resulted in success and restored the club to
the good graces of the local public.

The acquisition of Harry Davis, pitchers Plank and Wiltse, Ely,
MclIntyre and Steelman all proved timely master strokes of judgment
and execution. They put the team into the running at critical times and
proved to the people the desire of the management to give the people
of Philadelphia the best that could be had, regardless of expense.

With this good showing, the Athletics club will doubtless reap well
next year. . . . They cleared a profit for the year and made the club a
fixture among local institutions.

In conclusion I want to compliment manager Mack and his play-
ers for the uniform excellence of their work and the good impres-
sion they made upon the public. Manager Mack came to us a com-
parative stranger under adverse circumstances. Today he is one of us,
with a host of friends and supporters. His unobtrusiveness, fairness
and urbanity under all circumstances, his fortitude in the months of
adversity, his moderation in prosperity, his perpetual prudence, all
combined to make him the right man in the right place in the past
crucial season. A less well-balanced man would have surely gone to
pieces under the pressure of the fierce struggle for existence of an
unfortunate first season.

Captain Lajoie and his players one and all deserve commenda-
tion for their earnest efforts despite discouragement, their uniformly
steady playing, their abstention from rowdy ball, and their all-around
behavior. No team representing this city was ever more harmonious,
free from scandal or better behaved on or off the field. They have cre-
ated for themselves a host of friends and patrons who hope to see
them all back again to land the pennant next year.

But Connie Mack didn’t take a minute to relax or bask in these acco-

lades. The Monday after the season ended, the A’s played an exhibition
game against a black team, the Cuban X Giants, before a crowd of 1,670,
many of them blacks, who saw a 4—4, 11-inning tie. Then they toured for a
week, playing local teams throughout the state, without Lajoie and Davis,
who were off with their own barnstorming team, and Dave Fultz, who had
gone to captain a football team in Pittsburgh that had in its lineup the rub-
berlegged Christy Mathewson. Mack formed his own association football
(soccer) team that played during the winter at Columbia Park.
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There were meetings, secret strategy confabs with Ban Johnson, play-
ers to be pursued and signed. Mack still yearned for the irrepressible
Eddie Waddell. The Rube had gone through an unimpressive, though not
uneventful, season in Chicago: 13-15 after 2 losses in Pittsburgh. One night
in July after pitching a 2—1 win in 113-degree heat in St. Louis, Rube was
embroiled in a shouting match with pitcher Jack Taylor on the train to
Chicago. Taylor declared that Waddell had to go.

Mack kept track of Rube’s winter wanderings. He read that Rube had
been in Chicago on November 18 and signed a 1902 contract. Next thing he
knew, Rube was pitching out in California.

Richter commented on Mack’s wooing of Waddell, “Has not Mack
trouble enough already?”

Yes, Mack had trouble enough already. In November the Phillies con-
firmed what had been widely anticipated for months: they were filing an
appeal of the district court’s denial of an injunction in the case of Napoleon
Lajoie.
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295 | A STAGGERING BLOW

Connie Mack and Ben Shibe were all smiles at the American League meet-
ing in Detroit in March 1902. They had plenty of reasons to be cheerful.
Despite the rainout of lucrative holiday dates, their first year in business
had been a grand success. Mack collected a dividend on his 25 percent share
of the club; his salary was raised from $3,500 to $5,000 (still well below
John McGraw’s reported $8,000 in Baltimore). To compensate for those
rainouts, the league granted them the home dates they wanted for the com-
ing season: Decoration Day, July 4, and Labor Day.

The league office reported a net profit of $14,000 after expenses of just
over $15,000. Suffused with gratitude and optimism, American League
magnates boosted Ban Johnson’s salary to $7,000.

Ban Johnson was always looking to strengthen the financial backing of
his clubs. At almost every league meeting, he brought in some millionaire
who had made his money in streetcar franchises or ice houses or breweries
or hotels and introduced him as a prospective club owner. This riled the
lifetime baseball men like Comiskey and Griffith. Griff believed that “the
man who has learned the game on the field will fight to the finish, but the
ones who regard the game as an investment are the first to pull out.” These
new capitalists who knew nothing about the game and didn’t have a love
of baseball in their blood would run when the red ink flowed. They were
the sort who had deserted the Players’ League ship in 1890 the instant A. G.
Spalding fired the first shot across their bow.

“Bushwhackers,” Griffith called them. Whenever Johnson presented one
of them at a meeting, Griffith would mutter to Mack, “One more million-
aire will ruin the league.”

Connie Mack would smile and say nothing. His bitter experiences with
the “bushwhackers” in Buffalo and Pittsburgh had been assuaged by his
pleasant and profitable relationship with the Killilea brothers in Milwaukee.
And he considered Ben Shibe a genuine baseball man.
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Johnson brought three new well-heeled ownership groups into the
league. He had found a way to rid himself of George Stallings in Detroit,
where dissension among the owners and a weak team imperiled the future
of the franchise. Samuel F. Angus was an insurance agent, railroad contrac-
tor, and hotel owner. Among his assets was a bookkeeper named Frank
Navin, who later ruled the Tigers as president for thirty-two years. After
less than a year as a club owner, Angus would cause the baseball veter-
ans to cringe when he announced that he would go as high as a $50,000
payroll—for a fourteen-man roster—to give Detroit a winner. “[This]
simply shows to what extreme a man will go who is not aware of all the
little idiosyncrasies of base ball,” commented Sporting Life. “How does Mr.
Angus anticipate that he can make both ends meet in a city that even now
is showing plenty of indication that it is becoming base ball stale again?”

In Washington, the last straw for Jimmy Manning had come in October,
when he tried to tap the league’s reserve fund to finance further raids on
NL players. That was the fund’s intended purpose, but Ban Johnson denied
his request. Manning resigned and put his interest in the club up for sale.
Johnson found a buyer in Michigan hotel operator Fred C. Postal, and he
induced Tom Loftus, his former Columbus manager, to leave the Orphans
and take over the capital club. But Johnson continued to pull the strings
while he looked for local backers.

Over Henry Killilea’s objections, the league approved the relocation of
the Milwaukee Brewers to St. Louis. Choosing not to be part of the move,
Killilea sold his interest for $40,000 to a group of millionaires headed by
Robert L. Hedges, a Cincinnati businessman and bank director who owned
the Columbia Carriage Company. Wealthy sportsman Max Ralph Orthwein
became president. Matt Killilea and Fred C. Gross retained a piece of the
club. Jimmy McAleer moved from Cleveland to manage the new Browns.

Charles Somers had run into problems with his other financial interests
and sold the Boston club for $60,000 to a group headed by Henry Killilea.
Somers remained a partner in the Cleveland club.

Connie Mack continued to resist efforts to adopt uniform rules. He
refused to endorse the foul strike rule or a new Nt rule making a foul bunt
with two strikes a strikeout. The league went along with him. Reality over-
ruled principle when an earlier “permanent” blacklisting of nine play-
ers— Christy Mathewson and Vic Willis among them—who had signed
American contracts, then jumped back to the National, was repealed at the
request of the new St. Louis Browns owners. One of the players on the list
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was outfielder Emmett Heidrick. Hedges had recently induced Heidrick
to leave the Cardinals and sign with the Browns. Ticket prices were raised
to seventy-five cents for covered grandstand seats and fifty cents for cov-
ered stands on the sides, except in Philadelphia, where prices remained
unchanged to match those of the Phillies.

The league’s celebratory mood continued into the evenings. One night
the new members of the fraternity, Postal and Angus, hosted a banquet
for sixty, including the press, at the Griswold House: oyster, fish, and beef
courses—the works. The next evening the newcomers entertained them all
at the Avenue Theater. Ban Johnson gave high priority to keeping the writ-
ers well fed and moist of gullet, along with serving plenty of column-filling
quotes. Whenever his league met, he provided a press room stocked with
writing material.

In a photo of a dozen of the magnates attending the meeting—eight
wearing derbies, four in velvet-collared topcoats—taken on the sidewalk
outside the hotel, Connie Mack stands in a three-piece suit and low crown
derby, a heavy gold watch chain looped across his vest and linked to a
buttonhole by a large fob. At thirty-nine, the youngest of the group, he
looks prosperous and rested, his face full.

Convinced that the American League was here to stay, the wave of play-
ers eager to join it reached tidal proportions, practically wiping out the
pre-1901 lineups of the Cardinals, Brooklyn, Chicago, and the Phillies. The
Phillies were plucked and bled like kosher chickens; only one starter, Roy
Thomas, and no pitchers remained from their 1900 team. In Pittsburgh,
Barney Dreyfuss was still relatively untouched, having signed his players
early with generous side deals. His payroll reached a reported $57,000, high-
est in the game. The Pirates would win the 1902 pennant by 27% games.

One problem in signing new jumpers was that some of them had already
signed 1902 National League contracts. Ban Johnson was adamantly opposed
to signing contract breakers. Some of his club owners, in collusion with
the players, got around that by predating their contracts. Counterattacking
National clubs were then forced to backdate their contracts—at higher
salaries—to reclaim their jumpers. These shenanigans prompted Ned
Hanlon in Brooklyn to complain, “If things keep on at their present rate of
signing and cross-signing, some of these players will be holding contracts
dated years before their birth.”

Connie Mack reaped his share of this 1902 spring harvest. He captured
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three more Phillies: outfielder Elmer Flick, a .336 hitter with some power;
shortstop Monte Cross, a smart, far-ranging gloveman with a light bat who
had played for Mack in Pittsburgh; and right-hander Bill Duggleby, a 19-
game winner in 1901. Mack even hired away the Phillies’ groundskeeper,
Joseph Schroeder, who brought with him what proved to be an invalu-
able bonus. Schroeder’s fourteen-year-old son Robert began by hawking
peanuts from a basket and stayed for forty-eight years. Connie Mack sent
him to business school; he became the club secretary and a member of the
board of directors.

Quipped the North American, “What will Connie Mack do next [to the
Phillies]? The peanut and sausage vendors are awaiting the word. The
cantilevers remain and someone has removed the bases.”

Mack also captured a prize from the Chicago Orphans, who were rap-
idly becoming known as the Cubs: outfielder Topsy Hartsel. The five-foot-
five speedster gave Mack an ideal leadoff man, a perennial league leader in
drawing walks, adept at stealing a base or an opponent’s signs.

With these additions to the lineup that had finished strong in September,
no wonder Ben Shibe, normally a conservative, matter-of-fact gentleman,
waxed wildly enthusiastic about the league’s and his team’s prospects for
the coming season. Connie Mack, described as “self-contained and imper-
turbable as usual,” smiled but avoided predictions.

The American League’s sunny disposition was in sharp contrast to the
contentious, secretive National League. Compared to “the League,” as the
papers referred to the National at that time, the Middle East is a paradise
of harmony and brotherly love. Half the owners, led by Andrew Freedman
and John T. Brush, were conspiring to turn the league into the latest way
of doing business—a trust. Almost two hundred multimillion dollar trusts
now controlled practically everything Americans ate, drank, smoked, wore,
rode, and burned to heat their homes and cook. Why shouldn’t the national
pastime enjoy this up-to-date efficiency—and the benefits of monopoly?
The prospect of becoming as unpopular with the public as the Rockefellers
and Morgans had become didn’t enter the National conspirers’ minds.

The plan leaked out at the National’s circus-like meetings in December,
sundering the sessions into chaos. Albert Spalding, who had a plan of his
own to “combine” the American League out of existence, stepped in and
tried to regain control. He was confident he could skin Ban Johnson and
company in any bartering, as he had done with the Brotherhood a decade
earlier. Disgusted by the actions of National club owners he considered
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blockheads, dismayed by the declining stature and plummeting attendance
of the league he had helped create, and angered by the outgoing wave of
players, the old warhorse succeeded only in deepening the split between the
two factions. One night four of the club owners waited until the other four
went to bed; then they elected Spalding president. The other four quickly
went to court and quashed that maneuver. For a while there was no presi-
dent. Whoever had the league records hidden in his room was considered
to be in charge.

The Chicago correspondent for the Sporting News called the National “a
pack of confidence and shortcard men whose word is no good unless there
is a gun in front of them to make them keep it.”

As the National owners fought back against the player raids, they made
Napoleon Lajoie a primary target. An agent of the New York Giants went
to Philadelphia armed, in one report, with a certified check for $15,000, in
another with $7,000 in cash. Lajoie turned a deaf ear to the offers. Mack,
with well-founded confidence, said, “I have absolutely no fears of his being
tempted to break his contract. He has promised to keep faith with the club
and to be loyal to me and his clubmates. . . . I have the assurance of every
member of my team that they will live up to the terms of their contracts.”

(The human pinball, Jimmy Sheckard, retained his jumping champion-
ship. He signed with Brooklyn, jumped to Baltimore, and, after four games,
rebounded to Brooklyn.)

For the past few years Connie Mack’s hopes of getting off to a fast start
had been hampered by pitchers who were slow to round into shape. They
needed warmer weather than hitters did, to strengthen their legs with
long-distance running and stretch out their arms. So Mack made the travel
arrangements for Duggleby, Plank, Wiltse, and Bernhard to go to Chapel
Hill, North Carolina, with catcher Morris Steelman and infielder Clyde
Robinson. “I always figured that pitchers are about four weeks behind the
rest of the team at the start,” Mack said, “so by going south they will have
a chance to begin about on even terms with the rest when practice games
begin here.”

Mack remained in Philadelphia, supervising the expansion and rebuild-
ing of the left-field bleachers, to double their capacity, and the resodding
of the field, which raised the infield four inches and leveled the entire field.
A cinder track encircled the grass. He ordered new uniforms with an old-
fashioned script “A” on the blouse and leased Columbia Park to a black
team, the Philadelphia Giants, when the A’s were on the road. The Giants
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inaugurated night baseball in the city, using portable lights for a game on
June 4 against the Cosmopolitans.

In North Carolina snow and cold winds forced the pitchers to move to
Charlotte, where Eddie Plank was reported working on a slow curve and
change-up. As a first-timer in spring training, Plank fell victim to a form
of practical joke commonly played on newcomers, such as plebes at West
Point. The prank consisted of blackening a man’s face with shoe polish
made of soot and tallow while the victim slept. One evening on the hotel
veranda the talk turned to a recent hazing scandal at the military acad-
emy. Plank allowed as how nobody could black him without waking him.
The next morning when he awoke and looked in the mirror, an ebony
face looked back at him. Plank blamed his roommate, Bill Duggleby, who
denied it was his doing. The culprit was never caught.

Spring practice began at Columbia Park on April 1, three weeks before
the April 23 opener at Baltimore. Ten days later the A’s played their first
practice game, a 12—1 win over Bucknell, in which the A’s used a one-
armed pitcher identified only as Griffith. Mack didn’t sign him. The next
day almost 2,500 baseball-hungry fans showed up to watch them defeat
Princeton, 21—4.

On Monday, April 21, two days before opening day, the Pennsylvania
Supreme Court handed down its decision in the Phillies’ suit against
Napoleon Lajoie and the Athletics. It struck like a thunderbolt. The court
reversed the lower court’s ruling and upheld the mutuality of the National
League’s reserve or option clause. Lajoie belonged to the Phillies. He and,
by implication, every other National runaway in the American camp might
once again become the property of their former masters.

It is no exaggeration to say that if the National’s interpretation of the
decision were borne out and the ruling applied to every player, it would
wreck the American League. Ban Johnson and his lawyers, of course, por-
trayed it as nothing more than a local disturbance that, in any event, they
would fight all the way to the highest court. In fact, nobody knew where
the shrapnel would fall, whether other courts would recognize or concur
in the Pennsylvania decision, or how many players and teams might ulti-
mately be affected.

In the eye of the storm stood Connie Mack. Faced with the possible loss
of half his team, he must have felt as if the ten plagues were being visited
upon him. He had taken a similar last-minute setback a year earlier when
Vic Willis and Christy Mathewson had deserted him.
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“The blow was a staggering one,” he said. “To put it mildly, the verdict of
the [Pennsylvania] Supreme Court threw us into a panic.”

Phillies manager Bill Shettsline immediately sent telegrams to all his
departed players, wherever they were:

“Supreme Court overrules court below in Lajoie case; decides our
contracts absolutely binding on you. You are hereby ordered to report
forthwith to me at Philadelphia Ball Park for performance of duties under
your contract. Refusal to obey this will be at your peril.”

Other National managers sent out similar wires. The players responded
to them like teenagers told to clean up their rooms. They ignored them.

The decision was not the final act in the drama. It sent the case back
to the Philadelphia judges for a hearing on granting a permanent injunc-
tion against Lajoie’s playing for anyone other than the Phillies. Although
Bernhard and Fraser were dropped from the original suit, the Athletics had
agreed that they would also be bound by the court’s decision. Now Flick,
Duggleby, and Monte Cross were also in jeopardy.

On Tuesday morning Ben Shibe and Connie Mack met with their law-
yers for two hours, trying to sort out the hidden meanings of the legal
language. The Supreme Court’s decision was unanimous. There was little
doubt that it would be carried out by the lower court. In the meantime,
they concluded, nothing had changed nor would change until the hearing
on the permanent injunction, set for the following Monday.

So Connie Mack took his entire team to Baltimore on Wednesday morn-
ing. They arrived at 12:45 at the Eutaw House, ate dinner, changed into their
uniforms, forced their way through the crowded lobby, and climbed into
barouches for the parade to the ball grounds. An overflow crowd filled every
seat and square inch of standing room behind the outfield ropes. Ladies in
bright colored bonnets adorned every section of the stands beyond the
special ladies” section. Peanut, lemonade, and sandwich vendors hawked
their wares. The festive mood contrasted with the cloud of uncertainty that
hovered over the league.

Mack put his regular lineup on the field, Lajoie batting fifth and playing
second base, Bill Bernhard in the pitcher’s box. Lajoie made one of his sig-
nature plays, ranging far to his left to cut off a hit and throw out the batter,
to the admiring applause of the Orioles’ fans. The A’s held an 8—1 lead in the
bottom of the eighth, when a telegram was handed to Connie Mack on the
bench. It came from his attorney, William Jay Turner, notifying him that
Col. Rogers and the Phillies had obtained a five-day temporary injunction
against Lajoie’s playing for the Athletics.

A Staggering Blow 265



Mack didn’t know what to do. Was the injunction effective in Baltimore?
Might Lajoie’s presence in the lineup result in a forfeit of the game? And
what about Bernhard? The wire didn’t mention him. Mack had received
no legal notice from the Phillies. With the game safely in the win column,
he took no chances. In the top of the ninth he sent Socks Seybold up to bat
for Lajoie, then put Lou Castro in to play second for the last half inning.
Bernhard finished the game.

Mack was soon on the telephone to his lawyers. They agreed that the
most prudent course would be to bench Lajoie for the rest of the series
in Baltimore and the games in Washington. The A’s didn’t open at home
until May 2. Since the injunction named only Lajoie, the other ex-Phillies
remained in the lineup.

Nobody moved in the packed courtroom on Monday morning, April 28.
There was neither room nor sufficient fresh air for anyone to take a deep
breath. Shibe and Mack were reconciled to the loss of Lajoie; his 1901 per-
formance, when he led the league in everything except room service, had
shattered any pretense that he was not unique. It was clear from the court’s
decision that the justices read the box scores as well as their law books.
They wrote, “Lajoie may not be the sun in the base ball firmament, but he is
certainly a bright, articular star. We feel, therefore, that the evidence in this
case justifies the conclusion that the services of the defendant are of such a
unique character and display such a special knowledge, skill and ability as
renders them of peculiar value to the plaintiff and so difficult of substitu-
tion that their loss will produce irreparable injury . . . to the plaintiff.”

On the point of mutuality, the court determined that the contract’s
terms were sufficiently mutual to make it binding.

It would take a nifty array of legal inshoots and fadeaways for the A’s
lawyers to strike out those heavy-hitting words. They concentrated instead
on trying to salvage Fraser and Bernhard. To do this, they had to demon-
strate that the two pitchers were just ordinary, no better than what could be
found by the dozens on sandlots in any city. The Phillies had to argue that
the two were exceptional talents, hard to come by, whose loss had severely
injured their chances for success on the field and at the gate in 1901.

Of course, when the Phillies owned them, Fraser and Bernhard weren’t
worth being paid more than anyone else. Bernhard had squeezed $1,650
out of Col. Rogers in 1900, then won 15 games. Another of baseball’s most
honored traditions was already in place: denigrating players during con-
tract talks, then lauding them to the skies once they’d signed.
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As is true of most extreme positions, both sides had difficult cases to
make, causing some embarrassing exchanges in the courtroom. Rogers and
John Johnson again represented the Phillies.

Phillies manager Shettsline led off. Rogers asked him if Bernhard and
Fraser were considered good pitchers.

“Yes, sir, they were A number one.”

Rogers then asked, “Is the position of a pitcher a difficult one to fill?”

“Yes, sir, his position on the team is a very important one, and you need
a pitcher of expert ability to win games. It don’t matter how good the other
players on a team might be, you cannot dispense with an expert pitcher.”

ROGERS: “Since Bernhard and Fraser departed the team in 1900, have
you ever been able to fill their places?”
SHETTSLINE: “No, not with pitchers of their ability and skill.”

“What relation does the pitcher bear to the other players on a team as to
skill, efficiency, and ability?”

“A most important one. A poor pitcher will demoralize the whole team
back of him. A poor pitcher will lose games, no matter how many good
men are back of him.”

In a word-wrestling contest, Mack’s attorney William Jay Turner tried to
maneuver Shettsline into admitting that the Phillies had acquired the two
pitchers from other teams. Shettsline conceded only that the Phillies had
been “successful in negotiations to purchase a release from their contracts”
for $1,000.

TURNER: “If Fraser had refused to play with the Philadelphia club,
he could not have played with any club in the National League
or in any other league under the National Agreement except the
California League [a so-called outlaw or independent league]. Isn’t
that the only exception?”

SHETTSLINE: “I won’t say anything about the exception—I think it
is the California League.”

“You had a team of expert players in 1900?”

“Yes, sir.”

“Well, how did you come out in the race for the championship?”
“Third, close to second.”
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“During that season Bernhard and Fraser pitched and you had all the
other great stars and finished third?”

(Reluctantly): “Yes.”

“How did you finish last year?”

“Second.”

“Well, how do you explain that?”

“You must remember we played against weaker teams last year.”

“Was not the Pittsburgh team, which won the pennant last year, the
same?”

“Yes, but it hadn’t been playing together long in 1900.”

“In 1900 the Pittsburgh team played better than your team?”

“Well, they finished ahead of us.”

The best way to judge the club’s loss, Shettsline added, was the fact that
attendance was down by eighty-seven thousand from the year before.
Shettsline concluded by assessing the two pitchers as first class, with no
superiors, testimony that Fraser and Bernhard might have taken into sub-
sequent contract talks.

When it came their turn, the Athletics’ witnesses—Frank Hough, Ban
Johnson, and Connie Mack—insisted there were fifteen to twenty-five
pitchers who were better than Bernhard and Fraser. Pressed by Phillies
attorney John Johnson to name them, Mack was forced to admit that all
the known ones were under contract to other clubs or in the minor leagues,
where their superiority was still more in the potential than the present.
Mack then stretched reality a bit by testifying that it was very easy to get
pitchers; the great trouble was that managers didn’t give young pitchers a
chance.

“If that is the case,” Rogers asked Mack, “why did you employ these two
pitchers at an increased salary?”

“They are very good pitchers,” Mack said.

“The only game won by the Athletic club this season was pitched by
Bernhard?”

“Yes, sir.”

MacK’s attorney then tried to salvage something with a final question to
his client. “But Fraser pitched in the very next game and lost, didn’t he?”

MACK: “No, sir. Fraser hasn’t pitched a game yet.”

The three judges were not fooled by any of the Athletics’ pitches. They
continued the injunction against Lajoie, slapped new ones on Bernhard
and Fraser, and announced their intention to make the injunctions perma-
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nent once the necessary paperwork was completed. Rogers made it clear
that he would immediately pursue the same legal recourse against his two
most recent escapees, Bill Duggleby and Elmer Flick. Either by oversight
or simply because he no longer wanted him, Rogers made no mention of
Monte Cross, who that afternoon hit a pair of 3-run inside-the-park home
runs in Washington, where the A’s won, 12—9.

Ban Johnson called an emergency meeting of the league for Wednesday
in Cleveland. He pledged to carry the fight to the next legal level, but noth-
ing came of it. A heavy-hearted Connie Mack took the evening train to
Washington, faced with the loss of three-fifths of his pitching staff, his
star second baseman, and his best outfielder. The season had begun; no
unsigned players were left to fill the holes.

“I felt as though they had swept my ball club right from under me.”
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SCHRECK AND THE RUBE
AND THE WHITE ELEPHANT

26

Much has been written about Paffaire Lajoie in histories of baseball and
the American League, team histories, and biographies of Ban Johnson and
other leading actors in the drama.

They rarely got it right.

Contemporary reporting used such terms as “let go,”“sent,
or “allowed to go” in reference to the dispersal of Lajoie and the four other

transferred,”

players affected by the Pennsylvania Supreme Court’s April 21 decision
that eviscerated Connie Mack’s 1902 team as the season opened. Mack is
often depicted as sending Lajoie to Cleveland out of gratitude for Charles
Somers’s financial midwifery to four of the newborn league’s franchises.
Some accounts imply that Ban Johnson sidestepped the law in ordering
Lajoie to Cleveland. But in fact there were no trades; no sales; no edicts
sending, transferring, or allowing any of the players to go anywhere.

The court’s ruling simply meant that the enjoined players must play for
the Phillies and nobody else—in Pennsylvania. That’s as far as the judges
could go. There were enough precedents to raise doubts about other states
honoring or following the Pennsylvania ruling. Courts elsewhere had pre-
viously found the National contract “lacking in mutuality.” They didn’t
care if the Pennsylvania jurists disagreed.

In St. Louis a circuit court ignored the decision and ruled against the
Cardinals’ efforts to reclaim shortstop Bobby Wallace, outfielder Emmitt
Heidrick, and pitcher Jack Harper from the Browns. A District of Columbia
judge refused to extradite outfielder Ed Delahanty, third baseman Harry
Wolverton, and pitcher Al Orth to the Phillies. And so it went.

Aslong as those ex-Phillies stayed out of Pennsylvania, they could remain
with their higher-paying employers without the threat of arrest. That was
also true of the Athletics’ five, except that staying out of the state meant they
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could play only in the A’s road games if they remained with Connie Mack.
What’s more, having jumped to another Pennsylvania team, their contracts
with the Athletics had been nullified by the decision. In effect, that made
them free agents. They could return to the Phillies if they wished, but they
didn’t have to. They were free to sign with any other team outside the state,
with or without the approval of Connie Mack or Ban Johnson, as long as
the state they went to didn’t enforce the Pennsylvania decision.

This fact of life, sometimes forgotten in later reminiscences by Mack and
others, is confirmed in a comment attributed to Ben Shibe and Connie
Mack in Sporting Life of May 17, 1902. Told that Joseph McNamara, one of
the Detroit club owners, was on his way to Philadelphia to discuss the pur-
chase of Lajoie from the A’s, Shibe and Mack “both declare that they have
no intention of bartering off the services of the great second baseman, and
they also add that they would have no right to do so, even if they were so
disposed.”

By that time, the A’s had run out of legal maneuvers. On May 1 they
announced their intention to appeal the permanent injunction to the state
Supreme Court. Four days later they argued in court that the players should
be allowed to continue playing for the A’s while such an appeal was pend-
ing. Since an appeal could take until the following January to be decided;
that would enable the five to play the entire season for Mack. When the A’s
struck out on that pitch, they gave up.

All five players— Lajoie, Flick, Bernhard, Fraser, and Duggleby—could
have rejoined the Phillies if they wanted to. The first to crawl back on Col.
Rogers’s terms was Bill Duggleby. After splitting two decisions with the A’s,
Duggleby didn’t even wait for the outcome of the final legal arguments. He
signed with the Phillies on May 5 for $2,400.

Elmer Flick, pending the completion of the paperwork adding his name
to the enjoined players, stayed in the A’s lineup through May 6. Then, antic-
ipating the legal ax and not wanting to go back to the Phillies, he made his
own deal with the newly renamed Cleveland Bronchos and left Philadelphia
on May 7. The Athletics had no say in Flick’s going to Cleveland, and they
were not entitled to any compensation for him.

Chick Fraser remained on the sidelines, uncertain of his next move. He
may not have received any better offers from other teams, or he may have
been haggling with Rogers, as he had done every year as a Phillies chat-
tel. Two weeks passed after Flick’s departure before Fraser signed a Phillies
contract.
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Bill Bernhard bided his time, sticking by Lajoie’s side and following
Napoleon’s lead. Everybody, including Connie Mack, expected Lajoie and
Bernhard to follow Fraser back into the forgiving arms of Rogers and Bill
Shettsline. Lajoie collected his gear from Columbia Park soon after the May
5 hearing. It was no secret that he preferred to stay in the city, where he
had a home and business interests and planned to be married soon. The
Detroit Tigers offered to pick up his contract. The New York Giants offered
him more money. The San Francisco club of the independent California
League tried to lure him to the West Coast with a $3,000 salary and half
interest in a saloon. He turned them all down.

Believing he held invincible high ground, Rogers counted on Lajoie’s
desire to stay in Philadelphia and hoped to reel in the star on the cheap. He
maintained that the court’s decision meant the players were legally bound
by the terms of their last Phillies contracts. It was reported that Lajoie
would sign for $4,000; Rogers offered him $3,000 plus a year-end $500
bonus. Lajoie held a grudge: he still hankered after the $400 he thought he
had coming to him from 1900.

Meanwhile, the Philadelphia papers roasted Rogers for his niggling
dilly-dallying. They reminded him of the difference Lajoie’s bat might have
made during a recent spell in which the Phillies had lost 9 one-run games.

By all accounts, Rogers and Lajoie were close to an agreement when
Rogers added a condition: if Lajoie signed, he would be fined for the time
he had missed with the Phillies. That was too much for Napoleon. He
turned his back on the Phillies. “[Rogers] had the chance to do what was
right,” he told reporters, “and failed to take advantage of the opportunity.”

Ban Johnson hoped to keep Lajoie and every National jumper in his
domain. He also wanted to strengthen his weaker franchises, and Cleveland
was the weakest, in last place with a 7-15 record. When Rogers and Lajoie
fell out, Johnson couldn’t order anything, but he probably urged Charles
Somers to go as high as it took to sign the King.

Somers arrived in Philadelphia on Friday morning, May 23, and went
to the Bingham Hotel, where his team was staying. That afternoon he met
Lajoie and Bernhard at Columbia Park, watched Eddie Plank outpitch
Oscar Streit, 6—2, then conferred with the players that evening in the room
of manager Bill Armour. Everybody denied that any contracts had been
signed before Somers boarded the 11:05 train to Cleveland. But Lajoie had
$1,000 of Somers’s money in his pocket.

It was variously reported that Somers offered Lajoie a four-year deal
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worth $25,000-$30,000 guaranteed, regardless of any future legal actions
that might prevent Lajoie from playing for him, a condition entirely in
keeping with Lajoie’s record of caution, skepticism, and insistence on being
protected.

The prospect of losing Lajoie and Bernhard propelled Rogers into apo-
plexy. He threatened to sue everybody who might have spoken to the
ungrateful players about anything at any time. When the Bronchos opened
a series the following Monday in Washington, he planted an agent in the
grandstand, ready to swear to an affidavit if either player appeared in uni-
form. Lajoie and Bernhard went with the team to Washington, but they
were still unsigned and neither was seen on the field. They returned to
Philadelphia and took the night train to Cleveland. Arriving about noon
the next day, they spent the afternoon and evening with Somers and
Kilfoyle, while a parade of lawyers dropped by to offer advice about the
legalities of their situation.

Assured that the Ohio courts would not honor the Pennsylvania deci-
sion but cautioned that they would have to stay out of the Keystone State or
risk arrest, Lajoie and Bernhard signed Cleveland contracts. They bypassed
Pennsylvania and relaxed in Atlantic City whenever the team played in
Philadelphia.

When the Bronchos opened a home stand against Boston on Tuesday,
June 3, Lajoie made a spectacular debut. Before a crowd estimated at ten
thousand, far exceeding the team’s usual audience, he doubled in the first
run of their 4-3 win and was the pivot man on two “lightning double
plays which shut off runs and saved the game,” raved the Sporting Life
correspondent.

Lajoie became an immediate hero. He wasted no time seeking business
opportunities, opening a cigar store at a prominent downtown location in
partnership with Bill Armour. For the next three months Cleveland had a
58-43 record and finished fifth. Lajoie batted .368. Bernhard won 17 and lost
5. Home attendance leaped to an average of almost five thousand. In 1903,
the club was renamed the Naps in his honor. Two years later Lajoie would
succeed Armour as manager.

From the day the legal blow fell on him, Connie Mack began scrambling
for pitching. His friend, Boston manager Jimmy Collins, was the first to
help, selling him right-handers Fred Mitchell and Pete Husting, the same
Husting who had quit Mack’s Milwaukee Brewers in 1900 over a salary
dispute. Mack signed Ed Kenna, “the Pitching Poet,” son of a Senator from
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Virginia. Kenna, who wrote rhymes in the clubhouse, was released after a
14—6 loss to Baltimore on May 9. “[Kenna] may be long on meter but he
pitches ragtime,” wrote Charles Dryden. But Husting and Mitchell soaked
up a lot of innings.

Having lost his captain, Lajoie, Mack gave the post to the veteran Lave
Cross. But filling the hole at second base was daunting. He first tried Lou
Castro, who turned more errors than double plays. When Cleveland had
signed Lajoie, they released second baseman Frank Bonner, a washed-up
toper described as “addicted to conviviality.” Mack knew Bonner’s repu-
tation, but he was desperate. He signed Bonner when the A’s were in
Cleveland on June 11. Even when sober, Bonner was worse than Castro.
Mack kept searching.

Replacing Nap’s bat was more difficult than his glove. In just the second
year of the American League’s existence, Mack was looking back longingly
to the “good old days.” He was quoted in the Sporting News, “Good hard
hitters are a scarcity this season. Six and seven years ago one could find
from three to six on every team.”

Cleveland backup catcher Osee Schrecongost, one of those characters
who give baseball history more color than Joseph’s coat, was a solid hitter.
But Schreck carried a reputation of eccentric, unpredictable, flaky. Manager
Bill Armour tried him at first base and didn’t like what he saw. Schreck was
picking up splinters on the bench for a week before he was released while
the Bronchos were in Philadelphia.

Mack was looking to replace Morris Steelman, who couldn’t buy a hit.
Schreck was batting .338 at the time. His reputation didn’t faze Mack.
The next day Mack signed Schreck and put him in center field against
Cleveland. He brought Dave Fultz in to play second base. The move put
another big bat in the lineup, but it was not the answer. Schreck was too
slow for the outfield.

Despite the chaos surrounding the team, the A’s played well enough to
stay among the leaders in the volatile early going. By May 25 they were
14-11, in fifth place, but only %2 game out of first. Fultz, Seybold, and Doc
Powers were wielding the big bats.

Undeterred by the legal turmoil and the loss of their star second base-
man, Philadelphia fans remained strong in their support of the Mackmen.
More than five thousand showed up for the morning game on Memorial
Day; in the afternoon over thirteen thousand overflowed into the outfield,
while hundreds more perched on the fences and roof.
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MacKk’s hunt for more pitching continued. The burden was being carried
by Plank, Wiltse, and Husting. The overworked Plank was 3-7 by the end of
May, including two losses in a week to Cy Young. When Plank and Husting
became arm-weary, only Mitchell and Wiltse were available. In Chicago
Mack brought in a twenty-five-year-old semipro, Odie Oscar Porter, started
him against Clark Griffith, and sent him home after a 10—5 loss. Porter thus
gained a line in the record books; he died a year later.

In a series opener at Detroit on June 7, Wiltse was pounded in a 9—1 loss.
That evening Mack was singing his pitching blues to umpire Jack Sheridan.
Sheridan said something along the lines of, “How about that fellow Waddell
you had in Milwaukee? I hear he’s going great out in Los Angeles.”

Waddell, who had pitched for the Cubs in 1901 and had maybe—or
maybe not—signed a 1902 contract, had won 12 games pitching for the Los
Angeles Looloos in the California League, an independent loop operating
outside the bounds of disorganized baseball. He appeared to be fair game.

Connie Mack needed no scouting reports. He knew how Eddie Waddell
could pitch. Better than anyone, he also knew Rube’s peculiarities. If the
phrase “lefthanded all the way,” referring to a southpaw pitcher of erratic
mentality, was not coined for Rube Waddell, it was never more appropri-
ate. Mack mulled. He had been able to handle unsteady Eddie’s behav-
ior in Milwaukee. But that was the minor leagues. Bringing Waddell to
Philadelphia would shatter one of his basic principles of management:
rules enforcing discipline allowed for no exceptions. Mack was certain
Rube Waddell would break the rules. How could he permit that without
risking the discipline and respect of the rest of his men? He prized harmo-
ny—what would later be called team chemistry—above all, and he knew
Rube Waddell could be an unstable, combustible element.

Mack measured the makeup of his team. Fultz, Husting, and Powers
were college men. Harry Davis and Lave Cross were veterans. They were
not kickers and whiners. He could count on them to understand why the
Rube had to be treated differently and why he would be worth it. They were
the clubhouse leaders, getting on the malefactors and sluggards and keep-
ing them in line. He would handle Waddell, letting the reins hang slack,
acting as if he believed Eddie’s excuses and wild tales whenever the pitcher
disappeared or put the arm on him for a fiver. He didn’t care how many
gray hairs might result if each one was accompanied by a victory.

Then he considered his battered pitching staff. He recalled Waddell’s dev-
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astating speed and unhittable assortment of curves that had won 10 games in
five weeks in Milwaukee. No pitcher in the American League was his equal.

Mack also knew that Rube Waddell was a workhorse who loved to pitch,
to strut the stage and entertain the crowds. Rube was willing to work every
day, even twice a day, starting and relieving, if the right incentive was dan-
gled before him. And Waddell would keep the turnstiles spinning. It was
worth the gamble.

But first he had to corral his man. Recalling the trouble he had had
extracting Waddell from Punxsutawney, Mack sent him a telegram ask-
ing if he would like to pitch for the Athletics. To his surprise, he received a
quick reply: “Send me $100 and transportation.”

It wasn’t that easy. Mack wired the money and told him to meet the team
in Chicago. The Rube didn’t show.

Connie Mack seemed to have eyes and ears everywhere. Someone he
knew told him he had seen Waddell board a train in Los Angeles followed
by a group of men, probably teammates, who persuaded Rube to get off and
go with them to San Francisco. When he heard this, Mack walked over to
Ban Johnson’s office. They decided to hire the Pinkerton Detective Agency,
which put two of its West Coast operatives on the job. They found Waddell
pitching in San Francisco on Thursday, June 19. Rube hit a home run to tie
the game in the ninth but lost it, 5—4, in the tenth. Then, in the words of the
Los Angeles Times correspondent, “The agent talked Waddell over, and loss
of the game that he pitched in the afternoon did the rest.”

Armed with Mack’s handling instructions, the Pinkertons succeeded
in bringing Waddell as far as Dodge City, Kansas. There the expedition
stalled.

A pair of former featherweight champions, Young Corbett and Terry
McGovern, were fighting in Dodge City, and Rube had to see it. Connie
Mack could understand that; he would have liked to see it himself. After the
fight Waddell hooked up with Corbett and his trainer, and they all went to
Kansas City together. The Pinkertons wired Mack in St. Louis that this was
as far as they would go. If he wanted his man, he would have to come and
collect his prize himself.

That night Mack headed for Kansas City while his team, with Lave Cross
in charge, took a train to Baltimore. Waddell, eager to show off before his
new pals, arranged to pitch for a local minor league team. Mack arrived in
time to talk him out of it, pack his cardboard suitcase for him, and shep-
herd him onto the eastbound express.
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They reached Baltimore on June 24, while Plank was taking a 6—4 loss.
The Athletics were now 25-24, 6% games behind first-place Chicago.

Two days later Waddell made his first start for the A’s. Baseball wisdom
likens the relationship between a pitcher and catcher to that of a married
couple attuned to each other’s thoughts and moods. Pitchers are a breed
apart from other players. Confidence can be shattered by a sudden loss of
control or seeing a perfect pitch hit for a home run. The catcher must be
the bracer, counselor, analyst, motivator, butt-patter, or kicker.

Doc Powers and Rube Waddell were from different planets. Powers could
no more tune in to Waddell’s mind than pick up signals from the moon.
Catching Rube’s debut with the A’s, he made 3 errors and failed to throw
out any of 4 base stealers. Waddell walked 3, hit 2 batters, and balked in a
run in the 7—3 loss to the Orioles.

Recognizing the mismatch, Connie Mack decided to put Osee
Schrecongost behind the plate for Rube’s next start. This was a battery made
in baseball heaven. Schreck was a capable catcher, among the first to receive
every pitch one-handed using a big pillow mitt. “He used his glove hand
like a shortstop,” Mack said. He could also handle Rube Waddell as deftly
as his overstuffed mitt. Schreck could prod him, scold him, cajole him, and
get away with it. If Rube ran into a wild streak, Schreck might sit behind the
plate and yell, “You big bum, pitch ’em over the plate or chase ’em yourself.”
Waddell was prone to not seeing or misreading or just ignoring Schreck’s
signs. No matter how many times Rube crossed him up, Schreck caught the
ball somehow, preventing many a wild pitch or passed ball.

If there is beauty in symmetry, this was the start of a beautiful friendship.
Rarely do two corkscrew minds travel such identical paths. They enjoyed
plenty of escapades together, but they were not inseparable. After a game
Waddell would go his own way more often than not. He had his own favor-
ite haunts and coterie of hangers-on. Innocent and impulsive as children,
for the next six years they provided baseball writers with more colorful
copy than a stableful of Casey Stengels. Enough of it was true to make even
the most ridiculous flights of fancy seem credible.

For example, did Waddell, after a night out with the boys, really jump out
of a hotel window because he thought he could fly, ending up in the hos-
pital? Probably not. But if he had, it’s easy to believe that he asked Schreck,
“Why didn’t you stop me?” and that Schreck replied, “What, and lose the
hundred dollars I bet that you could do it?”

They became roommates on the road and stayed at the same board-
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ing house in Philadelphia. Their rooms must have resembled a fraternity
house. A suit and tie was the accepted traveling attire of the time. When
a suit became too dirty or wrinkled to wear, they would just as soon buy
a new one as have it cleaned and pressed. Rube might pitch a long game
on a hot, muggy day, then head for a saloon still wearing the same sweaty
undershirt.

On one western trip, the A’s were in Detroit, where Sunday ball was not
yet legal. The two teams took a train to Toledo to play. At the station one of
the players saw a heavy iron coupling pin lying near the tracks. He carried
it on the train and slipped it into Schreck’s grip. When they reached Toledo,
Schreck could hardly lift his luggage. He opened it and found the coupling
pin. Taking it out, he said, “Some guys have got a pretty far-fetched sense
of humor, putting a dirty old coupling pin in with all my clean collars and
shirts and stuff” The grip fell over, spilling out one empty cigar box and
one soiled collar.

Schreck was a chatterer behind the plate. Branch Rickey recalled an inci-
dent in Philadelphia when he rejoined the St. Louis Browns after spend-
ing several days at home with his sick mother. His first time at bat against
Bender, Schreck said, “When did you get back, Branch?”

“Just this morning.”

The count reached 2 and 2. Schreck said, “You’ve been to see your mother,
haven’t you?”

“Yes, I have.”

“How is she, Branch?”

Rickey turned to look at him. “She is better, thank you.” When he looked
up, Bender’s pitch was on the way.

“I froze and took the strike dead through the middle,” Rickey recalled.
‘Ha ha, said Schreck, “I struck you out. You could have heard him in the
outfield.”

It was common for a writer to share a room with a player on the road.
Hugh Fullerton Sr., a Chicago writer and prolific magazine contributor of
the time, said, “I roomed with [Waddell] one season and we became great
chums. I always called him Eddie. He would come to the room about mid-
night, take a dollar from my pocket, send a boy for two oranges, a lemon
pie, and a bottle of beer, sit on the edge of the bed in his nightshirt while he
consumed the supplies and then sleep as an infant. He had terrific speed, a
fast-breaking curve and, when he was interested, he was unbeatable.”

“When he was interested.” The Rube was as easily distracted as a two-
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year-old. Fire engines, parades, buggy rides, marbles games, fishing holes,
and Kilroy’s saloon—anybody’s saloon—all were irresistible off-field
diversions. Rube Waddell would be Connie Mack’s most challenging—and
successful—feat of management.

“How Connie conceived the idea that Rube could be persuaded to pitch
the kind of ball he is capable of pitching is a mystery known only to Mack,”
wrote Charles Dryden.

Rube’s debut at Columbia Park brought out a Tuesday afternoon crowd
of more than 2,500 on July 1. Mixing a deadly change of pace with his blind-
ing speed and curves, he faced just 27 Orioles in a 2—o win. The two who hit
safely were erased on a pickoff and a caught stealing. He walked none and
struck out 13. In the third, sixth, and ninth Waddell fanned the same three
batters in a row. And he had a ball doing it.

“With two out in the ninth,” Mack recalled to Fred Lieb, “he beamed at
me and yelled, ‘Send the crowd home; it’s all over” And sure enough, he
struck out the last man.”

Waddell had to fight his way through the adoring fans to the dressing
room. He had conquered the city. And what a show he put on. Branch
Rickey once described his pitching form: “He would give you that ridicu-
lous windup, moving his arms all over the sky and then bringing the ball
to a practical stop at his belt and all the windup had nothing to do with
the pitch. It started from the belt. When he had control and some sleep, he
was unbeatable.”

On the Fourth of July, after a noisy, firecracker-armed mob of over 8,000
saw the A’s beat Washington, 3—1, in the morning, another 14,462 jammed
the grounds to watch Waddell perform again. They groaned as he gave up
5 runs in the first inning, but the A’s pecked away, then exploded for 8 runs
in the eighth to win, 12—9.

The Athletics were making money but no progress in the standings.
They were still 7 games behind Chicago. With the addition of Waddell,
Mack had three lefties—Waddell, Plank, and Wiltse—and right-handers
Mitchell and Husting. He still had to do something about second base. He
suspended Frank Bonner for two weeks and put Lou Castro back in the
lineup.

Before the A’s boarded the night train to Boston on Sunday, July 6, Mack
confided to Samuel Jones, “I need a second baseman badly and I know
where a good one is. I'm going to drop off at Norwich, Connecticut, and see
if I can’t get him. I won’t tell anybody who he is until I have him signed.”
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Mack had been keeping track of twenty-five-year-old Danny Murphy,
who was batting over .450 at Norwich in the Connecticut League. Murphy
had been up with the Giants twice in the past two years but failed to stick due
to illness, said one source, or a fondness for the red lights of the Tenderloin,
said another. Mack bought the infielder’s contract for maybe $600, maybe
more, and directed Murphy to join the A’s in Boston on Tuesday.

That afternoon, when the team dressed and left the hotel, there was
no Danny Murphy in sight. Peeved, Mack penciled in Castro at second
base. The gong sounded, the game began. Murphy arrived during the first
inning, climbed into a uniform in time to bat for Castro in the second,
and promptly spanked out a single to right. He followed that with a 3-run
home run off Cy Young in the third and ended the day with 6 hits. The A’s
won, 22—9; their 12 hits in a 12-run sixth inning remained the record for
fifty years. Connie Mack had found a second baseman.

Boston was not the only place where there were bombs bursting in air
that day. John McGraw, after weeks of covert maneuvering and overt trou-
blemaking on the field, which seemed calculated to provoke the wrath of
Ban Johnson, obtained his release from the Orioles and signed to manage
the New York Giants. There had been rumors that McGraw had his eye on
New York, one way or another, even if it meant staying in the American
League. The New York Sun reported that McGraw had been negotiating
with political bigwig Frank Farrell to lease grounds in New York and move
the Baltimore club there. Only when the grounds turned out to be unavail-
able, the report alleged, did McGraw turn to the Giants and accept their
offer to jump. His assurances to the Baltimore stockholders that “I shall
not tamper with any of the Baltimore club’s players” proved hollow. Before
selling his Orioles stock, McGraw plundered the team by releasing players
who immediately signed with the Giants or with his ally, John T. Brush,
in Cincinnati. In the following week he arranged the sale of control of the
Orioles to Giants’ owner Andrew Freedman, who then transferred all but
five of the remaining Orioles to New York.

Ban Johnson moved quickly. On July 17 the St. Louis Browns took the
field for a game in Baltimore. The Orioles did not. As soon as the umpire
called the game a forfeit, Johnson declared the franchise forfeited to the
league, which operated it for the rest of the season. It was a vital mistake by
McGraw and his cohorts, who thus lost control of the franchise, paving the
way for Ban Johnson to move it to New York that winter.

Johnson sent out a call for contributions of players to replenish the
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Orioles’ empty nest. Connie Mack donated Lou Castro and Snake Wiltse.
The Orioles rejected Castro but took Wiltse. To replace him, Mack picked
up twenty-three-year-old right-hander Howard “Highball” Wilson from
Wilmington, who chipped in 7 wins for him.

McGraw’s looting of the Orioles and forays to induce other former
National players to desert the American League and join him set some of
Ban Johnson’s magnates atremble. Then a piece of good news broke in the
midst of the uproar. Col. Rogers, still trying to regain Lajoie, Flick, and
Bernhard, had taken his case to a federal court in Cleveland. On July 9
the judge dismissed the suit, ruling that the players had been freed by the
Pennsylvania Supreme Court decision to sign with anybody they chose.
The American owners’ collective sigh of relief calmed the shock waves
caused by McGraw’s departure.

To the press, McGraw bitterly blasted “Czar” Johnson, branded the entire
American League as a bunch of debt-ridden losers, and handed Connie
Mack a symbol that has endured for more than a hundred years. Amid
the flow of bile McGraw poured out to a Baltimore reporter, he said, “The
Philadelphia Athletic club is not making any money. It has a big white ele-
phant on its hands.” McGraw added that Ben Shibe had not seen “a penny
coming in at the gate” and wanted out. “No money was made last year and
no money will be made this year.”

Over the years Connie Mack and John McGraw remained respectful of
each other’s managing skills, but at this time Mack denounced McGraw,
declaring that the deserter was all wet, was talking through his hat, and
knew naught of what he spoke. With the jingle of his July Fourth receipts,
which had set a league record, still fresh in his ears, Mack publicly bet
McGraw $1,000 “that the Athletics did make money last year and are mak-
ing money this year.”

Beyond that, Mack said nothing to counter the derogatory “white
elephant” tag. On the contrary, he cheerfully adopted it in all its ironic
glory. He had a banner made with a white elephant on it and hoisted it at
Columbia Park. It flew there at every game. The symbol was snapped up by
newspaper cartoonists and writers and the public, and it is still displayed
proudly by the Athletics’ third incarnation, the Oakland Athletics.
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CONNIE MACK’S
FIRST PENNANT

27

With the addition of Rube Waddell in June and Danny Murphy in July,
Connie Mack believed his Athletics could do better than just finish in the
first division. They could win the 1902 pennant. Mack now had the kind of
team he had been trying to put together, without success, for the past five
years: pitching, brains, speed, and power. The bunt, hit and run, and stolen
base were the prevailing style of the game, and Mack fashioned his lineup
accordingly.

Connie Mack considered the bunt an effective weapon for getting on base
more than as a sacrifice. “If we were against a pitcher who was slow in bunts,”
he explained, “we dropped as many as we could into the infield. . . . When
a ball was bunted the idea was not so much to advance the runner at the
expense of being retired, but to advance the runner and reach base too.”

Mack also believed in the bunt as a slump-breaker. “When a man struck
a batting slump—and they will come to everybody—we made him bunt
till he got his eye back. The result was that the team not only benefited
by his times at bat, instead of having them wasted, but the player himself
developed proficiency at one of the most valuable features of team play.”

Mack carefully sculpted his batting order. He had two ideal leadoff men
in Topsy Hartsel and Dave Fultz. Both were patient workers of walks, heady
base runners, and excellent bunters. When Hartsel led off and reached first,
Fultz seldom failed to advance him.

Harry Davis batted third and Lave Cross cleanup. They were line drive
pull hitters, among the league leaders in doubles, and equally adept at the
hit and run. When a play was on, they could be depended upon to poke the
ball through the hole left by the man covering the base.

Slugger Socks Seybold batted fifth, followed by Murphy, Monte Cross,
the catcher, and pitcher. Cross was one of those .230 hitters whose value is
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not reflected in the stats. Analysts with their formulae may not be able to
prove or disprove the existence of the clutch hitter, but when the game was
on the line, Connie Mack would as soon have Monte Cross at the plate as
any of his heavier hitters.

Of the pitchers, Plank and Waddell were no easy outs, the Rube winning
several of his own games with timely extra base hits.

Mack and Griffith and Comiskey and the other pioneers of the game were
creating the strategies that are still in use. There was no “book”; they were
writing it. Nor were there textbooks on management. The first study of busi-
ness management, by Thorsten Veblen, wouldn’t be published until 1904.

Each baseball manager had a staff of about fifteen players working for
him. In Mack’s case he was also responsible for the office, grounds, and
concessions people. He had learned by observation, keeping or discarding
things he had seen as a player that he liked or disliked in managers and club
owners and adding his own intuition and character assessments.

Mack understood the need to handle each man as an individual. He stud-
ied the situation and adopted the method he thought would work. Some
managers were by nature mild and easy-going, no matter what. Others
were always gruff and pugnacious. Mack was Jekyll and Hyde, sometimes
in the same bawling-out session. He might light into the object of his dis-
pleasure with a cutting tongue-lashing and when he saw the player’s face
bathed in remorse, quickly switch to a gentle hand on the shoulder and a
paternal concern for the player’s welfare and future.

As a field leader, he demonstrated his confidence in the players by giv-
ing them the freedom and responsibility to create ways to win. Many
of his methods were similar to those that later brought great acclaim to
Thomas Watson for his management innovations at 18m. In every office
at 18M Watson would post a one-word sign: THINK. Connie Mack posted
the same sign in the mind of each of his players. He didn’t do their think-
ing for them. He focused on his objectives, told his men what he wanted to
accomplish, and suggested ways they might succeed. He then left it to them
to carry out the mission. He didn’t signal their every move or call pitches
from the bench. Led by Lave Cross and Harry Davis, they called their own
infield defensive alignments and flashed their own hit and run, steal, and
double steal signs. Sometimes the batter initiated the sign, sometimes the
base runner. Hartsel and Davis were shrewd readers of opponents’ signs.
When it came to picking up pitchers’ telltale habits, Harry Davis was the
master, everybody else the pupils.
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Mack knew his pitchers’ strengths and opposing hitters’ tendencies and
put them together, using his scorecard to position the outfield. He also
used it to keep score with a pencil and note where each batter hit the ball
against each pitcher. The next time that pitcher was to face those hitters, he
would refer to those notes in the pregame meeting.

This is the way they played the game. One day the A’s had the bases
loaded with Harry Davis on third. The count was o-2 on the right-handed
batter. Davis figured the pitcher would throw the next pitch outside. He
flashed a sign to the other runners to start with the pitch. In those days
pitchers took a full windup with a man on third. As the pitcher started his
windup, Davis, a slow runner, drew scant attention, and they all took off.
The pitch was wide and Davis slid across the plate safely.

On August 13 in the sixth inning against Detroit, Fultz was on third,
Davis on first with 2 outs. Rookie George Mullin was pitching, Fritz Buelow
catching. Davis signaled a double steal. On the first pitch he set out for
second. Fultz started from third but dived back safely when the catcher
faked a throw to second and threw to third.

“To the amazement of the spectators and even of the players,” reported
the North American, “Davis, who had reached second and touched the base,
actually turned and ran back to first.” He still thought a double steal would
work if he could draw a throw to second. Before Mullin threw the next
pitch, Davis broke for second again. Mullin threw to second baseman Kid
Gleason. “And while the second baseman and [first baseman| LePine were
trying to run down the agile Davis, Fultz gradually maneuvered toward
the plate, finally making a break, and succeeded in beating LePine’s throw.
Although daring to a degree, the play was handled with admirable judg-
ment by both men.”

Davis regained second, making him the only man to steal the same base
twice on one pitch. No other player ever successfully used this trick to pro-
duce a run on a double steal. (The rules were later changed, making the
runner automatically out if he ran back toward first after reaching second
safely.)

On September 4 Dave Fultz became the first in the league to steal second,
third, and home in the same inning.

Connie Mack coached his catchers and middle infielders on defending
against the double steal. “When a man went down to second our catchers
always threw the ball hard and low,” he explained. “The shortstop was the
pivot of the play. He stood between the pitcher and second baseman. If
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Monte saw that the man on third was not attempting to score, he let the
ball go down to Murphy so that the putout could be made. But if a dash for
home resulted he quickly intercepted the ball and shot it back to the plate
ahead of the runner. In only a few instances did we fail to get away with it,
and then not through any defect in the play, but because of some bungling
in its execution.”

Mack wanted his boys to lead happy lives and enjoy playing baseball for
a living. To relax he sometimes took them to the theater or a boxing match.
He wanted them to be married—if they weren’t too young. He turned down
teenage prospects who were already married as “not dedicated enough to
the game.” As a player in Washington, he had seen the erosion of players’
morale when they were fined for taking a day off to get married, even if
they weren’t in the lineup that day. So when Danny Murphy asked for a
few days off to go home to Norwich after a Saturday game, Mack readily
agreed. Murphy returned a few days late, said he had been ill, and brought a
young lady with him. He and Catherine Moriarty were married on the fol-
lowing Saturday morning; Murphy had 2 hits in the game that afternoon.
Mack also gave Pete Husting leave to go home to Wisconsin to wed Agnes
Sternberger.

Mack took pride in his players’ acting like gentlemen at all times, on and
off the field. He had learned to contain his own temper, and in any event
he could no longer go out on the field to kick about an umpire’s decision.
“You don’t gain anything by arguing with an umpire,” the former firebrand
preached, “and you don’t help the team by being thrown out of a game.”
Not a single one of his players was tossed from a game that year.

There was another reason for his avoiding rowdy types and players with
short fuses. Mack believed they were not quick thinkers. “Intelligent play-
ers know how to curb themselves when under fire,” he told a Sporting Life
correspondent. “For that excellent reason they seldom lose control of their
think-tanks.”

As for off-the-field behavior, Mack cited an example of his preferred
method for dealing with night crawlers he wanted to keep. “I signed a man
whose reputation had not been of the best,” he said after the season. “Our
boys talked to him, pointed out the absurdity of squandering his money
and decreasing his earning capacity. This line of argument would have
availed nothing from a manager, but coming from his teammates it had
convincing force, and as a result the man in question now conducts himself
in a manner above reproach.”
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Mack named no names; he might have been talking about Danny
Murphy but certainly not about Schrecongost or Waddell, for whom no
talk from anybody would have availed anything.

Mack’s optimism about his team’s chances was not borne out overnight.
Danny Murphy’s dazzling debut was quickly eclipsed by reality. Of course,
the feet didn’t exist that could fill Nap Lajoie’s shoes. But Danny was just
not a good second baseman. He had little range and his awkward footwork
around the bag cost them some double plays. “He seemed afraid to risk
making errors,” Mack commented.

Murphy could hit, but he was slow and uncertain on the base paths.
Mack bided his time. He didn’t believe in doing or saying anything that
might undermine the confidence of a new player. He would rather lose a
game. When he thought the time was right for Murphy to accept instruc-
tion, he’d begin to correct the faults he saw. He never rebuked a player
for fielding errors, but errors of judgment were something else. “I cannot
excuse stupidity;” he said. “A man should know what to do with a ball when
he gets it or he shouldn’t be in first class baseball.”

A week after Murphy’s arrival, the A’s were still in fourth place, 7 games
behind Chicago. When they made 9 errors in a 9—4 loss to the White Sox,
they didn’t look like championship material. Only Rube Waddell seemed
unbeatable—and tireless. The rap on him may have been that he was
“invincible . . . when he was interested,” but somehow Connie Mack kept
him interested. On Wednesday, July 9, Rube fanned 16 as he and Boston’s
Bill Dinneen went 17 innings, the A’s winning on Monte Cross’s home
run. Three days later he outpitched Dinneen again, 3—2, before an over-
flow crowd. On the fifteenth he beat the White Sox, 9—3. Three days after
that, he was not quite invincible; trailing Chicago 6—s5 in the ninth, the A’s
staged a two-out rally. Murphy singled. Monte Cross walked. Schreck wal-
loped the ball beyond anyone’s reach in left field to bring them both home.
Schreck and Rube were carried to the clubhouse on the shoulders of joyous
bleacherites.

The excitement continued on the following Monday. Down 10—4 to
Cleveland, the A’s tied the score in the seventh. Schreck then drove in the
winning run in the ninth. Waddell, pitching the last two innings in relief,
was the winner. The next day he relieved Husting in the fourth with the A’s
trailing, 4-1. They came back to win, 9—4, and Rube had another of his 5
relief wins of the year.

At that point only 3%2 games separated Chicago, St. Louis, Philadelphia,
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and Boston. The next day Eddie Plank beat the Tigers, 5-2, and the A’s were
in second place, 1 game back of Chicago.

The Philadelphia frenzy was cooled by two days of rain, on one of which
Connie Mack needed police protection. Rain checks were not attached to
tickets; they were separate slips of paper handed out at the gates. There was
no threat of rain in sight at game time, so most of the fans threw them away.
They played two innings before a sudden squall came out of nowhere and
drenched the field. When the game was called, the paying customers, aug-
mented by opportunists hanging around outside the park, stormed Connie
MacKk’s office yelling for rain checks. Police armed with clubs guarded the
door while Mack hastily removed rain checks from the safe and doled them
out to people who produced their tickets.

When the rain abated on Saturday, July 26, more than thirteen thousand
jammed the stands as Waddell won again, beating St. Louis, 3—1. He finally
lost one the following Tuesday before the A’s headed west. For the month
of July he was 10—1 with 1 tie. His 10 wins in one month are still a modern
major league record.

The Athletics went flat on the road. They booted away a few games.
Mitchell and Wilson were hit hard. Waddell started four times in twelve
days and had only one win to show for it, a 1-0, 13-inning thriller in Detroit,
won by his own triple. They came home back in fourth place again, 3%2
games out, and faced three doubleheaders in three days against Detroit.

They swept them all, the Rube coming back after his 13-inning outing on
one day’s rest to shut out the Tigers again, singlehandedly outhitting them,
3 hits to 2. Instead of scientists talking about studying his brain, somebody
should have been trying to discover what his arm was made of.

On August 15 St. Louis lost two to Washington, and the A’s edged into first
place. “We are in the lead and we will stay there,” Connie Mack announced.
“That is a prediction, not a boast.”

He was right. They won 10 in a row, lost 1, then swept St. Louis and led
by 3 games. Mack had created his first well-oiled baseball machine. When
the bunting and base running game was needed, they were the best at these
arts. Involved in a slugfest, they could turn on the power. When the out-
field was flooded with humanity, which was happening with profitable fre-
quency, they altered their swings and their sights and shot ground rule
doubles into the crowds like artillery shells.

They drew more than 100,000 paying customers for eleven games, more
than the Phillies had attracted in forty-one home dates. A throng of 18,765,
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a record for the young league, turned out on Saturday, August 16, and saw
Waddell fan 11 and defeat Clark Griffith, 2—1. A week later they packed more
than 21,000 into the bulging facility and treated them to a 12—1 pummeling
of Cleveland.

Writers milked the white elephant angle. “There is no hope for the white
elephant,” went an unsigned item in the North American that bore Dryden’s
satirical touch. “Securely tethered on the barren wastes of Columbia Park,
and unable to escape to the rich pastures at Broad and Huntington streets
[the Phillies’ grounds], the poor beast is slowly starving to death. No vul-
gar excitement attends his passing. Only a corporal’s guard of some 9,000
people daily have been going out to see the poor animal breathe his last.
If the present neglect continues the grounds will have to be made twice as
large to accommodate the floral offerings of the mourners.”

While the pennant races were being fought on the field, the war between
the leagues was still going on. But the tactics had shifted. The National
League was now the aggressor, while the American clubs concentrated on
holding on to their gains, quietly signing their stars to 1903 contracts. John
McGraw, Charlie Ebbets, and Reds manager Joe Kelley prowled American
League cities in quest of players. Billy Shettsline went to Cleveland in a vain
attempt to bring Lajoie, Flick, and Bernhard back into the Phillies’ fold.
Other National clubs pursued them as well.

The first-place Athletics were a prime target for the National team
wreckers. Mack credited Harry Davis with holding the team together and
convincing the players to stay put. By early August Mack had all his play-
ers’ names on 1903 agreements except for Dave Fultz and Rube Waddell,
the National’s principal targets among the A’s. Charlie Ebbets eventu-
ally offered Fultz more than $5,000 a year on a two-year contract, a price
Connie Mack regretfully told Fultz he could not match. But Fultz wound
up with the newborn New York American League team in 1903.

Brooklyn agents offered Waddell a $1,000 bonus and $500 a month.
There were other offers, too many for the Rube to handle. According to
one of Dryden’s “scoops,” the A’s were about to board a boat to cross Lake
Erie from Detroit to Cleveland during a September trip, when Doc Powers
commented that he hoped nobody would encounter mal de mer on the
voyage. Rube said he had encountered just about every other National
League agent but that one, and if he was on the boat, Rube would throw
him overboard.

Rube Waddell was happy in Connie Mack’s charge. He was the center of
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attention wherever he went, recipient of drinks on the house in saloons all
over the city. Hordes of small boys flocked around him as though he was
giving out free ice cream. He was the star attraction at a porch party given
by Harry Davis’s little niece that raised $8o for the Poor Children’s Relief
Fund. A cigar manufacturer came out with “the Rube Waddell Cigar.”
Soap and liquor companies hitched on to his comet. Had the Republican
machine run Rube for mayor, he would have won easily. (Somebody may
have thought of it; after the season Waddell applied for membership in the
Fifteenth Ward Republican Club.)

The rest of the league had a vital interest in keeping Waddell in its ranks,
even if it couldn’t beat him. Mack carried a little black book in which he
wrote each day’s attendance and game details. His book showed that atten-
dance jumped on days Rube pitched, at home and on the road. He drew
crowds of ten thousand and more whenever he was advertised to start.
They came to marvel at his assortment of fastballs, slow balls, and curves.
They laughed at his cartwheels after he won a game. The sight of a twenty-
five-year-old adolescent thoroughly enjoying himself lifted their spirits for
a few hours, no small contribution to Thoreau’s “mass of men” leading
their “lives of quiet desperation.” One day Rube was coaching at third base
when Lave Cross hit a hot liner past his ear. Rube picked up two mitts and
held them up to protect himself, while the crowd roared.

The American League was not entirely on the defensive. Connie Mack
hinted that he had signed a few National Leaguers. Christy Mathewson
and his catcher, Frank Bowerman, were reported to have signed with the
St. Louis Browns and taken advance money. Mathewson denied it. Nobody
believed him, and rightly so. He reneged on it, just as he had with Connie
Mack, and went back to the Giants. This time “Grasshopper” Mathewson
could not plead youthful naivete.

Convinced that Barney Dreyfuss had no intention of pulling out of the
National League, Ban Johnson revoked his hands-off policy toward the
Pirates. He enlisted the Pittsburgh catcher, Jack O’Connor, as an agent in
the Pirates’ clubhouse. On the night of August 20 Johnson and Charles
Somers checked into the Lincoln Hotel in Pittsburgh under fake names.
Early the next morning O’Connor led a parade of Pirates to the room,
including third baseman Tommy Leach, shortstop Wid Conroy, outfielder
Lefty Davis, and pitchers Jack Chesbro and Jesse Tannehill. Johnson and
Somers left town before nightfall with a creel full of contracts. All but
Leach would be in New York uniforms the next spring. They had gone as
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high as $8,000 to sign the 28-game winner, Chesbro, making him the high-
est paid pitcher in the game. One newspaper reported that Chesbro had
once worked as an attendant at an asylum in Middletown, New York, earn-
ing less per year than he would earn per start in 1903.

Leach and Willie Keeler were reported to have signed with teams in both
leagues. Kid Elberfeld and Sam Crawford were also generous with their
autographs. To the players being pursued, it was an unprecedented oppor-
tunity to play one side against the other and squeeze as much money out of
the situation as they could. The press gave plenty of ink to the circus.

“At the present rate,” wrote a Sporting Life correspondent, “it will not
be long before every star player in the country will carry a lawyer around
with him, when the contract signing season is on. This business of a player
changing his mind every day, a sort of case of ‘Contracts—Fresh Every
Hour, is growing very ridiculous. It has passed the stage of being funny. It
now begins to look as though no club can be certain of its team as a whole
until reporting time comes, and even then some players may have two sets
of bags in readiness to use in shipping their dry goods when the time to
act arrives.”

The A’s began a western swing on August 27 and split 16 games in twelve
days. Rube Waddell claimed 6 of their 8 wins, 2 of them on his own game-
tying or winning triples. The Rube was so wound up, he wanted to pitch
every day. When Mack told him he could work only every other day, he was
disappointed. But he didn’t disappear.

Not even a train wreck ruffled him. In the predawn hours of September
2, the A’s train from St. Louis to Detroit collided with a Wabash Line freight.
One engine wound up in a ditch. All the passengers were jolted out of their
berths. None of the players was injured. They pulled into Detroit at four
thirty in the afternoon and went to Bennett Field, where Waddell held the
Tigers to 1 run, struck out 7, and doubled in a 5-run seventh.

Their lead dipped to ¥2 game at times during the trip, but they returned
home with a 2-game margin over Boston and St. Louis. They were met at
the station on a rainy Tuesday morning by a tumultuous mob, who idol-
ized and cheered them as if they had conquered all the evils and half the
diseases of the world.

The Athletics had captured the city and seemed headed for a monopoly
on its baseball business. Though attendance figures cannot be considered
precise, the A’s lead over the Phillies was too enormous to be pecked at
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over details. Through August they had drawn more than 290,000, averag-
ing about 5,700 to the Phillies’ 2,100.

Al Reach and Col. Rogers were ready to concede defeat. Rogers had
lost in every court in Ohio where he took his case against Lajoie and the
others. They accepted that the Athletics were in the city to stay, and they
had no wish to continue the war. They were also feuding among them-
selves. Following an angry quarrel in the Phillies’ clubhouse one after-
noon—Reach still blamed Rogers for the loss of Lajoie—a stockholders’
meeting on September 3 resulted in Rogers’s quietly surrendering respon-
sibility for all future player signings to Reach and Shettsline. He also
publicly surrendered to the Athletics.

“We do not oppose the presence of the American League in this city,” he
told the press. “We recognize that it has come to stay, and are satisfied that
there is money to be made by two clubs. We have nothing to gain by this
ruinous warfare; neither have they. Hence, both Mr. Reach and myself are
ready to support and further any plan that will lead to an honorable peace.”

Eager now to avoid conflicting playing dates, the Phillies agreed to post-
pone their game against the league-leading Pirates on Tuesday, September
9, and play a doubleheader the next day. But a steady rain prevented all
action that day. On the tenth more than 17,000 saw Waddell win both
games in relief against Baltimore at Columbia Park, while the seventh-
place Phillies attracted only 172 customers a few blocks away. A week later
a conclave of 158 accepted Rogers’s invitation to pay to watch the Phillies,
while the A’s entertained 6,078.

Other National club owners were beginning to think peace too. Barney
Dreyfuss, shaken by the raids on his team and the treachery of Jack
O’Connor in his clubhouse and convinced that the American League
intended to move a franchise into Pittsburgh, voiced his support for a truce.
He had earlier challenged an American team to a postseason series against
his powerful Bucs but withdrew that challenge following Ban Johnson’s
raid on his ranks.

On August 9 John T. Brush sold the Reds to a group headed by August A.
“Garry” Herrmann and the Fleischmann brothers of yeast fortunes. They
brought a cool-headed businessmen’s view to the industry’s turmoil and
were eager for an end to it. Brush took control of the Giants.

It now seemed likely that Ban Johnson could overcome whatever politi-
cal obstacles Brush and Andrew Freedman might throw in the way of his
finding a playing grounds in New York. The nation’s biggest market, which
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had the National’s weakest team, was ripe for the taking. The Pirates had
once played six games in three days at the Polo Grounds and scored more
runs than their share of the gate: 96 runs to $94. John McGraw had been
unable to raise the Giants out of the cellar and was not yet considered to be
anything but a bully and a rowdy, a failure as a manager.

Even allowing for probable padding of the numbers released to the press,
the American was winning the attendance battles in every city where the
two leagues competed: Boston, Philadelphia, St. Louis, and Chicago. That
these were the four teams fighting for the American League pennant may
have been a factor.

The National had been forced to raise salaries to keep what players it had
retained. It had been through this before, when it had competition from
the American Association. But this was a far more expensive war. By 1902
the league payroll was double what it had been in 1900, while attendance
was sharply lower in St. Louis, Boston, and Philadelphia and down slightly
in Pittsburgh. A peace dividend of noncompetitive lower salaries was the
most powerful incentive of all to end the war.

Ban Johnson trusted three of the National magnates: Garry Herrmann
of Cincinnati, Frank Robison of St. Louis, and Jim Hart of Chicago. If there
was going to be any truce, those three would have to be involved.

Connie Mack took scant notice of these faint cooings of the doves. He had
a pennant to win. Beginning September 2 in Detroit, the A’s won 20 and
lost 5. They played to enormous crowds at home and away. In Boston on
Monday, September 15, more than sixteen thousand covered the field, hem-
ming in the players until there was little room for anyone to move. Eddie
Plank beat Bill Dinneen in the first game. Between games the mob gathered
within inches around Rube Waddell and Cy Young as the two aces warmed
up, an experience unimaginable to today’s fans. Rube won handily, 9—2,
opening a 4-game lead over the Browns.

The following Saturday at “the White Elephant’s Park,” they broke all
major league attendance records. “Exactly 23,897 Persons Saw the Athletics
Win from the Bostons,” the North American headlined with suspicious pre-
cision, “While Hundreds Sought in Vain to View the Game.”

A doubleheader sweep of the Orioles on an overcast Wednesday,
September 24, clinched the pennant, the city’s first baseball championship
in nineteen years. Connie Mack had survived the legal wrecking ball and
rebuilt the shattered Athletics into champions. Their 56-17 record at home
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set the league record, which stood until the 1929 A’s topped it. Despite the
swollen payrolls of the baseball war, Mack had done it on a salary list,
according to the Washington Post, of $32,000.

It rained almost without letup for the next five days. Nobody minded
except the Washington manager, Tom Loftus, who was flooded out of one
doubleheader against the champions before getting one in on the last day
of the season, Saturday, September 27. He could have forced the A’s to play
a makeup doubleheader on the following Monday, but Connie Mack had
arranged a game against a Wilmington club, with all the gate receipts to go
to his players. Loftus accepted $500 from Ben Shibe to waive his claim on
their appearance in Washington.

Connie Mack didn’t plan to use Rube Waddell in the Saturday games. He
gave Rube permission to pick up some extra cash pitching for the Camden,
New Jersey, club against its rival, Gloucester, for the South Jersey champi-
onship. Waddell’s crossing of the Delaware River carried more excitement
if less significance than George Washington’s crossing. Pitching against
another hired gun, Cy Voorhees of Washington, Waddell gave up 2 hits,
doubled, and scored the winning run in Camden’s 2—1 victory. After the
game it took a squad of police to separate Rube from his admirers, but not
before somebody picked his pocket and separated Rube from a $165 gold
watch that generous admirers had given him a week earlier.

The rain stopped long enough for the Wilmington game to be played,
preceded by lengthy speeches and lavish gifts. No matter how ridiculous
the stunt, Connie Mack was always willing to go along with it, long before
photo ops became routine. Before a full house estimated at eleven thou-
sand, the festivities began when a huge white trunk was carried out to
home plate. Connie Mack, accompanied by the most rotund little boy they
could find carrying a banner announcing the “White Elephant’s Trunk,”
was escorted to home plate by the roundest pair of umpires available. Mack
opened the trunk and removed a large bouquet of flowers, then perched
atop the trunk beside the bench during the game.

In another game, Mack saved Rube Waddell for last, and the Rube fin-
ished his two-inning stint with a flourish. After striking out the first two
batters in the ninth, he waved in all his fielders and directed them to the
bench. Then, to the delight of the crowd, he fanned the last hitter. He would
do this more than once but never in an official game. The trick backfired
on him once, in a spring game in Memphis. Harry Davis was in charge
of the team. In the ninth inning, Waddell shooed everybody off the field
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except the catcher, Doc Powers. He struck out three batters, but Powers let
the last strike get away from him and the batter reached first. The next two
men hit pop flies just out of Rube’s reach. The puffing Waddell asked Davis
to put the infielders back on the field. Davis refused. Rube then fanned the
last batter.

As if putting an exclamation point to the year’s competition between the
Athletics and Phillies, only 101 fans chose to watch the Phillies that same
day defeat the Boston Beaneaters.

Then the skies opened up again, and it poured until just before time for
a giant parade to begin at 9 p.m. The parade, which seemed to go on for as
long as an elephant’s memory, blocked all traffic around City Hall. Every
amateur team in the area and its attendant brass band marched down
Broad Street, as did every politician who ever ran for office in the city. As
the players rode by, Rube Waddell inspired the loudest huzzahs. And the
white elephant was everywhere—on banners, transparencies, and floats.
For now, the pale pachyderm was more venerated in the City of Brotherly
Love than in India, Siam, or Ceylon.

The next night the Athletics threw a banquet for the players and writ-
ers. Each member of the champions received a watch fob designed with a
gold baseball diamond and crossed bats. Connie Mack’s was studded with
a sparkling diamond at each player’s position on the field. Everybody pres-
ent made a few remarks, Osee Schrecongost drawing the biggest laughs.
Monte Cross recalled how he had been a batboy for the 1883 champion
Athletics and had dreamed of playing on a championship team. There were
enough toasts hoisted to loosen Lou Castro’s tonsils in a Spanish song—his
swan song as a big league player—and for Castro to crown Rube Waddell
“King of Pitchers” with a spray of flowers.

Dave Fultz was the only regular who missed it, having departed to begin
his duties as football coach at Lafayette. Topsy Hartsel, Monte Cross, and
Harry Davis joined a barnstorming team that headed west. Doc Powers
began his post as house physician at St. Agnes Hospital. Connie Mack
led the rest of the A’s on the exhibition trail, including a game against the
Colored Giants at Columbia Park on October 6, won by the A’s, 13—5.

Mack received the first of many baseball mementoes from fans in the
coal-mining regions north of the city. The Lansford Miners’ Band gave him
an inkstand and well carved from a single chunk of anthracite.

The Athletics led all major league clubs in attendance in 1902, topping
442,000. They had also rented Columbia Park to black teams, which often
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drew crowds of over 3,000. For the year they might have shown a profit of
over $100,000. It was customary to declare a dividend for the stockholders
following a profitable season, but Mack’s 25 percent interest didn’t neces-
sarily put a quarter of the profits in his pocket. Most of the profits were
reinvested in the team and its facilities. Whatever he earned, he had enough
to open a bowling alley, a business he knew something about both as a
bowler and as a manager at Henry Vizard’s bowling emporium one winter
in East Brookfield.

Despite missing more than one-third of the season, Rube Waddell had
won 24 games and lost 7 and led the league with 210 strikeouts. After a
rocky start, Eddie Plank won 12 of his last 14 to finish at 20-15. Pete Husting
was 14-5. Dave Fultz and Topsy Hartsel topped the league in runs with 109;
Hartsel’s 47 stolen bases and Fultz’s 44 were first and third. Lave Cross and
Socks Seybold drove them in, Cross 108 times and Seybold 97. Seybold set
the young league’s home run record at 16, a mark that stood until Babe
Ruth came along. Six A’s batted over .300, led by Lave Cross at .342.

Rube Waddell became the first American League player enshrined in the
original “Hall of Fame.” In March 1903 the new National League president,
Harry Pulliam, created a Players’ Hall of Fame in the league’s New York
office, “to hand down to posterity men who were famous in their day as
baseball leaders.” A gold-framed portrait of Rube as the AL 1902 strike-
out leader hung alongside N1 batting champion Ginger Beaumont and the
Pittsburgh championship club.

A puzzling incident occurred in October that bore some echoes of the
Husting disagreement in Milwaukee. When Nap Lajoie had been lost in
April, Mack had appointed Lave Cross captain. At the time no mention was
made of extra compensation. The position usually carried an additional
$500 stipend. According to F. C. Richter, writing in Sporting Life of October
25, at the end of the season Mack asked Cross how much he wanted for his
captaincy. Cross said whatever the club decided was okay with him. Shibe
and Mack decided on $500 and sent him a check. Cross wouldn’t cash it
and wouldn’t say why, calling it “a difference between the Athletic man-
agement and myself.” Mack said he didn’t know what that difference was
since Cross had given him no counterfigure. Cross may have thought he
deserved a bigger bonus but wouldn’t ask for it.

Cross had a record of quarrels over money. In 1897 he had claimed the
Phillies owed him a $300 bonus. They traded him to St. Louis. He sued
them and eventually lost the case.
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“Why I don’t want [the $500] is my own affair,” said Cross, adding that
he had no intention of quitting the team over the matter. There is no record
that he and Mack ever talked it over and settled whatever differences there
might have been. Mack didn’t trade him; Cross remained the A’s captain
for another three years.

Connie Mack was the first pennant-winning manager to land a book
deal. A local publisher, Drexel Biddle Press, brought out How to Play
Baseball, by Connie Mack, the following spring. It included chapters on
playing each position, base running, sliding, coaching, teamwork, the run-
and-hit game, generalship, and “Brains a Primary Factor.” The chapter on
“The Art of Pitching” featured photos of Rube Waddell showing how he
gripped his jump ball, drop ball, fast inshoot, underhanded raise, and slow
ball. The names have changed, but there are no new pitches. His slow ball
grip looks like a palm ball; his fast inshoot, which he described as “my best
ball . .. which breaks when close to the batsman and is a very hard ball to
judge,” was probably a slider. His drop ball acted like a splitter.

Citing brains as the primary factor in a team’s success, Mack considered
base running the most important, most interesting, and most intellectual
department of the game. A manager could flash all the signs he wanted, but
once the ball was in play with a man on base, he couldn’t do the thinking
for the base runner.

“It requires the most skill,” he wrote, “calls into play the quickest and
keenest perceptions of judgment, demands agility as well as speed, daring
courage and enthusiasm.”

To steal a base, a quick start was more important than a long lead. He
advocated standing close to the bag, lulling the pitcher into complacency.

The chapter on batting stressed confidence and courage. Mack was
already lamenting the decline of players’ bunting skills. “Many of the best
players in the game cannot sacrifice when called upon to do so. This is
especially true of a player who is known as a slugger.”

The inclusion of a brief history of baseball in general and in Philadelphia
specifically, biographies of both league presidents, and photos of Athletics
and Phillies stars anticipated the imminent end of hostilities between the
leagues.

In the second year of his partnership with Ben Shibe, Connie Mack felt
comfortable and secure, free of the pall of potential second-guessing or
interference in his judgment and handling of players. Between their prof-
its and Shibe’s willingness to spend from his own deep pockets, Mack had
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reached a position where he could begin to carry out his ideas on managing
and building a business. He could look beyond the current season and plan
two, three, four years ahead. In a manufacturing company, that involved
developing and testing new and improved products. In the baseball busi-
ness, it meant discovering, testing, and developing new young ballplayers.
Regardless of its effects on the outcome of the pennant race, he had begun
that process during the 1902 season.

Most of the lines he had out were trolling for young pitchers. Some
he caught and threw back after a brief look. With others, he saw enough
potential to mark them as keepers. Many were culled; few were chosen.
Most of them he never saw before he bought them or invited them to try
out in a game. Only when he saw them in action himself could he assess
them. Mack’s eye for judging talent in its rawest stages would be measured
as much by what his rejects did elsewhere as by what the keepers produced
for him. He never claimed infallibility and was always conscious of the
gap between potential and ultimate productivity, especially among young
pitchers.

For example, on Danny Murphy’s recommendation, Mack gave nine-
teen-year-old Norwich pitcher Clarence Quinn a trial. Quinn started and
lost the last game of the season. After a brief look in 1903, Mack gave up on
him. Quinn never had another big league decision.

He bought Henry Schmidt, a 27-game winner in Oakland, but never
used him. Schmidt signed with Brooklyn in 1903, won 21 games, then dis-
appeared from the scene. Mack picked up and quickly discarded another
Pacific Coast League star, John Hickey, who never won a big league game.

Other discoveries turned out better. Up in Worcester, Connie Mack’s
brother Tom kept tabs on New England prospects from his position at the
Lincoln Hotel. Tom went to Holy Cross games, read the local sports pages,
and listened to the baseball talk among the traveling salesmen and sport-
ing crowd who frequented the hotel lobby and restaurant. He tipped his
brother to a handsome, well-dressed Holy Cross Prep School student, Andy
Coakley, who had shut out Harvard and Yale pitching for the varsity in the
spring of 1902. Mack sent a scout to look him over and offered Coakley a
contract in June, but the student turned him down. He was interested, but
he didn’t want to jeopardize his eligibility to pitch again for Holy Cross.
Well, how about coming down to Philadelphia and pitching a few games
using a different name?

It was common for college players to play in semipro circuits, even in the
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minor or major leagues, under assumed names to preserve their athletic
scholarships and eligibility, while gaining experience and earning some
money. Club owners went along with it; those who didn’t give students
game-action tryouts turned a blind eye to those who did. Often no con-
tract was signed. Some colleges were sterner sticklers for the rules, although
some of them didn’t hesitate to allow nonstudents or alumni to play for the
varsity team if they could hit or throw hard enough.

So it was that on September 17 a tall, thin right-hander identified as
Jack McAllister started for the Athletics against Washington. It was Andy
Coakley. His debut began on an unnerving note; in the first inning he hit
third baseman Charlie Coughlin in the jaw with a pitch. Doc Powers, with
help from a doctor called out of the stands, brought Coughlin around and
saw him off to the hospital. Coakley went on to win, 6—5. He pitched 3
complete games in eight days, winning 2, and went back to school. But
somebody had recognized him, and his Holy Cross playing days were over.
The following February Connie Mack met him at Tom’s hotel and signed
him for 1903.

During the season Jesse Frysinger, manager of a Wilmington team that
had played exhibition games against the A’s, may have seen a game on June
17 between the Harrisburg Athletic Club and the Chicago Cubs in which
the semipro club’s pitcher, a recent graduate of the Carlisle Indian School
pitching under the name of Albert, pitched well in a 3-o loss. Frysinger is
often credited with recommending the eighteen-year-old pitcher to Connie
Mack. A Harrisburg physician and former Washington third baseman, Dr.
Harvey E. Smith, also reportedly was instrumental in enabling Mack to sign
Charles Albert Bender to a 1903 contract at $300 a month. Mack also sent
$100 to the Harrisburg manager, who must have tipped him off too.

Even before the 1902 pennant race had been decided, Mack and John
Shibe began putting together an Athletics professional football team. The
Phillies had fielded a team in the fall of 1901, playing a few games at their
Huntington Avenue grounds against college teams and pro teams from the
Pittsburgh area, where the pro game had its strongest following. Adding to
Col. Rogers’s choler, the Athletics lured away many of the football Phillies’
stars, including their captain, Charles “Blondy” Wallace, a 240-pound for-
mer Penn tackle.

A Pittsburgh promoter, David Berry, organized a team manned pri-
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marily by veterans of a powerful local team from Homestead, which had
gone undefeated for four years before losing its financial backing from the
Carnegie Steel Works. Berry had visions of a six-team league he would call
the National Football League (NrL). He did not back down from that ambi-
tious label when prospective entries from Boston, New York, and Chicago
fell through, leaving a three-team league confined within the boundaries
of Pennsylvania.

The three teams— Athletics, Phillies, and Pittsburgh Stars—had no
problem lining up former college stars from all over the east and as far as
California. The Stars featured Giants pitcher Christy Mathewson, a half-
back reputed to be the best kicker in the country. Since punting and place
kicking, plus running into and over each other en masse, made up the
entire playbook, Pittsburgh was expected to win the championship, such
as it was.

The Athletics featured a guard reputed to be the best pitcher in the coun-
try, Rube Waddell. Connie Mack figured this would be a good way to keep
him out of trouble, between practices and two or three games a week. But
after an incident on the first day of practice, Rube’s pro football career
ended.

“There was a little fellow from Wanamaker’s [department store] who
asked for the job of quarterback,” Mack said. “I don’t think he weighed
more than 140. Well, the first practice Waddell tackled him and broke [the
little fellow’s] leg. It was the first inkling John and I had that players could
be hurt badly in football. We got Rube out of there without delay. He was
supposed to be pretty good, too, but we never really found out.”

In addition to the league schedule, the Athletics played town teams in
New York and Pennsylvania. Mack spent a few days in East Brookfield in
November and left the week before Thanksgiving. On Friday, November
21, he was in Elmira, New York, where the Athletics played the first night
game in professional football history. Mack provided the searchlights, set
up along the sidelines and behind the goal posts.

“We turned them on the ball,” he recalled. “The rest—crowd, players, and
field —were pretty much in a shadow. It wasn’t very satisfactory, but we tried
to keep a searchlight trained on the ball. We had a big crowd. The grand-
stand was full. I stood in an aisle near the front and couldn’t see the ball.”

The Athletics won, 39—0. They were, said the Elmira Daily Advertiser,
“big, fast and bad in the extreme. If a man played good ball against them,
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they soon put him out of business for the remainder of the game. . . .
Philadelphia men worked with the speed of lightning and the precision of
clockwork.”

In “league” play, the Athletics split two with the Phillies. The games, one
at each team’s home grounds, drew upwards of five thousand spectators
and spirited wagering. The Phillies and Pittsburgh Stars split a pair. The
Athletics had beaten Pittsburgh once. If they won their final game against
the Stars, they would take the first NFL championship. Dave Berry arranged
the game for Thanksgiving Day in Pittsburgh. Counting on attracting a
big holiday crowd, he booked the expensive Coliseum grounds, owned by
William C. Temple, and guaranteed Mack $2,000. Berry counted wrong.
That same day nearby Washington and Jefferson College played its big game
and college football, not the raggedy pro game, was the rah-rah rage.

When the A’s arrived in their carriages, a dismal sight awaited Connie
Mack. Recent rains had left the field soggy. Only a few thousand people
were present. Whatever they had paid for tickets had been attached by
Temple to guarantee his rent money. Mack told his men to stay put; no pay,
no play, he said.

While they were standing around, a stranger approached Mack and
asked what was delaying the game. Mack told him. The stranger wrote
a check for $2,000 and handed it to the dumbfounded Mack. A reporter
assured Mack that the check was good—the man was William Corey, a
Carnegie Steel executive and an avid football fan. Mack sent his men onto
the field. The Stars and Athletics grunted and bashed and bruised their way
to a scoreless tie.

Considering the championship still unsettled, the two teams agreed to a
rematch on Saturday. This time there was no guarantee and slim pickings
at the gate. A few thousand curious fans showed up and watched another
scoreless deadlock until the Stars managed two touchdowns (at five points
each) in the last three minutes and one extra point for an 11-o0 victory. So
nobody won the first NFL championship, as all three teams finished with
2-2 records.

Hoping for one last payday to recoup their losses, the A’s and Phillies
agreed to a playoff for city bragging rights on December 6. Both sides pre-
pared for it with all the intensity of future World Series. A snowstorm that
hit the city the day before the game swirled no more furiously than the
rumors that Connie Mack had signed special players for the game, includ-
ing one of the Phillies’ linemen, who was bringing his team’s signals with
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him. Maybe he did. The Athletics won, 176, before a hardy band of hun-
dreds, huddled together in the cold wind.

Connie Mack and John Shibe found themselves with $4,000 in unpaid
bills when their football venture ended. “There was just one thing to do to
get out of debt,” Mack recalled. “We went to John’s dad, Mr. Ben Shibe, and
he dug down. He didn’t give much of a lecture, either, as I recall, merely
suggesting, ‘I think you two young men would do better sticking to base-
ball, a game you know something about. It was good advice, and both of
us took it.”
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‘28 SIGNING A TREATY

While in Pittsburgh with his football team on the day after Thanksgiving,
1902, Connie Mack had gone to Schenley Park on Forbes Street to look over
the grounds that had been optioned by local men eager for an American
League franchise. There were stories that the Washington club was avail-
able. Other rumors had the Detroit Tigers moving. If suitable grounds
couldn’t be rented in New York, the Baltimore Orioles might wind up in
Pittsburgh. With dust and soot from the Jones & Laughlin steel furnaces
coating his derby, Mack pronounced the site ideal and said he favored the
transfer of an American League franchise to the Smoky City. He didn’t say
which one.

Barney Dreyfuss followed these developments very closely. Publicly he
discounted the threats to his monopoly on big league baseball in Pittsburgh,
but behind the scenes he urged his National colleagues to end the war.
League attendance had fallen more than 10 percent. The National was still
paying off the debts from the buyouts of the four clubs it had cut two years
earlier. Maybe it could effect a merger, creating a twelve-team league like
the one it had given up on as a bad idea in 1900.

The strongest anti-peace faction was, of course, the players, who wanted
to maintain the competition between the leagues. Only warring geese laid
golden eggs; doves laid peanuts. The lessons of the disastrous three-way
conflict of 1890 between the National, the Brotherhood, and the American
Association, leading to the National’s ten-year monopoly, were ignored by
the players.

“Unfortunately for the players,” wrote John B. Foster in Brooklyn, “they
are such poor business men that they cannot foresee the terrifying collapse
that must come in the future.” Without a truce, Foster predicted, a slump
would occur by 1904 “the like of which has never been seen in any profes-
sional sport.”
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The struggling National magnates could see it coming.

The last inflated straw for the club owners in both leagues may have been
the $4,300 the Boston Beaneaters gave to Wiley Piatt, a sub-.500 pitcher for
the past three years, to lure him from the White Stockings. If the Wiley
Piatts of baseball were commanding that kind of money, what might the
Mathewsons, Lajoies, and Waddells demand?

The dove of peace that had been circling for months flew into the din-
ing room of the Criterion Hotel in New York on the evening of Wednesday,
December 10, 1902, and landed at the table where Ban Johnson was dining.
It came in the guise of three wise men from the Midwest: Garry Herrmann,
James Hart, and Frank Robison. They came from a National League meet-
ing at the Victoria Hotel, where they had been appointed as a peace com-
mittee. They handed Johnson a letter written that afternoon.

Recalling the scene, Johnson wrote, “The humor of the situation appealed
to me, for both Colonel Robison and Mr. Hart had been loud in their dec-
larations that they would drive me out of baseball, and so I blandly refused
to discuss business at that time, but insisted that all sit down and join me
in a bottle of wine.” Johnson had no animosity toward Herrmann; they had
been friends growing up in Cincinnati.

Johnson contained his excitement until he reached his room, where he
tore open the envelope and read the request for a meeting between the
leagues to settle their differences. Johnson arranged to meet the National
peace committee in rooms 3 and 4 of the Criterion on the morning of the
twelfth. In his recollections, he made no mention of the participation, if
any, of Cleveland owners Somers and Kilfoyle, who were also staying at the
Criterion at the time.

Satisfied that the National genuinely wanted peace, Johnson then called
an American League meeting for Monday, December 22, at the Grand
Pacific in Chicago. There he read the letter and subsequent correspondence
between himself and Herrmann, in which Herrmann proposed a united
twelve-team league.

“What do you say?” Johnson asked the fifteen men around the table.

All but one—Max Orthwein, one of the three St. Louis owners pre-
sent—spoke in favor of two eight-club leagues peacefully coexisting.
Orthwein did not think St. Louis could sustain two teams profitably.
He thought one twelve-club league would be viable, but he agreed to go
along with the rest. Authorized to proceed with the peace talks, Johnson
appointed Charles Somers, Henry Killilea, and Charles Comiskey to his
peace committee.
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When Connie Mack expressed the belief that the greatest benefit of a
peace agreement would be instilling better discipline among the players,
he was thinking more of their contract-jumping activities than their noc-
turnal habits. Washington president Fred Postal put it more bluntly: if both
leagues agreed on salary limits, every club could cut its payroll between
$10,000 and $20,000.

The peace talks began in Cincinnati on January 9, 1903, the National
group augmented by newly elected league president Harry Pulliam, a for-
mer newspaperman and associate of Barney Dreyfuss in Louisville and
Pittsburgh. Long into the night the National pushed its twelve-team idea,
under which the Athletics would buy out the Phillies and have the city
to themselves. Johnson kept saying no, until the National finally gave up.
Efforts to freeze the American League in its present territory were also
rejected by Johnson. He was going to New York, and there was no stopping
him. But he agreed to leave Pittsburgh to the Pirates.

The only item on the next day’s agenda was what to do with the fifteen
players identified as having signed contracts with teams in both leagues.
Here things turned sticky. As the representatives tackled each case, there
were frequent recesses while club owners were called for consultations.
Nobody called the players involved. Thanks largely to the calming influence
of Herrmann, Pulliam, and Somers, there was no belligerence. It was clear
to both sides that civility, concessions, and compromises were necessary or
the good ship Peace would sink—and salaries would continue to rise.

The biggest obstacle, the Jerusalem of the negotiations, involved Christy
Mathewson and Frank Bowerman, especially Matty. The St. Louis Browns
were clearly entitled to them; their contracts indisputably bore the earlier
dates. But John T. Brush, now in control of the Giants, stubbornly refused
to relinquish them. St. Louis president Robert Hedges, with Ban Johnson’s
backing, was equally adamant.

“Though Mathewson had not yet shown the brilliance that was to make
him the great pitcher of the day,” Johnson later wrote, “I recognized his
ability and wanted him for the American League.”

It looked as if the talks might collapse over the rights to the big right-
hander. But Garry Herrmann was determined to resolve every dispute. He
insisted they stay at the table until everything was settled, even if it took all
night and all day Sunday. At the end of the day Hedges, “crazy for peace”
in Johnson’s words, gave in, issuing a statement in St. Louis surrendering
Mathewson to the Giants.
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Of the disputed players, the American League kept Ed Delahanty, Sam
Crawford, Wid Conroy, Dave Fultz, George Davis, Kid Elberfeld, Bill
Donovan, and Larry Lajoie. The National got Vic Willis, Tommy Leach,
Harry Smith, Rudy Hulswitt, Sam Mertes, Bowerman, and Mathewson.

The agreements were typed. The delegates signed them, then held a “jol-
lification meeting” and went home.

But not everything was settled. The two leagues, autonomous though they
were, believed it was important to have unified playing rules. The American
rules committee of Ben Shibe, Tom Loftus, and John E. Bruce, a St. Louis
attorney who had no evident baseball background, met in Chicago with
their National counterparts and a group representing the minor leagues.
They tangled over the National’s foul strike rule, under which foul balls
counted as strikes until there were two strikes. The American still didn’t
like it. Shibe and Loftus expressed their league’s opposition to the rule, but
the National, led by James Hart, and the minor leaguers fervently defended
it. The American was supported by the editor of Sporting Life, who called
the rule “absurd, obnoxious, and unpopular,” and by Henry Chadwick,
who felt it was an inequity to the batter and gave the pitcher too much of
an advantage. Unable to budge their National counterparts, Loftus, Shibe,
and Bruce gave in. For the sake of uniformity in the rules, they agreed to
recommend in their report that the American League owners accept it.

Historians have dubbed Chadwick the “Father of Baseball,” but at this
time his children didn’t always think father knew best. The inequality of
four balls for a walk and only three strikes for an out upset his sense of
fairness and equilibrium in favor of the pitcher. He believed the numbers
should be the same, either three of each or four. Nobody paid any atten-
tion. At the meeting Chadwick also proposed the adoption of a designated
hitter for the pitcher, which Chicago writer W. A. Phelon called a “jackastic
idea.” James Hart told him, “We are here to harmonize rules, not to invent
freak statutes.”

There was another question that apparently resulted in a difference in
the two leagues’ rules, although the effects of this are difficult to docu-
ment. Washington manager Tom Loftus had a gripe. Groundskeepers had
long been diamond doctors, operating on their fields to create conditions
that favored the home team. The Baltimore Orioles of the 1890s had raised
the art almost to the level of classical sculpture. It was also a longstanding
practice of minor leaguers working on skin infields to rake the dirt into a
gradual, almost imperceptible, humpback in the middle of the diamond to
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promote drainage when it rained. As rain washed the dirt away, they would
rebuild the hill. One effect was to elevate the pitcher’s box, giving hurlers
another advantage over the batters.

Loftus became irritated by these practices in the American League.
Even with sodded infields, he claimed, “groundskeepers have been playing
the game by putting the pitcher on a hill.” Photographs of infields of the
1900—1910 era don’t confirm when or where such a hill, distinctly higher
than the grass around it, first appeared. Loftus also objected to the practice
of “tilting the base paths to help or hinder batters.”

The rules, as far as he was concerned, said the field had to be level. Loftus
made his case to the committee. The members agreed that something
should be done. What they did was approve a rule, not banning the prac-
tice, but limiting the height of the hill to fifteen inches above the baselines
and home plate, with a “gradual slope.” That still allowed for wide varia-
tions, which Ban Johnson declared he would not permit.

The American League next met on Friday, March 6, at the Fifth Avenue
Hotel in New York. After a morning journey uptown to look over two pos-
sible playing fields—one near the Polo Grounds where Yankee Stadium
now stands—the owners took up the rules committee’s report. They were
still unanimously opposed to the foul strike rule. Then someone suggested
that since their own rules committee had, however reluctantly, agreed to go
along with the National and minor league position for the sake of peace,
they should support their delegates’ actions and ratify the odious rule.

Hedges, Kilfoyle, Comiskey, and Killilea cried foul. A spirited argument
consumed a few hours before Mr. Angus of Detroit, with Washington’s
Fred Postal seconding, moved that the rules committee’s report be adopted.
Killilea and Comiskey immediately tried to amend the motion to exclude the
foul strike rule. On this vote they lost one of their allies, Hedges, who voted
no, along with Ben Shibe, Angus, and Postal. The amendment was defeated.

When Ben Shibe, as a member of the rules committee, abstained from
the vote to approve the committee’s report, a 3—3 tie resulted. (The New
York franchise had not yet been admitted to the league.) Ban Johnson then
cast the deciding vote in favor. They all agreed to try the foul strike rule for
a while, and if they didn’t like it, they would throw it out next year. A year
later they would vote to abolish the rule, but they couldn’t persuade the
National to go along with them and gave up. They also went along with the
National’s rule requiring the catcher to play up close behind home plate at
all times, and a bunt foul with two strikes being a strikeout.
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Where was Connie Mack during the meeting? He was with his team
in spring training in Florida. Had he been present, he would have found
himself in an uncomfortable position. He was unalterably opposed to the
foul strike rule and fought it for another two years before abandoning the
cause. But if he had cast the Athletics’ vote against it, he would have been
repudiating Ben Shibe’s Chicago agreement. His strong feelings in the mat-
ter and his independence in baseball affairs would have clashed with his
loyalty to his partner.

With the end of the conflict, the players’ fears proved warranted. The
peace dividend would come out of their pockets. The Players’ Protective
Association, now devoid of leverage, was another casualty. Excoriated by
the Sporting News for exacting “every pound of flesh they could get” during
the war, they were now the prisoners. The American League, having broken
the National’s monopoly, joined its vanquished foe in a duopoly, where the
principle of profit prevailed.

A dozen years earlier, Connie Mack and Charles Comiskey had been
among the Brotherhood ranks rebelling against the National’s salary cap
and arbitrary treatment of players. For the past two years courtrooms had
rung with the oratory of Ban Johnson’s forces proclaiming the rights of
American workers to sell their services to the highest bidder and the ineq-
uities of the reserve or option clause. They had struck these clauses from
their contracts and paid high, presumably deserved, salaries to hire away
the National’s best players.

Now, the ink barely dry on the treaty respecting each other’s contracts,
the American League unanimously passed a motion imposing a future
salary limit of $2,400, except for captains and managers, with no side agree-
ments. And the reserve clause became embedded in its contracts.
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29 | THE PROFITS OF PEACE

A case can be made that Ban Johnson saved major league baseball. Certainly
the game was now on its solidest footing in many years. Devoted fans looked
forward to the 1903 season with the hope that the sporting pages would
once more be filled with numbers preceded by a decimal point instead of a
dollar sign. The war of the leagues had ended with two strong circuits shar-
ing a sometimes querulous stew of competition and cooperation, where
just three years earlier there had been a monopoly by the National League,
whose repute had grown steadily more ill in the minds of the public.

Baseball writers agitated for uniform scoring rules, there being as many
ways to score a game as there were official scorers, who were often the club
secretaries. Fans castigated clubs for peddling scorecards with inaccurate
lineups and outdated rosters. Still, these mere carpings over details were
a welcome change from the constant denouncing of the sharks who con-
trolled the national pastime.

Ban Johnson found two angels to back the American League’s New York
franchise, both “bushwhackers” by Clark Griffith’s definition. But that
didn’t deter Griff from agreeing to manage the team. Frank Farrell was a
former bartender who operated a gambling establishment. Big Bill Devery
was a retired police chief. To put a sheen of respectability on the club, they
installed as president Joseph W. Gordon, an elderly coal merchant in a
velvet-collared jacket. Originally referred to as the Knickerbockers, the
team became known as the Highlanders, partly an allusion to an elite
British regiment, Gordon’s Highlanders, and partly symbolic of the loca-
tion and terrain of their playing grounds.

The American League directors stayed in New York after their March
7, 1903, meeting to consider several sites for a ballpark. Johnson was eva-
sive about the sites they had in mind because whenever a location became
known, Freedman and Brush of the Giants moved to prevent its use, usu-
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ally by getting the appropriate political body to approve cutting streets
through the property or refuse to abandon a street that ran through it.

On the evening of March 12 the American League formally awarded its
eighth franchise to Farrell and Devery. The league’s eight-city lineup would
remain unchanged for the next fifty-one years.

For a playing grounds, the league decided on a piece of property “so
mountainous,” Johnson later wrote, “that it looked like a section of the
Swiss Alps.” It was uptown, way uptown, in Washington Heights, at 165th
Street and Broadway, a few blocks from the Hudson River. James R. McNally,
probably one of the backers of the new club, obtained a ten-year lease from
the owner, the adjacent New York Institution for the Blind. On March 23 he
assigned the lease to the Greater New York Baseball Association, effective
April 1. The rent was $6,000 for the first year.

Ban Johnson stayed in New York to supervise the turning of this “gigan-
tic rock pile” into a playable grounds in six weeks. He called in Mack’s
builder, James Foster, who had just finished tearing down the right-field
stands at Columbia Park and expanding its capacity by five thousand seats.
Johnson also borrowed Mack’s groundskeeper, Joe Schroeder, to prepare
the New York field.

As soon as the site became public knowledge, Freedman and Brush went
into action. They stirred up opposition among property owners in the area,
who petitioned the Local Board of Improvements to cut streets through
the property. The controversy pitted the head of the Blind Institute, who
favored a ballpark, against the superintendent of the nearby Deaf and
Dumb Institute, who claimed a ballpark would have a demoralizing effect
on the inmates in his care, as well as the pupils in a nearby public school.
Nobody asked the inmates or pupils in any of these institutions how they
felt about it.

Work on preparing the field went on during the hearings. It wasn’t until
April 9 that the Local Board of Improvements voted 4—3 to deny the peti-
tion to cut up the property. That’s how close the American League came
to being homeless in New York. When the Highlanders opened their home
season on April 30, the grandstand and bleachers were still unpainted.
Excavations had left parts of the outfield so far below the level of the infield
that a center fielder playing deep couldn’t see home plate. Right fielders
were in danger of tumbling into a deep ravine if they charged after a ball
too aggressively.

Connie Mack was not in New York for these meetings. He and his family
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spent Christmas and most of January together in East Brookfield. When he
returned to Philadelphia, Mack was occupied with ordering new uniforms.
Previously all uniform pants had come with built-in padding at the knees,
hips, and legs. Now players sending their measurements to the manager
often enclosed notes requesting that no padding be added. They preferred
to arrange it themselves to suit their individual sliding styles and comfort.

Mack and the Athletics arrived in Jacksonville on the liner Arapahoe
on February 28. Other teams went south in mid-March, but none to
Florida. The A’s were joined in the state only by Amos Alonzo Stagg and
his University of Chicago nine, the first college team to go south for spring
training.

On arriving, Mack expressed pleasure with the facilities at Phoenix Park,
declaring that Jacksonville had every other southern city “wiped off the
map.” But it was just public relations talk. Conditions were crude. The park
was nothing more than pine trees and ankle-deep mud. There was no base-
ball field. The only shower was a hot sulphur spring that flowed through
a pipe and down on their heads in an endless stream. The players slept on
cots in a large empty barn that had formerly housed a gambling casino.

Mack put them to work getting into shape. Most of them had seden-
tary winter jobs. Some loafed and gained weight. A few hunted and farmed.
So getting into condition was the first priority. Batting practice could wait.
Some players flushed the sludge of winter with daily doses of sulphur and
molasses. After they ran and stretched and played catch, the most exhaust-
ing exercise was high-low. They gathered in a large circle. The player with
the ball looked at one player and threw to another —a little too high or low
or to one side. They kept this up at a rapid pace until all tongues were hang-
ing out. To strengthen outfielders’ arms, one player held a hoop a foot above
home plate and the outfielders threw at it every time they caught a ball.

They concentrated more on headwork than footwork or batting prac-
tice. Mack considered the arts of sign stealing and anticipation to be key
parts of a winning game. He wanted all his players to be alert to steal-
ing catchers’ signs and reading batters’ body language and pitchers’ tip-off
quirks. He had them practice to perfection their own sign flashing between
batters and base runners to set up double steals and hit-and-run plays
without being detected. Harry Davis, Topsy Hartsel, and Monte Cross were
the teachers.

“Connie Mack studies the moves of the other side closer than any man-
ager I ever saw,” Cross said after his playing days had ended. “At bat or in
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the field he can tell exactly what his opponents are planning and is often
able to block them. . .. When you have tumbled to the system, signal the
pitcher to waste a ball and you generally queer the play.

“One day in Philadelphia we made the Sox throw up their hands by sim-
ply working out their code of signals and meeting their every move. Fielder
Jones threw his bat away after the third man in succession had been caught
stealing on the hit-and-run play, because the pitcher sent the ball so wide
the batter could not reach it. He and his players were outwitted.”

Not everyone appreciated Mack’s brand of baseball. George M. Graham
of the North American decried what he considered the decline of the game:

“Base ball has steadily become more mechanical in the last few years. It is
played more and more according to a system. Managers rely more on team-
work and less on individual effort. Outfielders no longer rush in and dive
for low line hits. They are unwilling to take chances on losing the ball and
having hits result in a triple or homer. Instead they wait for the bound and
hold the runner at first base. . . . Probably this style of play is good policy
and necessary evolution of the scientific game. That it makes base ball less
exciting and spectacular no one can deny.”

James Hart complained that catchers studying the situation and giving
elaborate signals prolonged the games. “While these moves help win games
they weary the crowd.”

It would seem there has never been a time when the game was immune
from disgruntled “traditionalists.”

Rube Waddell didn’t spend much time with the boys at Phoenix Park. He
marched to a different drummer and sometimes was the different drum-
mer. He and Osee Schrecongost had spent the winter soaking up the
Florida sunshine and spirits. Whenever they went into a bar, Schreck sang
out, “Give me a highball and make it so high it’s a wild pitch.” Rube imme-
diately became the life of any party and was too much of a gentleman to
refuse the free rounds that were thrust upon him. He found everybody so
sociable that he declared he’d have to leave town to get in shape.

Waddell and Schreck enrolled at Rollins College in Winter Park to play
for the college team. Rollins’s opponents yelled foul. Alumni could play,
but recruiting big leaguers was going too far. Osee and Rube sacrificed their
academic pursuits and left the school.

Connie Mack had a hard time keeping track of Rube’s whereabouts. One
day he spotted his erratic star twirling a baton at the head of a parade
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promoting a visiting minstrel show. Mack tried to duck out of sight to
avoid embarrassing Rube, but the unabashed Waddell saw him and waved.
Following the parade to the theater, Mack found Rube assisting the bass
drummer and brought him back to the barracks.

There was one part of Phoenix Park that attracted Rube like a fire
engine: an alligator and ostrich farm, run by a man who charged admis-
sion to watch him wrestle the reptiles. Years later Connie Mack related to
Arthur Daley of the New York Times what happened when the gator farmer
showed up at the training camp with a complaint. “He was the dirtiest-
looking man I ever saw, but I guess his complaint was justified. It seems
that Rube Waddell broke into his act. One day this man was going to wres-
tle an alligator when the Rube jumped in ahead of him, wrestled the alliga-
tor and triumphantly hauled him up on shore. It wasn’t too big an alligator,
only about six or eight feet long, and not as big as those terrible, terrible
alligators I saw later in San Antone.”

With all his peccadilloes, Rube Waddell was what used to be called a
“good soul.” If he came upon a horse-drawn trolley stuck in the tracks, he
added his broad shoulder to the beleaguered crew and helped push the car
free. Rescuing people or animals from burning buildings was his specialty.
Once he was reported as picking up a hot stove that threatened to ignite a
store, carrying it outside, and dumping it in a snowbank.

As a humorist, Charles Dryden was the equal of Ring Lardner. He was
an honest writer whose fictions interwoven with his reporting captured the
true nature of his characters. He found rich material in Rube Waddell and
once described a time when the team boarded its special car in Chicago
and found it filled with other passengers by mistake:

There was no time to shift in the depot and the train pulled out with
a double header raging in the special car. Among the passengers was
a woman with much baggage and three small kids asleep on the open
seats. When it came time to move to another car the woman was
in a fix until Rube rescued her. No one else in the outfit gave her a
thought.

With his hat on the back of his head and a cigarette hanging from
the inner film of his upper lip, the giant athlete stowed a sleeping
infant under each arm. Then he hung suitcases to the hands at the
lower ends of these arms and said to the woman, in low, guttural
accents, “Follow me.” She took the other kid and followed, while Rube
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bucked the center through three crowded Pullmans. Dumping the
sleeping babes and baggage where they belonged Rube bowed politely
and said, “Cheer up, lady.”

“That was the Rube for you,” Mack would often chuckle. “By golly, but
he’d do those things.”

Did the Rube actually do those things—and more? Maybe. Could he
have done them? Absolutely. It was all so typically Waddellian that Connie
Mack was surprised at nothing he heard or saw. Sure, he grew exasper-
ated and blew up at Rube now and then, but Mack loved George Edward
Waddell like, well, like a child.

Rube could be on his best behavior, especially when in the presence
of refined ladies, but Osee Schrecongost was another story. Even his best
behavior was unpredictable to the point of lunacy. The first time the A’s
witnessed Osee’s steak-nailing act was in a greasy spoon called Wolfe’s
Café, where they ate their meals in Jacksonville. Wolfe was also their land-
lord at the abandoned casino.

“When we ordered steak,” Chief Bender related, “Wolfe would walk back
to the kitchen and yell, ‘One baseball steak. Next thing we would hear was
the sound of a mallet hitting the steak, a wood mallet with spikes in it.”

If the steak was too tough to eat, Schreck’s preferred means of protest
was to ask for a hammer and ten-penny nail and nail it to the wall.

“It created quite a commotion,” Bender said. “Wolfe was awfully sore,
and for a while it looked as though we would lose our eating place, but
Connie finally talked the proprietor into letting us stay.”

This was not Schreck’s debut as an interior decorator of dining rooms.
He had performed the same rite in a swanky New Orleans hotel when he
was with Cleveland in 1902, and he might have done it again when the A’s
visited that city. That he crucified steaks more than once seems sufficiently
substantiated. That he did it in all the towns named in various tellings of
the tale is debatable.

Connie Mack did more apologizing to hotel managers for Schreck’s
behavior than he ever had to do for Rube Waddell. The only property at
risk from the Rube was Mack’s sanity. But Mack shrewdly treated each of
them differently as individuals. Once he fined Schreck $10 for some esca-
pade they had both enjoyed. “But Mr. Mack,” Osee complained, “Rube is
just as guilty as [ was and you didn’t fine him at all.”

“Now, lookit,” said Mack, “if you want to be treated the same as George
Edward, we shall do it.”
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Osee said no more.

Nobody—not Charles Dryden or Ring Lardner or Mark Twain—ever
invented a pair of screwballs like the batty battery of Waddell and
Schrecongost.

In Jacksonville, Connie Mack put his rookie pitcher, Albert Bender, in the
charge of the veteran Harry Davis, whose first piece of advice was, “Kid,
whenever you get two strikes and no balls on a batter, throw the next one at
his bean. Don’t be afraid. You'll never hit anyone when you throw at them.
But don’t throw behind them or you will surely hit them.”

This was neither unusual nor mean-spirited counsel; it was an accepted
part of the game. Bender heeded it, and throughout his career he kept a
duster in his arsenal, even though it backfired the first time he tried it. In
a game against the Phillies just before opening day, he hit Sherry Magee in
the forehead. It didn’t faze Bender; he won, 5—1.

Bender’s father was of German ancestry. His mother was a Chippewa
Indian. Bender had left the White Earth Reservation in Minnesota at the
age of seven to go to a school for Indians in Philadelphia, then to the Carlisle
Indian School. His interests grew over the years to include marksmanship,
billiards, golf, jewelry design and appraisal, oil painting, and gardening. He
excelled at all of them.

Usually cool and unflappable on the field, Bender took plenty of robust
riding from players and fans. In the northern white-dominated society of
the time, an Indian in a baseball uniform drew more unrestrained ragging
than the occasional southerner. Whenever he appeared on the field, Bender
was greeted with war dance whoops.

Bender’s quick wit and even temperament kept him calm. When a young
lady seeking autographs in a hotel lobby said to him, “I always thought
Indians wore feathers,” he allegedly replied, “Yes, miss, we do, but unfortu-
nately this happens to be the molting season.”

According to H. G. Salsinger of the Detroit News, “One day Bender was
having a rough time, lacking his usual stuff and control. Fans were heck-
ling him with Indian war whoops. Bender took it a while, walked over to
the third base stands, cupped his hands and yelled, ‘You ill-bred ignorant
foreigners; if you don’t like what I'm doing out here, why don’t you go back
where you came from?””

Socks Seybold was said to have pinned the “Chief” label on Bender. The
tag stuck. Connie Mack always called him Albert—the name Bender used
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to sign his contract—but Mack sometimes referred to him as “Chief” when
talking about him.

Even before the peace treaty was signed, Col. Rogers and A. J. Reach had
decided that after twenty years of owning the Phillies, they were ready to
get out. Barney Dreyfuss, still untouched by competition, had advanced
them money during the war. Rogers and Reach sold out to a group headed
by James Potter, a Philadelphia socialite and onetime Penn athlete. But
Barney Dreyfuss, Garry Herrmann, and the Fleischmanns owned almost
half the 200,000 shares. (It would be another seven years before such con-
flicting interests were eliminated.) Dreyfuss effectively ran the club, install-
ing his catcher, Chief Zimmer, as manager, and moving Billy Shettsline into
the business office.

Profits are powerful peacemakers. With Rogers gone, the antagonism
between the Athletics and Phillies went with him. They agreed to play a
city series beginning April 4, alternating between the teams’ home grounds.
The players quickly picked up the scent of pelf. Led by Lave Cross, Mack’s
veterans demanded a 20 percent cut of the city series gate or they wouldn’t
play. These were not just practice games, they claimed, but city champion-
ship games, played before their paychecks began. Mack turned them down
and was supported by a hastily called meeting of the club’s directors. The
standoff ended with a compromise: the players would share in the pro-
ceeds of exhibition games played during the season.

Mack took some heat for agreeing to let his American League champi-
ons play the seventh-place Phillies. His critics questioned how it would
look if his team was beaten by tailenders. That possibility didn’t bother
Mack. The fans wanted it, his players would benefit by the practice games,
and that was good enough for him. From the start he was always open to
playing exhibition games against any National League team regardless of
where either team had finished in the pennant races. And if they did lose
the series to the Phillies?

“A defeat doesn’t hurt anyone,” Mack said, “and it sometimes does good.”

After the Phillies won four of the five games, Mack met a disgruntled A’s
fan on the street. The man was peeved over the losses to the lowly Phillies
and wanted to let Mack know it.

“I knew he was looking for an argument and a chance to roast me,” Mack
said, “so I just beat him to it.

“He said, ‘Say, Connie, what do you think of a fellow who has a million
dollars and plays cards with a fellow that has but fifty cents?’
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“Never giving him a chance to go any further, I said, ‘I think he is a pretty
good sport. Goodbye.”

When the courts cleared Lajoie, Flick, and Bernhard of their con-
tempt charges, the Phillies didn’t object. The three could now appear with
the Cleveland club in Philadelphia without fear of being housed in the
hoosegow.

The new amity brought other changes. Front office officials of one team
were frequently seen at their neighbor’s games when their own team was
on the road. Nobody was nervous about spies or agents trying to kidnap
players. The Phillies and A’s posted each other’s out-of-town scores on bul-
letin boards during their home games. When on Saturday, August 8, a sec-
tion of the Phillies’ left-field bleachers collapsed under the weight of a sud-
den rush of fans to the top, the park was closed for the rest of the season.
The A’s let them use Columbia Park for two September series.

A sign that had hung in the Phillies’ park— “No Improper Language to
Player or Umpire Will Be Tolerated” —was painted out by the new own-
ers. They wanted to let their patrons know they were expected to behave
like ladies and gentlemen without posted warnings. The patrons’ behavior
didn’t change.

Except for the loss of Dave Fultz in center field, the A’s lineup was
unchanged. Fultz, considered the A’s most valuable player by some writers,
was a hard act to follow. To replace him, Mack bought thirty-two-year-
old Ollie Pickering from Cleveland. Pickering was speedy enough to steal
40 bases, second in the league, but the writers rode him for “irremediable
stupidity” on the bases. Pickering’s only other distinction was a close resem-
blance to onetime St. Louis baseball impresario Chris von der Ahe.

To supplement his outfield, Mack paid $300 to Toledo for Danny
Hoffman, who had led the Connecticut League at .338.

On the A’s return from Florida, Connie Mack assayed his pitching riches
and boldly predicted his Athletics would repeat as champions. He had a
pair of lefties, Waddell and Plank, and two right-handed rookies, Bender
and Weldon Henley. Henley, it turned out, had jumped an Atlanta contract
and posed as a free agent. An electrical engineer out of Georgia Tech, he
had not studied contract law. It cost him a $600 fine.

Andy Coakley was coaching the Holy Cross pitchers and working out with
them and would be along in June. They were all healthy six-footers, except
for Plank, a half-inch shy. In the days of a 140-game schedule, 85 percent of
them complete games by starters, Mack was well fortified with strong arms.
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Connie Mack had seen nothing in Rube Waddell’s behavior so far to
warn him that the strain of Rube’s self-control since joining the A’s might
snap his mental garters. But before opening day there were omens that his
celebrity might have gone to his head, where there were plenty of rooms to
let. On their way to Boston for the April 20 opener, the A’s stopped in Jersey
City for two games. Mack allowed Waddell to skip the exhibitions. Rube
remained in Philadelphia on Friday to be initiated into the Junior Order
of American Mechanics, then went to Boston alone to attend a banquet in
his honor.

The following Monday was a long day for the Rube. Pitching the opener
before a record morning crowd of 8,376, he was run ragged by the Bostons,
who picked on his one weakness—fielding bunts. His fastball was usually
too overpowering to bunt, but this time it was room service for the hitters.
Going after a slow roller in the fourth inning, Rube fell on his right shoulder
and came up holding his left. He was ready to quit for the day. Harry Davis
walked over from first base and not so gently persuaded him to stay in there
and take it, which he did, a 9—4 licking.

That afternoon a throng of more than nineteen thousand turned out to
watch Cy Young and Eddie Plank duel. Plank was no sharper than Waddell
had been. The home team jumped on him for a quick 6—o lead. After three
innings Mack had seen enough.

“Albert,” he said to Bender, “go in and pitch.”

The rookie was not yet the cool Chief he would become. “I was scared,”
he admitted later.

Bender was wild but gave up only 1 run, a Buck Freeman homer. In the
seventh the A’s woke up against Young, banging out 3 singles and 3 triples
for 6 runs. They scored 1 in the eighth and 3 in the ninth for a 10—7 win,
Bender’s first.

“Nice work, Albert,” Mack said.

Forty years later Bender still regarded his major league debut as “my
greatest thrill in baseball.”

The pocket-size, leather-bound schedules distributed by the A’s listed
their home opener for Wednesday, April 22. Despite chilly temperatures,
13,578 fans crowded the stands and ringed the outfield. They cheered the
unfolding of the 1902 pennant on the new flagpole and cheered some more
as Rube tossed a nifty 4-hitter against Boston, 6-1. In his first three starts,
Waddell struck out 30 but won only once.

Connie Mack cut the Rube and Osee plenty of slack because they were
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good at their jobs and they drew the crowds. Fans and players alike enjoyed
the shows they put on. They roared with applause when Schreck played
catch with three pitchers at the same time. With Plank, Bender, and Waddell
throwing to him, Schreck caught each pitch with his mitt, shifted the ball
to his tremendous right hand, then threw all three back at once, the balls
separating on the way to their targets.

Crowds arrived early on days Waddell was announced to pitch. They
never knew what they might see before or during a game. One day a
pregame argument with Boston first baseman Candy LaChance led to a
wrestling match on the field. Nobody moved to break it up. For thirty min-
utes they tangled before Rube pinned him. Then he got up and pitched a
complete game.

Rube was scheduled to start on Friday, May 15, in St. Louis. Willie Sudhoff,
a five-foot-seven Browns pitcher, tried to wear out Rube’s arm before the
game by betting Rube he couldn’t throw the ball from deep center field to
home plate. Rube stalked out to the fence and started throwing. Sudhoff
kept needling him: “Bet you can’t do it again.” Rube kept throwing. After an
hour, Sudhoff was confident that any normal human arm would be ready
to fall off. Waddell fanned 13 that afternoon, including three pinch hitters
in the ninth, and won, 4—2.

That was an eventful series for the Rube. According to Dryden, he
went out one evening to Forest Park Highlands to enjoy the rides. The
scenic railway sped down an incline with Rube aboard. It hit a post, the
car stopped dead, but Rube didn’t. He sailed through a clutter of wires,
knocking the whole place out of business, and hit his head on a post. The
management paid him $50 for his troubles and his silence. Rube pock-
eted the cash, combed his hair, and walked back to the Southern Hotel.
(The Southern was the players’ favorite stop. One of its amenities was a free
pressing of the guests’ suits. The players saved all their wrinkled clothes for
the St. Louis stop.)

Before leaving town, Waddell signed a contract for $500 a week to appear
after the season in a stage production of The Stain of Guilt, a melodrama
that drew its title from the telltale nicotine stains on the villain’s fingers.

The A’s went on to Detroit, where Rube went fishing for a few days with
some local anglers and returned in a condition delicately described as “not
feeling well.”

When Rube Waddell asked for a day off to get married, Mack readily
consented, hoping the influence of a good woman might keep Rube in line.
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Rube had been married once before; his wife had divorced him while he
was pitching in California in 1902. On June 3 he wed May Wynne Skinner
in Lynn, Massachusetts. But the marital knot failed to domesticate the
twenty-six-year-old Waddell. The bride knew little about baseball and less
about what she was getting into.

Connie Mack’s game routine had settled into a pattern. He sat in the
middle of the bench in suit and tie and high collar, keeping score, occa-
sionally moving his outfielders with a wave of the scorecard, rarely mov-
ing except to squirm when things grew tense, talking to the young players
seated on either side of him. He usually maintained a stoic calmness that
gave no hint of his thoughts or feelings, except when a player’s actions
annoyed him and he shot a barbed remark or an umpire’s call riled him.

Mack expected his players to maintain the same calm on the field. None
of his players had been suspended since the league began. Not, that is,
until June, when Topsy Hartsel was set down for three days for assaulting
umpire Bobby Carruthers. (When Nap Lajoie suffered the same fate for a
run-in with Carruthers, Ban Johnson decided it must be the umpire’s fault
and fired him.)

The A’s continued to prosper at the gate, aided by a tight pennant race.
As June began, only 3 games separated six teams. When Lajoie and Flick
made their first appearance in Philadelphia since their forced departure,
the three-game series drew more than thirty-seven thousand. Announced
figures were subject to swelling, and visiting teams were often paid off on
lower counts (turnstiles were not mandatory in every AL park until 1904).
But there was no doubting the popularity of the American League brand of
baseball. On Friday, June 12, Waddell and Addie Joss dueled for 14 innings
before a Pickering home run won it for Rube, 2—1. That inspired a record
throng of twenty-four thousand to ignore hovering rain clouds the next
day, while thousands more banged on the locked gates in vain. Bender
treated them to a 12—1 breeze.

Mack could only dream of how the turnstiles would whirl if Sunday
baseball was legal in Pennsylvania. He had no hesitation about playing on
Sundays. It didn’t interfere with his attending early Mass, and he often used
the day to scout semipro or minor league teams.

The Athletics were 9-2 on a home stand that sent them west in first place.
An optimistic Connie Mack welcomed Andy Coakley in Chicago. But
things went downhill in a hurry. Coakley and Henley were inconsistent.
The workload fell on Plank and Bender. Waddell was now rarely in condi-
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tion to pitch. He spent little time with his new bride and had nibbled away
almost his entire year’s salary in advances, despite Mack’s efforts to control
the flow. Whenever Rube hit the manager for a twenty, claiming family or
friends were in town, Mack, who kept two dollar bills folded in his pocket,
pulled out the pair of singles with a “Sorry, Eddie, that’s all I've got on me,”
and handed them over. Or Rube would arrange for a bellboy to deliver a
fake telegram to him in a hotel dining room, then inform Mack that it was
a collect wire and he needed sixty cents for it. Or he needed money for a
haircut. Or he had lost his 1902 championship watch fob. Once Mack put
up a $10 reward for it. The next day a bartender showed up with it and
picked up the tenner, which settled Rube’s bar tab.

Mack tried everything, including hiring a private detective to keep his
problem child out of trouble. “He lasted about two weeks,” Bender recalled.
“Harry Davis and I were sitting in front of the Euclid Hotel in Cleveland
one night about eleven p.m. A hansom cab pulled up and Rube got out. He
reached inside and pulled out the constable and threw him over his shoul-
der. The fellow weighed at least 230. Rube carried him into the hotel.
““Getting in a bit early, aren’t you, Rube?” Davis said.

“As soon as I put down this drunk, ’'m starting out for the evening,
Rube said. That was the last of the constable.”

As the team slipped into second place, the players became fed up with
Rube. They knew they could win if he did his job. But he was as wild in the
pitcher’s box as he was off the field. He lost three, four, five in a row. One
day in mid-July Lave Cross let him have it in the clubhouse, dressing him
down for his absences and failure to take care of himself. Rube cleaned out
his locker, announcing that he was quitting and wouldn’t be back.

He went across the river to Camden and tended bar. They loved him
in Camden and welcomed him to pitch for a local team or hole up in the
saloon whenever he felt like it. A few days later he was back. He went into
MacK’s office looking like a kid caught playing hooky. Mack sat at his desk,
pretending not to notice him.

“I’'m sorry I threw you down,” Rube said. “I couldn’t help it.”

“What’s that?” Mack looked up. “What are you talking about?”

Rube apologized for disappearing. Feigning great surprise, Mack said,
“That’s news to me. I didn’t know you’d been away. But, you know, it’s your
turn to pitch today, and we need this game awful bad.”

Waddell went out and shut out Chicago, 2—o. Pitching against the Browns
three days later, he was the target of a constant harpooning from a coterie

320 The Profits of Peace



of gamblers. Andy Coakley, who had pitched six innings in relief the day
before, was in the stands near the hecklers. (A pitcher who had worked
the previous day didn’t have to be in uniform, but he had to be available
if needed in a pinch. More than once, Mack would send somebody to the
nearest saloon to summon the Rube to put out a fire.)

By the end of the seventh, Rube was steaming. He was ready to charge
into the stands and take a swipe at the snipers. He fired nothing but fast-
balls, whiffed the three batters, and leaped into the stands. His target was a
ticket broker and gambler named Maurice Blau (a.k.a. Morris Blaw). Rube
bashed him in the nose. The rest of the Athletics rushed to Rube’s aid.
Lave Cross picked up one of the hecklers and tossed him onto the field as
Coakley sat astounded by the scene. The police broke it up and dragged
Blau across the field to a paddy wagon.

Another interested spectator was Ban Johnson. He let Waddell finish the
game, a 4-1 win with 12 strikeouts, then suspended him for five days. Ben
Shibe vowed to clean out the gamblers. He banned Blau from Columbia
Park and had four others arrested. Ban Johnson ordered the suppression of
betting at all American League parks, a noble but futile gesture.

Waddell went three weeks without winning another game. The strikeouts
piled up, but so did the walks. On August 1 he took a loss unique in league
history: a no-hitter broken up by one batter who had 4 hits. Four singles by
New York’s Kid Elberfeld and 6 walks cost Rube a 3—2 loss. “If I would have
walked him four times,” Rube said, “I would have pitched a no-hitter.”

After losing 3-0 to Boston at home on August 5, Waddell disappeared
again. He was living in a saloon on Front Street, pitching for a Camden
team, and tending bar in both cities. Mack sent word to him to rejoin the
team at the Quincy House Hotel in Boston on Saturday, August 8. Rube
didn’t show up. He said he was through with the Athletics.

“I'm done so far as worrying over him is concerned,” Connie Mack said.
“If he wants to come back and do the right thing I'll give him one more
chance. Of course, he must take the consequences, and he knows what that
means.”

Broke and about to be thrown out of her boarding house, Rube’s wife
pleaded with him to come home. He said he was through with her too.
Mack suspended and fined him. Rube didn’t care about that, but his wife
did. Part of his salary was going directly to her. In a later Waddell divorce
case, Mack may have been referring to this episode when he testified that
“when his wife came around there wasn’t as much for her as she had
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expected. She just simply bawled me out, and when [Ben] Shibe, owner of
the club, started to explain to her she bawled him out, t0o.”

They offered her the services of A’s attorney Louis Hutt, who had Rube
picked up by the police in a Haddon Street saloon. Booked for nonsupport
and still facing charges of assault and battery filed by Maurice Blau, Rube
spent the night in jail.

On Monday a repentant Waddell showed up at the Quincy House. But
Connie Mack had run out of patience. His soft soap had hardened. No
more jollying the Rube.

“I went after him strong,” Mack said. “I was laying on the words thick
and fast and I saw a nasty look come into Rube’s eyes. Quick as a flash it
dawned on me that I had gone too far. Breaking off in the middle of a
scorching sentence, I reached out my hand and said, ‘Say, Rube, I had you
that time. All that time you thought [ was in earnest. And do you know that
great big fellow who was ready a few seconds earlier to throw me through
the door actually broke down and cried.”

The Athletics bounced between second and fourth place, 4 or 5 games
behind league-leading Boston. On Sunday, August 16, at St. Louis, Waddell
and Bender lost a doubleheader. “We got a deadly crimp put in us today,”
Mack said. “This town always has been our hoodoo and always will be.”

Both of Mack’s catchers joined the casualty list that day. In the first
inning of the first game, a foul tip split one of Schreck’s fingers. Doc Powers
wrapped it in rags and replaced him behind the plate. Schreck was on the
bench in the third when Topsy Hartsel shot a foul bullet that hit him in the
stomach and knocked him out. In the ninth Joe Sugden lifted a pop foul
toward the Browns’ bench. Powers dove for it. His knee struck a water keg
and sent it spinning. Down he went in a shower of icy water. The iron rim
of the keg cut his knee to the bone. Schreck had to catch the second game.

Then Hartsel went down with a charley horse. Harry Davis had a
strained muscle in his side and rheumatism in his legs. Danny Murphy
was still unable to turn a double play; the A’s were last in the league in that
department. And they weren’t hitting, a condition blamed partly on the
introduction of the hated foul strike rule, which resulted in the league’s
.300-hitting ranks thinning to eighteen from thirty the year before. “That
foul strike rule raised Cain with my people all season,” Mack lamented. He
would try again that winter to repeal it. And would fail again.

After pitching a doubleheader in Detroit on August 21, Rube disap-
peared again. An ofthand remarkby Mack— “I’'m done with Waddell” —was
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mistaken as a sign that the Rube was available, starting a feeding frenzy
among other managers.

Mack continued to look for pitching. Hoping to find another Bender, he
tried two more Indians. While Harry Davis was in Mt. Clemens, Michigan,
seeking relief from his aches, he sent Mack Ed “Peanuts” Pinnance, who
had worked his way through Michigan State as a calligrapher. Pinnance
arrived carrying a huge suitcase made from the hide of an elk he had shot
with a bow and arrow. Mack paid $1,500 to Ed Barrow in Toronto for Louis
Bruce. Neither Pinnance nor Bruce ever won a big league game.

Losing 9 of their last 10 against Boston, the Athletics fell 15 games out.
Mack considered using the last month of the season to try out new pitch-
ers, then abandoned the idea when it looked as if a second-place finish was
still possible. But he decided to finish the year without Rube Waddell, who
was back bartending in Camden, swearing he would never pitch for Connie
Mack again. A rumor that Waddell had been released by the A’s was like
chum dumped overboard into a school of barracuda. Teams began sending
emissaries to sign him. They were disappointed; the rumor was false.

It rained all day on Saturday, August 29. Connie Mack was in his office
when the door opened and in walked a contrite Rube Waddell. After a long
talk, Rube signed a 1904 contract containing some disciplinary clauses,
and Mack gave him permission to go to St. Louis to begin his theatrical
engagement.

This was not Waddell’s acting debut. Once when he was with Louisville,
he had been invited to play a bit part in a local drama. When the villain
began throttling the hero, Rube was to dash on stage and swat the vil-
lain. On cue he darted out, spied a pal in the front row, made a detour to
the stage apron, and yelled, “Let’s meet after the show,” then attacked the
villain.

When The Stain of Guilt opened at the Auditorium Theater in Philadelphia
in mid-December, the management, hoping to cash in on Waddell’s Quaker
City popularity, billed him as the main attraction. On opening night Rube
didn’t show up until ten o’clock and missed his cue. At the next day’s mati-
nee, he arrived early with Schreck and a bunch of his Camden buddies and
insisted on taking them all backstage with him. When they were asked to
leave, a fight started. Rube was thrown out of the show, his trunk thrown
out after him.

For all his zaniness and missed starts, Waddell finished with a 21-16
record and a league-leading 302 strikeouts. To put his performance in per-
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spective, his strikeouts were just over 7 percent of the league total, a ratio he
would match in 1904. Sandy Koufax and Nolan Ryan accounted for about
5 percent of league totals in their best years. In 1999 Randy Johnson’s 364
were just 2 percent of his league’s total.

Plank won 23 and lost 16; Bender was 17-15. The Athletics managed to
edge Cleveland by %2 game to finish second.

Connie Mack’s leadership, inspiration, and commitment to the welfare of
his employees were rare attributes among the leaders of American industry
at the time. MacKk’s players recognized and appreciated those qualities in
their boss. They chipped in and bought him a large diamond ring. Before
the morning Labor Day game, Socks Seybold made the presentation in the
clubhouse. Harry Davis then spoke for the team, thanking Mack for his
treatment of them.

“I hardly know what to say,” Mack began.

“Go as far as you like,” Seybold said, as laughter prevented any further
sentimentality.

The Athletics’ board of directors also appreciated their partner and man-
ager, doubling his salary to $10,000.

In the spirit of peace and profits, postseason series were played in St.
Louis, Chicago, and Philadelphia. Cincinnati and Cleveland played for
Ohio bragging rights. John McGraw and John T. Brush spurned overtures
of the Highlanders, who had finished a respectable fourth. Cold weather
held down attendance in Philadelphia; the clubs lost money, but each
player picked up an extra $200.

In early August Barney Dreyfuss had begun talking about a playoff
between his pennant-bound Pirates and the American League winner.
When the Boston Americans pulled away from the field in September,
Dreyfuss and Henry Killilea arranged what became the first modern World
Series. Ban Johnson was overjoyed when the Bostons won it, 5 games to
3. The American teams also won every fall series except Chicago’s, which
ended in a 3-3 tie. Johnson’s American League upstarts were the kings of
the hill.

With no football team to deal with that winter, Connie Mack went to the
theater, enjoyed the boxing matches at the Washington Sporting Club, and
went to dances and other social events. Later developments indicate that
he was probably accompanied by a date sometimes, though no one woman
gained any prominent mention as a frequent companion.
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Connie Mack’s agreement not to farm out Eddie Collins without his consent.
Courtesy of the author.




ABovE: Connie Mack’s mother,
Mary McKillop McGillicuddy, and
Mack’s daughter by his first marriage,
Marguerite; taken about 1907.
Courtesy of Neil McGillicuddy.

RIGHT: Rube Waddell as portrayed in
a 1905 World Series souvenir booklet.
Courtesy of Robert Warrington.

oprrosITE: Three of Connie Mack’s
children from his second marriage (left
to right): Mary, Ruth, and Connie Jr.
Courtesy of Connie Mack Jr.






(aBovE) Katherine Hallahan at the time of her marriage to Connie Mack in 1910.
Courtesy of Connie Mack Jr.

(opposiTE TOP) Connie Mack, Ira Thomas, and Stuffy McInnis. Courtesy of the
Library of Congress, LCB-3260-7.

(oprosiTE BoTTOM) Connie Mack, Ira Thomas, and Philadelphia baseball writer
James Isaminger (far left). Courtesy of the Library of Congress, LCB 2-3260-6.
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(opposiTE TOP) Bill Orr, Herb Pennock, Weldon Wyckoff, Joe Bush, Bob Shawkey,
and Amos Strunk; 1913 or 1914. Courtesy of the Library of Congress, LCUSZ62-133669.

(opposiTE BoTTOM ) The 1902 pennant winners. Top row (left to right): Highball
Wilson, Bert Husting, Monte Cross, [unknown], Socks Seybold, Snake Wiltse, Eddie
Plank, Dave Fultz. Bottom row: Luis Castro, Lave Cross, Harry Davis, Doc Powers,
Topsy Hartsel. Courtesy of the Library of Congress, LCUSz62-122896.

(aBoVE) Johnny Evers and Eddie Plank shake hands before the start of the 1914
World Series. Courtesy of the Library of Congress, LCUSZ62-133667.






(oprposiTE ToP) Connie Mack in fall attire at the World Series.
Courtesy of the Library of Congress, LCB22315-4.

(opposITE BoTTOM ) Albert “Chief” Bender in one of his less
triumphant moments. Courtesy of the Library of Congress, LCUSz62-97857.

(aBoVE) The $100,000 infield plus Danny Murphy (left to right):
Stuffy McInnis, Danny Murphy, Frank Baker, Jack Barry, Eddie Collins.
Courtesy of the Library of Congress LC DIG-GGBAIN-15514.



(BELOw) Napoleon Lajoie, who joined Mack’s Athletics in 1901 and hit .422, still a
league record. Courtesy of the Library of Congress LC DIG-GGBAIN-19545.

(opposriTE ToP) Frank “Home Run” Baker on a 1912 Miners Extra smoking tobacco
card. Courtesy of the Library of Congress, Lot 13163-32, No. 3.

(opposiTE BoTTOM) Harry Davis, the American League home run leader 1904-1907.
Courtesy of the Library of Congress, Lot 13163-17, No. 4.
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Connie Mack in the A’s dugout, ca. 1914.
Courtesy of the Cleveland Public Library,
Mears Collection.
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(aBovE) The 1901 Philadelphia
Athletics. Top row (left to right): Dave
Fultz, Phil Geier, Bill Bernhard, Wiley
Piatt, Charlie Carr, Fred Ketcham,
Chick Fraser. Bottom row: Matty
Mclntyre, Billy Milligan, Lave Cross,
Connie Mack, Nap Lajoie, Socks
Seybold. Courtesy of the Cleveland
Public Library, Mears Collection.

(LerT) Cover of Mack’s 1903 book, How
to Play Base-Ball, showing Mack in

his playing days. Courtesy of Robert D.
Warrington.



Connie Mack in 1905. Courtesy of Robert D. Warrington.
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Going into the 1904 season, the major league magnates realized they needed
some form of governing structure to settle the inevitable disputes that
would arise between the leagues. They’d had enough of lawyers and courts.
They believed that as baseball men, they could run their own affairs, settle
their own disagreements, interpret their own rules. They created a National
Commission, consisting of the two league presidents and a neutral chair-
man. Garry Herrmann of the Cincinnati Reds had impressed them with
his mediation efforts during the peace talks. He was a respected political
power in Republican circles and chairman of his city’s water works com-
mission. Despite his National League affiliation, he was considered objec-
tive and judicious enough to chair the National Commission.

Overall the American League was prospering. In appreciation of his
leadership, the league directors raised Ban Johnson’s salary to $10,000.
Attendance had increased everywhere except in Washington and Chicago,
where business was down 20 percent since the White Stockings had led the
league in its inaugural season. There was a report that Comiskey, fearing
he might have a losing venture on his hands, had tried to sell a half interest
in the club to his manager, Nixey Callahan, and other investors for $12,000.
Detroit was still shaky. Club owner Sam Angus tried to sell his colleagues
on a limited form of revenue sharing. His proposal that receipts from holi-
day games be pooled and divided equally was voted down, 7-1. Angus gave
up and sold out to lumber millionaire William Yawkey.

Still saddled with the weak Washington franchise, Ban Johnson’s search
for Washington businessmen to take over the club and pay off its debts
landed two influential newspapermen, Thomas C. Noyes, city editor of
the Star, and Scott C. Bone, managing editor of the Post. But it took until
1905 to completely extricate the league from the operation of the team.
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The new owners mulled over an appropriate name for the club, some-
thing that would represent its presence in the nation’s capital. Fans’ sugges-
tions ranged from “Diplomats” to “Grafters.” A local committee of writers
favored “Nationals,” which they had been using, but the owners preferred
to stay with “Senators.” In March 1905 the owners would ditch the name
and hold a contest among the Washington fans. The overwhelming winner
was Nationals. Both names would be commonly used thereafter.

The Boston club also changed hands in the spring of 1904. Despite
repeated statements by Henry Killilea that he didn’t want to sell, he was bad-
gered by former congressman John “Honey Fitz” Fitzgerald, who wanted to
buy him out. When Fitzgerald’s offer reached $100,000, Killilea gave in. But
Ban Johnson didn’t want Fitzgerald and vetoed the deal, claiming that the
final terms were “not consistent with earlier understandings.” Fitzgerald
threatened to sue but never did. (Had the sale gone through, there might
never have been a Harry Frazee in the Red Sox story, and Honey Fitz’s
grandson, John Fitzgerald Kennedy, might have become president of the
Red Sox instead of the United States.)

Ban Johnson found another buyer more to his liking: John I. Taylor, son
of the owner of the Boston Globe. There were now three teams in which
newspapermen had an interest.

In an effort to field a contender and strengthen the league’s standing in
New York, the Highlanders’ payroll soared to $60,000 for a sixteen-man
roster, more than double that of most other clubs. Now a sideline observer,
former Phillies owner John 1. Rogers piped a familiar dirge: “One or two
of the owners state plainly that to keep up with the tremendous increase in
salaries would mean ultimate ruin.”

With the expiration of long-term contracts at salaries inflated by the
1901-1902 competition for players, some clubs cut back for 1904. The
Athletics had no extraordinary stars on their roster. They were a team, Tim
Murnane commented, “of everyday players who give spectators a run for
their money.” Connie Mack was under no economic pressure to raise or
cut payroll. The A’'s were making money; the players were not dissatisfied.
Most of them saw themselves as farmers or businessmen, which indeed
they were from October to March, as much as baseball players. And they
knew they were lucky to be playing a game for a few hours a day and paid
well for their efforts. The average working man earned a quarter to a half
of a ballplayer’s income and worked a six-day week for it—if he was lucky.
Following the stock market panic of 1903, empty cars stood idle in railroad
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yards, workers in steel and cotton mills from coast to coast were hit with
10—20 percent pay cuts. Western Union messengers’ wages fell from $3 to
$1.50 for an all-night shift. Striking sausage cookers in the Chicago stock-
yards went on strike demanding $1.75 a day. From coal miners in Colorado
to upholsterers in Boston, strikers sought shorter work weeks.

In January Connie Mack and John Shibe made their annual trek south in
search of training grounds. Despite his public praise of Jacksonville, Mack
had no desire to return. They settled on Spartanburg, South Carolina,
where Wofford College offered a skin infield and a gym with real showers.
The Spartan Inn promised more comfort and better food than Wolfe’s old
casino and tough baseball steaks.

With a holdover lineup, the A’s spring training was uneventful. May
Waddell arrived with Rube, probably at Connie Mack’s invitation and
expense, to keep a rein on her roaming husband. The wives of Monte
and Lave Cross and Harry Davis were there if May needed any help. Mrs.
Waddell cajoled Rube into going before a magistrate to raise his right hand
and take the sobriety pledge for the next six months. Spartanburg held
little of the social possibilities of Jacksonville, and Rube appears to have
behaved himself.

The bushy handlebar mustache fashion of the 1890s had passed. Monte
Cross was the only American Leaguer sporting any facial bristle. After bat-
ting a career low .189 in 1904, he would shave it off.

Missing from camp was Chief Bender, laid up with a severe case of
mumps. Mack expressed his usual confidence in his pitching staff of Bender,
Plank, Waddell, and Henley as they headed north. The Philadelphia spring
turned in its normal cold, wet performance; the city series ended on April
13 with a shivering 714 faithful in attendance.

Mack awarded his groundskeeper, Joe Schroeder, the scorecard and
refreshment concessions, where young Bob Schroeder also worked. To pre-
vent a recurrence of the rain check riots of the past, the A’s began the prac-
tice of attaching rain checks to the dated tickets instead of handing out
separate pieces of cardboard on cloudy days.

They put up a 3-1 record on the road before their home opener on
Thursday, April 21, against New York. Two umpires worked the game, a
rarity at the time, but standard practice when breaking in a rookie umpire.
For all his progressive ideas and insistence on curbing complaints on the
field, Ban Johnson was unconvinced of the need for more than one umpire.
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Yet it was impossible for one pair of eyes to see everything and call all the
plays right.

“You did a lot of running,” admitted umpire Billy Evans, “and—Ilet’s face
it—a lot of guessing.”

About fourteen thousand fans were rewarded for their six-month wait
with a thrilling 12-inning battle, sent into extra innings by Danny Murphy’s
ninth-inning hit, and won by an rB1 triple by Harry Davis, who also hom-
ered in the fourth. The new, abstemious Rube Waddell struck out 16 in the
3—2 victory.

The A’s continued to struggle against their nemesis from Boston, losing
3 out of 4 at home, then suffering the same fate in a memorable series in
early May in Boston. On Monday, May 2, Waddell pitched a 3—o0 one-hitter
before a ladies’ day crowd of 6,500. Leading off the fourth, Pat Dougherty
beat out a dribbler that Waddell failed to field cleanly. Boston’s only hit
could have been scored an error.

Among the spectators was the Boston strong boy, former heavyweight
champ John L. Sullivan. After throwing out the first pitch, the great John
L. visited with the players and sat on the A’s bench during the game, to
Connie Mack’s delight. Sullivan took home 20 percent of the gate for his
appearance. That evening both teams were guests at the Dudley Street
Opera House minstrel show. For Mack, whose passions were baseball, box-
ing, and the theater, days didn’t get much better than that.

Three days later Waddell faced Cy Young, the thirty-seven-year-old Ohio
farmer who had won 400 games already. Young admired the pitching of
the brash Waddell, ten years his junior, who had yet to win 100 games, but
Rube ran his mouth more in a day than Young did in a year. When Rube
boasted that he would trim Young the same way he had Jesse Tannehill
on Monday, Young took it as “calling me out” and answered by pitching a
perfect game.

“I had good speed and stuff,” Young allowed after the game. “[Rube
Waddell] and Connie Mack were the first to congratulate me.”

Through May the A’s kept winning, but so did Boston. Waddell was spec-
tacular; as of May 23 he had lost only twice, both by shutouts. He had to
be near perfect, for the team was still without Bender, whose mumps were
followed by tonsillitis. In Chicago Rube pitched three days in a row, though
he lasted only 2 innings on one of them.

Harry Davis and Socks Seybold were lame; Mack put the five-foot-five
Indian, Lou Bruce, in the outfield. Ollie Pickering was suffering from a
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“torpid liver.” Bender was in and out of action, plagued by appendicitis,
which he put up with until December 15, when the annoying appendage
was finally removed. When Davis came back, he broke a bone in his hand
and missed another month. And they weren’t hitting.

But nobody else was hitting much either. Henry Chadwick, complain-
ing about the dominance of pitching and the numerous shutouts, contin-
ued to rail against the “obnoxious” foul strike rule. Another reason for the
decline in offense was the growing use of the spitball. Difficult to control,
the spitter was shunned by most pitchers. But for those who mastered it,
it was a devastating weapon. Thrown with the same motion as a fastball, it
was slower than a fastball but faster than a curve. It acted like a knuckler or
splitfinger fastball, breaking in any one of several unpredictable directions
before landing “like a brick” in the catcher’s mitt.

The starting time of the games was another factor. The gong sounded
at three thirty until mid-May, when some teams, the A’s among them,
moved the starting time to four o’clock. Batters were trying to hit a stained,
beat-up fastball thrown by a Rube Waddell or Addie Joss or Cy Young in
twilight. It’s amazing they hit as well as they did.

Gathering dusk may have contributed to the beaning of Danny Hoffman.
In the ninth inning of a game in Boston on July 1, left-hander Jesse Tannehill
threw a fastball up and in to the left-hitting Hoffman. He ducked too late
and it hit him in the head. Hoffman crumpled to the ground unconscious.
Rube Waddell was the first off the bench. The players gathered around,
uncertain what to do. Waddell picked him up, carried him out to the street,
and flagged down a carriage to take them to the hospital. He stayed with
Hoffman throughout the night.

“Nothing serious,” the papers said. “Danny will be out for a week to
ten days.”

He was out for three months. His vision was affected. “The center of the
field of vision was blank,” Mack recalled in a 1920 Bulletin interview. “If
Danny was looking at you he couldn’t see you with his right eye. His field
of vision was okay around the edges. He could see the second story of the
building behind you and he could see your feet, but your face, at which his
eye was pointed, would not register at all. Naturally he couldn’t see a base-
ball approaching.”

The As slumped. They lost a July 4 doubleheader at home during a
4-game sweep by New York. With the team hovering around .500 in fifth
place, Mack perplexed a Sporting News correspondent by predicting that
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his A’s would finish first. The writer portrayed Mack as reticent and conser-
vative when asked similar questions in the past, but Mack usually expressed
optimism at the start of each season in Philadelphia. During the season he
was more likely to talk up his team’s chances when they were trailing than
when they were in the lead. It was part of his motivating technique.

Casting about for an incentive, Mack promised a new suit to any pitcher
who won three games in a row and a suit for every player if the team won
ten straight. It wasn’t a high-risk offer; a new tuxedo went for $12.50. Eddie
Plank and Rube Waddell were the first winners.

The pennant race was another humdinger. Through August, New York,
Boston, and Chicago swapped the lead, with Cleveland and the Athletics
not far behind. When the A’s returned home on August 18 from a 10-2 west-
ern trip, in which Henley and Waddell won 7 of the games, more than a
thousand fans greeted them at the station. The next day Waddell lost a
heartbreaker—and another new suit—in the eleventh inning, when Monte
Cross picked up a grounder hit by Lajoie and threw it over the first base-
man’s head. Lajoie circled the bases to give Cleveland a 2—1 win.

On Saturday more than eighteen thousand filled Columbia Park and
saw Henley shut out the Naps, 2—0. Only 2 games separated the fourth-
place A’s from the league-leading Highlanders. That’s as close as they came
the rest of the way.

Detroit and Washington were the tailenders—Washington wound up
losing 113 games—and Mack looked forward to gaining ground against
them. He was bitterly disappointed when the Rube showed up on August
25 in one of his “not interested” moods and gave up 10 hits in a 7—2 loss
to the Tigers. Angry and frustrated, Mack went into the clubhouse after
the game and walked over to Rube, who sat on a stool unlacing his shoes.
According to Edgar Wolfe of the Inquirer:

“Mack stopped in front of him and called him every name he could
think of. Mack himself said he never knew so many hard names and per-
sonal insults as he hurled at the Rube could be called up at such short
notice, and through it all Rube just sat with his head bowed soaking it up.
As Mack stopped to get his breath and continue, Rube suddenly looked
up and said, ‘Connie, you ought to been down at the National Theater last
night. I saw the best show I ever saw in my life. Without another word,
Mack turned and left him. As he afterward said in relating this incident,
‘What’s the use?”

Boston-Philadelphia games were the league’s biggest attraction in either
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city. (In ten dates at Columbia Park, Boston and the A’s divided $67,000,
enough to cover both teams’ payrolls.) On Saturday, September 10, at
Columbia Park, more than fourteen thousand watched a pitchers’ duel
between Plank and Cy Young, Plank winning, 1-0, in 13 innings. On Monday
almost twenty thousand packed the park for a doubleheader. An indifferent
Waddell was wild and lost the opener, 6—4. Andy Coakley won the second.

Only Plank and Coakley were consistent in September as the A’s faded,
finishing 12% games out. With three weeks to go Waddell slipped trying
to field a bunt and fell on his shoulder, putting him out of action for two
weeks. Even so, he started 46 games, completed 39 of them, and worked
383 innings—all team records. His 349 strikeouts stood as the major league
record for sixty-one years.

Mack cited the loss of Hoffman and the injuries to Harry Davis, even
more than Bender’s illnesses and Waddell’s lapses, as the main blows to the
team’s pennant chances. Out of the race, he let Bender remain in Detroit to
marry Marie Clement on October 3. The newlyweds, with three new shot-
guns, went on a hunting honeymoon to South Dakota.

Danny Hoffman came back and played in the last three games. He
was gun-shy at the plate and would never again be the player Mack once
described as “a world beater,” second only to Cobb. But Connie Mack
didn’t give up on him right away. On October 10, in a game in Washington
that fading light limited to five innings, the score was 3—3 in the top of the
fourth. Hoffman was due up with the go-ahead run on base. Everybody on
the bench, including Hoffman, expected Mack to pinch hit for him. Mack
did nothing but call out words of encouragement to Hoffman, who flied
out to end the inning. Later he explained his thinking to Wolfe:

“There was a valuable player that I had to help get his nerve back. If I had
taken him out just to win that ball game he would have known that I didn’t
have confidence in his ability to produce, and this would have resulted in
a further loss of confidence in himself. It would have ruined him forever. I
would rather have lost that ball game than be the cause of a player further
losing confidence in himself. Because he is getting his confidence back, he
will win a lot of games for me even though he lost that one.”

New York and Boston took the pennant race down to the last day, when
Jack Chesbro, seeking his forty-second win of the year for New York, took
his twelfth loss instead, as a result of what manager Clark Griffith always
maintained was catcher Red Kleinow’s passed ball, not a wild pitch by
Chesbro. The National League race had been over since the Fourth of July,
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after the Giants won 18 in a row. McGraw and Brush refused to play any
postseason games against an American League team.

Putting a stronger team in New York had doubled that club’s attendance
over 1903. Even without Sunday games, Boston and Philadelphia went over
a half million, almost matching Chicago, which had a Sunday advantage.

Beginning in September, Connie Mack signed or was reported signing
enough players who never made it to man an entire league. Some were
conditional purchases with a thirty-day return option. He was thwarted in
attempting to draft outfielder Otis Clymer from Buffalo when the Pirates
announced that they had bought him before the draft window opened.
Mack launched a blistering attack on the practice of major league teams
protecting a minor league club from losing a player by buying the player,
then selling him back after the draft closed. Once again Mack’s views were
influenced by where he sat. As a minor league operator in Milwaukee, he
had regularly made similar arrangements with Louisville and been chided
by the newspapers for it.

Connie Mack’s relations with the press were almost always cordial, respect-
ful on both sides, warming over the years into fondness, approaching awe
among younger writers, reverence among those who grew old with him.
He was always good for a story to help fill a columnist’s needs. The older
he became, the greater his inventory of stories grew. But beginning in
Pittsburgh and intensifying in Milwaukee, he built up a deep dislike for
being misquoted and was particularly peevish when he saw himself saying
things in print that he had never said. Premature or unconfirmed reports
of trades or player signings irked him. He hated it when holdouts negoti-
ated through the newspapers and writers threw speculative salary figures
around as if they knew what they were talking about.

During the 1904 season reports that he had purchased a shortstop named
Pastor from Nashua touched off this snappish response: “You never have
heard me say that we had Pastor. Wait until I say that we have signed Pastor
before you claim that he is an Athletic.”

Pastor never was signed.

At the league meetings in December in Chicago, Mack was interviewed
by a reporter who quoted him as being critical of the Phillies’ out-of-
town ownership. The Phillies had lost 100 games, finished last, averaged
about two thousand customers per home date, and filed for bankruptcy.
In November the sheriff moved to auction off their assets, equipment,
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and lease on the grounds at Broad and Huntingdon. When Mack saw his
alleged remarks in print, he fired off a wire to the paper vehemently deny-
ing he had said any such thing.

E C. Richter backed him, doubting that Mack had said what was attrib-
uted to him. “Mack minds his own business about as well as anybody in
baseball,” he wrote in Sporting Life.

In the fall of 1904 Connie Mack decided to move the rest of his family from
East Brookfield to Philadelphia. He had earlier moved to larger quarters on
the other side of Columbia Park, at 2937 Columbia Avenue, and brought
his younger brother Eugene to live with him and manage his bowling alleys.
He was now in a position to provide his mother with a life of ease, with no
housework or cooking chores. On October 21 he was in Worcester to attend
the funeral of his Uncle Patrick’s wife Ellen. While there, he discussed his
idea with his mother.

Mary McGillicuddy was now sixty-three, small, spry, showing no signs
of her earlier “near-death” condition. She had a full round face, a high
forehead crowned by a nimbus of white hair. Her old-country brogue had
disappeared. She was undaunted by the prospect of managing her son’s
household. A city girl at heart, she welcomed the change and became a reg-
ular at the games, sitting behind the home team’s bench, wearing a green
cap with a visor shading her eyes, scorecard in hand, watching the action
with no show of emotion. Whenever she returned to East Brookfield to
visit her old friends, she spoke of how much she enjoyed living in the city
and how proud she was of her son Connie.

Tom’s daughter Helen, who was eight when her grandmother died,
remembered her fondly. “Grandma Mack was like all the rest of us Macks.
She had a lovely disposition, but was somewhat of a disciplinarian in that
she was honest beyond belief and expected her family to be the same.
Liquor and smoking were not tolerated.

“I felt a real warm loving grandmother feeling about her. Once I caught
the whooping cough while I was [visiting] there and every time I coughed,
she said, ‘God bless you. You can imagine how many times I was blessed.”

Mack’s sons Roy, sixteen, and Earle, fourteen, had probably gone no far-
ther than the eighth grade. There was nothing for them in the Brookfields.
Earle, shorter and stockier than his father, caught for the town team and
showed some potential as a ballplayer. Roy, the smaller of the two, was an
infielder. Mack’s daughter, Marguerite, was twelve.
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Returning to Philadelphia, Mack looked for a larger home to accom-
modate the family. He bought a three-story house at 2930 Oxford Street,
opposite the home plate entrance to Columbia Park, and had it renovated
from top to bottom. When the family moved in February, Mack transferred
the title to the East Brookfield house to his brother Tom.

No school records could be found, but gleanings from sports pages of
the time indicate that Roy and Earle attended Central High School, one of
the most prestigious schools in the city. A 1906 school team roster shows
a shortstop Mack, class of "09. If this was Roy, he was a freshman at seven-
teen. It may have been Earle, who was an all-scholastic catcher in 1907-1908.
Mack asked the Shibes to make a small duplicate of Osee Schrecongost’s
mitt for Earle. At sixteen he was warming up Rube Waddell at Columbia
Park and being tutored by Schreck. Roy reportedly transferred to Central
Manual, where he played second base. They both played for a semipro team
in Atlantic City in the summer of 1908. In February 1909 Mack sent Earle
to a prep school connected with Niagara University, then to Notre Dame,
where he didn’t stay long. By the spring of 1910 Earle would leave the aca-
demic world and begin a career as a baseball lifer.

Connie Mack’s brother Dennis remained a problem. Mack gave him a
job taking tickets at the games. Dennis also worked the gate at shows and
circuses. Once Connie set him up in a tobacco shop, but little of his income
made it home. Dennis’s pledges to the parish priest to lay off the booze
might last three months. Then he’d go off on a toot. The elephants he saw
were not white but pink. They drove him into an institution at least once.
A convivial fellow, Dennis was friendly with some of Connie’s players, to
Connie’s chagrin. An expert with a pool cue, Dennis would go with Danny
Murphy and Chief Bender to pool rooms, where they’d bet on him against
some mark. Then they’d finish the night at Joe Armstrong’s saloon.

Dennis’s son Cornelius, who went by the name of Neil, remembered
how, as a five-year-old, he would sit on the stairs watching Bender and
Murphy deposit his father in the front room “and he had the prs and said
he saw rats all over the place.

“When we were at the supper table and he’d come in, my mother would
tell me to ‘watch the cup’ where her household money was kept. He would
drink away the whole household. One day my sister Mary told my father
he should stop drinking. He said, ‘Mary, you're a pretty little thing but you
got a big mouth.”

An exasperated Connie threatened to send the whole family back to East
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Brookfield. Annie got down on her knees and begged him not to do that.
He relented and continued to subsidize the family, which now included
four girls and a boy. Annie would give birth to another boy in 1906. Every
month two checks arrived at the house, one for the rent and one for food.

Despite their enduring portrayals as penny-pinchers, Connie Mack
and Clark Griffith supported vast arrays of relatives of more than one
generation throughout their working lives. And no down-on-his-luck
former player ever left their offices empty-handed. When Mack learned
that his old Shadow Battery mate, Frank Gilmore, was “not in the best
of circumstances” in 1921—thirty-three years after they had last played
together—Mack took his team to Hartford to play an exhibition game, the
A’s share of the receipts going to Gilmore.

One day in 1904 Al Maul, a Philadelphian whose fifteen-year pitching
career had ended in 1901, came looking for a job. Mack had caught the
journeyman right-hander in a few games in Pittsburgh in 1891. He hired
Maul to guard the entrance to the upper pavilion at Columbia Park and to
help out at the bowling alleys during the winter. Maul later scouted for him
and remained on the payroll for forty years.
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“Was there ever a manager more serene in defeat under aggravating cir-
cumstances than Connie Mack?” wrote E. C. Richter. “In that particular
he resembles the late Harry Wright more than any managers we have
known.”

At forty-two, with ten years as a manager behind him, Connie Mack
may not have achieved serenity in defeat, but he had subdued his temper.
Subdued, but never mastered. When the circumstances were aggravating
enough or when he believed he had been wronged, he could fire off a bar-
rage of sarcasm, no less sharp for being softly delivered. With maturity had
come the difficult art of maintaining emotional equilibrium, an attribute
essential to the health and longevity of all baseball managers—the capac-
ity to savor good times without getting too high and endure the bad times
without getting too low. He had learned to accept the inevitable losses, as
often as 40 percent of the time for the best teams, 60 percent or more for
the worst. He had acquired patience with players’ mistakes, especially those
of youngsters who needed time to develop.

Something old and something new were discussed at length at the
American League meeting in Chicago in December 1904. The old was a
renewed effort to get rid of the foul strike rule. Two old allies, Comiskey
and Mack, were on opposite sides of the issue. Comiskey argued that the
league was doing well and the fans seemed satisfied with the way the game
was being played, so why change anything. Mack still didn’t like it and tried
once more to kill it. Although there was sentiment to do something to
boost offense in the game, Mack failed to gain enough support and never
brought it up again.

A letter from Garry Herrmann suggested something new: interleague
play. Herrmann proposed that each league adopt a 112-game schedule, fol-
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lowed by home-and-home series between the clubs of the two leagues. The
idea drew a unanimous thumbs down around the table. They all agreed,
however, to a proposed championship series between the two pennant
winners, administered by the National Commission.

When the meeting adjourned, Mack and John Shibe went in search of
a new training site. They went first to Mobile, Alabama, where Mack had
made a tentative deal to use the city’s Monroe Park. When they saw it, they
didn’t like it and moved on. They headed for Texas, stopped in Shreveport,
liked what they found, and went no farther. A few weeks later Mack received
an invitation from a wealthy Cuban to train in Havana, all expenses paid.
He was tempted; spring training was no moneymaker. But it was too late.
He had signed a lease in Shreveport.

Philadelphia writer Ed Pollock placed the oft-told crackers-in-bed story
as occurring that winter. Mack, he related, tried to get Rube Waddell’s sig-
nature on a 1905 contract for weeks without success. One day the Rube
showed up at Mack’s office. Asked what was bothering him, Waddell
squirmed and didn’t answer.

“Is it money?” Mack asked.

No, it wasn’t about money.

Well, what was it, Mack coaxed.

“It’s Schreck,” Rube blurted out. “You shouldn’t let him eat animal crack-
ers in bed. You should put that in his contract.”

Roommates still shared one bed on the road, and the crumbs had appar-
ently been rubbing Rube the wrong way.

Mack assured him he would take care of the problem. Rube signed. Mack
sighed and put the contract in the safe. In other versions of the story as told
by Mack, it was Schreck who made the complaint about Rube. Maybe they
were both guilty. Charles Dryden wrote that Waddell complained about
Schreck’s “pizzazz” sandwiches— Limburger cheese and raw onions on rye
bread —but they probably both enjoyed them. Anything was possible with
that pair.

On January 25,1905, a blizzard hit Philadelphia, the temperature dropped
near zero, and Mack was felled by the grippe, as the flu bug was then called.
A letter from Chief Bender didn’t aid his recovery. Bender had been sepa-
rated from his appendix in December. There were complications. He would
miss spring training.

Mack climbed out of his sickbed to attend the first baseball writers’
dinner, a gala event in the Bellevue-Stratford’s elegant Clover Club din-
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ing room, on February 13. Invitations were limited to 150. The room was
decorated with the 1902 pennant and a huge white elephant banner. Ben
Shibe provided souvenir baseballs with the names of the honored guests,
Connie Mack and Billy Shettsline, stamped on them, and small bats that
made a clatter when used to applaud a speaker. The legal scraps and differ-
ences of the past were forgotten as Shibe, Al Reach, and Col. Rogers dined
together on caviar, gumbo, planked sirloin steak, rum omelets, champagne,
and imported beer. Every writer present made a brief speech as the room
filled with cigar smoke.

When Mack’s turn came, he made no mention of his own team. He
graciously lauded Billy Shettsline’s efforts to restore the Phillies to health,
wished them well in 1905, and sat down.

On March 1 the Athletics boarded the L&~ express for New Orleans.
They were accompanied by Sam Erwin, a liquor distributor who lived
two houses from Mack at 2934 Oxford. Erwin was seventy-two, a one-
time handball champion, and an old friend of Ben Shibe’s. An investor
in the Philadelphia Players’ League and American Association teams, he
was one of the first baseball men Mack had met in Philadelphia. While
filling in as manager of an Athletics’ reserves team barnstorming through
Pennsylvania in 1888, he had heard pitcher Mike Mattimore refer to the
players as “Yannigans.” Erwin picked it up and applied it to the rookie or
second-string teams he would manage for Mack every spring. There are
accounts of earlier uses of the term, but not much earlier.

Another newcomer on the train was Frank Newhouse, ostensibly a
trainer but whose duties were more those of a watchdog over Rube Waddell.
A former boxer, Newhouse trained several prominent pugilists of Mack’s
acquaintance.

The A’s arrived at the height of Mardi Gras week in New Orleans. Mack fig-
ured on stopping there to work out for a day, then get in a few lucrative prac-
tice games before moving on to Shreveport. Through newspaper and maga-
zine stories, Rube Waddell had become a national celebrity. The March 2 New
Orleans Daily States noted, “Rube Waddell has never visited New Orleans;
everybody is anxious to see him in action. His performances on and off the
diamond have made his name a celebrated one all over the country.”

Due to arrive on the morning of Friday, March 3, the train was delayed
for eight hours by a freight train wreck that left the players no time to
limber up before the weekend exhibitions. On Saturday President Teddy
Roosevelt’s inauguration went better than Rube’s New Orleans debut, the
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A’s losing, 72, to a local nine. The team stayed at the St. Charles Hotel, an
immense step up from the fleabag facilities baseball had been consigned
to just a few years earlier. One of the nation’s largest and grandest hotels,
the six-story St. Charles housed more than a thousand guests. It featured
a promenade, palm garden, billiard room, Turkish baths, and barber shop.
The dining room, furnished with Queen Anne chairs and white linen table-
cloths, offered the best dinner in the city for fifty cents. It was also said to be
the scene of one of Osee Schrecongost’s earlier hammer-and-nails tough
steak protests, requiring Mr. Mack to turn on his best Gaelic charm to per-
suade the management to permit his team to stop there.

The Young Men’s Gymnastic Club made its facilities available for
the players to shower and change before and after the games at nearby
Sportsman’s Park. All in all, it was the ultimate in spring training comfort
and luxury.

Looking ahead to the 1905 season, Connie Mack hoped to lower the age
of his lineup. At the December league meeting in Chicago, he tried to trade
thirty-five-year-old Monte Cross to Washington for shortstop Joe Cassidy,
a former high school star in nearby Chester. The deal fell through. Mack
then offered $7,000 for Cassidy and was turned down.

But for all Mack’s signing of young players, his veteran squad included
only three rookies who would make the team. When Harry Davis was
sidelined with a broken hand in 1904, Mack had sent him scouting. Davis
came up with a recent graduate of Central High in Philadelphia, a short-
stop and third baseman, Jack Knight. Mack signed him. On the recom-
mendation of Harrisburg Athletic Club manager Jesse Frysinger, he signed
two Pennsylvanians, outfielder Bris Lord, twenty-one, and catcher Harry
Barton, twenty.

Barton received a thorough look, as Schreck missed most of the camp.
First his father’s death called him home. When he returned, he learned of
his sister’s death and had to go back to Pennsylvania again. But the five-
foot-six Barton was too light on the scale and with the bat and didn’t last.

Bris Lord quickly demonstrated the strongest arm among Mack’s out-
fielders, but his inexperience showed at the plate.

Mack was impressed with the rangy, six-foot-two Knight’s fielding and
baseball instincts, but he had his doubts whether Knight would hit enough
to stick. The schoolboy enjoyed a memorable St. Patrick’s Day, hitting a
3-run home run in the first inning off Rube Waddell for the Yannigans.
That evening they all enjoyed a local production of A Rollicking Irish Lad.
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For the past three years, Andy Coakley had joined the team after the sea-
son started. This was his first training camp. Fifty years later, in an inter-
view pocked with a few memory lapses, Coakley recalled the calm, busi-
nesslike atmosphere:

“Nobody on our club gave me the business. I was treated the way any
ballplayer would want to be treated . .. and the funny part was that the two
toughest men on the club, by reputation, Waddell and Schreck, were prob-
ably our best friends.” In fact, Coakley said, Rube wanted to be his room-
mate, “but I balked when I found the Rube sitting at the foot of the bed one
night with two revolvers pointing at his reflection in the mirror and talking
about his control.”

Commenting on the game’s earlier reputation for being populated by
drunken rowdies, Coakley estimated that no more than a half dozen of the
twenty-five players in camp were tipplers.

Charles Comiskey also spoke of the changes in the game that spring.

There was a time back in the ’8os when any ballplayer who was any-
thing of a star was made a hero of. The female following simply went
wild over their pets. They spoiled the players and behaved in all kinds
of foolish ways. The ballplayer was head and shoulders more popu-
lar than the matinee idol. Now the cities in the major leagues have
grown bigger and the crowds do not go crazy over ballplayers. Now
fully ninety percent of the ballplayers save their money. It has become
a legitimate business and the men are of a higher class. Many are
college men and almost all are gentlemen. . . . Managers of the big
leagues find that in recent years they get few calls for advance money.
A player will be ordered to report by a certain date and he will get
on a train and ride to the point of reporting. He never bothers about
asking for car fare. He has saved it from the year previous.

Of course there were exceptions, and Rube Waddell was one of them.
But Rube was an exception to just about all the rules of grownup behavior.
Rube behaved himself most of the time in Shreveport. He seemed to be
on friendly terms with all of the town’s thirty thousand inhabitants. There
were no parades to distract him, though he did work a stint as the trum-
pet player on a local tramway. And he did fall off the wagon at least once,
according to Andy Coakley:

“Waddell went out on the town one night and wound up in the hoose-
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gow. Some of the older players got in touch with the sheriff. Next morning
he told Rube he’d been sentenced to the chain gang and proceeded to put
the irons on him. Rube roared like a gored bull. The sheriff let him go on
for a while before breaking the news it was a put-up job.”

Each player came to camp with one uniform and wore it for every work-
out and practice game. “You can imagine what they looked like after we'd
played a few exhibitions on the way north in the red-clay whistle stops,”
Coakley said, “ but who cared? We were ballplayers, not clothes horses.”

One thing about the uniform irritated Coakley: the standup collar that
chafed his neck. “In desperation one day I turned the collar inside my shirt
and Lave Cross said to me, ‘Andy, you know, one of these days they’ll make
’em like that.”

Anticipating capacity crowds once the season began, city building
inspectors had ordered new joists installed under the bleachers at Columbia
Park. The playing field was raised six inches and resodded, the grandstand
painted, folding chairs renovated. Nearly fifteen thousand baseball-starved
addicts showed up for the April 1 opener of the city series. Chief Bender,
despite his lack of conditioning, seemed in midseason form, blanking the
Phillies, 4—o0.

Connie Mack opened the season with his usual optimism. Asked about
the likely effects of an increased use of the spitball, following Jack Chesbro’s
success with it in 1904, he allowed as how it was not really a new pitch
and expected that “every team will have its Chesbro.” His lack of concern
proved justified. Many pitchers tried it, but few could control it. Those who
couldn’t quickly abandoned it. Besides, managers had taken to smearing
balls with various peppery or sticky substances before giving them to the
umpire when a spitballer was pitching for the visitors.

The home opener against Boston on Friday, April 14, had the capacity
crowd of fifteen thousand gnawing their fingernails at the end. Bender out-
pitched Cy Young and took a 3—o two-hitter into the ninth. Boston scored
twice and had the bases loaded with 2 outs before Bender struck out pinch
hitter Bob Unglaub. Early in the game Monte Cross suffered a broken hand
when he was hit by a pitch while trying to bunt. This thrust young Jack
Knight into action long before Mack wanted to use him. Knight hit better
than expected for a while—he was actually leading the league at .407 on
May 1.

In the second game Boston jumped on Andy Coakley for an early 51
lead. Mack sent Waddell in to relieve him in the fourth; the A’s came back
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and won it in the ninth. This began a new pattern for Mack. He displayed
less patience with a pitcher’s wobbly start and used a quicker hook than
most managers of the time. Except for a weak New York staff, the A’s would
have the fewest complete games in the league that year. Mack didn’t hesitate
to call on Bender and Waddell for double duty, using each out of the bull-
pen twelve times in 1905. And it worked. Bender was 7-1 in relief, Waddell
8-0. In six years with the A’s, Waddell never lost a game in relief.

This was a departure from the way the game had been played. “Old
school” pitchers like Cy Young didn’t like the new strategy. They favored
keeping the starter on the slab and giving him a chance to “pull himself
together.”

Mack also disdained using his pitchers in a fixed rotation, preferring to
match them against certain teams. “I do not use them in turn,” he said, “but
when I think they’re best.”

On April 21 the A’s helped attract a record 18,344 to Boston’s home
opener. Shut out on 1 hit until the eighth, they scored 5 runs for a 5—4 win.
Waddell, relieving Coakley, fanned 5 in the last 2 innings. The A’s early
success against their 1904 nemesis boosted Mack’s morale. He probably cel-
ebrated by going to see his friend George M. Cohan starring in Little Johnny
Jones at the Hollis Street Theater that night. Three nights later both teams
occupied box seats as guests of the management for the musical Floradora
at the Majestic. The lively theater scene and the chance to see family and
old friends in the area made Boston Mack’s favorite stop in the circuit. He
invariably left passes for delegations from East Brookfield, relatives, and
pseudo-relatives. He was especially attentive to groups of youngsters from
his birthplace, sometimes inviting them to join him for lunch before the
game or dinner afterwards.

Nobody pulled away from the pack in the first month, six teams taking
turns in first place. From then to August 1 Cleveland and Chicago swapped
the lead back and forth, the A’s trailing by a few games in third.

Connie Mack’s following among the priesthood sometimes seemed to
pay him a greater reward than a tip on a player. One day in May they were
scheduled to board the Western Express to start a road trip. Hours before
their departure, Fr. McCarty, a priest at St. Peter’s in Reading, asked Mack
if the A’s could stop off and play an exhibition game for the church build-
ing fund. Fr. McCarty’s parents had been neighbors of the Macks in East
Brookfield and owned the house the Macks rented. The priest’s mother
had been at Mary Mack’s bedside when Connie was born. Mack couldn’t
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turn him down. He notified the players of the change in plans. They grum-
bled about the extra game, but it saved them from a fiery train wreck when
the Express hit another train near Harrisburg and exploded.

Rube Waddell stayed behind to have a small tumor removed from his
chin. It didn’t slow him down. He won 10 in a row, taking his first loss on
June 9,3—2,1in 14 innings to Chicago. He was giving up fewer than 7 hits per 9
innings. When he lost it was usually walks and his own fielding mishaps that
beat him. And when he blew up, it was Vesuvian. In a game in Washington
on June 28, he turned a 2—o lead into a 6—3 loss in a 6-run eighth, the last
run forced in on 3 straight walks. A Washington Post writer commented that
Rube was “a great quitter when things are breaking badly.”

Coakley and Weldon Henley were inconsistent. A no-hitter on July 22
was the highlight of Henley’s season; he won only 4 games all year. Bender
now suffered off and on with a kidney ailment. That left Waddell and Plank
to do most of the pitching. The A’s were last in hitting and fielding in the
early going. Mack platooned Bris Lord in place of Danny Hoffman against
left-handers. Schreck and Harry Davis carried the team. Schreck caught
almost every game, especially when Doc Powers split a finger. In mid-July
the New York Highlanders were short-handed from injuries. They had no
catcher. Nobody in the league objected when Mack loaned Doc Powers to
Clark Griffith. It was not an uncommon courtesy. There may have been
some “sale” paperwork to cover the transaction, but everybody knew it for
what it was. With Powers, the Highlanders won 12 in a row.

The A’s pitching began to improve in July. On Tuesday, July 4, in Boston,
Plank started the morning game with almost nine thousand early birds on
hand. He felt ill after the third inning. Mack rushed in Coakley, who took a
5—2lead into the ninth. With 2 on and 1 out, Mack called on Waddell to close
it out. The Rube, who was scheduled to start the afternoon game, retired
the last two batters. The use of three pitchers in a game was rare enough for
writers to credit “Connie Mack’s brainwork” for the A’s triumph.

That afternoon Waddell started against Cy Young. Boston scored 2 in the
first. The A’s tied it in the sixth when Lord singled and Davis hit one of his
league-leading 8 home runs. None of the 12,666 spectators went home as
the two pitchers matched zeroes from the seventh through the nineteenth
inning. In the top of the twentieth the A’s scored twice on 2 errors, a hit
batter, and a single by Hoffman. Waddell held on for the 4—2 win. He had
walked 4 and struck out 11. Young had not walked a man. Game time was
three hours and thirty-one minutes.
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Waddell guessed he’d thrown 250 fastballs, shoots, raises, and drops. (It’s
not unlikely; Hugh Fullerton claimed he once counted 211 pitches thrown
by Waddell in a game.) Years later Young recalled:

[Rube] was at his best that day and had all our many left-hand batters
swinging like so many old women. On the other hand, the Athletics
were always threatening to put me off watch. . .. How did I feel when
the scrap was over? Well, I thought it was all right until T hit the club-
house. Then I all but keeled over.

When I sat down and tried to get up it was as if there was a pain
in every bone in my body. Then, when I tried to take off my shoes
I hardly had strength to untie the laces. And what do you think the
Rube was doing?

There he was on the other side of the clubhouse turning flip-flops
and smoking a cigarette.

The hit batter in the twentieth inning was Jack Knight, whose hand was
broken by the pitch. Monte Cross, downed on opening day by an identical
injury, was now ready to go back into action. Mack was happy he had been
unable to trade away the veteran.

Men were men and arms were arms in those days. Schreck caught all 29
innings that day, still the major league record. Three days later both pitch-
ers were on the slab again in Philadelphia. This time the game went only
10 innings, the A’s winning, 2-1, on a Hoffman single. Mack’s careful cul-
tivation of Hoffman’s confidence following his beaning was bearing fruit.
Rube would have gone all the way, but he hurt his hand trying to stop a
ground ball in the seventh. The hand swelled up; after giving up a leadoff
single in the eighth, he had to come out. Bender finished it.

This run of exciting action and the closeness of the pennant race—1%
games separating three teams—must have inspired every baseball fan in
the city to be at Columbia Park for the following Saturday’s doubleheader
against Boston. Hours before the two o’clock game time, more than twenty-
five thousand tickets had been sold. Thousands of frustrated fans banged
on the locked gates, while more adventurous hordes clambered over the
outfield fences. The nervous head cashier scooped up all the receipts,
stuffed them into bags, called for a police escort, and took them across the
street to Sam Erwin’s house for safekeeping.

Joe Schroeder’s grounds crew circled the entire field with ropes, leaving
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thirty feet of open space behind the infield and three feet along both foul
lines and behind home plate. Foul balls drilled into the crowd knocked off
hats and bruised limbs. At least four dozen balls were pocketed, as little
effort was made to retrieve them.

Eddie Plank started the first game. Bender relieved him in the fourth.
Both were hit hard, but no stats for the day should be counted against the
pitchers. The confined playing area resulted in a total of 63 hits in the two
games. It was not responsible for one hit, Harry Davis’s long home run that
landed on Columbia Avenue.

The crowd behind the ropes kept jostling for a better view. Fights broke
out amid the pushing and trodding on neighbors’ feet. Like an incoming
tide, the mob knocked down the ropes and gradually crept toward the
infield, forcing the outfielders toward the bases. With 2 out in the bottom
of the fourth, Schreck doubled. Bender walked. Hartsel hit a fly ball into
the crowd that by now had reached the edge of the infield dirt. At that
point umpire Silk O’Loughlin stopped the game, climbed to the rooftop
press box, called for police reinforcements, and in his trademark orotund
delivery ordered the crowd to move back so the game could continue. It
took thirty minutes to push everybody back and put up the ropes again.

The game ended, an 11-8 Boston win, on an appropriately bizarre note.
Bender, the last batter in the ninth, was ejected while at bat for throwing
dirt on the umpire. Harry Barton completed his at bat.

Because of the delay in the action, no time out was taken between games.
They managed to play eight innings before darkness ended the A’s 11—4 vic-
tory. The week’s events—the A’s winning 5 of 7 from Boston before huge
crowds in both cities—were followed by a letdown. They played raggedly
on the next western trip but bounced back swiftly from each brief slump.
Henley had his only effective stretch of pitching during the trip, but Waddell
turned wild and erratic, throwing away games in Detroit and St. Louis.

Chicago, Cleveland, and Philadelphia were virtually tied for the lead
when the A’s launched a stretch of 9 straight games against the White Sox,
5 at the end of the western trip and 4 at home beginning July 29. Plank
launched the series in Chicago with a 2-hit 1—o masterpiece, his thirteenth
win. After winning 4 with 1 tie in the first 8 games, the A’s were in position
to take the lead on Wednesday, August 2. A good weekday crowd of nine
thousand groaned when the erratic version of the Rube showed up and
staked the White Sox to a first-inning 3-run lead with 4 walks, a bunt single,
and a hit batter, while he struck out the side. Then the real Rube emerged
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and shut them down the rest of the way on 3 hits, striking out a total of 14.
The A’s got 2 back in the first on a Danny Hoffman home run and 3 singles,
took a 43 lead in the third on Socks Seybold’s 2-run homer, and ended the
day at the top of the standings.

Throughout his life Connie Mack kept in close touch with his old friends
in East Brookfield. Shortly after the A’s went into first place, Mack received
a letter from four of his 1883 teammates:

“We’re watching your ball score every day. We wish you the best success
and sincerely hope you will succeed in your masterly efforts to win the
championship.”

It was signed William A. Fitzpatrick, George H. Ensworth, John D.
Morgan, and Fred Mann.

It was also a lifelong characteristic of Connie Mack to answer his per-
sonal mail as promptly as his most urgent business correspondence. He
immediately replied.

Friend Tick:

Your letter at hand. Am more than pleased to hear from my old
friends. It seems good to be remembered by those with whom you
have been associated in years gone by and to know that they are with
you in spirit if nothing more.

I would like to win this year as the honor of playing for the world’s
championship comes but once in a lifetime. Our boys are confident of
winning and we have at this stage the best chance.

With very best wishes,
I remain, your old pal,
Connie Mack

Connie Mack was not envisioning dynasties. Playing once for a world’s
championship seemed a sufficient goal in itself.

The Athletics opened a lead that stayed at 4 or 5 games through August.
Rube Waddell stayed sober and racked up the strikeouts. On August 15 he
fanned 9 in a 5-inning no-hitter. Three days later he relieved Henley in the
ninth of a 3-3 game and worked 7 scoreless innings, striking out 12. He
pitched two games in three days in Cleveland and ran up 43 consecutive

346  The First “Official” World Series



scoreless innings before an error let in a run on September 5 in Boston, a
game he lost, 3—2, in 13 innings, despite another 17 strikeouts.

Eddie Plank was another workhorse, winning 25 of his league-leading 41
starts and 36 complete games. Andy Coakley had settled down and was on
his way to a 20-win season. But Chief Bender was still afflicted with recur-
ring physical problems.

Jimmy Dygert joined the club on August 31. Bought from Utica in 1904
and farmed out to New Orleans, the five-foot-ten right-hander led the
Southern League with a 20-4 record. He escaped the yellow fever epidemic
that hit New Orleans and forced the team to play most of its late-season
games on the road. Dygert was an adept fielder who could throw several
pitches, including the spitter, for strikes.

Andy Coakley pitched a 13-inning, 3—2 win on Thursday, September 7,
in Boston and was given the next day off to visit his family in Providence.
Waddell started on Friday and quickly gave up 2 runs. A nervous Mack
gave Rube an early hook, pinch hitting for him in the third. He sent in
Dygert, who earned his first big league win, 5-3.

The As left Boston with a 4%-game lead. Their train stopped in
Providence, where Coakley waited on the platform, natty as usual in his
straw hat, his rollbag of uniform and spikes under his arm. Labor Day
had passed, the last day for wearing straw hats according to the rules of
fashion. It was traditional for men attending a Labor Day doubleheader to
skim their straw hats onto the field after the last out was made. Those who
didn’t risked having their skimmer grabbed and smashed. This ritual was
religiously observed among ballplayers until well into the 1930s. Rube and
the boys were in high spirits when they boarded the train at Back Bay sta-
tion. They had trashed every straw hat they spied by the time they reached
Providence. Rube saw his next target atop Coakley’s cranium.

What happened next varies in some details according to who’s telling
the story. The action probably took place on the train, not the platform.
Waddell may have gotten off the train to greet Coakley on the platform
while some of his teammates watched from the open door, which tipped
Coakley that something was up. He put his hat under his jacket and dashed
for the door with Rube in hot pursuit. Rube lunged for the hat. Coakley
swerved and the spikes protruding from his uniform roll caught Rube on
the chin. Coakley dropped the roll. Rube rushed at him again and tripped
over it. He fell, hitting his left shoulder against a seat corner. At that point,
Connie Mack, who was in another car, came in and stopped the horseplay.
The players settled down. The card games began.
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According to Coakley, somebody said, “Rube, Andy’s your friend. Shake
hands and kiss and make up.”

Rube replied, “I'll shake hands but I'll be damned if I'll kiss him.”

Neither Mack nor Coakley considered Rube’s fall the cause of his subse-
quent arm trouble.

“It was a hot night,” Mack said, “and the Rube discarded his tie and col-
lar, rolled up his shirt sleeves and sat next to an open window. The next
morning when we reached the North Philadelphia station, the Rube came
up and told me he could not raise his left arm. It was as stiff as a pine
board.

“This genuinely alarmed me, for the Rube always had boasted that he
never had a sore arm in his life and always was quick to twit any pitcher
who complained on that score.

“I firmly believe that the Rube contracted his ailment more from expos-
ing his arm to an open window than from the fall against the car seat.”

For the next few weeks Philadelphia papers were filled with speculation:
was Rube Waddell shamming or really hurting? Some reports claimed that
neither the trainer nor the doctors could find anything wrong with his
shoulder. Rube readily agreed to try every kind of treatment suggested by
the experts, which wasn’t much at the time.

As if the pennant was already in the bag, rumors began that New York
gamblers had gotten to the Rube to lay off the World Series. New York
writer Joe Vila either started or gave credence to the story in his Morning
Sun column, an early example of baseless rumor mongering. Not only were
the tales premature, but there was still a month to go in the pennant race. It
didn’t make sense for gamblers to promise Waddell a big payoff if he didn’t
pitch in the World Series and then have him jeopardize his team’s chances
of even getting into the Series by not pitching for the final month. There
was no evidence to support the rumors, and they were completely contrary
to the nature of the man. Rube Waddell loved center stage, playing to the
audience; the bigger the crowd, the more he reveled in it. He would not
have missed a chance to strut upon the World Series stage, facing the great
Christy Mathewson, for all the money gambled on the Series. Matty would
have inspired Waddell’s mightiest efforts, just as the venerable Cy Young
always did.

“Waddell is childishly tricky, but not crooked,” wrote E. C. Richter in
Sporting Life.

Connie Mack adamantly rejected the idea. “Knowing the Rube as I do,
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I'm positive that he would have shed his life’s blood to be in the Series and
duel with Mathewson. The Rube had his faults, but he was never a coward,
and all the gold in Christendom could never buy him. These ungrounded
and undeserved rumors of scandal mongers were a rank injustice to the
great lefthander”

Certainly nobody knew Rube Waddell better than Connie Mack and his
teammates. None of them believed it. Besides, Mack was too concerned with
winning the pennant to worry about who might pitch in a World Series.

During the next few weeks the White Sox chipped away at the A’s lead,
and it looked as if the phantom New York bribers would have done better
trying to buy off Chicago’s aces, Frank Owen and Nick Altrock. Beginning
September 21, the White Sox won 9 of 11 in Boston and New York and
came into Philadelphia for a three-game series just .003 percentage points
behind the A’s.

On Wednesday, September 27, the day before the Chicago series began,
Henley started against Detroit and was quickly routed. Mack sent Waddell
in to pitch. He threw a half dozen pitches and had nothing. It was obvious
this was not the normal Rube Waddell. Mack replaced him with Bender,
who was not much better.

Still the papers refused to let up on the Rube. Mack continued to defend
him. “Some people have been roasting Waddell, but I can’t do so when I
feel certain he is not faking the extent of his lameness. I'm convinced the
trouble is rheumatism in his shoulder.”

The city was wired with “crucial series” electricity when the White Sox
arrived. The three games would draw 64,620. Every newspaper in town gave
them front page coverage, prompting the Record to remind the club that
it wouldn’t be drawing sellout crowds were it not for the prominent free
publicity from the papers. Both Mack and Billy Shettsline readily acknowl-
edged the importance of the press’s support to the success of their busi-
nesses. (They were too polite to point out that baseball news sold papers.)
Maintaining good relations with the writers was a high priority for them.
Connie Mack had a keen innate sense of public relations and was a master
of its arts. Probably no other city had as close a relationship between its
teams and the press. The Philly writers had hosted the first baseball din-
ner in February, and Mack would return the favor many times. Nor did the
presence of the Inquirer and AP sports editors among the A’s ownership
cool or sour the coverage of rival papers and services.

The ticket windows and gates were closed at Columbia Park hours before
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the first pitch on Thursday, September 28. The crowd behind the outfield
ropes was more orderly than usual. Eddie Plank was at his best, tossing a
3-hitter, two of the hits ordinary fly balls that went beyond the ropes. But
he was locked in a 2—2 tie until the seventh. With Topsy Hartsel on second,
Harry Davis hit a line drive to left. The ball hit Hartsel’s glove, left on the
outfield grass as was the custom, which slowed it enough for Hartsel to
beat Nixey Callahan’s strong throw to the plate. The A’s won, 3—2.

On Friday Bender cruised to an 11—1 win before another overflow crowd.

Mack longed to have a healthy Rube Waddell to put away the White
Sox, and Rube was itching to pitch. On Saturday morning he rushed up
to Mack and excitedly declared that he had been swinging his arms about
to loosen up when he suddenly felt something snap in his shoulder. Mack
was skeptical.

“Put on a mitt and catch me,” Rube begged.

Mack borrowed a mitt and crouched down. Rube appeared to be throw-
ing smoothly and without pain, but his fastballs were coming in with
something less than the usual mustard on them. Unconvinced, Mack called
on Plank again. Before an announced crowd of 25,446, Eddie was wild. He
walked 4, hit 2 batters, gave up 11 hits. The A’s lost, 4-3. They led by 1 game
with a week to go.

Both teams faced seventh- and eighth-place Washington and St. Louis in
the final week. The A’s won 3 in a row from the Browns, while Chicago was
taking 2 out of 3 in Washington. The lead was up to 2 games.

While the White Sox rode the train to St. Louis on Thursday, the A’s
played a doubleheader in Washington. It was the Chief Bender show. He
shut out the Nationals, 80, in the first game. Andy Coakley started the
second and gave up 3 runs in the first 2 innings. Mack had seen enough.
He sent Bender up to pinch hit for Coakley in the third. Bender hit a triple,
then pitched the rest of the game. It was getting dark while the A’s, trailing
7—6, batted in the eighth with 2 out and the bases empty. One more out
and the game would be called because of darkness. They rallied for 3 runs.
Bender then disposed of the Nats in the last of the eighth, and the A’s lead
was up to 3 games. For the day, Bender pitched 15 innings, striking out 14.
He also made 5 hits, including 2 triples and a double, and drove in 7 runs.

The crowded lobby of the Riggs House Hotel swarmed with Philadelphians
who had taken the short train ride to Washington to celebrate the pennant
clinching. One more A’s win or Chicago loss would do it. Several players’
wives were there, along with Schreck’s mother, an avid rooter. Joe Schroeder

350 The First “Official” World Series



puffed on a big cigar and passed out lapel pins of white elephants attached
to blue and white ribbons. Sam Erwin carried a large banner reading
“Champions of 1905” and smaller flags with “Athletics” in white letters on
blue material.

Chief Bender escaped the tumult long enough to take the steam lift to the
top of the Washington Monument for a look around. When he returned,
he was mobbed by admirers. Somebody handed him a twenty-five-cent
cigar. Another fan presented him with two pointer pups.

Mack started Andy Coakley the next day, hoping to make all the cele-
brating official, but the collegian was worn out. He had never started more
than 8 games in his three previous seasons. This was his thirty-first. He
had won 20 and lost 7, good enough to lead the league, but he was out
of gas. The home team teed off on him for 5 hits and 4 runs in the first 2
innings. At that point Mack decided to take another look at Rube Waddell.
Rube’s fastball had some snap to it, but he was obviously rusty. In the next
3 innings he walked 5 and threw 2 wild pitches, but kept the Nats from scor-
ing while the As tied it, 4—4.

In the fifth a huge cheer went up from the folks seated behind the visi-
tors’ bench when the scoreboard showed that St. Louis had scored 5 runs
against Chicago. The Washington pitcher, Cy Falkenberg, was holding the
Athletics in check while the Rube ran into trouble. Walks, a wild pitch, and
errors sent 2 Nats over the plate in the sixth and 1 in the seventh. In the
eighth Waddell was rocked for 4 hits and threw another wild heave. The
Nationals led, 10—4.

Convinced that their own game was lost but the Browns’ 6-1 lead over
Chicago would prevail (the Browns won, 6—2), the A’s rooters contained
their exuberance no longer. To the bewilderment of the Ladies’ Day crowd,
while the Rube was being roughed up in the eighth, the visiting fans broke
out the banners and flags and began whooping it up. Schreck’s mother
draped the championship banner over the railing. They didn’t care if they
had backed into it.

The team’s arrival in Philadelphia at ten thirty that night was greeted by
an immense crowd, so thick it was almost impossible to get through it to
the street. Most of the players went through the baggage room to escape
the throng. Bender and Waddell, aided by a police escort, pushed through
the mob to the streetcars.

Connie Mack took one more look at Waddell the next day. One inning
was enough; the Rube had nothing on the ball. He was through for the year.
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When some of the A’s played a warmup exhibition game in Brooklyn on
the Sunday before the World Series, Waddell played right field and, accord-
ing to the Times, “was very careful about handling and throwing balls.”

In winning the 1905 pennant, Connie Mack may have done his best man-
aging job, measured by getting the most out of what he had to work with.
This was recognized by one Boston writer who commented, “Connie Mack
does not hesitate to change pitchers and use pinch hitters. . . . He has a fair
team but gets the most out of them.”

Tim Murnane saluted Mack in the Boston Globe. “Connie Mack is
regarded as the ablest and most diplomatic manager in baseball. He never
has an unkind word for his players and should any of them have an off day
he knows just what to say that will make them feel better over it. No other
manager could handle Rube Waddell, and Connie has tamed the Rube
down to such a point that he had but little trouble with him any more.
In the science of the game Mack has no equal. Watch the teamwork of the
Athletics and one can see the master hand of Connie Mack.”

The A’s had beaten the teams they had to: 12-9 against Chicago, 15-7 over
Boston (reversing their 9-14 record of 1904), 15-7 against Cleveland.

Their offensive numbers seem modest today. They had no .300 hitters,
but they led the league in runs scored, doubles, and slugging average. The
infield was old but smart. At thirty-two, a healthy Harry Davis played in 143
games, led the league in doubles, home runs, scoring, and rB1. He would
have won the mvp Award had there been one. The thirty-nine-year-old Lave
Cross played almost every game at third base, and Mack called his ability
to execute the hit and run as responsible for the pennant as any other indi-
vidual efforts. Monte Cross, thirty-six, made up for a lack of range with
experience, positioning himself according to the hitter and pitcher. Danny
Murphy was an average second baseman of the time, still learning the game
and the position, made better by those around him. Jack Knight had borne
out Mack’s appraisal of his fielding ability and hitting inability.

Osee Schrecongost caught a league-leading 112 games, for which Mack
rewarded him with a $600 bonus, paid, at Schreck’s request, in $50 install-
ments to make it last through the winter.

Including Joe Myers, a young pitcher Mack tried out in the last game of
the season, he had used only 19 players, the fewest he would ever use.

Mack had kept Rube Waddell in line most of the time. There were no
week-long defections to tend bar or go fishing. His toots were one-night-
ers. He was a robust twenty-eight and recovered quickly. His stinginess in
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allowing baserunners was at its peak. Occasionally his interest waned but
never his willingness to work. He led the league with 26 wins, 46 games,
and 287 strikeouts. He and Plank carried the pitching load when Bender
was ailing. The Chief was strong at the finish, when Coakley tired, Henley
failed, and the Rube’s rheumatism sidelined him in September.

In the National League, the New York Giants coasted to a 9-game margin
over the Pirates. They outhit, outran, and outscored every team in either
league and had all the pitching they needed. They stole 291 bases and led
the league with 39 home runs. Mathewson won 31 and lost 8, his third 30-
win season. Joe McGinnity slipped to 21-15 after two 30-win years. Red
Ames provided a surprising 22 wins against 8 losses.

Of all his teams, John McGraw later called this one his favorite, his best
and smartest. “We did not have a really slow-thinking player on the team.”

Nothing destroys the notion that only one set of qualities defines a success-
ful manager as persuasively as a look at the two most successful skippers of
the Deadball Era. Sons of Irish immigrants, growing up in poor families in
small towns, Connie Mack and John McGraw each would win six pennants
between 1902 and World War I. Yet no two men could be more unalike as
leaders.

They had played against each other in the 1890s, Mack at Pittsburgh and
McGraw with Baltimore. Both had used whatever tricks they could get
away with. McGraw tripped, held, and bumped baserunners at third base.
Mack tipped bats, faked foul tips, and chattered to distract batters behind
the plate.

Each wound up where he belonged. McGraw was made for a city that
offered the company of actors, gamblers, pool sharks, and Wall Street
manipulators in large numbers. He invested in pool rooms and race tracks
and paid off cops for protection. He drank and brawled and saw the inside
of more than one precinct headquarters and courtroom.

The only fisticuffs associated with Connie Mack were the boxing matches
he enjoyed. He seemed to epitomize both the gentility that the Quaker City
aspired to and its blue-collar toughness.

The moniker “Muggsy” befitted McGraw, although he hated the name.
Nothing more intimate than Mr. Mack seemed appropriate for the tall,
soft-spoken gentleman in the high starched collar, and that is how he was
most often addressed by the public and many of his players.

McGraw’s language could turn the air around him blue and sulphurous.
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Mack’s expressions of anger and irritation were not limited to “goodness
gracious,” but he had come to rely more on the needle to make his point.

The two men had some similarities. Both were excellent, but admittedly
not perfect, judges of players. Neither would criticize a player for mak-
ing a fielding error. But they handled mental errors differently. McGraw’s
style was like being whacked with a birch rod before the entire class in a
Dickensian orphanage. Mack’s approach was more like being summoned
to the headmaster’s office in an upper-class prep school.

“Mental lapses, missed signs, and disobeyed orders drove him crazy,”
Travis Jackson, captain of McGraw’s later pennant winners, said. When
those things cost them a game, the Giants sat glumly on their three-legged
stools until McGraw finished his tirade. He didn’t hesitate to tear into a
player in the dugout with the entire team looking on.

Connie Mack preferred to sleep his anger away and seldom went into the
clubhouse after a game. The next day he would impart his lessons privately
to a player whose mistakes had cost them the game.

Both managers valued brains over brawn, although McGraw called most
of the pitches and preferred to do the thinking himself. Christy Mathewson
wrote that the 1904 pennant had been won by McGraw’s ordering every
play from the bench. Mack encouraged his men to be more innovative on
their own. Branch Rickey summed him up: “T understood why [Mack] was
so different from McGraw yet equally masterful in handling men. He was
a pedagogue, a kindly instructor. It was his desire that his players should
learn from him and then think for themselves on the field of play.”

Both were considered by their players to be the best in the business, and
each routinely nominated the other as tops in their industry.

McGraw appeared in three games for the Giants that season; thus every
National League team had a playing manager to some extent, the only time
that would be true in the twentieth century. There were never eight in the
American League.

This first “official” World Series was widely followed. Thirty-eight special
wires were installed for national newspaper coverage. Streets in New York
and Philadelphia were filled with fans outside newspaper buildings, where
megaphone men announced every pitch and play from a platform in front
of a scoreboard or an elaborate mechanical or electrical recreation of the
action. All across the country fans watched bulletin boards and thousands
of tickers chattering out the play-by-play. Stricter standards for roping off
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the outfield limited attendance to under eighteen thousand in Philadelphia.
The Phillies offered the use of their larger facilities to the A’s, who turned
them down. Betting was heavy but not one-sided; the odds stayed around
even money.

The Inquirer offered to put $1,000 in gold into the players’ pool if the
Athletics won the world championship. The North American installed a vic-
tory gong at Fifteenth and Market Streets. It was to sound once for a double,
twice for a triple, three times for a home run. It rarely rang. The Athletics
were a potent late-inning threat, so Mack and Shibe asked Ban Johnson to
start the games at three instead of three thirty to avoid having games short-
ened by the early autumn darkness. The National Commission agreed.

Before the Series began, most of the players from both teams agreed
among themselves to split the players’ pool shares, regardless of who won.
(This practice went on for several years until the National Commission
banned it.) Mathewson and his catcher, Roger Bresnahan, were two who
didn’t go along with it. Three of the A’s also rejected the deal. After the
Series some of the Giants refused to pay up. But the disgruntled A’s were in
no position to squawk. They had nobody to appeal to.

The Giants’ arrival in Philadelphia on the morning of Monday, October
9, equaled the entrance of Roman legions into a conquered city. Led by a
brass band and surrounded by three hundred loyal rooters, they left Broad
Street station in open barouches adorned with small blue and white pen-
nants announcing “New York Champions 1905.” The band led them right
into the lobby of the Continental Hotel, where a crowd of curious local
fans, including many women and children, surged around the players.

When the Giants walked onto the Columbia Park diamond that after-
noon, they looked and acted like world beaters, dressed in new, all-black
uniforms with white lettering and stockings, a startling contrast to the
Athletics’ season-worn, worse-for-wear garb. The Giants believed they were
unbeatable, and it was Christy Mathewson, twice a jumper to the American
League, twice a reneger on AL contracts, who made them feel that way.

Captain Lave Cross met McGraw and the umpires at home plate to confer
on the ground rules before the first pitch. Before they parted, Cross handed
McGraw a small metal white elephant. McGraw took it in good humor.

Mack’s guests on the home team’s bench during the game included New
York manager Clark Griffith, Washington manager Jake Stahl, and Phillies
second baseman Kid Gleason, a longtime friend whose NL career went back
to Mack’s first full year in Washington.
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Connie Mack would have savored a Waddell-Mathewson duel, but
he admitted that it probably wouldn’t have changed the outcome. The
Athletics didn’t look like they could score off Mathewson if they had played
till Christmas. In three games in six days Matty threw 27 shutout innings,
struck out 18, gave up 14 hits and 1 base on balls. After the first game, Mack
said hopefully, “I don’t think Matty can pitch another such game in such
a short time.” But McGraw had sized up every Athletics batter perfectly.
His analysis and Mathewson’s ability to carry it out made him even more
dominant in his next two starts.

Plank and Bender were almost as good. Bender gave up a total of 6 hits in
two starts, a 3—0 win over McGinnity and a 2—o loss to Mathewson. Plank’s
losses were by 3—0 and 1-o.

In the only game that wasn’t close, Coakley’s 9—o loss in Game 3, the A’s
looked as ragged and weary as they felt, making 5 errors.

A rainout of the Wednesday game in Philadelphia gave the players
time to become upset over newspaper reports of 36,000 attendance at the
Tuesday game in New York. The Giants’ official count was 24,992. The
players appointed reps from each team to lodge a complaint, but the sun
came out the next day and dried up the grumbling.

The five-game Series ended on Saturday, October 14, in New York. On the
following Monday the Athletics gathered at Columbia Park, where Connie
Mack announced that the club’s share of the gate—$8,131.49—would be
divided among the players as a bonus. For those who had agreed to the
pooling with the Giants, their $451.75 bonus from the Athletics plus their
$765 from the shared players” pot netted them more than the winners’
shares of $1,142 kept by Mathewson and Bresnahan. The Athletics also
divided $1,000 from the sale of 10,000 souvenir books of player profiles,
written by Charles Dryden and published by the North American.

The city was not finished celebrating. As Connie Mack had written to his
friends, the honor was in playing for the world championship, win or lose.
A half dozen newspapers sponsored a huge parade on Monday, October
23. They invited the Giants to be part of it, and McGraw accepted. The
New Yorkers arrived on the train, enjoyed a festive dinner, and mounted
floats and automobiles for the ride down Broad Street. The parade stepped
off at eight o’clock; the last of the bands reached the end of the line after
midnight. The way was lit by flaming torches. Bicycles, floats, and auto-
mobiles carried players, prize fighters, football and basketball teams.
An elephant covered with a white sheet drew the biggest applause. The
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strollers included 150 Columbia Park employees, led by Joe Schroeder,
mascot Jack Taylor, and a seven-year-old batboy named Jan Garber, who
went on to become a headline orchestra leader for forty years.

Two nights later the Athletics hosted a banquet for two hundred play-
ers, writers, and guests at the Bingham House—a typical nine-course feast
of the time, from oysters to dessert and cigars. Everybody was called upon
to speak. Rube Waddell was reportedly moved to tears as he expressed his
sorrow at not being able to pitch in the World Series.

The toasts were lengthy, but Connie Mack, allotted fifteen minutes, took
less than two, concluding with, “Gentlemen, I am proud of all those flat-
tering remarks, but at that I had not much to do with it at all. We worked
hard, all of us, and were well-supported by the press and the public. They
spurred us on. As for the winning of the pennant, it was the players that
won that, not me.”

John Shibe presented gold watch fobs to the players, who then gave Mr.
Mack a $900 Cunningham self-playing piano. Spokesman Harry Davis
said, “Mr. Mack has treated us like members of his own family. At home or
abroad he always looked after our comfort.”

To which Mack replied, “You can now see why we win pennants.”

The players picked up some additional money barnstorming around the
area for a week, drawing as many as two thousand to some games.

Doc Powers used his World Series share to buy a $4,500 house and
resumed his duties at St. Agnes Hospital.

Osee Schrecongost, looking very big league in flashing diamonds and a
fur-lined overcoat, visited friends with his wife and baby in Youngstown,
where he had played nine years earlier.

Rube Waddell did some vaudeville turns demonstrating the art of pitch-
ing, accompanied by a Great Dane borrowed from former heavyweight
champion Bob Fitzsimmons. He played handball and kept his doctor
appointments and stayed out of trouble.

On the eve of the November 22 league meeting in Chicago, an interview
with Charles Comiskey appeared in the Chicago papers. Comiskey was
still fuming over Johnson’s earlier suspension of White Sox outfielder
Ducky Holmes for “bullyragging” umpires, leaving his team short-handed.
Comiskey blasted Ban Johnson’s leadership and accused him of plotting
to merge the league with the National. Johnson angrily denied the accusa-
tion. Comiskey said he was misquoted, and he wouldn’t have said anything
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if rumors of such a merger had been promptly denied by Johnson. No
other magnates backed him, and when the club owners passed a resolution
reaffirming their support of Johnson and their intention to remain inde-
pendent of the National, Comiskey heartily made it unanimous. Still, it
marked the beginning of a decline in the friendship between the two men.

Six clubs and Johnson favored a 140-game schedule for 1906 if the National
went along with it. The National didn’t, so the course remained 154 games.

Johnson polled the owners for opinions on changes in the rules. Five
advocated doing something to increase batting. Although scoring had
increased, team batting and slugging averages had fallen for the fourth
straight year. There was sentiment for moving the pitcher a foot or two far-
ther back, a suggestion that always came up whenever a lack of offense was
bemoaned. Others suggested three balls for a walk or shrinking home plate
or the strike zone. Connie Mack expressed his satisfaction with the rules as
they were, but after the meeting he boosted Henry Chadwick’s “jackastic”
idea of a designated hitter. The public, he said, would rather watch a supe-
rior batsman than a pitcher whose time at bat is a farce. Mack didn’t see it
as a way to prolong the careers of veterans whose legs were gone. He saw
it as an opportunity to give young players a chance to gain hitting experi-
ence rather than just sitting on the bench. It would give managers more
chances to look over prospects, and nobody looked over prospects more
than Connie Mack. He had an additional reason in mind. On hot days, he
preferred to see his pitchers stay off the bases to conserve their energy for
pitching. Sometimes he ordered them not to swing at any pitches.

Dissenters claimed that Mack’s idea would prevent pitchers from devel-
oping their hitting if they ever wanted to switch to another position.
Besides, these early purists maintained, baseball was supposed to be played
by a nine-man team, not ten. Teach the pitchers how to hit, they said. When
the rules committee met in February, Connie Mack didn’t raise the issue.
The idea resurfaced from time to time but was always turned down as too
drastic a change in the game. The prevailing sentiment was, “Leave well
enough alone.”

The Athletics had drawn bigger crowds than any team in the city’s history.
Business was good; the future looked bright. Columbia Park would have
to be expanded again to accommodate the customers. The Phillies, under
Mack’s former ally, Hugh Dufty, were also improving, having climbed to
fourth. They would offer more competition at the gate next year.

And the A’s were another year older.
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32 | REBUILDING BEGINS

Age was not the only problem with Connie Mack’s infield. There was dis-
cord. Lave Cross was Mack’s captain, but Harry Davis was the manager’s
primary counsel. That irked Cross and may have been behind the fuss he
had made over accepting the $500 captain’s bonus in 1902. When Davis
had been injured and gone scouting for Mack in 1904, Cross asked him
one day if he’d found anybody. “Yes,” Davis replied, ribbing Cross. “I found
a man [Jack Knight] to take your place at third.” Cross took it in fun at
the time, but it had him looking over his shoulder at his likely replace-
ment while Knight subbed for Monte Cross at shortstop in 1905. Danny
Murphy’s clumsy efforts at second base irked the captain too, and he was
not diplomatic in letting Murphy know it.

Connie Mack respected and appreciated Lave Cross’s contributions to
the Athletics’ success. Lave had been with him from the start, had played
hurt, missing only four games (all in 1905) in the last four years. But he
would be forty in May. Washington Nationals manager Jake Stahl knew
that Cross was unhappy. He approached Mack, who told him he would
not take any money for Cross nor trade him to any team unless Cross was
satisfied with the terms. Cross agreed to play for Washington. Mack was
still interested in the Nationals’ young shortstop, Joe Cassidy, but Jake Stahl
wouldn’t give him up. (Two months later Cassidy died at twenty-three from
malaria.) So Mack let Lave Cross go to Washington and received nothing
in exchange. There was no bitterness in the parting; when friends of Lave’s
held a planked shad testimonial dinner for him on April 10, all the Athletics
were there. Cross had lost his championship gold watch fob, and the play-
ers presented him a new one.

Unlike today, when few teams even bother with a captain, the position
was an important one at the time. Soon after Mack named Harry Davis to
replace Lave Cross, Davis described the duties in the North American:
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Placing players in the field correctly according to the batter and the
pitcher. The captain calls the player who is to take a fly ball. Must
watch his pitcher closely to see when the time is ripe for a change, or
when the twirler needs a moment or two to collect himself. He should
create opportunities for the men to pull themselves together when
they have become confused. He must be able to anticipate the wishes
of the manager in order that valuable time not be lost and valuable
points given to his opponents by his running to the bench to receive
information. The captain must also watch the play of his opponents
in the field in order to impart to his players any weakness he may
discover or to the umpire any infringement of the rules by opposing
players. The captain should be on the coaching lines as much as pos-
sible to give his players the benefit of his knowledge and observation.

When he wasn’t batting, the captain often coached at first base. With the
A’s, the third base coach was chosen more for his ability to read pitchers
and pick up catchers’ signs than for directing base-running traffic.

Some managers acted as their own captains, but Connie Mack relied on
his captain in all the ways that Davis described. Mack ordered the pitching
changes, but Davis presided over them.

Monte Cross was thirty-six. He had also given Mack steady service, play-
ing in all but two games in 1902-1904. Mack planned to move Jack Knight
to third base. He had another prospective shortstop in twenty-one-year-
old Rube Oldring.

The circumstances surrounding the major league debut of Oldring are
another example of the chaotic conditions of the business. Oldring was an
outfielder and shortstop at Montgomery in the Southern Association in
1905. The manager, an old National Leaguer named Tom O’Brien, recom-
mended him to Mack, who apparently bought him in August to report in
the spring. But nothing about the deal was reported in the papers. Perhaps
Mack didn’t want to upset either of the Crosses with another reminder of
their baseball mortality during the fight for the pennant. The Southern
season ended on September 22. The next day Oldring reported to Mack in
Philadelphia.

“He told me I was not eligible for the World Series so I might as well
go home and play some semipro games and earn some money,” Oldring
said in a 1936 interview. He went home to New York City. On September
30 in a game at New York, Highlanders’ shortstop Kid Elberfeld and out-
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fielder Dave Fultz collided going after a fly ball. Both were out for the rest
of the year. The next day was Sunday. The Highlanders played a game
against a semipro team, the Manhattans, at Olympia Field in the Bronx.
Oldring had often played there before turning pro and was well known
to the Manhattans’ manager, Jess McMahon. When Oldring showed up to
watch the game, McMahon spotted him and offered him $25 to play third
base that day. Oldring agreed. He had a few hits, stole a base, and hit a 3-
run inside-the-park home run that capped the semipros’ 7—5 win over the
Highlanders’ makeshift lineup, in which Clark Griffith played left field and
Hal Chase shortstop.

After the game Griffith, unaware that Oldring was the property of the
Athletics, asked Oldring how much he would take to sign a contract. “I said
$40 a game,” Oldring recalled. “We agreed on $200 for the rest of the sea-
son. I got a big kick out of Clark Griffith’s not knowing what I did. I knew
Connie Mack would get a good laugh at the idea that another major league
club was helping develop one of his own recruits.”

The draft period began that day for major league clubs. Clark Griffith,
who knew of Oldring’s record in Montgomery, apparently drafted him.
Nothing more certain than “apparently” can be applied to these transac-
tions as the records and contemporary reporting are sketchy. We don’t
know just when Mack filed the paperwork on his purchase of Oldring with
the National Commission or when Griffith attempted to draft Oldring. It
wasn’t unusual for the names of minor league players purchased by major
league teams during the season to show up on the postseason reserve lists
of both teams. We do know that Mack must have reported the transaction
at some point; when Griffith attempted to draft Oldring, the commission
notified him that the Athletics had a prior claim to him.

It is a fact that Oldring started at shortstop for New York the next day
and every day for the rest of the season. The New York Times said of his
debut, “Manager Griffith presented another new aspirant for major league
honors in Oldring, who played so well at third base for the Manhattans on
Sunday. Oldring is an old Olympia Field player. During the recent Southern
League season he was a member of the Montgomery team. His work in the
first game yesterday was excellent. He proved himself an unusually capable
infielder.”

So there was no secret, no “assumed-name” subterfuge. Connie Mack
was well aware that his new infielder was playing for the New Yorkers. He
didn’t object. That all of this was accepted and treated as nothing out of
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the ordinary comes through in the references to Oldring in the spring of
1906. The Washington Post casually mentioned that “Mack also has Oldring
who was with the New York Americans last fall,” without saying how Mack
acquired him. The Atlanta Constitution quoted Mack, “Oldring is a good
all around man as he proved in the games that he played with the New York
Americans in the last few weeks of last season.”

Mack’s plans to remodel his infield were set back when Rube Oldring
broke his ankle sliding in a practice game. He would be out until July.

Mack also bought Montgomery third baseman Art Brouthers, who, he
said “is a fast fielder, covers plenty of ground and goes after everything. I
am told also that he can hit a bit, being a big powerful fellow.”

Perhaps the deals with the Montgomery club included a promise to bring
the A’s to the Alabama capital for spring training in 1906. That’s where
Connie Mack went in February to await the arrival of his troops.

Mack knew his chances to repeat in 1906 rode on Rube Waddell’s arm
and head. He kept a close watch on Waddell all winter, engaging an uniden-
tified agent to report to him weekly on Rube’s activities and condition.
Waddell assured him that his arm was fine again. Before boarding the train
in Philadelphia, Rube told the crowd gathered to see the team off, “I am in
great shape and I want you to watch my work this season. I owe it to myself
and to the good friends who stuck by me to get even for the roasting I got
last fall when I met with an accident. You can bet I will pitch my arm off to
make good for Connie Mack and the Athletics.”

After a few days of limbering up, Mack took the veterans to New Orleans
for a week of profitable practice games. The only poor weather they ran
into was on Thursday, March 8, which Mack and the boys spent at the race
track.

The Young Men’s Athletic Club invited the team to use its clubhouse and
baths. Mack accepted the offer, which the Young Men soon regretted. Back
in Montgomery, Mack was shown a telegram sent to the Inquirer stating
that the players’ roughhousing had torn up the facilities and the A’s would
no longer be welcome. Mack was as concerned with his team’s conduct off
the field as on it. He heatedly denied the charges and was backed up by the
Inquirer’s on-the-scene correspondent.

It was cold and wet for a week in Montgomery. The idleness was hardest
on Rube Waddell. His arm may have been sound, but his head wasn’t. His
early promises to behave quickly dissolved. The departure of his keeper,
Frank Newhouse, who left to become the Washington groundskeeper, was
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coincident, not contributory, to Rube’s return to carousing. He became a
local hero when he helped to put out a small fire and was soon enjoying
the company of every sport in town. Returning from an outing one night
in Birmingham, he was hit on the head and robbed of $40. The only thing
Connie Mack said to him was, “If you'd stay away from alleys and back
streets, you wouldn’t have that bump on your head.”

The wheels fell off Osee Schrecongost’s wagon too. His gold watch fob
and diamond stickpin advertised that Schreck had arrived. He'd worked
hard last year, helped the A’s win a pennant. He deserved to relax and enjoy
it. Mack had less patience with Schreck than with the Rube. He had plenty
of other catchers. They couldn’t swing a bat like Schreck, but at least they
were smart and sober.

Harry Davis volunteered to work on Schreck. He thought he had suc-
ceeded in straightening him out when he learned that Schreck had devel-
oped a thirst for milkshakes. One day Davis went into the drug store alone
and ordered a shake. “You want the kind Mr. Schreck gets?” asked the soda
jerk. Harry said yes and watched the boy pull out a bottle of sherry and half
fill the glass with it.

Schreck never straightened out all year. He and Waddell had a falling
out, and Rube moved out of the house where they had been boarding.

Snow and ice covered the fields in Philadelphia as the A’s began their
trek north through Nashville and Knoxville. Ben Shibe was supervising
the $15,000 improvements to Columbia Park. The outfield was banked
along the fence to give standees a better view. The third base bleachers were
enlarged by two thousand seats and realigned. Instead of running straight
to the fence, the yellow pine boards now curved across the foul line to face
the infield.

Rube Waddell was “in old form,” reported the papers after he threw a 3-
hitter in a 7—2 preseason win over the Phillies. Rube was also in old form
after dark, drinking more, sleeping less. Some nights on the road Schreck
had the bed all to himself, when he wasn’t out too. Rube ignored his wife,
leaving her penniless. She went to Desertion Court, where the A’s lawyer
displayed Rube’s $2,400 contract and promised to send half of each pay-
check directly to Mrs. Waddell. From then on, she saw some money more
regularly than she saw her husband.

After winning their first two games in Washington, the A’s played their
home opener before an overflow crowd in overcoat weather. Harry Davis
hoisted the 1905 pennant and Chief Bender defeated the Nationals, 4-2.
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When Danny Hoffman was beaned in 1904, he was among the top out-
fielders in the league. Only Keeler and Flick were outhitting him at the
time. In 1905 he had led the league with 46 stolen bases and come through
with some key hits, but to Mack he never looked comfortable at the plate.
Treated by an eye doctor all winter, Hoffman believed that his sight was as
good as ever when the 1906 season started. But Mack could see that it wasn’t.
He benched Hoffman after seven games. Danny complained. He aired his
gripes to the rest of the players, seeking their sympathy and support against
the manager. Connie Mack wouldn’t put up with that. To him, harmony
and winning went together. He looked for a way to deal Hoffman.

In the aftermath of the devastating earthquake that hit San Francisco
on April 18, 1906, Mack agreed to take his team to New York for an exhibi-
tion game for the relief fund. The game was played on Sunday, April 29,
and raised over $5,600. That afternoon Mack huddled with Clark Griffith
and swapped Hoffman for the rights to negotiate with his former center
fielder, Dave Fultz. After three years with New York, Fultz, only thirty, had
become a Wall Street lawyer. Mack was unable to persuade Fultz to come
back. He received nothing in return for Hoffman and brought up Harry
Armbruster from Newark to replace him. Armbruster proved to be only a
temporary patch.

Early in the season Connie Mack triggered the enforcement of a new league
rule. Teams were now using an average of nine balls a game, a significant
increase over a few years earlier, when two or three would suffice. At $18 a
dozen, this was an expenditure of more than $1,000 a year, enough to pay a
rookie’s salary. One reason for the need to use more balls was the increas-
ing resistance from fans, who were expected to throw back foul balls. In
the eyes of the clubs and much of the public, keeping a foul ball was tan-
tamount to stealing. Charles Dryden observed, “A fan in the grandstand
catching a foul ball stands up and throws back the $1.50 ball. A ball hit into
the bleachers is quickly concealed under a shirt or jacket and like money
loaned to relatives stands a poor show of coming back. The man who wins
a scramble for it conceals it and ignores pleas of outfielders through the
wire netting for its return.”

Foul balls that were returned found their way to the home team’s bench.
The manager was responsible for supplying the umpire with replacements
when needed. Since his managing days in Pittsburgh, Connie Mack had
been among the practitioners of selective ball use. When the visitors were
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at bat and a ball was needed, he would pick out the softest, most scuffed
one in his cache of retrievals and put it into play. When his team was in
the lead, he would try to keep a doctored or lopsided ball in play as long
as possible.

On Friday, April 20, the A’s built an 11-3 lead over New York. Mack kept
feeding mushy balls to his pitcher, Andy Coakley, frustrating the New York
batters. Clark Griffith protested to Ban Johnson, who ordered that hence-
forth the home team must furnish the umpire with a dozen new balls and
a dozen used ones at the start of each game. The umpire would supply all
the replacement balls needed. Foul balls returned to the bench could not
be used again in that game.

The A’s were hitting over .300 in the early going, but the pitching ranks sud-
denly thinned. Coakley, never in robust health, came down with the grippe
and went home. Eddie Plank had a cold. Weldon Henley was roughed up for
9 runs in 3 innings in the April 29 exhibition game at New York and received
a ticket to Rochester. Bender and Waddell were left to carry the load.

Bender had added a talcum pitch to his arsenal. He kept a bag of talcum
powder in his pocket and rubbed one side of the ball against it. This gave
the ball, he said, an unusual and unexpected drop, similar to a spitter, which
he said he threw only once. On April 30 against Washington at home, he
had a 6—o lead in the ninth with 2 out. Three doubles and a single made it
6—3. Bender then walked 2 to load the bases. On a 3-2 count, he decided to
throw a spitter. The batter, Mal Kittridge, took it; the umpire—to Bender’s
amazement—called it strike three. “And that,” he said, “was the last time I
ever threw a spitter.”

On May 4 in New York, Bender, who had gained a reputation as a chronic
kicker, was ejected by umpire Tim Hurst in the fifth inning. Waddell fin-
ished the inning, then Plank finished the game and took the 6—2 loss. It was
noteworthy only as a rare instance of three future Hall of Fame pitchers
working in one game for the same team.

An 11-game winning streak put the A’s into the battle for the lead with
Cleveland and New York. Waddell may have been going without sleep, but
it didn’t slow him down in the box. On May 12 he shut out Chicago on 5
hits, 4—o. Five days later leadoff man Ty Cobb, starting his first full season
with the Tigers, beat out a bunt down the third base line. Neither Cobb nor
any other Detroit batter had a hit after that. Four days later Rube left for
a pinch hitter, down 1-o in the ninth to Cleveland. The A’s tied it. Bender
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came in and gave up 1 hit, but it was a game-winning home run in the
thirteenth.

Bender started the next day. He was wild, but third baseman Art
Brouthers was wilder. His 3 errors gave the game to the Naps. When leaky
fielding cost the A’s a 9—7 loss two days later, the Philadelphia hecklers got
on Brouthers and rode him right out of the lineup. Mack put Jack Knight
on third. Before the season was over, he tried four third basemen. None
of them came close to filling Lave Cross’s shoes. This may have been the
root of the lesson Mack learned and later passed along to Branch Rickey
one night in a Pullman compartment as they traveled north together from
spring training: “Now, lookit,” he told Rickey, “don’t let go of your older
player until you have something just as good or better to take his place.”

The last game of the home stand on May 28 was rained out, but the
A’s lost more than gate receipts that day. Waddell took a notion to rent
a carriage and team at a livery stable. He drove them at a gallop down
Columbia Avenue and collided with a delivery wagon. His only injury was
to his left thumb—a sprain, they thought. He started on June 5 in Chicago;
in 3 innings he walked 7 and threw a wild pitch. They discovered his thumb
was broken. He also had rheumatism in his right hip. Mack sent him to the
Mt. Clemens spa to be boiled out and stay out of trouble.

The A’s struggled for three weeks on the road. The hitting disappeared;
the fielding was atrocious. The usually reliable Harry Davis dropped three
throws to first base in one game. The pitching was a shambles. Andy
Coakley returned weak and underweight. Within two weeks he would
depart again, this time to recuperate in the mountains of Vermont. Before
leaving Philadelphia, he secretly married Hattie Gray on July 16 and headed
for the hills on his honeymoon. While there he would do Connie Mack a
far greater service than if he had pitched and won a few games.

Chief Bender lost twenty-five pounds, “debilitated by bowel troubles,”
according to the Sporting News; suffering from chronic cholera, said
another report. Only an 11-2 stretch by Eddie Plank and the failure of any
other team to pull away kept the A’s in the race. The first half of the season
ended on July 14 with New York and Philadelphia tied for first place.

Back in 1903 Connie Mack’s brother Tom had tipped him off to a freshman
athlete at Colby College in Waterville, Maine. John Wesley Coombs was a
six-foot, 185-pound football, baseball, basketball, and track star. He ran the
100-yard dash in 10.2, put the shot, threw the hammer, and pole vaulted. As
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a right-handed pitcher, he threw a fastball that college kids couldn’t catch
up with and a curve that outcurled most big league hooks. Mack sent scout
Sam Kennedy to look him over and may have watched him pitch during a
trip to Boston.

That winter Connie Mack tried to sign Coombs at Tom’s Franklin
Hotel in Worcester. But Coombs was set on finishing his studies. He was
going to be a chemist. Each summer Coombs pitched in the New England
resort town circuits. Tom kept an eye on him. A lot of other scouts did
too. In December 1905 Tom persuaded Coombs to meet Connie Mack at
the Franklin. Mack offered him a 1906 contract for $2,400 and agreed that
Coombs could join the A’s after graduation.

“It looked like a million dollars to me,” Coombs said. Mack put the
signed contract in his safe.

On Monday, July 2, while the A’s were practicing before a game at home,
Jack Coombs was riding street cars all around the city looking for Columbia
Park. When he finally arrived, Connie Mack greeted the nervous rookie
and told him to go into the clubhouse and get a uniform. He then asked
Coombs to do some throwing in front of the bench. Years later Coombs
recalled:

I was out there tossing a few to a rookie catcher and in a few min-
utes a big elephant with arms like a gorilla’s came lumbering up. He
had a big quid of tobacco in his jaw and when he spit it was like a
shower bath if you were to the windward. Well, I thought I’d give the
big scoundrel a show and I drew back and let my fast ball fly. The big
gorilla waved one of the catchers over and he drew back and let a fast
one fly. Well, sir, when I tried to see that ball go in there, I was amazed.
Why, it threw out steam. But, I thought, maybe I can show him up
with my curve. I threw it, and if I do say so myself, it had a right good
hop on it. Then he let his go and, by the gollies, I’'ve never seen any-
thing like it in my life. It curved in, out and sideways.

With that exhibition of how they pitched them in the majors, I was
all ready to pack up and go back to dad’s farm at Kennebunk.

At that point Connie Mack told Eddie Waddell to quit showing off and
sit down. Then he assured John—“You call him Jack,” Mack told a reporter,
“but he was always ‘Jawn’ to me” —that he had what it took to be a success-
ful big league pitcher.
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Harry Davis recalled his first impression of Coombs. “He resembled
anything but a pitcher. He had the small-town mark hanging all over him.
His long arms flapped at his sides; he wore a look of bewildered amaze-
ment for weeks. He never had traveled far from Maine. He was entering a
new world.”

Coombs made his debut on July 5 against Washington. He was nervous,
walking 5 and giving up 4 hits in the first 3 innings. But a base runner
caught stealing and 2 double plays bailed him out. Doc Powers and Harry
Davis calmed him down. Davis told him, “These guys are bums. They
couldn’t hit the ball if you carried it to the plate.”

After the A’s scored 2 in the third, Coombs gave up no more walks and
only 3 singles and won, 3—o.

Despite shoddy defense—Monte Cross made 9 errors in six games, Rube
Oldring at third base was throwing souvenirs over Harry Davis’s head into
the stands—and only three healthy pitchers, the Athletics won 16 and lost 7
on their July home stand, including 5 out of 6 from Chicago. They headed
west with a 1%2-game lead over New York, 9 over the fourth-place White
Sox. The indefatigable Eddie Plank was 19-5. Then, on the train to St. Louis,
he caught a cold that settled in his left shoulder. Plank didn’t start again
for five weeks. Rube Waddell reinjured his thumb, either in a sandlot game
with a bunch of kids or a wrestling match in a saloon, and missed a few
more weeks.

The A’s lost 8 in a row, while the White Sox were launching a home stand
that led to 19 consecutive victories. On August 12 they moved past the A’s
into first place. The experts didn’t expect the White Sox to stay on top for
long. One Sporting News correspondent sniffed, “Chicago leading by a
slight margin this evening looks out of place. A team with a lot of bum
hitters, not one in the .300 class, certainly should not head the procession
of so strong a league as the American.” Only 10 games separated Chicago
from sixth-place Detroit.

On Saturday, September 1, in Boston, “Colby Jack” Coombs and rookie
Joe Harris started the first game of a doubleheader. The next day’s head-
lines called it “the greatest game in the annals of baseball.” After 6 innings
the score was 1—1. After 23 innings it was still 1—1. Both teams told umpire
Tim Hurst it was too dark to continue. Hurst ordered them to play one
more. In the twenty-fourth Hartsel singled and stole second as Lord struck
out. Schreck singled him in. Seybold and Murphy hit ground rule triples
into the crowd on the field. With a 3-run lead, Monte Cross got himself out
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in a hurry before it became too dark to allow Boston to bat. Coombs then
finished them off quickly in the bottom of the twenty-fourth. Coombs
struck out 18 and walked 6, 5 intentionally. The game remains the longest
played on one day in Ar history. Since it lasted four hours and forty-seven
minutes, the second game was postponed.

Coombs may have wrenched some ligaments in his arm that day. But
he certainly didn’t suffer any immediate effects. Four days later he asked
Connie Mack, as was his habit, “Who’s going to do the chucking today?” To
which Mack replied, “I guess I'll let you do the chucking today, Jawn.”

The Highlanders swept five doubleheaders in six days as part of a
15-game winning streak that carried them into first place. On Labor Day,
September 3, the Athletics contributed to one of those sweeps. But umpire
Silk O’Loughlin had an even worse day. In the first game New York short-
stop Kid Elberfeld took exception to a call and tried to stomp on SilK’s feet
with his spikes, then attempted to beat him up before the cops escorted the
hot Kid off the field. The A’s led 3—o0 in the ninth of the second game. New
York tied it, scoring 2 runs when Willie Keeler ran into second baseman
Jack Knight as Knight was poised to field a ground ball. O’Loughlin refused
to call interference. Harry Davis hollered for eight minutes while the A’s
retired to their bench. When Davis was ejected, Connie Mack refused to put
his team back on the field. O’Loughlin forfeited the game to New York.

“In all my baseball experience,” Mack said, “I never saw an exhibition of
incompetence and abject cowardice such as displayed by O’Loughlin on
this occasion.”

The A’s rapidly tumbled to fourth place, and Mack conceded that his
team was out of the running. His hopes were down, but his spirits were up.
He began to look ahead a month earlier than usual. For the Athletics, 1907
spring tryouts were about to begin.

While Andy Coakley was in Rutland, Vermont, for his health and honey-
moon, he did what any ballplayer would do: he went to baseball games.
Rutland had a team in the Northern League, a popular semipro circuit for
college players. Coakley had pitched there in 1904. He was impressed by
a nineteen-year-old shortstop named Collins and recommended him to
Connie Mack.

Edward Trowbridge Collins had finished his junior year at Columbia
University, where he was more interested in playing football than baseball.
Despite his five-foot-nine, 145-pound build, he was a star quarterback and
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punt returner. He was not really much of a baseball fan. Although he lived
just outside New York City in Tarrytown, the first major league game he
had ever seen was Game 2 of the 1905 World Series when he was eighteen.
He had given little thought to a baseball career. But there was money to be
made on the resort town teams—when the players were paid.

Virtually all college stars played in the summer leagues. Some used fake
names; some didn’t. Many colleges turned a blind eye and didn’t penalize
their student athletes, who often needed the money for tuition. Collins and
two Fordham men, second baseman Dave Shean (also recommended by
Coakley and signed by Mack) and pitcher Dick Rudolph were playing for
Rutland under their own names. Jack Coombs had dominated the league
pitching for Barre-Montpelier in 1905. Nobody at Fordham or Colby
objected or took away their college eligibility.

Collins arrived in Rutland in a roundabout way. Yale baseball coach
Billy Lush operated a team in Plattsburgh in upstate New York. He invited
Collins to play for him. Collins played a few games for a team in Red Hook,
New Jersey, then went to Plattsburgh. After winning 2 and losing 13, the
team ran out of money. Unpaid for several weeks, Collins left and joined
the Rutland club just as Coakley and his bride arrived.

Lush moved on to Rockville, Connecticut, and put together a team. In
late August Collins followed him there, the local paper identifying him as
“a U. of Vermont man said to be a star” Connie Mack, who knew Lush as
an outfielder in the National League in 1896 and the American in 1904~
1905, had kept track of Collins since receiving Coakley’s letter. He sent his
catcher/scout Jimmy Byrnes to Rockville to take a look at Collins. Back
came the report: “Get him quick. He’s got the makings.”

Collins was no secret. Plenty of scouts had seen him. Dave Fultz,
Mack’s former center fielder, called him the best college player he’'d ever
seen. Other former players who saw him at Columbia called him the equal
of Chase, Lajoie, and Wagner already. In a practice game against the Giants,
he hit a double off Joe McGinnity. John McGraw considered it a fluke and
ignored him. When a friend urged Clark Griffith to sign Collins, Griffith
said, “Tell him to come around some morning and I’ll look him over.”
Collins never went.

While other teams waited, Connie Mack acted. As soon as he heard from
Byrnes, Mack telephoned Billy Lush and asked him to bring Collins to see
him when the A’s were in New York. Lush told him the Rockville season
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ended on the Friday after Labor Day. They had a pickup game scheduled
on Saturday. That suited Connie Mack just fine. The Athletics were playing
in New York that Friday and Saturday. He would stay over and meet them
at the Fifth Avenue Hotel on Sunday morning, September 9.

Thirty years later Mack recalled their first meeting. “[Lush] walked in
accompanied by a frail, excited-looking youth, dressed in the Kollege Kut
Klothes of the day. ... He was modest, but not timid. He believed in him-
self, and before long I believed in him, too.”

This was Mack’s recollection after Collins’s playing days were over. At
the time, Collins didn’t think he was good enough to play professional ball.
He had no idea what occupation he might pursue. Maybe he’d go to law
school. Mack assured the youngster that he had a bright future in baseball.
Collins remained dubious. But spurred by Mack’s words of encourage-
ment, he decided to give the game a chance.

At the same time, Collins didn’t like the possibility of being relegated
to the minor leagues, a helpless pawn who could be transferred from one
team to another at the whim of various managers. He’d rather find some-
thing else to do with his life and get started on it. Collins voiced his con-
cerns to Mack. “If I sign,” he said, “I'd like a guarantee that I won’t be sent
out to another club unless I agree to it.”

Connie Mack nodded. That was all right with him. He preferred to edu-
cate his boys himself rather than trust them to other teachers anyhow. He
reached for a blank piece of paper, picked up a pen and wrote:

In consideration of Edward T. Collins signing for the season of 1907,
The American Base Ball Club of Phili does hereby agree not to farm
or loan him to any base ball club without his consent.

Connie Mack Mgr

Rather than date it on a Sunday, Mack wrote “Sept 10th 1906.”

Collins signed a 1907 contract for $400 a month and went home. Mack
went to Philadelphia for series against Washington and Boston before
heading west on September 15.

Either Mack invited Collins to join the A’s for their last western trip, or
he was surprised when Collins showed up at Columbia Park. Recollections
differed over the years. The earliest account indicates that the invitation
was offered by Mack. It was common practice, even into the 1930s, to invite
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recruits to experience a late-season stay with the big league club. Giving
them a little playing time, even without a current contract, happened too.

Either way, Collins showed up at Columbia Park on Thursday or Friday
morning. Heading south on the train, he had worried about whether he
was making a mistake. He was captain-elect of the Columbia baseball team
(the school dropped football as too dangerous after 1905). He hadn’t been
concerned about playing in the Northern League, but recalling it nine years
later to Baseball Magazine editor F. C. Lane, Collins said, “I was anxious not
to jeopardize my athletic activities at Columbia by appearing openly with
a major league club.”

Connie Mack was sensitive to that risk as well. A man was fanning the
breeze with Mack in the manager’s office when Collins appeared in the
doorway. Mack sprang up, said, “Hello, Sullivan, glad to see you,” while
pushing Collins into the hallway. “Go down to the clubhouse and I'll see
you a little later.”

A few minutes later Mack told the puzzled Collins, “That was Tim Murnane
of the Boston Globe in my office. I was afraid he might recognize you.”

Thus was Eddie Sullivan christened. Collins always insisted it had not
been prearranged between them. Mack asked him to work out in the morn-
ings with the team, then disappear lest one of the Boston writers recog-
nize him, since Collins had played against Yale and Harvard. Philadelphia
writers were less likely to know him.

In the end it didn’t matter. His play at Rutland and Rockville, not his
brief pseudonymous sojourn with the Athletics, cost him his eligibility.
Perhaps a 1905 two-part article in McClure’s (the most influential maga-
zine of the time), “The College Athlete—How Commercialism Is Making
Him a Professional,” contributed to the change in academic attitudes that
sidelined Collins at Columbia the following spring. He was paid to coach
the 1907 Columbia nine instead.

On his first day with the Athletics, in a uniform too big and baggy for him,
the self-conscious rookie walked onto the field. Rube Waddell was the first
to speak to him. “Hey, kid,” Rube called. “Get a bat. I'll throw you some.”

Collins picked up a bat and stepped into the left-handed batter’s box.
“He threw three curve balls that looked like they dropped off a table,”
Collins recalled. “I missed all three. I looked—and was—pretty discour-
aged as I walked away. Rube came over and patted me on the back. ‘Don’t
mind that, kid, he said. ‘T do that to ’em all.”

Harry Davis and Connie Mack were watching. They waved Collins over
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and told him that Rube did in fact do that to ’em all, in games as well as
practice. “You won’t see that kind of pitching often,” Mack assured him.

Sometimes Connie Mack lost a star prospect he thought he had. On August
27 he announced the purchase of two pitchers from Augusta, a twenty-
one-year-old left-hander out of Crabapple, Georgia, named Nap Rucker,
who had won 27 games, and Jim Holmes, twenty-four, a 26-game winner.
Between the two, they had appeared in 98 games for the pennant winners
of the “Sallie” League, as the Augusta Chronicle spelled it.

The major league drafting period began September 1. Under the
National Agreement, no minor league club could sell a player to another
minor league club after August 25. But it could sell him to a major league
club after that date. Newspapers in late August reported minor league clubs
working on imminent sales of prospects who would bring more than the
$500 draft price. Charles Ebbets, who had been scouting in the south and
saw Nap Rucker pitch, and Garry Herrmann were the only big league mag-
nates in Cincinnati for the draft meeting on September 1. Ebbets claimed
three pitchers. Rucker was one of them.

Connie Mack said Rucker and Holmes were already his property. The
National Commission rejected Mack’s claim to both pitchers, ruling that
he hadn’t filed the contract of sale prior to the August 25 deadline.

A different reason for the commission’s denying Mack’s claim appeared
in a story about Rucker in the 1913 Reach Guide. Dodgers manager Patsy
Donovan was said to be the one who saw Rucker pitch that year. “President
Ebbets attended the drafting meeting in the Fall and learned that Rucker
was bound by a contract to be sold to Connie Mack. But as Mack had put
up no money to bind the bargain, the National Commission annulled the
contract. Then Ebbets slipped in a draft for $500 on the spot, being the
only major league magnate, except Garry Herrmann, at the meeting, and
Rucker was awarded to him. All major league magnates have attended the
draft meetings since then.”

But that wasn’t the reason given at the time. The commission just said
Mack failed to submit the paperwork before August 25. It appeared that
Mack had gotten a raw deal, but there is no record of his making a fuss
about it. He probably went along with it rather than start a fight with the
new governing structure of the game. But the Augusta club howled. It con-
tended that the sale was legal since the August 25 deadline applied only to
sales to other minor league clubs, not big league buyers. Further, it said, the
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sale had been approved by the Sallie League president, who knew the rules.
The Augusta club was right. But it didn’t do any good. It was out whatever
amount Connie Mack was willing to pay for Rucker above the $500 draft
price. And Connie Mack lost Nap Rucker.

The ruling applied to Jim Holmes too, but since only one player could
be drafted from a club, Holmes was still available. He reported to the A’s
and appeared in three games with little success. Rucker won 134 games in
Brooklyn.

One day in early September a man named Henry Beach Needham walked
into Mack’s office under the first base stands. He carried a letter of intro-
duction from a former player. Needham was a writer of short stories and
magazine articles, including the 1905 McClure’s series criticizing semipro
college athletes.

The letter explained that Needham wished to accompany the Athletics
on their last western trip of the season and write a series of articles based
on his observations. Normally eager for publicity, Mack hesitated. “I was
in something of a pinch on account of the request,” he wrote later, “mainly
because I wasn’t caring much about having the team written up at the time.
It was a team of green youngsters, material the rawest, that I had in charge,
and which Mr. Needham was to see perform.”

Needham pleaded. Mack gave in and allowed him to make the trip. As
often happened with Connie Mack, the encounter developed into a long,
close friendship. In the years that followed, Needham sometimes sat on the
A’s bench during games and was a frequent visitor to Mack’s home.

“He proved to be the sort you like to travel with,” Mack wrote. “In the
hotels he and I had adjoining, usually connected rooms. We ate together,
we spent our evenings together. More than that, he sat on the bench with
me. In this way he began to learn inside baseball. He soon had what we hear
so much about: baseball brains.

“His magazine articles printed after the trip were the first of the kind
printed in America . . . in magazines of general interest.”

So a troop of raw, green Athletics and a magazine writer headed for
Chicago on September 15. Left at home were Plank, Bender, Coakley, Cross,
Knight, Doc Powers, Socks Seybold, and Danny Murphy, who had taken
his lumbago-sore bones home without telling anybody. Led by John Shibe
and augmented by a few college players, they toured the area playing exhi-
bition games against black teams.
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Needham’s education began on the train. He spent some time in the
company of Schreck in the smoker car and afterward told Mack, “I've been
all around, but I've heard things tonight I have never heard before.”

On Monday, September 17, Sullivan broke in at shortstop with Dave
Shean playing second. His debut was a memorable 11-inning duel between
Rube Waddell and Ed Walsh, who combined for 23 strikeouts. Soon after
the lineups went out over the wires, sporting editors in Philadelphia began
inquiring, “Who’s Sullivan?” Nobody in the press box knew. In his first at
bat he beat out a swinging bunt for a hit, then stole second but didn’t score.
He sacrificed once and struck out twice in the 5—4 loss. In the field he han-
dled 2 putouts and 4 assists flawlessly. The writers eventually discovered his
identity, but he played out the season as Sullivan. Mack played him at third
and shortstop and used him to pinch hit once. The early report in the press
was, “Sullivan appears to be a fine fielder but weak hitter.”

For the next two weeks Mack treated a parade of players to their big
league cups of coffee: pitcher Mody Cunningham, who won his only start;
Carl Schumann, who lost his only two starts; Bill Bartley, who relieved
three times; Willy Fetzer, who pinch hit once. Dave Shean hung around
long enough to play for six teams and appear in the 1918 World Series with
the Red Sox. During one stretch Mack’s green boys went 48 innings with-
out scoring a run. The A’s wound up using a total of thirty-one players
during the season; the league average was twenty-five. The Browns got by
with nineteen.

One night Mack took them all to the Columbia Theater, where George
M. Cohan was starring in George Washington Jr, a patriotic pageant in
which Cohan introduced the song “You're a Grand Old Flag” while march-
ing up and down the stage waving a large American flag. All the players and
writers signed a ball, and when Cohan made his first appearance on stage,
Rube Waddell stood up and tossed it to him from the box seats.

They went on to St. Louis, where Schreck stayed out all night. When he
showed up at the Planter’s Hotel the next morning, an exasperated Connie
Mack didn’t wait to hear his explanation. “Pack up and go home,” he said.

Mack had known from the early weeks that he didn’t have a champion-
ship team. But nobody else in the league did either. The White Sox scored
more runs with fewer hits than any team ever would and won the pennant
with the lowest batting average in the league.

Even so, the Athletics could have won if not for the illnesses and injuries
that sidelined Murphy, Plank, Waddell, Bender, and Coakley for so long.
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Waddell and Osee Schrecongost had been on a season-long toot. “You can
see [Waddell] every night at his usual bars all night,” wrote a Sporting News
correspondent in late August. He also reported that “the team has quit on
Connie Mack because he persists in letting Waddell do as he pleases.” But
the Rube never begged off. When he was fit, he worked whenever he was
called upon and never complained. Despite his injuries, he appeared in 43
games and led the league in strikeouts.

One day years later Connie Mack was telling Cleveland manager Lou
Boudreau about the way things were done in the old days and Rube’s readi-
ness to answer the call at all times. “Teams used to use a talley-ho to get
from the park to the hotel. One day I went into the ninth leading by three
runs. Players not in the game were already in the talley-ho. With two out
they got the bases filled. I called time and sent someone for the Rube. I'll
never forget him coming in from left field, stopping behind third base to
put on one shoe, walking to the box before he put on the other. At that time
a relieving pitcher wasn’t allowed to warm up, not even one practice pitch.
Rube just flexed his arm a bit, fired three straight strikes, and the man at
the plate never got the bat off his shoulder.”

Mack may have added some dramatic effects to the story, but it was true
that Waddell was always ready to come in and close out a game regardless
of how soon it was after he’d pitched a complete game or how little sleep
he’d had.

And it was true that Connie Mack treated Waddell differently. He knew
he’d be going against his principles of management when he signed the
Rube. He took that risk, and it had paid off. He knew all of Rube’s faults.
He knew, too, that his pitching staff was anchored by Waddell. So Mack
coddled, cajoled, and coaxed his best out of him. And when they were win-
ning, nobody complained. When the season was over, he defended Rube,
sort of, saying at least Rube was honest, not given to making excuses or
trouble with other players:

I treated Waddell as I would be treated myself. I do not have the trou-
ble with Waddell as some people think I have. . . . Rube of course is a
peculiar fellow. He has his whims just as other players do, but Waddell
is all in the open, does his peculiar stunts in full sight of the baseball
public. If you consider that this big fellow has been pampered and
spoiled by the newspapers in every city in the circuit, it will not be
hard for you to see how it happens that he is spoiled. But Waddell is
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far easier to get along with than some other players. When he wants
to do something he goes and does it, and offers no explanation either
before or after the act. I would rather have a player of the Waddell
type than one who sulks. Now there’s one good feature in the Rube’s
makeup; he never sulks, and he does not instill trouble in the ranks as
some other star players do.

Henry Beach Needham wrote a series of short stories that first appeared in
Collier’s magazine in 1914, then in book form as The Double Squeeze in 1915.
The characters are transparently based on Athletics players and Connie
Mack. Game details reflect the team’s strategies and style of play. In an
introduction to the book, Mack praised Needham for accurately summing
up his philosophy of a baseball manager’s job in the story “A Tree Full of
Owls”:

“Tris Ford, although the ablest tactician in baseball, was at bottom a
business man. Like the best merchants and manufacturers, they never fail
to look ahead. He planned two, three, often four years in advance, and he
went after players.”

Nobody went after players like Connie Mack did. He had earned a repu-
tation as the most aggressive talent hunter in the business. Most teams had
one full-time scout; some had two or three. Mack had six. He was said to
have strings on more than a hundred minor leaguers. Some managers, on
hearing about a promising youngster, might invite him for a workout and
a lookover. Connie Mack’s method, as Clark Griffith described it in a 1910
interview, was, “Sign you now and try you out later.”
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‘33 “WE WUZ ROBBED?”

In the six years since his arrival in Philadelphia, Connie Mack had pros-
pered. He was nowhere near the category of the Morgans, Vanderbilts, or
Carnegies. But by the standards of the time he was considered well-to-do.
In addition to his salary, now $15,000, Mack’s one-fourth interest in the
Athletics had earned him dividends.

Unlike his friend John Shibe, who owned a yacht and went in for speed-
boat racing, MacKk’s tastes were simple and basic. He lived comfortably but
not ostentatiously. He enjoyed the theater and boxing matches. He dressed
well, his clothes and shoes made to order. He provided generously for his
extended family. One writer estimated that Mack’s entire household—his
mother, three children, and his brother Eugene—could manage very com-
fortably on $3,000 a year.

Mack branched out as a businessman and investor. He sold his bowling
alleys at a good profit and bought a building at 44 North Eleventh Street, a
two-story structure with a bar downstairs and an apartment upstairs, a half
block from the busy Reading Railroad terminal. He set Eugene up in busi-
ness there and called it the White Elephant Saloon. Their brother Michael
and Dennis’s son Harold worked there; Michael and his wife, Ella, lived
in the apartment. From its gala opening on Wednesday, March 21, 1906,
the saloon prospered. Tradesmen and travelers frequented it for the nickel
beer, free lunch, and the latest sporting news on the chattering ticker.

Mack and John Shibe went into land development. They bought five
acres in Bala, a fashionable suburb adjoining Fairmount Park, where
Ben Shibe resided, divided it into seventy-two lots, and began putting up
houses. They were negotiating to buy a city block in West Philadelphia for
$70,000, a deal the Philadelphia Record initially reported as intended for a
new stadium for the Athletics. But the A’s had no intention of locating in
West Philadelphia. The Record acknowledged that the bulk of the team’s
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patrons was drawn from the northwestern section of the city, “together
with Kensington and Manayunk, and these people could not be induced to
travel to West Philadelphia to patronize the Athletics.”

It was no secret that the A’s were shopping for a site for a new stadium.
So any negotiations involving Mack or one of the Shibes was routinely
assumed to be for that purpose. They tried to buy the Columbia Park
grounds, where their lease had two years to go, but it was not for sale. They
were said to be looking at land near abandoned railroad stations or one
block from Columbia Park or Twenty-eighth and Montgomery.

Meanwhile, Ben Shibe was quietly covertly buying up property lot by lot
not far from the Phillies’ grounds.

The Athletics’ success story was not unique in the American League. The
“baseball craze is here to stay,” declared the New York Telegraph. The need
to replace the old wooden grandstands with larger, more comfortable, fire-
proof stadiums was evident, not only in the major leagues. Though not
in the class of the steel, oil, railroad, and mining industries, baseball had
become a multimillion dollar business.

The Cleveland Naps were the first to insure their players against injury
in train accidents for $100,000.

“The six million admissions last year in the National and American
Leagues are a drop in the bucket,” said the Telegraph. “The 30 minor leagues
and nearly 5,000 professional players are still a small percentage of the
baseball world. Every town has at least one amateur club. The aggregate
millions spent on baseballs and equipment is stupendous.”

Commenting on earlier predictions that the craze would soon end, the
Telegraph described the eternal essence of the baseball fan. “The youth of
today playing in vacant lots, parks and streets . . . is the fan of tomorrow. . ..
Love of the game never leaves the devotees. He may grow fat and he may no
longer be able to handle the bat himself, but there is nothing that carries him
back to the happiest days of his life like a good game of ball between good
players.”

The Philadelphia Telegraph estimated that it now cost $100,000 or
more to operate each of the sixteen major league teams, broken down as
follows:

Player salaries: $50,000-$60,000 (An undocumented range of
American League salaries published in a Brockton paper in March
went from the Athletics’ $44,000 to Cleveland’s $80,000.)
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Other employees: $10,000

Rent and interest: $10,000-$20,000

Spring training: $2,500—$5,000

Hotels and railroads: $15,000 (Railroad costs would go up in 1907,
when new regulations banned the 25-50 percent discounts the teams
had negotiated.)

Balls, bats, advertising, etc.: $5,000

Ten percent of gate receipts went to the league; twelve and a half cents from
every ticket went to the visiting team.

This cost estimate did not include things like meal money. Barney
Dreyfuss experimented with giving the Pirates $2 a day on the road. The
big eaters complained; the skimpers patronized the dime soup kitchens
and pocketed the difference. Dreyfuss went back to picking up the checks
in the hotel dining rooms.

At the 1906 winter meetings the National League passed a rule requir-
ing all teams to provide adequate dressing rooms for visiting clubs. This
enabled clubs to stay at the better hotels, which didn’t like ballplayers in
dirty, sweaty uniforms mixing with other guests in the corridors and lobby
before and after games. The American League took no such action.

The AL wanted to go to a 140-game schedule, but it couldn’t persuade
the National to abandon the 154-game slate. One club owner chided the
National for adopting a “can’t to can’t” policy: a season lasting “from when
you can’t play in the spring until you can’t play in the fall.”

Baseball had become a respectable business, suitable for women and for
businessmen to entertain clients. The Pirates had installed thirteen lux-
ury boxes on top of the grandstand roof. Leased for $60 a year, they were
quickly snapped up by a who’s who of industrial magnates, while others
went on a waiting list. When the cost went up to $75 in 1907, only one failed
to renew.

In Philadelphia the coziness between the newspapermen and the two
clubs continued. The writers, who organized the Philadelphia Sporting
Writers Association, threw a banquet honoring Mack and new Phillies
manager Billy Murray at the Majestic on February 28. The teams recipro-
cated by entertaining twenty scribes one week later.

After one spring training in Montgomery, the restless Mack and Shibe
headed west again and settled on Marlin, Texas. Along with his new recruits
and veterans, Mack brought a new trainer to Marlin. Martin P. Lawler was
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a cut above the rudimentary muscle-pounders of the time. A student of
Swedish massage and gymnastics, he would earn his salary just keeping
Eddie Plank’s overworked left arm going through the season.

In Marlin, Connie Mack made a new friend. For all their diversity, the
friends of Connie Mack shared one thing in common: they lasted a life-
time. There are trails of correspondence spanning forty years, some longer.
The previous spring, a wholesale grocer from Palestine, Texas, had been in
New Orleans on business. The twenty-eight-year-old Hyman Pearlstone
was a baseball nut, one of the earliest subscribers to the young Sporting
News. Pearlstone was delighted to find the Athletics were also stopping
at the Hotel Roosevelt. One evening he struck up a conversation with a
player, who noticed that Pearlstone was wearing an Elks pin. The player
commented that Doc Powers was an Elk. Pearlstone introduced himself to
Powers and invited him to the theater. When he learned that the A’s would
be training in Marlin, Texas—just down the road from Palestine—in 1907,
he invited Powers to visit him for a few weeks before camp opened. Jack
Coombs was another visitor to Palestine, where he met his future wife and
later owned a home.

When Pearlstone approached Mack at the hotel in Marlin, Mack could
have politely tolerated or brushed off the small-town Texas fan. But he
didn’t. They must have enjoyed each other’s company immensely. After the
season started, Mack sent him a package containing an Athletics uniform,
shoes, a ball and glove, and a letter inviting Pearlstone to spend his vaca-
tion traveling with the team.

“My wife thought I was crazy, but I decided to go,” he told a Dallas News
reporter.

For the next forty-four years, Hyman Pearlstone took one month-long
road trip with the Athletics every season. In the early years he was con-
sidered a good luck charm by the players, who greeted him with “On the
road with the winning club” whenever he joined them. Pearlstone warmed
up pitchers in morning practice and sat to the left of Connie Mack on the
bench. He paid his own way, at the team’s rates. “The club secretary paid all
my bills and I settled with him at the end of the trip.” In 1913 the total tab
for a thirty-one-day trip came to $142.

In the 1930s Pearlstone would sometimes take his grandson, Larry
Budner, with him. Budner remembers a 1938 trip to Chicago, when he
was eight. The A’s were staying at the Del Prado Hotel. When Budner and
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his grandfather saw Mack eating lunch alone in the dining room, they sat
at another table. Pearlstone said, “We won’t speak to him now. He always
lunches alone so he can think about the day’s game.”

Over the years the families visited in each other’s homes. Pearlstone
moved to Dallas, where he prospered in the wholesale grocery and hard-
ware business and as a banker. He advised Mack on investments, including
some oil and gas fields that never produced any gushers during Connie
Mack’s lifetime. He also became an active bird dog for Mack, keeping an
eye on Texas college players.

Connie Mack introduced another innovation to baseball in 1907. At the
time teams used young boys to round up balls that got by the catcher dur-
ing batting practice. A man named Wellington Titus invented a portable
batting cage in Hopewell, New Jersey. One day Mack sent a scout to look
over a player in that town. The scout turned down the player but told Mack
about the cage. According to Titus biographers, Mack bought the first one
used in professional baseball.

It didn’t take Connie Mack long to realize that he would have to go into
the season with a carryover lineup. The new players didn’t impress him.
He couldn’t even muster up the ritual spring enthusiasm over them, except
for one: Si Nicholls, an infielder purchased from Memphis, who had been
called up in September. “If this man doesn’t make good I'll quit picking
young players,” Mack hyped. Nicholls and Jack Knight would compete for
the third base job. Davis, Murphy, and Cross completed the infield. Topsy
Hartsel and Socks Seybold were fixtures in left and right field. Mack had
given up on Rube Oldring as an infielder and told him, “From now on you
are my center fielder” Watching Bris Lord and Oldring, Mack wished he
could combine the best of each into one complete player. Oldring was the
better hitter and had more speed; Lord had the better arm. In one exhibi-
tion game he threw out two runners at home and one at third. But Lord
lacked baseball smarts, the instincts that Mack valued but couldn’t teach.

Mack counted on Schreck and Doc Powers to do the catching. He could
only hope that Schreck had shed his “big shot” strutting and was ready to
do his best again.

The pitching was set: Plank, Bender, Dygert, Coombs, and possibly
Waddell. Mack put a question mark after Rube, no matter how fervently
he promised to behave. Waddell arrived carrying over 200 pounds but was
said to be “hard as nails, no fat” One night Mack was standing in front of
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the hotel when a fire engine raced by carrying the Rube in full fire-fighting
regalia. Otherwise, Rube couldn’t find much trouble to get into in Marlin.

Andy Coakley’s health had been a concern. Mack didn’t know if he could
count on him and sold him to Cincinnati, on the condition that he was
physically able to pitch. Coakley gave the Reds two solid seasons, retired for
two years, and tried a brief comeback; then a thumb injury ended his play-
ing days. He became the coach at Columbia for thirty-seven years.

The only new pitcher who impressed Mack was a burly right-hander
purchased from Seattle. Harry “Rube” Vickers was twenty-eight. He had
been up briefly with the Reds and Dodgers a few years back and toiled
in the minors ever since. His fastball reminded Mack of Amos Rusie. His
quirky, deceptive delivery was unique. But Mack was dubious about his
attitude and willingness to apply himself. Last year in the lengthy Pacific
Coast League season, he had pitched 517 innings, winning 39 games and
losing 20. But, Mack said, “to hear him tell it, he had won 65.”

Mack once called Vickers “the greatest liar I ever managed. He could fib
faster, smoother and better than any ball player I ever had. Why, once when
I caught him red-handed in a lie, I got real mad and said, ‘Vickers, if I ever
catch you lying to me again, you're through, fired, done for. I won’t have
you around. But before I walked away from that fellow’s locker, he was
spinning me the biggest lie of all—and, what’s more, he knew that I knew
what he was doing.”

Hoping to cover the costs of spring training and linger longer in the
sunny south, Mack arranged a five-game series in New Orleans with the
New York Giants, beginning on the Wednesday before Easter. He and John
McGraw, whose Giants practiced in Los Angeles before traveling to San
Antonio and New Orleans, agreed to a Waddell-Mathewson matchup on
Good Friday, March 29. Promoted by the host New Orleans Pelicans as
the 1905 World Series match that never happened, it was sure to attract a
sellout crowd. The weekend games also promised record receipts for the
city. The lengthy stay meant the city series against the Phillies had to be
cut short. Mack figured it would be cold in the north anyhow, and the A’s
would draw bigger crowds against the Giants. He turned out to be wrong
on all counts. The weather was warmer in Philadelphia that week, and the
Giants series was a financial disaster. Mack wasn’t there to see it. He knew
what his regulars could do. He put Harry Davis in charge of them while he
and Sam Erwin went north with the Yannigans.

Chief Zimmer, a veteran catcher who had umpired in the National
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League for two years and was now a Southern Association ump, was agreed
upon by the A’s and Giants to work the games, although McGraw later
denied it. The Giants won the Wednesday game, 43, before about three
thousand fans. Either McGraw was dyspeptic or he was brooding over
some past run-in with Zimmer; whatever it was, he rode the ump through-
out the game.

About two thousand turned out the next day, a reported one-third of
them women. The Giants batted first against Plank. With 2 outs, Art Devlin
singled. Cy Seymour singled him to third, and took second when Oldring
threw to third. With Frank Bowerman at bat, Plank stepped off the rub-
ber and faked a throw to third. All the Giants yelled “Balk” and charged
the umpire. The air turned blue in the center of the diamond as McGraw
and his men poured on the brimstone. Zimmer insisted that Plank’s foot
had been off the slab. McGraw called him an embroidered liar. The nine
New York and Philadelphia writers on hand had begun to send their game
accounts and suddenly found they had a fight to cover.

Zimmer threw McGraw and Bresnahan out of the game. They refused
to leave. Zimmer called for a police escort. Bresnahan left; McGraw didn’t.
He ordered his team off the field. Zimmer gave the Giants five minutes to
come back, then forfeited the game. That made the New Orleans manager,
Charlie Frank, madder than anybody. He had to give out rain checks and
send everybody home.

That night McGraw said he wouldn’t show up if Zimmer was the umpire
on Friday. “Zimmer couldn’t umpire a dog fight after the yellow streak he
showed,” were his reported sentiments.

On not-so-good Friday, a capacity crowd arrived expecting to see a duel
between Mathewson and Waddell. McGraw stayed away and put Bresnahan
in charge with orders for the Giants to stay off the field if Zimmer was
the umpire. He was, and they did. Five minutes after game time Zimmer
declared the game forfeited to the Athletics. The crowd was mutinous.
Harry Davis, hoping to avert a riot and give his players some practice,
conferred with Bresnahan. They agreed to find an umpire and play the
game and settled on Pelicans outfielder Joe Rickert. The fans got to see
Mathewson pitch 5 innings in the A’s 7—0 win, but not Rube Waddell.

The Giants abruptly left town but not before a fracas, involving heated
exchanges and some pushing and shoving, broke out between the two
clubs. Charlie Frank brought his Pelicans back from nearby Alexander
City to finish the series, vowing the Giants would never be allowed back
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in Athletic Park. He filed a complaint with the National Association, which
eventually ordered the Giants to reimburse him $1,000.

A hint that the thirty-year-old Waddell might not be the Rube of old
appeared in an exhibition game on the way home. In the ninth inning he
told his teammates to leave the field, all but first baseman Harry Davis.
Davis went along with the stunt. But the Rube was unable to zip his fast-
ball past the batters. Each time somebody connected with one, Rube had
to chase it down. He was fast getting fagged out. He pleaded with Davis to
put the rest of the boys back on the field. Davis refused. Rube was all in by
the time he got the third out.

Some of the veteran Athletics had less confidence than their manager in
Jack Coombs. To put it bluntly, they considered him yellow. Twice in the
late stages of the 1906 pennant race they had seen him blow leads of 4 and 5
runs. On September 13 he had relieved in the tenth inning, walked the first
batter, and gave up the game-winning hit after a sacrifice. He seemed to go
to pieces under pressure. They shuddered when they saw him come into a
game and let him know how they feltin subtle and not so subtle ways.

But Connie Mack chalked it up to inexperience. He saw what some of his
players didn’t: the collegian’s eagerness to learn and ability to absorb what
he was taught. In those respects, Coombs exemplified the reason Mack
favored college men. His decision to hand “Jawn” the ball on opening day
1907 may have been Mack’s way of showing his confidence in Coombs as
much as protecting the older arms from the cold weather.

The tantalizing warm spell of early April was blown away by wintry gales
that greeted the A’s and Boston on Thursday, April 11. One of the league’s
early anomalies was the extraordinary number of long games between
those two teams, many of them involving Coombs or the Boston starter,
Cy Young. This one went 14 innings. After a brass band and the two teams
marched to the flagpole—the Athletics led by writer/partner Sam Jones
and Tom Shibe—the band played “The Star Spangled Banner” Newly
elected mayor John E. Rayburn, a onetime semipro player, threw out the
first ball, then a reported fifteen thousand frigid fans watched Young throw
6 no-hit innings before the A’s scored 2 in the seventh. Both teams scored
in the ninth to send the 4—4 tie into extra innings. Buck Freeman’s 3-run
home run capped Boston’s 8—4 win.

It was too cold for anybody in the league to play the next day, prompting
Ban Johnson to assert that he wouldn’t start a season before April 18 in the
future, no matter what the National League chose to do.
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Saturday wasn’t much better. Mack started Rube Vickers, but Vickers
quit after one inning, claiming he couldn’t control his pitches in the strong
wind. Mack soon came to realize, “Before a game Vickers will spend hours
telling how easily he will win his game. Five minutes after the game starts
he will begin explaining why he can’t win it.”

Mack sent in Waddell. After Hartsel’s home run in the eighth gave the A’s
a 4—2 lead, Rube reverted to his juvenile antics in the ninth, giving Connie
Mack and the four thousand frozen fans something more than the icy wind
to shiver about. With 2 outs and 2 strikes on Armbruster, Waddell began to
bait him around the edges of the plate. Armbruster didn’t bite and walked.
Unable to throw his fastball past anybody at this point, Rube tried to dance
around the banjo-hitting pinch hitter Al Shaw and walked him too. Then
he plunked the left-handed leadoff man, Denny Sullivan, in the back with
his first pitch. That was enough for the agitated Mack. He signaled his cap-
tain, Harry Davis, to take the ball from Rube. Davis tried, but Rube pleaded
for a chance to get the next batter, Jimmy Collins. Davis said no and took
the ball from the pouting Waddell. Bender came off the bench and threw
three fastballs past Collins to end the game.

Connie Mack adopted the quickest hook in the league. He didn’t hesitate
to pull a starter after one inning, a reliever after a few batters. Of the four
pennant contenders in 1907, the Athletics had the fewest complete games.
It was not so much a change of philosophy on Mack’s part as a realization
that his pitching was not as reliable as he had expected it to be.

“We’re beaten before we go into any game simply because our slabmen
are not in any form,” he lamented. Mack’s last straw with Rube Vickers
came on the first western trip. They arrived in Chicago on Wednesday, May
8, restless after two days of rain and a day on the train. They spent another
idle day when it poured all day. Watching the still hitless-wonder White Sox
world champions on Thursday, Vickers said to Mack, “T’'ll be darned if I can
understand how they got to be world champions.”

“You want to work against ’em?” Mack asked.

“Sure,” said Vickers.

“You'll pitch tomorrow.”

The first six batters Vickers faced produced a walk, triple, double, and 3
singles for 5 runs. When the carnage finally ended, Vickers headed for the
far end of the bench away from the manager. Mack called to him. Vickers
pretended he didn’t hear. Mack called again. No response. A player seated
beside Vickers poked him. “Connie wants you.” Vickers got up and walked
over to Mack.
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“All T want to tell you,” Mack said, “is that’s how they come to be world
champions.”

Three weeks later Rube Vickers was in Williamsport.

Cold weather, rainouts, and illnesses kept the pitching rotation messed
up through May. Mack suspended Rube Waddell for thirty days for carous-
ing. But it didn’t last thirty days. Mack needed him, unsteady and unpre-
dictable as he was. Mack didn’t get a complete game out of anybody in
a three-game series against a weak New York team. On Saturday, May 4,
Dygert’s spitter dried up. The Highlanders scored 6 in the first on 6 hits,
2 walks, a wild pitch, and an error. The error came after Waddell relieved
Dygert. With men on first and second, the ball was hit back to Rube. He
turned and threw to third, but Jack Knight was dozing off the bag. Mack
yanked Knight and put Si Nicholls on third.

The infield was unsettled. Nicholls didn’t have the arm for a third base-
man. Knight covered a lot of ground but wasn’t hitting. Monte Cross’s old
bones were aching. Danny Murphy suffered from rheumatism. The only
solid fixture was Captain Harry Davis. At thirty-three, Jasper, as the play-
ers called him, was as good as ever, digging low throws out of the dirt with
the best of them. Said the Boston Herald, “Taken all in all, there are few
first baseman who have anything on Harry Davis for all-around ability.”
Davis would lead the league in doubles and, for the fourth year in a row,
in home runs, with 8. One of them, on April 24 in Boston, was the first
ever to clear the right-field fence by a visiting player. Admiring one’s long
drives is not just a modern trait. One paper reported, “Harry stood at the
rubber after he hit the ball and watched it go over and as soon as he satis-
fied himself that the ball was fair he started on his jaunt around the bases.”
(saBR researcher Ron Selter calculated its distance at 350 feet, a shot worth
admiring in the mushy-ball era.)

MacK’s outfield was in poor shape too. Rube Oldring sprained an ankle.
Bris Lord wasn’t hitting and ran them out of a few wins with some block-
headed base running. His batting average had gone down each year; he
was batting .182 when Mack gave up on him and sold him outright to New
Orleans.

Rube Waddell was like the little girl with a curl right in the middle of
her forehead: when he was good, he was very, very good, and when he was
bad, he was horrid. In Chicago he threw a 3-hitter; in his next start in St.
Louis he and Vickers were bombed for 17 hits. They lost three in Cleveland,
two by shutouts. Rube started the third game. In the midst of a 4-run first
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inning, he tried to pick up a bunt and fell on his right shoulder. Nothing
unusual about that for the clumsy Waddell. But he sat on the grass and held
his left arm —also not unusual for him—while grimacing in apparent pain.
The trainer helped him up, and they started for the clubhouse. Connie
Mack stopped them and suggested that since all the grass stains were on the
right side of Rube’s uniform, perhaps his left arm was still sound enough to
continue pitching. Rube stayed in and gave up 1 more run in the 5—2 loss.

They came home in fifth place, 7%, games behind the White Sox, and
won 4 out of 5 from Boston. A Memorial Day doubleheader drew a total
of twenty-three thousand to the morning and afternoon games. But they
gained nothing on Chicago.

By early June the pitching was beginning to round into shape, except
for Bender, who seemed to be plagued by what one writer called “chronic
organic troubles.” By June 6 he had won only 2 games.

The infield was still a shambles. Murphy sprained an ankle. Cross
strained his back. Then in walked the cocky twenty-year-old Eddie Collins,
a.k.a. Sullivan, fresh from graduation at Columbia. Collins had everything
Connie Mack looked for in a youngster. He was intelligent and eager to
think, talk, and learn the game above all other interests. Mack didn’t believe
in rushing newcomers into action if he could avoid it. He preferred to have
them sit beside him through one or two full seasons, where he could teach
and they could ask questions. The morning practices gave them a chance to
work on the physical part of the game. He urged them to study the veter-
ans, how they went about their business, and arranged for Collins to board
with Harry Davis and his family.

The White Sox were at Columbia Park to open a long home stand on
Tuesday, June 4. Mack agonized over his lineup. With Cross limited to coach-
ing third base—where he was an eagle at spotting catchers’ signs and pitch-
ers’ tip-off traits—and Murphy sidelined, he had no choice. He put Nicholls
at second, Knight at third, and Collins at short. They were terrible. Collins
made an error. Knight made an error. Even steady Eddie Plank caught the
jitters and made a wild throw. The errors led to 7 runs in the 10-6 loss.

In the eighth inning the Athletics had loaded the bases with Collins, hit-
less so far, due up. Mack sent Bender in to pinch hit for him. In the ninth,
Nicholls moved to short and Bender played second, handling one ground
ball flawlessly. After the game a dejected Connie Mack sat in his office, “a
picture of misery and despair,” wrote Sporting News correspondent Horace
Fogel, “in the most dejected mood I have ever seen him.”
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The fans had roasted Knight and Collins after each misplay. The next day
the newspapers amplified the chorus of boos. Connie Mack was not con-
cerned about Collins; he’d be fine. But he had given up on Jack Knight for
not applying himself seriously enough to improve either with the glove or
the bat. Errors were part of the game, but so was attitude, and Mack didn’t
see what he wanted from Knight in that department.

It rained all the next day. Mack was busy on the telephone. He asked
for waivers on Knight. Cleveland and Washington claimed him. Then he
received a call from Boston. Jimmy Collins was available. Mack took the
next train to Boston.

Jimmy Collins had been a Boston favorite since 1896, first with the
Beaneaters, then as player-manager of the new American Leaguers (or
Americans, as the team was nicknamed at the time) beginning in 1901. He
had led them to pennants in 1903 and 1904 and to victory in the 1903 World
Series. But a 20-game losing streak in May 1906 had started them down-
hill, and they plummeted to the cellar. When Collins tried to bring in new
players to turn the team around, the owner stopped him and did his own
recruiting and importing. Collins, unable to shake off a knee injury that
limited him to 37 games, began staying away from the ballpark and was
suspended on August 28. He was fired as the manager but kept on as a
player. It was an uncomfortable situation for him and the club. Besides, he
was the team’s highest paid player at $8,500.

A steady hitter and smooth fielder, Collins had long been admired by
Mack, who consistently named him to his all-time All-Star team. “Jimmy
was another Lajoie,” Mack once said, “slick and fast. He had a great knack
of coming up with the ball between hops. He was also a great base runner
and a timely hitter.”

Collins was thirty-seven, but he looked to Mack as though he had not
lost a step in the field. On Thursday Mack watched him handle 7 chances,
including 2 hit-robbing snares of line drives off the bats of Cobb and Jones
that brought the cheering crowd to its feet.

Collins was expensive, but Mack wanted him. In addition to a two-year
contract at $8,500, Collins, who had married Sadie Murphy of Roxbury
during the winter and preferred to stay in Boston, wanted a $3,000 bonus
to go to Philadelphia. Mack agreed. He gave the Red Sox Jack Knight and
$7,500, and Mack and his new third baseman left for Philadelphia.

The Athletics recouped some of their investment in Collins on Saturday,
when a crowd of almost fifteen thousand greeted him at Columbia Park
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with a huge ovation. He rewarded them with 2 hits in the 4—2 win over St.
Louis. The transformation of the A’s was dramatic. Monte Cross was ready
to return to action at shortstop. Si Nicholls moved to second. Mack could
keep Eddie Collins beside him on the bench and use him to pinch hit. (In
August Mack received a call from Newark asking if it could borrow Collins
for a big series against Jersey City. Collins agreed to go. In four games he
was 8 for 16 but did almost as much damage with his glove, making 3 errors
in his first game at shortstop. Newark asked him to finish out the season
there, but Collins refused and returned to Philadelphia. He never played
another minor league game.)

For the first time all year, Mack’s outfield of Seybold, Hartsel, and Oldring
was in top form. Even Schreck was sober, twenty-five pounds lighter than
a year ago, his agile footwork enabling him to nab would-be thieves on the
base paths. He and Nicholls were the team’s top hitters.

The biggest turnout of the season, almost twenty thousand, filled the
seats and outfield on Saturday, June 15, with Larry Lajoie and the Naps
in town. Cleveland’s spitball artist, Glenn Liebhardst, started against Eddie
Plank. In 1906 Liebhardt had pitched five doubleheaders in the Southern
Association and won 9 of the 10 games. When the A’s pounded him for 7
runs in the second inning, the Naps claimed the ball had been “glucosed”
to nullify the effects of his wet fingers. Having played for Connie Mack,
Lajoie was sure he knew how the ball happened to be so sticky.

Then the third-place Tigers came to town for the first time. Hughie
Jennings was in the first year of his fourteen-year run as the Detroit man-
ager. The old Baltimore Oriole had turned Ban Johnson’s conservative
circuit upside down with his antics in the third base coaching box. With
only two playing managers in the league—Fielder Jones at Chicago and
Lajoie—managers frequently manned the coaching lines. None of them
caused the sensation that Jennings did. Plucking grass and flinging it in
the air, dancing around with his arms waving, he was never still and never
silent. He mixed unintelligible screeches and piercing “ee-yahs” with a
steady patter of encouragement: “That ol’ boy’s up there for a purpose. . ..
Make up your mind you can hit and you will. . . . Now just watch him, he’s
never failed yet”

Philadelphia fans hooted him. Writers claimed he was breaking six dif-
ferent rules governing coaches’ conduct. Once when he lost his voice, he
took a train conductor’s whistle with him and blew it constantly until Silk
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O’Loughlin threw him out of the game. Back came Hughie with the whistle
the next day and drew a ten-day suspension. There were no rules against
whistles, but Ban Johnson didn’t like them, and that was enough to earn a
suspension.

Asked to comment on Jennings’s style, Connie Mack said he didn’t think
the hijinks contributed anything to winning. But he understood why
Jennings made so much noise. “Bellowing and monkeyshines in the coach-
ing box have the single object of rattling the other team. Lively coaching is
the kind that keeps your own men awake and encouraged.”

The newspapers condemned the umpires for not stopping Jennings
from “carrying on like a lunatic,” as Fogel put it, “chasing up and down the
coaching lines like a hyena. Why not build a cage for him at each ballpark
in the circuit? If he must have a policeman’s whistle and toy sirens to blow,
why not give him bells to ring and pistols to shoot off?”

But Hugh Jennings wasn’t only about bells and whistles. He brought the
1890s Orioles’ scrappy approach to the game to the previously tame sixth-
place Tigers. He installed the twenty-year-old Ty Cobb in right field and
turned him loose on the bases, a display of confidence that Cobb credited
with launching his spectacular career. The Tigers were playing the fastest,
most scientific “inside game” of any of the western clubs.

The renewed Athletics split the Detroit series, Rube Waddell taking both
their losses. In the opener on June 18 he blew up in a 5-run fifth. In the
fourth game his clumsiness fielding bunts cost them the game.

After going 9-5 against the west, the A’s took 5 in a row from the league
doormats, the Nationals, and edged past Detroit into third place. They
didn’t stay long; in Boston they lost 3 out of 4—and Jack Coombs. On
June 27 the right-hander tore a tendon that threatened to put him on the
sidelines for the rest of the year. Jimmy Dygert went in cold from the bench
and gave up a run-scoring hit in the 1—o loss. With Coombs out and Bender
nursing a lame arm, Mack recalled right-hander Bill Bartley. Plank and
Dygert were his only reliable pitchers. Mack was fed up with Rube Waddell,
but he had to use him when Rube wasn’t off on a binge.

On July 4 the standings were:

Chicago 43—23
Cleveland 42—26
Philadelphia 3729
Detroit 3528
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The As had an unusual one-day stop in Detroit on July 5. Dygert was
knocked out in the sixth. Mack sent in Waddell, who acted as if he wished
he was someplace else. He pitched the last 3 innings like batting practice.
Mack sat on the bench and lit into him every time Rube came off the field.
Waddell ignored him. That night on the train to Chicago Mack said he
was ready to peddle the Rube. But the writers were skeptical. Connie had
been talking that way since April. And every time he did, the good, even
the great, Rube showed up. Maybe that’s why Mack said it. On July 11 in St.
Louis, Rube relieved Dygert in the seventh and picked up the win. Two days
later he pitched a 5-hitter.

When Bender said he felt better, he began a streak of 11 wins, never giv-
ing up more than 2 runs in a game. When he finally lost one, to Chicago on
August 21, it was by a 1—o score.

Mack was desperately looking for pitching help. He sent Al Maul scouting
in New England and Jack Coombs to look over the American Association.
They turned up nobody. Back home John Shibe signed a young southpaw,
George Craig, off the sandlots.

Before returning home, the A’s lost 3 in Detroit. In one game Mack used
three pitchers in 3 innings, Bartley and Craig among them. (Bartley pitched
2 complete games without a decision; they were both ties.) Mack picked up
pitcher Sam Hope from Newark. Hope faced 4 batters, retired 1. That was
the end of Hope.

Then they came home and won 13 of 16 against the west. Two of the losses
came on successive Saturdays, when the erratic Rube Waddell showed up
and threw away a game to Chicago and another to the crippled Naps. In
between he went on a week-long spree to Atlantic City. The writers were
making jokes about him. The fans began to boo him. The Rube didn’t read
the papers, but the fans’ hostility hurt him. He had already turned over
more leaves than an October nor’easter, but he vowed to turn over another
new one.

His teammates were fed up with him too. It’s doubtful that they let down
in their play when he pitched, as has been written. They were in a pennant
race and were out to win every game. But the turmoil was a distraction. They
took their concerns to Connie Mack and asked him to get rid of the Rube.

Mack wasn’t ready to let Waddell go. He knew that the left-hander was
healthy and unbeatable on his good days. His pitching staff was thin, with
Coombs sidelined and Bender on and off the sick list. But he didn’t use that
approach with his boys.
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He appealed to their pocketbooks. At home and on the road Waddell
was still a big attraction. Attendance was higher whenever he was expected
to pitch. “The Rube is a great drawing card,” Mack told them. “Without
him, the gate will fall off. If the gate falls off, I won’t be able to keep up my
present salary list. If you boys are willing to take a cut in your salaries, I'll
let him go.”

They decided to put up with Rube and his shenanigans for now.

Connie Mack was awake early as usual on Labor Day morning, September
2. He didn’t have to look out the window to hear that it was raining hard,
something else that was all too usual in this cold, wet summer. It didn’t
matter that the tail-end Washington Nationals were the opposition that
day. The Athletics were in a tight battle for the pennant. The Tigers held a
1-game lead over them, with Chicago another %2 game back and Cleveland
22 behind Detroit. So with a break in the weather, A’s rooters might fill the
seats and half the outfield for both the morning and afternoon games.

After breakfast Mack walked to his office. The rain had eased by then;
it gradually let up until, at ten o’clock, the grounds crew set to work mak-
ing the field playable. Mack took a chance on Coombs, who wasn’t yet
fully recovered from his torn tendon. Jawn gave it everything he had for 6
innings but lost, 3—1. That afternoon any doubts that the Athletics needed
a bigger place of business were demonstrably dispelled. They had to close
the gates an hour before game time, leaving at least five thousand disap-
pointed customers scrambling to find a way in or over the fences. The
rookie “Idaho Wonder” Walter Johnson took a 2—1 lead over Eddie Plank
into the ninth, when Collins and Oldring singled. Cross, pinch hitting for
Powers, put down a bunt that Johnson picked up and threw into right field.
The winning runs scored amid the joyous bedlam of the huge crowd.

The sun shone and the A’s made hay for the rest of the week. They
regained first place and pulled in just shy of one hundred thousand fans,
culminating in a Saturday mob with an estimated fifteen thousand left in
the streets around the park when the entrances were pushed shut.

Connie Mack was mindful of his experience down the stretch in 1905,
when his pitchers had been overworked and worn out. But he had a rusty
Jack Coombs, who said he was ready to work again; an unreliable Rube
Waddell; an inexperienced Bill Bartley; and a Bender whose arm or innards
could go bad at any time. Plank and Dygert couldn’t do it all.
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Sturdy as he looked, Eddie Plank was vulnerable. Martin Lawler minis-
tered to his arm and shoulder and gave him more attention than any other
pitcher. But there was nothing the trainer could do to alleviate Plank’s
mental exhaustion. Nobody expended more mental and emotional energy
in a game than the fidgeting, concentrating, conniving Gettysburg Eddie.
His time-consuming puttering before throwing a pitch, his mind calcu-
lating the whole time, was as wearing on him as on the impatient batter,
umpire, and fans. Silk O’Loughlin asked Ban Johnson to do something to
curb the dilatory tactics of pitchers like Plank who were causing games to
drag on past two hours.

Doubleheaders loomed. The A’s would be pitching by committee. Every-
body who was healthy might be called on to start or relieve on any day.

They spent the week of September 9 playing eight games against Boston.
Two of them went 13 innings: a classic Waddell-Young o—o tie when the
very, very good Rube showed up, and four days later a 66 tie in which
the horrid Rube was gone by the fourth, and Coombs, Bartley, and Plank
worked the rest of the game.

In one of their two losses that week, Jack Knight came back to bite them
with a game-winning home run off Bender. Meanwhile, the Browns took
3 out of 4 from Detroit while Cleveland was beating Chicago. By Sunday
night the A’s led both Chicago and Detroit by 3. Except for four games
in Washington, they were home for the rest of the season. They were a
great home club—50-20—while breaking even on the road. Connie Mack
exuded confidence. The players were spending their World Series money.
“The pennant is won,” declared Horace Fogel. Ed Bang of the Cleveland
News conceded the flag to Connie Mack. Philadelphia papers began to
speculate on pitching matchups against the National League runaway win-
ners, the Cubs.

Then the most calamitous week in the Athletics’ seven-year history fell
upon them. Jimmy Collins was limping with a bum knee. Bender’s arm
went lame again. Harry Davis had a sore hip, could hardly run, and couldn’t
slide at all. Trying to give Plank and Dygert a rest, Mack started Coombs.
He was kayoed in the first by New York. Mack used Bartley and Craig to
mop up in the 17-hit assault. The A’s lost 2 while Detroit was taking 2 from
Chicago.

And it rained on Wednesday and Thursday and Monday, a total of three
games washed away. The only two they played, they split with St. Louis.
An earlier strategic move by Connie Mack now backfired on him. The
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scheduling of makeup games was up to the home team. At times when his
pitching was thin, Mack had deliberately not rescheduled rainouts to avoid
doubleheaders. Two games against New York had been rained out in May.
Mack could have made them up then but didn’t, to save his pitchers. A July
29 rainout with St. Louis could have been played on any of the next three
days or in September, but it wasn’t. An August 9 rainout with Detroit could
have been played the next day but wasn’t. When it rained in late September,
there were no more opportunities to reschedule those games. As a result,
nine rainouts and ties were never made up. Detroit had four games can-
celled; the A’s would finish the season with five fewer decisions than the
Tigers. (Another consequence was a rule change requiring rainouts and ties
to be made up at the earliest possible dates beginning in 1908.)

Connie Mack had hoped to clinch the pennant by Friday, September 27,
giving him more than a week to rest his pitchers. But on that Friday morn-
ing, with the Tigers in town for three games, the A’s lead was onion-skin
thin: .6058 to .6056.

Two umpires worked the series, “Messrs. O’Loughlin and Connolly,”
as the box scores identified umpires. The British-born Tommy Connolly,
five-foot-six and weighing maybe 130, was undemonstrative, shouting his
ball and strike calls in a loud clear voice without gestures. Silk O’Loughlin
played to the grandstand, thrusting his right thumb back over his shoul-
der while yelling “Strrrriiiike” and his trademark “Tuh” for strike two in a
tenor that rivaled Irish troubadour John McCormack. Players making fun
of his vocal histrionics faced an early shower. “Silk was fierce and fiery on
the ball field when the occasion demanded,” said umpire George Moriarty.
“Physically, Silk couldn’t open a can of peas, but his moral courage made
him a giant in a tight spot during a ball game.”

Connie Mack respected O’Loughlin’s honesty, but he had cast doubts
on Silk’s “moral courage” following an incident in 1906 that led to the for-
feiture of a Labor Day game in New York. Mack never lodged an official
protest, but, significantly, O’Loughlin hadn’t been assigned to Philadelphia
for a year.

The As lost the game and the lead to Detroit on Friday, 5—4. Plank
outpitched Bill Donovan, but outstanding fielding and timely hitting by
Germany Schaefer and Sam Crawford and a costly error by Jimmy Collins
beat them. The A’s had 13 hits but left 12 on base.

Saturday it rained. Sunday they rested. Monday morning people began
gathering around Columbia Park hours before the showdown double-
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header would begin at two o’clock. And they never stopped gathering, first
by the hundreds, then the thousands. The last ticket was sold and the gates
pushed shut shortly before noon. The more agile who were left outside
scrambled over the beer ads on the outside of the right-field fence and
spilled onto the field. A human battering ram massed behind center field
on Columbia Avenue and broke down the fence. Thousands more perched
on rooftops along Twenty-ninth Street. Not a blade of grass was visible
beneath the throng behind the outfield ropes.

The official attendance of 24,127 was a record for a major league game. In
the years to come, when those who were there spun tales to their children
and grandchildren about baseball in the good old days, this would be the
day most often remembered. Ty Cobb called it the greatest game he ever
played in.

Great doesn’t equate with well played. The A’s made 6 errors; Detroit
made 7. But for excitement, drama, and controversy in the crucible of a
fierce pennant race, this game rates as great.

Connie Mack needed two wins that day. Anything less would enable
the Tigers to begin the final week with at least a 1-game lead and only the
second division Nationals and Browns as opposition. The A’s faced three
tough games with Cleveland before ending the season in Washington.

Whatever stirred inside him, Connie Mack showed nothing but his cus-
tomary calm as he took his usual seat in the middle of the bench, scorecard
and pencil in his right hand, left elbow on his knee, his chin resting in his
left hand. However long the game might last, he wouldn’t budge from that
spot. Nobody had ever seen him go to the water bucket for a drink dur-
ing a game, even on the hottest days. He might use a little body English to
coax a ball fair or foul or into an outfielder’s glove. If he became nervous or
excited, his bony rear end might shift back and forth on the bench; the seat
of his trousers wore out long before the cuffs frayed.

Wild Bill Donovan, who was 6-1 against the A’s so far this year, and
Jimmy Dygert were the pitchers. Both were considered well rested; Dygert
hadn’t pitched since Thursday, Donovan since Friday. The Athletics knew
that Donovan often grew stronger as a game went along. Before the game,
Connie Mack reminded them, “Go to it, boys. Bang away.”

Mack’s expression was probably the only one in Columbia Park that
didn’t change while the A’s scored 3 runs off Donovan in the first.

Pitching with an early lead seemed to unnerve Dygert. After Rossman
led off the second with a single, Coughlin hit a comebacker to Dygert, who
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made a bad throw to second. Everybody was safe. Schmidt sacrificed them
to second and third. O’Leary hit another tapper to the pitcher. Instead of
going for the out at first, Dygert went after Rossman, who was halfway
home. Dygert chased him toward the plate, then fired the ball to Schreck at
thelastinstant. The ball bounced off Schreck’s chest protector, and Rossman
scored. The rattled pitcher then walked Donovan on four pitches.

Mack could see disaster coming. He had to get Dygert out of there. But
who to bring in? He needed Plank for the second game. Coombs had been
too erratic to trust in this spot. There was nobody but Rube. Mack could
only hope the good Waddell would show up. He sent him in and stopped
squirming when Rube struck out Jones and Schaefer to end the inning.

The A’s continued to pound Donovan, scoring 2 in the third, while
Waddell stifled the Tigers. In the fifth, Harry Davis hit a home run over the
right-field fence. The fans’ cheering and foot-stomping rocked the wooden
grandstand. Jimmy Collins hit a fly deep into the crowd, then Oldring hit
one to the edge of the crowd in left. Davy Jones backed up to the ropes but
stopped short of reaching over them. The ball dropped at the feet of the
first rank of standees, well within his reach. Collins scored. It was now 7—-1.

Ty Cobb said, “When [Jones] came back to the bench our players were so
mad they practically tore the uniform off his back.”

Later there was speculation over why Jennings left Donovan in so long.
He had plenty of able pitchers. Connie Mack offered a sentimental expla-
nation to Fred Lieb. “We hit Donovan hard enough in the early innings to
drive two pitchers out of the box. But Bill was a Philadelphian, and when-
ever he worked at Columbia Park, his father, brothers, a lot of relatives and
friends came out to see him pitch. And if we had made twenty runs off him
that day, Hughie wouldn’t have taken Bill out; he wouldn’t hurt Donovan’s
feelings before his people.”

Maybe. It’'s doubtful that Jennings would have risked a pennant for
Donovan’s feelings. He may have figured that the way Waddell was throw-
ing, the game was lost, so why use another pitcher. Donovan was the gam-
est pitcher he had and may have refused to come out if he was asked. The
most likely explanation came from Donovan himself. He had been hit hard
in Friday’s game but won because none of the hits came at the right time
to beat him. All during that game he suspected that one or both of the
Athletics’ coaches were reading his catcher’s signs. They were experts at
that. Down 7—1 now, he was convinced that they were still reading them.
He may have told Jennings, who replaced his catcher, Schmidt, with Fred
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Payne after the fifth inning. Payne was a .166 hitter, but he had a better arm
and head than Schmidt. Payne and Donovan huddled and changed their
entire sign system. That’s when Donovan “suddenly braced,” “suddenly set-
tled,” as various writers reported it.

The Tigers got to Waddell for 4 runs in the seventh, but it wasn’t the
Rube who blew up. He gave up a hit and a walk and should have been out
of the inning without a run scoring. Donovan led off and hit an easy fly
ball that Oldring dropped. Jones walked. Schaefer hit a double play ball
right at Nicholls at short. He booted it. Crawford walloped a double into
the crowd. Cobb’s groundout scored Schaefer. Rossman’s groundout scored
Crawford. The A’s led, 7—5. They scored a run in the bottom of the seventh;
Detroit scored 1 in the eighth. It was now 8—6.

Given Connie Mack’s pattern of using his pitchers, he would have likely
brought in Bender at this point, as he had done so often that year. But
Bender had an ailing wing. Waddell had been effective for 7 innings. He
wasn’t clowning. And the Tigers had three left-handers coming up to bat.
One of them, Crawford, was killing them, but Cobb was hitless.

Crawford singled to center to start the ninth. Cobb stood in, leaning over
the plate. Waddell shot a fastball up over the inside corner. Cobb took it.
Afterwards, Rube said he guessed Cobb would be looking for the next one
outside, so he threw another one up and in. Cobb outguessed Rube and
was looking for the same pitch again. He stepped back from the plate and
whacked it over the right-field fence to tie the game. The impact hit Connie
Mack like an earthquake. He slid so far on the bench that he tumbled into
the bats lined up on the ground in front of him.

Mr. Mack picked himself up and nodded to Eddie Plank to go in to
pitch. If he held them here and the A’s could score in the last of the ninth,
Eddie could still start the second game. If this one went longer, there prob-
ably wouldn’t be enough daylight to play a second game. Mack sent Doc
Powers in to replace Schreck behind the plate. Plank ended the inning with
no more damage.

But the Detroit battery’s change of signs had quieted the A’s attack.
Donovan’s speed never slowed nor his curves dulled. Both teams scored a
run in the eleventh. Plank pitched out of a 3 on, 2 out spot in the twelfth.
Nobody threatened in the thirteenth.

In the bottom of the fourteenth, Harry Davis lifted a high fly into left-
center field. Sam Crawford raced along the ropes directly toward a blue-
uniformed policeman sitting on an upturned soda crate. The cop jumped
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up to get out of his way just as Crawford and the ball arrived. The ball fell
into the crowd just beyond the ropes and Crawford’s glove. Davis stood on
second. The crowd roared.

So did the Tigers. They swarmed around Silk O’Loughlin at home plate,
demanding that interference be called. As the chief umpire, O’Loughlin
had to make the call, even though he was far from the action and prob-
ably had a worse view than the players on the bench. All the A’s were on
the field, claiming the policeman had been trying to get out of Crawford’s
way. Topsy Hartsel reported to Mack that O’Loughlin told him he had seen
no interference. Mack remained calm, satisfied that that was the way it
would stand. But the Tigers kept arguing. Thousands of feet stomped on
the floorboards of the grandstand. The noise was deafening.

O’Loughlin made no sign, no gesture, indicating a decision. Meanwhile,
out near second base, little Tommy Connolly stood quietly. Why O’Loughlin
waited so long—or maybe it just seemed so long—is a mystery, but he
finally walked out to Connolly at second base and asked, “Was there inter-
ference, Tommy?”

“There was,” replied Connolly without hesitating.

Only then did O’Loughlin raise his right hand and declare Davis out.
Well. That really set the flint to the fuse. Somebody said something to some-
body, and fists began flying on the field. Monte Cross and Claude Rossman
squared off. That brought more police and some spectators into the melee.
Somebody reportedly called Connolly “You Irish immigrant.” That was
mild compared to what Connie Mack was yelling at Silk O’Loughlin. He
hadn’t been so mad since the day he cussed out Hank O’Day and was
ejected back in 1895.

When the field was finally cleared, with Cross and Rossman banished,
Danny Hoffman hit a long single that would have scored Davis easily with
the winning run. It went for naught except to rub a little salt into Connie
Mack’s wounded heart.

After17 innings it was almost six o’clock and almost dark. Silk O’Loughlin
called the game. Connie Mack was still seething. In a rage he invaded the
umpires’ dressing room looking for O’Loughlin, not Connolly.

“Poking one of those bony fingers at O’Loughlin,” Fred Lieb wrote, “he
said, Silk, if you will tell me why you told Hartsel you saw no interference,
and then changed your mind, I will take back everything I said.

“Silk made no reply.”

In retrospect, it seems obvious why O’Loughlin made the call as he did
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after conferring with the umpire who was closest to the play. But it isn’t
clear why he didn’t say so at the time. Whether that exchange between
manager and umpire actually took place as Lieb described, the incident
shook O’Loughlin. When O’Loughlin died in 1918, the manager of the
Philadelphia hotel where he had stayed revealed that he had called on
the umpire in his room that evening to hear his version of the play. “Silk
told his story, and at the finish broke down and fell to his knees. Making a
gesture upward, he said, ‘Before God, I was right.”

Connie Mack went home that day believing he had been the victim of
a felony. He obtained affidavits from the policeman and spectators in the
vicinity of the alleged crime. He publicly called O’Loughlin a “robber” and
was publicly rebuked for it.

The Detroit News-Tribune expressed surprise at the vehemence of Mack’s
outburst. “If Connie Mack has made his statement blindly and in the heat
of anger he should be the one made to suffer. This is the first time a mag-
nate has deliberately impeached the integrity of an umpire. Mack prob-
ably spoke too hastily. . . . Mack is the last man in the league thought to
make such an attack on an umpire. No matter what decisions are rendered
Connie takes them philosophically as a rule and never makes a kick.”

Francis C. Richter, usually a stolid Mack booster, defended O’Loughlin
as “honest, courageous, and called it as he saw it.”

O’Loughlin was in Chicago during the World Series that fall and told
the Chicago American, “I have been accused of being crooked by Mack
and I will allow no man to get away with that no matter if I never umpire
another game of ball as long as I live. I put it up to Mr. Johnson to look into
the matter and I feel sure that I shall get justice.”

The matter came up at the league meeting in December. Ban Johnson
disposed of it by suggesting that managers be more careful in what they
say in the future.

The Athletics never forgot it. Thereafter they would draw a thumb for
slipping in a reference to it while arguing with O’Loughlin over a call they
didn’t like. A deep frost set in between Connie Mack and Silk O’Loughlin.
The two stubborn Irishmen never spoke to each other again. According to
George Moriarty,

In the summer of 1918, just prior to a game one day, Connie Mack
invited me to umpire a benefit game which the Athletics were to play
at the shipyards in Philadelphia. Connie also asked me to persuade
Silk, with whom I was teamed at the time, to officiate in this game
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with me. Connie stated he would have extended a personal invitation
to Silk, but presumed Silk would frown upon it. After the game I con-
veyed Connie’s request to Silk, but the latter appeared stunned and
surprised. A full minute seemed to pass before Silk answered, and in
those fleeting seconds I thought I saw a great change in his expression.
He was spanning the events that led back to that hectic afternoon in
1907, and was dropping a gigantic burden he had been carrying for
those eleven years. Silk, the great little gentleman-warrior, accepted
the invitation, and seemed willing to bridge the chasm of bitterness
that intervened.

The following day, Silk asked my opinion of the estrangement
between himself and Connie. He told me he had suffered untold ago-
nies and remorse over the affair. . . . I realized the American League
deplored the break between these two men and felt the moment of
reconciliation was imminent. . .. I explained it to Silk in that manner.
At first he was inclined to be adamant, but he finally became acquies-
cent to a point where he said at the start of next season he would shake
hands with Connie, and let bygones be bygones.

The handshake never took place. That winter the influenza epidemic
took Silk O’Loughlin.

In the last week of the 1907 season, Jimmy Dygert pitched 3 shutouts in
four days, giving him 21 wins for the year, but the A’s were unable to catch
up with Detroit. Plank lost twice; the Tigers won 5 of their last 7 and fin-
ished 1% games in front.

Connie Mack always maintained the disputed decision had cost him the
game and the 1907 pennant. But other factors cost the A’s that game: 6
errors, Topsy Hartsel being picked off second after a lead-off double, Ty
Cobb outguessing Rube Waddell. As for the pennant, the loss of Bender
for the last three weeks, the injury to Coombs, Rube Waddell’s consistent
inconsistency, the nine games that were never made up—any one of these
factors was enough to make the difference. That the Athletics were able
to hang on so close to the leaders to the end was a tribute to Mack and
his players, who never gave up. “Keep plugging; we’ll get "em yet,” Mack
exhorted his men, and they had responded.

In a 1943 Atlantic Monthly article, Connie Mack said, “The worst mistake
I ever made was back in 1907, running nip-and-tuck with Detroit. I had a
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pitcher named Jimmy Dygert who could beat anyone for seven innings,
then he was finished. If I had found this out in time I could have won the
pennant. I didn’t realize it until after the season.”

It’s difficult to reconcile this statement with Dygert’s 21-8 record and
strong finish. But Dygert had completed only 18 of his 28 starts—64 per-
cent, about the same as Waddell and well below the league average of 74
percent. Bender completed 20 of 24 starts, Plank 33 of 40, so Mack may
have been using them as his standard for Dygert, a standard few pitchers
could meet.

At the end of that hectic, frustrating, disappointing final week of the sea-
son, Connie Mack was exhausted. And it showed. “He is a hard worker,”
said a Detroit writer, “and the work tells on him.”

Even the local writers, who did nothing but watch and report what they
saw, were worn out. “I never put in such a season of hard labor before,”
moaned Horace Fogel. “To tell the truth I was all but down and out before
the end came and could scarcely hold myself together till the finish, when
I had to hie myself out to the country for a brief rest.”

But Philadelphia newspapers no longer presented a solid corps of sup-
port. The Record charged that baseball’s pennant races had been rigged
to boost attendance for the past two years. Ben Shibe angrily denounced
the charges. Philadelphia fans had no problem putting Ben Shibe’s reputa-
tion for honesty above that of the Record’s writers, Ray Ziegler and A. M.
Gilliam.

Despite the rains and cancelled games, the Athletics had enjoyed another
prosperous season. Attendance was up 130,000 to 625,581—almost 10,000 a
game—a record for the city.

After ending the season in Washington on Saturday, October 5, Connie
Mack left for Worcester on Tuesday to visit Tom, his wife Alice, and their
three-year-old daughter Helen. They lived in the Franklin Hotel. Helen’s
favorite uncle, Connie was always a welcome visitor, but this was not just
a social visit.

The Franklin was about a mile from the Holy Cross campus, where the
Crusaders’ ball field was located. For three years Tom had been watching
the school’s shortstop, Jack Barry, and sending his brother reports on him.

Born in Meriden, Connecticut, where Connie Mack had begun his pro-
fessional career, Barry was the epitome of Mack’s kind of ballplayer. “In the
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critical stages of the game is where Barry would shine,” recalled his college
coach, Pat Carney, “both at bat and in the field: cool, a quick thinker and
game as a pebble. Barry seldom failed to save a close game for us with an
exhibition of some of the finest fielding I have ever seen, or to win a close
game for us with one of his timely hits.

“Barry had a wonderful arm, could throw from any position, and fielded
his position in great shape. He was equally good going to his right or left
for ground balls, could go in fast for slow hit balls, go back well for fly balls,
and in taking a throw at second base for a double play, could complete it
quicker than any ball player I have ever seen. He was a marvel of speed even
at that time.”

Barry was a leader, captain-elect of the 1908 team. Of course, a star like
Barry didn’t go unnoticed. Other scouts saw him too and were ready to
sign him after graduation.

Connie Mack didn’t wait that long. The practice of signing college play-
ers before their final collegiate season was common. A letter he wrote in
April 1908 to third baseman Larry Gardner at the University of Vermont
illustrates Mack’s approach. In it he offered Gardner a contract for $300 a
month, with one month paid in advance, to join the Athletics after gradu-
ation. Mack assured Gardner that his senior year of baseball would not be
jeopardized because “it will not be necessary for anyone but you and I to
know that you have signed.” (Gardner eventually signed with the Red Sox.)

Tom invited Jack Barry to meet his brother at the hotel. It helped that
Coach Carney was a former outfielder for the Boston Nationals and knew
Connie Mack’s reputation as a manager and teacher. Carney urged Barry
to talk to Mack, “for I knew that Connie was a great manager for a young
player to sign up with,” Carney wrote.

At the meeting Barry threw Connie Mack a curve. He wanted a bonus to
sign. “It’s not my policy to pay bonuses,” Mack said. Barry said he wanted
$500. Mack knew other teams would gladly pay it. He agreed but requested
of Barry, “Don’t say anything about it” (Barry never did; long after all the
participants were deceased, Jack Barry’s nephew revealed the story to the
author.)

Barry agreed to report after the 1908 Holy Cross season and graduation.
Connie Mack put the signed contract in his safe and headed for California
for three months to rest and look for another reliable left-hander.

Stopping for a few days in Chicago, Mack gave no hint that Rube
Waddell’s days in an Athletics uniform were numbered. “One thing is
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certain,” he told a reporter, “we will not let Rube Waddell go yet. The big
southpaw is too valuable a man to dispose of and his arm is too good for a
long time yet if it remains as good as it was for the best part of last summer.
I must admit that Waddell is not the easiest man in the world to get along
with. He needs constant attention and watching. He is far from being fool-
ish, however, for he knows how far he can go at any time and still be within
bounds. When he’s working well, he needs the most watching. When he is
not in good form he is on his good behavior. We may get some youngsters
for next season but no change will be made in the regular team.”

Meanwhile, some of the Athletics had organized a week’s barnstorm-
ing tour in Pennsylvania and New Jersey. Led by Harry Davis, they invited
Rube Waddell to join them. It wasn’t unanimous. Fairly or not, some of
them blamed Rube for costing them the pennant with his unreliability
during the season and for that ninth-inning home run of Cobb’s. But Rube
was the magnet that would draw the crowds, so they took him along.

Before they started, everybody agreed that no money would be divided
until the tour ended and all expenses had been paid. Everything went
smoothly until they reached Williamsport, the next to last stop, on Friday,
October 11. There, as Mack put it, “Schreck was seized with a thirst.” Osee
talked Rube into demanding their share of the money then and there.

Thirty years later Mack related the story to John Kieran of the New York
Times. “They had a meeting and by George it was pretty serious. Harry
Davis was the one who was taking care of the money and he wouldn’t give
it up. Rube, egged on by Schreck, was ready to fight for it. There were a
lot of big strong fellows—Bender and Davis and Murphy and Rube and
Schreck—and for a time it looked like half my team would be killed off.”

Davis and the rest held their ground. Waddell left the team and went
home.

Winning bred tolerance for Rube’s peccadilloes; losing dissolved it. As
much as he valued harmony, Connie Mack knew that arguments, fights,
and temper tantrums were bound to occur during a long season. He also
knew that a talented team could overcome cliques, jealousies, even animos-
ities, and still win. But he believed that a team could win just as handily and
a lot more happily without those distractions. When he learned about the
Williamsport blowup, he realized that the hostility felt by his players and
the public toward Rube Waddell had become too deeply rooted to ignore.
The Rube had to go.

Mack was certain there were a lot more strikeouts in the thirty-one-
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year-old Waddell’s amazing left arm “when he was right.” Other managers
believed it too. But they were also aware of what they’d have to put up with
if they acquired Waddell. So when Mack tried to trade him, nobody offered
an acceptable player in exchange. In the end he had to settle for cash, which
he needed less than a dependable arm. On February 6 the St. Louis Browns
paid $7,500 for Waddell, confident that they would get it back at the gate
whenever he pitched. They were right.

Connie Mack was genuinely sorry to see Rube depart. He always main-
tained that “Waddell had more on the ball than any man that ever lived.”
But it was more than that. For all the gray hairs Waddell gave him, Mack
missed him like a father misses a favorite child who gave him the most joy
as well as the most trouble. “I never had a dull moment while he was on my
payroll,” Mack said, “but I always liked him for all that.”

In 1914, when Rube Waddell lay dying of tuberculosis in a San Antonio
sanitarium, Connie Mack saw to it that Rube had the best medical care and
the A’s paid all the bills. Rube’s sister, whose husband was a Western Union
manager, kept Mack informed of Rube’s condition.

Mack was in Raleigh when he learned of Rube’s death on April 1,1914. He
told reporters, “Waddell was the greatest pitcher in the game, and although
widely known for his eccentricities, was more sinned against than sinned.
He was the best hearted man on the team and every man whom he came in
contact with will verify my statement. If a teammate was sick, Rube was the
first man to see him and the last to leave. If he had money it went to some
gift or offering for the sick man. He made my team, and every follower of
the White Elephant banner in this city knows this in his heart. He came
to Philadelphia a stranger but entered into the spirit of the city and tried
with all his heart to bring pennants there. He may have failed us at times,
but to him I and the other owners of the Philadelphia ball club owe much.
The pennants of 1902 and 1905 were won for us mainly through the efforts
of the Rube, and if he had not been injured in that straw hat incident at
the close of the latter season we would have won that world championship
from the Giants in a walk. He was badly injured, too. I cannot say how
sorry I am to hear this news.”

Three months later Waddell’s battery mate and playmate, Osee
Schrecengost, died in Philadelphia.

In 1923, when John McGraw advised Mack that Rube’s grave in San
Antonio had no suitable marker, they raised the money to install a granite
monument.
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CONNIE MACK’S BASEBALL
SCHOOL

34

While scouting in California in November 1907, Connie Mack confronted
a mother who didn’t want her son to be a ballplayer. As he did wherever he
went, Mack had won many friends on his previous trips to San Francisco.
One of them, Chief Deputy Coroner Peter McCormack, thought of Mack
while watching a local left-hander, Harry Krause, pitch for playground
teams and then for St. Mary’s College, where he was now a senior. Mack
had also been tipped off to Krause by another Irishman, Josh Reilly, a San
Franciscan who had played briefly in the National League when Mack was
managing the Pirates. Reilly, a third baseman with the San Jose club, wrote
to Mack advising him to sign Krause, who wanted $400 a month. Mack sent
Reilly a 1908 contract for that amount and a $200 check in advance to bind
the deal and asked Reilly to get Krause’s signature. He received no reply.
Soon after he arrived, Mack saw Krause pitch for St. Mary’s against a
team from Honolulu. After the game he asked the pitcher why he had not
signed the contract. Krause told him his mother wanted him to finish col-
lege before he even thought about becoming a ballplayer. Mack visited Mrs.
Krause and assured her that Harry’s studies would not be interrupted. He
wouldn’t have to report to the Athletics until after graduation. With that
promise, Harry signed. Mack also signed an outfielder from the University
of California, Heinie Heitmuller, and acquired catcher Syd Smith from
Atlanta and right-handers Nick Carter and Vic Schlitzer from the Class
B New York State League, where Schlitzer had won 27 for Utica. Between
draft fees and purchases, he spent almost $12,000 on minor leaguers.
Mack was back in Philadelphia in time for the writers’ banquet on
February 24, 1908, honoring Monte Cross, who was leaving to manage
Kansas City. Two days later the A’s left Broad Street station at 3:55 for New
Orleans, where they would stay for two weeks. Among the group was Joseph
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C. Ohl, the new traveling secretary. Ohl fit right in with the Athletics. He
was a talkative, good-natured optimist who fielded complaints as smoothly
as Nap Lajoie handled line drives. Ohl’s sideline made him even more inter-
esting to Connie Mack: he managed two prize fighters.

Among the missing was Eddie Collins, down with pneumonia in
Tarrytown.

They arrived in New Orleans on Friday, worked out on Saturday, and
played their first practice game on Sunday. Jimmy Collins, after a winter of
rigorous training at home in Buffalo, reported twenty-five pounds lighter,
his bum knee completely healed, and displayed all his old agility. Without
Rube Waddell, it was a calm, uneventful spring. The weather was good, but
the water was bad. When Mack and Rube Oldring took sick from it, the
club brought in bottled water. Doc Powers picked up an ear infection while
swimming in the salt water pool at the Young Men’s Gymnastic Club and
went home to recover. Then Socks Seybold tore up a knee sliding and went
home on crutches.

Mack considered his options. He could move Danny Murphy to right
field and put Si Nicholls on second and Collins, when he recovered, at
short. Coombs could play the outfield until his sore arm healed.

Then they went on the road for two weeks, heading north. Sizing up
the pennant race, Mack considered the Tigers the team to beat. They were
young, fast, and powerful, with a proven pitching staff. The emergence of
Ty Cobb as the most dynamic force in the league gave them a dimension no
other team could match. Starting only his third season, Cobb was already
the nonpareil of baseball, against whom future phenoms would be mea-
sured and hyped as the next Cobb.

“Cobb twisted the American League into knots with his audacious bat-
ting and baserunning,” Mack said. “His fire on the ball field was amazing,
his spirit undaunted. He was never beaten.”

Mack knew the youngsters he was bringing along were nowhere near
ready. His only chance to be in the race was to get off to a fast start, open
a big lead, and hope it held up when the inevitable late-season wilting
occurred.

They opened the season with eleven games against New York and
Boston. As usual, it was cold and wet. As usual, Bender was sick, this time
with a heavy cold. Plank needed warmer weather to pitch at his best. Mack
decided to use his veterans sparingly until May. His opening day pitcher
in New York was Nick Carter. Rube Vickers, back for another chance after
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posting a 25-9 record at Williamsport, started the second game, and Vic
Schlitzer the third. They lost 2 of the 3 but pitched well. Carter lost, 1-o,
in 12 innings. Vickers lost a 4-hitter, 2—1. Schlitzer won, 8—2. In those first
eleven games, they were 6-5.

Mack placed his hopes for a fast getaway on those three arms plus Jimmy
Dygert. They worked just about every day, often two or three of them in
a game. Vickers took over the workhorse role; starting and relieving he
appeared in 53 games, second to Ed Walsh’s 66. Vickers gave Mack 300
innings of work.

“If the pitching doesn’t break down, nothing can stop us,” Mack declared.
It didn’t turn out that way. The hitting broke down first, then the fielding
and base running, although the A’s pulled off the club’s first triple steal, led
by Harry Davis, on April 27, and the next day turned a nifty triple play. But
generally they played ragged ball. Mistakes on the bases cost them some
games; errors cost others. Game after game they had 3 hits, 2 hits, 6 hits.
Even when they won, they might do it with only 3 hits. The pitchers began
to believe they had to throw a shutout to have a chance to win, and even
then they might earn nothing but a draw. It was only a matter of time
before they collapsed under the strain.

The outfield was never settled. A still wobbly Eddie Collins played right
and center, as did Jack Coombs. Mack bought Jack Fox from Memplhis,
tried five-foot-five Herbie Moran, signed Frank Shaughnessy when the
short-lived independent Union League folded in May. Sometimes Danny
Murphy patrolled the outfield.

The infield didn’t come together either. Collins and Nicholls shifted
between second and shortstop. Mack dipped down to Monroe in the Cotton
States League to buy Frank Manush, older (by eighteen years) brother of
Heinie Manush. And it was still only May. By the end of the year thirty-
seven players would wear an Athletics uniform, nineteen of them making
their major league debuts.

The A’s won against the tail-end Highlanders and Nationals but couldn’t
beat the western teams, at home or on the road. On the Browns’ first visit to
Columbia Park, Rube Waddell’s return drew more than twenty thousand
on a Tuesday afternoon. He had a grand time beating his old teammates,
5—2. On July 29 he struck out 16 of them, tying the league record. It took the
A’s until August 14 to win one from him.

By mid-June the Athletics’ team batting average was .206, last in the
league. Yet they stayed in the pennant race. All hopes of sprinting out of
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the gate to a commanding lead had vanished. But nobody else was sprint-
ing either. The A’s were in the pack with the four western clubs in a race so
close you could cover the first six teams with a one-cent stamp. They were
actually in first place on Sunday morning, June 7. They dipped to second
that afternoon, when they had only 2 hits in a typical 1—o loss. The next day
Waddell blanked them, 10-0, and they tumbled all the way to fifth, only %2
game from the top. They lost 7 in a row, 4 by shutouts, and fell to sixth, still
only 5% games out of first. The White Sox jumped from seventh to first in
four days as the start of a 13-game winning streak put them into the lead
despite their being just 3 games over .500.

The slim margins between the teams didn’t delude Connie Mack. He
knew his Athletics couldn’t keep pace with the younger, more aggressive
western clubs. And they didn’t. By the end of June they fell 6 games behind
the league-leading Browns. It was time to concentrate on the future.

Connie Mack’s baseball school was now in session. The headmaster,
whose boys esteemed him as a paternal influence as much as an employer,
was now forty-five years old, the oldest manager in the league except for Joe
Cantillon, forty-six, in Washington. He had been a manager for fourteen
years. Creating champions out of raw young talent was still his favorite part
of the business. He had the backing of his partner and enough resources
to absorb the nearly 30 percent drop in attendance that 1908 would bring.
He had the patience to endure the mistakes and errors that green players
make while they learn. At the same time Mack understood one of baseball’s
enduring truths: nobody could ever know beforehand how a rookie would
adapt to the major leagues.

The morning practices belonged to the youngsters. That was their time
to take instructions and experiment. The afternoon games were lesson time
on the bench for the newest students. Mack taught them to concentrate on
what was happening on the field and learn the secrets of inside baseball.
He told them he wouldn’t be giving them orders, telling them what to do
all the time. They would learn how to fish for themselves, to call their own
signs, design plays, and execute them. Connie Mack was not afraid to make
a mistake, and he created an atmosphere in which his boys would not be
afraid to try plays that failed, then go back and work to perfect them or try
something else.

“Players should be drilled to think for themselves,” he told a writer. “If
they are bright and capable they soon learn to pull together. All coach-
ing should be done in practice. When the men are on the field lined up
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for the game, like actors, they should know their parts, without help from
the manager on the bench. It is necessary to occasionally give advice and
instructions. This is especially true when the players are at bat. On the field,
any necessary help should come from the team captain.”

On the bench he might say, “Watch this base runner. See if you can find
out anything. Watch his hands, his feet. See if you can discover his signals
for a hit and run play”

Sometimes he’d say to one rookie sitting beside him, “Watch the second
baseman,” and to another, “Watch the shortstop. See if you can tell which
one will cover the base on a steal attempt. If you're the hitter, then you’ll
know where to poke the ball.”

Harry Davis gave them tips on reading pitchers. Frank Smith of the
White Sox was a tough spitball artist for them. One day Davis told them he
noticed that every time Smith threw a spitter, he looked at the ball when
he rubbed it. If he just rubbed it without looking at it, a fastball was com-
ing. Eddie Collins picked up the knack and soon didn’t need a tipster. He
developed the ability to read what kind of pitch was coming by the pitch-
er’s wrist or hand position when the ball was thrown. Pitchers who threw
every ball the same way gave him the most trouble. Tip-offs didn’t always
help. Ed Walsh raised his eyebrows and the peak of his cap went up when
he applied the slippery elm to the ball. He knew it and everybody in the
league knew it, but they still couldn’t hit it.

Soon the youngsters were watching everybody on the field. One of them
discovered that a certain infielder had a habit of shifting a little to his right
when his catcher called for a curve and to the left when a fast one was
called for. All a batter had to do was glance at the infielder to know what
was coming.

A sign on the left-field fence at Bennett Park in Detroit advertised the
Penobscot Inn. The ad featured a large painting of an Indian’s face. The
eyes were made from flat pieces of tin. One day the A’s pitcher was being hit
hard in the first inning. As the bombardment continued, a rookie sitting
beside Mr. Mack said, “I may be crazy, but it looks to me like that Indian’s
eyes are moving.” He was right. The eyes moved to the left when a fastball
was called, to the right for a curve. The A’s changed their signs; the Tigers
didn’t score again the rest of the game. The next morning they went behind
the sign and found ropes and pulleys used to move the eyes and reported it
to the league. Connie Mack had taught them well.

Mack advised them to watch their own teammates too, to spot what
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the other team might pick up. Fidgety Eddie Plank was enough to make
an alabaster bust nervous. When he first broke in, Mack and his catch-
ers had noticed he was tipping his curve by moistening his fingers, then
wiping them dry. He cured himself of the habit—most of the time. Mack
taught his boys to be alert to it; whenever Plank lapsed they were to holler
a reminder to him.

Hundreds of young athletes could run, throw, and hit. But if they didn’t
instinctively know what to do—how to play the game to win, to pick up
on MacKk’s points and pursue them on their own—he’d let them go. Mack
looked for “born” ballplayers. It only took one. He believed he could build
a winning team around that one star. It didn’t take him long to realize that
Eddie Collins could be that kind of star.

The young Eddie Collins was all legs, “split to the navel,” Branch Rickey
described him. He could fly—home to first on a bunt in 3.4 seconds—but
he was an awkward runner. His sliding made Connie Mack wince. The
teacher didn’t tell the pupil how bad he was at running the bases. He waited
for the right opportunity. Then, one day when Ty Cobb was on first base,
Mack said to Collins, “Eddie, did you ever notice how Cobb slides? Very
nice, isn’t it?”

Mack never mentioned it to Collins again. He didn’t have to. He relied
on Eddie’s intelligence and determination to improve. And it worked. The
next spring Collins spent more time in the sliding pit than anyone else. He
became as elusive a base runner as Cobb.

But Collins was still a man without a position. They needed his bat in the
lineup; he and Murphy were the two leading hitters, which wasn’t saying
much. Collins was batting around .250 at the time. Any idea of playing him
in the outfield ended abruptly one day.

“It was a mean sun field,” Collins recalled, “and the sun glasses hooked to
my ears kept sliding down my nose. Then a high fly ball came soaring over
near the line and I went for it. The glasses slipped. I stumbled, fell, and the
ball whizzed past my ear to smack the earth. When I came in, Mack said,
“You better stay away from the outfield or you’ll get killed.”

Francis C. Richter, editor of Sporting Life, described Collins as “not at
home as a second baseman; [he] loses many plays.” Collins had big hands
and heavy fingers, but he didn’t have the arm for a shortstop or third base-
man. Mack watched and thought and concluded: Danny Murphy is a better
outfielder than Collins will ever be; Collins might one day become a bet-
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ter second baseman than Murphy will ever be. He moved Murphy to right
field. Under the tutoring of Mack, Murphy, and Harry Davis, the making
of a second baseman began.

Jack Barry played his last game for Holy Cross on June 16, the Crusaders
defeating Williams, 5—0. The Worcester Evening Gazette reported that Barry
had “turned down at least four other clubs and decided to cast his lot with
Connie Mack, and will sign after today’s game.” That signing had taken place
months earlier, which explains why Barry “turned down” the other clubs.

When Barry reported to Connie Mack in Philadelphia, “You'll sit on the
bench and observe,” Mack told him.

On the afternoon of July 4, Cy Young had a 4—2 lead over Plank. With 2
out in the last of the ninth, A’s catcher Syd Smith singled. Mack motioned
for Barry to run for Smith. Socks Seybold pinch hit for Plank and sin-
gled to right. Barry tore around to third, earning a word of praise for his
base running from one writer. He then scored his first big league run when
Topsy Hartsel hit a line drive to left.

On Monday, July 13, Mack sent him out to play second base after Nicholls
was lifted for a pinch hitter in the seventh. Barry handled one chance
cleanly.

Two days later Mack squirmed watching Nicholls at second and Collins
at short butchering plays that cost them the first game of a doubleheader
against Chicago. For the second game Mack moved Collins to second and
started Barry at short. It was the debut of this keystone combination. Barry
had 2 hits; the A’s won, 7—2.

Not devoid of superstition, Connie Mack stayed with them the next
day and they won again, 5-3. It didn’t last. On Friday the Tigers handed
them their worst shellacking in the club’s young history, 21-3. Cobb had
5 hits. Jack Barry made 2 errors. Vickers, Schlitzer, and Maxwell, the latter
drummed for 16 hits and 7 walks, took the punishment. For the rest of the
season, Mack tried Barry at second, third, and short before putting him
down as his future shortstop.

In the fishing port of Gloucester, Massachusetts, where only haddock and
cod were caught more often than baseballs, there lived the McInnis family.
The five sons were all athletes. The middle one, John, was the best. Mrs.
Mclnnis rented out rooms to fishermen. When John was about eight, the
boarders began to play ball with him. “That’s the stuff, Johnny,” they called
out to the youngster when he made a good catch or hit.
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So they began to call him Stuffy, and soon everybody was calling him
Stuffy. When he was fifteen, the five-foot-eight Stuffy was the star short-
stop on his high school team. A year later he played for a semipro team
managed by Billy Madden, one of Connie Mack’s bird dogs who seemed
to be everywhere, especially in New England. Now, at seventeen, still in
high school, Stuffy was playing weekdays for Haverhill in the New England
League and batting .301 and weekends for an independent team in nearby
Beverly. Tom Mack saw McInnis when Haverhill played at Worcester and
wrote Connie about him.

Somehow Connie Mack learned that McInnis, though being paid regu-
larly by Haverhill, had never signed the contract sent to him by the club.
Mack thus considered him a free agent. He bypassed Haverhill and con-
tacted McInnis directly. McInnis, or his father for him, signed a Philadelphia
contract for 1909. When Denver tried to draft McInnis, Mack revealed that
Stufty belonged to the Athletics. Haverhill squawked, claiming that McInnis
belonged to him. The club owner couldn’t produce a signed contract, but
he said he had written a reserve clause in Stufty’s receipt for payment.

The controversy went to the National Commission, which censured
Haverhill for its conduct in using an unsigned player for more than ten
days, then not placing him on its ineligible list. The commission ruled
that the Philadelphia club “was clearly within its rights when it signed this
player.” Connie Mack’s record with the National Commission, counting his
loss of Nap Rucker, was now 1-1.

Much fiction posing as fact has been told or written about Joe Jackson,
especially by Jackson himself, who was once described by F. C. Lane of
Baseball Magazine as “a warm fervid imagination, which looks upon facts
as hurdles to be surmounted by brief but frequent flights of fancy.”

Jackson’s Greenville manager, Tommy Stouch, told one story; biogra-
phers of Jackson have spun others, with varying degrees of reliability. The
account that follows is based primarily on contemporary reports and rec-
ollections that seem compatible with those reports.

Early in the season, Connie Mack had heard about a nineteen-year-
old outfielder who was hitting everything pitchers threw in the Carolina
Association. He sent Al Maul down to Greenville, South Carolina, to look
him over. Maul spotted Joe Jackson as a natural. He had a perfect swing
from the left side, with an inborn sense of timing. Jackson couldn’t read or
write, but there wasn’t anything anybody could teach him about hitting.
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Swinging a 48-ounce black bat—his Black Betsy— the six-foot-one Jackson
hit any pitch he could reach, wherever it was, “so hard,” Larry Lajoie said,
“it sounded like a bullet whizzing by.”

Mill towns produced ballplayers as abundantly as textiles. When the cot-
ton mills were in New England, every town that had a mill or a courthouse
square had a team. When the mills moved south, the Carolinas became the
incubators. Born and raised in South Carolina, Jackson was wearing shoes
when Al Maul saw him, but everybody called him “Shoeless Joe.”

In one game Jackson had 6 hits: 2 home runs, 3 triples, and a double. He
was fast on the baselines and ran down fly balls all over the outfield. Maul
called him “a jewel.” But he was a rough-cut jewel. Three times that year he
stole a base that was already occupied.

Maul also liked a Greenville pitcher, twenty-one-year-old Hyder Barr, a
recent Davidson College graduate. Barr, a versatile .299 hitter, could play in
the infield or outfield and had a 12-6 record as a pitcher.

In mid-July, on his scout’s recommendation, Connie Mack paid $900
for Jackson and $600 for Barr; they were to report after the Carolina sea-
son ended. A Greenville correspondent for Sporting Life called Mack’s new
prize another Ty Cobb.

Jackson turned twenty on July 16. Three days later he married Katie Wynn.

Jackson and Barr arrived in Philadelphia late on the morning of Monday;,
August 17. They checked their bags at the station and made their way to
Columbia Park. Neither one played that day. A ninth inning triple by Eddie
Collins and single by Danny Murphy sent the game into extra innings. It
remained tied until darkness ended it.

Barr, a “ladies’ man,” according to Jackson, “had taken up with some girl”
and asked Joe to go back to the station and get their bags. At the station
Jackson heard an “all aboard” for a train headed south. “I couldn’t stand
it,” he said. “T went up to the window and bought a ticket to Greenville and
caught that train.”

When Jackson didn’t show up with the luggage, Barr went to the
station, found his bags, and guessed what his absent teammate had done.
He told Mack, who sent one of his scouts, Sam Kennedy, to fetch Shoeless
Joe. Kennedy brought him back.

Connie Mack penciled Joe in the lineup in center field for a game
against Cleveland on August 24. Jackson didn’t show up. On his way to the
grounds, he told a writer, “I took a notion I'd like to see a show. So T hopped
off the car without a word to anybody and spent the afternoon watching
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a burlesque performance.” It looked like Connie Mack had another Rube
Waddell on his hands.

Mack finally got his new prize into a game on Tuesday, August 25. Jackson
dropped a fly ball in center field but made some far-ranging catches and
strong throws and had a single in 4 at bats against right-handed spitballer
Charles Berger. Connie Mack enthused about him to the press.

It rained for the next two days. Sitting alone in a hotel room looking out
at the weeping gray sky and thinking about his bride of five weeks was too
much for Joe. He got on a train and went home.

This time Mack sent the disabled Socks Seybold after him. In a story that
must have reminded Mack of his travails in bringing Rube Waddell east
from Los Angeles in 1902, he told Fred Lieb, “Socks got him on the train,
bought Jackson’s dinner for him, spent the early evening with him, saw Joe
was in his berth, and then retired. But when Socks got up in the morning
there was no Joe. During the night he had slipped out of his berth, got off
the train at one of the stops, and worked his way down to Greenville.”

A week passed before both Seybold and Jackson were back with the
Athletics. Jackson played against New York on September 8 and 9, going
1 for 5 in each game. After a day off they went to Washington for a Friday
doubleheader. Jackson was o for 4 against Walter Johnson in the first game
and o for 5 facing Tom Hughes in the second. He was clearly an unhappy
young man. The only meal he could order on his own was breakfast. Jack
Coombs recalled, “He knew he wanted ham and eggs for breakfast but he
couldn’t read the menus for the other meals and had to have someone with
him whenever he went into a dining room.”

There are stories that some of the Athletics made fun of Jackson and
didn’t like him. It’s true that he was unlike anyone most of them had ever
known. There were very few southerners in all of major league baseball at
the time. And as Ty Cobb had quickly learned, in a nation just one genera-
tion removed from the Civil War, a southern accent inspired plenty of cruel
as well as good-natured ribbing. If any of the A’s played any of the usual
rookie-initiation pranks on Joe Jackson, there is no evidence pointing to
any particular players or pranks. Nor did Jackson need any taunting to feel
awkward and out of place in the unfamiliar surroundings of a large north-
ern city and the company of older, educated teammates.

It may be that Jackson felt offended when, according to Coombs, Mack
asked several of the players to give Joe a “good talking to,” explaining how
he couldn’t help the team if he kept disappearing for a week or two at a
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time. Whatever they said to him may have done more harm than good.
It certainly had no positive results. Jackson sought solace in whiskey that
wasn’t as good as the white lightning back home.

Connie Mack realized he had a lovesick, unhappy “jewel” on his hands.
He told Joe to go home and enjoy a proper honeymoon with his Katie, and
they’d see him in the spring. Jackson broke for home like Ty Cobb intent
on stealing the base.

Nobody had to tip Connie Mack to Amos Strunk. Fast as a jackrabbit, the
eighteen-year-old outfielder had been a Philadelphia high school star. He
was playing for the Shamokin club in the independent Atlantic League,
managed by Mack’s old third baseman Lave Cross. Mack signed him and
tried him in a dozen games. He was green and needed plenty of schooling,
but that’s what the Connie Mack baseball academy was all about.

In the spring Mack had sent outfielders Jack Lelivelt and Frank
Shaughnessy outright to Reading in the Tri-State League. In exchange
Reading manager Jacob Weitzel gave him first choice from the Reading
roster. Mack selected third baseman John Franklin Baker. A muscular, thick-
wristed, twenty-two-year-old farm boy from the tiny hamlet of Trappe,
Maryland, Baker could lift a hundred-pound sack of corn and put it on
the back of a truck with one hand. He was a hard, tough, taciturn gentle-
man. Baker was a sandlot pitcher when Buck Herzog, managing a semipro
team in nearby Ridgely, signed him for $5 a week and board. Herzog, later a
longtime third baseman for the Giants, made a third baseman out of Baker.
In 1908 Baker batted .299 at Reading.

Frank Baker joined the Athletics in Chicago on Sunday morning,
September 20. Striding into the Lexington Hotel dining room, Baker saw
Mr. Mack eating breakfast. He walked to the table and announced, “I'm
here, Mr. Mack.”

Mack looked up from his orange juice, bacon and eggs, and tea, and said,
“I see you are.”

That afternoon the A’s were shut out without a hit by Frank Smith. Eddie
Plank took the 1—o0 loss. The next day Baker started at third base and had
1 of the team’s 3 hits off Ed Walsh. Two days later the left-handed swinger,
batting third, hit 2 doubles off Smith in a 3—2 loss.

Mack saw at once that Baker needed no bench time. He was ready. He
was not fast, but he got a quick start racing in to pick up a bunt or slow
roller and firing the ball to first. During the next few weeks, he showed
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Mack he was not afraid to risk an error, ranging far off the bag to make
plays and making them flawlessly.

Assessing his pitching, Mack was reluctant to count on Rube Vickers.
Although Vickers was giving him 300 innings of work, the erratic Canadian
still gave Mack the willies. One day he started in Cleveland. In the first
inning a walk and an error put Naps on second and third with 1 out. Mack
ordered Lajoie walked intentionally. Vickers threw three wide ones, then
one not wide enough. Lajoie held the bat at the knob with one hand,
reached out, and lined it down the right-field line for a double. The fum-
ing Mack immediately waved Vickers to the dugout and sent Jimmy Dygert
in to pitch. When a player really made him angry during a game, Mack
sometimes let his long bony index finger do the talking for him, rather
than spew language he would later regret. While Vickers tried to stammer
out an alibi, Mack pointed a dagger-like finger at him, then pointed to the
locker room, stabbing the air like a woodpecker.

Harry Krause reported after graduating from St. Mary’s in May. He made
his first start on May 27, a 5—4 win over Detroit, then lost to Chicago, 5-1,
two weeks later. Mack then sent him to Harrisburg, where he won 17 and
lost 4. Mack believed that Krause was now ready.

But the most important boost to his pitching came when Jack Coombs
regained a healthy arm. Coombs pitched his first complete game of the sea-
son on August 1, a 4-3 win in St. Louis. The more he pitched, the stronger
he grew, chalking up 4 shutouts, while continuing to fill in in the outfield.
Mack figured if he could somehow coax a full season out of the fragile
Chief Bender and not have to overwork Eddie Plank, his pitching would
be strong for 1909.

MacK’s greatest concern was his catching. Osee Schrecongost had moped
through a miserable season. He missed Rube Waddell. He was off the
wagon, but without his old pal, it wasn’t fun anymore. The Limburger and
onion sandwiches had lost their pungency. His hitting fell off. Five times
Mack put him on waivers. Nobody claimed him. In St. Louis on September
17, Mack tried to sell Browns manager Jimmy McAleer on the idea that
reuniting Schreck with Waddell would revive the catcher. McAleer didn’t
think he could handle both Schreck and the Rube and said no thanks.

Mack asked waivers again. The White Sox, in the thick of the pennant
race, claimed Schreck for $1,500. He appeared in six games for Chicago,
and that was the end of the big league line for Osee Schrecongost, the most
colorful catcher of them all.
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Doc Powers was still Mack’s smartest catcher, but his arm had lost its
strength. Disenchanted with Syd Smith’s attitude and social life, Mack
traded him to St. Louis before a game between the two clubs on August 2
for a veteran backup catcher, Bird Blue, who was not part of his rebuild-
ing plan. A wag at a Lancaster paper suggested that Mack acquire a local
pitcher named Red White to pitch to Blue, giving the A’s “the only star
spangled battery in the business.”

In August Mack bought Jack Lapp, a local boy, from Hazelton in the
Atlantic League. He saw Lapp, twenty-three, as a dependable number
two catcher and pinch hitter. Deciding to go with three catchers, none
of them number one, in December Mack paid $4,000 to the Tigers for
their twenty-seven-year-old backup catcher, Ira Thomas. The six-foot-two
Thomas became another of Connie Mack’s lifers, as coach, minor league
manager, head scout, and close friend for as long as the Athletics remained
in Philadelphia.

Some later writers, notably Wilfrid Sheed, delighted in throwing mud at
the often sugar-coated hagiographic portrayals of Connie Mack, charging
deferential writers with fraudulent coverups of a conniving, mendacious,
stingy club owner. But the lengthy roll of players who stayed on with Mack
or returned to work for him in various capacities speaks more to the basic
truths. Connie Mack was no saint. He was a kind, patient, generous, loyal,
understanding, gentle man, “a true gentleman,” pitcher Rube Bressler called
him, “in every sense of the word.” As the manager of a business, he cared
about his players and employees as people, treated them with dignity and
respect, and showed a genuine interest in them and their problems. These
principles of management were innate, not the product of any business
school education. And they were not particularly prevalent among busi-
ness tycoons of the time. Employees stayed with the Athletics for decades,
often for life. Mack’s harmonious twenty-one-year partnership with Ben
Shibe, whose probity was beyond question, is sufficient testimony to sup-
port the paeans that would come Connie Mack’s way in later years.

But now, in the fall of 1908, none of the other American League magnates
had such kind words for Connie Mack. He was drawing brickbats from the
managers of the four western clubs who were battling for the champion-
ship. Every game was important to them. When the A’s embarked on their
final western trip, Mack left most of his veterans at home. Harry Davis,
Collins, and Barry were sidelined with minor injuries. Mack’s experimental
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lineups might include an infield of people named Barr, Manush, Nicholls,
and Baker. He paid $750 for a “can’t miss” first-year catcher from the New
York State League named Ben Egan and put him behind the plate to catch
pitchers called Flatter and Kellogg and Files and Martin and Gus Salva.
(Egan missed, failing to hit his 195-pound weight in stints with the A’s and
Cleveland.) On some days there were only two players in the lineup any-
body had ever heard of. In a game in Chicago, only Murphy and Seybold
were left from the 1905 champions.

The teams that had to face a Coombs or Plank claimed Mack was playing
favorites by using unknown hurlers against other contenders. Some club
owners went so far as to demand that Mack forfeit his franchise for putting
such raw teams on the field.

Unperturbed by the complaints, Connie Mack sat and studied his boys.
“He’s not saying much,” noted Frank Hough in the Inquirer. “He never
does. But he’s doing a lot of thinking, the result of which will be made
manifest later”

Back home the fans had no interest in these unknowns. Only 1,281 showed
up for the last games at Columbia Park, a doubleheader on Saturday,
October 3, against Boston. The A’s won the first, 8—7, and lost the second,
5-0, when darkness added to the gloom after six innings.

The Athletics finished sixth, 22 games behind the champion Detroit
Tigers.

Both pennant races, each involving three teams, went down to the last
day. The nation’s interest in baseball so overshadowed the presidential cam-
paigns of Taft and Bryan that Norman Mack, chairman of the Democratic
National Committee, asked one club owner to hurry up and get it over with
so they could stir up some interest in the election. Detroit edged Cleveland
by %2 game; in the National the Cubs finished 1 game ahead of New York
and Pittsburgh.

The fall rumor mill ground out all sorts of trades: Mack was after Davy
Jones of the Tigers, Tubby Spencer, and (not the) Albert Schweitzer of the
Browns. The writers had nothing else to deal in except rumors and specu-
lation as, in the words of Horace Fogel, “You can never get Connie Mack
to divulge his plans until after the deals he has been working on have been
put through”

On June 24, with his club in Philadelphia, Clark Griffith had resigned
as the New York Highlanders’ manager after months of bickering with the
club owners, Frank Farrell and Bill Devery. Kid Elberfeld replaced him
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for the balance of the season. The New Yorkers were lodged in the cel-
lar. Attendance had frittered to such a low state that Globe writer Mark
Roth quipped, “If it gets any smaller, they’ll have to put fractions on the
turnstiles.”

While the Athletics were in New York for a four-day series in early
September, Frank Farrell approached Connie Mack. “If you are tired of
managing the Athletics, Connie,” he said, “I'll make you an offer.”

Mack had nothing to lose by listening. “What is it?”

Farrell offered him a five-year contract at $25,000 a year and a piece of the
team. Mack knew why his friend Clark Griffith had resigned. It reminded
him of the interference he had taken from Captain Kerr in Pittsburgh. There
was no way he would leave the company of Ben Shibe to go into business
with the two New York ex-bartenders. He preferred to stay where he was
and rebuild the Athletics, not the Highlanders/Hilltoppers/Yankees.
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395 | sHIBE PARK

For two years rumors and real estate transaction reports had the Athletics
buying this grounds or that in various sections of the city. But Connie
Mack and Ben Shibe had already picked out their future business location:
an undeveloped area northeast of Columbia Park, bordered by Twentieth
and Twenty-first Streets between Lehigh and Somerset. The neighbor-
hoods immediately surrounding it were or had at times been known as
Goosetown, Swampoodle, Gillietown, and Irishtown.

The land was mostly vacant, ungraded hillocks pocked with puddles
that seemed never to drain or dry up. Two unpaved streets, Woodstock
and Lambert, ran through it, parallel to the north-south Twentieth and
Twenty-first. A city dog pound had once occupied the area. The kennels
left behind now belonged to the Women’s Society for the Prevention of
Cruelty to Animals.

A line of three-story rowhouses filled the other side of Twentieth Street.
Saloons and stores dotted the other perimeter streets. A block away on
Twenty-second stood the City Hospital for Contagious Disease, primarily
smallpox. The hospital was a rundown Victorian pile of bricks that could
have been a setting for a Dickens novel. Between the hospital and the dog
kennels, there was little interest in developing the area. So it figured to be
cheaper than any similar acreage that might be available closer to City Hall
to the south. (When the intended use of the land for a stadium became
known, the uninformed wondered why anybody would build it in such a
location. The informed knew that the hospital was scheduled to be closed
by the summer of 1909.)

The site was adjacent to the grounds that Connie Mack had favored dur-
ing his first search for a place to play in 1901, when his partners talked him
out of it. “It was available [in 1901],” Mack said, “on a ten-year lease for
$1,500 a year, or $45,000 to buy.” The C. S. Bromley textile mill now occu-
pied that city block.
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In addition to its lower cost, the land was in a favorable spot on the
city’s transit map. The North Philadelphia (Broad Street) Station of the
Pennsylvania Railroad was six blocks away. Visiting teams could get off the
train there and walk to the ball yard. The rudiments of a subway system
had been laid out; the first section was due to open in 1909. Trolley lines
ran from the center of the city up Broad Street. Fans could transfer to the
Lehigh line or walk the seven blocks. Other lines passed within four blocks
and were fed by transfers from outlying trolley tributaries. The Phillies
were in business five blocks away at Broad and Lehigh.

Shibe and Mack knew that if their plans became public too soon, land
prices would soar. So they arranged for Joseph M. Steele to front for them.
Steele was one of the sons of William Steele & Sons, architects and con-
tractors, who would build the stadium. Joe Steele set out to buy up the lots
from the individual owners.

The secret was well kept. The property owners could not imagine a
structure of any importance being built as a result of the sale of their small
individual holdings. The existence of the two streets cutting through the
lots seemed to rule out any scheme to unite the disparate parcels and put
up a substantial building.

By the end of 1907 all the land had been acquired by Steele at a cost of
$128,000, of which $60,500 was mortgaged. The total cost, including taxes
and interest and settlement of the mortgages, came to $141,918.92.

There remained the obstacle of the two streets crossing the land. With
John Shibe’s backing, attorney Louis Hutt, who represented the Athletics
(and, occasionally, Rube Waddell in his domestic tribulations), had been
elected to the Common Council from the Twenty-ninth Ward. Once the
real estate purchases were completed, Hutt introduced an ordinance “to
strike from the City plan and vacate Woodstock and Lambert Streets,
between Lehigh and Somerset Streets.”

The ordinance was referred to the Committee on Surveys. Hutt was a
member of that committee. On February 8, 1908, the committee recom-
mended approval of the plan. Without specifying the use, its report simply
stated that “it is the intention to use the block of ground.. . in one piece and
Lambert and Woodstock Streets would interfere with the development.”

The Select and Common Councils approved the ordinance on Tuesday
afternoon, February 24. When the mayor signed it, construction of Shibe
Park became possible.

As predicted, once the news was out, property values and rents in the
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area took off. New home construction picked up. Matt Kilroy, proprietor of
a saloon on Columbia Avenue since 1901, immediately leased another one
on the corner of Twentieth and Lehigh, across from the right-field corner.
He remained in business there until 1935, when Kilroy’s became Charley
Quinn’s Deep Right Field Café. Trainer Martin Lawler opened a cigar store
two doors away at 1933 Lehigh.

From the start, Ben Shibe was determined to build the largest and
finest baseball stadium in the world, a fireproof showplace of concrete
and steel —the first of its kind —with walls sixty feet high, stores under the
pavilion on Lehigh, broad promenades, twenty-one turnstile entrances and
fourteen exits, a restaurant, public telephones, a completely outfitted first
aid room, men’s rooms in the grandstands and at each end of the bleach-
ers, and ladies’ rooms staffed with matrons on each level of the grandstand
and pavilion. There was room under the left- and right-field bleachers for
vast storage areas and parking garages and service stations for players’ and
patrons’ automobiles. When the writers climbed the 147 steps to the press
box, they would find pencil sharpening machines at their service.

“Nothing is too good for Philadelphians,” Ben Shibe told the Inquirer,
“for Philadelphians have certainly been good to us.”

The home clubhouse was larger than the visitors, with three shower
stalls to two for the visiting club. Each had room for twenty lockers. A tun-
nel led from the dressing rooms to the field. The umpires had their own
dressing room and walkway.

No detail was overlooked. Water plugs throughout the grandstand
enabled one man to hose down the stands and seats in one hour after every
game. Shibe consulted builders and concrete experts to learn if wood or
concrete bleachers would be hotter in the summer sun. They told him con-
crete was cooler. “Wood will retain the heat from a hot sun,” Shibe reported.
“Concrete will not, because it’s so hard the sun cannot penetrate it....I am
assured that [concrete] bleachers will be many degrees cooler than if they
were constructed of wood.”

Connie Mack hired Jim Fitzgerald, the renowned grounds and tennis
courts caretaker of the Germantown Cricket Club, to lay out and supervise
the installation of the new ballpark’s playing surface.

Descriptions of the edifice as it would look from the outside promised
cathedral-like grandeur. “The pavilion, the main entrance of which will
be at Twenty-first Street and Lehigh Avenue,” wrote Connie Mack in the
October 1908 Baseball Magazine, “will be of French Renaissance style of
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architecture, with the walls of brick and terra cotta trimmings. The man-
sard roof will be of green slate.

“This structure surpasses the old Greek amphitheaters both in size and
in beauty. So big and wonderful is the new ballstand that it alone is worth
the price of admission to one game.”

Terra cotta casts of Ben Shibe and Connie Mack adorned the space above
the main entrance, with SHIBE PARK carved between them. A fancy script
“A” was inscribed over the other entranceways. Parades of alternating Ionic
columns and high, arched windows lined the grandstands along Twenty-
first and Lehigh. Rising above the main entrance was a five-story octagonal
tower, twenty-four feet in diameter, housing the business offices. Connie
Mack’s office, reached by an elevator or a catwalk from the grandstand,
filled the top floor.

The double-decked grandstand, from first around to third base, held
10,000, using 5,500 steel folding chairs in the lower deck. Twenty-five-cent
bleachers for 13,000 were turned toward the infield along both foul lines to the
fences. Wide promenades in back of the grandstand and behind the bleach-
ers could hold 7,000 people standing. Another 10,000 might squeeze onto the
outfield, which was banked to improve the view. Why, it might even be pos-
sible to jam 40,000 people into the place, making it the largest ballpark in the
major leagues. For accurate attendance counts, an electrical device would be
installed in Ben Shibe’s office to register every turn of the turnstiles.

On April 3, 1908, William Steele &Sons received a permit to build the
$250,000 structure. (The total cost came to $315,248.69, including fixtures
and equipment ranging from cuspidors to lawn mowers.) On Thursday
morning, April 16, Ben Shibe turned the first spadeful of dirt.

It took several months just to clean and grade the land, a fleet of horse-
drawn wagons carrying away the debris. On the morning of Saturday,
October 3, Ben Shibe put in place the cornerstone at Twenty-first and
Lehigh. Into it went copies of every Philadelphia newspaper, Sporting Life,
photos of Shibe and Mack, the latest A. J. Reach Baseball Guide, an official
American League baseball, and a newly minted quarter. The small gather-
ing included some of the A’s veteran players, John and Tom Shibe, head
groundskeeper and concessionaire Joe Schroeder, and the A’s most faithful
fan, Hughie Dougherty. The stone was inscribed:

American Base Ball Club, Philadelphia, 1908
William Steele & Sons Company
Architects and Builders
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A week later Joe Schroeder began supervising the digging up and removal
of the Columbia Park sod to the new grounds.

Connie Mack and Ben Shibe were at the site every day, supervising,
inspecting, monitoring the on-schedule progress. Out-of-town visitors
included Albert Spalding, Cleveland Naps owners Kilfoyle and Somers, and
a New York architect who was designing a new Pittsburgh plant, Forbes
Field, scheduled to open in June 1909. (These new edifices served as mod-
els for a young Birmingham, Alabama, businessman, Rick Woodward, to
build the first concrete and steel ballpark in the minor leagues. Woodward
asked Connie Mack to help lay out his field’s dimensions. Rickwood Field
opened in 1910 and is still standing.)

Charles Murphy, owner of the Chicago Cubs, viewed the construction
with unguarded admiration for Ben Shibe’s great gamble. “Just thinking
of building a half-million dollar baseball plant is enough to make a man
gasp, he said. “Even the young magnates in those cities which charge much
higher prices than Philadelphia haven’t the nerve to risk such a venture.”

Community vest buttons popped with pride when Governor Bunn
dropped by one Sunday and declared, “Philadelphia will have in Shibe
Park and the new Philadelphia opera house just built by Hammerstein two
more institutions unrivaled anywhere in the world.”

Not bad for the city the out-of-town writers called “Slowtown.”

It was all a far cry from the wooden grandstands and bleachers and
rickety fences of the ramshackle orchards that had sufficed for the game’s
infancy. In less than a decade baseball had come from a low level of society
inhabited by bums, drunkards, brawlers, and gamblers to being mentioned
in the same sentence with an opera house.

The most persuasive evidence that baseball had graduated into the class
of big business was the federal government’s sudden interest in it as a source
of significant tax revenue. Congress proposed a tax of five cents per ticket.

The price tag for the new stadium—the equivalent of $10 million
today—seems modest by modern standards. It’s easy to look back from
today’s skyboxes and luxury suites and television rights and $2 million
average player salaries and smile at the trepidation raised by such a gamble.
The reader of history must overcome the handicap of knowing how the
story ends. It’s almost impossible to put yourself in the minds of the par-
ticipants, who knew only the beginning of their journey and not how it
would turn out. At the time, spending that much to erect a “baseball plant”
was an enormous leap of faith into the unknown future of the game. There
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is no way to comprehend the uncertainty, the complete unknowability of
the outcome of the huge investment they were making.

During all this time, title to the grounds remained with Joseph M. Steele.
On August 26, 1908, the three Shibes, Mack, Samuel Jones, and Frank
Hough met and formed the Athletics Grounds Company, a separate corpo-
ration, capitalized at 100 shares of $50 par value, “to hold, lease and sell real
estate.” Their individual interests in the company corresponded to their
holdings in the baseball club. The plan called for Joe Steele to transfer title
to the property to Ben Shibe at cost, with the new corporation buying the
property from Shibe at the same price.

They met next on Saturday morning, October 17, to approve the bylaws
and elect officers: Ben Shibe, president; Connie Mack, treasurer. The hand-
written minutes of these meetings were not penned by Connie Mack, but
they were signed by him as the designated secretary.

The legalities were not completed until the morning of Thursday,
December 31, at the Athletics’ office in the Girard Building. The stockhold-
ers resolved to purchase the grounds from Ben Shibe for $141,918.92. They
then voted to increase indebtedness from “nothing to $350,000” and asked
Shibe to take the purchase price in the form of a $150,000 mortgage at
6 percent interest for five years, with a company option to extend it for
another five years. Ben Shibe agreed. Next they voted to issue $200,000 in
ten-year bonds at 6 percent interest, payable “in gold coin,” constituting a
second mortgage on the grounds and stadium. Only $112,000 of the bonds
were sold by November 1909.

The actual construction costs were borne by the Athletics baseball
club—$191,387.03 through September 30, 1909—and the proceeds from
the sale of the bonds, which were eventually redeemed by the club. In lieu
of rent to the Athletics Grounds Company, the club paid the taxes on the
property, the $15,720 interest on the debt, and the annual $20,000 deposit
into the sinking fund to redeem the bonds.

The Athletics launched the first wave of modern stadium construc-
tion. For all of Shibe Park’s splendor, Connie Mack accurately predicted
that “in another year some other city will outdistance Philadelphia.”
Charles Comiskey purchased a lot at Thirty-fifth and Shields Avenue on
which Comiskey Park would open in July 1910. Club owners in Boston,
Brooklyn, and Detroit followed the A’s trailblazing path in the next few
years. Magnates in Cleveland, New York, and St. Louis launched extensive
remodeling projects.
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On another political front, some of Connie Mack’s friends in the legis-
lature introduced a bill authorizing Sunday baseball. It was opposed by the
Phillies’ owners and went nowhere.

Successful businessmen in other industries, always on the lookout for
profitable and ego-enhancing enterprises, watched the construction of
these magnificent new plants, which bespoke prosperity and had the added
fillip of serving as prominent monuments to their builders. They saw the
names of Shibe and Ebbets and Comiskey carved in stone for all to see
and admire, and they were envious. They watched and waited to see if the
return on these extravagant investments in amusement grounds would
prove to be justified or folly.

The construction of Shibe Park sparked the development of a bustling
community of businesses, banks, shops, restaurants, and saloons. A new
St. Columba’s Roman Catholic Church and School opened three blocks
away while the stadium was going up. The middle-class, blue-collar neigh-
borhood, with its spotless sidewalks and three-step marble stoops, became
the seasonal home for many players who rented rooms. Jack Barry and
his wife rented an apartment in a house on Twentieth Street owned by a
couple named Kratz. In the evenings Barry sat on the porch smoking a
few cigars before bedtime. Jack Coombs became a tenant of Monte Cross,
who lived nearby. Chief Bender bought a house in the 1900 block of Tioga,
seven blocks north. Eddie Collins and Eddie Plank boarded with the Harry
Davis family at 2405 West Ontario Street, a few blocks from the park.

Mack’s Oxford Street residence was now too far from his new place of
business to suit him. He purchased a porch-front rowhouse on a 16 by 120
foot lot at 2119 Ontario for “a nominal consideration.” The move made
it easier for Mack to drop in in the evenings on players who lived in the
neighborhood to make suggestions or discuss plans or check on an injury.
His brother Eugene moved to 1529 North Twenty-ninth Street. Michael still
lived upstairs over the White Elephant on North Eleventh Street.

MacK’s children, Roy and Earle, would be playing ball in Atlantic City
that summer. Then Earle went off to Notre Dame prep school in the fall.
Roy went to work for the American Thread Company. Sixteen-year-old
Marguerite was still at home. Grandma Mary Mack had learned to read
and sign her name. She, not Connie Mack, signed the report cards that
Marguerite brought home from school. Mack’s niece Helen recalled visit-
ing the family in Philadelphia and her grandmother reading stories to her.

With all that was going on, Connie Mack still found time to travel. In
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November he spent two weeks on Maryland’s Eastern Shore, where he
called on his new third baseman, Frank Baker, at his farm in Trappe. Baker
was an expert hunter of ducks and geese. Mack was not. His idea of a pleas-
ant outing was not sitting in a cold duck blind at dawn. From there Mack
was off to the league meetings in New York.

On February 1,1909, the steam heat up and running, the Athletics moved
into their new offices in the tower of Shibe Park. Mack took some time to
put his office in order before going to Atlantic City for a week. While there,
he refereed a charity basketball game between the Knights of Columbus
and Eagles at the Million Dollar Pier. Next came the rules committee meet-
ing in Chicago, where he gave his support to the sentiments to abolish
the spitball, saying, “By eliminating the spitball, baseball will be an ideal
game.”

The only significant change in the rules required relief pitchers to face at
least one batter. This resulted from complaints aimed at Washington man-
ager Joe Cantillon, who occasionally brought in a parade of three or four
pitchers, each one allowed five warmup tosses, giving the man he really
wanted to pitch more time to warm up.

Meanwhile, Connie Mack and Chief Bender were negotiating through the
newspapers. Bender wasn’t exactly a holdout; he hadn’t been sent a con-
tract yet. The keen-eyed marksman was busy entering shooting matches
and winning most of them. Just about every week in the Philadelphia area
there was a purse up for grabs, sometimes as high as $500. Bender talked
about quitting baseball and making a living on the trapshooting circuit.

Asked to comment, Mack said, “That’s just talk because he knows he’s
due for a cut in pay.” Anyhow, Mack added, “I'm not counting on him for
an important part of the team.”

Much as he disliked newspaper conjecture over salaries, Mack didn’t
hesitate to put his case before the public:

Bender has been receiving the best of treatment from the Athletic
club and in return has not given the services he should have rendered.
Last year, for instance, he got what he wanted, and what did he give
in return. The record shows 17 games of which he won 8 and lost 9.
During the last two months of the season he didn’t work at all for
us. But I want this made clear: if Bender signs at my figure, no mat-
ter how small, and then turns around and takes his regular turn next
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season, and pitches as well as he is capable of doing, and renders first
class service,  am willing to pay him the same salary next fall as I paid
him last year.

Bender signed a contract with incentive clauses just before the team left
Broad Street station for New Orleans at 11:05 on the night of March 8. Mack
dispatched Joe Ohl to Greenville, South Carolina, to escort Joe Jackson to
New Orleans.

The baseball business had come a long way from the days when Connie
Mack had to go door to door begging innkeepers to rent him rooms for his
troops. In New Orleans they checked into the elegant Hotel Dechenaud.
The players no longer carried their own rolled-up uniforms. Equipment
trunks now traveled with the team.

The weather was warm but wet. Mack was determined to work his pitch-
ers into shape gradually, not trying to bring them to midseason form by
opening day. He put an extra burden on young southpaw Harry Krause by
tagging him as another Rube Waddell, but Krause shook it off, showing as
much poise and composure as if he’d been in the big leagues for years.

The practice fields swarmed with eager young prospects, to Connie
Mack’s delight. Like a sculptor visualizing the form that lay within a block
of marble, Mack believed in his ability to size up a player in the raw state,
peering into a gawky rookie’s head and heart and forecasting his future. He
wasn’t perfect, never claimed to be, any more than McGraw or Griffith or
Jennings or anybody else in the business. (Mack and John McGraw pursued
Eddie Collins’s teammate at Columbia, third baseman Frank Nohowel,
who was touted as a better athlete than Collins but was reluctant to play
pro ball. When McGraw finally signed him in 1912, the New York Times
headlined, “McGraw Outwits Mack.” Nohowel never played an inning in
the major leagues.)

The possibility that the “next Ty Cobb” might turn out to be the next
nobody didn’t faze Mack. “I'm not much of a trader,” he told a St. Louis
writer. “I would rather develop a new man myself. You know, every man-
ager has a different idea about what characteristics denote greatness in a
developing player. What I may see in a man other managers might pass up.
It’s sort of intuition, I suppose you would call it. Sometimes I am right,
sometimes I'm wrong.”

Visiting experts saw only a gang of unfamiliar, untried names and
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washed-up veterans on the field. Out-of-town writers observed these green
grasshoppers enthusiastically booting ground balls, running into each
other, and heaving wild throws—and consigned the A’s to the deepest part
of the second division for the coming season. Most of them.

Among those who had learned not to write off any Mack-led team was
J. Edward Grillo of the Washington Post. “Though no one seems to think
that Connie Mack’s team will have a chance in the American League race
next season,” he wrote, “it would not be surprising to find the Athletics
factors in the race. Mack has never had a team which was impressive on
paper, and yet he has captured two pennants and been in several of the
other races, right to the finish. Next year Mack will have more youngsters
on his team than ever before. He has got rid of most of the veterans, and
starts out with a bunch of what might be termed untried material. On the
face of it the team does not promise much. But one should not overlook
the ability of the man in charge. He can do wonders with a lot of ballplay-
ers and it must not be forgotten that he has retained a pitching staff which
is sure to be troublesome.”

Connie Mack was delighted at the hustle, the enthusiasm, the eagerness
to learn that he saw among his young colts. Fumbled grounders and wild
throws didn’t bother him. He preferred to see a player try his best and fail
rather than shy away from a play in fear of making an error. And he let
them know it.

“Don’t be afraid to throw;” he told Barry and Collins and McInnis and
Baker. “Let it go. I’d rather see you heave it a mile than to hold it back and
the throw either fall short or the runner beat it. In either case the base run-
ner is going to be safe, so give ’em all you've got every time.”

When two players collided going after a pop-up or fly ball, Mack didn’t
wince. That was better than seeing them both stop and let the ball drop
between them. “I'd rather see both men anxious and fighting to make the
play,” he told them, “instead of one being afraid of making an error and the
other scared of getting hurt.”

Stuffy McInnis had quit school in the middle of his senior year rather
than miss spring training. Everybody expected him to be farmed out, but
Mack had no such plans. He didn’t know where he’d play MclInnis, but he
didn’t want young Jack under anybody else’s tutelage. Mack assigned Ira
Thomas to look after him. A sociable fellow with a booming voice, Thomas
didn’t smoke or drink. He preached abstinence to the rookies and advised
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them to avoid hanging around with players whose habits differed from
theirs. “I waited to see which way [those] players went after a game,” he
said, “and then I'd go the other way” Thomas steered McInnis to the ice
cream parlors in the evenings, then tucked him in bed early.

As delighted as Connie Mack was with his “second team,” Sam Erwin
was downright ecstatic over it. Now seventy-five, Erwin looked forward
eagerly to managing his Yannigans in their games against the first-string
team. Their spirit and enthusiasm made him feel as young as they were.
This year’s youngsters seemed driven to prove themselves, to show that
they belonged and were ready to take over. Erwin tapped into that eager-
ness by holding meetings in his room, where he suggested signs they could
flash to each other and plays they might try to execute.

Eddie Collins was strong and healthy and hitting a ton. So were Jackson,
Strunk, and Heitmuller. While the veterans looked on practice games as
tune-ups, the Yannigans went at them as if they were the World Series. Sam
Erwin was having the time of his life watching his boys give the regulars
a shellacking day after day. The stung veterans fought back, and a rivalry
developed between the two sides of the camp that has rarely been equaled
in spring training competition.

After two weeks in New Orleans, Mack asked Harry Davis to take the
regulars home by way of Mobile and Atlanta to begin the spring series with
the Phillies. There was something about his B team that intrigued the skip-
per. He wanted to see more of these young men, to concentrate on watch-
ing them without the distraction of managing the veterans. He decided to
lead them through the hinterlands this time, miss the city series, and arrive
just before the season opened.

When they started north, the youngsters kept up the evening meetings
on their own. They told nobody about the sessions, not Sam Erwin, not
Connie Mack. “As a result,” Eddie Collins recalled, “we got to know one
another better and, furthermore, we came to understand why one player
did this, another did that, etc., and what, among our own accomplish-
ments, spelled success.”

Mack and his boys arrived in Louisville on March 29 and were greeted
with complaints from Cap O’Neill, the local baseball promoter, for bring-
ing the second-stringers to town instead of the regulars. Nobody in town
knew who any of these players were. They wouldn’t draw a crowd, and they
wouldn’t provide much of a workout for the local nine.
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That afternoon at Eclipse Field, Joe Jackson strode to the plate, walked
between the umpire and the catcher into the batter’s box, drew a line in
the dirt three inches from the plate, put his left toes against the line in the
deepest part of the box, and stood erect, his right shoulder aimed squarely
at the pitcher. The pitcher threw. Jackson took a twenty-inch stride and
fired his perfect swing. The ball soared over the right-field fence, where
only three balls had been hit in the past five years. Connie Mack could still
picture it thirty-seven years later as he told Arthur Daley of the New York
Times that it was “the longest hit I ever saw in my life. Goodness me, it went
a terrible distance.”

Mack’s boys demolished O’Neill’s team in two games, and Cap was
happy to see them leave town. Everywhere they went, they whipped the
local teams. On the trains, on the buses to ballparks, and in their rooms
they held their secret meetings.

Or were they really still a secret?

Generations of players swore that nothing ever got by Mr. Mack. He
knew all their tricks, their habits, their subterfuges to cover up their late-
night activities, who was hitting the bottle, who was disgruntled. It cer-
tainly seemed that way. It’s hard to say exactly when he caught on to the
Yannigans’ secret meetings. Eddie Collins thought that Mack was on to
them when they reached Terra Haute, Indiana. The players dressed at the
hotel as usual and boarded the bus to the ballpark. Normally, the manager
never rode with them. He took a trolley or bus by himself. So they were
surprised when Mack got on their bus and sat down. “Just thought I'd see
how you boys acted,” he explained to his startled charges.

The players put their heads together as usual, murmuring about some
plays they might try that afternoon. Mack gazed out the window, giving no
indication that he heard any of it, and said nothing.

Their last stop was Reading on Saturday, April 10. The story of Joe
Jackson and the milk cans varies in its timing and setting. If it happened, it
was probably at the Reading depot that the homesick Jackson saw the cans
with their red tags waiting for the milk train and said something like, “I
wish Connie would put a tag on me and send me south.”

Five days later Mack optioned Jackson to Savannah in exchange for the
right to select one player from the Savannah club.

Mack sent Frank Baker and Jack Barry ahead to Philadelphia to play in
the city series and regretted it. In the April 7 game, as Sherry Magee slid
into third, Baker caught his foot on the bag and sprained his ankle. He had
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to be carried off the field and driven to a hospital. He might be out for two
weeks. Jack Barry came up lame and would miss opening day.

But Connie Mack was looking beyond the first few games or weeks. He
was thinking in terms of years. For the first time, he believed he had an
entire lineup of those smart young players he had dreamed of. They were,
in Ira Thomas’s judgment, “the brightest bunch of ballplayers I've ever met
in one team.”
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36 | CONNIE’S KIDS GRADUATE

At seven o’clock on the morning of Monday, April 12, 1909, a man named
George McFadden approached the corner of Lehigh Avenue and Twenty-
first Street. Elated to find the corner deserted, he walked to the main grand-
stand entrance of Shibe Park, leaned against the door, and did not move
from the spot for the next five hours and fifteen minutes. Soon he was
joined by a few other men, only slightly disappointed to find that they were
too late to buy the first ticket to the Athletics’ opening day in their magnifi-
cent new stadium.

From then until noon, as the packed trolley cars unloaded their passen-
gers, the small party grew. Lines at the grandstand and bleacher entrances
thickened and lengthened at a constantly quickening pace, like a snow-
ball rolling down a mountainside. Men, women, boys, and girls jostled and
elbowed and trod on each other’s toes to be sure they were not left out.
They were formally dressed for the most part, but not just because this
was a historic occasion. Everyday wear for men consisted of two- or three-
piece dark suits, shirts with detachable stiff paper collars and cuffs, and
hats, derbies at this time of year. Most of the boys wore caps. Many of the
women wore their Easter outfits, with large “peachbasket” hats that drew
good-natured teasing from the men. Skirt hems were a few inches from
the ground. Wealthier women wore silk stockings; working girls, black or
white cotton hose.

They were favored by mild temperatures with no sign of rain, although a
few wore overcoats against the early morning chill. Instead of the smell of
the breweries around Columbia Park, the breezes spread the warm aroma
of freshly baked bread from Freidhofer’s Bakery.

Rather than wait in line for hours, hundreds of men preferred to take
their chances and pass the time over foaming five-cent steins at Kilroy’s.
Some of them eventually crashed through the center field gate and spilled
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into the outfield crowd. Late arrivals waved $5 and $10 bills in the air hop-
ing to buy a place in line. Finding no takers, they began to ring doorbells
at the houses along Twentieth Street, where rooftops commanded a view
of the field from beyond right field. The sun would be in their eyes, but by
the time the first pitch was thrown at three o’clock, it would soon disap-
pear behind the sixty-foot-high grandstand. The residents leaned ladders
up to the openings to the roofs, set up crates and makeshift bleachers, and
charged $2—$5 a head. The economic impact on the neighborhood was
immediate.

For those in line, twenty-five cents bought a general admission ticket for
a seat in the bleachers or a place to stand in the outfield. The more agile
among them could climb atop the twelve-foot concrete outfield wall and
the scoreboard in right field, which displayed both teams’ batting orders
and batteries, the batter, outs, balls, strikes, the umpires, next game infor-
mation, and scores by innings of National and American League games.
There was another one in the left field corner, marked “score BoARD” for
the benefit of newcomers to the game.

As always, Connie Mack was an early riser. The stadium was empty and
quiet when he arrived, the fresh bright green paint still unmarked, the steel
folding chairs still unscratched, the vast sea of seats still unoccupied. The
white elephant banner flapped proudly in the breeze.

“Fool’s Park,” some skeptics called it; only a fool would think it could
be filled often enough to pay for itself. Connie Mack and the Shibes were
gamblers but not fools. Still, “We wondered if we could ever fill those long
rows of seats,” Mack said later.

Mack may have paused to remember George W. Uber, the manager of
the A’s telegraph office since the club opened for business in 1901. Mack
considered his park employees as much a part of the Athletics family as his
players. Uber had died the past September.

The players arrived early too, for morning practice. Home teams’ morn-
ing workouts would be more important this year, as a new rule curtailed
their pregame warmups. In the past, pregame practice consisted of both
teams on the field at the same time amid a chaos of balls being hit and
thrown in all directions. From now on, the visiting team would have exclu-
sive use of the field for thirty minutes before a game, followed by ten min-
utes for the home team.

The A’s regulars had been in the city since April 1, enabling them to
inspect their new workplace and stake out their locker locations in the
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clubhouse. Mack’s band of Yannigans had not arrived until Saturday night.
They were getting their first look at their new baseball home. The sight
lines, the winds, the backgrounds, sun fields, rebounding foibles of the
fences and scoreboard, the infield dirt and outfield grass—all that had to
be learned.

At ten o’clock all the Athletics were on the field. The trainer, Martin
Lawler, came out of the runway into the third base dugout and announced
that Connie Mack wanted to see them in the dressing room. Quietly the
players filed in: from thirty-eight-year-old Doc Powers, the oldest and the
only one who had been with the Athletics since their first opening day in
1901, to the youngest, Stuffy McInnis. Most of them were in their twenties.
They were all curious. The older ones couldn’t remember Mr. Mack ever
holding a meeting like this on the morning of a game.

Mack’s comments were aimed primarily at the youngsters he had shep-
herded north. For the first time, they realized the impact of their own
meetings, which they thought had gone unnoticed. They heard their first
big league manager telling them how impressed he was with their prepara-
tion and discipline, their initiative in trying to find ways to play the game
to win.

“Play together,” he stressed, “as a team.” He expressed his confidence in
them and their future if they played together with emotion and spirit and
harmony. He reminded them not to get into heated arguments with the
umpires. “I don’t pay you to kick and be suspended. I want you to keep
away from the umpires and play ball for all you are worth. Hits and runs
win games, not protests.”

Reluctantly, for he preferred not to play his rookies so soon, he told them
that McInnis was starting at shortstop and Amos Strunk in center field.
And, he added, henceforth there would be a meeting like this at ten or ten
thirty every morning, at home and on the road.

His young players’ spring training huddles had inspired Connie Mack to
introduce the daily skull session to baseball.

When the great doors to Shibe Park swung open at 12:15, George McFadden
put down his quarter and led the throng that pressed at his back.

The green walls unmarred by advertisements, the shining seats, and the
vast manicured grounds drew gasps of admiration from the fans getting
their first look at this unprecedented palatial setting for a baseball game. A
special souvenir program was on sale for ten cents, but the Athletics offered
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their customers another innovation: free scorecards. As a patron of the the-
ater, Connie Mack was used to being handed a free program listing the cast
and other information about the play. He believed his patrons were enti-
tled to the same service. The idea was applauded by newspapers in several
cities, the New York Sun commenting, “Free score cards . . . will mean that
a great many persons who do not know how to keep score will learn how.
That is one point in favor of the plan.”

But the Philadelphia newspapers didn’t cheer. They were trying to sell
papers with lineups in them outside the stadium.

The scorecards were not a losing proposition for the A’s. Advertisers,
including Dr. Pepper, Hires Root Beer, Schmidt Beer, and Eugene Mack’s
White Elephant Saloon, covered the cost. The club paid young boys a
quarter to hand them out, fifty cents to the supervisors. Connie Mack’s
nephew, Dennis’s son Neil, was a supervisor. “I had the upper stands and
I brought in six other guys,” Neil said. “We bought yellow pencils, two for
a penny, with erasers on them, sharpened them up and when I'd hand a
guy a scorecard and he asked how much, I'd say ‘Free’ but made it sound
like ‘three’ and stick a pencil in their pocket and they’d give us a nickel and
wouldn’t think about the change. After the second inning we could watch
the game.

“Whatever money I made I gave to my mother.”

The First and Third Regiment fifty-piece bands began to play at one.
Soon every seat was taken, and the outfield embankment was covered.
Progress was not without its dissenters. Fans in the upper pavilion com-
plained that it was too high. Bleacherites griped that they were too far
from the action on the diamond. When the gates were closed, leaving the
streets filled with frustrated fans, 30,162 tickets had been sold. Thousands
of invited guests and uninvited crashers swelled the crowd.

The Athletics appeared in their new uniforms: white with a black stripe
midway up the stockings, black belt, white cap with black cords across the
crown and sides, topped by a black button. Some wore their navy blue
military coat-sweaters with rolled gray collars and a six-inch white “A” on
the left breast.

At two-thirty a pair of local singers, Fred C. Yoekel and James McCool,
led the crowd in singing “America.” The Red Sox and A’s, followed by dig-
nitaries and bands, marched to the center-field flagpole, where the bands
played “The Star-Spangled Banner” as Ban Johnson and Ben Shibe raised
the flag.
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The murmurs of curiosity about the unfamiliar names in the A’s line-
up— Strunk? McInnis? —were soon supplanted by cheers when old favorite
Danny Murphy drove in a first-inning run. Murphy had 4 hits and Eddie
Plank breezed to an 8—1 win, sending everyone home happy.

Almost everyone.

Along about the seventh inning, Doc Powers felt a sharp pain in his gut.
He said nothing, batted in the eighth, and was safe at first when the short-
stop fumbled his grounder. A few minutes later he scored when Collins
drew a bases-loaded walk. The pain grew sharper. Powers finished the game,
then collapsed in the clubhouse. An ambulance took him to Northwest
General Hospital, where doctors diagnosed “acute gastritis . . . something
he ate ... be back in uniform in a few days.”

Martin Lawler blamed it on the wide belts and big buckles that bound a
catcher’s abdominal muscles through all that crouching. One doctor the-
orized that the effort to catch difficult foul flies had resulted in internal
injuries.

It was none of these things. What happened was a fluke in an adult, an
intestinal twist that occurred in male infants more than anyone—intussus-
ception, a telescoping of the small or lower intestine up into the large intes-
tine above it, causing a blockage. Whatever Powers may have eaten before
the game was long past that part of his anatomy.

Powers showed no improvement the next day, but the doctors remained
unconcerned until the pain became unbearable that night. They operated
at 1 a.m. Wednesday and found extensive gangrene. They removed twelve
to fifteen inches of his bowel. The “no need to worry” outlook suddenly
turned grim. On the following Monday Powers was stricken with perito-
nitis. A second operation left him weakened, unable to take nourishment.
Surgeons opened him again, but there was nothing they could do. On
Sunday, April 25, a priest administered the last rites, with Powers’s wife,
Florence, at his side. Doc Powers died at 9:14 the next morning.

The Athletics were in Washington. Connie Mack took the train to
Philadelphia to do what he could for Florence Powers and her three little
girls. The next morning Mack helped with the funeral arrangements before
taking the noon train back to Washington. He felt as if he had lost a son.
Powers was the model of the kind, intelligent gentleman that Mack wished
all his players to be.

Testifying to Mike Powers’s popularity, thousands of people filed by the
body on view at the home of a friend, press gate guardian George Flood,

438 Connie’s Kids Graduate



and lined the route of the funeral on April 29. The game in Washington was
postponed so that both teams could attend the service. The Phillies and
visiting Brooklyn Dodgers, other players, and umpires joined the proces-
sion to the cemetery, followed by vans filled with flowers. The entire city
wept; the skies rained for the next two days.

Connie Mack said, “Doc Powers’ loss will be severely felt by the team.”
Hardest hit was Eddie Plank. Powers had caught 205 of Plank’s 282 starts
since 1901. No more would he hear Doc’s “Work hard, old boy, work hard”
words of encouragement. It took more than a month for his concentration
to return.

Connie Mack arranged and promoted a Doc Powers Day on June 30,
1910, to raise money for his widow. Players from the other eastern American
League clubs came to Shibe Park for an afternoon of field events and an
exhibition game against the A’s. Mack sent out letters and post cards to
friends and fans, urging them to buy tickets for the day. Everyone, includ-
ing Mr. Mack, paid to get in. The event raised almost $8,000.

For aslongas there have been press boxes, there have been second guessers in
them. When the Highlanders followed Boston into Shibe Park, Jack Knight
was their shortstop, the same jittery Jack Knight, Philadelphia schoolboy
star, who had been traded to Boston for Jimmy Collins in 1907. After a year
in the minor leagues, Knight had been purchased by New York.

With Jack Barry still out, McInnis was the A’s shortstop. In the first game
of the series, Knight made some outstanding plays. McInnis made 2 errors
in the fifth inning that gave the visitors a 1—o win over Vic Schlitzer. Francis
C. Richter, who had razzed Knight and lavishly cheered the trade fo